

# DRUG MONITORING AND CLINICAL CHEMISTRY

Volume 5

Georg Hempel

Drug Monitoring and Clinical Chemistry

### HANDBOOK OF ANALYTICAL SEPARATIONS Series Editor: ROGER M. SMITH

### In this series:

Vol. 1: Separation Methods in Drug Synthesis and Purification
Edited by K. Valkó
Vol. 2: Forensic Science
Edited by M.J. Bogusz
Vol. 3: Environmental Analysis
Edited by W. Kleiböhmer
Vol. 4: Bioanalytical Separations
Edited by I.D. Wilson

Vol. 5: Drug Monitoring and Clinical Chemistry Edited by G. Hempel

# Drug Monitoring and Clinical Chemistry

Edited by

# GEORG HEMPEL

Institut für Pharmazeutische und Medizinische Chemie, Universität Münster, Germany



2004

ELSEVIER Amsterdam – Boston – Heidelberg – London – New York – Oxford Paris – San Diego – San Francisco – Singapore – Sydney – Tokyo

ELSEVIER SCIENCE B.V.	ELSEVIER Inc.	ELSEVIER Ltd	ELSEVIER Ltd
Sara Burgerhartstraat 25	525 B Street, Suite 1900	The Boulevard, Langford Lane	84 Theobalds Road
P.O. Box 211, 1000 AE	San Diego, CA 92101-4495	Kidlington, Oxford, OX5 1GB	London WC1X 8RR
Amsterdam, The Netherlands	USA	UK	UK

© 2004 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

This work is protected under copyright by Elsevier B.V., and the following terms and conditions apply to its use:

#### Photocopying

Single photocopies of single chapters may be made for personal use as allowed by national copyright laws. Permission of the Publisher and payment of a fee is required for all other photocopying, including multiple or systematic copying, copying for advertising or promotional purposes, resale, and all forms of document delivery. Special rates are available for educational institutions that wish to make photocopies for non-profit educational classroom use.

Permissions may be sought directly from Elsevier's Rights Department in Oxford, UK: phone: (+44) 1865 843830, fax: (+44) 1865 853333, e-mail: permissions@elsevier.com. Requests may also be completed on-line voa the Elsevier homepage (http://www.elsevier.com/locate/permissions).

In the USA, users may clear permissions and make payments through the Copyright Clearance Center, Inc., 222 Rosewood Drive, Danvers, MA 01923, USA; phone: (+1) (978) 7508400, fax: (+1) (978) 7504744, and in the UK through the Copyright Licensing Agency Rapid Clearance Service (CLARCS), 90 Tottenham Court Road, London W1P 0LP, UK; phone: (+44) 207 631 5555; fax: (+44) 207 631 5500. Other countries may have a local reprographic rights agency for payments.

#### Derivative Works

Tables of contents may be reproduced for internal circulation, but permission of Elsevier Science is required for external resale or distribution of such material. Permission of the Publisher is required for all other derivative works, including compilations and translations.

#### Electronic Storage or Usage

Permission of the Publisher is required to store or use electronically any material contained in this work, including any chapter or part of a chapter.

Except as outlined above, no part of this work may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise, without prior written permission of the Publisher.

Address permissions requests to: Elsevier's Science & Technology Rights Department, at the phone, fax and e-mail addresses noted above.

#### Notice

No responsibility is assumed by the Publisher for any injury and/or damage to persons or property as a matter of products liability, negligence or otherwise, or from any use or operation of any methods, products, instructions or ideas contained in the material herein. Because of rapid advances in the medical sciences, in particular, independent verification of diagnoses and drug dosages should be made.

First edition 2004

Library of Congress Cataloging in Publication Data A catalog record is available from the Library of Congress.

British Library Cataloguing in Publication Data A catalogue record is available from the British Library.

ISBN: 0-444-50972-0 ISSN: 1567-7192

<sup>©</sup> The paper used in this publication meets the requirements of ANSI/NISO Z39.48-1992 (Permanence of Paper). Printed in The Netherlands.

### Preface

Drug monitoring has been practised for about 30 years now. Initially, the concept was limited due to methodological problems in analysing low concentrations of drugs in biological fluids. In earlier times, only thin-layer chromatography and spectroscopic methods were available for analysing complex matrices. Now, as can be seen from the first chapters of this book, the methodology has clearly improved and a number of alternative methods are available for most analytical problems. Today, almost all drugs can be separated from complex matrices like human blood or other biological material and determined in very low concentrations. In the future, the availability of mass spectrometric detectors at a reasonable price will enable the analyst to solve more analytical problems in the clinic.

Selection of a suitable method for a given analytical problem is often not only made based on the question which method is scientifically most appropriate. The personal expertise of the analyst also plays an important role because some experience is still required for running chromatographic or electrophoretic methods when analysing drugs in biological fluids. Furthermore, the limited availability of capillary electrophoresis, which is one of the most suitable methods for drug analysis when not too low concentrations are present, means it is not used as often as chromatographic or immunochemical methods.

With most of the analytical problems solved, the question that arises is: are the measured concentrations of the drug in the biological fluid clinically relevant? Clinical relevance of the measured concentrations implies that there is a clear relationship between the concentration and the effect of the drug. If this is the case, the next step is to show that dose individualisation based on drug concentration measurements can standardise the individual's exposure to the drug. Even more important, one has to clarify if there is a clinical endpoint which can be positively influenced by individualising drug therapy.

For the therapeutic areas covered in this book, it has been shown that patients do benefit from therapeutic drug monitoring (TDM), although this is not the case in all therapeutic areas. However, with the limited financial resources in the clinic, even in the developed countries, one has to show that TDM is also cost-effective and the efforts in the laboratory result in reductions in mortality, severe side-effects that would lead to longer hospitalisation and/or prolonged pharmacotherapy.

Another concept for dose individualisation, which was introduced in the late 1980s, is the area of pharmacogenetics. Pharmacogenetic methods have been shown to be an important tool for identifying patients at risk of experiencing severe toxicity or underdosing. However, there are still concerns if pharmacogenetics is effective from a pharmaco-economic point of view. In the future, methods for genotyping based on chip technology will become cheaper and easier to handle, so pharmacogenetics definitely has the potential to be a routine tool to optimise pharmacotherapy in the clinic. However, even when many more genes responsible for drug metabolism or distribution have been identified, this approach will not completely replace drug monitoring in the future.

Finally, I would like to thank all the contributors to this book for their efforts. Hopefully, the reader will find useful information for setting up or improving TDM in the clinic, for teaching purposes and to become up-to-date on recent developments in this field. I would like to thank Prof. Boos and all other colleagues from the department of Paediatric Oncology (University Children's Hospital Manchester) for the excellent collaboration and want to dedicate the book to my teacher Gottfried Blaschke, a great analyst, with many thanks for his support over the years.

Georg Hempel

# **Contents**

Prefac	re	v				
Chapter 1.		Sample preparation for the analysis of drugs in biological fluids Yoshihiro Saito, Makiko Hayashida and Kiyokatsu Jinno				
1.1	Introdu	lection				
1.2	Conver	ntional sample preparation for biological samples				
	1.2.1	Methods of protein removal				
	1.2.2	Liquid-liquid extraction (LLE)				
	1.2.3	Solid-phase extraction (SPE)				
1.3	Microe	xtraction methods for biological analyses				
	1.3.1	Solid-phase microextraction (SPME)				
	1.3.2	In-tube solid-phase microextraction (In-tube SPME) 8				
	1.3.3	Other novel miniaturized extraction techniques				
1.4	Future	prospects in biological sample preparation methods 10				
1.5		wledgements				
1.6	References					
Chapt	ter 2.	<b>Chromatographic methods for the analysis of drugs in biological fluids</b> Hassan Y. Aboul-Enein, Mohamed M. Hefnawy				
		and Kenichiro Nakashima				
2.1	Introdu	and Remember Nakasinina				
		atographic methods of analysis of drugs in biological fluids 16				
2.2						
2.2	2.2.1	UV detection				
		FL detection				
2.3		39 39 39 39 39 39 39 39 39 39 39 39 39 3				
2.5	2.3.1	Single MS detection system				
	2.3.2	Tandem MS detection system 40				

Co	nte	nts

2.4	GC 42
2.5	GC/MS
	2.5.1 Non-derivatization method
	2.5.2 Derivatization method
2.6	Other methods
	. Chromatographic methods for the analysis of chiral drugs in biological
fluids	
2.7	Introduction
2.8	Pirkle concept chiral columns
2.9	Cellulose-derivative chiral columns
2.10	Amylose-derivative chiral columns
2.11	Cyclodextrin-derivative chiral columns
2.12	Cyclodextrin-derivative chiral mobile phase additives
2.13	Protein chiral columns
	2.13.1 AGP column
	2.13.2 HSA column
	2.13.3 Ovomucoid column
2.14	Macrocylic antibiotic chiral columns
	2.14.1 Vancomycin column
	2.14.2 Teicoplanin column
	2.14.3 Ristocetin A column
2.15	GC
2.16	Indirect chiral chromatographic methods
2.17	Other methods
2.18	List of abbreviations
2.19	References
Chapt	
	biological fluids
	Zakariya K. Shihabi
3.1	Introduction
3.2	CE, HPLC and immunoassays in drug analysis
3.3	Instrumentation and detection
3.4	Modes of CE in drug analysis and detection
	3.4.1 Capillary zone electrophoresis (CZE) (Free solution CE) 80
	3.4.2 Micellar electrokinetic capillary chromatography (MECC) 80
	3.4.3 Chiral separation
	3.4.4 Non-aqueous CE (NACE) 80
3.5	Buffers
3.6	Sample size and injection
3.7	Sample preparation in CE
	3.7.1 Off-column concentration
	3.7.1.1 Solid-phase microextraction (SPME)
	3.7.1.2 Molecular imprints
	3.7.1.3 Membrane based techniques

		3.7.1.4 Immunoaffinity solid-phase extraction	83				
		3.7.1.5 Homogeneous liquid-liquid extraction	83				
	3.7.2	Online concentration	83				
		3.7.2.1 Solid-phase extraction	83				
		3.7.2.2 Stacking	83				
		3.7.2.2.1 Methods for stacking for capillary zone					
		electrophoresis	84				
		3.7.2.2.1.1 Isotachophoresis (ITP) and					
		transient-ITP	84				
		3.7.2.2.1.2 (Pseudo-transient-ITP)	84				
		3.7.2.2.1.3 High-field stacking	84				
		3.7.2.2.2 Stacking in MECC	85				
3.8		sion	85				
3.9		nd basic information for drugs	85				
	3.9.1	Chiral separation	86				
	3.9.2	Acid dissociation constant (pKa)	86				
	3.9.3		87				
	3.9.4	Free and bound drugs	87				
3.10		ted applications of drugs analyzed by CE	88				
3.11	Refere	ences	92				
Char	oter 4.	Immunoassays for therapeutic drug monitoring and clinical					
		toxicology					
		William Clarke	95				
4.1	Introd	luction	95				
4.2		noassays	98				
	4.2.1	Homogenous vs. heterogeneous immunoassays	98				
	4.2.2	Competitive binding immunoassays	99				
	4.2.3	Non-competitive (immunometric) immunoassays	100				
	4.2.4	Immunoassay labels.	101				
		4.2.4.1 Fluorescence	101				
		4.2.4.2 Enzymes	102				
		4.2.4.3 Chemiluminescence	106				
	4.2.5	5 Immunoassay interferences					
	4.2.6	Point-of-care immunoassays	109				
4.3	Refere	ences	110				
Char	ter 5.	Validation of bioanalytical methods					
Chup		S. Berthier	113				
5.1	Introd		113				
5.2		rements for bioanalytical methods	113				
5.3		udy validation.	113				
2.2	5.3.1	Scope	114				
	5.3.2	Validation procedure for a new analytical method	114				
	2.2.2	5.3.2.1 General information.	114				
		5.3.2.2 Reference standard(s).	115				

ix

Contents
----------

		5.3.2.3 Calibration curve
		5.3.2.4 Quality control samples
		5.3.2.5 Sensitivity
		5.3.2.6 Absolute extraction recovery and matrix effect 117
		5.3.2.7 Selectivity
		5.3.2.8 Stability
		5.3.2.9 Dilution
	5.3.3	Validation procedure for an existing method
	5.5.5	5.3.3.1 Method transfer between laboratories and/or
		instruments
		5.3.3.2 Modifications to an existing assay
		e ;
	524	11 1
5 1	5.3.4	Documentation and archiving
5.4		study validation
	5.4.1	Scope
	5.4.2	Procedure
		5.4.2.1 Daily calibration curve
		5.4.2.1.1 Chromatographic assays
		5.4.2.1.2 Binding assays
		5.4.2.1.3 Acceptance criteria
		5.4.2.1.4 LLOQ and ULOQ
		5.4.2.2 Quality control samples
		5.4.2.3 Criteria for samples repeat analysis
	5.4.3	Documentation
5.5	Definit	ions
5.6	Abbrev	viations
5.7	Refere	nces
Chapt	ter 6.	Pharmacokinetic methods for analysis, interpretation, and
		management of TDM data, and for individualizing drug
		dosage regimens optimally
		Roger Jelliffe, Alan Schumitzky, David Bayard,
		Michael Van Guilder, Robert Leary, Andreas Botmen,
		Ashutosh Gandhi, Pascal Maire, Xavier Barbaut,
		Nathalie Bleyzac, Irina Bondareva and Michael Neely 129
6.1	Introdu	ction and overview
	6.1.1	Problems with "Therapeutic Ranges"
	6.1.2	Setting specific target goals based on need
6.2		ed for models
6.3	Maxim	um aposteriori probability (MAP) Bayesian individualization of
		osage regimens
6.4		ting assay and environmental sources of error
	6.4.1	Overview
	6.4.2	Determining the assay error polynomial
	6.4.3	No lower limit of quantification for pharmacokinetic work and

	TDM					
	6.4.4 The SD is what is important, not the CV					
	6.4.5 Determining the remaining environmental error					
6.5	Examples of MAP Bayesian target-oriented, model-based, approaches to					
	patient care					
	6.5.1 Gentamicin therapy					
	6.5.2 Timing the aminoglycoside dose and the dialysis					
6.6	Other studies of outcome and cost of TDM					
0.0	6.6.1 Gentamicin therapy					
	6.6.2 Amikacin therapy					
	6.6.3 Vancomycin therapy					
	6.6.4 Digoxin therapy					
	6.6.5 Lidocaine therapy.					
	6.6.6 Busulfan therapy					
6.7	Why we really monitor serum concentrations: for clinician-managed,					
0.7	model-based, target-oriented individualized drug therapy					
6.8						
0.0	Optimal TDM monitoring strategies					
6.0	6.8.1 More general comments					
6.9	Special cases: entering initial conditions – changing population models					
	during the fitting procedure.					
	6.9.1 An aminoglycoside patient with a sudden change in clinical					
< 10	status and volume of distribution					
6.10	Linked pharmacodynamic models: bacterial growth and kill					
	6.10.1 General considerations					
6.11	Other linked pharmacodynamic models: aminoglycoside nephrotoxicity					
	and ototoxicity					
6.12	Limitations of current map bayesian adaptive control					
6.13	Overcoming the separation principle: "multiple model" design of					
	maximally precise drug dosage regimens					
	6.13.1 Obtaining "multiple model" Bayesian posterior joint parameter					
	distributions					
	6.13.2 Other bayesian approaches					
	6.13.3 MM clinical application					
	6.13.4 Analyzing the changing tobramycin patient with MM and IMM					
	sequential Bayesian methods: implementation into clinical					
	software					
6.14						
6.15	Acknowledgments					
6.16	References					
0.10						
Char	oter 7. Dose and therapy individualisation in cancer chemotherapy					
~ mup	Georg Hempel					
7.1						
7.2	Concepts of dose finding in oncology					
1.2	7.2.1 Dosing based on patient characteristics					

	7.2.2	Dosing based on pharmacodynamic parameters	172
	7.2.3	Therapeutic drug monitoring of anticancer drugs	173
		7.2.3.1 Analytical aspects.	174
		7.2.3.2 Mercaptopurine	175
		7.2.3.3 Methotrexate	177
		7.2.3.4 Etoposide/Teniposide	180
		7.2.3.5 Carboplatin	182
		7.2.3.6 Busulfan	183
7.3		prouracil (5-FU)	186
7.4	In-vitr	ro-cytotoxicity as a tool for therapy individualisation	186
7.5		g based surrogate markers	187
7.6		usions	187
7.7	Refere	ences	188
Chap	ter 8.	Rationale and utility of therapeutic drug monitoring for the	
•		optimization of antibiotic therapy	
		Christine T. Ong and David P. Nicolau	195
8.1	Introd	luction	195
8.2		mycin	196
	8.2.1	Background	196
	8.2.2	Pharmacology	196
	8.2.3	Drug concentrations and clinical efficacy	196
	0.2.0	8.2.3.1 Concentrations and toxicity.	197
	8.2.4	Monitoring serum drug concentration	198
8.3		oglycosides	199
	8.3.1	Background	199
	8.3.2	Pharmacology	200
	8.3.3	Intermittent versus once-daily aminoglycosides	200
	8.3.4	Side-effects	202
	8.3.5	Dosing strategies	202
8.4		lbercular agents	205
0.1	8.4.1	Background	205
	8.4.2	Pharmacology of antimycobacterial agents.	205
	8.4.3	Serum concentrations and clinical efficacy.	200
	8.4.4	Toxicity	200
	8.4.5	Monitoring of drug concentrations	200
	8.4.6		209
	8.4.7	Drug interactions	210
8.5		etroviral therapeutic drug monitoring (ATDM).	210
0.5	8.5.1		210
	8.5.2	Serum concentrations and efficacy	210
	8.5.2 8.5.3	Serum concentration and clinical outcomes	210
	8.5.5 8.5.4	Future of ATDM Future of ATDM	211
	0.5.4		<b>411</b>

8.6	Concl	usion		212
8.7	Refere	ences		212
Cha	pter 9.	Therap	peutic drug monitoring of antiepileptic drugs	
			. Johannessen	221
Abst	ract			221
9.1	Introd	uction		221
	9.1.1	What to	measure?	222
		9.1.1.1	Total versus free drug serum levels	222
		9.1.1.2	Serum levels of drug metabolites	223
	9.1.2	Analytic	cal aspects	223
		9.1.2.1	Comparison of methods.	224
		9.1.2.2	Quality control	224
	9.1.3	Blood sa	ampling time	224
	9.1.4		rapeutic range	225
9.2	Establ		iepileptic drugs	226
	9.2.1	Phenoba	arbital	226
		9.2.1.1	Mechanism of action	226
		9.2.1.2	Pharmacokinetics and drug interactions	227
		9.2.1.3	Clinical use and side effects	227
		9.2.1.4	Serum levels and therapeutic effect	228
		9.2.1.5	Analytical methods	228
	9.2.2	Phenyto	in	228
		9.2.2.1	Mechanism of action	228
		9.2.2.2	Pharmacokinetics and drug interactions	228
		9.2.2.3	Clinical use and side effects	229
		9.2.2.4	Serum levels and therapeutic effect	229
		9.2.2.5	Analytical methods	229
	9.2.3	Primido	ne	229
		9.2.3.1	Mechanism of action	229
		9.2.3.2	Pharmacokinetics and drug interactions	230
		9.2.3.3	Clinical use and side effects	230
		9.2.3.4	Serum levels and therapeutic effect	230
		9.2.3.5	Analytical methods	231
	9.2.4	Carbam	azepine	231
		9.2.4.1	Mechanism of action	231
		9.2.4.2	Pharmacokinetics and drug interactions	231
		9.2.4.3	Clinical use and side effects	232
		9.2.4.4	Serum levels and therapeutic effect	232
		9.2.4.5	Analytical methods	232
	9.2.5	Valproat		232
		9.2.5.1	Mechanism of action	232
		9.2.5.2	Pharmacokinetics and drug interactions	232
		9.2.5.3	Clinical use and side effects	233

xiii

		9.2.5.4	Serum levels and therapeutic effect	 233
		9.2.5.5	Analytical methods	 233
	9.2.6	Ethosux	imide	 233
		9.2.6.1	Mechanism of action	 233
		9.2.6.2	Pharmacokinetics and drug interactions	 234
		9.2.6.3	Clinical use and side effects	 234
		9.2.6.4	Serum levels and therapeutic effect	 235
		9.2.6.5	Analytical methods	
	9.2.7	Clonaze	pam	 235
		9.2.7.1	Mechanism of action	 235
		9.2.7.2	Pharmacokinetics and drug interactions	
		9.2.7.3	Clinical use and side effects	 236
		9.2.7.4	Serum levels and therapeutic effect	 236
		9.2.7.5	Analytical methods	 236
	9.2.8	Clobaza	ım	 236
		9.2.8.1	Mechanism of action	 236
		9.2.8.2	Pharmacokinetics and drug interactions	 237
		9.2.8.3	Clinical use and side effects	 237
		9.2.8.4	Serum levels and therapeutic effect	 237
		9.2.8.5	Analytical methods	 237
9.3	Newer	r antiepile	eptic drugs	 237
	9.3.1	Oxcarba	azepine	
		9.3.1.1	Mechanism of action	
		9.3.1.2	Pharmacokinetics and drug interactions	 238
		9.3.1.3	Clinical use and side effects	 238
		9.3.1.4	Serum levels and therapeutic effect	
		9.3.1.5	Analytical methods	 239
	9.3.2	Vigabat	rin	 239
		9.3.2.1	Mechanism of action	 239
		9.3.2.2	Pharmacokinetics and drug interactions	 239
		9.3.2.3	Clinical use and side effects	 239
		9.3.2.4	Serum levels and therapeutic effect	 240
		9.3.2.5	Analytical methods	 240
	9.3.3	Lamotri	gine	
		9.3.3.1	Mechanism of action	
		9.3.3.2	Pharmacokinetics and drug interactions	
		9.3.3.3	Clinical use and side effects	 241
		9.3.3.4	Serum levels and therapeutic effect	 241
		9.3.3.5	Analytical methods	
	9.3.4	Gabaper		
		9.3.4.1	Mechanism of action	 241
		9.3.4.2	Pharmacokinetics and drug interactions	
		9.3.4.3	Clinical use and side effects	 242
		9.3.4.4	Serum levels and therapeutic effect	
		9.3.4.5	Analytical methods	 242

	9.3.5	Topiram	nate	243
		9.3.5.1	Mechanism of action	243
		9.3.5.2	Pharmacokinetics and drug interactions	243
		9.3.5.3	Clinical use and side effects	243
		9.3.5.4	Serum levels and therapeutic effect.	243
		9.3.5.5	Analytical methods	244
	9.3.6	Felbama	ate	244
		9.3.6.1	Mechanism of action	244
		9.3.6.2	Pharmacokinetics and drug interactions	244
		9.3.6.3	Clinical use and side effects	245
		9.3.6.4	Serum levels and therapeutic effect.	245
		9.3.6.5	Analytical methods	245
	9.3.7	Tiagabir	ne	245
		9.3.7.1	Mechanism of action	245
		9.3.7.2	Pharmacokinetics and drug interactions	245
		9.3.7.3	Clinical use and side effects	246
		9.3.7.4	Serum levels and therapeutic effect.	246
		9.3.7.5	Analytical methods	246
	9.3.8	Levetira	cetam	246
		9.3.8.1	Mechanism of action	246
		9.3.8.2	Pharmacokinetics and drug interactions	246
		9.3.8.3	Clinical use and side effects	247
		9.3.8.4	Serum levels and therapeutic effect.	247
		9.3.8.5	Analytical methods	247
	9.3.9	Zonisan	nide	247
		9.3.9.1	Mechanism of action	247
		9.3.9.2	Pharmacokinetics and drug interactions	247
		9.3.9.3	Clinical use and side effects	248
		9.3.9.4	Serum levels and therapeutic effect.	248
		9.3.9.5	Analytical methods	248
9.4	Refere	nces		248
Chap	ter 10.	Therap	peutic drug monitoring of antidepressant and	
		antipsy	chotic drugs	
			B. Mitchell	255
10.1				255
10.2			use of therapeutic drug monitoring of antidepressant and	
			rugs	255
	10.2.1		beutic ranges	255
	10.2.2	Toxicit	•	255
		10.2.2.		256
		10.2.2.	1 0	
			polymorphisms	257
	10.2.3		rapeutic concentrations	257
	10.2.4	Overdo	Dse	257

Contents
----------

10.3	Antider	pressants .		258
	10.3.1		antidepressants (TCAs)	258
		10.3.1.1	Clinical issues	258
		10.3.1.2	Assay methods	258
		10.3.1.3	Sampling times and intervals.	259
		10.3.1.4	Therapeutic ranges	259
		10.3.1.5	Relationship between genotype and serum	-07
			concentrations	260
		10.3.1.6	Interactions and other determinants of plasma	
			concentrations	261
	10.3.2	Selective	serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs)	262
		10.3.2.1	Clinical issues and therapeutic ranges	262
		10.3.2.2	Assay methods	263
		10.3.2.3	Sampling times and intervals.	263
		10.3.2.4	Determinants of plasma concentrations	263
	10.3.3	Reboxetin	ne	263
		10.3.3.1	Clinical issues	263
		10.3.3.2	Assay methods	263
		10.3.3.3	Therapeutic levels	263
		10.3.3.4	Determinants of plasma concentrations	264
	10.3.4	Mirtazapi	ine	264
	10.3.5	Nefazodo	one/trazodone	264
	10.3.6	Venlafaxi	ne	264
10.4	Antipsy			265
	10.4.1	Typical a	ntipsychotics	265
		10.4.1.1	Assay methods	265
		10.4.1.2	Therapeutic ranges	265
		10.4.1.3	Relationships between genotype and serum	
			concentrations	265
		10.4.1.4	Interactions and other determinants of serum	
			concentrations	266
	10.4.2	Atypical	antipsychotics	266
		10.4.2.1	Assay methods	266
		10.4.2.2	Therapeutic ranges	266
		10.4.2.3	Relationship between genotype and serum	
			concentrations	267
		10.4.2.4	Interactions and other determinants of serum	
			concentrations	267
		10.4.2.5	Overdose	268
10.5	Lithium	ı		268
10.6	Conclus	sion		268
10.7	Referen	ices		269

Chap	ter 11.	Monitoring immunosuppressive drugs	
-		David W. Holt and Atholl Johnston	. 273
11.1	Introdu	ction	. 273
11.2	Cyclos	porin	. 274
11.3	Tacroli	mus	. 277
11.4	Mycopl	henolic acid	. 280
11.5	Sirolim	nus	. 283
11.6	Everoli	mus	. 286
11.7	Externa	al proficiency testing	. 286
11.8	Conclu	sions	. 287
11.9	Referen	nces	. 288
Chap	ter 12.	Pharmacogenomics: Methodologies for genotyping and	
		phenotyping	
		Paul J. Jannetto, Elvan Laleli-Sahin and Steven H. Wong	. 297
12.1	Introdu	ction	. 297
12.2	Method	ds for phenotyping	. 297
12.3	Discove	ery of unknown polymorphisms	. 298
	12.3.1	Single-strand conformation polymorphism (SSCP) analysis	
	12.3.2	Denaturing high performance liquid chromatography (dHPLC) .	. 300
12.4	Identifi	cation of known polymorphisms	
	12.4.1	Gel-based methods	. 300
		12.4.1.1 Restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP)	
		analysis	. 300
1	2.4.2 F	Fluorescent-based technologies	. 301
		12.4.2.1 Allele-specific amplification using real time PCR	. 301
		12.4.2.2 Invader <sup>®</sup>	. 303
		12.4.2.3 TaqMan <sup><math>TM</math></sup> DNA probes (real-time PCR)	. 304
		12.4.2.4 Depolymerization assay (ReadIt <sup><math>TM</math></sup> )	
		12.4.2.5 Molecular beacons <sup>TM</sup> $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$	. 306
		12.4.2.6 Genotyping using the LCx <sup>®</sup> platform (Abbott	
		Laboratories, Abbott Park, IL) [52]	. 307
		12.4.2.7 Bioluminometric assay coupled with modified primer	
		extension reactions (BAMPER) [53]	. 307
	12.4.3	DNA sequencing.	. 308
		12.4.3.1 Pyrosequencing <sup>™</sup> (Pyrosequencing Inc., Uppsalla,	
		Sweden)	. 308
		12.4.3.2 SNaPshot	
		(Applied Biosystems)-MINISEQUENCING	. 309
	12.4.4	Mass spectrometry.	
	12.4.5	Capilary electrophoresis	
	12.4.6	DNA microchips.	
		12.4.6.1 eSensor <sup><math>^{\text{M}}</math></sup> DNA detection system	

xvii

	2.4.7 Flow cytometry [65]	313
	12.4.7.1 GammARRAYS	314
	12.4.7.2 $\operatorname{ZipCodes}^{\mathrm{TM}}$	314
12.5	Conclusion	315
12.6	eferences	316
Chapt	relevant polymorphisms of drug metabolizing enzymes and drug transporters	
	Andreas Lazar, Dorota Tomalik-Scharte and Uwe Fuhr	321
13.1	Introduction	321
13.2	Thiopurine-S-Methyltransferase (TPMT)	323
13.3	Dihydropyrimidine dehydrogenase (DPD)	324
13.4	Thymidylate synthase (TS)	326
13.5	N-Acetyltransferase type 2 (NAT2)	327
13.6	Cytochrome P450 2D6 (CYP2D6)	330
13.7	Cytochrome P450 2C9 (CYP2C9)	333
13.8	Cytochrome P450 2C19 (CYP2C19)	335
13.9	Cytochrome P450 3A4 (CYP3A4)	337
13.10	P-Glycoprotein (PGP)	340
13.11	Perspective	343
13.12	References	343
Subjec	index	355

#### CHAPTER 1

## Sample preparation for the analysis of drugs in biological fluids

Yoshihiro Saito<sup>1</sup>, Makiko Hayashida<sup>2</sup> and Kiyokatsu Jinno<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> School of Materials Science, Toyohashi University of Technology, Toyohashi 441-8580, Japan <sup>2</sup> Department of Legal Medicine, Nippon Medical School, Bunkyo, Tokyo 113-8602, Japan

#### **1.1 INTRODUCTION**

Sample preparation is one of the essential processes for the analysis of various drugs in biological sample matrices [1–5]. Prior to the determination of the drugs in these complex mixtures, the elimination of undesirable interferences and the preconcentration of the analytes of interest is necessary to ensure precise identification and reproducible quantitation. A successful combination of the sample preparation techniques and the subsequent separation/determination methods is also an important topic that must be taken into account in order to select the most effective analytical procedure for a particular sample. An additional important requirement for the sample preparation method in drug analysis, especially in emergency clinical situations, is the processing time of the total analysis.

Liquid-liquid extraction (LLE) has been traditionally used as the sample preparation method for biological fluids [6–11]; however, a large amount of organic solvent is needed for the LLE technique. It also requires time-consuming manual procedures and has several other problems such as interferences from the sample matrix and emulsion formation [1]. Centrifugation of the sample matrix, typically with an addition of small amount of organic solvents and an appropriate buffer solution into the sample, has been also employed for protein removal before the preconcentration process. Due to the simplicity of the precipitation method, it is still used if the relevant compounds are not removed in the process. Solid-phase extraction (SPE) is an alternative sample preparation method for the analysis of various complex sample matrices and many applications have been published, including the combination with the subsequent separation systems [12–15], although the direct injection techniques for these complex mixtures have been also reported in several cases [16–21]. With the SPE technique the analyst has several advantages, e.g. cleaner samples, rapid and automated processing

with a good reproducibility as well as no emulsion formation and reduced solvent disposal [14,15].

Miniaturization in sample preparation has been also proposed. Solid-phase microextraction (SPME) was first developed for the analysis of volatile and semi-volatile analytes in a complex sample matrix [22–24], and recently the method was further developed for the coupling with liquid phase separations [4,24]. In the new method, intube SPME [25–27], a section of gas chromatographic (GC) capillary column is introduced as the extraction medium and the extraction is carried out by passing the sample matrix through the extraction capillary [25–33]. With regard to miniaturized sample preparation techniques, several other specially-designed extraction media have been reported such as fiber-packed capillary [34–42], porous hollow fiber [43–47] and polymeric resin disk [14,48].

In this chapter, various sample preparation methods for the analysis of drugs in biological fluids will be reviewed along with brief descriptions for the combination of the sample preparation techniques with the subsequent separation methods such as liquid chromatography (LC) and capillary electrophoresis (CE). The chromatographic separation method for drug analysis will be described in the following chapter.

# **1.2 CONVENTIONAL SAMPLE PREPARATION FOR BIOLOGICAL SAMPLES**

#### **1.2.1** Methods of protein removal

Deproteinization of the biological sample has been typically carried out by the addition of an organic solvent and/or an appropriate buffer solution [6,49–54], and could therefore be simultaneously conducted with the LLE process of the analytes of interest [53]. Because of the relatively easy operation, many kinds of centrifuge tubes with a membrane filter [55,56] have been developed and commercialized for proteins and other insoluble components in the sample matrix. The volume of the sample required for these centrifuge processes is less than about 1.0 mL, indicating its suitability when there is a limited amount of sample.

For the preconcentration of drugs by SPE, the protein removal process is sometimes needed before the application to the SPE cartridge to avoid clogging [1], although a good recovery of the analytes using a sonication followed by a dilution procedure in phosphate buffer (0.1 M; pH 6.0) has been reported for the analysis of whole blood samples [57]. Several other methods for protein removal before the SPE preconcentration step have been published [52].

With specially-designed stationary phases, direct chromatographic separation of the biological sample matrix has been accomplished, in which the deproteinization is simultaneously carried out during the separation of drugs in a single column [17–21]. The introduction of column switching techniques, where two or more columns are connected typically with the switching valve(s), allowed a wider applicability to be obtained [58–62], because different types of packing materials could be used for the pretreatment column(s) and the subsequent separation column.

#### **1.2.2 Liquid-liquid extraction (LLE)**

LLE is the traditional method for the extraction of drugs from biological matrices [10,15]. The extraction mechanism is based on the partition of the analytes between organic and aqueous phases, and the pH of the aqueous phase is normally adjusted so that the drug molecules are neutralized for effective extraction to the organic phase. Therefore, a suitable combination of non-polar organic solvent(s) and an aqueous sample matrix having favorable pH should be prepared, as well as a good volume ratio of these phases [63]. For the selection of a suitable organic solvent, a review article has been published for the determination of benzodiazepines in biological sample matrices [64]. One of the major advantages is the systematic selective extraction that enables the isolation of various drugs having different polarities [63]. As shown in Fig. 1.1, the feature makes the method suitable for the analysis of complex sample mixtures containing more than two drugs. With acidification, acidic (and neutral) drugs are extracted from the aqueous sample matrix to the organic (solvent) phase, while basic (and amphoteric) drugs are extracted with alkalinization of the aqueous phase [65–72].

#### 1.2.3 Solid-phase extraction (SPE)

Because the SPE method has several advantageous features over the LLE technique such as: (1) faster and more effective pretreatment; (2) significantly reduced solvent consumption; and (3) easy operation without complicated manual processing, a large number of applications have been reported, showing it to be one of the most effective and convenient sample preparation techniques for complex sample matrices [12–16]. Fig. 1.2 shows a typical SPE cartridge, in which an extraction medium (solid phase) is



Fig. 1.1. Drug screening process by multiple LLE.

References pp. 11-14



Fig. 1.2. Illustration of SPE cartridge most commonly used.

packed into a syringe-shaped housing made by polymeric materials such as polypropylene (PE). The volume of the sample that can be applied to these SPE cartridge ranges typically from 1 to 20 mL, where the loaded solid phase in these cartridges are from 0.1 to 5.0 g, respectively. To support the particles of the solid phase, a membrane frit with typical pore size of about 20  $\mu$ m is placed at the top and bottom of the phase. Several kinds of membrane materials are available such as PE, polypropylene (PP) and polytetrafluoroethylene (PTFE). The particle size of the solid phase varies, but the average size is around 40–50  $\mu$ m in diameter [14].

Since the solid phase sorbents have been developed based on the technology for stationary phase synthesis in LC, the theoretical principles for selecting the solid phase can be considered to be similar to stationary phase selection [12–14,73–75]. The scheme for the systematic selection of an appropriate extraction material and the conditions [73] are illustrated in Fig. 1.3. For most of the applications in drug analyses, however, hydrophobic extraction materials have been employed. This is primarily due to the relatively hydrophobic nature of the drug molecules in a biological sample matrix with a more hydrophilic nature.

Among the varieties of the solid phases that have been developed, octadecyl ( $C_{18}$ ) bonded silica has been most commonly used for the extraction of single drug and/or single group of drugs having a similar structure, i.e. hydrophobicity [63]. For their successful extraction, the pH of the sample solution is quite important. With the widely used dilution by 0.1 M phosphate buffer (pH 6.0), at this pH the weakly basic (such as diazepam), the neutral and the weakly acidic drugs (such as barbiturates), present in the non-ionized form, are retained by the hydrophobic extraction material [1,14]. In order to avoid protein coagulation at lower pH values, an addition of 0.1 M phosphoric acid to blood samples was proposed [1]. The hydrophobic drugs extracted by the  $C_{18}$  bonded silica will be then separated in reversed-phase LC with an appropriate solvent polarity.

Mixed-mode bonded silica [1,57], where silanol groups are partially derivatized with alkyl chains having a medium length (or other ligands such as phenyl) and with cation exchange functionalities, can interact with at least two types of different mechanisms. Therefore, a selective extraction and elution of a certain class of drugs is possible.



Fig. 1.3. Systematic selection of SPE conditions [73]. SAX, strong anion exchanger; SCX, strong cation exchanger; WCX, weak cation exchanger; RP, reversed-phase conditions; NP, normal-phase sampling conditions; IE, ion-exchange sampling conditions.

(Reproduced from Fig. 1 (appeared in page 20) in J. Chromatogr. A, 885 (2000) 17-39 by C.F. Poole et al.)

Franke and de Zeeuw et al. have demonstrated a drug screening process using mixedmode bonded silica as the solid phase [1,57,76–79]. They introduced a commercially available mixed-mode SPE cartridge for systematic drug screening in biological fluids as illustrated in Fig. 1.4.

In their method, the SPE cartridge, having both hydrophobic and cation exchange functionalities, is preconditioned with phosphate buffer solution (pH 6.0) and methanol. During the extraction process, weakly acidic and neutral compounds are retained by the hydrophobic functional groups, while basic (protonated) compounds are also retained by the cation exchange groups. After the sequential washing processes with deionized water and 0.01 M acetic acid, and the drying procedures, the two-step elution processes are carried out. Acidic and neutral drugs are eluted in fraction A, and then basic drugs and other remaining neutral drugs are eluted in fraction B. Good recoveries of 80–100% have been reported along with acceptable RSDs of less than 10% [76]. The application of the method for drug screening in plasma [77,78], whole blood [77] and urine [78] has been shown. For further information on this technique, see the review article by the authors [1].

Polymer-based SPE media have been also developed and commercialized. In contrast to the silica-based material, polymeric materials can be used under virtually any pH conditions. Compared to the silica-based materials, the polymeric particles have higher specific surface area and no silanol groups therein. The extracted analytes will be completely and easily desorbed during the elution by a relatively small volume of the desorption solvent. Copolymer of styrene-divinylbenzene (PS-DVB or SDB) has been widely employed with a typical particle size of  $20-160 \ \mu\text{m}$ , although several materials can be obtained only with a diameter of  $250-400 \ \mu\text{m}$ , which must be subjected to further grinding for an efficient extraction [14]. Using the PS-DVB resin, a wide range of drugs can be isolated from typical biological matrices, e.g. blood, serum, gastric content and tissues. The recommended SPE process with the polymer-based material can be found in [80], where 16 drugs in urine samples have been analyzed by GC with SPE sample preparation. Modification of the polymeric sorbents for SPE has been also proposed by Sun and Fritz et al. [81,82].



Fig. 1.4. SPE scheme for drug screening in typical biological sample matrices [76]. (Reproduced from Fig. 1 (appeared in page 73) in J. Chromatogr. B, 689 (1997) 71–79 by R.A. de Zeeuw.)

SPE sample preparation methods for particular classes of drugs such as benzodiazepines [10,52,57,63,77,83–86], tricyclic antidepressants (TCAs) [57,80,84], barbiturates [52,57,80, 84,85] and other drugs commonly encountered in drug abuse [10,52,54,57,80,84–88] have been published.

#### **1.3 MICROEXTRACTION METHODS FOR BIOLOGICAL ANALYSES**

#### 1.3.1 Solid-phase microextraction (SPME)

SPME has been widely accepted for the sample preparation of complex sample matrices, such as biological and environmental mixtures. As the extraction device, a piece of fused-silica fiber coated with a polymeric material is employed. Fig. 1.5 compares the devices for three extraction techniques, where the extraction cartridges for the SPE and membrane extraction methods [14,89–92] are also illustrated. For the extraction the SPME fiber is immersed into the sample solution or inserted into the head space of the vials containing the sample solution. Several polymers typically used as GC stationary phases, such as polydimethylsiloxane (PDMS), have been introduced as the coating materials [24,27], because SPME was first developed by Pawliszyn et al. for the analysis of volatile/semi-volatile analytes that can be thermally desorbed in a GC injection device [22–24]. In contrast to the good compatibility with the GC system, however, a specially designed desorption device is needed for the analysis of non-volatile and/or thermally labile compounds in order to accomplish the effective coupling



Fig. 1.5. Comparison of SPE and other commercialized microscale sample preparation methods [74]. (a) SPE; (b) membrane extraction; and (c) SPME.

(Reproduced from Fig. 1 (appeared in page 53) in J. Chromatogr. A, 885 (2000) 51-72 by C.W. Huck et al.)

References pp. 11-14

of the SPME with liquid-phase separation systems, such as LC [93–103], supercritical fluid chromatography (SFC) [104,105] and electrodriven separation methods [106–108]. For the applications of SPME preparation in drug analysis, the recent trends have been reviewed by Snow *et al.* including the citations of typical reports for various class of drugs [4,109], and a book summarizing the wide range of real applications has been published [24,27].

#### 1.3.2 In-tube solid-phase microextraction (In-tube SPME)

For an effective on-line coupling of the sample preparation and LC separation system, and the automation of the hyphenated system, in-tube SPME has been proposed by Pawliszyn et al., where a section of open-tubular GC capillary column was employed as the extraction device [25–31]. An overview of the typical in-tube SPME/LC/MS system is illustrated in Fig. 1.6 [32]. During the extraction, the sample solution is repeatedly drawn and ejected by the metering pump *via* the extraction capillary until the equilibrium between the sample matrix and the stationary phase coating is established. Then, the extracted analytes are desorbed by the flow of the desorption solvent or the mobile phase solvent. With the desorption by the mobile phase, the desorption and injection of the preconcentrated analytes can be processed simultaneously. For the typical applications, an extraction capillary of 0.25 mm i.d.  $\times$  50 cm with the optimal draw/eject flowrate of 50–100 µL/min was used. Several classes of drugs in biological



Fig. 1.6. In-tube SPME-LC-MS system [32]. (A) Load position (extraction); and (B) injection position (desorption). (Reproduced from Fig. 4 (appeared in page 41) in J. Chromatogr. A, 880 (2000) 35–62 by H. Kataoka et al.)

sample, such as benzodiazepines in urine and serum [110],  $\beta$ -blockers in urine and serum [29,31,111], and amphetamine and methamphetamine in urine [30], have been reported along with a review of drug analysis with in-tube SPME [33].

#### **1.3.3** Other novel miniaturized extraction techniques

For the effective on-line coupling of microscale sample preparation and microcolumn separations, fibrous synthetic polymers have been proposed by Jinno et al. [34–42]. In the newly developed microextraction method, fiber-in-tube solid-phase extraction (FIT-SPE), the extraction is processed in a short capillary, which is packed longitudinally with several hundred polymer filaments as the extraction medium. Because of the parallel arrangement of the filaments to the outer tubing (extraction tube), a large number of coaxial narrow channels can be formed in the extraction capillary as shown in Fig. 1.7, where in-tube capillary [25] and wire-in-tube capillary [112] are also illustrated [113].

Compared with the conventional in-tube capillary, i.e. a section of open-tubular GC column, the wire-in-tube capillary has a considerably reduced internal volume by inserting a stainless steel wire therein; this allowed an improved extraction power for trace analysis [36]. The fiber-in-tube method, however, allows further reduction of the internal void volume to be accomplished, while the capillary shows a reduced pressure drop during the extraction and desorption compared with the conventional particle-



Fig. 1.7. Illustrations of three types of microextraction capillaries. (A) In-tube [25,26], (B) wire-in-tube [112] and (C) fiber-in-tube [34,35]. (Reproduced from Fig. 4 (appeared in page 59) in J. Chromatogr. A. 1000 (2003) 53–67 by Y. Saito and K. Jinno.

References pp. 11-14

packed SPE cartridge. Furthermore, any undesirable plugging from insoluble and/or particulate materials in real sample matrices can be significantly reduced in the FIT format. Recent studies also demonstrated that the effective interaction of the sample solution with a number of the fine fibrous extraction media in the extraction capillary could enable further miniaturization to a microscale sample preconcentration device [35–38]. Polymer-coated fibrous material [40] has been also introduced as the extraction medium for the on-line sample preparation of TCA drugs [41].

Rasmussen et al. have developed the so-called liquid-phase microextraction (LPME) technique, in which a porous polypropylene hollow fiber was employed as an extraction device [43–47]. LPME was performed in a conventional vial (4 mL) containing a small piece of polypropylene hollow fiber (600  $\mu$ m i.d. × 8 cm) with a wall thickness of 200  $\mu$ m and a pore size of 0.2  $\mu$ m. The analytes of interest are extracted from the sample into an organic solvent, which is immiscible with water and immobilized in the pores of the hollow fiber. For typical applications with subsequent electrophoretic separation, the sample volume and the acceptor volume were 25  $\mu$ L and 1 to 4 mL, respectively. Then, a higher phase ratio than with conventional SPE can be accomplished. A good compatibility with other chromatographic separations, such as GC and LC systems, was also reported for the analysis of several classes of drugs in biological matrix as well as the coupling with CE separation system [45].

Another microscale sample preparation method was proposed by Tomlinson et al. [114–116]. This research group developed the so-called "preconcentration-CE" (PC-CE) method as an on-line coupled sample preconcentration process to CE separations. The concept is similar to that of conventional SPE, and the preconcentration was carried out in a small section of packed tubing, typically a few millimeters length of C<sub>18</sub> particle-packed section in a PTFE tubing (400  $\mu$ m i.d.), which was directly connected to the CE separation capillary. They have further developed another miniaturized sample preparation technique, specially designed for on-line coupling to CE separation [117,118]. The method can be regarded as a kind of membrane extraction [14,48], and a piece of a commercially available polymeric membrane PS-DVB was employed as the adsorptive membrane [119–125].

# **1.4 FUTURE PROSPECTS IN BIOLOGICAL SAMPLE PREPARATION METHODS**

Various sample preparation methods have been reviewed, especially for drug analysis in biological sample matrices, including LLE, SPE and some other miniaturized extraction techniques, such as SPME. The general shift from the traditional LLE technique to the miniaturized methods, via the innovations in SPE, will be accelerated significantly based on the recent requirements for analytical procedures such as high-speed analysis with high efficiency but without a large solvent consumption, and highly selective analysis for a particular class of compounds. Miniaturization of the sample preparation process and the instrumentation is one of the most promising solutions for these

requirements, and the more effective and rapid drug analysis systems will be developed and commercialized in the next few decades.

The automation of the miniaturized system will also be required for the reproducible and precise identification and quantification of the particular drug molecule from the huge number of candidates in the library.

### **1.5 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

A part of this work was financially supported by Grant-in-Aid for Scientific Research ((B) No. 14340233) from Japan Society for the Promotion of Science (JSPS), Grant-in-Aid for Young Scientists ((B) No. 13740421) from The Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology (MEXT), and a Research Grant for Young Faculties from Toyohashi University of Technology. YS would like to thank The Tatematsu Foundation for its financial support, and also thanks to Mr. M. Imaizumi and Mr. K. Ban for their helpful assistance during preparation of the manuscript.

#### **1.6 REFERENCES**

- 1 J.P. Franke and R.A. de Zeeuw, J. Chromatogr. B, 713 (1998) 51–59.
- 2 A. Polettini, J. Chromatogr. B, 733 (1999) 47–63.
- 3 H.H. Maurer, J. Chromatogr. B, 580 (1992) 3–41.
- 4 N.H. Snow, J. Chromatogr. A, 885 (2000) 445–455.
- 5 J. Henion, E. Brewer and G. Rule, Anal. Chem., 70 (1998) 650A-656A.
- 6 M. Bogusz, J. Wijsbeek, J.P. Franke and R.A. de Zeeuw, J. Anal. Toxicol., 9 (1985) 49–54.
- 7 S. Ünsalan, G. Hempel, J. Boos and G. Blaschke, Chromatographia, 54 (2001) 635–637.
- 8 M. Hayashida, M. Nihira, T. Watanabe and K. Jinno, J. Chromatogr., 506 (1990) 133–143.
- 9 I. Rasanen, I. Ojanperä, J. Vartiovaara, E. Vuori and P. Sunila, J. High Resolut. Chromatogr., 19 (1996) 313–321.
- 10 H.H. Maurer, J. Chromatogr. B, 713 (1998) 3–25.
- 11 K.E. Brooks and N.B. Smith, Clin. Chem., 37 (1991) 1975–1978.
- 12 N. Simpson, Solid phase extraction: principles, strategies, and applications, Marcel Dekker, New York, 1997.
- 13 E.M. Thurman and M.S. Mills, Solid-phase extraction: Principles and practice, Wiley-VCH, New York, 1998.
- 14 J.S. Fritz, Analytical solid-phase extraction, Wiley-VCH, New York, 1999.
- 15 R.D.McDowall, J. Chromatogr., 492 (1989) 3-58.
- 16 D.J. Anderson, Anal. Chem., 65 (1993) 434R-443R.
- 17 J. Haginaka, Trends Anal. Chem., 10 (1991) 17–22.
- 18 J. Haginaka and J. Wakai, Anal. Chem., 62 (1990) 997–1000.
- 19 I.H. Hagestam and T.C. Pinkerton, Anal. Chem., 57 (1985) 1757–1763.
- 20 S.E. Cook and T.C. Pinkerton, J. Chromatogr., 368 (1986) 233–248.
- 21 K.K. Unger, Chromatographia, 31 (1991) 507–511.
- 22 C.L. Arthur and J. Pawliszyn, Anal. Chem., 62 (1990) 2145–2148.
- 23 Z. Zhang, M.J. Yang and J. Pawliszyn, Anal. Chem., 66 (1994) 844A-854A.
- 24 Pawliszyn, Solid-phase microextraction: Theory and practice, Wiley-VCH, New York, 1997.
- 25 R. Eisert and J. Pawliszyn, Anal. Chem., 69 (1997) 3140–3147.
- 26 H.L. Lord and J. Pawliszyn, LC-GC, 16 (1998) S41-S46.
- 27 J. Pawliszyn (Ed.), Applications of solid phase microextraction, Royal Society of Chemistry, Cambridge, U.K., 1999.
- 28 H. Kataoka, H.L. Lord and J. Pawliszyn, J. Chromatogr. B, 731 (1999) 353-359.

- 29 H. Kataoka, S. Narimatsu, H.L. Lord and J. Pawliszyn, Anal. Chem., 71 (1999) 4237-4244.
- 30 H. Kataoka, H. Lord and J. Pawliszyn, J. Anal. Toxicol., 24 (2000) 257–265.
- 31 H. Kataoka, H.L. Lord, S. Yamamoto, S. Narimatsu and J. Pawliszyn, J. Microcol. Sep., 12 (2000) 493–500.
- 32 H. Kataoka, H.L. Lord and J. Pawliszyn, J. Chromatogr. A, 880 (2000) 35–62.
- 33 H. Kataoka, Anal. Bioanal. Chem., 373 (2002) 31–45.
- 34 Y. Saito, Y. Nakao, M. Imaizumi, T. Takeichi, Y. Kiso and K. Jinno, Fresenius J. Anal. Chem., 368 (2000) 641–643.
- 35 K. Jinno, M. Kawazoe, Y. Saito, T. Takeichi and M. Hayashida, Electrophoresis, 22 (2001) 3785–3790.
- 36 Y. Saito, M. Kawazoe, M. Imaizumi, Y. Morishima, Y. Nakao, K. Hatano, M. Hayashida and K. Jinno, Anal. Sci., 18 (2002) 7–17.
- 37 Y. Saito, Y. Nakao, M. Imaizumi, Y. Morishima, Y. Kiso and K. Jinno, Anal. Bioanal. Chem., 373 (2002) 81–86.
- 38 Y. Saito, M. Imaizumi, T. Takeichi and K. Jinno, Anal. Bioanal. Chem., 372 (2002) 164–168.
- 39 Y. Saito and K. Jinno, Anal. Bioanal. Chem., 373 (2002) 325–331.
- 40 Y. Saito, M. Nojiri, M. Imaizumi, Y. Nakao, Y. Morishima, H. Kanehara, H. Matsuura, K. Kotera, H. Wada and K. Jinno, J. Chromatogr. A, 975 (2002) 105–112.
- 41 M. Imaizumi, Y. Saito, M. Hayashida, T. Takeichi, H. Wada and K. Jinno, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal., 30 (2003) 1801–1808.
- 42 Y. Morishima, Y. Saito, C. Fujimoto, T. Takeichi and K. Jinno, Chromatographia, 56 (2002) 585–590.
- 43 S. Pedersen-Bjergaard and K.E. Rasmussen, Anal. Chem., 71 (1999) 2650–2656.
- 44 S. Pedersen-Bjergaard and K.E. Rasmussen, Electrophoresis, 21 (2000) 579–585.
- 45 T.G. Halvorsen, S. Pedersen-Bjergaard and K.E. Rasmussen, J. Chromatogr. A, 909 (2001) 87–93.
- 46 S. Pedersen-Bjergaard, K.E. Rasmussen and T.G. Halvorsen, J. Chromatogr. A, 902 (2000) 91–105.
- 47 K.E. Rasmussen, S. Pedersen-Bjergaard, M. Krogh, H.G. Ugland and T. Gronhaug.J. Chromatogr. A, 873 (2000) 3–11.
- 48 J.S. Fritz and J.J. Masso, J. Chromatogr. A, 909 (2001) 79–85.
- 49 R. Mariot and L. Zangirolami, J. Chromatogr. B, 677 (1996) 190–193.
- 50 B.I. Podkowik and S. Masur, J. Chromatogr. B, 681 (1996) 405–411.
- 51 F. Berthault, P. Kintz and P. Mangin, J. Chromatogr. B, 685 (1996) 383–387.
- 52 Z.-P. Huang, X.-H. Chen, J. Wijsbeek, J.-P. Franke and R.A. de Zeeuw, J. Anal. Toxicol., 20 (1996) 248–254.
- 53 P.B. Ralston and T.G. Strein, Microchem.J., 55 (1997) 270–283.
- 54 M.R. Moeller, S. Steinmeyer and T. Kraemer, J. Chromatogr. B, 713 (1998) 91–109.
- 55 W. Buchberger, J. Chromatogr., 439 (1988) 129–135.
- 56 J. Rendl, M. Luster and C. Reiners, J. Liq. Chromatogr. Relat. Technol., 20 (1997) 1445–1459.
- 57 X.-H. Chen, J.-P Franke, J. Wijsbeek and R.A. de Zeeuw, J. Anal. Toxicol. 16 (1992) 351–355.
- 58 A. Nazareth, L. Jaramillo, B.L. Karger and R.W. Giese, J. Chromatogr., 309 (1984) 357–368.
- 59 S.R. Binder, M. Regalia, M. Biaggi-McEachern and M. Mazhar, J. Chromatogr., 473 (1989) 325–341.
- 60 W. Rieck and D. Platt, J. Chromatogr., 578 (1992) 259–263.
- 61 H. Iwase, K. Gondo, T. Koike and I. Ono, J. Chromatogr. B, 655 (1994) 73-81.
- 62 V.K. Boppana, C. Miller-Stein and W.H. Schaefer, J. Chromatogr. B, 678 (1996) 227–236.
- 63 O.H. Drummer, J. Chromatogr. B, 713 (1998) 201–225.
- 64 A.K. Shigh, M. Ashraf, K. Granley, U. Mishra, M.M. Rao and B. Gordon, J. Chromatogr., 473 (1989) 215–226.
- 65 G. Hempel and G. Blaschke, J. Chromatogr. B, 675 (1996) 139–146.
- 66 G. Hempel, S. Haberland, P. Schulze-Westhoff, N. Möhling, G. Blaschke and J. Boos, J. Chromatogr. B, 698 (1997) 287–292.
- 67 T.V. Beischlag and T. Inaba, J. Anal. Toxicol., 16 (1992) 236–239.
- 68 I.M. McIntyre, M.L. Syrjanen, K. Crump, S. Horomidis, A.W. Peace and O.H. Drummer, J. Anal. Toxicol., 17 (1993) 202–207.

- 69 R. Meatherall, J. Anal. Toxicol., 18 (1994) 369–381.
- 70 M. Bogusz and M. Erkens, J. Anal. Toxicol., 19 (1995) 49-55.
- 71 W.E. Lamberet, E. Meyer and A.P. De Leenheer, J. Anal. Toxicol., 19 (1995) 73-78.
- 72 M.S. Mills and E.M. Thurman, J. Chromatogr., 629 (1993) 1–93.
- 73 C.F. Poole, A.D.Gunatilleka and R. Sethuraman, J. Chromatogr. A, 885 (2000) 17–39.
- 74 C.W. Huck and G.K. Bonn, J. Chromatogr. A, 885 (2000) 51–72.
- 75 D.T. Rossi and N. Zhang, J. Chromatogr. A, 885 (2000) 97–113.
- 76 R.A. de Zeeuw, J. Chromatogr. B, 689 (1997) 71-79.
- 77 X.-H. Chen, J.-P. Franke, K. Ensing, J. Wijsbeek and R.A. de Zeeuw, J. Anal. Toxicol., 17 (1993) 421–426.
- 78 X.-H. Chen, J. Wijsbeek, J.-P. Franke and R.A. de Zeeuw, J. Forensic Sci., 37 (1992) 61–71.
- 79 P. Warnly and W. Thormann, Anal. Chem., 64 (1992) 2155–2159.
- 80 N. Elahi, J. Anal. Toxicol., 4 (1980) 26–30.
- 81 J.J. Sun and J.S. Fritz, J. Chromatogr., 590 (1992) 197–202.
- 82 J.J. Sun and J.S. Fritz, J. Chromatogr., 522 (1990) 95–105.
- 83 J. Chopineau, F. Rivalt, V. Sautou and M.F. Sommier, J. Liq. Chromatogr., 17 (1994) 373–383.
- A. Polettini, A. Groppi, C. Vignali and M. Motonaga, J. Chromatogr. B, 713 (1998) 265–279.
- 85 D.A. Kidwell, J.C. Holland and S. Athanaselis, J. Chromatogr. B, 713 (1998) 111–135.
- 86 K. Wolff, D. Garretty and A.W.M. Hay, Ann. Clin. Biochem., 34 (1997) 61-67.
- 87 X.-H. Chen, J.-P. Franke, J. Wijsbeek and R.A. de Zeeuw, J. Anal. Toxicol., 18 (1994) 150–153.
- 88 T. Kraemer and H.H. Maurer, J. Chromatogr. B, 713 (1998) 163–187.
- 89 D.F. Hagen, C.G. Markell, G.A. Schmitt and D.D. Blevins, Anal. Chim. Acta, 236 (1990) 157–164.
- 90 L. Schmidt and J.S. Fritz, J. Chromatogr., 640 (1993) 145–149.
- 91 L. Schmidt, J.J. Sun, J.S. Fritz, D.F. Hagen, C.G. Markell and E.E. Wisted, J. Chromatogr., 641 (1993) 57–61.
- 92 P.J. Dumont and J.S. Fritz, J. Chromatogr. A, 691 (1995) 123–131.
- 93 J. Chen and J. Pawliszyn, Anal. Chem., 67 (1995) 2530–2533.
- 94 A.A. Boyd-Boland and J. Pawliszyn, Anal. Chem., 68 (1996) 1521–1529.
- 95 C. Jia, Y. Luo and J. Pawliszyn, J. Microcol. Sep., 10 (1998) 167–173.
- 96 M. Moder, P. Popp and J. Pawliszyn, J. Microcol. Sep., 10 (1998) 225–234.
- 97 W.M. Mullet and J. Pawliszyn, Anal. Chem., 74 (2002) 1081–1087.
- 98 K. Jinno, T. Muramatsu, Y. Saito, Y. Kiso, S. Magdic and J. Pawliszyn, J. Chromatogr. A, 754 (1996) 137–144.
- 99 K. Jinno, M. Taniguchi and M. Hayashida, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal., 17 (1998) 1081–1091.
- 100 K. Jinno, M. Taniguchi, H. Sawada and M. Hayashida, Analusis, 26 (1998) M27-M30.
- 101 K. Jinno, M. Kawazoe and M. Hayashida, Chromatographia, 52 (2000) 309–313.
- 102 E.H.M. Koster, N.S.K. Hofman and G.J. de Jong, Chromatographia, 47 (1998) 678–684.
- 103 D.A. Volmer, J.P. Hui and P.M. Joseph, Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom., 11 (1997) 1926–1933.
- 104 S.H. Salleh, Y. Saito and K. Jinno, Anal. Chim. Acta, 418 (2000) 69–77.
- 105 S.H. Salleh, Y. Saito and K. Jinno, Anal. Chim. Acta, 433 (2001) 207–215.
- 106 C.W. Whang and J. Pawliszyn, Anal. Commun., 35 (1998) 353–356.
- 107 K. Jinno, Y. Han, H. Sawada and M. Taniguchi, Chromatographia, 46 (1997) 309–314.
- 108 K. Jinno, H. Sawada and Y. Han, Biomed. Chromatogr., 12 (1998) 126–127.
- 109 H. Kataoka, H.L. Lord, J. Pawliszyn, in: I.D. Wilson, T.D. Adlard, C.F. Poole, M. Cook (Eds.), Encyclopedia of separation science, Academic Press, London, 2000, pp. 4153–4169.
- 110 H. Yuan, Z. Mester, H.L. Lord and J. Pawliszyn, J. Anal. Toxcol., 24 (2000) 718–725.
- 111 J. Wu, H.L. Lord, J. Pawliszyn and H. Kataoka, J. Microcol. Sep., 12 (2000) 255–266.
- 112 Y. Saito, M. Kawazoe, M. Hayashida and K. Jinno, Analyst, 125 (2000) 807–809.
- 113 Y. Saito and K. Jinno, J. Chromatogr. A, 1000 (2003) 53-67.
- 114 A.J. Tomlinson, L.M. Benson, R.P. Oda, W.D.Braddock, M.A. Strausbauch, P.J. Wettstein and S. Naylor, J. High Resolut. Chromatogr., 17 (1994) 669–670.
- 115 L.M. Benson, A.J. Tomlinson and S. Naylor, J. High Resolut. Chromatogr., 17 (1994) 671-673.
- 116 A.J. Tomlinson, L.M. Benson, W.D.Braddock, R.P. Oda and S. Naylor, J. High Resolut. Chromatogr., 17 (1994) 729–731.

- 117 A.J. Tomlinson, L.M. Benson, W.D.Braddock, R.P. Oda and S. Naylor, J. High Resolut. Chromatogr., 18 (1995) 381–383.
- 118 Q. Yang, A.J. Tomlinson and S. Naylor, Anal. Chem., 71 (1999) 183A-189A.
- 119 A.J. Tomlinson, S.C. Jameson and S. Naylor, J. Chromatogr. A, 744 (1996) 273–278.
- 120 E. Rohde, A.J. Tomlinson, D.H. Johnson and S. Naylor, J. Chromatogr. B, 713 (1998) 301–311.
- 121 A.J. Tomlinson, L.M. Benson, S.C. Jameson and S. Naylor, Electrophoresis, 17 (1996) 1801–1807.
- 122 S. Naylor, Q. Ji, K.L. Jameson, A.J. Tomlinson, W.C. Kieper and S.C. Jameson, Electrophoresis, 19 (1998) 2207–2212.
- 123 E. Rohde, A.J. Tomlinson, D.H. Johnson and S. Naylor, Electrophoresis, 19 (1998) 2361–2370.
- 124 A.J. Tomlinson, N.A. Guzman and S. Naylor, J. Capillary Electrophoresis, 2 (1995) 247–266.
- 125 L.M. Benson, A.J. Tomlinson, A.N. Mayeno, G.J. Gleich, D. Wells and S. Naylor, J. High Resolut. Chromatogr., 19 (1996) 291–294.

#### CHAPTER 2

# Chromatographic methods for the analysis of drugs in biological fluids

Hassan Y. Aboul-Enein<sup>1</sup>, Mohamed M. Hefnawy<sup>1</sup> and Kenichiro Nakashima<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Pharmaceutical Analysis Laboratory, Biological and Medical Research Department (MBC 03), King

Faisal Specialist Hospital and Research Centre, P.O. Box 3354, Riyadh 11211, Saudi Arabia

<sup>2</sup> Division of Analytical Research for Pharmacoinformatics, Department of Clinical Pharmacy, Graduate School of Biomedical Sciences, Nagasaki University, 1–14 Bunkyo-Machi, Nagasaki 852-8521, Japan

#### **2.1 INTRODUCTION**

Analysis of drugs in biological fluids is very important and can give a wealth of information relating to pharmacokinetics, pharmacodynamics, pharmacology, toxicology and for therapeutic drug monitoring (TDM) purposes. To date, a wide variety of analytical methods has been developed and adapted for determining drugs in biological fluids, i.e. blood, urine, milk, etc.

This chapter focuses on the utilization of high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) and gas-chromatography (GC) and their hyphenated methods with mass spectrometry (MS), i.e. LC-MS and GC-MS, for the analysis of drugs in biological fluids. The more recent results on achiral drug analyses are selected and described with emphasis on the useful and practical methods. Recently, the hyphenated chromatographic methods for biomaterials were reviewed [1].

This chapter compromises two parts. Part I discusses the analysis of drugs in biological fluids, summarized in Tables 2.1-1 to 2.1-5 while Part II describes chromatographic method of analysis of chiral drugs in biological fluids with some examples summarized in Tables 2.2–1 to 2.2–9.

Among the separation techniques employed for drug analysis in recent years, HPLC has proven to be the most popular because of its excellent capability for the determination of aqueous samples. Drugs as well as endogenous components in biological fluids are commonly non-volatile polar compounds, and thus HPLC is more suitable than GC for their separation. For analyte detection with HPLC, a wide array of detection techniques with comprehensive and excellent features can be connected to it on-line, i.e. ultra violet (UV), fluorescence (FL), chemiluminescence (CL), electrochemical (EC), mass spectrometric (MS) detectors, etc.

The combination of MS with a proper means of separation is ideal for the analysis of complex biological samples. To be detectable by MS, analytes should be introduced in the gaseous phase. GC is suitable for volatile compounds; however, non-volatile compounds can be applied to GC after derivatization to increase their volatility. MS was first interfaced to GC because analytes eluting from the column or capillary are in the gaseous phase and further volatilization is not required. Therefore, hyphenating GC with MS has been widely used for the analysis of various kinds of substances, including drugs. On the other hand, HPLC hyphenated with MS has become more popular in the last decade because of its intrinsic selectivity and sensitivity when dealing with aqueous samples. In addition, it has become apparent that a tandem LC with MS/MS detection system is the best technique for trace amounts of substances in biological fluids.

Other separation techniques such as capillary electrochromatography (CEC) are powerful and attractive, but the number of recent reports describing their utilization in drug analyses in biological fluids is rather few. The main reason for the limited applications of CEC in the biomedical field is that the method lacks sufficient sensitivity. Regarding separation, in general CEC has no advantages over HPLC or capillary electrophoresis.

### PART I. CHROMATOGRAPHIC METHODS OF ANALYSIS OF DRUGS IN BIOLOGICAL FLUIDS

### 2.2 HPLC

In addition to being routinely employed in practical TDM analysis of drugs, HPLC is also utilized in clinical, pharmacological, toxicological and forensic studies. For the successful detection of the target analytes, their physicochemical properties such as UVabsorbance, fluorescence (FL), redox potential, etc. are evaluated and exploited. If compounds do not have any of these properties, a derivatization reaction is recommended in order to introduce such a characteristic in the molecule. Provided that the target compound has a reactive moiety, a UV- or FL-labeling reaction is commonly utilized, and this is achieved via the selective reaction between the functional groups of the analyte and that of the labeling reagent. Derivatization serves to improve the sensitivity, selectivity and the chromatographic behavior. A chemical conversion via a photochemical reaction to produce a strongly UV-absorbing or fluorescing derivative from non-UV absorbing or non-FL molecules is also advantageous and indispensable for the selective analysis of drugs.

### 2.2.1 UV detection

An HPLC-UV method is simple and practical for detecting a substance which has a chromophore with absorption bands in the UV or visible (Vis) region; fortunately, many drugs fulfill this criterion, somewhere between 200–800 nm. The selection of the monitoring wavelength is based on the absorptivity of the analyte in question; the maximum wavelength is often chosen. At shorter wavelengths in particular, the selected

### TABLE 2.1-1 HPLC-UV DETECTION

References pp. 69-75

Drug	Category	Method	Sample	Determination Range	Simultaneously Determined Compound	Reference
isoniazid	tuberculosis	HPLC-UV, 275 nm	plasma	0.5–8 μg/ml regression slope = 1.03	acetylisoniazid	11
quinapril	ACE inhibitor anti-hypertension	HPLC-UV, 215 nm	plasma	10–500 ng/ml	quinaprilat	24
metaformin	antihyperglycemia, type-2 diabetes	HPLC-UV, 236 nm	plasma milk (breast)	20–4000 μg/ml r2 > 0.99	buformin	8
omeprazole	H + /K + - ATPase inhibitor	HPLC-UV, 302 nm semimicro-column	plasma	10–2000 ng/ml r > 0.999	omeprazole sulfone	38
ranitidine	histamine H2- receptor agonist	HPLC-UV, 320 nm	plasma	20–1000 ng/ml r > 0.999		12
fluconazole	antifungal drug	HPLC-UV, 210 nm	plasma	0.195–100 ng/ml r > 0.9999		32
zidovudine	HIV	HPLC-UV, 265 nm ion-pair	plasma	57.6–2880 ng/ml r > 0.999	lamivudine nevirapine	29
amphotericin B	antifungal, antibiotic	HPLC-UV, 405 nm	plasma	0.5–5.0 μg/ml 0.005–0.5μg/ml r > 0.999	liposomal amphotericin B amphotericin B colloidal dispersion	26
praziquantal	trematodes, cestodes schistosomiasis	HPLC-UV, 217 nm	plasma	100–2000 ng/ml r = 0.999		13
clobazam	anticonvulsant epilepsy	HPLC-UV, 235 nm	plasma	0–500 ng/ml r = 0.9995		27
linezolid	antibacterial agent	HPLC-UV, 254 nm	serum	0-30  mg/l r = 0.999		
carbamazepine	epileptic seizures trigeminal neuralgia psychiatric disorder	HPLC-UV, 237 nm	plasma	0.5–15.0 μg/ml r=0.9990	10,11-dihydro-10,11-dihydroxy- carbamazepine,10,11-dihydro- 10,11-epioxycarbamazepin, etc.	28
ketorolac	NSAID, analgesic efficiacy	HPLC-UV, 313 nm	plasma	$0.05-10.0 \ \mu g/ml$ r2 = 0.998		25
loratadine	antihistamine, urticaria, allergic rhinitis	HPLC-UV, 200 nm	plasma	0.5–50 ng/ml r > 0.999		18
## TABLE 2.1-1 CONTINUED

Drug	Category	Method	Sample	Determination Range	Simultaneously Determined Compound	Reference
isperidone	antipsychotics, symptoms of schizophrenia	HPLC-UV, 278 nm	plasma	5–100 ng/ml r=0.998	9-hydroxy-risperidone	14
rthromycin	antibiotics, bacterial infections	HPLC-UV, 236 nm HPLC-ED	plasma, tissues (animals) milk (cow)	0.25–20 µg/ml (plasma) 0.125–10 µg/ml (fat, liver, muscle, kidney) 0.025–2.0 µg.ml (milk) r > 0.98		15
arboplatin	antineoplastic	HPLC-UV, 230 nm HPLC-UV, 290 nm (post-column)	plasma	0.05–40 mg/ml r2>0.999		5
meprazole	gastric ulcer	HPLC-UV, 302 nm	plasma	5-500  ng/ml r=0.993		20
efepine	empirical antibiotic,	HPLC-UV, 263 nm	serum	0.5–200 µg/ml	cefpirome	31
fampicin	tuberculosis	HPLC-UV, 254 nm	urine, plasma	$2-20 \ \mu g/ml$ r > 0.999	desacetylrifampicin, rifapentine	6
ndinavir	HIV, protese inhibitor	HPLC-UV, 210 nm	plasma	25–2500 ng/ml r2 > 0.99	-	23
mpicillin	chemotherapy	HPLC-UV, 220 nm	serum	0.19–9.41 μg/ml r=0.999		50
netformin	diabetes NIDM	HPLC-UV, 232 nm	plasma	0.1-40  mg/ml r = 1.000		30
aclitaxel	cancer, malignances	HPLC-UV, 230 nm	plasma	10-500  ng/ml r=0.9998		16
ancomycin	antibiotic, gram-positive bacteria	HPLC-UV, 282 nm FPIA (flourescence polarization immuno- assay	plasma, tissues sternum	0.5–75 mg/ml r=0.9966		22

## TABLE 2.1-1 CONTINUED

Drug	Category	Method	Sample	Determination Range	Simultaneously Determined Compound	Reference
carbamazepine	antiepileptic, tonic-colonic seizure	HPLC-UV, 210 nm	plasma	0-12  mg/ml r = 0.9998	carbamazepine-10,11-epoxide	10
cisplatin	anticancer, solid tumors	HPLC-UV, 210 nm	plasma	60–600 nM r > 0.994	monohydrated cisplatin	7
gentamicins C1	antimicrobial, infections	HPLC-UV, 365 pre-column	plasma, urine	0–50 mg/l r2 = 0.999	gentamicin C1a gentamicin C2	3
viriconazole	antifungal	HPLC-UV automated, direct injection column-switching	plasma	10–3000 ng/ml r = 0.9985	UK-115794(II) (IS)	33
meropenem	antibiotic, respiratory infection	HPLC-UV, 296 nm direct injection column swithcing	serum, bronchial secretions	$0.5-40 \ \mu g/ml$ r2=0.9993	ceftazidime	34
thiacetazone	tuberculosis, ribonucreotide reduc- tase inactivator	HPLC-UV, 322 nm direct injection ISRP column	plasma, (human, rat)	0.17–2.8 μg/ml r2=0.9998		35
propafenone	supraventricular and ventricular arrhytmias	HPLC-UV, 246 direct inhection column switching	serum	0.025–4 μg/ml r=0.998	5-hydroxypropafenone, LU46532 (IS)	37
propentofyline	glutamate release inhibitor	HPLC-UV, 270 nm direct injection solumn switching	serum (human, rat)	1-100  nmol/ml r = 1.000 (humna) r = 0.999 (rat)	A720287, A802751, A802831	39
celecoxib	COX-2 inhibitor, NSAID, inflammation, pain	HPLC-UV, 260 nm normal-phase column column switching	plasma	25–2000 ng/ml	analogue of celecoxib (IS)	21

TABLE 2.1-1	
CONTINUED	

Drug	Category	Method	Sample	Determination Range	Simultaneously Determined Compound	Reference
ceclofenac	NSAID, analgesic	HPLC-UV, 278 nm direct injection column switching	plasma	50–10000 ng/ml r2>0.999	diclofenac	41
amoxicillin	antibiotic	HPLC-UV, 234 nm direct injection column switching	serum	0.35–21.0 μg/ml r>0.99	amoxicilloic acid	45

# TABLE 2.1-2 HPLC-FL

Drug	Category	Method	Sample	Determination Range	Simultaneously Determined Compound	Reference
anitidine	gastric acid secretion inhibitor	HPLC-FL post-column o-OPA, 2-ME Ex = 350, Em = 450 nm	plasma urine	0.1–4 μg/ml r=0.9999	ranitidine S-oxide ranitidine N-oxide	74
fluoxetine	antidepressant, serotonin reuptake inhibitor	HPLC-FL $Ex = 230$ , $Em = 290$ nm	plasma	8–200 ng/ml r=0.9995	norfluoxetine	51
ciprofloxacin	antibacterial agent, treatment for gram-negative pathogens	HPLC-FL direct and column- switching Ex = 278, Em = 418 nm	plasma Mueller- Hinton broth	0.07–1.25 µg/ml r=1.0000 (plasma) r=0.9999 (MH.B.)		52
nethotrexate	anticancer, leukemia, osteosarcoma, etc	HPLC-FL automated precolumn, column-switching Ex = 367, Em = 463 nm	plasma	50–500 ng/ml r = 0.999	pteridine carboxalaldehyde, pteridine carboxylic acid	68
norphine	opiate	HPLC = FL direct injection, column-switching on-column derivatization	plasma	10–100 ng/ml r=0.9996		73
ganciclovir	herpesvirous replication inhibito	HPLC-FL column-switching Ex = 278, Em = 380 nm	plasma serum	0.4–4.0 μg/ml r2>0.997		54
SSRIs	antidepressant, selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor	GC-NPD HPLC-FL pre-column Ex = 340, Em = 520	serum	GC 20-400μg/l r2>0.998 HPLC 5-1000 μg/l r2>0.999	fluoxetine Norfluoxetine fluvoxamine citalopam desmethylcitalopam sertraline	67

#### TABLE 2.1-2 CONTINUED

Drug	Category	Method	Sample	Determination Range	Simultaneously Determined Compound	Reference
					desmethylsertraline venlafaxine milnacipram paroxetine	
mirtazapine	antidepressant	HPLC-FL Ex = 290, Em = 350 nm	plasma	0.5–100 ng/ml r > 0.9900	demethylmirtazapine	55
gabapentin	antiepileptic, partial onset seizure	HPLC-FL $Ex = 320$ , $Em = 450$ nm	serum	60–15 μg/ml r=0.996–0.999		56
atenolol	anti-hypertension action on β1- receptor	HPLC-FL Ex = 222, Em = 300	plasma	10–1000 ng/ml r=0.99500–0.99968	chlorthalidone(UV) salbutamol	44
MDMA 3,4-methylenedioxy methamphetamine	stimulant - designer drugs	HPLC-FL Ex = 288, Em = 324 nm	blood serum vitreou humor urine		<ul><li>3,4-methylenedioxyethylamphetamine</li><li>3,4-methylenedioxyamphetamine</li><li>57</li></ul>	
5-aminosalicylic acid	anti-inflammatory, inframatory bowel disease	HPLC-FL Ex = 311, Em(cut-off) = 449 nm pre-column	plasma urine	0.1–8 μg/ml r2>0.996	<i>N</i> -acetyl-5-aminosalicylic acid	66
verapamil	calcium channel antagonist, hypertension and angina pectoris	HPLC-FL Ex = 204, Em = 314 nm	plasma	5–250 ng/ml r = 0.999	norverapamil	58
gemfibrozil	hypolipidaemic, coronary heart disese	HPLC-FL $Ex = 242$ , $Em = 300$ nm	plasma	0.05–0.5 mg/ml r=0.9999		59
levofloxacin	antibacterial agent, treatment of infections	HPLC-Fl, Ex = 280, Em = 450 nm HPLC-UV, 293 nm	plasma	50–10000 ng/ml (UV) 20–5000 ng/ml (FL) r2 > 0.999	ciprofloxacin moxifloxacin trovafloxacin cinoxacin	60

# TABLE 2.1-2 CONTINUED

References pp. 69–75

Drug	Category	Method	Sample	Determination Range	Simultaneously Determined Compound	Reference
fenoterol	b2-serective adrenergic agonist, tocolytic agent	HPLC-FL pre-column Ex = 287, Em = 345 nm	plasma	338–1688 pg/900 μl r=0.990		65
tramadol	analgesic, acute and chronic pain relief	HPLC-FL Ex = 202, Em = 296 nm	plasma	10-400  pmol/ml r = 0.9992	O-desmethyltramadol	61
amoxicillin	antimicrobial, Helicobactor pylori infection	HPLC-FL Ex = 365, Em = 445 nm internal conversion to fluorescent compound	rat plasma, gastric juice and tissue	0–15 mg/ml (juice) 0–200 mg/ml(plasma) 0-100 μg/ml (tissue) r2 > 0.9975	ampicillin	69
efavirenz	NNRTI, non-nucleo- side reverse trans- criptaze inhibitor, HIV-1	HPLC-FL Ex = 310, Em = 390 nm post-column photo- chemical derivatization	plasma r>0.999	50–1000 ng/ml		72
ciprofloxacin	antibiotics, antibacterial	HPLC-FL Ex = 300, Em = 458 nm	serum, urine	0.005–1.0 μg/ml (serum) 0.05–2.0 mg/ml (urine) r > 0.9995	anthranilic acid	53
captopril	ACE inhibitor,	HPLC-FL Ex = 400, Em = 480 nm pre-column	plasma	12.5–150 ng/ml r=0.9992		64
5-chloro-3-(4-meth- anesulfonylphenyl)-6'- methyl-[2,3']bipyridi- nyl	COX II inhibitor, NSAID	HPLC-FL Ex = 260, Em = 375 nm post-column photo- chemical derivatization	plasma urine	5–500 ng/ml r2 > 0.99		70
flecainide	antiarrhythemic agent, ventricular and supra- ventricular arrhythmia	HPLC-Fl Ex = 300, Em = 370 nm	serum	10–2000 ng/ml r=0.9998	<i>N</i> -(2-piperidylmethyl)-2,3- bis(2,2,2-trifluoroethoxy)- benzamide	62

#### TABLE 2.1-2 CONTINUED

Drug	Category	Method	Sample	Determination Range	Simultaneously Determined Compound	Reference
itraconazole	fungal infections	HPLC-FL Ex = 265, Em = 363 nm	plasma	10–1000 ng/ml	hydroxyitraconazole	63
methotrexate	cytostatic, rheumatoid arthritis	HPLC-FL Ex = 370, Em = 417 nm photochemical, direct injection	plasma r = 0.998	4.5–2.27 mg/ml	7-hydroxymethotrexate	71

## TABLE 2.1-3 LC/MS

Drug	Category	Method	Sample	Determination Range	Simultaneously Determined Compound	Reference
tolterodine	muscarinic receptor antagonist, incontinence	LC/MS/MS column switching	plasma	100 pM-100 nM r=0.994-0.9997	5-hydroxymethyltolterodine	86
sumatriptan	serotonin receptor agonist, migraine	LC/MS/MS API	plasma urine	0.2-20  ng/ml r=0.9998	D3-sumatriptan metabolites (GR49336,GR112504)	93
simbastatin	cholesterol-lowering agent,	LC/MS/MS direct injection	plasma	0.5–200 ng/ml	simvastatin acid lovastatin (IS)	92
hypercholesterolemia bosentan	APCI non-peptidic endothelin receptor antagonist, anti- hypertension, chronic heart disease	LC/MS/MS narrow bore, column switching ESI	plasma, serum, bile liver (man, dog, rat)	lovastatin acid (IS) 1–10000 ng/ml	hydroxy-, phenyl-, hydroxy-phenyl metabolites	88
simvastatin	cholesterol-lowering agent	LC/MS/MS API	plasma r2 > 0.9998	0.05–50 ng/ml	b-hydroxy acid metabolite	81
flecainide	supression of ventricular arrhythmias	LC/MS APEI	serum	0.05–2.0 mg/ml r2>0.999	2,3-bis(2,2,2-trifluoroethoxy)- N-(2-pyridinemethyl)benzamide (IS)	76
vancomycin	antibiotic, bactericidal activity	LC/MS/MS direct injection TIS	serum urine (rat, dog, primate)	0.001–10 µg/ml	teicoplanin (IS)	95
busulfan	haemotological malignancy, bone marrow transplantation	LC/MS TIS	plasma	5–2500 ng/ml	busulfan-d8 (IS)	79
famotidine	histamine H2 receptor inhibitor, peptic ulcer disease	LC/MS/MS TIS	plasma urine	0.5–500 ng/ml (plasma) 0.05–50 µg/ml (urine)	[4-({[2-(5-amino-4H-1,2,4,6- thiatriazin-3-yl)ethyl]thio}methyl)- 2-thiazolyl]guanidine S,S-(thia- triazine)dioxide (IS)	96

## TABLE 2.1-3 CONTINUED

Drug	Category	Method	Sample	Determination Range	Simultaneously Determined Compound	Reference
oxcarbazepine	pre- and postsynaptic voltage-dependent sodium channels brocker, seizure, trigemius neuralgia	LC/MS APCI	plasma	0.1–50.0 μg/ml r2=0.9991	10-hydroxycarbazepine	78
olanzapine	antipsychotic, schizophrenia	LC/MS/MS ESI	plasma	5–300 μg/ml r>0.991	clozapine N-desmethylclozapine	85
methyldopa	antihypertensive agent, $\alpha$ -adrenergic agonist	LC/MS/MS ESI	plasma	20–5000 ng/ml r=0.992–0.997	dopa-phenyl-D3 (IS)	84
ketoconazole	antifungal	LC/MS/MS TIS	plasma	20.0–10000 ng/ml r > 0.9985	R51012 (IS)	94
	olanzapine antipsychotic, schizophrenia	LC/MS/MS ACPI	plasma	5–500 ng/ml r > 0.998	LY170158 (IS)	89
amiodarone	antiarrhythmic, supraventricular and ventricular arrhythmia	LC/MS/MS ESI	plasma	50–5000 μg/ml r2>0.996	desethylamiodarone tamoxifen (IS)	83
	haloperidol antipsychotic,	LC/MS SSI direct injection	plasma urine	10–800 ng/ml r=0.995 (plasma) 400–800 ng/ml r=0.997 (urine)	<ul> <li>4-(4-chlorophenyl)-4-hydroxy- piperidine, reduced haloperidol,</li> <li>4-[4-(4-chlorophenyl)-4- hydroxy-1-piperidinyl]-(4-chloro- phenyl)-1-butanone (IS)</li> </ul>	77
	butorphanol anlgesic, μ-opioid receptor agonist/antagonist	LC/MS/MS TIS	plasma	13.7–1374 pg/ml r2>0.99	BC2605 (IS)	82
fexofenadine	H1 antihistaminic, allergic rhinitis, urticaria	LC/MS ESI	plasma urine	0.5–200 ng/ml r>0.998 (plasma) 1.0–200 ng/50 Ml r>0.998 (urine)	MDL026042 (IS)	75

# TABLE 2.1-4 GC AND GC/MS

References pp. 69–75

Drug	Category	Method	Sample	Determination Range	Simultaneously Determined Compound	Reference
clemastine	antihistamine, allergic rhinitis, urtucaria	GC-NPD dimethylpolysiloxane	plasma	0.1–12.8 ng/ml r>0.99	orphenadrine (IS)	99
fluoxetine	serotonin re-uptake inhibitor, antidepressant	GC-NPD OV-1	plasma	5-3000  ng/ml r = 0.996	norfluoxetine	100
lidocaine	local anesthetic	GC-FID HP-5	plasma	25–2000 ng/ml r=0.998		101
cocaine	local anesthetic	GC/MS EI	whole blood	10–2000 ng/mlr r2>0.98	benzoylecgonine, ecgonine methylester, cocaethylene	114
lorazepam	anxiolytic, sedative	GC/MS/MS EI	plasma urine	0.1-500  ng/ml r=0.991 (plasma) r=0.995 (urine)	oxazepam-d5 (IS)	117
sertraline	antidepressant, SSRI	GC/MS EI, SIM	plasma	0.2-10  ng/ml r=0.999	ethylsertraline (IS)	115
chloral hydrate	sedative	GC/MS EI, SIM	plasma	0.1–250 μM r=0.9990–0.9996	monochloracetate, dichloroacetate, trichloroacetate, trichloroethanol	127
ketotifen	H1-receptor blocking agent, antiasthmstic	GC/MS EI, SIM	plasma	0.5-10.0  ng/ml r2=0.999	pizotifen (IS)	103
nalmefen	opioid antagonist	GC/MS NCI, SIM	plasma	0.5–200 ng/ml	6β-naltrexol-d7 (IS)	110
oxymetholone	synthetic steroid, bone marrow stimulant	GC/MS EI, SIM pre-column	plasma	1–40 ng/ml r2>0.995	methyltestosterone (IS)	109

## TABLE 2.1-4 CONTINUED

Drug	Category	Method	Sample	Determination Range	Simultaneously Determined Compound	Reference
naltrexone	opioid µ-receptor antagonist	GC/MS EI, SIM pre-column	plasma milk (human, sheep)	2–20 $\mu$ g/l (human plasma) 2–60 $\mu$ g/ml (human milk) 2–150 $\mu$ g/l (sheep plasma) 10–600 $\mu$ g/l (sheep milk) r > 0.99	6,β-naltrexol naloxone	104
buprenorphine	analgesic, post-operative pain	GC/MS EI, SIM pre-column	plasma	0.1-20.0  ng/ml r2 = 0.993	norbuprenorphine	111
memantatine	Parkinson's disease, NMDA receptor blocker	GC/MS NCI pre-column	plasma	0.117–30 ng/ml r2=0.9999	adamantine (IS)	112
midazolam	sedative-hypnotic, anxiolytic	GC/MS SIM	plasma	1.5–300 ng/ml r=0.999	pinazepam (IS)	102
methylphenidate	attention deficit disorder (ADD)	GC/MS NCI stable isotope dilution	plasma	0.14–18.25 ng/ml r2 = 1.0000		128
tizanidine	muscle relaxant	GC/MS SIM pre-column	plasma	0.5–10.0 ng/ml r2=0.999	N-acetyltizanidine	108
paroxetine	SSRI inhibitor, antidepressant	GC/MS NCI stable isotope dilution	plasma	0.094–12.0 ng/ml r2=0.9998	[2H6]-labeled paroxetine (IS)	106
busulfan	antineoplastic, marrow ablation	GC/MS SIM	plasma	0-4  mg/l r = 0.9979	pusulfan (IS)	107

## TABLE 2.1-5 OTHER METHODS

Drug	Category	Method	Sample	Determination Range	Simultaneously Determined Compound	Reference
fluconazole	antifungal, candidiasis, meningitis, aspergillosis	MECC-UV, 190 nm direct injection	plasma	0.125–25 μg/ml r > 0.999	UK-54373 1,7-dimethylxanthine (IS)	119
levodopa	Parkinson's disese	HPLC-EC, amperometry column switching	plasma, urine	0.02–4.0 mg/ml r2>0.993	carbidopa 3-OMD, 3-OMC	123
isoniazide	tuberculosis	HPLC-EC, coulometry direct injection	alveolar cells, bron- coalveolar lavage, plasma	0.1–10 mg/ml r=0.998 (plasma)	diphenylcarbazide (IS)	124
buspirone	psychotropic, anti-anxiety	HPLC-EC, coulometry column switching	plasma	0.1-25  ng/ml r=0.998	prazosin (IS)	125
manidipine	calcium antagonist	HPLC-EC, amperometry column switching	serum	0.5-10 ng/ml	nilvadipine (IS)	126
naproxen	NSAID, antipyretic, analgesic	MECC LIF (HeCd laser, 325 nm), direct injection	plasma	0.5-25 mg/l	salycylate (IS) naproxen-protein conjugates, naproxen-lysine	120

wavelength may affect the chromatogram's appearance and intensity due to the presence of many other components in the biological fluid that absorb in this region. On the other hand, if the analyte has no or poor absorption in the UV-Vis region, a labeling reaction to introduce a suitable chromophore is usually adopted. To date, many labeling reagents have been developed and tailor-made to serve in the determination of drugs and biological substances. Fig. 2.1 shows representative labeling reagents for UV-Vis [2]. Several pre-column derivatization methods with UV-labels have been examined; Gentamicins C1, C1a, and C2 were derivatized with 1-fluoro-2,4-dinitrobenzene in a weak cation-exchange solid-phase extraction (SPE) cartridge, in which the cartridge was conditioned with methanol followed by Tris buffer (pH 10). After application of a plasma or urine sample followed by washing with the same Tris buffer, the retained analytes were derivatized with a mixture of derivatizing reagents [3]. 4-(4,5-Diphenyl-1H-imidazol-2-yl)benzoyl chloride (DIB-Cl), designed to react with primary and secondary amine and phenol hydroxyl groups to introduce a high extinction coefficient chromophore, was used to improve the detection sensitivity of fenfluramine and phentermine [4]. A post-column derivatization with sodium bisulfite was proposed for carboplatin [5].

Commonly, pretreatment of biological fluid samples is required before injection into the HPLC system. The simplest pretreatment is deproteinization with organic solvents. Examples of this practice include the application of methanol for rifampicin [6], ethanol for cisplatin [7], and acetonitrile for metformin, linezolid and carbamazepine [8–10]. Strong acids have also been used for deproteinization of plasma or serum samples; 10% trichloroacetic acid for isoniazide [11] and 60% perchloric acid for ranitidine [12]. A mixture of 0.2 M zinc sulphate-acetonitrile was used for praziquantel [13]. After deproteinization, the mixture is centrifuged and the supernatant is subjected to the analysis. A deproteinization method is advantageous as it is quicker and more economical compared to a liquid-liquid extraction and SPE methods.

Liquid-liquid extraction is another alternative for sample clean-up. Water-immiscible organic solvents are used for extraction of analytes from biological fluids. A mixture of diisopropyl ether-isoamylalcohol (99:1, v/v) was used for the extraction of risperidone and 9-hydroxyrisperidone in human plasma [14]. Chloroform for extraction of erythromycine from a biological matrix [15], mixtures of acetonitrile-n-butyl chloride (1:4, v/v) for extraction of paclitaxel in plasma [16] and chloroform-isopropyl alcohol (9:1, v/v) for extraction of benzodiazepines in serum [17], 2-methylbutane-hexane for extraction of loratadine [18] and ethyl acetate for extraction of mazindol [19] and sympathomimetic amines [4] in plasma have been reported.

SPE has become more popular for drug analyses in biological fluids due to the selective retention of the analyte(s), reduced sample and solvent requirements, high throughput and the possibility of automation. A C18 (octadecylsilyl silica gel, ODS) cartridge such as Bond-Elute (100 mg) is commonly used in SPE of human plasma and serum, which is pre-conditioned with methanol and water, successively, followed by applying the samples. After washing the interfering compounds out with aqueous methanol, the target analyte is eluted with aqueous acetonitrile. Examples on SPE include omeprazole using on-line SPE [20], celecoxib with a disk cartridge [21], vancomycin [22], indinavir [23], quinapril [24], ketorolac [25], and amphotericine B

## [Amines]



Fig. 2.1. UV-Vis labeling reagents.

References pp. 69-75

[26] in plasma. A Chem Elute CE cartridge packed with celite was used for clobazam in serum [27], whereas an Oasis<sup>®</sup> HLB cartridge was used for carbamazepine [28] and zidovudine, lamivudine and nevirapine [29] in plasma. In the SPE technique, a vacuum manifold is usually used to obtain rapid and reproducible extraction results.

Ultrafiltration, a straightforward sample preparation method, is also utilized as a convenient and rapid pretreatment of biological fluids to avoid tedious extraction and evaporation techniques. Aliquots of plasma or serum sample are simply filtered by centrifugation in a micron filter, and the ultrafiltrate is injected onto the HPLC system; metformin using Centrifree Micropartition Devices [30], cefepime and cefpirome in serum using a Microcon (10000 Mr cut-off) filter [31], carboplatin [5] and fluconazole using a 5 kDa cut-off filter containing either polysulfone or cellulose membranes [32], were pretreated by this method.

A direct injection method is the preferred technique for the analysis of biological fluids considering time- and cost-consumption, analyte loss, and simplicity. Direct injection is generally combined with column switching. The latter technique allows the adsorption of the analyte on a pre-column and removal of the interfering components such as protein, followed by back-flushing and transfer of the analyte to an analytical column by switching the direction of the effluents. This system makes it possible to develop a fully automated analytical method (Fig. 2.2). To date, many trials using direct injection have been done to develop practical methods for the determination of drugs in body fluids, e.g. voriconazole with a size-exclusion pre-column [33], meropenem and ceftazidime [34], thiacetazone with an internal surface reversed-phase column [35], finasteride [36], propafenone [37], omeprazole and omeprazole sulfone [38], propentfylline [39], carbapenem [40], aceclofenac and diclofenac with a narrow-bore column [41], benzodiazepins [42,43], chlorthalidone [44], amoxicillin with a semi-permeable surface column [45], and methotrexate with ion-pair chromatography using an alkyl-diol silica pre-column [46].

In direct injection systems, for extraction of the analytes from the biological fluids, cartridges packed with several kinds of solid-phases are employed, e.g. a hydrophobic polymer [42], a Capcell Pak MF Ph-1 [41,38], an alkyl-diol-silica C18 or C8 [34,43,46,47], a Capcell Pak CN [32], a pellicular C18 using an in-line-extraction system [33], and a semi-permeable surface support C8 [48], and a biocompatible extraction column (Fig. 2.3) [49].

For separation, a conventional reversed-phase ODS column is the most frequently used: methotrexate [46], lotaradine [18], omeprazole and omeprazole sulfone with a semi-microcolumn [38], atenolol, propranolol and ibuprofen using a biocompatible extraction column [49], propentofyline and its metabolites using two combined columns of a shielded hydrophobic stationary and C18 (chromatogram in Fig. 2.4) [39], gentamicines C, C1a and C2 [3], a carbapenem antibiotic [45], propafenone and 5-hydroxypropafenone [37,47], meropenem and ceftazidime [34], voriconazole [33], benzodiazepins [43], amoxicillin [45], risperidone and its metabolite 9-hydroxyrisperidone by a column packed with 3  $\mu$ m particles [14], paclitaxel [16], carbiplatin by a column packed with 3  $\mu$ m particles [5], quinapril and its metabolite quinaprilat [24], omeprazole [20], ketorolac and tolmetin as the IS [25], ampicillin [50], praziquantel [13], ranitidine [12], isoniazide [11], and rifampicin and its metabolite [6]. Besides

ODS, different kinds of packing materials have been developed and utilized: a cationexchange column for metformin [8,30], a C14 column for carbamazepine [10], a C8 column for amphotericin B [26], indinavir [23], vancomycin [22,27], zidovudine, lamivudine and nevirapine [29], carbamazepine and five of its metabolites [28], benzodiazepins (chromatogram is shown in Fig. 2.5) [42], a NO<sub>2</sub> column for celecoxib



(B) Desorption and Separation (Injection Position)



Fig. 2.2. Schematic representation of the automated HPLC method. Printed from ref. 43 with permission from Elsevier Science B.V.

References pp. 69–75



Fig. 2.3. Schematic drawing of a particle for biocompatible extraction. Printed from Ref. 49 with permission from Elsevier Science B.V.

[21], a narrow-bore phenyl-hexyl column for aceclofenac and diclofenac [41], and a phenyl column for thiacetazone [35].

## 2.2.2 FL detection

Drugs having fluorescence moieties can be detected by monitoring FL at their emission wavelengths. Similar to UV detection, derivatization is also applied to FL detection to increase sensitivity and selectivity for non- or weak-flourescent compounds using a labeling or a conversion reaction. In an HPLC system, two derivatization approaches are used, i.e. pre-column (or pre-label) and post-column (post-label). Representative reactions and labeling reagents are shown in Fig. 2.6. For FL detection, two wavelengths should be selected, i.e. excitation (Ex) and emission (Em); this is the major reason why FL detection is more selective than UV detection. FL detection counts the increase in photon number that occurs relative to a zero background, while UV detection measures the transmitted light that passes out of the sample solution and compares it with the original irradiation, a large background. Generally, FL is more sensitive than UV detection.

Fluorescent drugs have been detected without further derivatization; fluoxetine and norfluoxetine in human plasma [51], ciprofloxacin in serum [52,53], ganciclovir [54], mirtazapine [55], gabapentin in serum samples of 283 patients with partial seizures [56], atenolol [44], designer drugs in whole blood and vitreous humor [57], verapamil and norverapamil in pharmacokinetic and bioavailability studies [58], gemfibrozil and ibuprofen as IS in a pharmacokinetic study [59], fluoroquinolones [60], tramadol and N',N'-dimethylsulfanilamide as IS in plasma [61], flecainnide in serum [62], and itraconazole and hydroxyitoraconazole in plasma samples collected from HIV-infected

patients [63]. The detection without derivatization adds to the convenience of direct injection methods with column switching.

Pre-column derivatization was applied to non-FL drugs after extraction from biological fluids: captopril with monobromobimane [64], fenoterol with *N*-(chloroformyl)-carbazole [65], 5-aminosalicylic acid with acetic acid anhydride [66], and serotonin re-uptake inhibitors with dansyl chloride [67]. An automated pre-column derivatization of methotrexate with cerium(IV) trihydroxyhydroperoxide as a packed oxidant was proposed [68]. Amoxicillin was converted to form a FL compound via an internal rearrangement with mercury (bis)chloride and formaldehyde at pH 6 [69].

For an automated analysis, post-column derivatization is preferable and convenient. A semi-automated determination of a cyclooxygenase II inhibitor was performed by post-column photochemical derivatization with FL detection [70]. Methotrexate and 7-hydroxymethotrexate were converted to FL compounds by a post-column photochemical reaction as shown in Fig. 2.7 [71]. Efavirenz was also converted to a FL



Fig. 2.4. Chromotograms obtained with a normal human serum and a spiked serum. (A) Spiked human serum, (1) A 802751 (30 nmol/ml); (2) A 802831 (30 nmol/ml); (3) propentofylline (30 nmol/ml); (4) A 72087 (30 nmol/ml). (B) Normal human serum. The arrow indicated the time for valve switching. Printed from ref. 39 with permission from Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

References pp. 69-75

product in the same way [72]. Morphine was post-column derivatized to FL pseudomorphine by its dimerization with potassium hexacyanoferrate (III) [73]. Ranitidine and its metabolites were oxidized to primary amines with sodium hypochlorite, and then derivatized with *o*-phtalaldehyde in the presence of 2-mercaptoe-thanol to fluorescent species [74].

Similar to that in UV detection, pretreatment by deproteinization with organic solvents and acids has been performed: acetonitrile for ciprofloxacin [53] and verapamil [58], cyclohexane for gemfibrozil [59], 70% TCA for captopril [64] and ganciclovir [54], perchloric acid for 5-aminosalicylic acid [66] and gabapentin in serum [56].



Fig. 2.5. Chromatograms of the certified serum at level 1 (top, 10–100 ng/ml) and level 2 (bottom, 50–600 ng/ml). Printed from Ref. 42 with permission from Elsevier Science B.V.

Liquid-liquid extraction was applied to the pre-treatment of plasma for the determination of efavirenz with a mixture of hexane-methylene chloride (65:35, v/v)[72], ranitidine with methylene chloride [74], mirtazapine with hexane [55],



Fig. 2.6. FL labeling reagents.

atenolol with a mixture of dichloromethane-2-propanol (75:25, v/v)[44], designer drugs with a mixture of hexane-ethyl acetate (7:3/v/v) [57], tramadol with *tert*-butylmethyl ether [61], amoxicillin with ethyl acetate [69], selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors with a mixture of heptane-isoamylalcohol (98.5:1.5, v/v)[67], and fenotero with isobutanol [68].

SPE pretreatment was used for cyclooxygenase II inhibitor with a 96-well disk SPE (C8) plate [70], methotrexate with a short protein-coated C18 pre-column [59], fluoxetine and norfluoxetine in plasma using a Bond Elute C8 [51] and flecainide with a C18 cartridge [62], and itraconazole and hydroxyirtaconazole with an ion-exchange LC-SCX cartridge [63].

Ultrafiltration was used to pretreat plasma for the determination of levofloxacin, gatifloxacin, moxifloxacin, trovafloxacin, and cinoxacin by an Amicon Centrifree Micropartition Device [60].



Fig. 2.7. Photo-oxidation of MTX and 7-OH-MTX.

Direct injection combined with column switching is very useful in HPLC-FL methods. Direct injection with column switching using a C18 pre-column was applied to the determination of ciprofloxacin [52], methotrexate and 7-hydroxymethotrexate with a C8 alkyl-diol silica [71], and morphine with a protein-coated column [73].

Analytical columns used for the separation of drugs in an HPLC-FL analytical system are the same as those for HPLC-UV. The most conventional column is C18 with a particle size of 3 or 5  $\mu$ m. Many drugs were also separated using a C8 column from interfering components: fluoxetine and norfluoxetine [51], efavirenz [72], verapamil and norverapamil [58], and gabapentin [51].

A phenyl column with a particle size of 10  $\mu$ m and a fluorocarbon-bonded silica gel column were used for mitrazapine [55], and flecainide [62], respectively.

#### 2.3 LC/MS

LC/MS, a powerful analytical technique, has become popular in separation analysis. Although GC/MS is highly sensitive and selective, the sample of interest has to be introduced in the gaseous phase prior to ionization. Its use is, thus, rather limited to the determination of volatile compounds. For non-volatile compounds, HPLC combined with MS detection is preferably used. The development of interfaces between HPLC and MS was very important to build up the valuable LC/MS system. An interface is devised to separate small amounts of analytes from a large volume of solvents and only ionize analytes. As a result of these efforts, practical atmospheric pressure interfaces including ionization process such as thermospray ionization (TSP), atmospheric pressure chemical ionization (APCI), and electrospray ionization (ESI) have been developed (Fig. 2.8). LC-tandem MS (MS/MS) with ESI is well suited for sensitive quantification of medium polar, non-volatile drug compounds and has become a widely applied technique in recent years. In combination with MS detection, capillary LC columns (I.D. < 0.5 mm) offer some advantages over conventional columns; the flow-rate, which is in the range of 1–10 µl/min, is highly compatible with ESI without further splitting, and the detection limit in terms of absolute amount is improved due to less dilution in the column. If the available sample volume is limited, the use of a capillary column is recommended.

Direct injection method was successfully applied to LC/MS/MS with a higher sensitivity and simplicity.

## 2.3.1 Single MS detection system

Many reports describing LC combined with a single MS as a detector for the determination of drugs in biological fluids have appeared in the literature. Fexofenadine, a non-sedating H1 antihistaminic drug, was determined in human plasma and urine by LC/MS with ESI ionization [75]. Flecainide in serum was also determined with LC/MS using ESI ionization [76]. SPE with a C18 cartridge was used for extraction of both drugs. Haloperidol, an antipsychotic drug, and its metabolites in human plasma and

urine were directly injected and separated on a new polymer column without column switching. The analytes were detected by MS with a sonic spray ionization (SSI) interface [77]. Oxcarbazepine and its active metabolite 10-hydroxycarbazepine in plasma were quantified by LC/MS with APCI. Trimipramine-d3 was used as an IS and extracted with diethyl ether-ethyl acetate (1:1, v/v) [78]. Quantification of busulfan, a bifunctional alkylating agent for chemotherapy regimen of bone marrow transplantation, by LC/MS with an ion spray interface was established [79]. Busulfan was extracted with ethyl acetate from plasma, and after evaporation of the organic phase, the residue was dissolved in the mobile phase and injected on a phenyl column.

#### 2.3.2 Tandem MS detection system

Applying tandem mass spectrometry in LC (LC/MS/MS) has led to the development of rapid and sensitive methods for the determination of many kinds of drugs in body fluids.







Fig. 2.8. Interfaces for LC/MS.

Compared to LC/MS described above, more sensitive and selective determination could be accomplished with tandem MS/MS. In LC with a tandem MS system, several kinds of interface have been adopted: turbo ionspray ionization (TIS) for indolocarbazole [80], simvastatin [81], and butorphanol [82], ESI for amiodarone and desmethylamiodarone [83], methyldopa [84], olanzapine and clozapine [85], ropivacacine and metabolite [97], tolterodine etc., [86], pravastatin [87], bosentan and its three major metabolites [88], ACPI for olanzapine [89], early drug discovery compounds [90], ketoconazole [91], simvastatin and simvastatin acid [92], and sumatriptan [93], as well as an ionspray ionization for ketoconazole [94]. As a result, in recent drug analyses in biological fluids, ESI and ACPI have been favorably used.

A fast and more efficient sample preparation method is desired for drug analysis in biological fluids. Many analysts have adopted parallel sample preparation methods, such as 96-well SPE in addition to traditional extraction methods.

For the pretreatment of the biological fluids, deproteinization with organic solvents or acids were applied: a mixture of acetonitrile-ethanol (1:1, v/v) for bosentan [88], acetonitrile in a 96-well plate for ketoconazole [91] and drug discovery compounds [90], and perchloric acid for methyldopa [84].

The conventional liquid-liquid extraction method, was also used: a mixture of *n*-butanol-cyclohexane (3:47, v/v) for olanzapine [89], methyl *t*-butyl ether for butorphanol [82], ethyl acetate for busulfan [79], and diethyl ether for ketoconazole [94].

By using a solid phase extraction cartridge (SPE), fast pretreatment with higher recoveries was obtained for biological fluids: flecainide [76] and sumatriptan [93] with a C18 cartridge, vancomycin by on-line extraction with 30  $\mu$ m particles [95], and famotidine by cation-exchange SPE with a benzenesulfonic acid cartridge [96]. Simvastatine and its hydroxy acid were extracted from plasma by methyl *t*-butyl ether via liquid-liquid cartridge extraction [81]. SPE also allows a fully automatic system with direct injection and on-line extraction.

Direct-injection was adopted for the quantitative determination of olanzapine, clozapine and *N*-desmethylclozapine in plasma [85]: after the addition of IS dibenzepin and dilution with 0.1% formic acid, plasma samples were injected into the LC/MS/MS. The sample clean-up was achieved using an on-line extraction column.

Ultrafiltration was applied to the pretreatment of the free basic drug tolterodine and its active 5-hydroxymethyl metabolite in microliter volumes of plasma [86].

Different types of conventional columns and capillary columns have been used as analytical columns for the separation of drugs in tandem MS: simvastatin and simvastatin acid with a C18 column ( $50 \times 3.9 \text{ mm I.D.}$ , 5 µm) [92], amiodarone [83] and olanzapine with a column of  $150 \times 3.0 \text{ mm I.D.}$  [85], ketoconazole [94], pravastatin and analogues [87], sumatriptan with a  $30 \times 4.6 \text{ mm I.D.}$  column [93], vancomycin with a C18 cartridge column of 3 µm particle size ( $40 \times 2 \text{ mm I.D.}$ ), ropivacacine and its metabolite with a packed capillary column (C18, 5 µm, in a fused-silica capillary of  $145 \times 0.2 \text{ mm I.D.}$  [97], tolterodine ( $250 \times 0.2 \text{ mm I.D.}$ ) [86], methyldopa with a C18 column of 4 µm ( $100 \times 2.1 \text{ mm I.D.}$ ), a C18 or a silica column ( $50 \times 3 \text{ mm I.D.}$ ) for clonidine etc. [98], a normal-phase silica column ( $50 \times 3 \text{ mm I.D.}$ ,  $3 \mu\text{m}$ ) for famotidine [96], flecainide with a cyanopropyl bonded-phase column ( $150 \times 4.6 \text{ mm. I.D.}$ ,  $5 \mu\text{m}$ )

[76], but orphanol with a C8 column ( $100 \times 4.6 \text{ mm I.D.}$ ) [82], ketoconazole with a C30 bonded silica particles column ( $50 \times 4.5 \text{ mm I.D.}$ ) [91].

## 2.4 GC

GC has a long history in the analytical separation of many kinds of substances. Although this technique is useful and well-established, its use is limited to volatile compounds. For the determination of non-volatile compounds, a derivatization process to enhance volatility is required. The derivatization serves also to increase the thermal stability of the analytes and prevent their decomposition, and also increase sensitivity detection. For derivatization, methyl esterification with diazomethane, acetylation with acetic anhydride, trifluoroacetylation with trifluoroacetic anhydride and trimethylsilyl etherification have been used extensively. With GC, the most favorable detector can be selected from among many kinds of detection systems such as a thermal conductivity detector (TCD), an electron capture ionization detector (ECD), a flame ionization detector (FID), a nitrogen-phosphorous detector (NPD), a surface ionization detector (SID), and MS to increase the selectivity and sensitivity of the method on the basis of analytes' physicochemical properties. Columns used in GC include packed columns  $(0.5 \sim 5 \text{ m} \times 2 \sim 6 \text{ mm I.D.})$ , packed capillary columns  $(0.5 \sim 20 \text{ m} \times 0.5 - 1.0 \text{ mm I.D.})$ , and coated capillary columns (film thickness  $0.1 \sim 5.0 \mu m$ ,  $10 \sim 50 m \times 0.1 \sim 0.8 mm$ I.D.). Recently, a fused-silica capillary column has become common. Packing materials commonly used are silica gel, activated carbon and alumina, and the coating liquids as a solid phase are polymethylsiloxane, polyethylene glycol, etc.

Clemastine, an ethanolamine-derivative antihistamine, was determined in human plasma by GC-NPD. A capillary column (25 m  $\times$  0.22 mm, film thickness 0.33  $\mu$ m) coated with dimethylpolysiloxane was used. Clemastine was isolated from plasma by liquid-liquid extraction with toluene [99]. A direct injection analysis of an antidepressant drug, fluoxetine, and its metabolite norfluoxetine in plasma was also An OV-1 fused-silica capillary achieved by GC-NPD detection. column  $(25 \text{ m} \times 0.32 \text{ mm I.D.}$  with a film thickness of  $0.25 \text{ }\mu\text{m})$  was employed. The analytes were extracted with a mixture of hexane-dichloromethane-isoamyl alcohol (57:42:1, v/v) [96]. A direct-immersion solid-phase microextraction was applied to extract lidocaine, a local anaesthetic, from human plasma. 100-µm polydimethylsiloxane and 65-mm polydimethylsiloxane-divinyl benzene coated fibers were evaluated for SPME with or without deproteinization by TCA. SPEM could be used to obtain a good approximation of the plasma protein binding [101].

#### 2.5 GC/MS

GC combined with MS detection is one of the most widely used analytical techniques. Owing to its intrinsic selectivity and universality, GC/MS has been applied to the analysis of trace amounts of compounds in various samples. A GC-MS system consists of a carrier gas, a sample injector, an interface, an ionization source, a detector, and a



Fig. 2.9. Schematic diagram of GC/MS.

recorder (Fig. 2.9). An injected sample solution is transferred into the column with helium or nitrogen gas, and separated into its components. A splitless or a split injection is used for a capillary GC/MS. An individual component, will then be ionized with electron impact (EI) or chemical ionization (CI), and the resulted ions are detected and recorded. In such a system, similar to LC/MS, the interface is very important. A jet-type separator was developed for the interface, which can remove the mobile phase from the separation column. At present, a fused-silica capillary is often used as a separation column, and the effluent is directly introduced into the ion source without using a separator. Usually, the data obtained from GC/MS are a total ion chromatogram (TIC), a mass spectrum, a selected ion monitoring (SIM) chromatogram and a mass chromatogram. TIC corresponds to the chromatogram obtained by conventional chromatography, in which the separation status of the ions is shown. SIM is used for quantitative analysis. SIM is more selective than TIM; however, the latter is more sensitive. A mass chromatogram is used for qualitative analysis.

#### 2.5.1 Non-derivatization method

Midazolam, a short-acting 1,4-imidazole benzodiazepine, in human plasma was deproteinized with 1.6 *M* perchloric acid, followed by SPME using an 85- $\mu$ m polyacrylate fiber. GC/MS was carried out in SIM mode after separation using a packed capillary column (30 m × 0.25 mm I.D., film thickness 0.25  $\mu$ m). The selected ion species were at m/z 280, 307 and 308 for pinazapam as the IS, and m/z 310, 312 and 350 for midazolam. Ion species used for quantitation are m/z 308 ([M]<sup>+</sup>) and 310 ([M-CH<sub>3</sub>])<sup>+</sup> for IS and midazolam, respectively. Typical ion chromatograms are presented in Fig. 2.10 [102]. Ketotifen, an H<sub>1</sub>-blocker with antiasthmatic effect, was determined by GC/MS without derivatization. An enzyme hydrolysis of conjugated ketotifen was



Fig. 2.10. Typical ion chromatograms (ions at m/z 308 and 310) obtained from a blank plasma sample, the same sample spiked with 50 ng/ml of midazolam, and a plasma sample from a subject treated with mizadolam. Printed Ref. 102 with permission from John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

achieved with combination of  $\beta$ -glucuronidase and arylsulfatase. Ketotifen and pizotifen as the IS were extracted by a SPE-CN-E cartridge and separated on a fused-silica capillary (15 m  $\times$  0.25 mm I.D.) with cross-linked 5% PH ME siloxane stationary phase and a film thickness 0.25  $\mu$ m. MS-EI with SIM mode was used for identification and quantitation [103].

#### 2.5.2 Derivatization method

Naltrexone, a potent competitive antagonist at the opioid  $\mu$ -receptor, and its major metabolite 6, $\beta$ -naltrexol were determined by GC/MS after derivatization with acetic anhydride to di- or tri-acetyl derivatives. GC/MS was achieved by EI ionization after SPE extraction of the analytes in plasma and milk, following separation with a capillary column (30 m  $\times$  0.25 mm I.D., thickness 0.25  $\mu$ m) coated with 5% phenyl methyl siloxane. Quantification was achieved by SIM at m/z 411 and 435 for naloxone, at m/z 425 and 467 for naltrexone, and at m/z 427 and 467 for 6, $\beta$ -naltrexol. The method could be used to quantify both these analytes at relevant in vivo concentrations [104].

A negative ion chemical ionization (NICI) MS method was developed to improve the quantitative measurement of lisinopril, an angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor. The method employed SPE of the analyte in human plasma, a successive derivatization with

N-methylbis(trifluoroacetamide) and pentafluorobenzyl bromide, followed by separation on a fused-silica capillary column (15 m  $\times$  0.25 mm I.D., film thickness 0.25  $\mu$ m). The method was applied to evaluate lisinopril pharmacokinetics, and a typical pharmacokinetic-profile was obtained in a healthy volunteer receiving 20 mg of the drug orally [105]. Paroxetine, an antidepressant, was analyzed by a stable isotope dilution NICI MS. After extraction from plasma with hexane-ethyl acetate (1:1, v/v), paroxetine was derivatized with pentafluorobenzoyl alcohol to pentafluorobenzoyl carbamate, which was separated on a fused silica capillary column (15 m  $\times$  0.25 mm I.D., film thickness 0.25  $\mu$ m) and detected by NCIC at m/z 372 using [<sup>2</sup>H<sub>6</sub>]-labeled aroxetine as the IS [106]. A GC-mass fragmentography was developed for routine analysis of busulfan, an alkylating agent for antineoplastic therapy and marrow ablation in preparation for bone marrow transplantation. Busulfan and pusulfan as the IS were extracted from plasma with ethyl acetate and derivatized with sodium iodide to 1,4-diiodobutane and 1,5-diiodopentane, respectively. A methyl silicon capillary fusedsilica column (30 m  $\times$  0.2 mm I.D., film thickness 0.33  $\mu$ m) was used for the separation and the split ratio of inlet to column was 15:1. MS detection was carried out in EI ionization mode and monitoring was by both TIM and SIM [107]. TMS derivatization has been applied to tizanidine, a skeletal muscle relaxant, in plasma. N-Methyl-N-(trimethylsilyl) trifluoroacetamide (MSTFA) reacts with tizanidine to give di-TMS-tizanidine, which was injected via a split injection mode (10:1) and separated with a SE-30 bonded capillary column ( $17 \text{ m} \times 0.20 \text{ mm}$  I.D., 0.33 mm film thickness). The MS detection system was in EI mode with SIM for quantification monitored at m/z 397 for tizanidine and m/z 332 for N-acetyltizanidine as the IS [108]. MSTFA was also utilized for the analysis of oxymetholone, a synthetic anabolic steroid, in human plasma. Oxymetholone and methyltestosteron as the IS were extracted from plasma by solvent extraction with t-butylmethylether, and the organic phase was evaporated to dryness. The residue was then derivatized with MSTFA-NH<sub>4</sub>I-2-mercaptoethanol (100:2:6, v/w/v) at 60 °C for 20 min. and injected into GC-MS system. A fused-silica capillary column (17 m  $\times$  0.20 mm I.D.) coated with 0.11 µm film thickness was employed for the separation. The retention times of oxymetholone and IS were 5.56 and 4.57 min, respectively. The carrier gas was helium (1.0 ml/min, split 10:1), and MS was operated with EI in the SIM mode. The method was successfully applied to determine the pharmacokinetic parameters of oxymetholone in healthy volunteers after oral administration of 50 mg of the compound [109]. Nalmefen, an opioid antagonist, and naltrxol-d<sub>7</sub> as an IS were extracted by chloroform-ethanol (80:20) from plasma, and derivatized with pentafluoropropionic anhydride (PFPA). The derivatives were separated on a capillary column (12 m  $\times$  0.2 mm I.D., 0.33  $\mu$ m), and detected by MS operated in NICI mode using methane: ammonia (95:5) as the reagent gas [110]. PFPA was also applied to the derivatization of buprenorphine, a synthetic opioid analgesic, and its metabolite, norbuprenorphine, in human plasma. The analytes were extracted by SPE from plasma, derivatized with PFPA, and separated on a fused-silica capillary column of cross-linked methyl silicon gum (12 m  $\times$  0.22 mm I.D., film thickness 0.33  $\mu$ m). The mass selective detector was operated in SIM mode at m/z 528 and 560 for the IS, m/z 524 and 556 for buprenorphine and m/z 648 and 616 for norbuprenorphine [111]. Memantine, a drug for the treatment of Parkinson's disease and movement disorder, and adamantine as an IS were extracted from plasma, and derivatized with pentafluorobenzoyl chloride to the corresponding pentafluorobenzoyl derivatives in a one-step procedure, in which extraction and derivatization are performed simultaneously in a small volume of hexane. Separation was achieved on a fused-silica capillary column (15 m  $\times$  0.25 mm I.D., film thickness 0.25  $\mu$ m), and detected using the NICI mode with methane as a moderating gas. During signal ion recording, m/z 353.1 and 325.1 were recorded as the analyte and the IS, respectively. The injection was operated in the splitless mode, and He was used as a carrier gas [112]. Morphine glucuronides in human plasma were extracted by SPE on an C18 cartridge and derivatized to their pentafluorobenzyl ether trimethylether derivatives by using pentafluorobenzyl bromide and bis(N,O-trimethylsilyl) trifluoroacetamide. The derivatives were separated on a fused-silica capillary column (15 m  $\times$  0.25 mm I.D., film thickness 0.25  $\mu$ m). The injector was operated in the splitless mode, and He was used as a carrier gas. In the NICI mode with methane as a moderating gas, the ions of m/z 748.3 and 751.3 for the target compound and the IS, respectively, were monitored [113]. An ion-trap GC/MS system was validated for the determination of cocaine, its metabolites and cocaethylene in postmortem whole blood. After an extraction from whole blood by an SPE cartridge, the compounds were derivatized with N-methyl-N-t-butyldimethylsilyltrifluoroacetamide. GC was performed on a capillary column (30 m  $\times$  0.25 I.D., 0.25  $\mu$ m) with a splitless injection followed by an EI ionization [114]. A rapid and sensitive determination of sertraline, a new antidepressant that acts as a selective serotonin re-uptake inhibitor, in human plasma was developed by GC/MS with SIM mode. Using three types of derivatization reagents, i.e. TFAA, PFPA and heptafluorobutyric anhydride (HFBA), GC/MS data in the SIM mode were compared for the derivatives of sertraline and ethylsertraline (IS). They had similar retention times and fragmentation patterns, but showed different characteristic ions and limits of detection. Among these, complete separation from the blank peaks and the largest peak height were obtained by HFBA derivatization as shown in Fig. 2.11 [115]. A direct injection of plasma sample after ultrafiltration into GC using an injector liner (80 mm × 3.2 mm I.D.) packed with a modified Chromosorb-based material was performed for the determination of ropivacaine, its metabolite (PPX) and ropivacaine-d<sub>7</sub> as the IS. The separation column used was a 35% phenyl-(equiv.) polysilphenylenesiloxane column, and detected at m/z 84 for PPX, m/z 126 for ropivacaine, and m/z 133 for IS [116].

GC with tandem MS (GC/MS/MS) was utilized for the determination of lorazapam, an anxiolytic and sedative agent, in human plasma and urine as TMS derivatives. Lorazapam and oxazepam-d<sub>5</sub> as the IS in plasma were extracted by an SPE column with dichloromethane-isopropanol (9:1, v/v), and the organic phase was evaporated to dryness under nitrogen gas. The residue was derivatized with bis(trimethylsilyl)trifluoroacetamide (BSTFA), and the TMS-derivatives were separated on a capillary column. Injection was in the splitless mode. The MS system was operated in the EI mode, and the derivatives were identified and quantitated using characteristic ions of m/z 341, 306 and 267 for lorazepam-TMS and m/z 346, 309 and 271 for oxazepam-d<sub>5</sub>-TMS, respectively, formed from the parent ions by collision-induced dissociation in the ion-trap spectrometer [117]. An automated GC/MS/MS for determining tebufelone, an anti-inflamatory candidate and its <sup>13</sup>C, <sup>18</sup>O labeled analog, was developed. The stable-



Fig. 2.11. Total ion current chromatograms of sertraline 1 ng/ml (1) and ethylsertraline 40 ng/ml (2) in plasma at selected ion-monitoring (SIM) mode as their TFA- (A), PFP- (B) and HBF-derivatives (C). Printed from Ref. 115 with permission of Elsevier Science B.V.

isotope-labeled tebufelone was used as in vivo IS to determine the oral administration absolute bioavailability. A structural analog, 3-methyl-tebufelone, was used as IS to substitute for deviations due to the analytical procedure [118].

#### 2.6 OTHER METHODS

Micellar electrokinetic capillary chromatography (MECC) was applied to the determination of fluconazole, an antifungal agent, in human plasma. The MECC system was equipped with a 75  $\mu$ m I.D. fused-silica capillary of 100 cm total length (70 cm to the detector). Injection of sample was performed by vacuum suction for 0.6 s. The analytes were detected by UV detection at 190 nm. Plasma samples were pretreated with different treatments: centrifugation, deproteinization with acetonitrile, liquid-liquid extraction with dichloromethane and SPE. Clean electropherograms could be obtained for both bovine plasma and healthy volunteer's plasma when samples were applied on SPE using a C18 cartridge. Compared to HPLC, MECC is an attractive and economical analytical method [119]. MECC was also applied to determine naproxen (NAP), naproxen-protein conjugates, and naproxen-lysine (NAPLYS) in plasma. Separation was performed on a fused-silica capillary column (50  $\mu$ m I.D.) with an effective length of 20 cm (total length of 27 cm). Analyte detection was accomplished by laser-induced fluorescence with an He-Cd laser, which emits at 325 nm. A 366 nm emission filter was used for the detection. MECC with direct plasma injection provided a selective, simple, rapid, and attractive approach for the simultaneous assessment of newly developed NAP-protein drugs used in drug targeting, their primary matabolite NAPLYS, and free NAP [120].

Several chemical reactions that emit light (i.e. chemiluminescence, CL) via electronic excitation have been elucidated and utilized for highly sensitive detection in HPLC. Cyclosporine A, an immunosuppressant, in blood samples of renal transplantation patients was assayed with HPLC-aryloxalate-sulforhodamine CL detection for TDM purposes. Using cyclosporine D as IS and SPE of blood samples, these compounds were well separated within ca. 6 min. The method was 100 times more sensitive than HPLC-UV and comparable to that of fluorescence polarization immunoassay [121]. Propentofylline, a neuronal cell protective agent, in microdialysates obtained from rat hippocampus after single oral administration was determined by HPLC-peroxyoxalate CL. Without further purification of microdialysate, propentfylline was FL-labelled with 4-(*N*,*N*-dimethylaminosulphonyl)–7-hydrazino-2,1, 3-benzoxadiazole and separated on a C18 column. The method showed 200 times higher sensitivity than HPLC-UV [122].

Simultaneous determination of levodopa, carbidopa and their metabolites in human plasma and urine samples was performed by HPLC-EC. The system involved the use of a second pump, a switching valve, and a pre-column in order to achieve on-line sample clean-up and preconcentration. The analytes were separated on a C8 column followed by amperometric detection using a carbon microelectrode flow cell. The method offers advantages of being simple, less time- and labor-consuming, and thus is suitable for routine analysis and pharmacokinetic purposes [123]. Isoniazide in alveolar cells, bronchoalveolar lavage and plasma in HIV-infected patients was determined by HPLC-EC. Following extraction with a chloroform-butanol mixture, isoniazide was back-extracted, separated on a CN column, and detected with a sealed coulometric detector. Another method using a direct injection with a polymer column was also developed. The method can be used to estimate the very low isoniazide levels in alveolar cells and cell-free lavage recovered from patients undergoing anti-tuberculosis therapy [124]. Buspiron, an anti-anxiety drug, in human plasma was assayed by HPLC-EC using coulometric detection. Buspiron and prazosin as IS were extracted by SPE using a Bond-Elute C18 cartridge. The separation was carried out with a Supelcosil AZP+plus C18 analytical column utilizing a column-switching technique [125]. Manidipine in human serum was also determined with HPLC-EC by using an amperometric detection [126].

The more recent studies on chromatographic analysis of achiral drugs in biological fluids are summarized in this chapter. Many other hyphenated methods with separation techniques to determine biomaterials as well as drugs have been reported elsewhere.

## PART II. CHROMATOGRAPHIC METHODS FOR THE ANALYSIS OF CHIRAL DRUGS IN BIOLOGICAL FLUIDS

## 2.7 INTRODUCTION

Molecular chirality is a fundamental phenomenon that plays an important role in biological processes. Wide ranges of biological and physical functions are generated through precise molecular recognition because enzymes, receptors and other natural binding sites within the biological systems interact with different enantiomers in decisively different ways. As a result of such chiral recognition, drug enantiomers may differ in their pharmacological and/or toxicological profiles [128,129].

For drugs with a single stereogenic center, both enantiomers may be pharmacologically active. However, if the main pharmacological effect is due to only one enantiomer, several possibilities exist for the other enantiomer: inactivity, a qualitatively different effect, an antogonistic effect or severe toxicity [130]. The differences in the biological activities of the enantiomers are due to the differences in protein binding, mechanism of action, rate of metabolism, changes in activities due to metabolism clearance rate and persistence in the environment [131–134]. Because of the different biological activities of enantiomers of active ingredients, the preparation of highly enantio-pure compounds is of utmost importance [135–136].

In view of this, the U.S. Food and Drug Administration has issued certain guidelines for the marketing of racemic drugs [137]. On the other hand, the enantioselective character of pharmacokinetic processes leads to different plasma concentration-time profiles for the constituent enantiomers. For this reason, the evaluation of the disposition of a drug employed as a racemic mixture based on data achieved from the non-selective assay is not only seriously limited, but can also be highly misleading, particularly when attempting to relate plasma concentration to a pharmacological effect or therapeutic benefit [138]. This is true for both newly developed drugs and agents with long-term use in clinical practice, but now subject to re-evaluation.

The investigation of enantioselectivity represents a great challenge for clinical pharmacology in terms of the control of individual variability of clinical responses. The clinical relevance of the phenomenon is particularly important for drugs of low therapeutic index administered as racemates. A prerequisite for progress in acquiring knowledge of stereospecific pharmacodynamics and pharmacokinetics of optical isomers is the development of an enantioselective analytical methodology. When employed in drug studies, this type of analysis plays an important role in the development of new drugs and formulations, and in investigations on bioavailability and metabolism. Furthermore, it has often become the basis of therapeutic drug monitoring and drug management in patients [139].

Enantioselective chiral drug bioanalysis is a complex process that requires taking into consideration numerous factors associated not only with chiral separation techniques,

but also with typical drug analyses of biological samples. Here one should bear in mind the isolation of the enantiomers and/or of the metabolites from the biomatrix, such as blood, plasma, urine, hair, etc., via extraction, then the detection method, as well as validation, which has become an essential element of the entire analytical method [140].

TABLE 2.2-1
ANALYSIS OF CHIRAL DRUGS IN BIOLOGICAL FLUIDS BY HPLC USING PIRKLE CONCEPT
CHIRAL COLUMN

Column	Chiral Drug	Mobile Phase	Detection	Biological Sample	LOQ	Ref.
Covalent (R,R)Whelk-O	warfarin	acetonitrile/0.5% acetic acid (2:3, v/ v), 1 ml/min	UV 313 nm	plasma	-	141
Sumichiral OA- 4500	nicardipine	hexane/ 1,2-dichloroethane /methanol/tri- fluoroacetic acid	UV 254 nm	plasma	2.5 ng/ ml	142
(3S,4S)-1-(3,5- dinitrobenz- amidol 1,2,3,4- tetrahydro- phenanthene (Whelk- O-(SS)	ibuprofen	hexane/propan- 2-ol/ glacial acetic acid (980:12.5:0.5, v/v/v), 1 ml/min	UV 254 nm	serum	1μg/ml	143, 144
(3S,4S)-1-(3,5- dinitrobenz- amidol 1,2,3,4- tetrahydro- phenanthene (Whelk- O-(SS))	PNU-103017 HIV aspartyl protease inhibitor*	absolute ethanol/ 0.1% acetic acid in hexane (30:70, v/ v), 1 ml/min	UV 295 nm	plasma	0.1–0.2 μM	145
((v) hold (60) (S)-N-(3,5- dinitrobenzoyl) leucine	glutethimide	hexane/propan- 2-ol/ acetonitrile (965 25:1), 1 ml/ min	UV 220 nm	serum & urine	0.5 μg/ ml	146
(R)-N-(3,5- dintirobenzoyl) phenylglycine	propranolol	hexane/propan- 2-ol/ acetonitrile (97:3:1)	SF290/350 nm	serum	-	147
(R)-N-3,5- dinitrobenzoyl- phenylglycine	debrisoquine	hexane/ethanol/-t- butyl methyl ether (98:1:1), 1 ml/min	SF 265/380 nm	plasma	3.5 nM	148
Sumichiral OA- series	amino acids	citric acid/methanol	SF 470/530 nm	plasma	0.48–3.1 μM	149
Dinitrobenzoyl Leucine (Pirkle DNBL)	cholecystokinin β-antagonists**	25 mM ammonium acetate buffer pH7.0 /40% acetonitrile, 0.8 nl/ min	MS-MS	Liver microsomes	-	150

\* PNU-1-3017 is 4-cyano-N-[3-{cyclopropyl (5,6,7,8,9,10 - hexahydro-4-hydroxy-2-oxo-2H-cycloocta (6) pyran-3-yl) methyl} phenyl]- benzene sulfonamide. \*\* Cholecystokinin β-antagonists are racemic benzodiazineamidines.

TABLE 2.2-2

IADEL 2.2-	2										
ANALYSIS	OF	CHIRAL	DRUGS	IN	BIOLOGICAL	FLUIDS	BY	HPLC	USING	CELLULOSE	
DERIVATIV	ES C	HIRAL CO	OLUMN								

Column	Chiral Drug	Mobile Phase	Detection	Biological Sample	LOQ	Ref.
Chiralcel OD	SCH 56592 triazole antifungal*	hexane/ethanol/ diethylamine (30:70:0.2, v/v/v)	SF 270/ 320 nm	serum	0.1–2 μg/ml	153
	ibuprofen	hexane/propan-2-ol/ triethylamine (100:1:0.1,v/v/v), 1 ml/min	UV 230 nm	plasma	-	154
	ketamine and norketamine	hexane/propan-2-ol (98:2, v/v/), 0.8 ml/ min, 35°C	UV 215 nm	plasma	5–10 ng/ ml	155
	10-hydroxy carbazepine	hexane/propan-2-ol/ ethanol (70:20: 10, v/ v/v), 1 ml/min	UV 215 nm	plasma	_	156
	bisoprolol	hexane/propan-2-ol (1:1,v/v)	SF 228/ 298 nm	plasma & urine	2 ng/ml	157
	lorazepam	hexane/propan-2-ol/ ethanol (5:5:1, v/v/ v), 1 ml/min	UV 254 nm	plasma	3 ng/ml	158
	propranolol	hexane/propan-2-ol- N,N-dimethyl- octamine (98:8:0.01, v/v/v), 1.5 ml/min	UV 254 nm	plasma	10 ng/ml	159
	R,S-MTPPA** anti-inflammatory agent	hexane/propan-2-ol- acetic acid (96:4:0.5, v/v/v), 1 ml/min, 30°C	UV 272 nm	urine	0.2 ng/ ml	160, 161
	praziquantel	hexane/propan-2-ol/ (1:1, v/v)	UV 212 nm	serum	5 ng/ml	162
	propafenone	hexane/n-propanol/ diethylamine (9:1: 0.4, v/v/v), 1 ml/min	UV 247 nm	serum	-	163
	metoprolol	hexane/propan-2-ol/ octylamine (9:1:0.1, v/v/v) 1 ml/min	SF 275/ 315	serum	-	164
Chiralcel OD-R	pyridoglutethim- ide	acetonitrile/0.3 M NaClO <sub>4</sub> (25:75) (pH 6.2 with HClO <sub>4</sub> ), 0.8 ml/min	UV 257 nm	serum	50 ng/ml	165
	fluoxetine and norfluoxetine	acetonitrile/ potassium hexafluorophosphate	UV 227 nm	plasma	10 ng/ml	166
	lansoprazole and 5-hyroxy- lansoprazole and lansoprazole sulfone	methanol/water (75:25, v/v), 0.5 ml/ min.	UV 285 nm	Liver microsomes	0.25 μM/ml	167

#### TABLE 2.2-2 CONTINUED

Column	Chiral Drug	Mobile Phase	Detection	Biological Sample	LOQ	Ref.
	propranolol	acetonitrile/1M NaClO <sub>4</sub> (40:60, v/v), 0.5 ml/min	UV 289 nm	plasma & serum	_	168
	4-hydroxy- debrisoquine	methanol/ acetonitrile/ $0.125 \text{ M NaClO}_4$ , pH5.0 (3:12:85, v/v/v), 0.8 ml/min, 30°C	SF 210/ 290 nm	urine	3.75 ng/ml	169
	amphetamine methamphetam- ine p-hydroxy- methamphetam- ine	propan-2-ol/ acetonitrile/ phosphate-citrate buffer (pH 4.5) containing 50 mM NaPF <sub>6</sub> (1:59:40, v/v/ v), 35°C	SF 330/ 440 nm	urine & hair	1 μM/ml	170, 171
	selfotel	acetonitrile/0.1M phosphate buffer (35:65,v/v), 0.5 ml/ min, 30°C	SF 262/ 314 nm	urine	0.25 μg/ml	172
	tramadol	acetonitrile/50 mM phosphate buffer containing 0.2 M NaClO <sub>4</sub> , pH 6.0 (1:3)	UV 220 nm	plasma	0.5 ng/ml	173
	ondansetron	acetonitrile/0.7 M NaClO <sub>4</sub> (25:75, $v/v$ ), 0.5 ml/min	UV 210 nm	serum	7 ng/ml	174
	dizepam and nordiazepam	0.3M NaClO₄/ acetonitrile (57:43), 0.5 ml/min	UV 210 nm	serum	25 ng/ml	175
	apomorphine	35% acetonitrile/0.05 M NaClO <sub>4</sub> , pH2.0, 0.5 ml/min	UV 273 nm	serum	5 ng/ml	176
	Pirlindole	acetonitrile/ phsophate buffer (pH 5.0) contaning 50 mM NaClO <sub>4</sub> (2:3), 0.6 ml/min	SF 295/340 nm	plasma	10 ng/ml	177
Chiralcel OD-RH	amphetamine and methamphet- amine	acetonitrile/ phosphate citrate buffer, pH4.0 containing NaPF <sub>6</sub> (0.3 M) 57:43, v/v), 1 ml/min	SF 330/440 nm	hair	4.7 F mol.5μL	178
	verapamil and norverapamil	acetonitrile/30 mM NaPF <sub>6</sub> (34:66, v/v, pH 4.6), 1 ml/min	SF 280/315 nm	plasma	10 ng/ml	179

TABLE 2.2-2 CONTINUED

Column	Chiral Drug	Mobile Phase	Detection	Biological Sample	LOQ	Ref.
Chiralcel OJ	cisapride	ethanol/hexane/DEA (35:64.5:0.5, v/v/v), 2 ml/min	UV 275 nm	plasma	5 ng/ml	180
	isradipine	9.5% propan-2-ol/ hexane, 1 ml/min, 39°C	UV 240 nm	serum	0.26 ng/ ml	181
	metyrapone	hexane/ethanol/DEA (92:8:0.1, v/v/v), 1 ml/min	UV 261 nm	plasma & urine	0.03 μg/ ml	182
	manidpine	hexane/ethanol/ methanol (80:15:5), 1 nl/min	UV 230 nm	serum	0.2 ng/ ml	183
Chiralcel OJ-R	rogletimide	0.25 M NaClO4/ acetonitrile (pH5.6 with HClO <sub>4</sub> ) (80:20, v/v), 0.5 ml/min	UV 257 nm	serum	50 ng/ml	184
	antoprazole	acetonitrile/50 mM NaClO <sub>4</sub> (multisteps linear gradient), 0.5 ml/min	UV 290 nm	serum	0.25 μg/ ml	185
	ketorolac	45% acetonitrile in 3 mM HClO <sub>4</sub> (pH2.0), 1.2 ml/min	UV 313 nm	plasma & urine	5 ng/ml	186
	praziquantel	0.1 M NaCl0 <sub>4</sub> / acetonitrile (33:17), 0.5 ml/min	UV 210 nm	serum	5 ng/ml	187
	promethazine	0.5 M NaClO <sub>4</sub> / acetonitrile (63:37, v/ v), 0.5 ml/min	UV 249 nm	serum	2 ng/ml	188
Chiral Tribencel	thalidomide	methanol with 10–25% of 99.5% ethanol, 0.5 ml/min	UV 220 nm	plasma	_	189, 190

\* SCH 56592 is (-)-[4-[4-[4-[4](2R-cis)-5- (2,4-difluorophenyl)-tetrahydro-5-(H)-(1,2,4-triazol-1-phenymethyl)-3-furanyl) methoxy] phenyl-1-piperazinyl-2-[(S)-1-ethyl-2-(S)-hydroxy propyl]-2-4-dihydro-3H- 1,2,4-triazol-3-one.

\*\* MTPPA is R,S.-2-[4-methyl-2-thienyl) phenyl] propionic acid.

Chiral separation techniques employed both in liquid and gas chromatography can be classified as direct and indirect separation techniques. The most commonly employed method of direct enantiomer separation is based on the formation of the so-called reversible diastereomeric complexes of the stereoselective analyte and stereoselective host molecule (selector) representing the chiral stationary phase (CSP). The chemical nature of CSP spans from small molecules to stereoselective macromolecules, including biopolymers, such as cellulose, proteins or cyclodextrins (CDs) as well as macrocyclic antibiotics.
**TABLE 2.2-3** 

ANALYSIS	OF	CHIRAL	DRUGS	IN	BIOLOGICAL	FLUIDS	BY	HPLC	USING	AMYLOSE
DERIVATIV	E – C	CHIRALPA	X AD AS	A CI	HIRAL SELECT	OR				

Column	Chiral Drug	Mobile Phase	Detection	Biological Sample	LOQ	Ref
	mirtazapine	hexane/ethanol/ propan-2-ol (98:1:1 v/v/v), 1.5 mnl/min	UV 290 nm	plasma	-	191
	albendazole sulfoxide	hexane/propan-2-ol/ ethanol (81:4.25:4.75, v/v/v), 1.2 ml/min	SF 280/320 nm	plasma	_	192
	metoprolol	hexane/ethanol/DEA (88:12:0.2, v/v/v)	SF 229/298 nm	urine	-	193
	disopyramide mono-N-dealkyl /disopyramide	hexane/ethanol (91:9, v/v), 0.1% DEA, 1.2 ml/min, 22°C	UV 270 nm	plasma & urine	12.5 ng/ ml	194
	tramadol o- desmethyl- tramadol	isohexane/ethanol/ DEA (97.3, v/v/v), 1 ml/min	MS-MS	plasma	0.5 ng/ ml	195
	chlorpheni- ramine, monodesmethyl chlorpheni- ramine	hexane/ethanol/DEA (96:4:0.05), 0.5 ml/ min	UV 262 nm	plasma & urine	35 ng/ml	196
	propafenon 5-hydroxypropa- fenone	hexane/ethanol/DEA (88:12: 0.1), 1.3 ml/ min	UV 315 nm	plasma	-	197
	omeprazole	0.004 % acetic acid/ 30% ethanol/1% acetonitrile in isohexane (by volume), 1 ml/min	MS	plasma	10 n mol/L	198
	acebutolol	hexane/ethanol/DEA (85:15: 0.1, v/v/v), 0.8 ml/min	UV 240 nm	serum	10 ng/ml	199
	ketoprofen	hexane/propan-2-ol/ TFA (80:19:1, v/v/v) 1 ml/min	UV 254 nm	plasma	-	200
	halofantrine	hexane/ethanol/ butan-2-ol /DEA(93:4.5:2.5:0.1, v/v/v/v), 03 ml/min	SF 300/ 380 nm	plasma	6 ng.ml	20
	antifungal agent SCH 56592	hexane/ethanol/DEA (30:70:0.2, v/v/v)	SF 270/320 nm	serum	-	202
	anti-tumor agent SCH 66336	hexane/ethanol/DEA (30:70: 0.2 v/v/v), 0.8 ml/min, 39°C	UV 280 nm	plasma	0.25 μg/ ml	203

**TABLE 2.2-4** 

ANALYSIS OF	CHIRAL	DRUGS	IN	BIOLOGICAL	FLUIDS	ΒY	HPLC	USING	CYCLO	DEXTRIN
DERIVATIVE A	S CHIRAL	L STATIO	NAI	RY PHASE						

Column	Chiral Drug	Mobile Phase	Detection	Biological Sample	LOQ	Ref.
β-CD (Cyclobond)	chlorpheniramine and metabolite	DEA (0.25%, pH 4.4)/ methanol/ acetonitrile (85:7.5:7.5 v/v/v), 0.5 ml/min	MS	plasma	125 pg/ ml	205
	methadone and metabolite	0.1% TEA, 0.6 % glacial acetic acid adj. pH 5.0 with 2 M NaOH/40% acetonitrile, 0.3 ml/ min	UV 220 nm	plasma & urine	2.5 ng/ ml 5.0 ng/ ml	206
	PNU-83894* PNU-83892** (anticonvulsant agent and metabolite)	acetonitrile/water/ 0.2% TEA adj. to pH 6.0 with acetic acid (20:80, v/v), 0.7 ml/ min	UV 230 nm	plasma	25 ng/ml	207
	mianserin and desmethyl- mianserin	6% acetonitrile/94% TEA buffer (1% TEA to pH 3 with ortho-phosphoric acid), 1 ml/min	SF 270/430 nm	plasma	4 ng/ml (S)-,2.5 ng/ml (R)-	208
	warfarin	acetonitrile/glacia acetic acid/TEA (100:0.3:0.25, v/v/v)	UV 320 nm	plasma	-	209
	Simendan	0.5% TEAA (pH 6.0) containing 24–33% methanol	UV 380 nm	plasma	5 ng/ml	210
	Sch-39304 triazole antifungal agent	water/methanol/ acetonitrile (80:15:7, v/v/v), 0.71 ml/min	UV 205 nm	plasma	-	211
	propranolol	acetonitrile/ethanol/ glacial acetic acid/ TEA (96:4:0.4:0.3, v/ v/v/v), 1 ml/min	SF 222/340 nm	plasma	1.5 ng/ ml	212
	ibuprofen	acetonitrile/0.02% TEA (pH 4.0), 3:2, v/v), 1 ml/min	UV 220 nm	plasma	1μg/ml	213
Acetylated β- CD	fluoxetine & norfluoxetine	methanol/0.3% TEA (pH 5.0), (25:75, v/ v), 1 ml/min, 30°C	UV 214	plasma & urine	8 μg/ml	214
	warfarin	acetonitrile/acetic acid/ TEA (1000:3:2.5, v/v/v), 1 ml/min	MS-MS	plasma	1.0 ng/ ml	215

Column	Chiral Drug	Mobile Phase	Detection	Biological Sample	LOQ	Ref.
β-CD (Chiradex)	mephenytoin	acetonitrile/water/ glacial acetic acid/ TEA (14:86:0.1:0.2, v/v/v/v), 0.9 ml/min	UV 207 nm	urine	12.5 μg/ ml	216
	modafinil	20 mM phosphate buffer (pH 3.0)/acetonitrile (21:4, v/v), 0.6 ml/ min	UV 225 nm	plasma	_	217

TABLE 2.2-4 CONTINUED

\* PNU-83894 is 3.4-dichloro-N-[(1R-2S)-2-(methylamino) cyclohexyl] benzamide.

\*\* PNU-83892 is N-[(1R-2S)-2-aminocyclohexyl]-3,4-dichloro benzamide.

### 2.8 PIRKLE CONCEPT CHIRAL COLUMNS

CSPs based on small chiral selector molecules include "Pirkle-type" CSPs. Appropriate selectors of this type, which are presented in Table 2.2-1, have been employed in studies performed in animal and human models on the enantioselective pharmacokinetics of a preparation, warfarin sodium, anti-coagulant agent to be used in patient treatment [141]. A column-switching technique has been used for determination of nicardipine in human plasma [142], as well as in studies of the well-known preparation of ibuprofen to assess its pharmacokinetic profile in rabbits that have been administered the drug in the form of suppositories [143,144].

Pirkle CSP operating in the normal-phase mode has been used to investigate the separation of enantiomers of PNU 103017, a potential agent for AIDS treatment, glutethimide and propranolol [145–147]. The enantiomers of debrisoquine and amino acids have been successively determined in human urine and plasma using Pirkle CSP operating in the reversed phase mode, respectively. [148,149]. Pirkle DNBL chiral stationary phase operating in the reversed-phase mode has been used to investigate the metabolism of racemic cholecystokinin- $\beta$ -antagonists [150].

Occasionally, other chiral stationary phases have been used such as crown ether (Crownpak CR (+)), which has been employed for analysis of clinafloxacin in human plasma [151] or Chiralpak WE, which operates by the ligand exchange principle, used in studies on the stereoselective pharmacokinetics of RS-8359, a monoaminoxidase A inhibitor, chemically known as  $(\pm)$ –4-(4-cyanoanilino-5,6-di-hydro-7-hydroxy-7H-cyclopenta [d] pyrimidine [152].

#### 2.9 CELLULOSE-DERIVATIVE CHIRAL COLUMNS

Among CSPs that have found widespread application in the bioanalysis of numerous drugs and their metabolites are CSPs based on cellulose or amylose derivatives adsorbed

on macroporous silica gel. Table 2.2-2 presents drugs for which cellulose derivatives have been used as a chiral selector for the enantioselective analysis of their concentration. Depending on the column type, normal or reversed phase conditions have been employed. The cellulose type CSPs (Chiralcel OD) have been used in separating the enantiomers of triazole antifungal [153], ibuprofen [154], ketamine and its active metabolite norketamine [155], the antiepileptic 10-hydroxycarbazepine [156], bisoprolol [157], lorazepam [158], propranolol [159], anti-inflammatory agent (MTPPA) [160,161], praziquantel [162], propafenone [163] and metoprolol [164]. For all these drugs the developed methods have been sensitive and sufficiently reproducible for stereoselective monitoring of these agents in human plasma (serum and urine) during pharmacokinetic studies.

#### **TABLE 2.2-5**

ANALYSIS OF CHIRAL DRUGS IN BIOLOGICAL FLUIDS BY HPLC USING CYCLODEXTRIN DERIVATIVE AS CHIRAL MOBILE PHASE ADDITIVES

Column	Chiral Drug	Mobile Phase	Detection	Biological Sample	LOQ	Ref.
C <sub>18</sub> Lichrospher	Chlorthalidone	methanol/0.1 M phosphate buffer pH 4.0) containing 2% TEA and 12.5 mM- β-CD (25:75, v/v), 0.8 ml/min	UV 230 nm	plasma	50 ng/ml	218
Non-porous octadecyl- silane	ketoprofen	0.1% TEA (pH 4.0)/ acetonitrile containing 10 mM- HP-β-CD (49:1, v/v), 0.8 ml/min	UV 220 nm	serum	10 ng/ml	219
Prodigy-ODS	pentazocine	10 mM KH <sub>2</sub> PO <sub>4</sub> (pH 5.8)/ethanol containing 20 mM sulphated-β-CD (4:1, v/v), 0.7 ml/min	UV 220 nm	serum	15 ng/ml	220
Prodigy-ODS	trimipramine	10 mM ammonium acetate (pH 4.0)/ethanol containing 20 mM β- CD (4:1, v/v), 0.7 ml/min	UV 220	serum	10 ng/ml	221
TSK-gel ODS	thiamylal	17 mM β-CD in 150 ml ethanol and adding 10 mM KH <sub>2</sub> PO <sub>4</sub> to litre, 0.9 ml/min	UV 288 nm	serum	50 ng/ml	222
Suplecosil LC-Si	azepinoindole	10 mM Na <sub>3</sub> PO <sub>4</sub> (pH 7.0) /15 mM-β-CD/ 2 mM TEA (1:1:1:1, v/v/v/v), 1 ml/min	UV 231 nm	plasma	-	223

TABLE 2.2-6

ANALYSIS OF CHIRAL DRUGS IN BIOLOGICAL FLUIDS BY HPLC USING PROTEINS AS CHIRAL SELECTOR

Column	Chiral Drug	Mobile Phase	Detection	Biological Sample	LOQ	Ref
α <sub>1</sub> -acid glycoprotein (Chiral-AGP)	methadone	10 mM phosphate buffer containing 0.1% of N,N- dimethyloctylamine (pH 6.6)/propan-2-ol (90:10, v/v), 0.6 ml/ min	UV 205 nm	serum & blood	25 ng/ml	224
	methadone	10 mM ammonium acetate buffer, with 0.05% of N,N- dimethyloctylamine (ph 6.6)/propan-2-ol (85:15, v/v)	MS-ESI	serum & saliva	5 ng/ml	225
	methadone and metabolite	20 mM NaH <sub>2</sub> PO <sub>4</sub> containing 2 mM dimethyloctylamine and 9% acetonitrile (pH 5.5 with H <sub>3</sub> PO <sub>4</sub> ), 0.4 ml/ml	UV 210 nm DAD	urine	0.125 μΜ	226
	methadone	Propan-2-ol/2mM ammonium acetate pH 5.8 buffer using gradient 500 µL/min	MS	sweat	2ng/ patch	227
	propafenone and 5-hydroxy- propafenone	10 mM ammonium acetate buffer (pH 5.95)/propan-2-ol (100:9, v/v), 0.5 ml/ min	MS-SRM via ESI	plasma & urine	20 ng/ml	228 229
	ketamine norketamine	10 mM KH2PO4 (pH 7.0) containing 16% methanol, 1 ml/ min, 40°C	UV 220 nm	plasma	2 ng/ml	230
	mainserin & desmethyl mainserin	6% acetonitrile in 20 mM K H2PO4 (pH 5.3), 0.9 ml/min	UV 214 nm	plasma	10 nM	231
	verapamil norverapamil	0.01 M phosphate buffer (pH 6.65)/acetonitrile (91:9), 0.9 ml/min	SF 227/308 nm	plasma	-	232
	bupivacaine and metabolite	8 mM NaH2PO4 and 0.1 M NaCl/ propan-2-ol/DEA (96:4:3:0.6, v/v/v) (pH 7.04) with 50% H3PO4), 0.9 ml/min	UV 210 nm	urine	5 ng/ml	233

#### TABLE 2.2-6 CONTINUED

Column	Chiral Drug	Mobile Phase	Detection	Biological Sample	LOQ	Ref.
	labetalol	0.02 NaH <sub>2</sub> PO <sub>4</sub> . buffer, 0.1 M tetrabutylammonium hydrogen bromide, (pH 7.1 with H <sub>3</sub> PO <sub>4</sub> ), 0.7 ml/min	SF 330/418 nm	plasma	-	234
	propanolol	20 mM ammonium acetate buffer (pH 4.1)/acetonitrile (98:2), 1.0 ml/min	SF 290/340 nm	tissue homo- genates	-	235
	ketoprofen	5 mM phosphate buffer (pH 7.0) with 1 mM N,N- dimethyloctylamine, 1 ml/min	UV 225 nm	water	_	236
	tiaprofenic acid	2% propan-2-ol in 0.01 M phosphate buffer pH 6.5, 0.5 ml/min, 17°C	UV 317 nm	plasma	_	237
	cetirizine	10 mM phosphate buffer (pH 7.0)/acetonitrile (95:5, v/v), 0.4 ml/ min	UV 230 nm	plasma	25 ng/ml	238
	epibatidine	10 mM NH4COOH (pH 7.4 with NH4OH), 0.7 ml/min	MS	liver microsomes	-	239
	amlodipine	10 mM acetate buffer (pH 4.5)/propan-2-ol (99:1, v,v)	MS	plasma	0.1 ng/ ml	240
	ibuprofen	0.4% (v/v) propan- 2-ol in 0.1 M phosphate buffer pH 7.0, 0.9 ml/min	UV 220 nm	plasma	1.16 μg/ ml (R)– (–) & 1.7 μg/ ml (S)– (+)	241
	thiamylal	Propan-2-ol/20 mM KH2PO4 (3:97, v/v), (pH 4.7), 0.9 ml/min	UV 288 nm	serum	-	242
	albendazole	propan-2-ol/8 mM phosphate buffer (pH 7) (1:49, v/v), 0.9 ml/ min	UV 290 nm	plasma	-	243
	lansoprazole	propan-2-ol/0.1 M NaH <sub>2</sub> PO <sub>4</sub> (pH 7.0 with acetic acid) (1:1 v/v)	UV 283 nm	serum	_	244

#### TABLE 2.2-6 CONTINUED

Column	Chiral Drug	Mobile Phase	Detection	Biological Sample	LOQ	Ref.
	ketorolac	propan-2-ol/90 mM NaH <sub>2</sub> PO4 /10 mM Na2HPO4/2 mM dimethyloctylamine (pH 5.5) (17:183), 0.5 ml/min	UV 320 nm	plasma	5 ng/ml	245
	masapride	0.02 M Na <sub>2</sub> HPO <sub>4</sub> / 0.02 M citric acid/ methanol (gradient elution)	SF 314/354 nm	plasma	-	246
	citalopram	10 mM hexanoic acid in H <sub>3</sub> PO <sub>4</sub> /NaoH buffer (pH 6.5), 0.9 ml/min	UV 240 nm	plasma	_	247
	thiopentone	4.5% propan-2-ol in 0.1 M phosphate buffer (pH 6.2), 0.9 ml/min	UV 220 nm (6 min) then 287 mm	plasma	-	248
	vamicamide	20 mM phosphate buffer (pH 6.3)/ acetonitrile (20:1)	UV 260 nm	serum & urine	10 ng/ml	249
Human serum albumin (Chiral HAS)	ketoprofen	94% (v,v) 0.01 M phosphate buffer 6% (v/v) propan-2-ol and 5 mM octanoic acid at pH 5.5, 0.6 ml/min	UV 260 nm	plasma	16 ng/ml (S)- (+)- 18 ng/ml (R)-(-)	250
Ovomucoid (Ultron ES- OVM)	nimodipine	23.5% ethanol in 20 mM phosphate buffer, 1 ml/min	UV 230 nm	plasma	1 ng/ml	251
	propranolol	20 mM phosphate buffer (pH 6.9)/acetonitrile	SF 290/340 nm	micro- dialysis probes	25 ng/ml	252

The Chiralcel OD-R column has been used for the separation of the enantiomers of pyridoglutethimide in serum using glutethimide as internal standard [165]. Also, the column has been used in the separation of the enantiomers of fluoxetine and its active metabolite norfluoxetine [166], lansoprazole and its metabolites 5-hydroxylansoprazole and lansoprazole sulfone [167]. With the help of the above-mentioned selector, a method has been developed to separate the enantiomers of propranolol in investigations of their stereoselective permeation across human skin in vitro, where the permeation of (S)-propranolol has been demonstrated to be slowed in the presence of an enantioselective excipient [168]. In addition, the selector has been employed in a method that is suitable for studies of cytochrome P450 isozyme (CYP2D6) activity

utilizing debrisoquine as a marker drug of the oxidative genetic polymorphism [169]. Also Chiralcel OD-R column has been utilized successfully in developing a method to determine the enantiomers of methamphetamine and its metabolites in the hair and urine of abusers. To improve the sensitivity of the fluorescence detection, which constitutes an element of the method, the compounds under investigation have been derivatized with 4-(4,5-diphenyl-1H-imidazol-2-yl)-benzoylchloride as a fluorescence-labeling reagent [170,171]. As well as selfotel [172], tramadol [173], ondansetron [174], diazepam and its metabolite nordiazepam [175], apomorphine [176] and pirlindole [177] have been enantioselectively resolved with the help of the above-mentioed selector. Chiralcel OD-RH has been used for the separation of amphetamine and its metabolite in hair [178] and verapamil and its metabolite norverapamil [179]. The cellulose-type CSP (Chiralcel OJ) has been used in the separation of the enantiomers of cisapride [180], isradipine 181], metyrapone [182] and manidipine [183].

TABLE 2.2-7

ANALYSIS OF CHIRAL DRUGS IN BIOLOGICAL FLUIDS BY HPLC USING ANTIBIOTICS AS CHIRAL SELECTOR

Column	Chiral Drug	Mobile Phase	Detection	Biological Sample	LOQ	Ref.
Vancomycin (Chirobiotic V)	fluoxetine	Methanol containing 0.075% (by weight) ammonium trifluoroacetate	MS-MS	plasma	1 ng.ml	256
	citalopram and metabolites	Methanol/acetic acid/ TEA (400:02:0.25, v/ v/v) 1 ml/min	UV 240 nm	plasma	5 ng/ml	257
Teicoplanin (Chirobiotic T)	arotinolol	Methanol/acetic acid/ TEA (100:0.1:0.1, v/ v/v), 0.8 ml/min	UV 317 nm	plasma	50 ng/ml	258
	clenbuterol	methanol/ acetonitrile/ acetic acid/TEA (70:30:0.3:0.2, v,v,v,v), 1 ml/min, 25°C	UV 254 nm	tissue homo- genates	-	259, 260
	atenolol	acetonitrile/ methanol/acetic acid/ TEA (55:45:0.3:0.2, v/v/v/v)	SF 274/325 nm	urine	-	261
	albuterol	methanol/ acetonitrile/acetic acid/TEA (50:50:0.3:0.2, v/v/v/ v), 1 ml/min	SF 230/310 nm	plasma	125 pg/ ml	262
Ristocetin A (Chirobiotic R)	2-hydroxy- glutaric acid	5 mM triethylamine pH 7.0 with acetic acid/methanol (9:1), 0.5 ml/min	MS-MS ESI	urine	-	263

Rogletimide has been determined in human serum by utilizing the Chiralcel OJ-R column [184]. With the help of a multistep linear gradient system, the OJ-R column has been used to separate the enantiomers of pantoprazole [185]. Chiralcel OJ-R selector has also been used for the separation of the enantiomers of ketorolac administered to

Column	Chiral Drug	Gas carrier/ column temp.	Detection	Biological Sample	LOQ	Ref.
octakis-(3-O- butanoyl- 2,6-di-O- pentyl)-γ-CD (dissolved in polysiloxane SE-54)	valnoctamide	Nitrogen/112°C isothermally	FID	plasma	0.2 ng/L	264
heptakis(2,3- di-O-methyl- 6-O-ter- butyldimethyl silyl-β-CD (dissolved in polysiloxane SE-52)	isoflurane	Hydrogen/27°C isothermally	MS-SIM	blood	-	265
heptakis- (6-O- hexydimeth- ylsilyl-2,3-di- O-methyl)-β- CD	cyclophospha- mide and dechloro- ethylated metabolite	hellium/temp. program from 100°C to 180°C	MS-SIM	plasma & urine	0.4 nmol/L	266, 267
heptakis (2,3,-di-O- methyl-6-O- tert- butyldimethy- lsilyl-βCD (dissolved in polysiloxane SE-52)	3-hydroxy- 2-methyl- butanoic acid	Hydrogen/temp. program from 60°C to 200°C	MS-ITD	urine	-	268
heptakis (2,3,-di-O- methyl-6-O- tert- butyldimethy- lsilyl-βCD (dissolved in polysiloxane SE-52)	3-hydroxy and 3-amino isobutyric acid	Hydrogen/temp. program from 60°C to 210°C	MS-ITD	urine	_	269

<b>TABLE 2.2-8</b>										
ANALYSIS OF C	CHIRAL I	DRUGS 1	IN	BIOLOGICAL	FLUIDS	BY	GC	USING	CYCLODEXTRI	V
DERIVATIVES AS	CHIRAL	SELECT	OR							

children for postsurgical analgesia. The investigators demonstrated the stereoselective character of the binding process occurring between the drug and plasma proteins, as well as its metabolism occurring via glucuronidation [186]. Praziquantel and promethazine have been quantitated in human serum using the Chiralcel OJ-R column [187,188]. The chiral tribencel selector has been used to separate the enantiomers of thalidomide in human plasma with UV detection [189,190].

## 2.10 AMYLOSE-DERIVATIVE CHIRAL COLUMNS

Amylose-derivative CSPs have been used for the determination of the enantiomers of several drugs and their metabolites (Table 2.2-3). Chiralpak AD has been employed in the enantioselective bioanalyis of the concentration of mirtazapine, a novel anti-depressant, albendazole sulfoxide, an anthelminitic agent and metaprolol, a  $\beta$ -adrenergic antagonist in patients with depression, neuorocysticerosis and hypertension, respectively. The results of these studies point to the enantioselectivity and kinetic disposition of these drugs in the investigated groups [191–193]. In the case of metoprolol [193], these investigations have revealed the accumulation of the S-(-)-enantiomer in hypertensive patients phenotyped as extensive metabolizers of debrisoquine. Amylose AD column has also been employed in the enantioselective analysis of the concentration

Chrial Drug	Chiral derivatizing agent	Detection	Biological Samples	LOQ	Ref.
mexiletine and N- hydroxy-mexiletine glucuronide	o-phthaladehyde N- acetyl-L-cysteine	SF 350/455 nm	plasma	1 ng.ml	271, 272
ibuprofen	S-(-)-1-(1-naphtyl) ethylamine in the medium of ECF and TEA	SF 280/320 nm	plasma	0.1 µg/ml	273
ibuprofen	L-Leucinamide in the medium of ECF and TEA	UV 220 nm	plasma	0.1 µg/ml	274
indobufen	L-Leucinamide in the medium of ECF and TEA	UV 275 nm	serum	0.25 μg/ml	275, 276
3,4-methylene- dioxymeth- amphetamine	R-(-)-α-methoxy-α- trifluoro-methyl- phenylacetyl chloride	MS	plasma	0.1 µg/ml	277
clopidogrel	S-(-)-1-(1-naphthyl) ethylamine in the presence of HOBT and EDAC	SF 280/330 nm	plasma	0.1 μg/ml	278

TABLE 2.2-9 ANALYSIS OF CHIRAL DRUGS IN BIOLOGICAL FLUIDS BY HPLC OR GC METHOD USING CHIRAL DERIVATIZING AGENTS

of disopyramide, tramadol, chlorpheniramine, propafenone and their corresponding active metabolites [194–197]. The methods developed for each drug and its metabolites have been validated and their clinical relevance has been confirmed in pharmacokinetic studies performed in healthy volunteers.

Furthermore, an amylose AD column has been used as a CSP for enantioseparation of omeprazole, acebutolol, ketoprofen, as well as halofantrine and their active metabolites in humans [198–201]. The validation of these methods has demonstrated their effectiveness in clinical pharmacokinetic studies. With the help of the abovementioned selector two methods have been developed, which have been successfully applied to determine the enantiomers of antifungal agent SCH 56592 and anti-tumor agent SCH 66336 in plasma and evaluation of its chiral inversion in animals [202, 203].

## 2.11 CYCLODEXTRIN-DERIVATIVE CHIRAL COLUMNS

Cyclodextrins (CDs) are extensively used in HPLC as stationary phases bonded to a solid support or as mobile phase additives. CDs, like other biopolymers, are CSPs based on inclusion complexation. In other words, the solute molecule may enter completely or in part to chiral cavities or chiral bay areas, thus leading to different diastereomeric inclusion complexes with different association and/or dissociation constants. Detailed information on the basic principles of chiral separation and application of CDs can be found in a review [204]. Table 2.2-4 illustrates examples of drugs for which CD derivatives have been used for enantiomeric separation by HPLC. CD derivatives have been employed as chiral selectors in the bioanalysis of enantiomer concentration of chlorpheniramine [205] methadone [206], novel anti-convulsant agent, PNU 83892 [207] and mainserin [208]. The validation parameters for these methods have been determined in the presence of their metabolites and can be applied to the analysis of clinical samples. With the help of the above-mentioned column, a method has been developed which has been successfully applied to determine the enantiomers of warfarin [209], simendan [210] triazole antifungal agent SCH 39304 [211], propanolol [212] and ibuprofen [213].

Chiral separation on an acetylated- $\beta$ -CD column has been employed in studies of the pharmacokinetic profiles of the enantiomers of fluoxetine and norfluoxetine [214], as well as warfarin [215]. In the case of mephenytoin, this is used for routine determination of the catalytic activity of CYP2C19 in humans based on the measurements of its S/R enantiomer ratio [216]. A  $\beta$ -CD (Chiraldex) selector has been used for quantitation of the enantiomers of modafinil in human plasma [217].

#### 2.12 CYCLODEXTRIN-DERIVATIVE CHIRAL MOBILE PHASE ADDITIVES

As previously mentioned, CDs can also be used successfully as chiral mobile phase additives leading to diastereomeric inclusion complexes of the analyte in the chiral cavity of the host polysaccharide. Table 2.2-5 shows examples of drugs for which CD

65

derivatives have been added to the mobile phase. This type of chiral separation has been employed in the enantiospecific analysis of chlorthalidone [218], ketoprofen [219], pentazocine [220], trimipramine [221], thiamylal [222] and azepinoindole [223].

## 2.13 PROTEIN CHIRAL COLUMNS

CSPs that are commonly used include  $\alpha$ -acidglycoprotein (AGP), human serum albumin (HSA) as well as ovomucoid (OVM). One of the advantages of these proteinbased chiral phases is that separation is performed in the reversed-phase mode. Examples employing proteins in enantioselective drug analysis are listed in Table 2.2-6.

## 2.13.1 AGP column

The chiral-AGP column belongs to the second generation of this type of CSP, and has been used in the enantioselective analysis of methadone in various biological samples collected from drug abusers undergoing methadone detoxification. These methods have been successfully employed to quantitate methadone enantiomers in serum as well as in other biological fluids collected noninvasively, such as saliva, sweat and urine [224–227]. In view of the preferential metabolism of the active (R)-methadone and of important interindividual variability in the enantiomeric ratio, the stereoselective determination of methadone is necessary to improve the quality of treatment of narcotic addiction. Chiral-AGP has also been employed in investigations of other drugs: for example, to assess the stereoselective pharmacokinetics of propafenone and its major active metabolite 5-hydroxypropafenone in healthy volunteers [228,229]. Other examples of the enantioselective analysis of drugs such as ketamine [230], mainserine [231] and verapamil [232] and their metabolite in plasma were also reported. The enantioselectivity of urinary excretion of bupivacaine and its metabolite during longterm continuous postoperative epidural infusion of the racemic drug has been determined by this selector [233].

In an investigation of the role of gender differences in labetalol kinetics in humans, the chiral-AGP analytical column has been used to determine the concentration levels of four stereoisomers of this drug [234]. Three of the four stereoisomers of labetalol have been demonstrated to be higher in women than in men. However, the concentrations of the  $\beta$ -blocking stereoisomer (R,R-labetalol) were similar between sexes, possibly explaining the similarity between sexes in antihypertensive response. HPLC using the chiral-AGP column has also been employed in investigations of the stereoselective enzymatic hydrolysis and skin permeability of ketoprofen enantiomers [236]. This type of chiral separation has also been employed in studies of the stereoselective disposition of tiaprofenic acid enantiomers [237] and citrizine [238] in rats. While using the chiral-AGP column in investigations of the metabolism of the enantiomers of epibatidine, a natural product active at nicotinic acetylcholine receptors,

heptafluorobutyric acid has been employed as an ion-pair reagent, in view of the hydrophilicity of this compound [239]. With the help of the above-mentioned selector, methods have been developed which have been successfully applied to determine the enantiomers of a mlodipin [240], ibuprofen [241], thiamylal [242], albendazole [243], lansoprazole [244], ketorolac [245], mosapride [246], citalopram [247], thiopenton [248] and vamicamide [249].

# 2.13.2 HSA column

Human serum albumin (HAS) has been used as a chiral selector in a method for determining the concentration of ketoprofen enantiomers in horse plasma and, in order to avoid time-consuming manipulations, the column-switching system has been applied [250].

# 2.13.3 Ovomucoid column

Ovomucoid-CSP (OVM) has been used in investigations of the concentration-time profiles of nimodipine enantiomers in patients with subarachnoid bleeding after IV and oral administration of nimodipine [251], as well as in the analysis of the free fraction concentration of propranolol enantiomers obtained by microdialysis in rats [252].

# 2.14 MACROCYLIC ANTIBIOTIC CHIRAL COLUMNS

Among the newest CSP types are macrocylic glycopeptide antibiotics, which are covalently bound and perhaps constitute the most varied class of chiral selectors. They include a variety of functional groups, which are ideal for providing multiple stereoselective interactions [253–255]. Table 2.2-7 lists examples of compounds whose enantiomeric separation has been performed using these antibiotics as chiral selector.

# 2.14.1 Vancomycin column

Vancomycin has been employed as a chiral selector in a stereoselective HPLC assay for fluoxetine in plasma of depressed patient [256]. Also, this chiral selector has been employed to the assay of citalopram and its metabolite in the plasma of depressed elderly patients [257]. The method described is rapid, sensitive and reliable and allows assessment of pharmacokinetic parameters and their putative relationship to clinical (side) effects.

# 2.14.2 Teicoplanin column

Teicoplanin is a macrocyclic antibiotic which has been recently employed as a chiral selector for the determination of arotinolol enantiomers in human plasma [258]. This

chiral selector has also been used for the determination of clenbuterol enantiomers in human [259] and rat plasma [260] by HPLC. A teicoplanin analytical column has also been applied in the enantioselective assay of atenolol [261] and albuterol enantiomers [262]. The analytical method for the enantioselective determination of atenolol enantiomers in human urine involved a combination with on-line column switching.

#### 2.14.3 Ristocetin A column

Ristocetin A, a glycopeptide antibiotic, has been applied in the determination of the configuration of 2-hydroxyglutaric acid in urine. This method can be used in diagnosing patients with two metabolic disorders, D-2-hydroxyglutaric aciduria and L-2-hydroxyglutaric aciduria [263].

# 2.15 GC

Gas chromatography (GC) has found uses in the enantioselective analysis of chiral drugs in biological samples utilizing CDs. Examples of such applications are shown in Table 2.2-8. Stereoselective GC has been used in investigations aiming at comparing the interspecies pharmacokinetics of the enantiomers of valnoctamide, a new anticonvulsant agent [264], as well as in the pharmacokinetic profiles of isoflurane enantiomers during and after anaesthesia [265]. Stereoselective GC methods have been employed in studies of the enantioselective pharmacokinetics of cyclophosphamide and its dechloroethylated metabolites in cancer patients. These investigations have been very helpful in evaluating the proportion of a cyclophosphamide dose that is transformed to a toxic or active metabolite [266,267]. CD derivative CSPs have also found use in the analysis of three biologically-active endogenous chiral compounds, 3-hydroxy-2-methylbutanoic acid (HMBA), 3-hydroxyisobutyric acid (HIBA) and 3-aminoisobutyric acid (AIBA), which can play important roles in the diagnosis of  $\beta$ -ketothiolase deficiency of [HMBA] or 3-hydroxyisobutyric aciduria, respectively [268,269]. These investigations made use of the enantioselective multi-dimensional gas chromatography - mass spectrometry, which has proven to be a valuable tool for the discrimination of enantiomers from complex matrices when present in trace amounts.

## 2.16 INDIRECT CHIRAL CHROMATOGRAPHIC METHODS

As previously mentioned, another type of chiral separation technique employed both in liquid and gas chromatography is indirect separation. Table 2.2-9 presents examples of employing the indirect method for determining the concentration of enantiomers of selected drugs and endogenous substances in various biological matrices using HPLC or GC. Under indirect separation conditions, the enantiomeric analytes react with a chiral derivatizing agent (CDA) to form a mixture of diastereomers, which posses different physicochemical properties and thus are separated by conventional achiral chromatography. This technique puts high demands on the enantiomeric purity and stability of the

CDA. Moreover, the process of derivatization may often be time-consuming [270] and frequently requires strict control of temperature and time. Despite such hindrances, as is shown in Table 2.2-9 indirect methods employing various CDAs, such as derivatives of L-cysteine, isocyanates, ethylamine, acid chlorides or L-leucinamide, have been used in the enantioselective determination of concentrations of numerous drugs in various biological matrices by HPLC or GC. The technique has also been employed in studies on the enantioselective mexiletine glucuronidation [271,272]. It has also found an application in investigations of the pharmacokinetics of the enantiomers of ibuprofen [273, 274] and indobufen [275, 276], as well as 3,4-methylenedioxy methamphetamine [277] in humans. The techniques has been employed in studies of stereoselective inversion of clopidogrel [278] using liver microsomes and hepatocyte suspension, respectively.

#### 2.17 OTHER METHODS

As has been mentioned, the quality of the analytical method employed for the determination of xenobiotics in biological materials is also determined by isolation of the analyte from endogenous substances. A technique suggested in this area is coupled achiral/chiral chromatography, where the interferences are separated from the target compound on an achiral column and the eluents containing the compound of interest are selectively switched to the CSP for stereochemical analysis. This switching system, which minimizes the loss of compounds during sample preparation, shortens the process and allows for its automation. This has been employed in the enantioselective analysis of serum phenylcarbarmic acid derivatives [279] and urine terbutaline [280].

In addition to the chromatographic system, the method of detection also contributes to assay specificity and sensitivity. Commonly used detection methods such as UV absorbance, fluorescence and electrochemical detection are increasingly replaced by mass spectrometry. GC-MS and LC-MS have become the methods of choice in the analysis of xenobiotics in biological media due to their enhanced sensitivity and selectivity in comparison to the traditional technology. This allows an assay to be conducted at more physiologically relevant concentrations and less stringent sample preparation methods are required. In the past few years, increasingly perfected techniques have been employed in bioanalysis, allowing for shorter analysis times and higher resolution capacities, coupled with lower consumption of solvents, which is environmentally more friendly compared to normal phase liquid chromatography. An example of this kind of technique is packed-column supercritical fluid chromatography (pcSFC). In SFC the mobile phase consists of a mixture of carbon dioxide as the main component and polar organic modifiers such as methanol are added. This technique has been applied in the study of the pharmacokinetics of ketoprofen enantiomers in humans [281].

#### 2.18 LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

Chiralpak AD	Amylose tros (3,5-dimethylphenylcarbamate)
AGP	$\alpha_1$ -Acid glycoprotein

C <sub>18</sub>	Octadecylsilane
CD	Cyclodextrin
DEA	Diethylamine
DNBL	Dinitrobenzyl leucine
GC	Gas chromotography
HSA	Human serum albumin
HPLC	High performance liquid chromotography
LOQ	Limit of quantification
MS	Mass spectrometry
MS-MS	Tandem mass spectrometry
Chiralcel OD & OD-R	Cellulose tris(3,5-dimethylphenylcarbamate)
Chiralcel OJ & OJ-R	Cellulose tris(4-methylbenzoate)
OVM	Ovomucoid
SF	Spectrofluorometry detector
TEA	Triethylamine
UV	Ultraviolet spectrophotometry

#### 2.19 REFERENCES

- 1 O.Y. Al-Dirbashi and K. Nakashima, Biomed. Chromatogr., 14 (2000) 406.
- 2 T. Toyo'oka (Ed.), Modern derivatization methods for separation sciences, Wiley, Chichester, 1999.
- 3 N. Isoherranen and S. Soback, Clin. Chem., 46 (2000) 837.
- 4 A. Kaddoumi, A. Kubota, N. Nakashima, M. Takahashi and K. Nakashima, Biomed. Chromatogr., 15 (2001) 379.
- 5 R.B. Burns and L. Embree, J. Chromatogr. B, 744 (2000) 367.
- 6 R. Panchagnula, A. Sood, N. Sharda, K. Kaur and C.L. Kaul, 18 (1999) 1013.
- 7 M. Verschraagen, K. van der Born, T.H.U. Zwiers and W.J.F. van der Vijgh, J. Chromatogr. B, 772 (2002) 273.
- 8 M. Zhang, G.A. Moore, M. Lever, S.J. Gardiner, C.M.J. Kirkpatrick and E.J. Begg, J. Chromatogr. B, 766 (2001) 175.
- 9 C.M. Tobin, J. Sunderland, L.O. White and A.P. MacGowan, J. Antimicro. Chemother. 48 (2001) 605.
- 10 D. Chollet, E. Castella, P. Combe and V. Arnera, J. Chromatogr. B, 683 (1996) 237.
- 11 L.A. Moussa, C.E. Khassouani, R. Soulaymani, M. Jana, G. Cassanas, R. Alric and B. Hue, J. Chromatogr. B, 766 (2001) 181.
- 12 A. Ahmadiani and H. Amini, J. Chromatogr. B, 751 (2001) 291.
- 13 W. Ridtitid, M. Wonganawa, W. Mahatthanatrakul, J. Punyo and M. Sunbhanich, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal., 28 (2002) 181.
- 14 A. Avenoso, G. Facciola, M. Salemi and E. Spina, J. Chromatogr. B, 746 (2000) 173.
- 15 E. Dreassi, P. Corti, F. Bezzin and S. Furlanetto, Analyst, 125 (2000) 1077.
- 16 A. Sparreboom, P. de Bruijin, K. Nooter, W.J. Loos, G. Stoter and J. Verweji, J. Chromatogr. B, 705 (1998) 159.
- 17 N. Kuroda, B. Zhou, K. Nakashima and S. Akiyama, Jpn. J. Clin. Chem., 24 (1995) 228.
- 18 P.K. Kunicki, J. Chromatogr. B, 755 (2001) 331.
- 19 A. Kaddoumi, M. Mori, K. Nanashima, M. Kono and K. Nakashima, Analyst, 126 (2001) 1963.
- 20 G.G.-Encina, R. Farran, S. Puig and L. Martinez, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal., 21 (1999) 371.
- 21 M.J. Rose, E.J. Woolf, B.K. Matuszewski, J. Chromatogr. B, 738 (2000) 377.
- 22 D. Farin, G.A. Piva, I. Gozlan, R. K.-Cohen, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal., 18 (1998) 367.
- 23 M.L. Foisy and J.-P. Sommadossi, J. Chromatogr.B., 721 (1999) 239.

- 24 Ch. Abbara, G. Aymard, S. Hinh and B. Diquet, J. Chromatogr.B., 766 (2002) 199.
- 25 Z. Wang, R.M. Dsida and M.J. Avram, J. Chromatogr. B, 755 (2001) 383.
- 26 P. Egger, R. Bellmann, C.J. Wiedermann, J. Chromatogr. B, 760 (2001) 307.
- A. Bolner, F. Tagliaro and A. Lomeo, J. Chromatogr. B, 750 (2001) 177.
- 28 R. Mandrioli, F. Albani, G. Casamenti, C. Sabbioni and M.A. Raggi, J. Chromatogr. B, 762 (2001) 109.
- 29 B. Fan and J.T. Stewart, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal., 28 (2002) 903.
- 30 O. Vesterqvist, F. Nabbie and B. Swanson, J. Chromatogr. B, 716 (1998) 299.
- 31 D. Breilh, C. Lavallee, A. Fratta, D. Ducint, P. C.-Makhoul and M.C. Saux, J. Chromatogr. B, 734 (1999) 121.
- 32 P.A. Majcherczyk, P. Moreillon, L.A. Decosterd, D. Sanglard, J. Bille, M.P. Glauser and O. Marchetti, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal., 28 (2002) 645–651.
- 33 D.A. Stopher and R. Gage, J. Chromatogr. B, 691 (1997) 441.
- 34 M. Ehrlich, F.D. Daschner and K. Kummerer, J. Chromatogr. B, 751 (2001) 357.
- 35 D. Song, M.G. Wientjes and J.L.-S. Au, J. Chromatogr. B, 680 (1997) 289.
- 36 T. Takano and S. Hata, J. Chromatogr. B, 676 (1996) 141.
- 37 P. Kubalec and E. Brandsteterova, J. Chromatogr. B, 726 (1999) 211.
- 38 D.-S. Yim, J.E. Jeong and J.Y. Park, J. Chromatogr. B, 754 (2001) 487.
- 39 N. Kuroda, Y. Hamachi, N. Aoki, M. Wada, M. Tanigawa and K. Nakashima, Biomed. Chromatogr., 13 (1999) 340.
- 40 J. Zhang, D.G. Musson, K.L. Birk, A.M. Cairns, A.L. Fisher, W. Neway and J.D. Rogers, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal., 27 (2002) 755.
- 41 H.S. Lee, C.K. Jeong, S.J. Choi, S.B. Kim, M.H. Lee, G.I. Ko and D.H. Sohn, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal., 23 (2000) 775.
- 42 A.E. Mahjoub and C. Staub, J. Chromatogr. B, 742 (2000) 381.
- 43 W.M. Mullett and J. Pawliszyn, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal., 26 (2001) 899.
- 44 C. Giachetti, A. Tenconi, S. Canali and G. Zanolo, J. Chromatogr. B, 698 (1997) 187.
- 45 J. van Zijtveld and E.J. van Hoogdalem, J. Chromatogr. B, 726 (1999) 169.
- 46 Z. Yu and D. Westerlund, J. Chromatogr. A, 742 (1996) 113.
- 47 Z. Yu and D. Westerlund, J. Chromatogr. A, 725 (1996) 149.
- 48 Z. Yu and D. Westerlund, J. Chromatogr. A, 725 (1996) 137.
- 49 J. Hermansson, A. Grahn and I. Hermansson, J. Chromatogr. A, 797 (1998) 251.
- 50 M. Ishida, K. Kobayashi, N. Awata and F. Sakamoto, J. Chromatogr. B, 727 (1999) 245.
- 51 M.A. Raggi, R. Mandrioli, G. Casamenti, F. Bugamelli and V. Volterra, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal., 18 (1998) 193.
- 52 B.B. Ba, D. Ducint, M. Fourtillan and M.-C. Saux, J. Chromatogr. B, 714 (1998) 317.
- 53 A. Zotou and N. Miltiadou, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal., 28 (2002) 559.
- 54 F. Chu, C.-H. Kiang, M.-L. Sung, B. Huang, R.L. Reeve and T. Tarnowski, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal., 21 (1999) 657.
- 55 F.A. Maris, E. Dingler and S. Niehues, J. Chromatogr. B, 721 (1999) 309.
- 56 Q. Jiang and S. Li, J. Chromatogr. B, 727 (1999) 119.
- 57 K.M. Clauweart, J.F. van Bocxlaer, E.A. de Letter, S. van Calenbergh, W.E. Lambert and A.P. de Leenheer, Clin. Chem., 46 (2000) 1968.
- 58 W. Sawicki, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal., 25 (2001) 689.
- 59 E. G.-Penas, S. Agarraberes, A. L.-Ocariz, E. G.-Quetglas, M.A. Campanero, J.J. Carballal and J. Honorato, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal., 26 (2001) 7.
- 60 H. Liang, M.B. Kays and K.M. Sowinski, J. Chromatogr. B, 772 (2002) 53.
- 61 M. Nobilis, J. Kopecky, J. Kvetina, J. Chladek, Z. Svoboda, V. Vorisek, F. Perlik, M. Pour and J. Kunes, J. Chromatogr. A, 949 (2002) 11.
- 62 M. Obayashi, T. Kosugi, J. Yamazaki, Y. Matsumoto, M. Fukuoka and M. Matsumoto, J. Chromatogr. B, 726 (1999) 219.
- 63 C.H.W. Koks, R.W. Sparidans, G. Lucassen, K.M.L. Crommentuyn and J.H. Beijnen, J. Chromatogr. B, 767 (2002) 103.
- 64 F. Tache, A. Farca, A. Medvedovici and V. David, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal., 28 (2002) 549.

- 65 S. Kramer and G. Blaschke, J. Chromatogr. B, 751 (2001) 169.
- 66 B. Bystrowska, J. Nowak and J. Brandys, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal., 22 (2000) 341.
- 67 E. Lacassi, J.-M. Gaulier, P. Marquet, J.-F. Rabatel and G. Lachatre, J. Chromatogr. B, 742 (2000) 229.
- 68 S. Emara, H. Askal and T. Masujima, Biomed. Chromatogr., 12 (1998) 338.
- 69 J.I.D. Wibawa, D. Fowkes, P.N. Shaw and D.A. Barrett, J. Chromatogr. B, 774 (2002) 141.
- 70 C.Z. Matthews, E.J. Woolf, L. Lin, W. Fang, J. Hsieh, S. Ha, R. Simpson and B.K. Matuszewski, J. Chromatogr. B, 751 (2001) 237.
- 71 Z. Yu, D. Westerlund and K.-S. Boos, J. Chromatogr. B, 689 (1997) 379.
- 72 C.Z. Matthews, E.J. Woolf, R.S. Mazenko, H. H.-Wiener, C.M. C.-Eng, M.L. Constanzer, G.A. Doss and B.K. Matuszewski, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal., 28 (2002) 925.
- 73 S. Emara, Biomed. Chromatogr., 12 (1998) 15.
- 74 P. Vinas, N. Campillo, C. L.-Erroz and M. H.-Cordoba, J. Chromatogr. B, 693 (1997) 443.
- 75 U. Hofmann, M. Scler, S. Drescher and M.F. Fromm, J. Chromatogr. B, 766 (2002) 227.
- 76 T. Breindahl, J. Chromatogr. B, 746 (2000) 249.
- 77 T. Arinobu, H. Hattori, M. Iwai, A. Ishii, T. Kumazawa, O. Suzuki and H. Seno, J. Chromatogr. B, 776 (2002) 107.
- 78 H.H. Maurer, C. Kratzsch, A.A. Weber,, F.T. Peters and T. Kraemer, J. Mass Spectrom., 37 (2002) 687.
- 79 M.-H. Quernin, M. Duval, C. Litalien, E. Vilmer and E.J. Aigrain, J. Chromatogr. B, 763 (2001) 61.
- 80 A.Q. Wang, W. Zeng, D.G. Musson, J.D. Rogers and A.L. Fisher, Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom., 16(2002) 975.
- 81 J.J. Zhao, I.H. Xie,, A.Y. Yang, B.A. Roadcap and J.D. Rogers, J. Mass Spectrom., 35 (2000) 1133.
- 82 D.W. Boulton, G.F. Duncan and N.N. Vachharajani, J. Chromatogr. B, 775 (2002) 57.
- 83 M. Kollroser and C. Schober, J. Chromatogr. B, 766 (2002) 219.
- 84 C.H. Oliveria, R.E. B.-Astigarrage, M. Sucupira, G.S. Graudenz, M.N. Muscara and G. de Nucci, J. Chromatogr. B, 768 (2002) 341.
- 85 M. Kollroser and C. Schober, Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom., 16 (2002) 1266.
- 86 R. Swart, P. Koivisto and K.E. Markides, J. Chromatogr.A., 828 (1998) 209.
- 87 M. Jemal, Y. Qing and D.B. Whigan, Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom., 12 (1998) 1389.
- 88 B. Lausecker, B. Hess, G. Fisher, M. Mueller and G. Hopfgartner, J. Chromatogr. B, 749 (2000) 67.
- 89 M. Berna, B. Ackermann, K. Ruterbories and S. Glass, J. Chromatogr. B, 767 (2002) 163.
- 90 Y. Hsieh, M.S. Bryant, G. Gruela, J.-M. Brisson and W.A. Korfmacher, Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom., 14 (2000) 1384.
- 91 L. Ramos, N. Bribnol, R. Bakhtiar, T. Ray, L.M. McMahon and F.L.S. Tse, Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom., 14 (2000) 2282.
- 92 M. Jemal, Z. Ouyang and M.L. Powell, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal., 23 (2000) 323.
- 93 K.N. Cheng, M.J. Redrup, A. Barrow and P.N. Williams, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal., 17 (1998) 399.
- 94 Y.-L. Chen, L. Felder, X. Jiang and W. Naidong, J. Chromatogr. B, 774 (2002) 67.
- 95 R.T. Cass, J.S. Villa, D.E. Karr and D.E. Schmidt Jr., Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom., 15 (2001) 406.
- 96 L. Zhong, R. Eisenhandler and K.C. Yeh, J. Mass Spectrom., 36 (2001) 736.
- 97 S.K. Bergstrome and K.E. Markides, J. Chromatogr. B, 775 (2002) 79.
- 98 W. Naidong, H. Bu, Y.-L. Chen, W.Z. Shou, X. Jiang and T.D.J. Halls, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal., 28 (2002) 1115.
- 99 N.N. Davydova, S.U. Yasuda, R.L. Woosley and I.W. Wainer, J. Chromatogr. B, 744 (2000) 177.
- 100 P. Fontanille, N. Jourdil, C. Villier and G. Bessard, J. Chromatogr. B, 692 (1997) 337.
- 101 E.H.M. Koster, C. Wemes, J.B. Morsink and G.J. de Jong, J. Chromatogr. B, 739 (2000) 175.
- 102 G. Frison, L. Tedeschi, S. Maietti and S.D. Ferrara, Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom., 15 (2001) 2497.
- 103 S. Tzvetanov, M. Vatsova, A. Drenska, J. Gorantcheva and N. Tyutulkova, J. Chromatogr. B, 732 (1999) 251.
- 104 C.F. Chan, G.M. Chiswell, R. Bencini, L.P. Hackett, L.J. Dusci and K.F. Ilett, J. Chromatogr. B, 761 (2001) 85.

- 105 H.J. Leis, G. Fauler, G. Raspoynig and W. Windischhofer, Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom., 13 (1999) 650.
- 106 H.J. Leis, W. Windischhofer, G. Raspotnig and G. Fauler, J. Mass Spectrom., 36 (2001) 923.
- 107 Y.-K. Lai, C.-P. Pang, L.-K. Law, R. Wong, C.-K. Li and P.M.-P. Yuen, Clin. Chem., 44 (1998) 2506.
- 108 J. Lee, J.H. Seo and D.-H. Kim, Analyst, 127 (2002) 917.
- 109 C.R. Cardoso, M.A.S. Marques, R.C. Caminha, M.C. Maioli and F.R.A. Neto, J. Chromatogr. B, 775 (2002) 1.
- 110 S. Xie, R.F. Suckow, B.J. Mason, D. Allen and T.B. Cooper, J. Chromatogr. B, 773 (2002) 143.
- 111 S. Gopal, T.-B. Tzeng and A. Cowan, Euro. J. Pharm. Biopharm., 51 (2001) 147.
- 112 H.J. Leis, G. Fauler and W. Windischhofer, J. Mass Spectrom., 37 (2002) 477.
- 113 H.J. Leis, G. Hauler, G. Rasportnig and W. Windischhofer, J. Mass Spectrom., 37 (2002) 395.
- 114 A.A.M. Chasin and A.F. Midio, Forensic Sci. Int., 109 (2000) 1.
- 115 K.M. Kim, B.H. Jung, M.H. Choi, J.S. Woo, K.-J. Paeng and B.C. Chung, J. Chromatogr. B, 769 (2002) 333.
- 116 M. A.-Rehim, K.A. Svensson, Y. Askemark and K.-J. Pettersson, J. Chromatogr. B, 755 (2001) 253.
- 117 S. Pichini, R. Pacifici, I. Altieri, A. Palmeri, M. Pellegrini and P. Zuccaro, J. Chromatogr. B, 732 (1999) 509.
- 118 R.L.M. Dobson, G.R. Kelm and D.M. Neal, Biol. Mass Spectrom., 23 (1994) 75.
- 119 F. von Heeren, R. Tanner, R. Theurillat and W. Thormann, J. Chromatogr. A., 745 (1996) 165.
- 120 C. Albrecht, J. Reichen, J. Visser, D.K.F. Meijer and W. Thormann, Clin. Chem., 43 (1997) 2083.
- 121 M. Katayama, H. Taniguchi, Y. Matsuda, S. Akihara, S. Kaneko, H. Ishikawa, A. Aokawa, M. Sandou, Y. Kuroda and S. Nozawa, Anal. Lett., 31 (1998) 621.
- 122 Y. Hamachi, M.N. Nakashima and K. Nakashima, J. Chromatogr. B, 724 (1999) 189.
- 123 K.A. Sagar and M.R. Smyth, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal., 22 (2000) 613.
- 124 T. Delahunty, B. Lee and J.E. Conte, J. Chromatogr. B, 705 (1998) 323.
- 125 K. Ary, K. Rona, S. Ondi and B. Gachalyi, J. Chromatogr.A., 797 (1998) 221.
- 126 T. Ohkubo, T. Uno and K. Sugawara, J. Chromatogr.B., 687 (1996) 413.
- 127 Z. Yan, G.N. Henderson, M.D. James and P.W. Stacpoole, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal., 19 (1999) 309.
- 128 A. Scott, Drug Saf., 8 (1993) 149.
- 129 R. Nation, Clin. Pharmacokinet., 27 (1994) 249.
- 130 J.S. Oleksiak, J. Bojarski, H.Y. Aboul-Enein, Chirality, 14 (2002) 417.
- 131 D. Stevenson and I.D. Wilson, Chiral separation, Plenum Press, New York, 1989.
- 132 B. Waldec, Chirality, 5 (1993) 350.
- 133 J.S. Millership and A. Fitzpatrick, Chirality, 5 (1997) 573.
- 134 H.Y. Aboul-Enein and I. Ali, IL Farmaco, 57 (2002) 513.
- 135 H.Y. Aboul-Enein and I.W. Wainer, The impact of stereochemistry on drugs developments and use, Wiley, New York, 1997.
- 136 G.A. Subramanian, Practical approach to chiral separations by liquid chromatography, VCH, Weinheim, 1994.
- 137 FDA, Policy statements for the development of new stereoisomeric drugs, Rockville, MD, FDA, 1992.
- 138 M. Islam, J. Mahdi and J. Bowen, Drug Saf., 17 (1997) 149.
- 139 J. Caldwell, J. Chromatogr. A, 19 (1996) 3.
- 140 F. Bressole, M. Bromet-Petit and M. Audran, J. Chromatogr. B, 686 (1996) 3.
- 141 K.R. Henne, A. Gaedigk, G. Gupta, J.S. Leeder and A.E. Rettie, J. Chromatogr. B, 710 (1998) 143.
- 142 T. Uno, T. Ohkubo and K. Sugawar, J. Chromatogr. B, 698 (1997) 181.
- 143 F. Glowka, Int.J. Pharmaceut., 19 (2000)159.
- 144 F. Glowka, Chem. Anal. 43 (1998) 179.
- 145 W. Zhong, M. Williams, M. Borin and G. Padbury, Chirality, 10 (1998) 210.
- 146 I.W. Wainer, M.C. Alembik and L.J. Fischer, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal., 5 (1987) 735.
- 147 I.W. Wainer, T.D. Doyle, K.H. Donn and J.R. Powell, J. Chromatogr., 306 (1984) 405.
- 148 C.O. Meese, P. Thalheimer and M. Eichelbaum, J. Chromatogr., 423 (1987) 344.
- 149 T. Fukushima, M. Kato, T. Santa ad K. Imai, Biomed. Chromatogr., 9 (1995) 10.
- 150 A. Watt, L. Hitzel, D. Motrison and K. Locker, J. Chromatogr. A, 596 (2000) 217.

- 153 H. Kim, C.C. Lin, M. Laughlin, R. Lovey, A. Saksena, L. Heimark and A.A. Noeir, Chirality, 12 (2000) 590.
- 154 H. Kanazawa, Y. Kunito, Y. Matsushima, S. Okubo and F. Mashige, Chromatography, 20 (1999) 81.
- 155 Y. Yanagiharo, M. Ohtani, S. Kariya, K. Uchino, T. Aoyama, Y. Yamamura and T. Iga, J. Chromatogr. B, 746 (2000) 227.
- 156 A. Volosov, A. Sintov and M. Bialer, Ther. Drug Monit., 21 (1999) 219.
- 157 Y. Horikiri, T. Suzuki and M. Mizobe, J. Pharmc. Sci., 87 (1998) 269.
- 158 H. Kanazawa, Y. Kunito, Y. Matsushima, S. Okubo and S.F. Mashige, J. Chromatogr. A, 871 (2000) 181.
- 159 F. Paradiso-Hardy, S. Walker and S. Bowles, Int. J. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther., 36 (1998) 370.
- 160 T. Konishi, S.N. Kitamura and K. Tasumi, J. Chromatogr. B, 709 (1998) 105.
- 161 T. Konishi, S.N. Kitamura and K. Tatsumi, Drug Metab. Dispos., 27 (1999) 158.
- 162 J.W. Kelly, L.C. He and J.T. Stewart, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal., 11 (1993) 1141.
- 163 H.Y. Aboul-Enein and S.A. Bakr, Biomed. Chromatogr., 7 (1993) 38.
- 164 R.J. Straka, K.A. Johnson, P.S. Marshall and R.P. Remmel, J. Chromatogr., 95 (1990) 83.
- 165 M.M. Hefnawy, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal. 31 (2003) 999.
- 166 G. Gatti, I. Bonomi R. Marchiselli, C. Fattore, E. Spina, G. Scordo, R. Pacifici and E. Perucca, J. Chromatogr. B, 784 (2003) 375.
- 167 H. Katsuki, A. Hamada, C. Nakamura, K. Arimori and M. Nakano, J. Chromatogr. B, 757 (2001) 127.
- 168 R. Suedee, K. Brain and C. Heard, Chirality, 11 (1999) 680.
- 169 P. Cergueira, F. Mateus, E. Cesarino, P. Bonato and V. Lanchote, J. Chromatogr. B, 749 (2000) 153.
- 170 O. Al-Dirbashi, N. Kuroda, F. Menichini, S. Noda, M. Minemoto and K. Nakashima, Analyst, 123 (1998) 2333.
- 171 O. Al-Dirbashi, M. Wada, N. Kuroda, S. Inuduka and K. Nakashima, Biomed. Chromatogr. 13 (1999) 543.
- 172 B. Knoche, S. Milosavlier, S. Gropper, L. Brunner and M. Powell, J. Chromatogr. B, 695 (1997) 355.
- 173 A. Ceccato P. Chiap, P. Hubert and J. Crommen, J. Chromatogr. B, 698 (1997) 161.
- 174 J. Liu and J.T. Stewart, J. Chromatogr. B, 694 (1997) 179.
- 175 J. Liu and J.T. Stewart, Anal. Lett., 30 (1997) 1555.
- 176 E. Ameyibor and J.T. Stewart, J. Chromatogr. B, 686 (1996) 297.
- 177 P. Chiap, A. Ceccato, R. Gora, P. Hubert, J. Geczy and J. Crommen, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal., 27 (2002) 447.
- 178 O. Al-Dirbashi, N. Kiuroda, M. Wada, M. Takahashi and K. Nakashima, Biomed. Chromatogr., 14 (2000) 293.
- 179 P. Ho, D. Saveille and S. Wanwimolruk, J. Liq. Chromatogr. Rel. Technol., 23 (2000) 1711.
- 180 Z. Desta, N. Soukhova, A. Morocho, J. Park, S. Mahal and D. Flockhart, J. Chromatogr. B, 744 (2000) 263.
- 181 H. Rask, H. Angelo and H. Christensen, Chirality, 10 (1998) 808.
- 182 J.A. Chiarotto and I.W. Wainer, J. Chromatogr. B, 665 (1995) 147.
- 183 M. Yamaguchi, K. Yamashita, I. Aoki, T. Tabata, S. Hirai and T. Yashiki, J. Chromatogr. B, 113 (1992) 123.
- 184 M.M. Hefnawy, J. Liq. Chromatogr. Rel. Technol., 23 (2000) 781.
- 185 N. Masubuchi, H. Yamazaki and M. Tanaka, Chirality, 10 (1998) 447.
- 186 R. Kauffman, M. Lieh-Lai, H. Uy and M. Aravind, Clin. Pharmacol. Ther., 65 (1998) 382.
- 187 J. Liu and J.T. Stewart, J. Chromatogr. B, 692 (1997) 141.
- 188 J. Liu and J.T. Stewart, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal., 16 (1997) 303.
- 189 T. Eriksson, S. Bjorkman, B. Roth, A. Fyge and P. Hoglund, Chirality, 10 (1998) 223.
- 190 T. Eriksson, S. Bjorkman, B. Roth and P. Hoglund, J. Pharm. Pharmacol., 52 (2000) 807.
- 191 S. Dodd, G. Burrows and T. Norman, J. Chromatogr. B, 747 (2000) 439.
- 192 Da. Costa, M. Margues, O. Takayanagul, P. Bonato and S. Santos, Chirality, 11 (1999) 218.
- 193 P. Cerqueira, E. Cesarino, F. Mateus, Y. Mere, S. Santos and V. Lanchote, Chirality, 11 (1999) 591.
- 194 R. Bortocan, V. Lanchote, E. Cesarino and P. Bonato, J. Chromatogr. B, 744 (2000) 299.

- 195 A. Ceccato, F. Vanderbist, J. Pabst and B. Streel, J. Chromatogr. B, 748 (2000) 65.
- 196 B. Hiep, V. Khanh, N. Kim Hung, A. Truillier and F. Gimenez, J. Chromatogr. B, 707 (1998) 235.
- 197 L.R. Pires, V.L. Lanchote, C. Bertucci, E.J. Cesarino and P.S. Bonato, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal., 20 (1999) 209.
- 198 H. Stenhoff, A. Blomguist and P. Lagerstram, J. Chromatogr. B, 734 (1999) 267.
- 199 J.S. Oleksiak, M. Walczak, J. Bojarski and H.Y. Aboul-Enein, Chirality, 11 (1999) 267.
- 200 R.A. Carr, G. Caille, A.H. Ngoc and R.T. Foster, J. Chromatogr. B, 668 (1995) 175.
- 201 H. Terefe and J.H. Blaschke, J. Chromatogr. B, 657 (1994) 238.
- 202 H. Kim, C.C. Lin, M. Laughlin, R. Lovey, A. Saksena, L. Heimark and A.A. Noeir, Chirality, 12 (2000) 590.
- 203 H. Kim, P. Likhari, Ch. Lin and A. Nomeir, J. Chromatogr. B, 728 (1999) 133.
- 204 F. Bressole, M. Audran, T. Pham and J. Vallon, J. Chromatogr. B, 687 (1996) 303.
- 205 K.M. Fried, A.E. Young, S. Yasuda and I.W. Wainer, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal., 27 (2002) 479.
- 206 D. Boulton and C. Devane, Chirality, 12 (2000) 681.
- 207 W. Zhong and M. Williams, J. Chromatogr. A, 871 (2000) 201.
- 208 C.B. Eap, L. de Mondonca, A. Carlos, F. Macciardi, B. Woggon, K. Powell and P. Baumann, Ther. Drug Monit., 20 (1998) 7.
- 209 P.R. Ring and J.M. Bostick, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal., 22 (2000) 573.
- 210 T. Wikberg, T. Korkolainen and M. Karlsson, Chirality, 8 (196) 511.
- 211 H. Kim and C.C. Lin, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal., 13 (195) 1415.
- 212 C. Pham-Huv, B. Radenen, A. Sahui-Gnassi and J.R. Claude, J. Chromatogr. B, 665 (1995) 125.
- 213 N.D. Weng and J.W. Lee, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal., 12 (1994) 551.
- L. Yee, S. Wang and V. Skrinska, J. Anal. Toxicol, 24 (2000) 651.
- 215 W. Naidong, P. Ring, C. Midtlien and X. Jiang, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal., 25 (2001) 219.
- 216 S. Huang, H. Xie, W. Wang, Z. Xhu, C. Jiang and H. Zhou, Acta. Pharm. Sin., 19 (1998) 548.
- 217 S.H. Gorman, J. Chromatogr. B, 730 (1999) 1.
- 218 R. Herraez-Hernadez and P. Campins-Falco, J. Chromatogr. B, 740 (2000) 169.
- 219 E. Ameyibor and J.T. Stewart, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal., 17 (1998) 83.
- 220 E. Ameyibor and J.T. Stewart, J. Chromatogr. B, 703 (1997) 272.
- 221 E. Ameyibor and J.T. Stewart, J. Liq. Chromatogr. Rel. Technol., 20 (1997) 3107.
- M. Sueyasu, T. Ikeda, K. Otsubo, T. Taniyama, T. Aoyama and R. Oishi, J. Chromatogr. B, 665 (1995) 133.
- 223 R.H. Pullen, J.J. Brennan, R. Lammers and G. Patonay, Anal. Chem., 67 (1995) 1903.
- 224 R. Rudaz, D. Ortelli, M. Gex-Fabry, J. Deglon, L. Balanti and J. Veuthey, Chirality, 11 (1999) 487.
- 225 D. Ortelli, S. Rudaz, A. Chevalley, A. Mino, J. Deglon, L. Balanti and J. Veuthey, J. Chromatogr. A., 871 (2000) 163.
- 226 D. Foster, A. Somogyi and F. Bochner, J. Chromatogr. B, 744 (2000) 165.
- 227 P. Kintz, A. Traqui, C. Marzull, A. Darreye, F. Tremeau, P. Greth and B. Ludes, Ther. Drug Monit., 20 (198) 35.
- 228 D. Zhong and X. Chen, J. Chromatogr. B, 721 (1999) 67.
- 229 X. Chen, D. Zhong and H. Blume, Eur. J. Pharm. Sci., 10 (2000) 11.
- 230 J.O. Svensson and L.L. Gustafsson, J. Chromatogr. B, 678 (1996) 373.
- 231 G. Tybring, K. Otani, S. Kaneko, K. Mihara, Y. Fukushima and L. Bertilsoon, Ther. Drug Monit., 17 (1995) 516.
- 232 G. Stagni and W.R. Gillespie, J. Chromatogr. B, 667 (1995) 349.
- 233 J. Fawcett, J. Kennedy, A. Kumar, R. Ledger and M. Zacharias, Chirality, 11 (1999) 50.
- 234 J. Johnson, W. Akers, V. Herring, M. Wolfe, J. Sullivan, Pharmacotherapy, 20 (2000) 622.
- 235 C. Udata, G. Tirucherai and A. Mitra, J. Pharm. Sci., 88 (1999) 544.
- 236 T. Kommuru, M. Khan and J. Reddy, J. Pharm. Sci., 87 (1998) 833.
- 237 J. Erb, R, Brugger, K. Williams and G. Heisslinger, Chirality, 11 (1999) 103.
- 238 S. Choi, S. Lee, H. Kong and E. Kim, J. Chromatogr. B, 744 (2000) 201
- 239 A. Watt, L. Hitzel, D. Morrison and K. Locker, J. Chromatogr. A, 896 (2000) 229.
- 240 B, Streel, C. Laine, C. Zimmer, R. Sibenaler and A. Ceccato, J. Biochem. Biophys. Meth., 54 (2002) 357.

- 241 B. Vermeulen and J. Remon, J. Chromatogr. B, 749 (2000) 243.
- 242 M. Sueyasu, K. Fujito, K. Makino, H. Shuto, Y. Kataoka and R. Oishi, J. Chromatogr. B, 723 (1999) 307.
- 243 J.J. Garcia, F.B. Fernandez and J.J. Torrado, J. Chromatogr. B, 723 (1999) 265.
- K. Borner, E. Borner and H. Lode, Chromatographia, 47 (1998) 171.
- 245 M.A. Campanero, A.L. Ocariz, E.G. Quetglas, B. Sadaba and J.R. Azanza, Chromatographia, 48 (1998) 203.
- 246 I. Yokovama, Y. Mizuki, T. Yamaguchi and J.T. Fujii, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal., 15 (1997) 1527.
- 247 D. Haupt, J. Chromatogr. B, 685 (1996)299.
- 248 J.L. Huang, L.E. Mather and C.C. Duke, J. Chromatogr. B, 673 (1995) 245.
- 249 A. Suzuki, S. Takagaki, H. Zuzuki and K. Noda, J. Chromatogr., 128 (1993) 279.
- 250 W. Baeyens, G.V. Weken, J.Haustraete, H.Y. Aboul-Enein, S Corveleyn, J. Remon, A.G. Comparia and P. Deprez, J. Chromatogr. A, 871 (2000) 153.
- 251 H.W. Olsen, F. Gaarskaer, E. Mikkelsen, P. Jakobsen and B. Voldby, Chirality, 12 (2000) 660.
- 252 C. Mislanowa, A. Stefancova, J. Oravcova, J. Horeck, T. Trnovec and W. Lindner, J. Chromatogr. A, 739 (2000) 151.
- 253 H.Y. Aboul-Enein and I. Ali, Il Farmaco, 57 (2002) 513.
- H.Y. Aboul-Enein and I. Ali, Chromatographia, 52 (2000) 679.
- 255 T.J. Ward and A.B. Farris, J. Chromatogr. A, 906 (2001) 73.
- 256 Z. Shen, S. Wang and R. Bakhtiar, Rapid Comm. Mass. Spectrom., 16 (2002) 332.
- 257 Z. Zheng, M. Jamour and U. Klotz, Ther. Drug Monit., 22 (2000) 219.
- 258 H.Y. Aboul-Enein and M.M. Hefnawy, Biomed. Chromatogr., 17 (2003) 453.
- 259 H.Y. Aboul-Enein and V. Serignese, Biomed. Chromatogr., 13 (1999) 520.
- 260 D. von Deutsch, I. Abukhalaf, L. Wineski, H.Y. Aboul-Enein, S. Pitts, B. Parks, R. Oster, D. Paulsen and D. Potter, Chirality, 12 (2000) 637.
- 261 G. Lambrecht, T. Kraushofer, K. Stoschitzky and W. Lindner, J. Chromatogr. B, 740 (2000) 219.
- 262 K. Fried, P. Koch and I. Wainer, Chirality, 10 (1998) 484.
- 263 M. Rashed, M. Al-Amoudi and H.Y. Aboul-Enein, Biomed. Chromatogr., 14 (2000) 317.
- 264 O. Spiegelstein, B. Yagen, G. Bennett, R. Finnel, S. Blotnik and M. Bialer, Ther. Drug Monit., 22 (2000) 574.
- 265 M. Zuza, H. Jakubetz, H. Hettesheimer and V. Schuring, J. Chromatogr. B, 735 (1999) 93.
- 266 M. Williams, T. Wainer, C. Granvil, B. Gehrche, M. Bernstein and M. Ducharme, Chirality, 11 (1999) 301.
- 267 M. Williams, I. Wainer, L. Embree, M. Barnett, C. Granvil and M. Ducharme, Chirality, 11 (1999) 569.
- 268 M. Heil, F. Podebrad, E. Prado, T. Beck, A. Mosandi, A. Sewell, H. Bohles and W. Lehnert, J. Chromatogr. B, 739 (2000) 313.
- 269 F. Podebrad, M. Heil, T. Beck, A. Mosandi, A. Sewell, H. Bohles, Clin. Chim. Acta, 292 (2000) 93.
- 270 L. Labbe, Z. Abolfathi, N. Robitaille, F. St. Maurice, M. Gilbert and J. Turgeon, Ther. Drug Monit., 21 (1999) 191.
- 271 V. Lanchote, E. Cesarino, V. Santos, Y. Jr. Mere and S. Santos, Chirality, 11 (1999) 2.
- 272 V. Lanchote, V. Santos, E. Cesarino, S. Dreoss, Y. Jr. Mere and S. Santos, Chirality, 11 (1999) 85.
- 273 R. Canaparo, E. Muntoni, G. Zara, C. Della Pepa, E. Berno, M. Costa and M. Eandi, Biomed. Chromatogr., 14 (2000) 219.
- 274 T. Aiba, M. Tse, F. Lin and T. Koizumi, Biol. Pharm. Bull., 22 (1999) 616.
- 275 E. Glowka, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal., 22 (2000) 93.
- 276 F. Glowka, Chirality, 12 (2000) 38.
- 277 J. Fallon, A. Kicman, J. Henry, P. Milligan, D. Cowan and A. Hutts, Clin. Chem., 45 (1999) 1058.
- 278 M. Reist, M. Roy-De Vos, J. Montseny, J. Mayer, P. Carrupt, Y. Berger and B. Testa, Drug Metab. Dispos., 28 (2000) 405.
- 279 T. Rojkovicova, K. Hrobonova, J. Lehotay and J. Cizmarik, Pharmazie, 58 (2003) 108.
- 280 K. Kim, H. Kim, J. Kimm and S. Shin, J. Chromatogr. B, 751 (2001) 69.
- 281 S. Hoke, J. Pinkstone, R. Bailley, S. Tanguay and T. Eichhold, Anal. Chem., 72 (2000) 4235.

This page intentionally left blank

#### CHAPTER 3

# Capillary electrophoresis for the determination of drugs in biological fluids

Zakariya K. Shihabi

Department of Pathology, Wake Forest University School of Medicine, Winston-Salem, NC 27157, USA

In the last few years, steady progress has been achieved in the application of capillary electrophoresis (CE) to drug analysis in biological fluids. As the environmental protection and safety rules are getting tighter in regard to organic solvents disposal, the merits of CE become more evident. Continued interest is observed in the application of stereoselective analysis by CE especially. The CE instruments do not consume too much of these expensive additives and the separation is much faster compared to that by HPLC. These stereoselective methods are being applied to the analysis of drugs not only in tablet form but to those in serum samples too. Various agents are explored for stereoselectivity such as different proteins and polysaccharides.

Since a main problem in CE is poor detection limits, several strategies to concentrate the drugs from the biological samples by stacking and by extraction are described. Many new extraction methods are emerging as more suitable for CE, such as solid-phase microextraction compared to the traditional method of liquid-liquid extraction. Many of these methods do not require sample evaporation. Several methods for stacking as a simple means for sample concentration on the capillary are described.

Non-aqueous CE (NACE) is found to have several advantages for the analysis of drugs. Since many drugs are not that water soluble, NACE offers better solubility, different selectivity, and the ability to use higher voltages. Several clever ideas are described to obtain basic studies on drugs by CE; e.g. rapid methods to speed up determination of the pKa or drug binding. Commercial CE-MS instruments are now available for drug metabolism and confirmation. As far as therapeutic drug monitoring (TDM) is concerned, only new drugs are analyzed by CE. The routine drugs are more conveniently analyzed by immunoassays. Both practical and recent developments in the analysis of drugs by CE are discussed.

References pp. 92-94

#### **3.1 INTRODUCTION**

CE is a very flexible technique which is useful for the analysis of a wide variety of drugs. It has great potential for the separation and analysis of samples which contain numerous compounds because of the high plate number generated in the capillary, due to the flat profile which does not disperse the migrated band compared to the parabolic profile in high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC). This potential has been captured elegantly in the area of DNA analysis, which has resulted in speeding up the mapping of the human genome. However, in drug analysis less impressive but steady progress has been achieved, especially in the pharmaceutical field. Compared to HPLC, CE offers several distinct advantages for therapeutic drug monitoring (TDM), e.g. speed, ease of analysis, low cost of operation, and especially the high plate number for a very good resolution. The problem of using and disposing of large amounts of organic solvents for column elution is almost absent in CE. In addition, CE offers basic information on the physico-chemical properties of the drug, such as binding and dissociation constants, especially in the early stages of drug development where only small amounts may be present.

On the other hand, CE suffers from a few problems. Understanding these problems leads to better strategies when encountering them. Unlike HPLC, CE is greatly affected by the sample matrix; i.e. salts and proteins [1], which can be both disadvantageous as well as advantageous, as will be evident later. Another major problem in drug analysis by CE is the sub-optimal detection limits, especially for analysis of new drugs in serum. In order to utilize CE successfully for the practical separation of drugs in biological samples, it is important to understand the limitations of this technique and the means to overcome them. Here we discuss both the practical aspects and the recent advances in drug analysis by CE: (1) Sample concentration, including stacking and extraction, in order to analyze the new drugs which tend to be present in low concentration. (2) Improving precision in order to get reproducible data. (3) Description of how CE can be used to expand the horizon of therapeutic drug monitoring such as stereoisomer analysis in serum, drug protein binding, etc.

## 3.2 CE, HPLC AND IMMUNOASSAYS IN DRUG ANALYSIS

The majority of drugs can be analyzed successfully by any of several techniques including immunoassay, CE, GC, and HPLC. Because of their ease, convenience, and automation, immunoassays remain the favorite choice in routine laboratories provided a commercial automated system is available. However, new drugs do not have commercial immunoassays available and the real choice for these drugs is between HPLC and CE. Several papers have compared CE and HPLC [2]. As an example we will discuss later the analysis of caffeine by both HPLC and CE. It is now accepted that these two methods are complementary to each other. Some drugs tend to be more suited for HPLC, e.g. hydrophobic compunds, and those present in low concentration while ionized and large molecules and those present in high concentrations tend to be



Fig. 3.1. Components of the capillary electrophoresis instrument.

analyzed more easily using CE. Method development in general is faster by CE. Several studies have shown that CE, when compared to HPLC for TDM, is faster and easier with better resolution, especially for the polar compounds, with less operating cost. The capillary is less expensive than the HPLC column and can tolerate extreme pH and direct protein injection. The sample size is very small in CE (~10 nl) with the whole volume of the capillary only 1–3  $\mu$ l. The use of large volumes of expensive organic solvents in HPLC is not needed in CE.

#### **3.3 INSTRUMENTATION AND DETECTION**

The CE instrument is composed mainly of a capillary 10–60 cm long with 20–100  $\mu$ m (i.d.) filled with a buffer and its ends are dipped into two buffer reservoirs. A 5–30 kV voltage is passed through the two electrodes dipped into the two buffer reservoirs, Fig 3.1. The sample is injected usually on the anodic side of the capillary. The silanol groups of the capillary wall impart a negative charge to the surface of the capillary, which under the applied electric field leads to net movement of fluid towards the cathode (electroosmotic flow). As the pH increases, the electroosmotic flow increases too. The sample analytes migrate based own their own charge/mass ratios in addition to that by the electroosmotic flow. Thus the sample components pass through the detector window located at the cathode end of the capillary with positively charged ones. Because the capillary requires thorough washings and filling with fresh buffer for each sample, a fully automated instrumentation is necessary in CE analysis. Most of the commercial instruments in drug analysis use a single capillary while in DNA analysis many

instruments use multi-capillaries to analyze several samples at the same time. Temperature control for the capillary improves the reproducibility. The ultraviolet detection is very common in CE. Laser induced fluorescence, electrochemical detection, and mass spectrometry are used less frequently.

## 3.4 MODES OF CE IN DRUG ANALYSIS AND DETECTION

In CE, there are several general methods or modes of analysis which separate the analytes on the basis of different principles. These different modes can be used to separate and also to confirm an unknown drug. However, in drug analysis few of these modes, as described here, are commonly utilized:

## 3.4.1 Capillary zone electrophoresis (CZE) (Free solution CE)

This is the simplest and most commonly used type of CE. The capillary is filled with a buffer, which provides separation based on the differences in the velocity of the molecules, i.e. charge/mass ratio differences directly without major additives.

## 3.4.2 Micellar electrokinetic capillary chromatography (MECC)

This method is useful for separating neutral (or uncharged) compounds. Here, the buffer contains a surfactant, such as sodium dodecyl sulfate in the form of micelles. The interior region of the micelle is hydrophobic while the outside is hydrophilic (ionic). Most of the micelles carry a charge and thus migrate under the influence of the electrical field. The sample components partition between the buffer and the micelles in MECC similar to that in chromatography. Neutral and hydrophobic compounds spend more time bound to the micelle migrating with it relative to a hydrophilic species.

#### 3.4.3 Chiral separation

Here the buffer contains special chiral additives such as the cyclodextrins (CD) and some macrocyclic antibiotics that can preferentially interact with one isomer versus another and affect its migration. This mode of CE is used for the separation of optical isomers, especially in the pharmaceutical industry.

## 3.4.4 Non-aqueous CE (NACE)

This method is becoming popular in drug analysis. It is similar to CZE in principle but the separation is performed in organic solvents, mostly in the presence of buffers. This technique is suitable for compounds which are water-insoluble.

#### 3.5 BUFFERS

Buffers with low absorbance and with matched ion mobility are chosen in CE to give the proper ionization to the analyte, with the pH approximating the average pK of the solute mixture. The buffer is used preferably within 1 pH unit from its pKa. Buffers have been traditionally used at very low concentration in CE to yield rapid analyses while keeping the current and the generated heat very low. These low concentrations are very suitable for analyzing drugs in pure solvents but not suitable for stacking or for dealing with samples with high salt content. A high ionic strength buffer, which tends to generate more heat and eventually slow the separation, is needed for biological samples and for stacking. It has the advantage of also shielding the analytes from interaction with silanol groups on the capillary walls. Based on trial and error, some buffers separate the compound from the interferences better than others. Organic buffers which contain amine or zwitterions give a better stacking for cationic compounds and favor transient isotachophoresis too. Borate is used often in CE because it does not generate too much heat so high voltages can be used. Phosphate buffers have a low ultraviolet absorbance. Uncharged compounds require the addition of a charged surfactant such as SDS to the buffer to separate them by MECC.

## 3.6 SAMPLE SIZE AND INJECTION

Analysis in CE can be performed using continuous buffer conditions, i.e. the buffers at the anode, at the cathode, in the capillary, and in the sample are all of the same composition and same ionic strength or also by using discontinuous buffers. The sample size in CE, based on continuous buffers, should be kept below 1%. However, if a discontinuous buffer is used or the sample is of low ionic strength, a larger volume can be injected. In practice, the sample size is plotted against the peak height. As long the peak height increases (linearly) the sample size can be increased, indicating there is stacking. However, when this relationship stops it indicates there is sample overloading. Also, in biological samples the interfering peak becomes a limiting factor to sample size. Samples can be introduced into the capillary hydrodynamically, e.g. by pressure or sample elevation and also by electromigration (by voltage), provided the sample is low in ions. Both of these methods have their own merits.

#### 3.7 SAMPLE PREPARATION IN CE

Sample preparation from biological fluids can be both simple as well as difficult, depending on the drug concentration and presence of interfering substances. Drugs relatively present in high concentration in serum ( $\sim 10 \text{ mg/L}$ ) can be injected directly without any sample treatment or after a simple deproteinization step [1]. Acetonitrile is a much more preferred method than acid for deproteinization in CZE. Salts formed in the process of neutralization of the acid filtrate tend to deteriorate the separation. On the other hand acetonitrile (one volume of serum sample to two volumes of acetonitrile)

removes the protein and causes sample concentration (stacking) as will be described later.

The surfactants such as sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS) used in the micellar electrokinetic capillary chromatography (MECC) methods solubilize the proteins, allowing injection of serum directly on the capillary. However, the majority of new drugs are present in concentrations < 1 mg/L, far below the detection limit of CE by direct serum injection, necessitating sample concentration and also clean up.

In practice, sample preparation remains the major obstacle and the most timeconsuming step in CE analysis, especially for new drugs, which are more potent compared to the older generation of drugs, and thus are present in very low concentration. Sample clean up offers another advantage of removing the sample matrix, salts and proteins, which can interfere in the analysis in CE. General strategies for improving the detection limits in CE have been reviewed by Hempel [3], including stacking, extraction, and the use of special flow cells (bubble flow cells). Here are in brief some of the methods used for sample cleanup and concentration in CE.

## 3.7.1 Off-column concentration

Traditional liquid-liquid extraction (LLE) and solid phase extraction are used often for sample preparation in CE. However, in the last few years there has been interest in new methods which are more suitable for CE since this technique does not require large volumes of sample.

#### 3.7.1.1 Solid-phase microextraction (SPME)

SPME is a solvent-free sample preparation technique that is commercially available and utilizes a thin coating attached to the surface of a fused fiber (e.g. silica) as the extraction medium. The coating is a material like polymethylsiloxane, polyacrylate, or carbowax of different thickness. The fiber is dipped first into the sample for a certain period of time then dipped into the eluting solvent, e.g. organic solvent, and injected directly [4]. Extraction yield depends on optimizing the pH, salt, temperature and time. The method has been described by Pawliszyn [5,6] and initially was applied for the analysis of organic compounds in the field of environmental sciences, especially by GC. However, it has been successfully extended to the analysis of a wide variety of compounds by CE, LC, and GC [4,7]. For example, acidic drugs in urine such as naproxen [8] and the tricyclic drugs (9) were extracted from urine and analyzed by CE using this method. The application of this technique has been reviewed recently [4].

#### 3.7.1.2 Molecular imprints

These compounds select or interact with certain compounds based on steric and chemical memory for the template. They are analogous to antibodies in immunoassays where they can also be used in competitive assays. They have been used in LC and CE [10,11].

#### 3.7.1.3 Membrane based techniques

Different membrane types such as microporus, homogeneous, ion exchange and asymmetric have been employed for sample preparation for GC, HPLC and CE. The extraction in this technique can be further automated [12,13].

#### 3.7.1.4 Immunoaffinity solid-phase extraction

The optimization of the binding and elution and the miniaturization for this type of sample cleaning has been reviewed [14,15] and has been applied in CE and LC.

#### 3.7.1.5 Homogeneous liquid-liquid extraction

This uses the phase separation phenomenon from homogeneous solution as salting effect or cloud point extraction with the target solute being extracted into a small volume of separate phase. This method can give high concentration and is suited for CE [16].

Sometimes the extract after solvent evaporation is not concentrated enough to yield the desired sensitivity. Thus, it is recommended to dissolve the sample in an appropriate solvent, which can give stacking as will be described later. The importance of sample extraction and concentration together with stacking for CE has been emphasized by dedicating a special issue of The *Journal of Chromatography A* to this subject [17].

#### 3.7.2 Online concentration

#### 3.7.2.1 Solid-phase extraction

Sample clean up and concentration can be performed directly on the capillary by inserting a small piece of a capillary packed with different solid packing materials as described [18,19].

#### 3.7.2.2 Stacking

The electric current can be used to achieve three distinct goals: to separate the sample, move fluids and the analytes and also to concentrate the sample. Two or three of the above goals can be achieved at the same time, such as sample concentration and separation. Stacking is a general term to indicate sample concentration under the influence of the current. Originally it was used in ITP to indicate the movement of the sample components adjacent to each other as a stack of coins [20]. Stacking methods are not general enough, thus some of them work only under certain conditions. However, they can be performed conveniently on the capillary with the separation step.

In stacking, a large sample of about 5-50% of the capillary volume usually is injected; however, the sample band is markedly sharpened before it enters the separation buffer. In order to obtain sample concentration or stacking in CE, the same analytes at the different areas of the sample plug have to migrate at different velocities in such a way that the band sharpens. The major factor is the difference in the field strength or charge at different areas of the sample plug which arises from the use of discontinuous buffers.

References pp. 92-94

#### 3.7.2.2.1 Methods for stacking for capillary zone electrophoresis

Salts present in the sample can ruin the separation [1]. However by choosing the proper stacking method the salts can be beneficial for the separation and for the concentration. It is easier to stack in the capillary zone electrophoresis (CZE) compared to the other modes.

3.7.2.2.1.1 Isotachophoresis (ITP) and Transient-ITP. Isotachophoresis is based on the use of discontinuous buffers (in respect to ions with different mobilities) which produces different field strength. All the ions and analytes have to migrate at the same velocity. An ion with fast mobility and in high concentration is used as a leading ion while a slow mobility ion is used as a terminating ion. The sample ions should have an intermediate mobility. At equilibrium the sample ions adjust their concentration in order to move at the same velocity as the leading ion. The electric field strength is inversely proportional to the ion mobility in that region.

The method can concentrate and semi-purify the samples 10–1000 fold for both small and large molecules. The concentrated segments can be coupled to the CZE for further separation and quantification using a single or separate capillary [21]. ITP is difficult to perform in practice because of the rigid requirements. A simpler form of the ITP is the transient ITP, which is easier to couple to CZE in the same capillary [22,23]. In this method, the ITP conditions are met briefly just before the sample enters the separation buffer [24]. It is suited for samples which contain salts since they can act as leading ions.

3.7.2.2.1.2 (Pseudo-transient-ITP). Mixing organic solvents such as acetonitrile acetone and small alcohols with the sample (~66%) removes proteins and in the presence of salts, either from the sample or added, leads to stacking with ~20 fold increased sensitivity. The salts, present in the samples act briefly as leading ions, while the organic solvents can function as a terminating ion in what is called "pseudo-isotachophoresis" (pseudo-ITP). Because of their low conductivity, these water-miscible organic solvents provide the high field strength necessary for band sharpening similar to that provided by the terminating ion [25,26]. Thus sodium chloride (present in serum at ~150 mmol/l), together with the organic solvents, enhances the stacking process. Organic buffers containing amine or zwitterionic groups stack better for cationic compounds [27]. In practice this type of sample treatment is well suited for practical work, especially for samples which contain salts such as serum, food, or of industrial origin.

3.7.2.2.1.3 High-Field Stacking. A Low ionic strength buffer in the sample (dilution) cause the sample resistance and the field strength in the sample plug to increase. In turn, this causes the ions to migrate rapidly and stack as a sharp band at the boundary between the sample plug and the electrophoresis buffer, with the positive ions lining up in front of the negative ones [27,28]. Once in the electrophoresis buffer, the components of the sample migrate in different zones according to their charge/mass characteristics. The sample can be injected hydrodynamically or by electromigration. The sample usually is dissolved in a lower ionic strength buffer ( $\sim 10$  times less) relative to the separation

buffer. In practice, this is a very simple method to perform. In this technique the amount of sample concentration is limited to about 10 times and often does not exceed about 5 fold. Buffer removal is important when injecting very large sample volumes to avoid the miss-match of EOF. After hydrodynamically injecting the sample, the polarity is reversed [28] to improve the stacking. Furthermore in the electromigration a plug of water can be injected before the separation buffer, which can enhance this technique further. The analytes (cations) experience high field strength, move rapidly, and concentrate at the tip of the capillary at the boundary between the sample and the separation buffers. Several hundred-fold enhancements in concentration have been shown to be possible by various forms of this technique for some drugs [28].

Other methods to concentrate for CZE which utilize pH changes or isoelectric focusing have been described [20].

#### 3.7.2.2.2 Stacking in MECC

Stacking in MECC is more difficult than CZE. However several strategies have been devised by Terabe and coworkers for stacking in this mode based on low ionic strength in the sample, polarity reversal to remove the sample buffer and sweeping the analyte (interaction) with the micelles [29–32].

## 3.8 PRECISION

Precision is very important, especially in routine analysis. Early work indicated that the precision of CE is less than that of HPLC. However, more recent work showed improvement in the precision through better washing steps (1M NaOH, or 100 mM phosphoric acid), using internal standards, fresh buffers, constant temperature and the effective mobility. Mayer [33] and Altria and Bestford [34] have reviewed and discussed in detail the conditions which lead to a better precision in CE [33]. The quality control for a few antiepileptic drugs by CE has been assessed by Thormann et al. [35]. The intra-day RSD was less than 3% and the inter-day RSD was less than 8% [35]. The effective mobility is more reproducible than migration time giving a RSD of mobility of 0.01–0.03% [36]. The corrected effective mobility, based on standards, was applied by different labs analyzing a set of 20 acidic compounds. It decreased the CV for MECC into half without effect on that for CZE [37]. Stacking improves the precision for both peak height and area.

## 3.9 CE AND BASIC INFORMATION FOR DRUGS

CE offers several advantages which are not well appreciated in the routine therapeutic drug monitoring area. For example, it offers the ability to analyze simultaneously the main drug and its metabolites or several related drugs in the same run and to study the bound and the free drug levels. Many of these studies are important in assessing the therapeutic level of the drug and hopefully will find more application in clinical labs. In this respect the CE offers several features to these basic studies such as small sample

size, speed, assessing protein binding, and the prediction of drug interaction with cell membranes.

#### 3.9.1 Chiral separation

About 40% of drugs contain at least one chiral center and mostly are sold now in one enantiomeric form. Isomers have very close chemical structures; however, in many cases they exhibit different biological effects, bind to proteins, or are metabolized differently. The principles of this technique depend on the selective interaction of one isomer with the cavity of special additive compounds such as cyclodextrins (CD), heparin, Chaps, or Big Chaps during electrophoresis.

CE and capillary electrochromatography (CEC) are becoming more utilized for this purpose. Because the amount used in CE is very small, the expensive chiral additives are usually added to the buffer and the separation is performed by MECC. In CEC the chiral separations can be performed by columns similar to those for the HPLC or by adding the chiral selector directly to the mobile phase.

A rapid method for chiral separation for chiral molecules has been described [38] based on using the short end of the capillary and with a highly sulfated cyclodextrins (CD). The enantiomers of 12 chiral amino-containing pharmaceutical basic compounds belonging to various therapeutic categories were analyzed by CE using carboxymethyl-CD [39]. The chiral separation of drugs has been reviewed recently [40].

#### 3.9.2 Acid dissociation constant (pKa)

The pKa is an index of the ionization of a drug at different pH values and is an important indicator of solubility and interaction with membranes. In CE, the pKa can be determined by measuring the mobility of the drug as a function of pH similar to that by HPLC. Schmutz and Thormann [41] determined how the physical and chemical properties of 25 drugs would affect their analysis by MECC. They found that compounds which did not bind tightly to proteins, in addition to those with a low pKa, dissociated easily from the bound proteins and migrated as sharp peaks. A rapid screening method for the determination of pK(a) of candidate drugs by pressure-assisted capillary electrophoresis (CE) coupled with a photodiode array allowed very rapid analysis (<1 min) based on pH mobility-shifts as well as their uv spectra [42]. The difference between pKa values by this method and by other conventional methods is within 0.25 units for 82 ionic functional groups of drugs [42]. Another fast screening method for the determination of the dissociation constants of acidic, basic, and multivalent compounds was developed by using also pressure-assisted capillary electrophoresis [43]. The method was evaluated in terms of accuracy, precision, and ruggedness by using a set of 48 compounds with pKa values ranging from 2 to 10 [43]. The advantage of the CE in pKa is the small amount of sample which is needed for the measurement, which makes this method valuable at the early stages of drug discovery [44,45].

#### 3.9.3 Predicting drug-membrane interactions

Hydrophobicity is important in drug interactions with biological membranes, bioavailability distribution, and blood-brain barrier permeability. Often it is estimated in vitro by octanol-water partition coefficient or capacity factors by HPLC. However, CE offers some advantages such as the small sample size, low operating costs and speed [46,47]. Microemulsion electrokinetic chromatography, a technique similar to MECC [47] was used to estimate octanol-water capacity factors for some drugs and the values were very close to those in the literature. Using oppositely-charged surfactant vesicles as a buffer modifier to estimate hydrophobicity, there was a linear relationship between the log of capacity factor and the octanol-water partition coefficient for both neutral and basic species. Vesicular electrokinetic chromatography using surfactant vesicles as buffer modifiers was used for the estimation of hydrophobicity [48]. The chiral surfactant dodecoxycarbonylvaline has been used as a pseudo-stationary phase for the separation of many enantiomeric pharmaceutical compounds [49]. Its hydrophobicity was a good predictor for n-octanol-water partition coefficients for 15 beta amino alcohols [49]. A correlation was obtained for capacity factors determined by MECC, involving the use of phosphatidylcholine-bile acid mixed micelles in the separation buffer, by HPLC and log P of octanol-water [50]. The combination of MECC and HPLC data yielded a better predictive model for hydrophobicity [50]. The concentration of apolipoprotein H, a plasma glycoprotein, was performed by CE. Based on this determination, an interaction model of apoliporotein H and lipid monolayer was constructed [51].

Liposomes can be used as delivery vehicles for peptide and oligonucleotide drugs, influencing drug tissue distribution and protection. A simple method has been described for free and encapsulated oligonucleotide drugs in liposomes by CE in entangled polyacrylamide solution [52].

#### 3.9.4 Free and bound drugs

Drugs bind to various serum proteins with different affinities with the free fraction of the drug considered as the active. In routine drug monitoring, the total of a drug (bound + free) is assayed. Drug-protein interaction becomes important in some disorders such as malnutrition and renal failure where the amount of the free drug changes due to changes in protein concentration. The free, bound, percentage of binding and the binding constant can be determined based on several well-established techniques such as dialysis, filtration, and size exclusion, including CE. All have some advantages and some disadvantages such as time, membrane leakage, or low concentration. CE required 200 times less serum compared to the filtration methods.

In CE, drug binding is followed based on changes in the electrophoretic mobility [53-55], especially by frontal analysis, which can be performed by CE and HPLC. In CE (55), the capillary is filled with the buffer and the different drug concentrations, in the presence and absence of a fixed binding protein concentration, are incubated at 25°C followed by injection of a large amount of sample (5–7% of the capillary volume). The

free drug, the complex and the protein yield each a frontal, plateau shaped peak. The free drug concentration can be calculated from the height of the frontal peak [56,57].

Kraak et al. [54] described three different methods for measuring protein-drug binding by CE. The first is based on the Hummel-Dryer method in which the capillary is filled with a buffer containing the drug and giving a large background signal. The sample, which contains the drug, protein, and the buffer, is injected. The bound drug migrates differently from the free drug producing a negative peak, which is a measure of the bound drug. The second method is based on the vacancy method where the capillary is filled with a mixture of the buffer, the drug and the protein. The sample, which contains only the buffer, is injected. Both the free and the bound drug migrate separately and each gives a negative peak. The third method depends on frontal analysis. The percentage and the binding association constant can be also calculated from a Scatchard plot of the data at the different drug concentrations [56].

Drug binding for anionic drugs which had similar mobility to plasma proteins were studied by frontal analysis in the presence of cyclodextrins [58]. The binding values were comparable to those by ultra filtration [58]. Rundlett and Armstrong described and reviewed six different CE-based techniques for evaluating binding constants with examples [59]. Also, the estimation of binding constants based on affinity CE has been reviewed with a description of different methodologies by Tanaka and Terabe [60].

#### 3.10 SELECTED APPLICATIONS OF DRUGS ANALYZED BY CE

Many drugs can be analyzed for therapeutic use as well as for abuse. Thus the boundary between the two areas is not that sharp. CE has great potential in drug screening and confirmation because of its high plate number [61–63]. Furthermore, the same CE instrument can be applied to separations in various modes, which is useful in confirmation. Each mode offers a distinct separation mechanism and has distinct merits. In this regard, a test mixture of six basic and six acidic compounds was used to study the separation behavior of five CE methods by different modes. The results showed that three methods (CZE, MECC, and NACE) were suitable for the analysis of basic compounds while three methods (based on CZE and MECC) were suited for the analysis of the acidic compounds. Solid-phase extraction (SPE) and LLE methods provided clean extract from serum and urine, with the SPE method producing cleaner extracts and higher peaks, and were able to elute basic and acidic compounds in one fraction. The potentials and pitfalls of the various methods were discussed [64].

Basic drugs tend to interact with the capillary wall, giving poor separations. Several strategies are used to overcome this problem such as high buffer concentration, coated capillaries, different pH, including dynamic coatings. A commercial dynamic coating was used to test the separation of some drugs such as methamphetamine, amphetamine, and cocaine. The separation using phosphate buffer with polyanion was complete in 5 minutes. The relatively high EOF for the dynamically coated capillary system allowed for the rapid screening of basic, acidic, and neutral drugs [65]. The use of CE–MS in the analysis of some enantiomeric drugs and their metabolites has been described [66].

Morphine (MOR) and related opioids (free and glucuronidated) in human urine, after liquid-liquid extraction or solid-phase extraction, were analyzed by CE–MS [67]. Wey

and Thormann [68] described a CE method, based on binary phosphate buffer containing ethylene glycol and UV detection, for identification of codeine and its major metabolite in urine. Tagliaro et al. [69] described heroin and cocaine analysis in hair by immunoassays and CE. The complete separation of amphetamine, methamphetamine, 3,4-methylene-dioxy-amphetamine, 3,4-methylene dioxy methamphetamine, mescaline, cocaine and benzoylecgonine was obtained using an acetonitrile-based buffer [70]. Electrochemical detection using a platinum micro-disk electrode set was found to be selective for MDA, MDMA and mescaline [70].

Drug analysis by CE has been described and reviewed [71–76]. However, in this section we describe a few selected drugs which have been analyzed recently by CE. The application of MS, which is very important in drug confirmation and metabolism, to CE represents a very specialized area and has been reviewed recently [77].

We start here by giving examples for the analysis of serum caffeine used for treatment of apnea in the neonatal by both HPLC and CE. The details are given in the legend of Fig 3.2. The sample is introduced directly on the CE without treatment but it was deproteinated with methanol for HPLC. The speed of the CE method is ~4 min. vs. ~8 min. for HPLC with no interferences. The analysis was linear by the two methods from 2–50 mg/l. The CV of the CE was slightly better because of less sample handling (2.4 vs. 3.5%, n = 12). The regression analysis between the two methods CE = HPLC X 1.01 + 0.01, r = 0.98.

**Analgetics:** The release of *R* and *S* isomers of ibuprofen, a non steroidal antiinflammatory drug, was monitored *in vitro* in buffered solutions and in rat plasma and separated by CE [78]. Also, several acidic non-steroid anti-inflammatory drugs were determined by CE after liquid-phase microextraction (8). An enantioselective method for analysis of ibuprofen in human plasma in phosphoric acid/triethanolamine buffer containing sulfated  $\beta$ -CD after liquid extraction was described [79]. A special automated continuous flow system operating simultaneously with the CE has been also described to determine the anti-inflammatory drugs [80].

**Amphetamines:** Amphetamines are powerful stimulants of the central nervous system. Because they are often abused they are routinely analyzed or screened for in most labs. For CE, whole blood was extracted by acetonitrile, evaporated and injected into the CE instrument and separated in a phosphate buffer, pH 2.5. The analysis was accomplished in 7 min. [81]. Another derivative, 3,4-methylene-dioxymethamphetamine, has also been determined in urine by non-aqueous CE and fluorescence detection [82]. A nonaqueous CE method, coupled to UV and electrospray mass spectrometry, was described for the simultaneous analysis of ecstasy (amphetamine-like) and other related derivatives in urine [83].

**Antibiotics:** Several antibiotics such as cephalosporins, piperacillin, imipenem, amoxicillin and clavulanic acid have been determined by CE [84] and compared to HPLC [85]. The results were similar but CE did not require organic solvents [85]. Addition of pentanesulfonic acid to the running buffer at pH 6.5 improved the separation. Quinolones such as enrofloxacin, ciprofloxacin, danofloxacin, difloxacin, marbofloxacin, flumequine, and oxolinic acid belong to a group of synthetic antimicrobial drugs. They have been analyzed in pig kidney samples after solid phase


Fig. 3.2. Comparison of analysis of caffeine (C)(30 mg/L) by CE and HPLC: CE Conditions: Serum was injected directly for 15 s on a capillary (50um  $\times$  32 cm). The sample was electrophoresed for 5 min. at 10 kV, 280 nm in a buffer composed of 60 mmol/L triethanolamine, 70 mmol/L boric acid, pH 9.1, and 30g SDS /L. HPLC Conditions: Serum 20  $\mu$ L was deproteinized in 200  $\mu$ L methanol. A 20  $\mu$ l aliquot of the supernatant was injected on CN 150 mm  $\times$  4.6 Microsorb MB, 5  $\mu$ m column which was eluted by acetate buffer mmol/L pH 3.7 at flow rate of 1.0 ml/min with detection at 280 nm.

extraction by MECC [86] and by NACE [87]. The analysis of aminoglycosides by CE has been reviewed [88].

**Antidepressants:** The tricyclic antidepressants amitriptyline, imipramine, nortriptyline, and desipramine have been extracted from urine by solid-phase microextraction, using a thin coating attached to the surface of a fused silica-fiber and determined by CE with  $\beta$ -CD [9,89]. The antidepressant drug citalopram and its main metabolite *N*-desmethylcitalopram in human plasma were determined by CE after liquid-phase microextraction [90]. Fluoxetine, an antidepressant drug and its metabolite, norfluoxetine, in serum samples were analyzed using a CD-phosphate buffer at pH 2.5. The method was optimized for stereoselectivity. The combination of a neutral and a negatively charged CD (dimethylated- $\beta$ - and phosphated- $\gamma$ ) provided the baseline enantiomeric forms of fluoxetine and norfluoxetine were easily identified. The fluoxetine and its metabolite enantiomeric ratio confirmed the stereoselectivity of the metabolic process of this drug [91].

**Acyclovir:** Acyclovir is a guanine derivative nucleoside analog with strong antiviral activity against herpes simplex and varicella zoster viruses. It was separated from plasma components using solid phase extraction. Separation was performed by MECC (SDS and hydroxypropyl- $\beta$ -CD) in borate buffer (pH 8.8) containing 0.2% NaCl. High sensitivity was achieved by large volume sample introduction and stacking [92]. The analysis of this drug and its analogs has been reviewed [93]

**Antiepileptic Carbamazepine:** A MECC method for the analysis of this drug and its five major metabolites in plasma has been described [94]. The method involved using a phosphate buffer, pH 8.0 with SDS. The sample was extracted by solid phase extraction with detection at 214 nm [94].

Antineoplastics: Doxorubicin: is an anticancer drug for treatment of lymphoblastic leukemia in children. Hempel and coworkers [95] described an assay for this compound and its kinetics in pediatrics. To monitor the peak plasma levels, samples were deproteinated with acetonitrile. After centrifugation, the supernatant was applied directly to the capillary by hydrodynamic injection. For the determination of lower amounts of doxorubicin and its main metabolite, doxorubicinol, plasma was extracted by liquid-liquid extraction with chloroform. After evaporation of the organic phase, the sample was reconstituted in acetonitrile/water and injected into the capillary by electrokinetic injection [95]. Peak plasma concentrations of this drug were studied by CE [96]. Hempel and coworkers also described a similar strategy for analyzing methotrexate, leucovorin and their metabolites in serum by CE with UV detection [97]. A CE method with LIF was also described for the analysis of plasma daunorubicin and daunorubicinol, another anticancer drug [98]. Tomoxafin, an antiestrogenic drug, used by women at risk for developing hormone-dependent breast cancer, and its two major metabolites, N-desmethyltamoxifen and 4-hydroxytamoxifen, were extracted from mouse fetal tissues and analyzed by NACE with UV detection [99]. The uptake of vincristine, another anticancer drug, was studied by CE using electrochemical detection with a carbon a microdisk bundle fiber electrode. A phosphate buffer pH 7.5 was used for the separation [100].

**Furosemide:** This diuretic was analyzed by CE with direct injection or after alkaline extraction using CZE and MECC with different detection schemes UV, LIF and MS [101]. Another diuretic, Torasemide, and three of its metabolites were also separated by CZE with UV detection [102].

**Pilsicainide:** This anti-arrhythmic drug was analyzed by CE. Serum was alkalinized and extracted with diethyl ether. Procainamide was used as an internal standard and the drug was separated in phosphate buffer at pH 2.3 [103].

**Sulpiride:** This selective dopamine D2 antagonist with antipsychotic and antidepressant activity is effective in the treatment of mental disorders. Plasma and urine samples were extracted by a double-step liquid-liquid extraction procedure and separated by CE in phosphate buffer (pH 8.0) with electro-generated chemiluminescence detection using tris(2,2'-bipyridyl)ruthenium(II) with platinum disc electrode as a working electrode [104].

**Thalidomide:** This sedative-hypnotic drug was introduced in the late 1950s but was discontinued because it caused birth defects through oxidative damage to DNA. However, the drug and its derivatives have a new therapeutic use due to the anti-inflammatory and immunomodulating properties in such diseases as leprosy, graft-versus-host disease following bone marrow transplantation, rheumatoid arthritis and several dermatological diseases. The isomers have important but different activity and toxicity, e.g. the R isomer is more tetragenic while the S is more sedative. This drug has been studied by CE in liver homogenates and its isomers were separated by sulfobutyl- $\beta$ -CD [105].

# **3.11 REFERENCES**

- Z.K. Shihabi, in: J.P. Landers (Ed.), Handbook of electrophoresis, CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 1997 p. 457.
- 2 Z.K. Shihabi and K.S. Oles, Clin. Chem., 40 (1994) 1904.
- 3 G. Hempel, Electrophoresis, 21 (2000) 691.
- 4 G. Theodoridis, E.H. Koster and G.J. de Jong, J. Chromatogr. B, 745 (2000) 49.
- 5 J. Pawliszyn, Solid phase microextraction, Wiley-VCH, New York, 1998.
- 6 C.I. Arthur and J. Pawliszyn, Anal. Chem., 62 (1990) 21.
- 7 P.K. Lam, M. Yang and M. H. Lam, Ther. Drug Monit., 22, (2000) 69.
- 8 S. Pedersen-Bjergaard and K.E. Rasmussen. Electrophoresis, 21 (2000) 579.
- 9 Y. Saito, M. Kawazoe, M. Hayashida and K. Jinno, Analyst, 125 (2000) 807.
- 10 V.T. Remcho and Z.J. Tan, Anal. Chem., 71 (1999) 248A.
- 11 P.T. Vallano and V.T. Remcho, J. Chromatogr. A, 887 (2000) 125.
- 12 B. M.Cordero, J.L. Pavón, C.G. Pinto, M.E.F. Laespada, R.C. Martínez and E.R. Gonzalo, J. Chromatogr. A, 902 (2000) 195.
- 13 J.A. Jonsson and L. Mathiasson, J. Chromatogr A., 902 (2000) 205.
- 14 N. Delaunay, V. Pichon and M-C. Hennion, J. Chromatogr. B, 745 (2000) 15.
- 15 D. Stevenson, J. Chromatogr. B, 745 (2000) 39.
- 16 Y. Takagai and S. Igarashi, Analyst, 126 (2001) 551.

- 17 Z. Shihabi and Z. Deyl, J. Chromatogr. A, 902 (2000).
- 18 N.A. Guzman and R.J. Stubbs, Electrophoresis, 22 (2001) 3602.
- 19 N.A. Guzman, J. Chromatogr. B, 749 (2000) 197.
- 20 Z.K. Shihabi, J. Chromatogr. A, 902(2000) 107.
- 21 S. Chen and M. Lee, Anal. Chem., 72 (2000) 816.
- 22 P. Gebauer and P. Bocek, Electrophoresis, 16 (1995) 1999.
- 23 L. Krivankova and P. Bocek, J. Chromatogr. B, 689 (1997) 13.
- 24 L. Krivankova, P. Pantukova and P. Bocek, J. Chromatogr. A, 838 (1999) 55.
- 25 Z.K. Shihabi, J. Cap. Elec., 2 (1995) 267.
- 26 Z.K. Shihabi, Electrophoresis, 23 (2002) 1612.
- 27 Z.K. Shihabi, J. Chromatogr. A, 817 (1998) 25.
- 28 R-L. Chein and D.S. Burgi, Anal. Chem., 64 (1992) 1046.
- 29 J.P. Quirino and S. Terabe, J. Chromatogr. A, 781 (1997) 119.
- 30 J.P. Quirino and S. Terabe, J. Chromatogr. A, 791 (1997) 255.
- 31 J.P. Quirino, J-B. Kim and S. Terabe, J. Chromatogr. A, 965 (2002) 357.
- 32 J.P. Quirino and S. Terabe, Anal. Chem., 72 (2000) 1023.
- 33 B.X. Mayer, J. Chromatogr. A, 907 (2001) 21.
- 34 K.D. Altria and J. Bestford, J. Cap. Electrophoresis, 3 (1996) 13.
- 35 W. Thormann, R. Theurillat, M. Wind and R. Kuldvee, J. Chromatogr. A, 924 (2001) 429.
- 36 J.H. Jumppanen and M.-L. Reikkola, Anal. Chem., 67 (1995) 1060.
- 37 C.M. Boone, G. Manetto, F. Tagliaro, J.C. Waterval, W.J. Underberg, J-P Franke, R A de Zeeuw and K. Ensing, Electrophoresis, 23 (2002) 67.
- 38 C. Perrin, V. Heyden, Y. Maftouh and M. Massart, Electrophoresis, 22 (2001) 3203.
- 39 J. Zukowski, V. De Biasi and A. Berthod, J. Chromatogr. A, 948 (2002) 331.
- 40 A. Amini, Electrophoresis, 22 (2001) 3107.
- 41 A. Schmutz and W. Thormann, Electrophoresis 15 (1994) 1295.
- 42 I. Yasushi, N. Masahiro, M. Toshinobu, K. Takashi and A. Naoki, J. Pharm. Sci., 91 (2002) 933.
- 43 Z. Jia, T. Ramstad and M. Zhong, Electrophoresis, 22 (2001) 1112.
- 44 G.A. Caliaro and C.A. Herbots, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal., 26 (2001) 427.
- 45 J. Barbosa, D. Barrón, E. Jiménez-Lozano and V. Sanz-Nebot, Anal. Chim. Acta., 437 (2001) 309.
- 46 R.H. Neubert, M.A. Schwarz, Y. Mrestani, M. Platzer and K. Raith, Pharm. Res., 16 (1999) 1663.
- 47 S.K. Poole, D. Durham and C. Kibbey, J. Chromatogr. B, 745 (2000) 117.
- 48 J.L. Razak, B.J. Cutak, C.K. Larive and C.E. Lunte, Pharm. Res., 18 (2001) 104.
- 49 R.J. Pascoe, A.G. Peterson and J.P. Foley, Electrophoresis, 21 (2000) 2033.
- 50 M. Hanna, V. de Biasi, B. Bond, C. Salter, A.J. Hutt and P. Camilleri, Anal. Chem., 70 (1998) 2092.
- 51 Q.H. Ru, Y.M. Wang, G.A. Luo, S.X. Wang and S.F. Sui, J. Cap. Electr., 7 (2002) 37.
- 52 D. Chen, D.L. Cole and G.S. Srivatsa, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal., 22 (2000) 791.
- 53 T. Ohnishi, N.A. Mohamed, S. Akimasa, Y. Kuroda, T. Nakagawa, S. El Gizawy, H.F. Askal and M.E. El Kommos, J. Pharm Biomed. Anal., 27 (2002) 607.
- 54 J.C. Kraak, S. Bush and H. Poppe, J. Chromatogr. A, 608 (1992) 257.
- 55 F.A. Gomez, J.N. Mirkovich, V.M. Dominguez, K.W. Liu and D.M. Macias, J. Chromatogr. A, 727 (1996) 291.
- 56 P.A. McDonnell, G.W. Caldwell and J.A. Masucci, Anal. Chem., 68 (1996) 447.
- 57 A. Shibukawa, Y. Kuroda and T. Nakagawa, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal., 18 (199) 1047.
- 58 Y. Ishihama, T. Miwa, and N. Asakawa, Electrophoresis, 23 (2002) 951.
- 59 K.L. Rundlett and D.W. Armstrong, Electrophoresis, 22 (2001) 1419.
- 60 Y. Tanaka and S. Terabe, J. Chromatogr. B, 768 (2002) 81.
- 61 I.S. Lurie, Forensic Sci. Int., 92 (1998) 125.
- 62 D.K. Lloyd, J. Chromatogr. A, 735 (1996) 29.
- 63 J.C. Hudson, M. Golin, M. Malcolm and C.F. Whiting, Can. Soc. Forensic Sci. J., 31 (1998) 1.
- 64 C.M. Boone, J.W. Douma, J.P. Franke, R.A. de Zeeuw and K. Ensing, Forensic Sci. Int., 121 (2001) 89.
- 65 I.S. Lurie, M.J. Bethea, T.D. McKibben, P.A. Hays, P. Pellegrini, R. Sahai, A.D. Garcia and R. Weinberger, J. Forensic Sci.,46 (2001) 1025.

- 66 S. Cherkaoui, S. Rudaz, E. Varesio and J.L. Veuthey, Electrophoresis, 22 (2001) 3308.
- 67 A.B. Wey and W. Thormann, J. Chromatogr. A, 916 (2001) 225.
- 68 A.B. Wey and W. Thormann, J. Chromatogr. B, 770 (2002) 191.
- 69 F. Tagliaro, R. Valentini, G. Manetto, F. Crivellente, G. Carli and M. Marigo, Forensic Sci. Int., 107 (2000) 121.
- 70 U. Backofen, F.M. Matysik, W. Hoffmann and C.E. Lunte, Fresenius J. Anal. Chem., 367 (2000) 359.
- 71 Z.K. Shihabi, in: J.R. Petersen and A.A. Mohammad, (Eds.), Clinical and forensic applications of capillary electrophoresis. Humana Press, New Jersey, 2001, 355.
- 72 Z.K. Shihabi, J. Chromatogr. A, 807 (1998) 27.
- 73 R.P. Oda, M.A. Roche, J.P. Landers and Z.K. Shihabi, in: J.P. Lander (Ed.), Handbook of electrophoresis, CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 1997, 457.
- 74 W. Thormann, Ther. Drug Monit., 24 (2002) 222.
- 75 W.C. Sung and S.H. Chen, Electrophoresis, 22 (2001) 4244.
- 76 W. Thormann, I.S. Lurie, B. McCord, U. Marti, B. Cenni and N. Malik, Electrophoresis, 22 (2001) 4216.
- 77 C. Lim and G. Lord, Biol. Pharm. Bull., 25 (2002) 547.
- 78 C. Simó, A. Gallardo, C. Parejo, J. San Román, C. Barbas and A. Cifuentes, Eur. J. Pharm. Sci., 16 (2002) 75.
- 79 V.A. Jabor, V.L. Lanchote and S.P. Bonato, Electrophoresis, 23 (2002) 3041.
- 80 C. Mardones, A. Ríos and M. Valcárcel, Electrophoresis, 22 (2001) 484.
- 81 G. Boatto, M.V. Faedda, A. Pau, B. Asproni, S. Menconi and R. Cerri, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal., 29 (2002) 1073.
- 82 C. Fang, Y-L. Chung, J-T. Liu and C-H. Lin, Forensic Sci. Int., 125 (2002) 142.
- 83 L. Geiser, S. Cherkaoui and J.L. Veuthey, J. Chromatogr. A, 895 (2000) 111.
- 84 G. Pajchel and S. Tyski, J. Chromatogr. A, 895 (2000) 27.
- 85 G. Pajchel, K. Pawlowski and S. Tyski, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal., 29 (2002) 75.
- 86 M. Hernández and M. Calull, J. Chromatogr. B, 742 (2000) 255.
- 87 M. Hernández, F. Borrull and M. Calull, Electrophoresis, 23 (2002) 506.
- 88 D.A. Stead, J. Chromatogr. B, 747 (2000) 69.
- 89 K. Jinno, M. Kawazoe, Y. Saito, T. Takeichi and M. Hayashida, Electrophoresis, 22 (2001) 3785.
- 90 T.G. Halvorsen, S. Pedersen-Bjergaard and K.E. Rasmussen, J. Chromatogr. A, 909 (2001) 87.
- 91 C. Desiderio, S. Rudaz, M.A. Raggi and S. Fanali, Electrophoresis, 20 (1999) 3432.
- 92 H.C. Vo, P.A. Henning, D.T. Leung and S.L. Sacks, J. Chromatogr. B, 772 (2002) 291.
- 93 A. Loregian, R. Gatti, G. Palù and E.F. De Palo, J. Chromatogr. B, 764 (2001) 289.
- 94 M.A. Raggi, V. Pucci, A. Mauriio, J. Muzikar and E. Kenndler, J. Chromatogr. B, 770 (2002) 217.
- 95 G. Hempel, P. Schulze-Westhoff, S. Flege, N. Laubrock and J. Boos, Electrophoresis, 19 (1998) 2939.
- 96 G. Hempel, S. Flege, G. Wurthwein and J. Boos, Cancer Chem. Pharm., 49 (2002) 133.
- 97 F. Sczesny, G. Hempel, J. Boos and G. Blaschke, J. Chromatogr. B, 718 (1998) 177.
- 98 G. Hempel, P. Schulze-Westhoff, S. Flege and J. Boos, J. Chromatogr. B, 758 (2001) 221.
- 99 J.M. Sanders and M.L. Cunningham, Electrophoresis, 23 (2002) 502.
- 100 W. Jin and L. Jiang, Anal. Chim. Acta, 461 (2002) 117.
- 101 J. Caslavska and W. Thormann, J. Chromatogr. B, 770 (2002) 207.
- 102 U. Akesolo, L. González, R.M. Jiménez and R.M. Alonso, Electrophoresis, 23 (2002) 230.
- 103 T. Kitahashi and I. Furuta, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal., 29 (2002) 625.
- 104 J. Liu, W. Cao, H. Qiu, X. Sun, X. Yang and E. Wang, Clin. Chem., 48 (2002) 1049.
- 105 G. Blaschke, M. Meyring, C. Mühlenbrock and B. Chankvetadze, Farmaco, 57 (2002) 551.

CHAPTER 4

# Immunoassays for therapeutic drug monitoring and clinical toxicology

### William Clarke

Department of Pathology, Johns Hopkins Medical Institutions, Baltimore, Maryland 21287, USA

## 4.1 INTRODUCTION

Immunoassays are quantitative analytical methods that make use of antibodies as reagents. The highly specific binding and large association constants ( $K_a$ ) of antibodies make them useful for detection and quantitation of analytes in complex sample matrices such as body fluids including blood, urine, saliva [1], sweat [2], or vitreous humor [3]. Methods based on immunochemical reactions are some of the most sensitive and specific assays available to laboratorians. Many formats of immunoassays have been automated and are widely used in the clinical laboratory for therapeutic drug monitoring [4,5].

Antibodies belong to a group of glycoproteins called immunoglobulins that specifically bind to both natural and synthetic analytes, also called *antigens*. The site on the antigen where antibody binds is known as the *epitope*; each antigen may have multiple epitopes depending on its size and shape. Antibodies can be classified as either polyclonal or monoclonal. *Polyclonal antibodies* are a group of antibodies derived from multiple cell lines in an animal that are all specific for the same antigen, but bind to different epitopes on that antigen. *Monoclonal antibodies* are derived from an immortalized single cell line and are more specific in that they are not only directed toward a certain antigen, but also a specific epitope on that antigen.

There are five different classes of immunoglobulins based on their function and are designated as A, D, E, G and M. These proteins are represented by the abbreviations IgA, IgD, IgE, IgG, and IgM respectively; however, only IgG is generally used for an immunoassay reagent. Immunoglobulin G (IgG) is a glycoprotein composed of multiple subunits with a molecular weight of approximately 160 kD. It consists of two identical heavy chains and two identical light chains that are joined by disulfide bonds (see Fig. 4.1). The carboxy-terminal amino acid sequence is conserved regardless of antibody specificity and is known as the constant region of the antibody. However, the aminoterminal sequence is highly variable and is the region that confers antigenic specificity

to the antibody. The shape of the antibody is roughly similar to the letter "Y", giving it a single constant region with two variable regions that allow one antibody to bind two antigens, barring steric interference.

Regions of the antibody can be further characterized with respect to how it is cleaved by proteolytic enzymes. The enzyme papain cleaves IgG in the hinge region and divides the antibody into three sections as shown in Fig. 4.1. The constant region, or "stem" of the Y, is one fragment and is called the Fc fragment; it has no antigen binding properties. The remaining two fragments are the "branches" of the Y, and are identical antigenbinding fragments called Fab fragments; each branch contains one antigen-binding site. Alternatively, pepsin can be used to digest antibodies yielding a different fragmentation pattern. No Fc fragment is produced in this digestion because it is digested completely by pepsin. The fragment that remains after digestion contains both binding sites and is called the  $F(ab)_2$  fragment, shown in Fig. 4.1.

Antibodies are produced by the immune system in response to an *immunogen* that is introduced into a foreign host. The immunogen can be a protein or in some cases an analyte of interest coupled to a large carrier molecule. For a substance to display immunogenicity, it must possess randomness of structure while maintaining some areas of structural stability. In addition, it must have a molecular weight of at least 4 to 5 kD and be recognized as foreign by the host animal. An analyte or antigen that is unable to



Fig. 4.1. Basic antibody structure.

induce an immunogenic response on its own is called a *hapten*, and must be coupled with a large carrier molecule to stimulate a response.

Antiserum is the product of immunogenic stimulation that contains antibodies directed toward the antigen of interest. *Polyclonal antibodies* are obtained by introduction of an immunogen to a normal animal host. This process produces a heterogeneous mixture of antibodies from many cell clones directed against a wide variety of epitopes present in the antigen of interest. These antibodies vary both in their specificity of binding and the affinity with which they bind. The antibodies can be isolated by affinity chromatography, which uses a chromatographic support containing immobilized antigen, or immobilized protein A or protein G. Protein A and protein G are bacterial cell wall proteins that display a site-specific affinity for the Fc region of IgG and isolate all IgG molecules regardless of specificity. Alternatively, the use of immobilized antigen allows the isolation of only IgG that is specific for the analyte of interest.

*Monoclonal antibodies* are the product of a single clone or plasma cell line; so all the antibodies produced are identical and bind to the same epitope with the same affinity. The process for producing monoclonal antibodies begins with immunization of a host animal (usually mice) just as in polyclonal antibody production. Then, sensitized lymphocytes from the spleen of the immunized host are fused with an isolated murine myeloma cell line, which consists of immortalized B-cells. The myeloma cell line is deficient in the enzyme hypoxanthine guanine phosphoribosyl transferase (HGPRT), meaning they cannot synthesize purine bases from thymidine and hypoxanthine in the presence of aminopterin. The spleen cells, however, are not deficient in the enzyme so when the fusion mixture is cultured in a selective medium containing hypoxanthine, aminopterin, and thymidine (HAT medium), only the fused cells survive. The surviving cell lines are screened for binding to the antigen of interest, with the end product being immortal cell lines that produce antibodies of a single, known binding specificity.

Antibody-antigen binding can be described in terms of both binding affinity and avidity. *Affinity* describes the strength of binding for one site and can be defined in terms of the energy of interaction for a single antibody binding site and its corresponding epitope. *Avidity* describes the overall binding of one antibody molecule to antigen; defined as the sum of binding sites for the whole molecule (e.g. IgG has 2 binding sites while the IgM pentamer has 10 binding sites). For example, when comparing an IgG molecule versus an Fab obtained from the same clonal population; they would have identical affinities for the antigen of interest, but the IgG would have a higher avidity because it could bind two antigens and the Fab could only bind one. Generally speaking, affinity is characterized as a property of the antigen, while avidity is a property of the antibody.

Binding between and antibody and antigen is best described as an equilibrium process:

$$Ag + Ab <=====> AgAb$$

where the equilibrium constant for association of the complex ( $K_a$ ) is much greater than the equilibrium constant for dissociation of the complex ( $K_d$ ); so depending on the time frame of the experiment, the binding can seem to be irreversible. These interactions are based on electrostatic (Van Der Waals) forces, hydrophobic forces, coulombic (ionic) forces, or a combination of the three. Antibody-antigen binding is pH and temperature dependent and can also be affected by electrolyte concentration as well, depending on which types of interactions are prominent in binding.

If there is significant cross-linking of antigens during antigen-antibody binding, then precipitation can occur, but this is highly concentration dependent. When the concentration of antibody binding sites is much higher than the concentration of epitopes for binding, then the epitopes are quickly saturated and 1:1 complexes of antibody and antigen predominate. Alternatively, if the concentration of antibody binding sites is limited in comparison with excess of epitopes for binding, then the antibody sites are quickly saturated, 2:1 complexes of antibody predominate, and cross-linking does not occur. However, if the antibody is in moderate excess (2- to 3-fold), then cross-linkage is more likely and large complexes can be formed that will precipitate; this is called the *precipitin reaction*. Addition of a linear polymer such as dextran, polyvinyl alcohol (PVA), or polyethylene glycol (PEG) will increase the rate of immune complex growth and enhance precipitation of the immune complex. Polymers used for this purpose must be high molecular weight, have minimal branching, and a high aqueous solubility.

## 4.2 IMMUNOASSAYS

Immunoassays comprise the group of immunochemical methods that are most widely used in clinical diagnostics. The use of chemical labels coupled to antibodies or antigens, allows much lower concentrations of analyte to be detected in samples than with more traditional immunoprecipitation methods. These assays can be performed in many different formats with a wide variety of detection methods for both large and small analytes. Immunoassays can be characterized in a number of ways: whether a separation step is necessary, on the basis of whether the antigen or antibody is labeled, or by the type of label that is used for sample detection.

## 4.2.1 Homogeneous vs. heterogeneous immunoassays

*Heterogeneous immunoassays* are assays that require physical separation of bound and free labels for analysis [6]. One approach to separation is precipitation of labeled antigen-antibody complex from solution using either a precipitating chemical or cross-linking with other antibodies, and reconstituting the precipitate to quantify the amount of bound label. Alternatively, adsorbents such as activated charcoal or other small particles can be added to solution to bind free antigen, followed by centrifugation to isolate the particles from solution. Another approach is to attach the antibodies to a solid support such as the interior of a microwell plate or magnetic beads, and then remove the unbound molecules through various wash steps. Traditional separation techniques such as size-exclusion or affinity chromatography, as well as electrophoresis can also be used for heterogeneous immunoassays.

*Homogeneous immunoassays* are those that can distinguish between the free and bound label for detection without a physical separation step [6]. In this format, the label is modified by antibody binding, resulting in either an increase or decrease of signal. For this format to be useful, the change in signal due to antibody binding must be proportional to the concentration of analyte under investigation. Homogenous immunoassays allow a combination of the label incubation and detection of analyte into one simple step. This approach is useful because it eliminates the wash step and is compatible with most automated chemistry analyzers. However, the major disadvantage to homogenous immunoassays is that they are less sensitive than heterogeneous immunoassays, making it difficult to measure analytes that occur in very low concentrations during therapy, such as digoxin.

#### 4.2.2 Competitive binding immunoassays

Competitive binding immunoassays are based on antibody-antigen interactions in which the number of antigen binding sites on the antibody is limited. The antigen of interest and a labeled analog are incubated with a fixed concentration of the antibody, and the signal produced is based on competition between the analyte and corresponding labeled analog for antibody binding sites [7]. The amount of labeled antigen bound to the antibody is inversely proportional to the amount of analyte in the sample, producing a calibration curve as seen in Fig. 4.2a.

The two approaches to a competitive binding immunoassay are the simultaneous or sequential addition techniques. In *simultaneous addition*, both the label and sample (or calibrator) are added to the reaction mixture at the same time. After a fixed period of time, the amount of bound label is determined and used to construct a calibration curve



Fig. 4.2. Immunoassay calibration curves: (a) Competitive binding assay; (b) Non-competitive binding assay.

or determine the concentration of the unknown. For this method to be useful, the antibody should demonstrate the same or similar binding affinity for both the sample antigen and the calibrator antigen. In addition, it is important for this approach that the probability of binding for both the labeled antigen and the sample antigen are roughly equal. *Sequential addition* is a technique that is useful when a lower limit of detection is desired. First the sample is incubated with the antibody to equilibrium, followed by incubation with label to equilibrium, finishing with detection of the bound label. This sequential approach can lower the limit of detection up to 5-fold, and is also useful if there are slight differences in avidity for the analyte antigen and the labeled analog.

An alternative approach to the competitive binding immunoassay is the *displacement immunoassay*. The displacement immunoassay format has been used in the development of dry chemistry thin film immunoassays [8]. Dry film immunoassays have been developed for drugs such as carbamazepine, phenytoin, and valproic acid [9]. In this technique, the antibody is saturated with a labeled analog, followed by addition of sample. Analyte in the sample displaces the label and the displaced label is measured rather than bound label. This type of assay is dependent on local equilibria, so if the  $K_a$  is much greater than the  $K_d$ , then less label is displaced in contrast to the situation where  $K_a$  is slightly greater than or equal to  $K_d$ . The signal for displacement immunoassays is directly proportional to the analyte concentration as shown in Fig. 4.2b, in contrast to the inversely proportional signals seen in the simultaneous and sequential addition immunoassays.

#### 4.2.3 Non-competitive (immunometric) immunoassays

Non-competitive binding immunoassays, or immunometric assays, are based on an antibody-antigen reaction where there are an excess of antigen binding sites [7]. In noncompetitive immunoassays, the signal is directly proportional to the amount of analyte in the sample, producing a similar curve to that obtained with a displacement immunoassay (Fig. 4.2b). The most common non-competitive immunoassay format is the sandwich immunoassay, where two antibodies are used for analyte detection. Both polyclonal and monoclonal antibodies are suitable for use in sandwich immunoassays; however, in order to use this format the antigen of interest must be large enough to simultaneously bind two separate antibodies. The first antibody in the reaction is called the *capture antibody*, which is either adsorbed or covalently linked to a solid support and is used to extract the analyte from the sample matrix. A second labeled antibody, known as the *tracer* or *conjugate antibody*, reacts with the captured antigen at a separate and distinct epitope from the capture antibody and is used to detect the analyte when all other components have been washed away. This type of assay can be performed either in a sequential or simultaneous incubation format, although for simultaneous incubation two monoclonal antibodies specific for distinct and distant epitopes must be used to prevent competition.

Another approach to non-competitive binding immunoassays is demonstrated in the *one-site immunometric assay*. The one-site immunometric assay begins with incubation of an excess of labeled Fab fragments (for 1:1 binding) or antibodies (2:1 binding) with

a sample containing the antigen of interest. The incubation mixture is then introduced to a solid support containing immobilized antigen of interest to remove unbound antibodies or Fab fragments from solution; the amount of label left in solution is directly proportional to the concentration of analyte in the sample. This format is particularly useful for automated flow based or chromatographic immunoassays. Fab fragments are preferable to whole antibodies in this approach because an antibody can be bound to both the support and analyte, which would yield a falsely low signal.

#### 4.2.4 Immunoassay labels

There are many different types of labels, for both antigen and antibody, that can be used in immunoassays. The choice of label is dependent on the analytical sensitivity desired for the measurement as well as the immunoassay format. Early immunoassays used isotopic labels such as <sup>125</sup>I, <sup>131</sup>I, <sup>3</sup>H, <sup>57</sup>Co, and <sup>32</sup>P for antigens in competitive binding immunoassays, and for antibodies in sandwich immunoassays. The utility of radioactive labels is based on low limits of detection due to very low background interference. Radioactive labels were also used to develop an early homogeneous immunoassay [10] based on modulation of <sup>3</sup>H or <sup>125</sup>I labels by scintillant-laden microparticles. Early radioimmunoassay were also developed for the detection of drugs of abuse in body fluids [11]; more recently, a radioimmunoassay for the antiviral drug, zidovudine [12]. Immunoassays using radiolabels are currently falling out of favor in clinical laboratories due to concerns regarding safe handling and disposal of radioactive materials as well as the inherent instability of radiolabels.

Recently, there has been an emphasis on the development of non-isotopic labels in light of the drawbacks that come with handling radioactive labels. As early as the 1970s, enzyme labels for immunoassay were in development, and since then a wide variety of non-isotopic labels have been established. Non-isotopic labels include enzyme-based, fluorescent, chemiluminescent, and even electrochemical labels. Some of these labels are able to achieve detection limits well below those possible with radiolabels, and none of them pose the problems of handling and disposal that occur when working with radioactive materials. Increased specificity can be gained in an immunoassay by incorporating a biotin-avidin interaction with the antibody-antigen interaction. This is accomplished using a biotin-conjugated antibody or antigen and then introducing labeled avidin to the reaction mixture. In some instances, signal is increased using multiple labels by taking advantage of the multiplicity of avidin-biotin binding. One avidin molecule can bind four biotin molecules so this complex scheme would involve a biotin conjugate, followed by addition of avidin, which could then bind three more labeled biotin molecules.

#### 4.2.4.1 Fluorescence

Chemical labels that exhibit fluorescence are commonly used for competitive binding and sandwich immunoassays in the same manner as radioactive labels. The most commonly used label is fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC), but dyes such as Lucifer Yellow or Rhodamine B can also be used as fluorescent labels. This type of label is sensitive enough to use for low concentration analytes, but avoids the handling and disposal issues that come with using radioactivity. However, a major problem with fluorescence detection is that many substances found in clinical samples such as drugs and drug metabolites, proteins, and bilirubin exhibit fluorescence that can cause a high background and interference with the assay.

One way to avoid interference from fluorescent background is the utilization of *time-resolved fluorescence* (TRF) with labels derived from lanthanide elements (i.e. europium, terbium, and samarium). The fluorescence lifetime for these lanthanide chelates is much longer than typical fluorescent molecules. To take advantage of this extended lifetime, after excitation a delay time (400–800 ms) is introduced to let background fluorescence decay, and then the signal is measured [6]. Immunoassays with TRF detection have been used to test for analytes in applications such as detection of testosterone in saliva [13] or development of a dry chemistry immunoassay for zeranol [14].

Fluorescence detection can be used for homogenous assays by employing a fluorescence polarization immunoassay (FPIA) format. This technique is a competitive binding assay using a fluorescein labeled antigen to compete with antigen in the sample for antibody binding sites [6]. An FPIA uses the polarization of fluorescence due to molecular rotation in solution to determine the extent of label-antibody binding. When the labeled antigen is unbound, it rotates very rapidly giving it a high degree of anisotropy. As a result of the anisotropy, the label complex has a low degree of polarization. However, when the label is bound to an antibody molecule that rotates at a much lower rate, anisotropy is decreased and the degree of polarization is increased (see Fig. 4.3). The change in polarization is proportional to the concentration of antigen in the sample, and because the label behavior is modified by antibody binding, no separation step is needed. FPIA is used clinically to measure drugs such as amikacin, gentamicin, quinidine, and theophylline [15] as well as the immunosuppressant cyclosporine A (Neoral<sup>®</sup> and Sandimmune<sup>®</sup>) [16]. Fluorescence polarization assays can also used to detect drugs of abuse such as cocaine [17,18], opiates, marijuana, and barbiturates [18].

Another homogeneous fluorescence-based immunoassay is based on *fluorescence energy transfer* [19]. This approach uses a dual label system, where the analog is linked to a donor fluorophore, and the antibody is linked to an acceptor molecule. When the donor is in close proximity to the acceptor – as in the case of antibody-antigen binding – then fluorescence of the labeled analog is quenched by energy transfer to the acceptor molecule. In this manner, the signal from the label is modified by antibody binding, making it a suitable format of homogeneous immunoassay. This approach has been used to develop assays for analytes such as phenytoin [20] and digoxin [21] in body fluids, but is not widely used in the clinical laboratory.

#### 4.2.4.2 Enzymes

Enzyme-based labels such as alkaline phosphatase, horseradish peroxidase, g-6-dehydrogenase and  $\beta$ -galactosidase are also frequently used in quantitative immunoassays [6,22]. A significant advantage for enzyme labels is the amplification aspect; one enzyme label can produce many reporter molecules, for up to 100-fold



Fig. 4.3. Fluorescence polarization immunoassay (FPIA).

signal amplification (using a fluorescent substrate can produce amplification up to 100,000-fold). The substrate for detection can be chosen to produce a colored product for photometric monitoring, a fluorescent product such as umbilliferone, or even to produce an intermediate substrate for a second enzymatic reaction to produce further amplification and specificity.

The most common heterogeneous enzyme immunoassay is the *enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay* (ELISA), which is a sandwich immunoassay where the capture antibody is bound to a solid support and the tracer antibody is enzyme-labeled [6]. After the capture:antigen:tracer complex is formed, all other sample components are washed away and substrate is added. The amount of product formed by the enzyme label is proportional to the concentration of antigen in the sample (Fig. 4.4). The ELISA can be modified to detect antibodies of a given specificity by using antigen linked to the support, adding sample and using labeled antibodies to IgG as the tracer (e.g. detection of anti-HCV antibodies). Since two epitopes are necessary for the sandwich ELISA, this format is more suited for peptide or protein therapeutics, such as B-type natriuretic peptide (BNP) used in patients with congestive heart failure. Other examples include the use of ELISA for determination of amlodipine in plasma [23] or determination of antivenin levels in snakebite victims [24].

Another approach to heterogeneous enzyme immunoassay is the *microparticle* enzyme immunoassay (MEIA). In this assay, antibodies directed toward the analyte of interest are immobilized to the surface of microparticles. The sample is then incubated with the antibody-coated particles in the presence of enzyme labeled analog. After a

fixed period of time, the particles with bound sample analyte and/or label are separated from the rest of the sample by centrifugation or binding to a glass fiber matrix. The particles are washed to remove any non-specifically binding components, followed by addition of enzyme substrate. The signal produced is inversely proportional to the amount of drug present in the original sample. This type of assay is commonly used to monitor ProGraf® (tacrolimus) or rapamycin in transplant patients [16].

As previously discussed, homogeneous immunoassays require a label that will be modified by antibody binding and enzyme labels are particularly well suited for this role. There are two commonly used types of homogeneous enzyme immunoassays: the *enzyme-multiplied immunoassay technique* (EMIT) and the *cloned enzyme donor* 



Fig. 4.4. Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA): (a) couple capture antibody to well surface; (b) add patient sample or calibrator to well; wash; (c) add tracer antibody reagent to well; wash; (d) add enzyme substrate to well for detection.



Fig. 4.5. Enzyme-multiplied immunoassay technique (EMIT).

*immunoassay* (CEDIA) [6,25]. In the EMIT assay, an aliquot of the patient sample or calibrator is incubated with an enzyme-labeled antigen and a fixed amount of antibody specific for the antigen of interest as well as enzyme substrate (Fig. 4.5) [6,25]. The antigen in the sample and the labeled antigen compete for antibody binding sites; when antibody is bound to the labeled antigen, the enzyme is inhibited because it is blocked from interaction with the substrate. The change in enzymatic activity is proportional to the concentration of antigen in the patient sample or calibrator (e.g. as the concentration increases, so does the enzyme activity). EMIT assays are widely used in the clinical laboratory for TDM including valproic acid [26], lidocaine [27], CellCept<sup>®</sup> (mycophenolic acid) [28], and phenytoin [29]. They are also used for toxicological analyses in the clinical laboratory including screening for marijuana, cocaine, and opiates [18], as well as for amphetamines [30], benzodiazepines and barbiturates [31].

The CEDIA assay is also a competitive binding immunoassay [25,32], but it is a little more complex than the EMIT assay in its execution. Using genetic engineering techniques, two inactive fragments of  $\beta$ -galactosidase are produced by manipulating the Z gene of the *lac* operon of *E. coli*. These two fragments are able to reassemble to form an active enzyme, even if one of the fragments is covalently linked to another molecule. The competing antigen for the assay is labeled with one fragment of the cloned enzyme and is incubated with a mixture of the patient sample, the second enzyme fragment, enzyme substrate, and a fixed amount of antibody directed toward the antigen of interest (Fig. 4.6). Antibody that binds to the labeled antigen prevents reassembly of the enzyme and no reporter molecule is produced; as the sample antigen concentration is increased, the enzyme activity is also increased. As with the EMIT assay, the change in enzymatic



Fig. 4.6. Cloned enzyme donor immunoassay (CEDIA).

activity is directly proportional to the concentration of antigen in the sample. CEDIA assays are also commonly used in today's clinical laboratory. Cyclosporine [33] and phenobarbital [34], theophylline, and phenytoin [35] can all be monitored with this method. Assays for drugs of abuse also commonly use the CEDIA format including screening assays for all the major drugs of abuse including benzodiazepines [36], methamphetamine, barbiturates, phencyclidine, cocaine, and opiates [37].

## 4.2.4.3 Chemiluminescence

A chemiluminescent label is based on the emission of light produced during a chemical reaction. These labels are very useful because they offer very low limits of detection with little to no background interference, however, the complexity of the immunoassay is increased because the reaction conditions must be carefully controlled. In addition, the label is not modified by antibody binding, so chemiluminescence detection would not be suitable for homogeneous immunoassays. Chemiluminescent labels can be found as both biological and chemically manufactured compounds. Biologically derived chemiluminescence labels include firefly luciferase [38] and apoaequorin, a protein derived from the bioluminescent jellyfish *Aequorin* [39]. Firefly luciferase activates D-luciferin substrate by oxidation in the presence of ATP, molecular oxygen and magnesium ions to emit light at 560 nm. Apoaequorin is activated by reaction with coelenterazin and calcium ions to emit light at 469 nm.

Other non-biologic compounds can be used as chemiluminescent labels, including isoluminol and acridinium esters [40]. Isoluminol is oxidized in the presence of a catalyst such as microperoxidase, producing a relatively long emission at 425 nm.

Acridinium esters are commonly used, highly sensitive labels that are activated by oxidations using hydrogen peroxide in alkaline solution to give a brief flash of light at 429 nm. Drugs that can be monitored by chemiluminescent assays include, carbamazepine, phenytoin, phenobarbital, and valproic acid [41]. Chemiluminescence can be made even more sensitive when combined with other detection methods. Electrochemiluminescence utilizes a molecule such as ruthenium (II) tris(bipyridyl) that undergoes chemiluminescence at a given redox potential, producing mass detection limits as low as  $20 \times 10^{-21}$  moles [39,42]. In addition, chemiluminescent substrates can be combined with enzymatic labels to take advantage of enzyme amplification effects along with the inherent sensitivity of chemiluminescence using a substrate known as AMPPD (disodium 3-(4-methylspiro-[1,2-dioxetane-3,2'-tricyclo-[3.3.1.1]decan]–4-yl) phenyl phosphate) to obtain mass detection limits as low as  $1 \times 10^{-21}$  moles [43,44]. Current applications of this technology have been developed for cardiac markers and endocrine testing, but as of yet there are no commercially available drug assays using this assay technique.

#### 4.2.5 Immunoassay interferences

Although immunoassays provide an easily automated, sensitive method of detection, there are some important factors to consider that may interfere with the assay. These factors include interfering antibodies from the patient's serum, assay artifacts caused by large analyte concentrations (the *hook effect*), and standardization between immunoassays for the same analyte that use different epitopes for binding. In addition, certain substances may cross-react with the antibody and interfere with the assay. Each of these interferences has a characteristic effect that influences both immunoassay performance and utility.

One particular problem encountered when using immunoassays is interference from circulating heterophilic human antibodies specific for animal immunoglobulins that are used as reagents. The most common type of heterophilic antibodies are human antimouse antibodies (HAMA) often present in the blood of patients that have been given mouse monoclonal antibody imaging or therapeutic agents, such as Atgam<sup>®</sup> or Digibind<sup>®</sup>, or have been exposed to other mouse antigens [45]. Heterophile antibodies can cause false positive results by cross-linking the capture and label antibodies in a sandwich immunoassay, as if the analyte of interest were present, or they can cause false negative results by blocking analyte binding to the capture or label antibody (Fig. 4.7). The presence of HAMA or other heterophile antibodies can be confirmed through dilution experiments that do not give proportional results, or retesting of a sample after incubation with a blocking agent such as lyophilized animal serum (e.g. mouse antisera for HAMA). Non-immune animal serum is sometimes included in immunoassay kits using animal antibodies as reagents to minimize the effects of heterophile antibodies.

Another problem that can arise, specifically in simultaneous addition sandwich assays, to give a falsely low result is known as the "hook effect" [46,47]. This effect occurs when the concentration of the analyte is so high that both the capture and label antibodies are saturated. In response, the assay signal will decrease at high antigen

concentrations, which can be demonstrated by a calibration curve including these concentrations. The response drops off after a maximum response giving the curve a characteristic "hook" shape (see Fig. 4.8). This situation can lead to falsely low patient



Fig. 4.7. Heterophilic antibody interference (HAMA): (a) positive interference for sandwich immunoassay; (b) negative interference for sandwich immunoassay; (c) positive interference for homogeneous immunoassay.



Fig. 4.8. Calibration curve demonstrating the hook effect.

results when the concentration of an analyte is elevated far above the analytical range of the assay and can be discovered by dilution followed by sample retesting. Generally, this occurs with endogenous substances such as tumor markers that are overproduced in response to disease, but the scenario could occur in cases of therapeutic overdose. This type of error is avoided by using a large excess of capture and label antibodies with respect to the analytical range of the assay.

A different sort of problem arises when immunoassays are developed for the same analyte by different companies or researchers. Each developer uses a different antibody directed to a unique epitope that may exhibit varying binding properties leading to different responses for the same concentration of analyte. In an isolated environment this is not a problem so long as the institution uses only one type of assay; however, the establishment of a standard reference interval for the analyte becomes much more difficult because various institutions often use different assays for the same analyte. A prime example of this challenge is demonstrated in the development of a cardiac troponin I assay. Cardiac troponin I (cTnI) is present in the circulation in three forms: as free cTnI, a two-unit complex with cardiac troponin C (cTnI-cTnC), and a three-unit complex with cTnC and cardiac troponin T (cTnI-cTnC-cTnT). The various assays fail to agree with each other because the reagent antibodies for each assay recognize different epitopes, making it difficult to develop a primary reference material [48,49] for standardization of the method. Lack of standardization is a problem for drug assays in TDM in cases where a patient is followed long term by different physicians or institutions. If the values given between two different assays do not correspond, therapy for the patient may be modified unnecessarily.

Antibody cross-reactivity of metabolites or unrelated substances that have structurally similar epitopes can lead to inaccurate results when samples are analyzed by immunoassay. For instance, phenytoin metabolites such as 5-(p-hydroxyphenyl)glucuronide (HPPH-G) and phenytoin-N-glucuronide 5-phenvlhvdantoin that accumulate in patients with uremia can cross-react in certain phenytoin immunoassays and lead to erroneously high results [29]. In patients with decreased renal function receiving vancomycin, the accumulation of vancomycin crystalline degradation products (CDP-1) that cross-react in FPIA assays has been shown to induce overestimation of vancomycin concentrations by 40-53% [50]. Cross-reactivity can lead to either falsely elevated or decreased results, depending on the assay format. A good example of this is in the case of digoxin monitoring where digoxin-like (DLIS) and digitoxin-like (DTLIS) immunoreactive substances have been shown to produce falsely elevated results with FPIA [51]; but caronene and spironolactone have demonstrated the ability to produce falsely low results for digoxin when using an MEIA format [52].

## 4.2.6 Point-of-care immunoassays

A recent development is the adaptation of immunoassay formats to develop testing outside the clinical laboratory, specifically for *point-of-care testing* (POCT). The most widely used POCT immunoassay is used for the detection of human chorionic gonadotropin (hCG), more commonly known as a "home pregnancy test". This type of

home testing has also been developed for testing drugs outside the laboratory as well [53]. The general format is essentially the same, regardless of the analyte of interest. A urine specimen is applied to a porous membrane that draws the liquid from the application point to immobilized antigen positioned further up the membrane. If antigen is present in the sample, it will be bound to the immobilized antibodies, followed by a detection step. Detection can be accomplished in a number of ways, depending on the manufacturer. One way is to add a second labeled antibody solution that will bind to the captured analyte, followed by a color development step [54]. Another approach is to use colored microparticles linked to the antibody for detection. In this approach the initial capture antibody is immobilized to colored beads, which are located at the point of application. As the sample and microbeads migrate up the membrane, they encounter a second capture antibody that will serve as a "detection zone"; if there is analyte present in a sample, a sandwich complex will be formed and visible positive signal will occur.

One clinical application for POCT immunoassays is in the hospital emergency department (ED) and other locations where testing for drugs of abuse is necessary. In addition, POCT devices based on immunoassays are being developed to screen for drugs of abuse in oral fluids [1]. In order to be useful, each POCT device must not only produce a clear signal that makes it easy to distinguish between positive and negative, it must also contain a control mechanism to ensure that the device is working properly (e.g. the specimen moves up the membrane, all reagents are included in the reaction, detect the presence of interfering heterophilic antibodies, etc.). This type of testing would most likely not be useful for therapeutic drug monitoring because more than just a positive/negative result is needed. However, if a system that could deliver quantitative data for POCT immunoassays were developed, then this approach to TDM would be feasible.

## **4.3 REFERENCES**

- 1 C. Barrett, C. Good and C. Moore, Comparison of point-of-collection screening of drugs of abuse in oral fluid with a laboratory-based urine screen. Forensic Sci. Int., 122 (2001) 163–166.
- 2 M.A. Huestis, E.J. Cone, C.J. Wong, A. Umbricht and K.L. Preston, Monitoring opiate use in substance abuse treatment patients with sweat and urine drug testing. J. Anal. Toxicol., 24 (2000).
- 3 C.W. Chronister, J.C. Waltrath and B.A. Goldberger, Rapid detection of benzoylecgonine in vitreous humor by enzyme immunoassay. J. Anal. Toxicol., 25 (2001) 621–624.
- 4 D.W. Chan (Ed.), Immunoassay automation: A practical guide. Academic Press, San Diego, 1992.
- 5 D.W. Chan (Ed.), Immunoassay automation: An updated guide to systems. Academic Press, San Diego, 1996.
- 6 D.W. Chan (Ed.), Immunoassay: A practical guide. Academic Press, San Diego, 1987.
- 7 R. Ekins, Toward immunoassays of greater sensitivity, specificity and speed: an overview. In: A. Albertini and R. Ekins (Eds.), Monoclonal antibodies and developments in immunoassay. Elsevier/ North-Holland Biomedical Press, New York (1981) 3–21.
- 8 S. Inbar, G. Grenner, J. Blackwood, E. Long, M. Bowen and F. Meneghini, Dry chemistry thin film immunoassay. Ann. Biol. Clin., 48 (1990) 385–390.
- 9 M.T. O'Connell, N. Ratnaraj, A.A. Elyas, M.H. Doheny, S. Darsot, P.N. Patsalos, A comparison of the OPUS and TDx analysers for antiepileptic drug monitoring. Ther. Drug Monit., 17 (1995) 549–555.
- 10 M. Picardo and K.T. Hughes, Scintillation proximity assays. In: J.P. Devlin (Ed.), High throughput screening. Marcel Dekker, New York, 1997, 307–316.

- A. Castro and R. Mittleman, Determination of drugs of abuse in body fluids by radioimmunoassay. Clin. Biochem., 11 (1978) 103–105.
- 12 M. DeRemer, R. D'Ambrosio, L. Bartos, S. Cousins and G.D. Morse, Radioimmunoassay of zidovudine: extended use and potential application. Ther. Drug Monit., 19 (1997) 195–200.
- 13 M. Tschop, H.M. Bere, E. Nieschlag, R.A. Dressendorfer and C.J. Strasburger, A time-resolved fluorescence immunoassay for the measurement of testosterone in saliva: monitoring of testosterone replacement therapy with testosterone buciclate. Clin. Chem. Lab. Med., 36 (1998) 223–230.
- 14 M. Tuomola, K.M. Cooper, S. Lahdenpera, G.A. Baxter, C.T. Elliott, D.G. Kennedy and T. Lovgren, A specificity-enhanced time-resolved fluoroimmunoassay for zeranol employing the dry reagent allin-one-well principle. Analyst 127 (2002) 83–86.
- 15 M. Zaninotto, S. Secchiero, S.C. Paleari and A. Burlina. Performance of a fluorescence polarization immunoassay system evaluated by therapeutic monitoring of four drugs. Ther. Drug Monit., 14 (1992) 301–305.
- 16 S.H.Y. Wong. Therapeutic drug monitoring for immunosuppressants. Clin. Chim. Acta., 313 (2001) 241–253.
- 17 E. Hanseler and H. Keller, Sensitivity and specificity of cocaine metabolite screening in view of the analytical performance of a fluorescence polarisation immunoassay. Eur. J. Clin. Chem. Clin. Biochem., 32 (1994) 865–871.
- 18 D.A. Armbruster, R.H. Schwarzhoff, E.C. Hubster and M.K. Liserio, Enzyme immunoassay, kinetic microparticle immunoassay, radioimmunoassay, and fluorescence polarization immunoassay compared for drugs-of-abuse screening. Clin. Chem., 39 (1993) 2137–2146.
- 19 E. Ullman and P. Khanna, Fluorescence excitation transfer immunoassays. In: S.P. Colwick and N.O. Kaplan (Eds.), Methods in enzymology, Vol. 74. Academic Press, New York, 1981, 28–60.
- 20 F.P. Anderson and W.G. Miller, Fiber optic immunochemical sensor for continuous, reversible measurement of phenytoin. Clin. Chem., 34 (1988) 1417–1421.
- 21 M. Plebani and A. Burlina, Fluorescence energy transfer immunoassay of digoxin in serum. Clin. Chem., 31 (1985) 1879–1881.
- 22 T. Porstmann and S.T. Kiessig, Enzyme immunoassay techniques: an overview. J. Immunol. Methods, 150 (1992) 5–21.
- 23 K. Matalka, T. El-Thaher, M. Saleem, T. Arafat, A. Jehanli and A. Badwan, Enzyme linked immunosorbent assay for determination of amlodipine in plasma. J. Clin. Lab. Anal., 15 (2001) 47–53.
- 24 C.L. Ownby, S.L. Reisbeck and R. Allen, Levels of therapeutic antivenin and venom in a human snakebite victim. South Med. J., 89 (1996) 803–806.
- 25 S.H. Jenkins. Homogeneous enzyme immunoassay. J. Immunol. Methods, 150 (1992) 91–97.
- 26 T.N. Higgins, Enzyme immunoassay of valproic acid using the Abbott ABA-200 analyzer. Clin. Biochem., 16 (1983) 222–223.
- 27 E. Miller, C. Walberg and L.J. Haywood, Rapid assessment of lidocaine in cardiac patients by enzyme immunoassay. Ther. Drug Monit., 3 (1981) 85–89.
- 28 L.T. Weber, M. Shipkova, V.W. Armstrong, N. Wagner, E. Schutz, O. Mehls, L.B. Zimmerhackl, M. Oellerich and B. Tonshoff, Comparison of the Emit immunoassay with HPLC for therapeutic drug monitoring of mycophenolic acid in pediatric renal-transplant recipients on mycophenolate mofetil therapy. Clin. Chem., 48 (2002) 517–525.
- 29 W.L. Roberts, T.M. Annesley, B.K. De, L. Moulton, J.M. Juenke and T.P. Moyer, Performance characteristics of four free phenytoin immunoassays. Ther. Drug Monit., 23 (2001) 148–154.
- 30 G.W. Kunsman, J.E. Manno, K.R. Cockerham and B.R. Manno, Application of the Syva EMIT and Abbott TDx amphetamine immunoassays to the detection of 3,4-methylene-dioxymethamphetamine (MDMA) and 3,4-methylene-dioxyethamphetamine (MDEA) in urine. J. Anal. Toxicol., 14 (1990) 149–153.
- 31 C.J. Charlier and G.J. Plomteux, Evaluation of Emit® Tox benzodiazepine and barbiturate assays on the Vitalab Viva analyzer and FPIA on the Abbott Adx analyzer. Clin. Chem. Lab. Med., 38 (2000) 615–618.
- 32 W.D. Engel and P.L. Khanna, CEDIA® in vitro diagnostics with a novel homogeneous immunoassay technique: current status and future prospects. J. Immunol. Methods, 150 (1992) 99–102.

- 33 E. Schutz, D. Svinarov, M. Shipkova, P.-D. Niedmann, V.W. Armstrong, E. Wieland and ?. Oellerich, Cyclosporin whole blood immunoassays (AxSYM, CEDIA, and Emit): a critical overview of performance characteristics and comparison with HPLC. Clin. Chem., 44 (1998) 2158–2164.
- 34 Klein G, Collinsworth W, Courbe A, Diez O, Domke I, Hanseler E, et al. Results of the multicenter evaluation of the CEDIA® phenobarbital assay. Wein Klin Wochenschr Suppl., 191 (1992) 41–47.
- 35 W.D. Engel and P.L. Khanna, CEDIA in vitro diagnostics with a novel homogeneous immunoassay technique. Current status and future prospects. J. Immunol. Methods, 150 (1992) 99–102.
- 36 R.C. Meatherall and A.D. Fraser, CEDIA dau benzodiazepine screening assay: a reformulation. J. Anal. Toxicol., 22 (1998) 270–273.
- 37 D.A. Armbruster, E.C. Hubster, M.S. Kaufman and M.K. Ramon, Cloned enzyme donor immunoassay (CEDIA) for drugs-of-abuse screening. Clin. Chem., 41 (1995) 92–98.
- 38 Y. Seto, T. Iba and K. Abe, Development of ultra-high sensitivity bioluminescent enzyme immunoassay for prostate-specific antigen (PSA) using firefly luciferase. Luminescence 16 (2001) 285–290.
- 39 A.M. Siddiqi, V.M. Jennings, M.R. Kidd, J.K. Actor and R.L. Hunter, Evaluation of electrochemiluminescence- and bioluminescence-based assays for quantitating specific DNA. J. Clin. Lab. Anal., 10 (1996) 423–431.
- 40 L.J. Kricka, Chemiluminescent and bioluminescent techniques. Clin. Chem., 37 (1991) 1472–1481.
- 41 E.L. Frank, E.L. Schwarz, J. Juenke, T.M. Annesley and W.L. Roberts, Performance characteristics of four immunoassays for antiepileptic drugs on the IMMULITE 2000 automated analyzer. Am. J. Clin. Pathol., 18 (2002) 124–131.
- 42 C. Grimshaw, C. Gleason, E. Chojnicki and J. Young, Development of an equilibrium immunoassay using electrochemiluminescent detection for a novel recombinant protein product and its application to pre-clinical product development. J. Pharm. Biomed. Analysis, 16 (1997) 605–612.
- 43 I. Bronstein, B. Edwards and J.C. Voyta, 1,2-dioxetanes: novel chemiluminescent enzyme substrates. Applications to immunoassays. J. Biolumin. Chemilumin, 4 (1989) 99–111.
- 44 I. Janda, H. Jaensch, J. Braun and W.G. Wood, A comparison of four immunometric assays for myeloperoxidase using luminescent and colorimetric signal detection. J. Clin. Chem. Clin. Biochem, 28 (1990) 475–480.
- 45 G.G. Klee, Human anti-mouse antibodies. Arch. Pathol. Lab. Med., 124 (2000) 921–923.
- 46 L.E. Miles, Properties, variants, and applications of the immunoradiometric assay method. Ric. Clin. Lab., 5 (1975) 59–72.
- 47 J.T. Wu and S.E. Christensen, Effect of different test designs of immunoassays on "Hook Effect" of CA 19–9 measurement. J. Clin. Lab. Analysis, 5 (1991) 228–232.
- 48 F.S. Apple, Clinical and analytical standardization issues confronting cardiac troponin I. Clin. Chem., 45 (1999) 18–20.
- 49 A.H. Wu, Y.J. Feng, R. Moore, F.S. Apple, P.H. McPherson, K.F. Buechler et al., Characterization of cardiac troponin subunit release into serum after acute myocardial infarction and comparison of assays for troponin T and I. American Association for Clinical Chemistry Subcommittee on cTnI Standardization. Clin. Chem., 44 (1998) 1198–208.
- 50 A.L. Somerville, D.H. Wright and J.C. Rotschafer, Implications of Vancomycin degradation products on therapeutic drug monitoring in patients with end-stage renal disease. Pharmacotherapy 19 (1999) 702–707.
- 51 S.L. Wu, W. Li, A. Wells and A. Dasgupta, Digoxin-like and digitoxin-like immunoreactive substances in elderly people. Am. J. Clin. Pathol., 115 (2001) 600–604.
- 52 W. Steimer, C. Muller, B. Eber and K. Emmanuilidis, Intoxication due to negative canrenone interference in digoxin drug monitoring. Lancet 354 (1999) 1176–1177.
- 53 M.R. Peace, L.D. Tarnai and A. Poklis, Performance evaluation of four on-site drug-testing devices for detection of drugs of abuse in urine. J. Anal. Toxicol., 24 (2000) 589–594.
- 54 C.P. Price and D.J. Newman (Eds.), Principles and practice of immunoassay (2nd ed.). Stockton Press, New York, 1997.

CHAPTER 5

# Validation of bioanalytical methods

# S. Berthier

Novartis Pharma AG, Bioanalytics and Pharmacokinetics, CH-4002 Basel, Switzerland

# 5.1 INTRODUCTION

The validation of bioanalytical methods has been the topic of many discussions over the past decades. Although some degree of consensus has been reached concerning the requirements for acceptable method validation [1], the procedures were significantly different between laboratories. Since the release of the "Guidance for Industry in Bioanalytical Method Validation" on May 2001 [2], it is much clearer what is requested regarding method validation, especially regarding physical techniques (HPLC, LC/MS/MS, ...). This guidance provides general recommendations for bioanalytical method validation. The recommendations can be modified depending on the analytical method and based on scientific knowledge.

Based on this guidance, this chapter describes both aspects of the validation. First of all, the validation prior to starting the sample analysis (pre-study validation) and secondly, the within-study validation.

## 5.2 REQUIREMENTS FOR BIOANALYTICAL METHODS

Prior to starting any validation, some requirements need to be fulfilled. A non-exhaustive list of actions is listed below.

- The good laboratory practices [3] must be implemented in the laboratory willing to validate a bioanalytical method.
- Solutions, solvents, chemicals, reagents, analytes and internal standards used in the laboratory should be labeled in such a way that their identity, concentration (if applicable), date of preparation (if applicable) and expiry date (if applicable), initials of person who prepared a solution or first user, as well as storage instructions (e.g. temperature, dark) appear clearly. Outdated materials should not be used.
- The operation, maintenance and qualification (IQ, OQ, cFT, PQ, cPT) of all devices, instruments, hardware and software (e.g. centrifuge, pipette, balance, evaporation

device, immunoassay equipment, LC-MS system, ...) used in the bioanalytical method must be properly performed and documented.

- All laboratory staff members must receive adequate training in the use of the particular apparatus and in the follow-up of all the laboratory procedures.
- The procedures for the validation of bioanalytical method must be documented prior to performing the validation in a "Standard Operating Procedure".

## 5.3 PRE-STUDY VALIDATION

#### 5.3.1 Scope

A new analytical method or an existing analytical method, whether transferred between laboratories or between instruments or applied to different species or matrices, should be properly validated prior to use.

Formal validation of a new analytical method includes the analysis of sufficient numbers of quality control samples and calibration standards to adequately describe the calibration model, accuracy, precision (intra- and inter-day), sensitivity, selectivity, and limit of quantitation of the method, as well as the stability of the tested component(s). When applied to the development and validation of a method for stereoisomers, each isomer (enantiomer, diastereomer) must be treated as an individual chemical entity/ component, if deemed necessary. The pre-study validation must be performed in the matrices foreseen in future studies. However, the pre-study validation could be extended to other matrices by doing additional experiments.

The objectives of the pre-study validation are to:

- to establish standards (within the limits described in the following procedure) and/or criteria sufficient to validate a new chromatographic or binding assay-based analytical method intended for use in clinical drug disposition, pharmacokinetics, bioavailability/bioequivalency or toxicology studies.
- to describe standards and/or criteria sufficient to qualify a fully validated analytical method that is transferable between laboratories or between instruments or that is to be applied to a different species or sample matrix.

## 5.3.2 Validation procedure for a new analytical method

## 5.3.2.1 General information

An analytical method has to be validated for the intended use prior to the time of its application. The anticipated and/or necessary dynamic concentration range is to be estimated based on available preliminary data.

Validation of an analytical method in a matrix of human origin should be carried out using at least three batches of matrix for QC samples, and six for zero and matrix blank samples, where each batch is collected from a different source. Each run should contain a calibration curve, QC samples, a zero sample (matrix containing only internal standard), a blank sample (no internal standard), and a reference standard (sample containing only the analyte of interest). The QC samples in each run should be prepared from a different batch of matrix; however, the calibration curves for all validation runs should be prepared from the same batch of matrix. In animals, when obtaining large volumes of matrix from individual animals is difficult, all validation runs may be performed using a single pooled batch of matrix.

## 5.3.2.2 Reference standard(s)

If possible, the reference standard should be identical to the analyte. When this is not possible, an established chemical form (free base or acid, salt or ester) of known purity can be used as a surrogate. The reference standard(s) is to be of good assay quality (typically >95% purity). The source and lot number, certificate(s) of analysis, and/or other evidence of identity and purity should be obtained. All reference materials should be checked prior to use to determine if there are significant interfering chromatographic peaks at the retention time of the analyte and/or the internal standard using the analytical procedure to be used in the study.

## 5.3.2.3 Calibration curve

The calibration curve is to be established for each analyte in the sample and consistently applied throughout the method validation. Both linear and well-characterised non-linear calibration relationships are acceptable, however, the simplest workable regression equation should be used. Selection of the regression model should be rationalised. Results from "zero or blank" standards should not be used as part of the calibration curve except for some binding assays. A calibration curve must be freshly prepared and run on each validation day.

- Calibration standards of the test component(s) are to be prepared in the same biological matrix as the samples in the intended study.
- The matrix used for preparation of C standards and QC samples must be from the same species.
- If possible, the matrix used for preparation of C standards should be from the same batch over the whole pre-study validation.
- The origin and lot number of the matrices should be identified and reported.
- The calibration curve should consist of at least six concentration levels.

For chromatographic assays the calibration standards are prepared and analyzed in duplicate over the concentration range studied. The lowest calibration standard concentration should be at the anticipated LLOQ and the highest calibration standard concentration at the ULOQ. The remaining concentration levels are to be appropriately distributed throughout the calibration range in order to adequately define the curve.

For binding assays the calibration standards are prepared singly and analyzed in duplicate (or triplicate according to the specific procedure) over the concentration range studied. The lowest calibration standard concentration should be at or below the concentration corresponding to the expected LLOQ. The highest calibration standard concentration should be at or above the concentration corresponding to the expected ULOQ.

- Back-calculated values for the calibration standards within the working range should meet the following criteria:
  - 15% deviation from expected concentration.
  - At least two-thirds (with a minimum of 6 different levels) of the non-zero standards meeting the above criteria, including LLOQ and ULOQ levels (for chromatographic assays). Excluding the standards should not change the regression model used.

# 5.3.2.4 Quality control samples

Results from the analysis of QC samples are to be used to validate the analytical method with regard to accuracy, precision, sensitivity, selectivity and stability. Solutions prepared from a weighing different from that used for calibration standard(s) preparation are to be used to prepare the QC samples. The QC samples should cover the anticipated dynamic concentration range of the method.

- QC samples must be prepared at a minimum of four concentrations with one at the anticipated LLOQ, one within 3-times the LLOQ, one approximately midway between the high and low QC concentrations, and one close to the highest C concentration (or at the anticipated ULOQ for binding assays).
- QC samples should be prepared from different batches of matrix on each validation day.
- Intra-day data: A minimum of five replicates prepared from the same matrix for each QC concentration must be analyzed on each validation day. For binding assays, each replicate may consist of 2 or more concentration determinations.
- Inter-day data: Samples must be analyzed on a minimum of three validation assays (six for binding assays), resulting in n≥15 (n≥30 for binding assays) at each QC concentration used.
- Acceptance criteria for accuracy and precision

Accuracy	Accuracy (%) = [measured value/expected value] $\times 100$	
Acceptance criteria based on the mean value at each concentration level	Chromatographic assays 85–115% (80–120% at the LLOQ)	Binding assays 85–115% (80–120% at the LLOQ & ULOQ)
Precision	Precision (%) = CV (%) = (Standard Deviation/Mean) $\times 100$	
Acceptance criteria at each concentration level	Chromatographic assays $\leq 15\%$ ( $\leq 20\%$ at the LLOQ)	Binding assays ≤15% (≤20% at the LLOQ & ULOQ)

Validation of the method should include demonstration of method performance meeting or exceeding the above accuracy and precision acceptance criteria within (intraday) and between (inter-day) validation days for each QC sample concentration.

All results other than those rejected for analytical/technical reasons should be used in the calculation of the accuracy and precision of the method.

If the above criteria are not met (e.g. for binding assays showing a higher variability related to compound, matrix or antigen-antibody reaction), new acceptance criteria must be redefined and documented accordingly.

### 5.3.2.5 Sensitivity

The establishment of the LLOQ must be based on the statistical analysis of QC samples meeting accuracy and precision acceptance criteria detailed in above section.

#### 5.3.2.6 Absolute extraction recovery and matrix effect

The absolute extraction recovery and matrix effect for all analytes should be evaluated, whenever possible, at a minimum of three QC concentrations (low, medium and high) spanning the calibration curve for the analyte(s) and at the concentration used in the method for the ISTD.

- Absolute extraction recovery: comparison of the analytical response of spiked sample to the response of 'blank' sample extract spiked with the analyte.
- Matrix effect: comparison of the analytical response of ëblankí sample extract spiked with the analyte to the response of 'neat/unextracted' solution analyzed directly.

## 5.3.2.7 Selectivity

The selectivity of the analytical method must be investigated to address the following: For chromatographic assays:

- A minimum of 6 different batches of the same biological matrix should be tested for potential interferences.
- A minimum of 5 replicates of ëblankí samples from the same batch should be prepared and analyzed.

For each batch of 'blank' samples the mean response of interfering peaks at the retention time of the analyte should be less than 20% of the mean response  $(n \ge 5)$  of the LLOQ standard.

The mean response of interfering peaks at the retention time of the ISTD should be  $\leq 5\%$  of the mean response (n  $\geq 5$ ) of the ISTD concentration to be used in studies.

If one batch of the 'blank' samples exhibits interferences exceeding the above acceptance criteria at the retention time of the drug, metabolites or ISTD, additional matrix 'blank' samples should be tested.

If one 'blank' sample from this subsequent group still shows interference, either the method should be changed to eliminate the interference, or the LLOQ (or the ISTD concentration, depending on the interferences) should be re-evaluated.

• When using ISTD, 'zero' samples should be prepared and analyzed for potential interferences at the retention time of the analyte(s).

- If the method is intended to quantify more than one analyte, each analyte should be chromatographed separately to ensure that impurities or contributions (crosstalk effect) from one analyte do not interfere in the determination of another analyte.
- Any potentially interfering substances (i.e.known metabolites, concomitant medication if already defined, anticoagulants, ...) are to be investigated/included, as required.

For binding assays:

- A minimum of 6 different batches of the same biological matrix should be tested for potential interferences.
- Potentially interfering/cross-reacting substances (e.g. known metabolites, similar proteins, analogues, anticoagulants, etc.) are to be investigated during method development whenever possible.

# 5.3.2.8 Stability

Stability of the test component(s) in the stock solution (whenever possible) and in the biological matrix must be evaluated. In addition, the stability of the test component(s) under assay conditions must be evaluated. For investigations concerning non-stock solution stability, samples spiked at two different concentrations (low, high) must be analyzed in triplicate and quantified versus a freshly prepared standard curve. In the event that the average accuracy of the test component(s) is less than 85% at a given concentration, appropriate measures should be undertaken to address component(s) instability.

# (1) Stock Solution stability

Stability of the stock/spiking solutions of analyte and ISTD should be evaluated at room temperature for at least 6 hours. If the stock/spiking solutions are refrigerated or frozen for the relevant period, the stability should be documented. After completion of the desired storage time, the stability should be tested by comparing the instrument response with that of freshly prepared solutions.

# (2) Short-Term stability

Stability must be evaluated at room temperature in the sample matrix for 4 to 24 hours. The length of time evaluated will be at least as long as the amount of time required for samples to be extracted during the normal assay process.

# (3) Long-Term stability

Long term storage stability will be evaluated at approximately 1 week and 1 month when frozen (at the intended storage temperature, e.g. at or below  $-18^{\circ}$ C). Quality control samples will be prepared and frozen to evaluate long-term stability up to the needed time interval (e.g. 12 months) but will be analyzed only if deemed necessary. Long-term stability should be demonstrated over a period of time which exceeds the time between the collection and analysis of any given study sample. The results from long-term stability experiments can be documented in an amendment to the analytical method report. Long-term stability investigations may also be conducted on incurred samples from actual studies to supplement the stability data obtained from spiked samples. True samples spanning the entire therapeutic concentration range (low, high) may be investigated if available. If an analyte is unstable at or below  $-18^{\circ}$ C, stability should be reassessed at or below  $-70^{\circ}$ C.

Note: In case of a long term stability assay performed on QC samples, the mean value measured at one concentration after the storage period is compared to the concentration value measured on the preparation day (before storage) and not to the nominal spiked concentration value.

## (4) Freeze and Thaw stability

Spiked samples at low and high concentrations must be subjected to a minimum of three 'freeze-thaw' cycles and must be analyzed in triplicate. Samples should be stored at or below  $-18^{\circ}$ C (or the intended storage temperature) for 24 hours and thawed unassisted at room temperature. When completely thawed, the samples should be transferred back to the original freezer and kept frozen for 12 to 24 hours. This cycle of thawing and freezing should be repeated two more times, then analyzed on the third cycle.

## (5) Post-Preparative Stability

Stability must be investigated under routine assay conditions (i.e. during storage in an autosampler, workstation and/or robotic system) on a case by-case or need-to-know basis. Stability of processed samples in the autosampler should be determined at the autosampler temperature that will be used during study sample analysis and over the run time for the batch size to be used in studies.

## 5.3.2.9 Dilution

Additional QC and/or real samples are analyzed in replicate at various dilutions performed in the biological matrix (e.g. 1:2, 1:10, 1:50) to validate the possible dilution during study sample analysis.

# 5.3.3 Validation procedure for an existing method

# 5.3.3.1 Method transfer between laboratories and/or instruments

In cases where a validated method is transferred to another laboratory (including outsourcing laboratories) or to another instrument, the receiving laboratory must qualify the method to insure adequate method performance prior to the analysis of study samples. The intra-day validation (and inter-day, if necessary) described in Section 5.3.2 should be performed, but using only one matrix. The results from the analysis of QC samples must meet the acceptance criteria outlined in Section 5.3.2.

# 5.3.3.2 Modifications to an existing assay

When changes are made to a previously validated method, the analyst should exercise good scientific judgment as to how much additional validation is needed.

For minor modifications, such as a change in the ratio of solvents for elution, a change in buffer system, the number of extractions of the biological matrix, or a small change in column temperature to obtain better separation, only partial validation may be

recommended (intra-day performance). The effect of minor changes to the method may be monitored by the generation of ongoing within-study QC results from subsequent sample runs.

If the method requires significant modification, the validation will be performed to the extent determined appropriate by laboratory head or his/her designee. Examples of significant changes to a method include new extraction procedures, different incubation times and different stationary or mobile phases.

## 5.3.3.3 Application to different species or matrices

In cases where a validated method is to be applied to another species or sample matrix, a validation should be performed in the new matrix prior to the analysis of study samples. QC samples at a minimum of four concentrations must be analyzed in five replicates on at least one day. The matrix used for the preparation of C standards and QC samples should be the same. ëBlankí samples from different batches of the new species/ matrix should be tested for potential interferences, if possible.

Note: Care has to be taken to store spiked and/or true samples for testing long-term stability in the concerned species or sample matrix.

If the accuracy and precision results do not meet the criteria outlined in Section 5.3.2, a full method validation including selectivity, recovery and stability experiments, as appropriate, should be performed. If the analyst can justify a less rigorous validation than described above, a brief justification and description must be documented in the raw data of the study. Also, if a limited supply of the appropriate matrix prevents the performance of the testing specified above, it should be clearly documented.

## 5.3.4 Documentation and archiving

Formally issued laboratory notebooks, daily worksheets and all related project files are the media for recording and storage/archiving of pertinent raw data.

## 5.4 WITHIN STUDY VALIDATION

#### 5.4.1 Scope

The within-study validation describes the bioanalytical procedures performed for the within-study method validation: standardization, quality control samples, acceptance criteria and criteria for selection of samples for repeat analysis.

## 5.4.2 Procedure

Before starting any pivotal study, the pre-study validation should have successfully passed.

Separate weighings should be used for the preparation of calibration sample stock solution(s) and QC sample stock solution(s).

When using a commercially available kit, the manufacturer's recommendations and procedures should be followed.

#### 5.4.2.1 Daily calibration curve

Both linear and nonlinear calibration models are used as defined in the pre-study validation.

#### 5.4.2.1.1 Chromatographic assays

Results from 'zero or blank' are not used in the construction of the calibration curve. Calibration curves are processed on each analysis run.

The daily calibration curve must consist of a minimum of six levels of standard in duplicate. A logarithmic distribution of the calibration levels makes a better curve fitting, especially when using weighting factor. The same curve fitting, weighting determined during validation should be used for the standard curve within the study.

#### 5.4.2.1.2 Binding assays

The daily calibration curve should consist of standards prepared singly and analysed at least in duplicate at a minimum of six concentrations. The replicate responses or concentrations are averaged for the construction of the calibration curve. A blank matrix sample should also be prepared and analysed along with the calibration standards.

### 5.4.2.1.3 Acceptance criteria

For all standard curves (Chromatographic and binding assays), apply the following acceptance criteria:

Acceptance is based upon "back-calculated" concentration values for each standard within the working range. Individual values (or averaged values in case of software limitation) for which the bias is  $>\pm 15\%$  from the theoretical value ( $>\pm 20\%$  at the LLOQ for chromatographic methods) can be excluded from the calibration curve, and the regression analysis reprocessed, provided that the established model does not change. For the calibration curve to be considered acceptable, maximally 1/4 of the individual standards can fail the above acceptance criteria, but at least six standard levels need to be accepted. However, at least one replicate at the lowest and highest calibration level must be within the acceptance range. In case of binding assays, less than 6 calibration levels within the working range can be accepted.

## 5.4.2.1.4 LLOQ and ULOQ

The Lower Limit of Quantification is defined for chromatographic assays on a routine basis as the lowest "acceptable" concentration used in the daily calibration curve; for binding assays, the LLOQ is defined as the lowest "acceptable" QC sample concentration. In general there is only one LLOQ for a study (for a given volume of matrix).

The Upper limit of quantification is defined for chromatographic assays on a routine basis as the highest "acceptable" concentration used in the daily calibration curve; for binding assays, the ULOQ is defined as the highest "acceptable" QC sample concentration.

## 5.4.2.2 Quality control samples

Quality control samples: prepared at least at three different concentrations (low, mid and high) and analysed with each analytical run. For the lowest QC, concentration should not be higher than 3-times the LLOQ for chromatographic assays; for binding assays, the lowest QC sample defines the LLOQ. The highest QC sample concentration should be close to the ULOQ for chromatographic assays (the recommendation will be between 75% and 90% of the ULOQ). For binding assays, the highest QC sample defines the ULOQ. The mid QC should approximately range in the middle of the calibration curve. The logarithmic middle seems more logical due to the dynamic range.

The QC acceptance criteria for individual analytical runs is as follows:

Acceptance is based upon concentration values for each QC sample. At least 2/3 of the QC concentration values must be within 15% of their respective theoretical values, and at least 50% of the values at each QC concentration must be within this range.

If more than 50% of the values at the same QC concentration are outside the acceptance range for the accuracy [85–115%], the run should be rejected and all samples repeated. Only the repeat values will be reported.

Additionally, for binding assays one concentration value is derived from the mean of the duplicate analysis of one sample, for which the CV% should not exceed 20%.

Notes:

- The acceptance of a run is based on both acceptance for C standards and QC samples.
- When an assay has been validated with different acceptance criteria, the within-study validation follows the rules established during the pre-study validation.
- In case multiple analytes are analysed within a same run, only data from the analyte failing the acceptance criteria should be rejected.
- The QC samples should be arranged as considered appropriate within the run. Placement of standards and QC samples within a run should be designed to detect assay drift during the overall run time.
- The minimum number of QC samples should be at least 5% of the number of unknown samples or six total QCs, whichever is greater.

#### 5.4.2.3 Criteria for samples repeat analysis

# (1) Signal interference or peak distortion compromising the quantitation of the analyte and/or the internal standard (chromatographic method)

In this case, the sample will be repeated (given sufficient sample volume). Only the concentration of the repeat analysis will be reported. If no sample volume is available for repeat analysis, no result will be reported.

## (2) Technical problem

same as (1)

# (3) Values above the ULOQ

Repeat the analysis following appropriate dilution (in the appropriate matrix). The dilution should have been validated during the pre-study validation. Only the repeated result will be reported. If not enough sample is available, report concentration as: >ULOQ.

# (4) Unexpected value within the concentration-time profile

The analysis should be repeated based on scientific judgment if the obtained result is either twice or one half that expected based upon surrounding concentration values in the concentration *versus* time profile.

- If sufficient sample volume remains, analyse the suspect sample to generate three additional independent concentration values (i.e. in triplicate for chromatographic analysis, three sets of replicates where appropriate for binding assays). The median of the four values (original and the three repeat values) will be reported.
- If only two repeat analyses are possible, the median of the three values (original and the two repeat values) will be reported.
- If only one repeat analysis is possible:

Repeat value deviates by less than 15% of the original, the original value is reported.

Repeat value deviates by more than 15% and less than 30% of the original, the mean of both results is reported.

Repeat value deviates by more than 30% of the original, no result is reported.

- If not enough of the original sample is available, report the value, but tagged with "not enough sample to confirm the value".
- The pre-dose samples (i.e. taken before the first administration) are considered to be part of the concentration vs. time profile.

# (5) Values of control samples above the LLOQ

- If a control sample, which was analysed at the expected  $t_{max}$  of the concentration vs. time profile, is positive, analysis is repeated (if sufficient sample volume available) together with all samples from the concerned control animal.
- For sparse sampling studies, all the control samples will be analysed. If one control sample is found positive, a single repeat should be generated with a matrix blank from another source (as requested).
  - (a) Repeat value and blank are negative (i.e. below the LLOQ): the value will be reported as zero.
  - (b) Repeat value is positive and blank negative: the original value will be reported.
  - (c) Repeat value and blank are positive: the repeat analysis is not valid and the analyst should define and solve the probable analytical problem, before re-analysis, if possible.

# (6) CV% between replicates is not acceptable (binding assays)

If the CV% value (for concentration >LLOQ) between duplicate calculated concentrations is higher than 20% a single repeat should be generated. If a higher variability has been shown during the prestudy validation, a CV% higher than 20% can be accepted.

### (7) Cs and/or QCs out of acceptance criteria

If the acceptance criteria for Cs and/or QCs are not fulfilled, the run must be rejected and the analysis of all unknown samples must be repeated. The concentrations found after reanalysis are reported and listed in the sample repeat table.

### 5.4.3 Documentation

### (1) Performance of the method

The intra-day performance for C standards and QC samples should be documented in the raw data.

A summary table of all Cs with the inter-day performance should be reported for all validated runs. In this table, the values of Cs considered as outlier, excluded for the regression analysis of the calibration curve, should also be reported and tagged. However, they are not taken into consideration for the calculations.

All QC results measured in accepted analysis runs are reported in a summary table including inter-assay (overall) accuracy and precision. In this table, the values of QCs considered as outlier are reported, tagged or highlighted, and used for the overall calculations.

Invalidated run should also be reported in the recapitulative table with the date of the run and the reason of the lack of validation.

### (2) Repeat analysis

A recapitulative table including all the repeated samples and the reason of reassay should be documented and archived with the raw data for each study.

## (3) Chromatograms for clinical studies

- For pivotal bioequivalence studies, chromatograms from 20% of serially selected subjects with standards and QC samples from those analytical runs should be appended to the report.
- In other clinical studies, serial chromatograms from 5% of randomly selected subjects in each study should be reported with standards and QC samples from those analytical runs.

### (4) Reintegrated data

In case of manual peak re-integration, the documentation should include the initial and repeat integration results, the reason for the reintegration and the method used for reintegration.

#### (5) Biological matrix

The biological matrix used for the preparation of Cs and QCs should be identified by its origin and reported.

# 5.5 DEFINITIONS

Accuracy	Closeness of the concentration value obtained by the method to the known true concentration value of the analyte.	
Analysis "Day or Run or Sequence"	A set of C standards, blanks with and without internal standard, if appropriate, QC samples, reference for chromatography if available and unknown samples that are batch processed together.	
Analyte	The substance being measured in the analytical proce- dure, e.g. the test item and metabolites (except internal standards).	
'Blank' sample	Sample to which neither analyte(s) nor internal stan- dard has been added.	
Calibration curve	A set of prepared calibration standards used to define the relationship between instrument response and known concentrations of the analyte.	
Calibration Standard	A biological matrix to which a known amount of analyte has been added. Calibration standards are used to construct calibration curves from which the concen- trations of analytes in QC samples and in unknown samples are determined.	
Concurrent Functional Testing	consists in maintaining the main functions of the system in a proper state during its operational use. This activity is performed during a vendor qualification and clearly documented.	
Concurrent Performance Testing	consists in tracking the relevant performance data during routine analysis and must be performed and documented to ensure <i>continuous performance</i> of the system.	
Control animal	Animal dosed with the control article or the vehicule, but not with the test article.	
Control sample	Sample collected from control animal.	
Crosstalk effect	In mass spectrometry, the determination of two analytes at the same retention time which could interfere.	

References p. 128
Incurred sample	Sample taken from clinical or pre-clinical studies.
Internal standard	Test compound (e.g. structurally similar analog, stable labeled isotope) added to both standards and samples at known and constant concentration to facilitate quantifi- cation of the target analyte(s).
Installation Qualification	Establishing confidence that process equipment and ancillary systems are compliant with appropriate codes and approved design intentions, and that manufacturer's recommendations are suitably considered.
Lower limit of quantification	The lowest concentration of an analyte in a sample that can be quantitatively determined with suitable precision and accuracy.
Matrix effect	The direct or indirect alteration or interference in response due to the presence of unintended analytes (for analysis) or other interfering substances in the sample.
Operational Qualification	Establishing confidence that process equipment and sub-systems are capable of consistently operating within established limits and tolerances.
Performance Qualification	Establishing confidence that the process is effective and reproducible.
Precision	Closeness of individual measures of an analyte when the method is applied repeatedly to multiple aliquots of the same biological sample.
Quality Control sample	A spiked sample used to monitor the performance of a bioanalytical method and to assess the integrity and validity of the results of the unknown samples analyzed in an individual batch.
Recovery	Detector response obtained from an amount of the analyte added to and recovered from the biological matrix, compared to the detector response obtained from a blank extract.
Selectivity	Ability of an analytical method to differentiate and quantitate the analyte in the presence of other con- stituents in the sample. It refers directly to the ability of the method to produce a concentration dependent response to a single analyte.

Solution	An homogeneous mixture of a liquid (solvent) with a solute, e.g. analytes, internal standards, antibodies, organic and anorganic salts.
Spiked sample	Blank sample spiked with one or more analytes.
Stability	The physico-chemical stability of an analyte in a given matrix under specific storage conditions for given time intervals.
Upper limit of quantification	The highest amount of an analyte in a sample that can be quantitatively determined with suitable precision and accuracy.
Working range	Range of concentration defined between the LLOQ and the ULOQ.
'Zero' sample	Sample spiked with internal standard only.

### **5.6 ABBREVIATIONS**

Accuracy (%)	= $100 \times$ (mean observed or back calculated value)/ expected value
Bias (%)	= $100 \times [(\text{mean observed or back calculated value}) \tilde{n}]$ expected value]/expected value
С	Calibration
cFT	Concurrent Functional Testing
cPT	Concurrent Performance Testing
CV	Precision: Coefficient of variation = $100 \times SD/mean$
GLP	Good Laboratory Practice
HPLC/MS/MS	High performance liquid chromatography/Tandem
	mass spectrometry
ISTD	Internal standard
IQ	Installation Qualification
LC	Liquid chromatography
LLOQ	Lower limit of quantification
MS	Mass spectrometry
OQ	Operational Qualification
PQ	Performance Qualification
QC	Quality control
SD	Standard deviation
ULOQ	Upper limit of quantification

#### **5.7 REFERENCES**

- V.P. Shah, K.K. Midha, S. Dighe, I.J. McGilveray, J.P. Skelly, A. Yacobi, T. Layloff, C.T. Viswanathan, C. Edgar Cook, R.D. McDowall, K.A. Pittman and S. Spector, Analytical methods validation: bioavailability, bioequivalence and pharmacokinetic studies. Pharmaceut. Res., 9 (1992) 588–592.
- 2 Guidance for industry, bioanalytical method validation, U.S. Department of Health and Human services, Food and Drug Administration, Center of Drug Evaluation and Research (CDER), Center of Veterinary Medecine (CVM), May 2001.
- 3 OECD (Organisation for Economic Co-Operation and Development) Series on Principles of Good Laboratory Practice and Compliance Monitoring, OECD Principles on Good Laboratory Practice (as revised in 1997).

#### CHAPTER 6

# Pharmacokinetic methods for analysis, interpretation, and management of TDM data, and for individualizing drug dosage regimens optimally

Roger Jelliffe<sup>1</sup>, Alan Schumitzky<sup>1</sup>, David Bayard<sup>2</sup>, Michael Van Guilder<sup>1</sup>, Robert Leary<sup>3</sup>, Andreas Botmen<sup>4</sup>, Ashutosh Gandhi<sup>1</sup>, Pascal Maire<sup>5</sup>, Xavier Barbaut<sup>6</sup>, Nathalie Bleyzac<sup>5</sup>, Irina Bondareva<sup>7</sup> and Michael Neely<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Laboratory of Applied Pharmacokinetics, U.S.C School of Medicine, Los Angeles CA, 90033, USA <sup>2</sup> Guidance and Control Section, Jet Propulsion Laboratory, Pasadena CA, 91109, USA <sup>3</sup> San Diego Supercomputer Center, UCSD, San Diego CA 92093, USA <sup>4</sup> Center for Bioinformatics, University of Oslo, Norway <sup>5</sup> UMR CNRS 5558, ADCAPT, Hospices Civils de Lyon, France <sup>6</sup> Hospice de Beaune, France <sup>7</sup> Institute of Physical and Chemical Medicine, Moscow, Russia

### 6.1 INTRODUCTION AND OVERVIEW

When a drug has a narrow margin of safety, we must keep its dosage not too low, where it is likely to be ineffective, and not too high, where it is likely to be toxic. We must carefully plan and individualize the dosage for each patient, to achieve some desired target goal such as a serum concentration or effect (the prothrombin time or its International Normalized Ratio, INR, for example), or its profile over time. As therapy proceeds, we should always observe the patient, and should often monitor serum concentrations or the effect at appropriate intervals. These intervals should be frequent enough so that we can evaluate the patient when there are relatively small changes in the total amount of drug in the body between observations, so that if toxicity develops, we can detect it in an early stage of its development, and can make the appropriate adjustment in dosage early, rather than later, after toxicity has become more severe and dangerous.

It is commonly said that one should individualize dosage to body weight and renal function, for example. But a specific therapeutic target goal is usually not explicitly stated. We usually do this, however, to control either the total amount of drug in the patient's body, or the serum concentration, for example, at a desired specific target value, usually within some general target "therapeutic range" of serum concentrations where most patients (but not all) do well, and where the incidence of toxicity is acceptably low. However, this is approach is appropriate only for the initial regimen, and it also ignores the opportunity to be gentle, moderate, or aggressive in the approach to the patient, according to each individual patient's need for the drug, with appropriate adjustments of dosage as necessary.

The expected risk of toxicity should be no greater that that which is warranted by the patient's need for the drug. In many cases, if the patient's need is not great, or is not acute, the target goal should first be one that is associated with a only low incidence or risk of toxicity, leading to a gentle dosage regimen. Based on the patient's response, the target goal can then be revised upward and a higher dosage given to achieve it. This, for example, is behind the "start low, go up slow" dosage policy so well advocated by Cohen [1].

### 6.1.1 Problems with "Therapeutic Ranges"

Therapeutic drug monitoring (TDM) cannot be done by the laboratory unassisted. Some laboratories have attempted to do this, without seeing the patient, reporting the measured serum concentration along with a statement of the usual therapeutic ranges of the concentrations over which most patients, but certainly not all, usually have done well. This is not optimal TDM. One simply cannot do optimal TDM without seeing the patient clinically.

Fig. 6.1 shows the usual means by which therapeutic ranges appear to have been obtained. It is usually stated that first, there is a "significant" incidence of therapeutic effects with increasing serum drug concentrations. This defines the beginning of the therapeutic range. Later on the incidence of toxic effects also becomes "significant", and the "toxic range" has been entered. The eye is drawn to the bends in each line in Fig. 6.1, and the classification of the apparent "therapeutic range" has been developed, published, and usually accepted without apparent further thought. This procedure does not consider the need to develop a gentle dosage regimen for a patient who needs only a gentle touch, or a more aggressive one for a patient who really needs the dosage "pushed". Another problem has been that special populations of patients have not had their special needs recognized. For example, it is well known that patients with atrial fibrillation need higher serum concentrations of digoxin, for example, usually averaging 2.0 ng/ml, (often said to be the top of the therapeutic range of digoxin serum concentrations for patients having regular sinus rhythm), for full control of their ventricular rate, and yet this has not been followed up by setting a special therapeutic range for patients with atrial fibrillation. It is a good example of how we have taught clinicians, in the interests of so-called "science", to turn away from their patients and their individual clinical situations, and to look at some measured laboratory value in a book somewhere which actually may or may not be relevant or optimal for that particular patient.



Fig. 6.1. General relationships usually found between serum drug concentrations and the incidence of therapeutic and toxic effects. The eye is drawn to the bends in the curves, and the therapeutic range is classified in relation to these bends. This qualitative procedure of classification discards the important quantitative relationship of the incidence of toxic effects versus serum concentration.

Those risks associated with being below the therapeutic window are usually associated with lack of effect. Those associated with being above the window are usually associated with toxicity. Each of these outcomes – subtherapeutic, therapeutic, or toxic – has not only its associated probability but also its own positive or negative quantitative utility function of goodness or badness. Optimizing such a complex set of probabilities and utilities becomes a most complex process, and is poorly amenable to rigorous clinical decision analysis.

The risks and benefits of using a therapeutic range or window are quite complex from the point of view of decision analysis. One could, for example, develop a dosage regimen to maximize the probability of having the patient's serum concentration be within some desirable therapeutic window. This sounds good at first, but the decisionmaking process rapidly becomes quite complex. One must also weigh the benefit and the probability of a desirable response against the risks, and their probabilities, of being outside that window, either below or above it.

#### 6.1.2 Setting specific target goals based on need

A more intuitive and individualized approach is to have no "window of neutrality" about a target, as in a therapeutic range. Based on the general relationship between serum concentration and incidence of toxicity as shown in Fig. 6.1, for example, one can select a specific target serum concentration goal to be achieved for a specific patient at a specific time after the dose. One does not want the patient to run any greater risk of toxicity than is justified by the patient's clinical need for the drug. Within that constraint, however, one wants to give the patient as much drug as possible, to get the maximum benefit.

In this approach, the risks of being just slightly above the desired target goal are only minimally different from those associated with being just slightly below it, in the sense of an infinitesimal difference as in calculus. Because of this, it appears easier, and also more intuitive for a clinician, to choose a specific target goal, and then to attempt to achieve or hit that goal with the greatest precision (least error) possible.

Because of all this, it is not enough any more for a clinical laboratory simply to report a measured serum concentration and the usual therapeutic range. A responsible clinician needs to be involved as well, to see the patient and to manage the clinical problem which the patient presents, aided by the data from the lab, and also aided by useful models and software for planning, monitoring, and adjusting drug dosage regimens for these patients. All this can easily be done using software developed for PC's, by clinical pharmacologists or clinical pharmacists using laptop machines, entering the data from the chart at the nurses station, doing the analyses, printing out the results for the chart, writing the appropriate orders, and moving on to see the next patient.

Without selecting a specific target goal, there can be no truly individualized drug therapy. Individualized drug therapy begins by setting a specific individualized target goal for each patient. The task of the clinician is to select, and then to hit, the desired target goal as precisely as possible. As soon as the initial regimen is given, the clinician's task is then to observe the patient's clinical response at appropriately frequent intervals, and to reevaluate whether the target goal was hit precisely enough or not, whether the target goal was correctly chosen or not, or if it should be changed and a new dosage regimen developed to hit the new target goal. This is the basis of the "target-oriented, model-based, approach to individualized drug dosage for each individual patient [2].

#### 6.2 THE NEED FOR MODELS

Pharmacokinetic models are extremely useful. While no model is an exact description of reality, which is almost always more complex, models describe in useful quantitative terms the behavior of drugs as they are given to patients – the time course of their absorption, serum concentrations, pathways, exchange rates to and from other compartments, their various therapeutic and toxic effects, and their metabolism and excretion. Often these processes and pathways may have important relationships to other clinical descriptors or covariates such as body weight, age, renal function, smoking status, gender, and genetic CYP450 makeup, for example.

Pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic (PK/PD) models provide the tool to apply past experience to the care of new patients. Past experience with drug behavior is now usually stored in the form of a population PK/PD model. This model is then used to design the initial dosage regimen for the next patient who appears to belong to that particular population.

The dosage regimen to hit the therapeutic target goal is computed and given. The patient is monitored both clinically and by measuring the serum drug concentrations. The serum concentrations should be used not only to note if they are within some general "therapeutic range", but most importantly (and most usefully) to make a specific model of the behavior of the drug in each individual patient, based first on information from the population PK/PD model, and then, using Bayes' theorem, developing an individualized model that best describes the behavior of the drug in that particular patient. Bayesian approaches balance the patient's individual data against the more general information from the population model, and make an individualized model that usually predicts future concentrations better than techniques which do not use this approach.

Using the patient's individualized model, one can then calculate what the patient's probable serum concentrations were at all other times when they where not measured, even when he or she was not at all in a steady state, even during highly unstable clinical situations in very acutely ill patients with great changes in their clinical status and renal function over time. One can also reconstruct and see graphically the computed concentrations of drugs in a peripheral nonserum (tissue) compartment or in various effect compartments. The patient's individualized model permits making dosage adjustments without waiting for a steady state before sampling serum concentrations, and can take into consideration practical clinical situations, such as handling data of different dosage regimens (with unequal doses and unequal dosing intervals), and totally arbitrary time intervals between drug doses and blood sampling.

These important physiological, pharmacological, pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic relationships cannot be seen or understood without PK/PD models. By comparing the clinical behavior of the patient with the behavior of the patient's model, one can evaluate the patient's clinical sensitivity to the drug, and can adjust the target goal appropriately. For digoxin, for example, the inotropic effect of the drug correlates best with the computed concentrations of the drug in the peripheral compartment (ug/kg of body weight, for example) rather than with the serum concentrations. The excellent model made by Reuning and colleagues for digoxin [3] has been highly useful clinically [4].

### 6.3 MAXIMUM APOSTERIORI PROBABILITY (MAP) BAYESIAN INDIVIDUALIZATION OF DRUG DOSAGE REGIMENS

Bayes' theorem describes in quantitative terms how we learn from experience. It describes the important sequential relationship between:

(1) The estimated probabilities of certain events (for example, in PK/PD terms, a patient's apparent volume of distribution, and the clearance or rate constant for elimination of a drug, or an effect parameter), that are probably present in a patient before we have had any chance to know anything about his/her response to the drug (or the serum concentrations), because we have not given him/her the drug yet, or have not had any measured serum concentrations or other feedback responses become available to us yet. These initial estimates constitute the Bayesian "prior",

as they state the situation before (prior to) knowing the next set of information. These are then combined with:

- (2) The measured serum concentrations and/or other responses that are subsequently found in that patient, based on whatever dosage the patient has received, and then
- (3) The revised (Bayesian posterior) probabilities of these PK/PD parameter values after (posterior to) taking into account the new information.

In the beginning, before the drug is given or before any feedback information is available, all we have is our past experience about the behavior of the drug in a population of similar patients. This is why one of our most important tasks as clinicians is to store our experiences with patients in a form that can be used in the future to apply that experience optimally, usually using Bayes' theorem, to the care of the next similar patient. This is why it is important to make population PK/PD models of the behavior of the drug in the actual patients we treat, not just in research clinical trials, to obtain and to store that important clinical past experience optimally for future use and application.

The Maximum Aposteriori Probability (MAP) Bayesian approach to individualization of drug dosage regimens was introduced to the pharmacokinetic community by Sheiner et al. [5]. In this approach, "parametric" population models are used as the initial Bayesian priors. In these parametric models, the distributions of the PK/PD parameters in the structural model (the apparent volume of distribution, clearances, rate constants) are described by statistical parameters such as their means, standard deviations (SD's), and the correlations between them. This is what the word "parametric" means in this case – that the PK/PD model parameter distributions, usually either normal or lognormal, which are completely described by their means, SD's, and correlations.

The MAP Bayesian approach is a modification of the weighted least squares regression procedure, in which the MAP Bayesian objective function combines two types of data – the measured serum levels found in that patient and the parameter values in the population model which forms the Bayesian prior. Their contributions to the MAP Bayesian posterior individualized patient model are shown in the objective function below:

$$\sum \frac{(C_{obs} - C_{mod})^2}{SD_{(Cobs)}^2} + \sum \frac{(P_{pop} - P_{mod})^2}{SD_{(Ppop)}^2},$$
(1)

where  $C_{obs}$  is the collection of observed serum concentrations,  $SD^2_{(Cobs)}$  is the collection of their respective variances, and  $C_{mod}$  is the model estimate of each serum concentration at the time it was obtained. Similarly,  $P_{pop}$  is the collection of the various mean population model parameter values,  $SD^2_{(Ppop)}$  is the collection of their respective variances, and  $P_{mod}$  is the collection of the Bayesian posterior model parameter values.

Each serum data point (each  $C_{obs}$ ) can be given a weight according to its Fisher information [6], the reciprocal of its variance. Similarly, each population parameter

value (each  $P_{pop}$ ) is given a weight according to the reciprocal of its variance [6]. Population parameters having greater diversity, and therefore greater variance, contribute less to the individualized model than do population parameters having smaller variances. Similarly, a precise  $C_{obs}$  will draw the fitting procedure more closely to the respective observed concentration than a less precise  $C_{obs}$ . The more serum data are obtained, the more that information dominates the determination of the MAP Bayesian posterior parameter values ( $P_{mod}$ ) in the patient's individualized pharmacokinetic model.

Like the conventional weighted least squares regression procedure, the MAP Bayesian method can provide correct weighting of serum concentration data according to its credibility based on Fisher information [6]. It thus has the potential for obtaining good estimates of the individual pharmacokinetic parameter values. Second, like the conventional weighted least squares regression procedure, the MAP Bayesian procedure can fit the model to data of doses and serum concentrations acquired over many dose intervals, usually the patient's entire dosage history. There is no longer any reason to do the traditional "single dose" pharmacokinetic study. Further, there is no need for the patient to be in a steady state or for the serum data to be only post-distributional. Studies and population pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic modeling can be done on the actual patients being treated, as they are receiving their therapy. But the MAP Bayesian approach has an additional advantage. In contrast to older least squares methods of fitting of PK/PD data, this procedure can avoid the old requirement of needing at least one serum concentration for each parameter to be fitted, or at least two serum concentrations in the most simple traditional linear 1-compartment PK model. The MAP Bayesian method can fit using only a single serum concentration data point if needed. This is because the procedure already has one data point for each parameter – the collection of the population parameter values themselves. Because of this, the MAP Bayesian procedure can start to fit with only a single serum concentration. This feature of the MAP Bayesian method allows one to handle the often very poor and sparse data which is so often present in many clinical strategies of therapeutic drug monitoring and dosage adjustment.

Having made the patient's individualized model, one then uses it to reconstruct the past behavior of the drug in the patient to date. One can examine a plot of the behavior of this model, usually over the entire duration of the patient's past therapy. One can evaluate the clinical sensitivity of the patient to the drug by looking at the patient clinically and comparing his/her clinical behavior with the individualized pharmacokinetic model. In that way, one can evaluate whether the initial target goal was well chosen or not. One can choose a different target goal if needed, and once again one can compute the dosage regimen to hit it. In this way, dosage can continue to be adjusted to the patient's body weight, renal function, and available serum concentrations, for example, to hit the desired target goal, usually with increasing precision during the course of the patient's therapy.

Two other fitting procedures, now coming on the scene, hold promise of doing better than the MAP Bayesian method. One is the "Multiple Model" (MM) method of fitting data and designing drug dosage regimens [7]. It is based on "nonparametric" population models [8,9] and their individualized Bayesian posterior pharmacokinetic models. The other is the "Interacting Multiple Model" (IMM) sequential Bayesian method [10]. These methods of Bayesian analysis will be discussed more fully later on.

#### 6.4 ANALYZING ASSAY AND ENVIRONMENTAL SOURCES OF ERROR

#### 6.4.1 Overview

Very often, when an assay is calibrated and its error is determined, the results are used simply to determine whether or not the assay is acceptably precise. Measures of interday and intra-day variability are made. After the assay is determined to be acceptably precise, this information is usually no longer used. However, when analyzing TDM data or pharmacokinetic data, it is useful to assign a measure of credibility to each data point to be fitted or analyzed. Because of this, statements of inter- and intra- day variability are not very useful. Instead, one can develop an estimate of the overall error with which any single measurement having a certain value is likely to be made, as samples progress through the analytic assay system in a laboratory.

#### 6.4.2 Determining the assay error polynomial

In the iterative two-stage Bayesian (IT2B) and the nonparametric adaptive grid (NPAG) population modeling programs in the USC\*PACK collection [11], for example, and also in the clinical programs for Bayesian adaptive control of dosage regimens, one is encouraged, first of all, to determine the error pattern of the assay quite specifically, over its entire working range, by determining several representative assay measurements in at least quadruplicate, and to find the standard deviation (SD) of each of these points. For example, one can measure, in at least quadruplicate, a blank sample, a low one, an intermediate one, a high one, and a very high one. One can then fit the relationship between the serum concentration (or any other response or effect) and the SD with which it has been measured, with a polynomial of up to third order, so that one can then compute the Fisher information, for example, as a useful measure of the credibility of each serum concentration data point [4,6]. One can then express the relationship as

$$SD = A_0 + A_1C + A_2C^2 + A_3C^3$$
(2)

where SD is the assay SD,  $A_0$  through  $A_3$  are the coefficients of the polynomial, C is the measured concentration,  $C^2$  is the concentration squared, and  $C^3$  is the concentration cubed. A representative plot of such a relationship, using a second order polynomial to describe the error pattern of an EMIT assay of gentamicin, is shown in Fig. 6.2.

#### 6.4.3 No lower limit of quantification for pharmacokinetic work and TDM

If the serum specimen is one which is obtained for purposes of toxicology, where there is no other information except the assay result itself to tell you if the drug is present or



Fig. 6.2. Graph of the relationship between serum Gentamicin concentrations, measured by Emit assay in at least quadruplicate (the dots) and the standard deviations (SD's) of the measurements. The relationship is captured by the polynomial equation shown at the top. Y = assay SD, X = measured serum concentration, Xsq = square of serum concentration.

not, then there is clearly a point below which one cannot be sure there is any drug present in the sample or not. Then the usual lower limit of detection or quantification is usually taken to be 2 or 3 SD's above the blank value. This is a common practice.

However, when one is doing pharmacokinetic studies and analyses, and TDM, this is clearly NOT the case. Other information is also available. One knows when the sample was obtained and when the last dose was given. Since most drugs disappear with a T1/2, a clearance, or a rate constant, the final molecule of drug is never lost. It is clear, from the other information that accompanies each such sample, that the drug is there.

In TDM and pharmacokinetic work, the question is not whether the drug is present or not. That is the wrong question. The drug is there. The question to be answered is rather, HOW MUCH drug is present? Because of this, there is actually no lower limit of detection for pharmacokinetic studies. One can use the assay error polynomial to give correct weighting of a measured drug concentration all the way down to, and including, the blank, as illustrated in Fig. 6.2. The weighting can be done according to the Fisher information of each serum concentration data point [6]. Determining the assay error polynomial is a cost-effective way of using a representative set of samples, covering the working range of the assay, to obtain a good estimate of the SD with which any single sample is then probably measured. This is discussed further in [4]. For toxicology, there is clearly a lower limit of quantification. It is a still negotiable number of SD's above the blank. But for PK work and for TDM, there is clearly no such lower limit. The drug is present. The correct measure of credibility can be given to the measurement based on the assay error polynomial, all the way down to and including a blank.

#### 6.4.4 The SD is what is important, not the CV

The assay error is often expressed as a percent coefficient of variation (CV), the SD divided by the measurement. Then it is said that as the measured concentration approaches zero, the CV becomes infinite, and the signal gets lost in the noise. This is true only if one looks at the data from the point of view of the CV. However, the assay SD, the variance, and the Fisher information, the reciprocal of the variance, are always finite, even as the value of the measurement goes all the way to zero. The correct measure of the credibility of any measurement can always be made. Because of this, there is no lower limit of quantification of a serum drug concentration when it is obtained appropriately for TDM, PK/PD analysis, or population modeling purposes [4].

Furthermore, while it may "seem logical" that an assay with a constant percent CV is "equally precise" over its entire range, this is clearly not true with respect to the real measure of credibility, the Fisher information. Consider an assay, for example, with a CV of 10%. If a measured value is 10 units, then its SD is 1.0, its variance is also 1.0, and its weight, the reciprocal of its variance, is also 1.0.

Now consider a similar measurement with a value of 20 units. Its SD is now 2.0, its variance is 4.0, and its weight, the Fisher information, is now  $\frac{1}{4}$ . So it is not at all true that a constant percent error reflects a constant credibility of an assay over its range, when one considers the Fisher information [6] as an index of assay credibility.

#### 6.4.5 Determining the remaining environmental error

In addition, a parameter which we have called gamma, a further measure of all the other environmental sources of intra-individual variability, can also be computed. It is used in the USC\*PACK programs [11] as a multiplier of each of the coefficients of the assay error polynomial as described above. The nominal value of gamma is 1.0, suggesting that there may be no other source of variability that the assay error pattern itself. The true value of gamma is usually (though not always) greater than 1.0. It includes not only the various environmental errors such as those in preparing and administering the doses, recording the times at which the doses were given, and recording the times at which the serum samples were obtained, but also the errors in which the structural model used fails to describe the true events completely (model misspecification), and also any possible changes in the model parameter values over time, due to the changing status of the patient during the period of data analysis. Gamma is thus an overall reflection of all the other sources of intraindividual variability besides the assay error. In this way, one can compare the SD due to the total system noise with that of the assay SD by itself.

Determining gamma will help us to detect the presence of environmental variability and/or the proposed model or data inadequacy. If gamma is relatively small, it suggests that in that particular data set the sum of the environmental sources of noise may be small in comparison with the assay error, and the model is well-chosen for this data. If it is large, it suggests that, in this fit, the overall environmental noise may be significant.

The USC\*PACK IT2B population modeling program can also be used to compute estimates of the various combined assay error and environmental polynomial error coefficients, if one has no knowledge of what the assay error pattern is, or if the measurement is one which is impossible to replicate to determine its error. In this case, gamma is not determined separately, but is included in the various other polynomial coefficients [11].

# 6.5 EXAMPLES OF MAP BAYESIAN TARGET-ORIENTED, MODEL-BASED, APPROACHES TO PATIENT CARE

#### 6.5.1 Gentamicin therapy

With a 1-compartment pharmacokinetic model in which the elimination rate constant (Kel) was made up of a nonrenal component (Knr) and a renal component having a slope (Kslope) relationship to creatinine clearance (CCr) so that Kel=Knr+Kslope × CCr [12], the MAP Bayesian procedure resulted in significantly better prediction of future serum concentrations (Fig. 6.3) than predictions made using linear regression



Fig. 6.3. Predicted versus measured serum Gentamicin concentrations found with M.A.P. Bayesian fitting and the Kslope model. r = correlation coefficient, ME = mean error, MSE = mean squared error. WME = mean weighted error. WMSE = weighted mean squared error. See text for discussion.

References pp. 166–168



Fig. 6.4. Predicted versus measured serum concentrations found with linear regression on the logarithms of the serum concentrations. Other symbols as in Fig. 6.3.

(Fig. 6.4). In contrast to most patients in the literature, who may have either normal or reduced renal function but whose renal function is stable, many patients in the above study were highly unstable and had changing renal function, to a quite significant degree, during their therapy [13].

Because the software used in that study [11,13] was specifically designed to operate in the presence of significant changes in renal function from dose to dose, it has also been useful in the analysis and management of aminoglycoside therapy for patients who must undergo periodic hemodialysis. The key is to get serum samples of both the drug and of serum creatinine concentrations both before and after dialysis. In our experience, for current dialysis equipment, and for the aminoglycoside antibiotics, the apparent increase in creatinine clearance during dialysis with most current equipment is about 50 ml/min above the patient's baseline value.

The baseline value of CCr can be estimated by examining the most recent rising pair of serum creatinine values, after one dialysis for example, and just before the next one. This is why the pair of serum creatinine samples pre- and post-dialysis is useful. In addition, when a patient goes on dialysis, one can record this as giving a dose of the drug, where the amount of the dose is 0.0 mg. With this dose of zero, the infusion time can be stated as very short, 0.1 hr, for example, and the creatinine clearance can be directly entered as being 50 ml/min above that of the patient's baseline. Finally, when the patient goes off the dialysis, another dose of zero is entered at that time, and the patient's creatinine clearance is set back to the baseline value [11].

#### 6.5.2 Timing the aminoglycoside dose and the dialysis

Another corollary for dialysis patients is that while most of them are given their dose of drug soon after the dialysis, this can cause a problem. The serum aminoglycoside concentrations in such patients have extremely long half-times, and these patients are often the ones who have the greatest incidence of renal toxicity and ototoxicity, because their serum concentrations stay so high for so long after each dose, even though the doses themselves are adjusted to keep the total area under the serum concentration curve at an appropriate value constrained by the desirable target peak and trough goals. There will be high concentrations for a long time, and then low ones, which may not be effective.

Instead of this, it may be more prudent and useful to give the dose before dialysis, about 2 or 3 hours before dialysis. In this case, one gets the desired peak value for good bacterial kill with this "concentration-dependent" drug. Then the dialysis helps to mimic the renal function of a patient with more normal (or less abnormal) renal function, reducing the serum concentration more rapidly, and helps to achieve a serum concentration profile somewhat more like that of a patent with less impaired renal function. These clinical protocols can easily be planned with appropriate software [11].

#### 6.6 OTHER STUDIES OF OUTCOME AND COST OF TDM

#### 6.6.1 Gentamicin therapy

Probably the best examination to date of the utility of the MAP Bayesian approach to individualize drug dosage regimens for patients has been the work of van Lent-Evers et al. [2]. They compared the model-based, target goal approach to aminoglycoside therapy with a more conventional therapeutic drug monitoring strategy. The mean peak and trough concentrations in the study group were  $10.6 \pm 2.9 \,\mu$ g/ml and  $0.7 \pm 0.6 \,\mu$ g/ml respectively versus  $7.6 \pm 2.2$  and  $1.4 \pm 1.3 \,\mu$ g/ml respectively, both significant differences. The peaks were significantly higher and the troughs significantly lower in the study group. Overall mortality was 9 of 105 (9%) in the study group versus 18 of 127 (14%) in the control group, not a significant difference (p=0.26). However, in those patients who had obvious infections present on admission, mortality was only 1 of 48 in the study group versus 9 of 62 in the control group, a significant difference (p=0.023). In addition, nephrotoxicity was only 2.9% in the study group versus 13.4% in the control group.

While the clinical outcome was significantly improved (more effective, less toxic) with the use of this model-based, target-oriented approach to monitoring and dosage individualization, it was interesting to see that hospital stay was also significantly reduced, from  $26.3 \pm 2.9$  days overall in the control group to  $20.0 \pm 1.4$  days in the study group (p = 0.045). For patients with infections present on admission, the stay was similarly reduced, from  $18.0 \pm 1.4$  days in the control group to  $12.6 \pm 0.8$  days in the study group. Thus in both patient groups, those with and also without infections on

admission, hospital stay was reduced by about six days with the use of this approach to serum concentration monitoring and model-based dosage individualization.

Further, despite the added effort and cost to implement this therapeutic approach, the overall cost per patient was reduced from  $16,882 \pm 17,721$  Dutch florins in the control group to  $13,125 \pm 9,267$ , a significant difference (p<0.05). In the patients with infections on admission, the cost was reduced from  $11,743 \pm 7,437$  Dutch florins to  $8,883 \pm 3,778$  florins, an even more significant difference (p<0.001). Thus in a sizeable group of patents, the model-based, target-oriented method of TDM and of individualizing aminoglycoside dosage regimens not only resulted in better outcomes, but also in shorter hospital stays than conventional TDM, and at a net cost savings of about US\$1000.00 per patient [2].

#### 6.6.2 Amikacin therapy

MAP Bayesian target-oriented, model-based adaptive control has been used to manage amikacin therapy in geriatric patients, often for extended periods, by Maire et al. [14]. In their patients, whose renal function was often quite reduced but who were generally more clinically stable, visibly better prediction (and therefore control) of serum concentrations was seen with MAP Bayesian analysis than with the unfitted population model, showing the utility of TDM and of model-based, target-oriented dosage adjustment.

The results of Maire et al. [14] in these clinically more stable patients are shown in Fig. 6.5, left. They are better than those found in the gentamicin patients with unstable renal function [13] shown in Fig. 6.3 above. Further, Fig. 6.5, right, shows the much



Fig. 6.5. Left: Predicted versus observed serum Amikacin concentrations found with M.A.P. Bayesian fitting, 1 compartment Kslope model (B1). Right: Predicted versus observed serum Amikacin concentrations found with A Priori population 1 compartment Kslope model (AP1).

poorer predictions based simply on the population model for Amikacin, without any fitting to the serum data.

#### 6.6.3 Vancomycin therapy

Vancomycin therapy was evaluated by Hurst et al [15] using a two-compartment (central plus peripheral compartment) model. Using traditional linear regression, extremely poor prediction was found, as shown in Fig. 6.6, left. In contrast, the 2 compartment model, coupled with MAP Bayesian fitting, led to significantly better prediction of future serum concentrations than did the linear regression method, as shown in Fig. 6, right.

#### 6.6.4 Digoxin therapy

The digoxin population model used in the USC\*PACK MAP Bayesian software [3,4,11] is based on that described by Reuning, Sams, and Notari [3]. Their two-compartment model uses both a central (serum) and a peripheral (nonserum) compartment. Computed concentrations of drug in the peripheral compartment correlate much better with inotropic effect than do serum concentrations [3,4,11]. The USC\*PACK digoxin software [11] not only uses a modified version of their model, but also develops dosage regimens to achieve desired target goals in either the central (serum concentration) compartment or in the peripheral (tissue or effect) compartment.

The following example, shown in Fig. 6.7, is illustrative. A 58 year old man developed rapid atrial fibrillation at another center, after missing his usual daily dose of



Fig. 6.6. Left: Predicted versus observed serum Vancomycin concentrations found with Linear regression. Right: Predicted versus observed serum Vancomycin concentrations found with a 2-compartment Kslope model and MAP Bayesian fitting).

References pp. 166–168

0.25 mg. He was clinically titrated with several intravenous doses of digoxin, and converted to sinus rhythm. The problem then was to select a successful dosage regimen for the patient. He was placed back on his original oral maintenance dosage. After a day, atrial fibrillation recurred. He again was titrated with intravenous digoxin and again converted to sinus rhythm. Again, the problem was to select a successful dosage regimen for the patient. Once again, he was placed on his original oral maintenance dosage, and once again, after about two days, atrial fibrillation recurred, as the patient excreted the extra digoxin that had been given with the titration step. For a third time he was titrated with several intravenous doses of digoxin, and for a third time he converted to sinus rhythm. A week of hospital time had been consumed during this period of his care. The same question remained – now that sinus rhythm had been restored, and for a third time, what digoxin dosage regimen should this patient now receive?

At this point the USC\*PACK MAP Bayesian digoxin software [11] was used, in a telephone consultation, to analyze the patient's situation. The raw data of three serum concentrations, all taken during the post-distributional phase after a dose, showed almost no correlation with the patient's clinical behavior. As shown in Fig. 6.7, he was back in atrial fibrillation when the first serum concentration of 1.0 ng/ml was obtained (the first black rectangle) and had converted again to sinus rhythm when the second and third serum concentrations of 1.0 and 1.2 ng/ml were obtained (the 2nd and 3rd black rectangles) with a lapse back into atrial fibrillation in between them.



Fig. 6.7. Screen plot of patient with atrial fibrillation who was successfully converted to sinus rhythm with IV digoxin three separate times, but who relapsed into atrial fibrillation twice when put back on his previous maintenance dose. Sinus rhythm was consistently present when peripheral body glycoside concentrations were  $10-13 \ \mu g/kg$  (right hand scale, and not mg/kg as labeled). Selection of a therapeutic goal of  $11.5 \ \mu g/kg$  in the peripheral compartment led to a dosage regimen of 0.5 and 0.625 mg/day. On that regimen, the patient could be discharged home in sinus rhythm and was still in sinus rhythm when seen in clinic 2 weeks later.

A most important question arises: how can it be that the patient was in atrial fibrillation at one time with a serum concentration of 1.0 ng/ml, and in sinus rhythm at another time, with exactly the same serum concentration? Experiences of this type have made many cardiologists feel that monitoring of serum digoxin concentrations is not useful. Two questions actually need to be asked here. (1) Was the patient in a steady state at the time each of the serum samples were drawn? The answer clearly is no – the patient was not at all in a steady state when either of the two samples was drawn. (2) Were the serum samples obtained at the same time after the dose? Again, the answer is no. Because of this, one cannot use the conventional interpretation of serum concentrations which is based on such steady-state premises. Without the use of a model, the raw data of the above serum concentrations was of little or no use.

However, when the 2-compartment digoxin population model was fitted to the data of his various doses and these serum concentrations, the resulting fitted model was very informative, and quite good correlation was seen between the computed peripheral tissue concentrations and the patient's clinical status. As shown in Fig. 6.7, sinus rhythm was present in this patient whenever his peripheral compartment tissue concentrations were between 10.0 to 13.0  $\mu$ g/kg. Based on this correlation, a target goal of 11.5  $\mu$ g/kg (the middle of the patient's response range) was chosen for the desired peripheral target peak compartment body concentration. The resulting regimen to achieve the target goal was 0.25 mg for the first day, and then averaged 0.57 mg/day.

Following this consultation, he was given 0.25 mg the first day, and then placed on a maintenance regimen of 0.5 and 0.625 mg on alternating days, an average of 0.56 mg/ day. On this regimen he remained in sinus rhythm. He was able to leave the hospital in sinus rhythm, and was still in sinus rhythm without evidence of toxicity when seen in the clinic two weeks later.

When one considers that an entire week had elapsed before the above consultation, with three successful conversions to sinus rhythm but two failures to arrive at a useful regimen to maintain that conversion, all involving the patients, the physicians', and the ward personnel's time, effort, and money, it is clear that the above pharmacokinetic consultation and the target-oriented, model-based dosage recommendation was quite cost-effective.

#### 6.6.5 Lidocaine therapy

A target-oriented, model-based approach was used to manage lidocaine therapy [16]. Patients with myocardial infarcts who had arrhythmias requiring Lidocaine were retrospectively evaluated. Seventy eight patients had received conventional non-pharmacokinetically oriented therapy, and an equal number of patients had received pharmacokinetically designed, target-oriented, model-based infusion regimens. Of the conventional therapy patients, eight developed ventricular fibrillation, one became toxic, and 33 required additional lidocaine to control their arrhythmias. In contrast, only two patients receiving the target-oriented, model-based regimens developed ventricular fibrillation, a suggestive though not significant difference (p = 0.12). One patient became toxic, and the two who developed ventricular fibrillation were the only patients who

required more lidocaine to control their arrhythmias (p < 0.001). The pharmacokinetically designed regimens not only achieved more effective serum concentrations [16] but also suggestively reduced the incidence of ventricular fibrillation, and significantly reduced the incidence of breakthrough arrhythmias [16,17].

#### 6.6.6 Busulfan therapy

In a comparison with an equal number of historical control subjects by Bleyzac et al. [18], children who underwent bone marrow transplantation for various hematologic problems and malignancies had their Busulfan therapy given as a standard regimen during the process of transplantation versus having it given using MAP Bayesian adaptive control. Twenty nine patients composed each group. The patients receiving Busulfan guided by MAP Bayesian adaptive control had the incidence of veno-occlusive disease reduced from 24.1 to 3.4% (p < 0.05). In addition, graft failure was reduced from 12.0% to 0%. Survival was increased from 65.5 to 82.8%. Because of this, MAP Bayesian adaptive control of the Busulfan dosage regimens in this study made visible and significant improvements in the care of these patients [18].

### 6.7 WHY WE REALLY MONITOR SERUM CONCENTRATIONS: FOR CLINICIAN-MANAGED, MODEL-BASED, TARGET-ORIENTED INDIVIDUALIZED DRUG THERAPY

Traditional approaches to therapeutic drug monitoring were originally designed for use only in steady state situations, and usually employed only 1-compartment models. They developed dosage regimens only for such steady state situations, and were oriented to keeping serum concentrations within a general therapeutic range rather than to achieving a specific target goal for a specific individual patient. Such approaches made it impossible to deal with patients in some of their most important clinical moments, as, for example, during changing renal function or dialysis, or when certain "golden clinical moments" must be captured, and a dosage regimen developed to achieve and maintain a desired target goal immediately, without waiting for a steady state, as in the case of the above patient receiving digoxin.

The above patient on digoxin (Fig. 6.7) shows how truly individualized drug therapy begins with clinical selection of a specific therapeutic goal for each patient, based on that individual patient's need for the drug. One then should achieve that goal with the greatest possible precision, without any zone of indifference about it. The approach to that patient was highly cost-effective, when compared to the fact that an entire week of hospital time was spent in the previous attempts at dosage adjustment without the aid of a model-based, target-oriented method to aid in the evaluation and interpretation of the TDM data they had obtained.

That patient's case also emphasizes the fact that it is frequently not useful to measure serum drug concentrations simply to see whether or not they are in some general "therapeutic range", nor even to correlate them with the patient's clinical behavior, although that is often possible, but significantly not so in that patient. That patient clearly shows that the real reason for monitoring serum concentrations is rather to find out how the drug (and its model) actually behaves in each individual patient, especially in non-steady-state situations, and to correlate the behavior of each patient's individual model with his/her own individual clinical behavior. Only then can one optimally evaluate each patient's clinical sensitivity to, and specific need for, a drug. MAP Bayesian adaptive control, managed by looking at the patient clinically, using model-based, target-oriented individualized drug therapy, has brought a precision and capability to drug dosage adjustment and to TDM which was not possible with older obsolete approaches based on linear regression or simply on raw data of the serum concentrations alone.

#### 6.8 OPTIMAL TDM MONITORING STRATEGIES

Often serum samples have been obtained at the trough, just before the next dose, after distribution of the drug is complete in the body after a dose, when the errors in recording the time at which the previous dose was given and the time at which the sample was drawn make the least difference in the value of the measured serum concentration. It is not generally realized that because of this, one has deliberately selected the least informative time, containing the least information concerning the actual behavior of the drug. Specifically, there is minimal information about the processes of absorption, distribution, elimination, their relationship to the dose and to the time course and profile of the serum concentrations, and to the drug effects.

It is often much more useful and informative to obtain serum samples when they contain the most information about the various processes described above. One can use a model, and can make small variations in the model parameter values, and note their effect upon the profile of the serum concentrations. At what time do changes in the model parameter values cause the greatest changes in the serum concentration profile? These are the times when the serum concentrations are maximally sensitive to changes in the various model parameter values. These are the times when getting the serum samples lets one best "see through" the many clinical uncertainties, and best understand the behavior of the drug, by permitting the most precise parameter estimates to be made for the chosen model. These times can be calculated using the well-known D-optimal sampling strategies, based on the work of D'Argenio, for example [19]. Some typical examples of these D-optimal times are illustrated in Figs 6.6 through 6.10. These are shown for an assay that has a constant error over its entire working range. Since that is often not realistic, these D-optimal times can be adjusted for any assay error polynomial of the type described earlier, and the correct, somewhat different times then used to optimize the process of TDM. An excellent routine, part of the ADAPT II package [20], has been developed for this purpose.

D-optimal strategies can easily be employed for aminoglycoside therapy in routine clinical care. For example, instead of waiting 30 minutes after the end on the infusion to get a so-called "peak" sample, and then a trough sample, one can start by getting a true peak sample, out of the opposite arm at the end of the intravenous infusion, and



Fig. 6.8. In the context of intermittent intravenous (IV) drug administration, with other things being equal, the greatest change in serum concentration resulting from a change in the apparent volume of distribution (V) is at the true peak, at the end of the IV infusion. Measurements at other times are associated with smaller changes, and are therefore less informative. In general, high concentrations are informative for V, and lower ones are less so.

then to skip one or more dose intervals before getting the next sample about 2 or 3 hours before the trough. For example, it is useful to wait, whatever the dose interval is, until about 21 hours into the regimen, if the patient's creatinine clearance at least 40 ml/min/ $1.73 \text{ M}^2$ . Because of this, it is easy to center the patient's aminoglycoside doses about three hours after routine morning blood drawing time. In that way it is easy to make the routine blood sample at that time be quite close to a D-optimal sample.

For monitoring of digoxin, a peak sample taken about  $1\frac{3}{4}$  hours after an oral dose, and a trough sample are a useful pair. For information on the exchange rate constants between the serum and the peripheral digoxin compartment, samples at  $\frac{1}{2}$  hour and at 7 hours after the dose are also approximately D-optimal times. In general, considerations of D-optimal sampling strategies also suggest that if possible, it is useful (though not always necessary) to obtain at least one sample for each parameter to be estimated in the patient's model when doing therapeutic drug monitoring.

#### 6.8.1 More general comments

We need to monitor drug therapy better in general. It is distressing to see patients with multidrug resistant TB, for example, dosed without such monitoring. Since many patients with multidrug resistant TB simply absorb the drugs poorly, it wastes the patient's lives by treating them with an unmonitored regimen, simply waiting to see if



Fig. 6.9. In the context of intermittent intravenous (IV) drug administration, with other things being equal, the greatest change in serum concentration resulting from a change in the rate constant of elimination is when the concentration has fallen to 36% of the true peak. Measurements at other times are associated with smaller changes, and are therefore less informative. A fairly broad band of relatively high sensitivity is seen, but trough measurements are significantly less and less informative the more they are below 36% of the peak.

their sputum smears and cultures eventually become negative. It is much more useful, and may well be more cost-effective in these patients, to know early in the course of therapy whether or not the serum concentrations achieved on a given regimen are likely to be effective, and to make sure that they are.

Further, we spend a great deal of money on expensive treatments for patients with cancer and AIDS, and we follow the viral load, and the measures of hematological toxicity. But we are not yet optimizing this process, and we should. We treat cancer patients with methotrexate to a desired area under the serum curve (AUC), but we usually do not ask if that AUC is really optimal for each individual patient, or if it is really reliable in the first place. Many population models of methotrexate, for example, may well have unreliable parameter values and AUC's, as sampling often is not begun until after at least 6 or 8 hours after the dose, as the monitoring was done simply to see if the drug was essentially gone or if rescue with leucovorin was indicated. Little information on the actual processes of absorption, distribution, and elimination of the drug is available from such studies, when sampling is so delayed and suboptimal.

Monitoring serum concentrations and determining their relationship to the hematocrit, leukocyte count, and platelet count, for example, would permit therapy to be optimized within the constraints of tolerable measures of toxicity for each individual



Fig. 6.10. In the context of loading followed by maintenance intravenous (IV) drug administration, with other things being equal, the greatest changes in serum concentrations are first, at the end of the loading infusion, just as at the end of the infusion in Fig. 6.8, and then at the steady state after it is achieved after about 5 drug half-times have elapsed on the maintenance infusion. Measurements at other times are associated with smaller changes, and are therefore less informative.

patient. This would be most useful for optimizing therapy for patients with AIDS, with cancer, with transplants, and with various infectious diseases. There is a great deal of work to be done in this area!

# 6.9 SPECIAL CASES: ENTERING INITIAL CONDITIONS – CHANGING POPULATION MODELS DURING THE FITTING PROCEDURE

Most pharmacokinetic analyses have dealt with patients (and their pharmacokinetic models), who have had stable values for their various parameters such as volume of distribution, rate constants, clearances, etc. However, this is not always so, even though one can express a rate constant as an intercept plus a slope times a descriptor of elimination such as creatinine clearance [21] or cardiac index, so that renal function or cardiac index can change from dose to dose during therapy, and the patient's drug model can keep up with these changes as they take place.

Probably the most serious problem in analyzing pharmacokinetic data in patients is caused by sudden significant changes in a patient's volume of distribution (Vd) of the central (serum concentration) compartment, without any change in any currently known clinical descriptor such as body weight. It is generally known, for example, that patients in an ICU setting have larger values for the Vd of gentamicin and other aminoglycosides than do general medical patients. Indeed, young very healthy people who suddenly require an aminoglycoside for a perforated or gangrenous appendix often have even smaller values for Vd [11].

# **6.9.1** An aminoglycoside patient with a sudden change in clinical status and volume of distribution

An interesting 54 year old woman in Christchurch, New Zealand, was seen through the courtesy of Dr. Evan Begg in the fall of 1991. She was 69 inches tall, weighed 80 kg, and her serum creatinine on admission was 0.7 mg/dL. She had a pyelonephritis, and was receiving tobramycin 80 mg approximately every 8 hours. She had a measured peak serum concentration of 4.6 and a trough of 0.4  $\mu$ g/ml respectively, and had been felt by all to be having a satisfactory clinical response. During this time, her Vd was 0.18 l/kg, based on those two serum samples. However, on about the 6th day, she suddenly and most unexpectedly relapsed and went into clear-cut septic shock.

Following her surprising relapse on therapy, she was aggressively treated with much larger doses, 300 mg every 12 hours during this time. Her serum tobramycin concentrations rose to peaks of  $10.1 \,\mu$ g/ml. During this period of sudden septic shock, her serum creatinine also rose, from 0.7 to 3.7 mg/dL, and her estimated CCr fell to 18 ml/min/1.73m<sup>2</sup>. After about another 10 days she improved. At that time, her serum tobramycin concentrations rose to a peak of 16, and it was necessary to sharply reduce the dose to 140 mg about every 12 to 24 hours. Her serum creatinine fell to 1.1 to 1.3 mg/dL, and her CCr rose to 57 ml/min/1.73m<sup>2</sup>.

It was simply not possible to get a good MAP Bayesian fit to all the serum data over the entire time period. Most samples were obtained during her second, sickest phase, and they dominated the fit. The ones at the beginning, prior to the sepsis, and at the end, after her improvement, were not at all well fitted.

Because of this, the data was divided into three parts – an initial one before her relapse into sepsis, a second one when she was septic, and a third one following improvement, but before it was felt safe to discontinue therapy. Each data set was fitted separately, using the USC\*PACK programs [11].

During the first data set, the first 6 days, when her clinical behavior was that of a general medical patient, not gravely ill, her Vd was 0.18 L/kg as described above. The problem then was to pass on the ending values of the serum and peripheral compartment concentrations as initial conditions for the fitting process for the second data set. This was done, using that feature of the USC\*PACK clinical software [11], which was developed specifically for this purpose.

A major change in her Vd was then seen when fitting the data obtained during the second, septic, phase. The Vd rose from 0.18 L/kg in the previous phase to 0.51 L/kg, and the Kslope, the increment of elimination rate constant per unit of CCr, fell to zero. However, the Kcp, the rate constant from serum to peripheral compartment, rose to 0.255 h<sup>-1</sup>, suggesting that she was "third-spacing" the tobramycin somewhere. The

ending concentrations in the central (serum) compartment for this data set were 2.09 ug/ ml, and for the peripheral compartment were a very high 44.1  $\mu$ g/kg.

These ending values were again passed on as initial conditions to the third part of her data set, that of recovery. During this time the serum peaks were 16 and 12  $\mu$ g/ml, and the dose was reduced to 140 mg every 12–24 hours. Her Vd during this third phase, that of recovery, when she was no longer seriously ill, had fallen greatly to 0.15 L/kg, close to her previous initial value as a general medical patient.

The ability to enter stated initial conditions permitted changing population models during the various phases of the patient's overall fitting procedure, and allowed intelligent analysis of this patient's data, especially as quite significant concentrations were present not only in the central (serum) compartment, but also in the peripheral compartment, during the transition from the patient's second to the third, recovery, phase.

At the Cleveland Clinic, Drs. Marcus Haug and Peter Slugg [22] have spoken of "Vd collapse", when the Vd would drop from a larger to a smaller value. They showed that this change was a clinical indicator of incipient recovery of the patient. The present patient not only demonstrated such Vd collapse later on, as she got better, but also its opposite, Vd expansion, as she made the earlier transition from being a general medical patient with a pyelonephritis to a seriously ill ICU patient with life-threatening septic shock.

Not only do different populations of aminoglycoside patients have different values of Vd, but each individual patient goes through these transitions, as demonstrated by this patient. The analysis of this patient's data was greatly facilitated, and indeed was only possible, using the MAP Bayesian approach, by breaking the dosage history up into several parts. Each part was then analyzed, and the ending concentrations from one part were passed on to the next data set as initial conditions or concentrations of drug present prior to the first dose given in the next data set, with the appropriate population model, if needed, as well.

# 6.10 LINKED PHARMACODYNAMIC MODELS: BACTERIAL GROWTH AND KILL

In this section we will describe the linkage of a nonlinear pharmacodynamic model of effect to the basic linear pharmacokinetic model, and show some applications in clinical software of models describing bacterial growth in the absence of a drug and its kill by an antibiotic.

#### 6.10.1 General considerations

Let us assume that an organism is in its logarithmic phase of growth in the absence of any antibiotic. It will have a rate constant for this growth – a doubling time. The killing effect of the antibiotic can be modeled as a Michaelis-Menten or Hill model. The model generates a rate for this effect. The rate of growth or kill of an organism depends upon

the difference between these two rate constants. The killing effect will be determined by the Emax, representing the maximum possible rate constant for kill, the  $EC_{50}$ , the concentration at which the effect is half maximal, and the time course of the concentrations at the site of the effect achieved with the dosage regimen the patient is given. Both the growth rate constant and the Emax can be found from available data in the literature for various organisms. The general growth versus kill equation is

$$\frac{dB}{dt} = (K_g - K_k) \times B \tag{3}$$

and

$$K_k = \frac{E_{\max} \times C_t^n}{EC_{50}^n + C_t^n},\tag{4}$$

where B is the number of organisms (set to 1.0 relative unit at the start of therapy),  $K_g$  is the rate constant for growth,  $K_k$  is the rate constant for killing, Emax is the maximum possible effect (rate of killing), EC<sub>50</sub> is the concentration at which the killing rate is half maximal, n is the Hill or sigmoidicity coefficient,  $C_t$  is the concentration at the site of the effect (serum, peripheral compartment, effect compartment, or in the center of a spherical model of diffusion), at any time t, and × indicates multiplication.

The  $EC_{50}$  can be found from the measured (or clinically estimated) minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) of the organism. This relationship was developed by Zhi et al. [23], and also independently by Schumitzky [24]. The MIC is modeled as a rate of kill that is equal to but opposite in direction to the rate constant for growth. The MIC thus offsets growth, and at the MIC there is neither net growth nor decrease in the number of organisms. At the MIC,

$$dB_{dt} = 0 \text{ and } K_k = K_g, \tag{5}$$

and

$$MIC = \left[\frac{K_g \times EC_{50}^n}{E_{\max} - K_g}\right]^{\frac{1}{n}}.$$
(6)

In this way, the  $EC_{50}$  can be found from the MIC, and vice versa.

The input to this effect model can be from either the central or the peripheral compartment concentrations of a pharmacokinetic model, or from the center (or any other layer) of a spherical model of diffusion [25]. The sphere may represent an endocardial vegetation, an abscess, or even a small microorganism. In the latter case, one can adjust the sphere diameter and the diffusion coefficient so that the concentrations in the center of the small sphere lag behind the serum concentrations and cross below the MIC about 6 hours, for example. The effect relationship was modeled by Bouvier D'Ivoire and Maire [26], from data obtained from Craig and Ebert [27], for pseudomonas and an aminoglycoside.

References pp. 166-168

Let us first examine these effect models with relationship to the dosage regimen of amikacin. We had considered a hypothetical 65 year old man, 70 inches tall, weighing 70 kg, having a serum creatinine of 1.0 mg/dL. The patient's dosage regimen consisted of an initial dose of 850 mg of amikacin followed by 750 mg every 12 hours thereafter. On that regimen, predicted serum concentrations were 43  $\mu$ g/ml for the peak and 3.2 for the trough, possibly a bit low, as the MIC of the organism was stated to be 8.0  $\mu$ g/ml. Fig. 6.11 is a plot not only of the predicted time course (the first six days) of serum amikacin concentrations for the above patient, but also of its ability to kill microorganisms using the model made by Bouvier D'Ivoire and Maire [26], based on the data of Craig and Ebert [27]. The serum concentration profile is presented as the input to the bactericidal effect model.

The model always assumes an initial inoculum of one relative unit of organisms. The scale of the relative number of organisms is shown on the right side of Fig. 6.11, while the scale of the serum concentrations is on the left. As shown in the figure, the serum concentration profile resulting from that regimen appears to be able to kill such an organism well in this particular patient. As the serum concentrations fall below the MIC with the first dose, however, the organisms begin to grow again, but the second dose kills them again, with slight regrowth once again toward the end of that dose interval. The third dose reduces the number of organisms essentially to zero. Use of this effect model



Fig. 6.11. Predicted killing effect of the regimen. Input from the central (serum) compartment profile of serum concentrations. The regimen is likely to kill well for a bloodstream infection (sepsis). Solid line and left hand scale – profile of serum amikacin concentrations. Dashed line and right hand scale – relative numbers of organisms, with 1.0 relative unit present at the start of therapy. Upper horizontal dotted and dashed line – original peak serum goal of therapy. Lower horizontal dashed line: the patient's MIC of 8.0  $\mu$ g/ml.

suggests that such a serum concentration profile should be effective in killing an organism having an MIC of 8.0  $\mu$ g/ml, even though the serum concentrations are below the MIC about one third of the time, as the high peaks are effective in the killing.

Such models of bacterial growth and kill permit one to incorporate known in vitro data of the logarithmic growth rate of the organism and the maximum kill rate achieved with the antibiotic, to integrate it with data of the MIC of each individual patient's organism, and to model the growth and decline of the relative numbers of organisms. These Zhi models have correlated well, in the tobramycin patient described earlier, with her unexpected relapse from having an apparently satisfactory response to therapy to becoming a seriously ill patient with septic shock, and with her subsequent recovery later on, as effective serum concentrations were achieved and maintained.

The Zhi model, however, does not describe the decline of bacterial growth rate seen over time, which may reach a maximum number of organisms, as found by Mouton, Vinks and Punt [28]. The organisms are always assumed to be in their logarithmic growth phase, the maximum growth rate possible. In addition, the Zhi model does not describe the increase in bacterial resistance found over time, and the emergence of resistant organisms. However, one can estimate clinically the maximum possible MIC which the emerging resistant organism might reach, and examine the behavior of the model under that condition. In this case, the Zhi model becomes a useful example of a "worst case" scenario model, with the resistant organisms being so from the very start of therapy, and with the logarithmic growth rate always being in effect, never slackening. If a given dosage regimen, generating a certain serum concentration profile, can kill well using the Zhi model, one might expect it probably to do at least as well in clinical circumstances, where the growth rate may (or may not) slacken with time and may (but may not) reach a maximum number of organisms, and the resistant organisms emerge more slowly with time.

Clearly, further work in this area is needed, but models of this type are beginning to provide a useful new way to perceive, analyze, and evaluate the efficacy of antibiotic therapy. Similar approaches may also be useful in analyzing therapy of patients with AIDS, using the PCR assays, and with cancer. They appear to offer better information than the empirical correlations between peak/MIC ratios and the percent of the dose interval that the serum concentrations are at least the MIC. They do a more complete job of describing the behavior of so-called "concentration-dependent" and "concentration independent" or "time-dependent" drugs, which is often an artificial classification. Zhi models describe both such types of behavior, in which the maximum rate of kill often may be reached, with some drugs such as vancomycin, for example, at about 5 times the MIC. The model better captures such behavior. The classifications into "concentration independent" or "time dependent" seem do not do as well in this regard.

### 6.11 OTHER LINKED PHARMACODYNAMIC MODELS: AMINOGLYCOSIDE NEPHROTOXICITY AND OTOTOXICITY

Other models of effect have also been linked to the basic pharmacokinetic model. Rougier et al. have modeled the saturable uptake of aminoglycosides by renal cortical cells, with the resulting reduction of creatinine clearance and the rise in serum creatinine concentrations in patients who displayed evidence of nephrotoxicity from amikacin [33]. They showed that all such therapy caused some decrease in renal function. However, when their model was presented with simulated serum concentration profiles based on a 2-compartment population model and on dosage schedules given to real patients either as three times daily or as once daily, renal toxicity was greatest with a thrice daily schedule and less with a once daily schedule, for approximately the first week of therapy. After one week, with more prolonged therapy, the differences in toxicity became less with the two schedules, as toxicity continued to increase in both groups with continued treatment.

Rougier et al. also made a model of the probability of occurrence of nephrotoxicity, also using a saturable model based on areas under the serum concentration curves [34]. They presented this linked model with three different simulated dosage schedules having the same total daily dosage – 1600 mg every 48 h, 800 mg every 24 h, or 267 mg every 8 h. Good fits to observed serum creatinine concentrations in patients were seen. Toxicity was greatest with dosage every 8 h, in between with every 24 h, and least with every 48 h. Greater accumulation was seen with lower assumed values of K<sub>m</sub>. These models appear useful to incorporate into clinical software for individualizing therapy and also into population modeling approaches to capture such relationships.

A saturable model of uptake onto possible toxic binding sites in the vestibular apparatus was used by Berges et al. [35] to evaluate and compare the area under the exposure curve (AUC's) found with a Michaelis-Menten model versus that of several linear models, in a group of patients who had documented vestibular toxicity from gentamicin. They compared the AUC's with those found from a simulated reference regimen of 5 mg/kg/day for 10 days, as given to a simulated male patient age 65, 70 inches tall, 70 kg in weight, with a serum creatinine of 1.0 mg/dL/. The AUC's were found for the serum compartment, for the peripheral (tissue) compartment of the basic linear model, and for a Michaelis-Menten saturable effect compartment, using assumed Km values of 5.0 and 0.5 µg/ml respectively. Using the serum AUC, one of the 8 ototoxic patients had a value less than that seen with the reference regimen, while the other 7 had greater exposure values. Using the peripheral compartment AUC, again, the same patient had an AUC less than that of the reference regimen. However, using the Michaelis-Menten saturable model and the Km value of 5.0 µg/ml, all ototoxic patients had AUC values greater than that from the reference regimen. With the Km of 0.5 µg/ ml, all ototoxic patients had AUC values greater than twice that seen from the reference regimen. This analysis of gentamicin behavior in patients with documented vestibular toxicity strongly suggests that clinically, ototoxicity is also better described with a saturable model than with a linear one. These models can easily be incorporated into current clinical software to aid in the analysis of nephrotoxicity and ototoxicity in patients receiving aminoglycosides. Similar effect models may well be capable of describing the effects of drugs on the hematopoetic system in patients receiving cancer chemotherapy, to aid in their dosage optimization on a more individualized basis than is currently done, keeping each patient's hemoglobin, leukocyte or granulocyte count, and platelet count at acceptable target values.

#### 6.12 LIMITATIONS OF CURRENT MAP BAYESIAN ADAPTIVE CONTROL

The maximum aposteriori probability (MAP) Bayesian approach to adaptive control and dosage individualization is straightforward and robust. However, it does not represent an optimal approach to dosage individualization. It has two significant limitations.

The first limitation is that the pharmacokinetic model parameter values used to describe the behavior of the drug are assumed to be either normally or log-normally distributed. This is often not so. Many drugs, for example, have clusters of both rapid and slow metabolizers within the population, and therefore may well have multimodal population parameter distributions for the elimination rate constant. Furthermore, the volume of distribution for drugs such as the aminoglycosides is affected by the patient's clinical state as a general medical patient or a patient in an intensive care unit, for example. Because of this, parameter distributions are often asymmetrical, neither normally nor lognormally distributed, and are therefore not optimally described by means, medians, modes, and variances. This point reflects the significant problems associated with making "parametric" population models, and based on single point estimates of such mean or median parameter values, to develop dosage regimens. In such a situation, one is acting based only on the estimated central tendencies of the parameter distributions, rather than on the full, often genetically polymorphic, parameter distributions, with their clusters of genetically determined fast and slow metabolizers of drugs, for example. The problem is largely overcome by making "nonparametric" population models which describe the entire most likely joint parameter distribution within the population, with up to one support point (set of parameter values, and its estimated probability) for each subject studied in the population [8,9].

The second limitation is that there is no tool in the MAP Bayesian strategy to estimate and predict the precision with which a desired dosage regimen developed to hit a desired target goal actually is likely to do so. The method lacks a vital performance criterion.

The separation, or heuristic certainty equivalence [29], principle is well known among the stochastic control community, but less so among the pharmacokinetic community. It states that when the task of controlling the behavior of a system is separated into the steps of:

- (1) Obtaining the best single point parameter values in the model describing the behavior of the system, and then,
- (2) Using these single point values to design the inputs to control the system,

that, the task of hitting the target goal is usually performed suboptimally. Yet this is exactly what the MAP Bayesian, and all methods which estimate single values for each model parameter, do.

There is no performance criterion to optimize in the MAP Bayesian dosage strategy (such as the estimated precision with which the desired target will be hit, for example) as there is only one set of parameter values, and the target is simply assumed to be hit exactly.

### 6.13 OVERCOMING THE SEPARATION PRINCIPLE: "MULTIPLE MODEL" DESIGN OF MAXIMALLY PRECISE DRUG DOSAGE REGIMENS

The above limitations are overcome by the combination of nonparametric population models [8,9] and the "multiple model" design of dosage regimens [30]. Nonparametric population models have been discussed elsewhere [8,9]. Their strength is that they are consistent, statistically efficient, and have good properties of statistical convergence [31]. They are not limited by the assumption that the parameter distributions must be Gaussian or lognormal, as in parametric methods. Instead of simply using parameter means, variances, and correlations between them, as point estimates of a distribution, the nonparametric methods estimate the entire parameter distributions themselves. The final distributions obtained are discrete, not continuous. They consist of discrete sets of parameter estimates, along with an estimate of the probability of each set [8,9]. Up to one set (support point of the distribution) is obtained for each subject studied in the population. This closely approaches the ideal population model (which can never be attained), which would consist of the correct structural model of the drug system, along with the exact value of each parameter in each subject if it would somehow be possible to know those values.

When a parametric population model is used as the Bayesian prior to design an initial dosage regimen for the next patient one encounters, one has only a single estimated value for each parameter. Because of this, only one prediction of future concentrations can be made. The action taken is therefore based only on the estimates of the central tendencies of the parameter distributions, and not on the entire distributions, which may well be multimodal, due to genetic polymorphism in the distribution and metabolism of drugs. The dosage regimen is simply assumed to achieve the target goal exactly, as shown in Fig. 6.12. Figure 6.12 shows the results of an infusion regimen of lidocaine, based on the mean population parameter values for that drug, which was designed to achieve and maintain a target serum concentration of 3 µg/ ml. As shown, this regimen, based on the single mean population parameter values, hits the target exactly, but only when the patient has parameter values which are exactly the population mean values. However, as shown in Fig. 6.13, when that regimen, based on the mean parameter values used in Fig. 6.12, was given to the combination of the actual 81 diverse nonparametric population support points from which these mean parameter values were obtained, an extremely wide distribution of predicted serum concentrations was seen, representing the diversity in the parameter values in the patients studied in the population. The predicted serum concentrations actually covered much more than the usual therapeutic range of 2 to 6  $\mu$ g/ml.

In contrast, if one has a nonparametric population model [8,9], with its multiple sets of model parameter values (81 in this case), one can make multiple predictions, instead of only one, of the future serum concentrations resulting from any candidate dosage regimen which is "given" to all the models in the population discrete joint density. Based on these multiple models in the population (the discrete joint density), one can compute the weighted squared error with which a candidate regimen is predicted to fail to achieve the desired target goal at a target time. Other regimens can then be



Fig. 6.12. Using lidocaine population mean parameter values, an infusion regimen designed to achieve and maintain a target goal of 3 ug/ml does so exactly when the patient, as here, has exactly the mean population parameter values. Horizontal axis: time in minutes into the regimen. Vertical axis: serum lidocaine concentration.

considered, and the optimal regimen can be found which is specifically designed to achieve the desired target goal with the least weighted squared error [30].

This approach, using the multiple models of the patient provided by the multiple support points in the nonparametric population model, avoids many of the limitations in



Fig. 6.13. Result when the above lidocaine infusion based on population mean parameter values is given to the 81 diverse support points from which the population mean values were obtained. Great diversity in the predicted responses is seen.

References pp. 166–168



Fig. 6.14. Predicted response of the 81 support points (models) when the regimen obtained by multiple model dosage design is given. The target is achieved with visibly greater, and optimal, precision, compared to that in Fig. 6.13.

the separation principle. This is the real strength of the combination of nonparametric population models coupled with "multiple model" dosage design [30].

As shown in Fig. 6.14, the multiple model (MM) dosage regimen, based on the same nonparametric population model, but now using all the information contained in each of the 81 support points (instead of only the mean values), obtained much more precise achievement of the target goal, because it was specifically designed to do so. The error in the achievement of the therapeutic target goal is much less, and the dispersion of predicted serum concentrations about the target goal is much less. This comparison illustrates the dangers of using mean parameter values to compute dosage regimens for patients, rather than using the much richer information contained in the collection of all the multiple support points in the nonparametric population model.

# 6.13.1 Obtaining "multiple model" Bayesian posterior joint parameter distributions

With the MAP Bayesian approach to posterior parameter values, the single most likely value for each parameter is obtained when they altogether minimize the objective function shown in equation (1). In contrast, the MM Bayesian approach, using the nonparametric joint densities and their multiple support points, preserves the multiple sets of population parameter values, but specifically recomputes each of their Bayesian posterior probabilities, based upon the serum concentrations obtained. Those combinations of parameter values (support points) that predict the measured concentrations well, become more probable. Those that predict them less well become less so. In this way, the probabilities of all the nonparametric population model support points become

revised, using Bayes' theorem [32]. A smaller number of significant points is usually obtained. When the regimen for the next cycle is developed, these revised models, containing their multiple revised MM Bayesian posterior support points, are used to develop it. The regimen is again specifically designed to achieve the desired target goal with maximum precision (minimum weighted squared error).

#### 6.13.2 Other Bayesian approaches

Three sequential Bayesian approaches have also been used by us to incorporate feedback from measured serum concentration data. The first is the sequential MAP Bayesian approach, in which the MAP posterior parameter values are sequentially updated after each serum concentration data point is obtained. That posterior set of



Fig. 6.15. A patient on gentamicin with changing renal function. Serum creatinine concentrations – lower 3 diamond-shaped dots. Creatinine clearance was estimated from the serum creatinine data and the patient's age, gender, height, and weight. It is plotted for each dose of gentamicin which the patient received (left hand scale and stepwise constant line of short and longer dashes). Serum gentamicin concentrations – upper 5 round dots. Solid line: weighted average trajectory of the patient's individual MM Bayesian posterior serum concentration PK profiles fitted to the measured serum concentration data. Line of long dashes: weighted average fitted values of gentamicin concentrations in the peripheral (nonserum) compartment. A good fit to all the data was seen using the MM Bayesian procedure, assuming fixed parameter distributions throughout.
parameter values becomes the Bayesian prior for the analysis of the next measurement, and so on. This sequential procedure shows changes in estimated parameter values following each new measured serum concentration, until all the serum measurements have been analyzed. However, at the end of each full feedback cycle, (after all the samples in each new full cluster of data points have been analyzed), at the time the next dosage regimen is to be developed, this method has learned no more with respect to developing that dosage regimen than if it had fitted all the data together at once, even though it shows changing estimated MAP Bayesian parameter values sequentially. This is because the method is designed to estimate only one single fixed set of parameter values that fit the Bayesian objective function best, over all the data points available up to that time.

The second approach is the sequential MM Bayesian one [32]. Here the MM Bayesian posterior joint density is also sequentially updated after each data point, as described earlier above. Still, at the end of each feedback cycle, this procedure similarly has learned no more with respect to developing the next dosage regimen than if all the data in that cluster were fitted simultaneously. The procedure is still looking for a hypothetical single set of parameter values which best describes all the data. When this fails to be the case, combinations of support points are found which fit best. The



Fig. 6.16. Fitted past and predicted future serum gentamicin concretions (solid line) in the patient described above, on the suggested regimen. Dashed line: fitted and predicted relative numbers of viable organisms using the linked Zhi model.

procedure still estimates a fixed and unchanging single combination of models (support points), which best fit the data up to that time.

A third approach is the interacting multiple model (IMM) sequential Bayesian approach [10]. This method permits the true patient being sought for actually to change, with a certain stated probability, from one model or support point to another during the sequential Bayesian analysis, if such a change is calculated to be more likely, given the measured data. Because of this, the IMM method, originally developed by the aerospace industry and the military to track missiles and aircraft taking evasive action, permits detection of changing drug behavior (pharmacokinetic parameter distributions) during the sequential analysis procedure. It provides an improved method to track truly changing parameter distributions and the behavior of a patient during the evolution of his/her clinical therapy. For example, it permits an improved ability to detect and to quantify changes in the volume of distribution and other parameters of aminoglycoside drugs during changes in a patient's clinical status which are not captured by the use of conventional clinical descriptors.

Using carefully simulated models in which the true parameter values changed during the data collection, the integrated total error in tracking a such simulated patient was



Fig. 6.17. Fit to data of the tobramycin patient described earlier, analyzed with the MM Bayesian approach. Note the very poor fit to the data, due to the patent's changing parameter values as her clinical status changed significantly, going from someone with a pyelonephritis before 150 hours, to someone with clearcut septic shock afterward, becoming an acutely and severely ill intensive care patient.

very similar with both the sequential MAP and sequential MM Bayesian procedures. However, the integrated total error of the sequential IMM procedure was only about one half that found with the other two [10].

## 6.13.3 MM clinical application

Nonparametric population parameter distributions, MM dosage design, and either MM or IMM Bayesian posterior joint densities appear to offer significant improvements in the ability to track the behavior of drugs in patients throughout their care, especially when the patients have long dosage histories, are unstable, and have changing parameter values. These approaches also permit development of dosage regimens which are specifically designed to achieve target goals with maximum precision. These new and powerful methods make essentially optimal mathematical use of all information contained in the past population data, coupled with whatever current data of feedback may be available up to that point, to develop that patient's most precise dosage regimen.

A good example of MM Bayesian adaptive control is that of a patient on gentamicin with changing renal function, as shown in Fig. 6.15.



Fig. 6.18. Fit to data of the tobramycin patient described earlier, analyzed with the IMM Bayesian approach. Note the very much improved fit to the data, as the IMM approach tracks the changing parameter values taking place in this acutely ill and highly unstable patient.

Dosage for this patient was begun at 80 mg approximately every 8 hours (the first 2 doses). The first pair of serum concentrations showed a low peak but a relatively high trough. Serum creatinine was 1.2 mg/dL. Based on those results, but prior to use of this software, dosage was increased to 100 mg every 8 hours. Serum creatinine rose to 1.5 and later to 2.1 mg/dL, and creatinine clearance dropped to 27.1. A serum sample almost 15 hours after the third dose was of 100 mg was 4.1. Dosage was then cut back to 80 mg every 8 hours. The question here is what is going on with the drug in this patient, and what dosage regimen now might be indicated, for example, to achieve a peak target goal of 11.0 ug/ml and a trough goal of 0.5 ug/ml.

The suggested doses to hit a target peak of 11.0 and a trough of 0.5  $\mu$ g/ml were first 95 mg, and then, after 48 hours 155 mg every 48 hours thereafter. Fig. 6.16 shows the predicted peaks of 11.2 and 10.6  $\mu$ g/ml, and troughs of 1.3 and 0.95  $\mu$ g/ml respectively. The Zhi model of bacterial growth and kill, for the stated MIC of 2.0  $\mu$ g/ml, showed an effective result as the early doses were effective as the patient's renal function decreased, and the new regimen was also predicted to maintain the effective kill. The regimen was revised to 100 mg for the first dose and 150 mg for the second one.

## 6.13.4 Analyzing the changing tobramycin patient with MM and IMM sequential Bayesian methods: implementation into clinical software

The MM and IMM tools have now been implemented in clinical software, the MM-USCPACK package [32], which is in beta phase for release at this time. Fig. 6.17 shows the plot of the fit to the data from the previous tobramycin patient having the changing parameter values, when analyzed using the sequential MM Bayesian approach. The data was very poorly fitted by a single set of parameter distributions, as this highly unstable patient changed from being a general medical patient with a pyelonephritis (before 150 hours in the plot) to an acutely ill patient with severe septic shock after that time.

On the other hand, Fig. 6.18 shows the result when the sequential IMM algorithm was used to analyze that patient's data. The fit was greatly improved. The IMM algorithm was able to track the changing behavior of tobramycin much better in this acutely and severely ill, highly unstable patient.

## 6.14 THE FUTURE OF INDIVIDUALIZED DRUG THERAPY

The MM-USC\*PACK clinical software incorporates all the strengths given by the use of nonparametric population models and multiple model dosage design, and the MM and IMM Bayesian analysis of individual patient data. Work is now under way to develop similar MM dosage designers for the large and often nonlinear models of drugs, such as Phenytoin, Carbamazepine, and many drugs used in the treatment of patients with AIDS, transplants, and cancer, for example. Nonparametric population models can be made now of large, nonlinear, interacting and multiple combination drug systems such as those found in chemotherapy of many of the above patients, where the concentrations of one drug may either compete with a metabolite, or may increase or decrease the rate of metabolism of another drug.

References pp. 166–168

As MM dosage regimens are developed for such large combination multidrug systems, it will then be possible, for the first time, to develop truly coordinated, maximally precise, combination chemotherapy for patients with such problems, maximizing effectiveness while constraining toxicity within specifically selected quantifiable target limits and values.

#### 6.15 ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Supported by U.S. Government grants LM 05401, RR 01629, RR 11526, and GM65619.

## 6.16 REFERENCES

- 1 J. Cohen, Make your medicine safe. Avon Books, New York, 1998.
- 2 N. van Lent-Evers, R. Mathot, W. Geus, B. van Hout and A. Vinks, Impact of goal-oriented and modelbased clinical pharmacokinetic dosing of aminoglycosides on clinical outcome: a cost-effectiveness analysis. Ther. Drug Monit., 221 (1999) 63–73.
- 3 R. Reuning, R. Sams and R. Notari, Role of pharmacokinetics in drug dosage adjustment. 1. Pharmacologic effects, kinetics, and apparent volume of distribution of digoxin. J. Clin. Pharmacol., 13 (1973) 127–141.
- 4 R. Jelliffe, A. Schumitzky, M. Van Guilder, M. Liu, L. Hu, P. Maire, P. Gomis, X. Barbaut and B. Tahani, Individualizing drug dosage regimens: roles of population pharmacokinetic and dynamic models, bayesian fitting, and adaptive control. Ther. Drug Monit., 15 (1993) 380–393.
- 5 L.B. Sheiner, S. Beal, B. Rosenberg and V. Marathe et al., Forecasting individual pharmacokinetics. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther., 31 (1979) 294–305.
- 6 M.H. De Groot, Probability and statistics (2nd ed.), Addison-Wesley, Reading, MA, 1989, 422–423.
- 7 R. Jelliffe, A. Schumitzky, D. Bayard, M. Milman, M. Van Guilder, X. Wang, F. Jiang, X. Barbaut and P. Maire, Model-based, goal-oriented, individualised drug therapy: linkage of population modelling, new "multiple model" dosage design, bayesian feedback, and individualized target goals. Clin. Pharmacokinet., 34 (1998) 57–77.
- 8 A. Mallet, A maximum likelihood estimation method for random coefficient regression models. Biometrika 73 (1986) 645–656.
- 9 A. Schumitzky, Nonparametric EM algorithms for estimating prior distributions. App. Math. and Computation 45 (1991) 143–157.
- 10 D. Bayard and R. Jelliffe, Bayesian estimation of posterior densities for pharmacokinetic models having changing parameter values. Presented at the Annual Meetings of the Society for Computer Simulation, San Diego CA, January 23–27, 2000. Published in the Proceedings, Health Sciences Simulation, pp. 75–83.
- 11 R. Jelliffe, A. Schumitzky, M. Van Guilder and F. Jiang, User manual for version 10.7 of the USC\*PACK collection of PC programs. December 1, 1995. Laboratory of Applied Pharmacokinetics, University of Southern California School of Medicine, Los Angeles, CA.
- 12 R. Jelliffe, A mathematical analysis of digitalis kinetics in patients with normal and reduced renal function. Math. Biosci., 1 (1967) 305–325.
- 13 R. Jelliffe, T. Iglesias, A. Hurst, K. Foo and J. Rodriguez, Individualizing gentamicin dosage regimens: a comparative review of selected models, data fitting methods, and monitoring strategies. Clin. Pharmacokinet., 21 (1991) 461–478.
- 14 P. Maire, R. Jelliffe, C. Dumarest, D. Roux, V. Breant, B. Charpiat, E. Vermeulen, J. Brazier and P. Courpron, Controle adaptatif optimal des posologies: experience des aminosides en geriatrie. In

Information et Medicaments. Comptes Rendus du Colloque AIM-IF et IRT, Paris, December 1989, ed. by Venot A and Degoulet P, Volume 2 of Informatique et Sante, directed by Degoulet P, Springer Verlag, Paris, 154–169, 1989.

- 15 A. Hurst, M. Yoshinaga, G. Mitani, K. Foo, R. Jelliffe and E. Harrison, Application of a bayesian method to monitor and adjust vancomycin dosage regimens. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother., 34 (1990) 1165–1171.
- 16 J. Rodman, R. Jelliffe, E. Kolb, D. Tuey, M. de Guzman, P. Wagers and L. Haywood, Clinical studies with computer-assisted initial lidocaine therapy. Arch. Int. Med., 144 (1984) 703–709.
- 17 R. Jelliffe, Clinical applications of pharmacokinetics and control theory: planning, monitoring, and adjusting dosage regimens of aminoglycosides, lidocaine, digitoxin, and digoxin. In: R. Maronde (Ed.), Topics in clinical pharmacology and therapeutics, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1986, pp. 26–82.
- 18 N. Bleyzac, G. Souillet, P. Magron, A. Janoly, P. Martin, Y. Bertrand, C. Galambrun, Q. Dai, P. Maire, R. Jelliffe and G. Aulagner, Improved clinical outcome of paediatric bone marrow recipients using a test dose and bayesian pharmacokinetic individualization of busulfan dosage regimens. Bone Marrow Transplantation 28 (2001) 743–751.
- D. D'Argenio, Optimal sampling times for pharmacokinetic experiments. J. Pharmacokin. Biopharmacol., 9 (1981) 739–756.
- 20 D. D'Argenio and A. Schumitzky, ADAPT II user's guide: Pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic systems analysis software, Biomedical Simulations Resource, University of Southern California, Los Angeles, CA, Release 4, March 2000.
- 21 R. Jelliffe, Estimation of creatinine clearance in patients with unstable renal function, without a urine specimen. Am. J. Nephrol., 22 (2002) 320–324.
- 22 M. Haug and P. Slugg, Personal communication.
- 23 J. Zhi, C.H. Nightingale and R. Quintiliani, Microbial pharmacodynamics of pipericillin in neutropenic mice of systemic infection due to pseudomonas aeruginosa. J. Pharmacokin. Biopharm., 4 (1988) 355–375.
- 24 A. Schumitzky, Personal communication.
- 25 P. Maire, X. Barbaut, J.M. Vergnaud, M. El Brouzi, M. Confesson, C. Pivot, M. Chuzeville, N. Ivanoff, J. Brazier and R. Jelliffe, Computation of Drug Concentrations in Endocardial Vegetations in Patients during Antibiotic Therapy. Int. J. Bio-Med. Comput., 36 (1994) 77–85.
- 26 M. Bouvier D'Ivoire and P. Maire, Dosage regimens of antibacterials: implications of a pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic model. Drug Invest. 11 (1996) 229–239.
- 27 W. Craig and S. Ebert, Killing and regrowth of bacteria in vitro: a review. Scand. J. Infect. Dis. Suppl. 74 (1991) 63–70.
- 28 J. Mouton, A.A.T.M. Vinks and N. Punt, Pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic modeling of ceftazidime during continuous and intermittent infusion. Chapter 6, pp. 95–110, in the Ph.D. Thesis of A.A.T.M. Vinks, Strategies for pharmacokinetic optimization of continuous infusion therapy of ceftazidime and aztreonam in patients with cystic fibrosis, November, 1996.
- 29 D. Bertsekas, Dynamic programming: deterministic and stochastic models. Englewood Cliffs (NJ): Prentice-Hall, 1987, pp. 144–146.
- 30 R. Jelliffe, D. Bayard, M. Milman, M. Van Guilder and A. Schumitzky, Achieving target goals most precisely using nonparametric compartmental models and "multiple model" design of dosage regimens. Ther. Drug Monit. 22 (2000) 346–353.
- 31 R. Leary, R. Jelliffe, A. Schumitzky and M. Van Guilder, A unified parametric/nonparametric approach to population pk/pd modeling. Presented at the Annual Meeting of the Population Approach Group in Europe, Paris, France, June 6–7, 2002.
- 32 R. Jelliffe, D. Bayard, A. Schumitzky, M. Milman, F. Jiang, S. Leonov, A. Gandhi and A. Botnen, A new clinical software package for multiple model (MM) design of drug dosage regimens for planning, monitoring, and adjusting optimally individualized drug therapy for patients. Presented at the 4th International Meeting on Mathematical Modeling, Technical University of Vienna, Vienna, Austria, February 6, 2003.
- 33 F. Rougier, D. Claude, M. Maurin, A. Sedoglavic, M. Ducher, S. Corvaisier, R. Jelliffe and P. Maire, Aminoglycoside nephrotoxicity: modeling, simulation, and control. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother., 47 (2003) 1010–1016.

- 34 F. Rougier, M. Ducher, M. Maurin, S. Corvaisier, D. Claude, R. Jelliffe and P. Maire, Aminoglycoside dosages and nephrotoxicity. Clin. Pharmacokinet., 42 (2003) 493–500.
- 35 A. Berges, C. Petersen and R. Jelliffe, Gentamicin ototoxicity: characteristics of patient response analyzed with saturable Michaelis-Menten models. Presented at the 4th International Meeting on Mathematical Modeling, Technical University of Vienna, Vienna, Austria, February 6, 2003.

CHAPTER 7

## Dose and therapy individualisation in cancer chemotherapy

## Georg Hempel

Institut für Pharmazeutische und Medizinische Chemie, Universität Münster and Klinik und Poliklinik für Kinderheilkunde, Pädiatrische Hämatologie/Onkologie, Münster, Germany

#### 7.1 INTRODUCTION

Anticancer drugs, especially those with cytostatic activity, are good candidates for therapeutic drug monitoring (TDM) due to their high toxicity. However, cytostatic drugs do not necessarily have a narrow therapeutic range, which is often stated as a prerequisite for TDM. Drugs like methotrexate are administered in low doses of about  $50 \text{ mg/m}^2$  weekly during maintenance therapy of leukaemia and also in high-dose therapy regimes with a single dose of up to  $33.6 \text{ g/m}^2$  [1]. Similarly, cyclophosphamide is effective when given by mouth in low doses during maintenance therapy but is also often used in high-dose therapy regimens with doses of up to 100 mg/kg [2,3].

These two examples reflect important differences of cancer chemotherapy to other therapeutic areas: First, with the heterogeneity of tumours and the different stages of cancer it is difficult to define a general therapeutic goal. This means that a dose during maintenance therapy with the aim to eliminate residual cancer cells is not sufficient to reduce a tumour burden when starting a therapy with more than  $10^9$  cells.

Second, for many cytotoxic drugs a clear pharmacological endpoint is not defined. We actually often do not know exactly way how a cytotoxic drug exerts its antitumour effects. As an example, for anthracyclines like doxorubicin or daunorubicin different mechanisms of action were proposed [4]: intercalation of DNA with subsequent inhibition of protein biosynthesis, free radical formation and inhibition of topoisomerase II. However, it is unclear to what extent these effects observed in-vitro contribute to the ultimate cytotoxic effect in patients. It is very likely that, depending on the dose and the tumour entity, different mechanisms are important. Also, for many cytostatic agents given in low doses over longer time periods it is the effect on the vascular epithelium, not the effect on cancer cells that is critical for antitumor effect [5]. There is evidence that growth of the tumour cells is dependent on the vasculature of the tumour

and low-dose continuous therapy with cytotoxic agents is mainly an inhibition of vascular growth [6].

Unfortunately, even for the newer non-cytotoxic targeted anticancer drugs a clear pharmacological endpoint is not defined and this was one reason for the failure of several studies with these newer drugs [7].

Although a close relationship between toxicity and individual exposure was demonstrated for several cytotoxic drugs, it appears to be much more difficult to show that there is a clear relationship between drug concentrations in plasma and the anticancer effect. This is mainly due to the fact that the therapeutic outcome is difficult to assess as this requires a longer follow-up period.

The aim of this chapter is to introduce current concepts of dose finding in oncology and to give an update on applications of therapeutic drug monitoring in oncology. For a general overview of therapeutic drug monitoring in oncology, the reader is referred to the excellent reviews written by McLeod [8] or Canal and co-workers [9]. The pharmacokinetic concepts for TDM of anticancer drugs are nicely described in two recent reviews of Roussau and coworkers [10,11]. Also, the article written by Veal et al. gives a short overview of the concepts of TDM in cancer chemotherapy [12].

## 7.2 CONCEPTS OF DOSE FINDING IN ONCOLOGY

For the last twenty years, the concept of cytotoxic therapy was that there is an increase in therapy outcome with increasing doses. With the availability of growth factors of the haematopoietic system like granulocyte-colony-stimulating factor, the primary toxicity of a number of cytotoxic drugs can be overcome and higher doses can be administered. The idea of increasing the response rates by increasing the doses is based on in-vitro data where there is often a log-linear relationship between cell kill and the concentration of the drug. In the late 1980s and during the 1990s high-dose therapy with stem cell transplantation became very popular for treating leukaemia or solid tumours. However, in most of the controlled studies high-dose therapy with stem cell transplantation failed to show superiority over standard therapy regimens [13]. Only for certain forms of leukaemia (ALL), neuroblastoma and Ewing sarcoma does high-dose therapy appear to be justified by well controlled clinical studies.

The consequence of the disappointing results of high-dose therapy trials is that for every drug there must be an optimal dose and schedule for every cytotoxic agent in a given combination and a certain tumour entity. The optimal dose appears to be far below the maximal tolerated dose (MTD) which is defined as the highest dose which can be administered with acceptable toxicity. Up to now, the MTD in man has to be determined for new cytotoxic drugs during clinical drug development. To assess the optimal dose for a cytotoxic drug and to adjust the dose for a certain patient, individualisation strategies are required. The strategies applied for dose finding in oncology are summarised in Fig. 7.1 and are explained in the following paragraphs.



Fig. 7.1. Schematic representation of different dosing schemes in oncology.

#### 7.2.1 Dosing based on patient characteristics

For many cytostatic drugs, dosing based on body surface area (BSA) is used in clinical routine. BSA is calculated according to the formula of Du Bois and Du Bois:  $BSA = W^{0.425} \cdot H^{0.725} \cdot 0.007184$  [14].

The Du Bois formula is often applied to adults and the basis for the nomograms often used in clinical routine. However, the formula underestimates BSA in children less than  $0.7 \text{ m}^2$ .

For adults, the concept of BSA dosing was criticised by several investigators [15]. It is important to know that BSA was introduced as a tool for species scale-up, i.e. to calculate doses for humans from animal data [16,17]. Recently, Sawyer and Ratain pointed out that BSA is not able to predict liver or renal function and suggested that BSA should be tested as a covariate for every anticancer drug during drug development [18]. A recent review of Sparreboom and colleagues suggested that BSA should only be used for drugs with a low volume of distribution as BSA strongly correlated with the blood volume [19]. In a randomised cross-over trial the same group compared BSA-dose versus a fixed dose for paclitaxel in adults. Surprisingly, they found that even in a relatively homogeneous group of 12 patients with BSA ranging from 1.46 to 2.10 m<sup>2</sup> BSA-dosing reduced the inter-individual variability in individual exposure (AUC of unbound paclitaxel) by 53.3% [20]. Therefore, for paclitaxel BSA-dose is clearly justified. However, a retrospective analysis of phase I studies with 33 investigational

agents in 1650 adults recently showed that for only five drugs plasma clearance correlated significantly with BSA [21].

With the much greater heterogeneity of the patient populations in paediatric oncology BSA-dosing in children is still justified, because for many drugs alternative dosing strategies are lacking. In clinical routine, BSA in children is usually calculated using the formula:

$$BSA = \sqrt{\frac{W \cdot H}{3600}}$$

with W weight [kg] and H height [cm] [22].

This formula differs slightly from the original formula of Du Bois and Du Bois. Especially for smaller children and infants with a body weight of less than 10 kg, clearance better correlates with weight according to the  $\frac{3}{4}$  power law:

$$Cl_i = Cl_{st} \left(\frac{W_i}{W_{St}}\right)^{\frac{3}{4}}$$

with  $Cl_i$  individual clearance;  $Cl_{st}$  standard clearance;  $W_i$  individual weight;  $W_{st}$  standard weight (70 kg) [23]. In infants, many protocols reduce the calculated BSA-dose to 2/3 for safety reasons, although this procedure is not justified by pharmacokinetic investigations. Pharmacokinetic studies in infants are rare due to the patient's burden from repeated blood sampling. Therefore, studies with improved methodologies like capillary electrophoresis to reduce the required blood volume and population pharmacokinetic methods to reduce the required number of blood samples per patient are warranted for this patient group.

#### 7.2.2 Dosing based on pharmacodynamic parameters

In general, dose individualisation based on pharmacodynamic (PD) parameters is preferable to pharmacokinetic dose adjustment, because the same plasma concentrations in different patients can produce different therapeutic effects due to the variability in pharmacodynamic parameters (e.g. variations in  $E_{max}$ ,  $EC_{50}$ , in a  $E_{max}$ -model) or variable distribution to the effect site. As mentioned above, the problem in cancer chemotherapy is the time delay in the therapeutic effect, requiring longer follow-up periods to assess the ultimate effect, i.e. response and overall survival. Therefore, the dose is often adjusted to side-effects like the drop in white blood cell count (WBC). However, also this side effect appears with a remarkable time delay making this approach difficult to conduct. This is illustrated in Fig. 7.2.

Dose adjustment based on WBC is often applied, for example in maintenance therapy of acute lymphoblastic leukaemia (ALL) in children [24]. However, this method has the major drawback that dose adaptation can only be done in intervals of several weeks. In between, the dose of the two drugs methotrexate and mercaptopurine may be inadequate with a higher risk of relapse with underdosing and a high risk of infections when the patients are overdosed. An example is shown in Fig. 7.3. From the graph it is apparent that increasing the dose of the cytotoxic drugs does not necessarily result in reducing white blood cell (WNC) count as other confounding factors like non-compliance to therapy or co-administration of other drugs can play an important role.

## 7.2.3 Therapeutic drug monitoring of anticancer drugs

Jelliffe et al. in Chapter 6 of this book describe the concept of dose individualisation based on plasma concentration measurements in detail. As explained above, applications of therapeutic drug monitoring with dose individualisation in cancer chemotherapy are rare. Most of the studies were done in children, as this group of patients is highly heterogeneous and the pharmacokinetic variability in this patient group is high.



Fig. 7.2. Plasma concentration of a cytostatic drug (paclitaxel 3h-infusion of  $100 \text{ mg/m}^2$ ) and drop in leukocytes (schematic representation).

References pp. 188-194



Fig. 7.3. Methotrexate and mercaptopurine dose during maintenance therapy and white blood cell count in a patient with ALL.

## 7.2.3.1 Analytical aspects

Only for methotrexate, is an immunoassay commercially available. The most commonly used commercial MTX assays are a fluorescence polarization immunoassay (FPIA; Abbott Laboratories) and the enzyme-multiplied immunoassay (EMIT; Behring Diagnostics) [25,26]. Because of the ease to run this assay, most clinical laboratories and hospital pharmacies prefer this method over HPLC assays. However, when using the data from the immunoassay one has to keep in mind that the immunoassay cross-reacts with the metabolites of methotrexate. The drug is mainly metabolised to 7-hydroxy-methotrexate and DAMPA (Fig. 7.5). Especially, the latter substance displays a high cross-reactivity resulting in an overestimation of the methotrexate plasma concentration. This is especially important if carboxypeptidase is applied in case of intoxications or reduced renal clearance of methotrexate [27]. This enzyme cleaves methotrexate to its metabolite DAMPA (Fig. 7.5) which is pharmacologically inactive. Therefore, data from the EMIT assay after application of carboxypeptidase are misleading.

An analytical challenge is the analysis of alkylating agents, which are mostly aliphatic compounds lacking sufficient UV absorption to detect them with a UV detector. For busulfan, the first HPLC method described was based on a precolumn derivatisation with diethyl-dithiocarbamate [28]. This derivatisation and plasma preparation procedure was modified and improved by other investigators [29–32].

Others used 8-mercaptoquinoline for derivatisation to yield fluorescent compounds [33]. Although fluorescence detection is superior to UV from a theoretical point of view with regard to sensitivity and selectivity, in practise this method has no clear advantages over derivatisation with diethyl-dithiocarbamate.

An alternative is derivatisation resulting in 1,4 diiodbutane and postcolumn photolysis. The released iodine can be detected by UV-detection [34]. Another possibility is a precolumn derivatisation using 2,3,5,6-tetrafluorothiophenol as used by Grochow et al. [35], a derivatisation procedure originally developed for gas chromatography (GC). The latter method was the first procedure enabling us to quantify busulfan in the lower  $\mu$ g/l-range [36]. Also, derivatisation, for example conversion into 1,4-diodbutane, is necessary for GC to convert busulfan into a thermally stable compound [37]. Detection in GC for busulfan is carried out either by electron-capture detection or mass spectrometry.

With the availability of cheaper mass spectrometric detectors, HPLC-MS is the method of choice for the determination of busulfan and other alkylating agents in biological fluids. Several validated assays with limits of quantification in the lower  $\mu$ g/l-range were reported [38,39]. However, LC-MS is still a method not available in most hospitals.

When drug metabolites and the parent compound have to be analysed simultaneously, HPLC is the method of choice. A recent overview of chromatographic methods to analyse anticancer drugs can be found in Ref. [40]. In cases where only a limited sample volume is available capillary electrophoresis is preferable, for example in paediatrics or for microdialysis experiments [41].

A special situation is the analysis of platinum compounds where flameless atom absorption spectroscopy is the method of choice. Although differentiation between parent compounds and metabolites is not possible with this technique, there are several investigations demonstrating the clinical significance of platinum concentrations in plasma [42].

#### 7.2.3.2 Mercaptopurine

Mercaptopurine is a prodrug requiring activation by conjugation to the respective nucleotide catalysed by the enzyme hypoxanthine phosphoribosytransferase (HPRT, Fig. 7.4). The monophospate can be converted to the respective triphosphates which can subsequently be incorporated into DNA or RNA [43]. Another route catalysed by xanthine oxidase leads to inactive metabolites. Further, mercaptopurine is methylated at the sulfur leading to products which can also catabolised to the respective nucleotides. These methylated metabolites also display a weak cytotoxic activity and their contribution to the overall effect of the drug is not completely understood [44]. The enzyme responsible for the methylation, thiopurine methyltranferase (TPMT), displays a genetic polymorphism with 0.3% of patients showing very low activity of this enzyme. This problem is further discussed in Chapter 13.

Mercaptopurine is used in the maintenance therapy of ALL. Patients receive the drug as a daily oral therapy for several months. The peak plasma concentrations and the AUC of mercaptopurine during maintenance therapy showed a predictive value for the occurrence of relapse in a smaller group of 22 children [45]. In contrast, a bigger



(Methylthioinosine-monophosphate)

Fig. 7.4. Catabolism/metabolism of mercaptopurine.

prospective evaluation in 89 children with ALL showed no significant difference between the AUCs of patients who stayed in remission in comparison to the patients who relapsed [46]. This can be due to the high intrapatient variability in the AUC of mercaptopurine reported from several investigators [47]. As the plasma concentrations quickly decline after oral administration, intense blood sampling shortly after administration is necessary to get a useful estimate of the individual exposure, quantified as AUC. Therefore, due to the high clearance of the drug plasma concentration measurements of mercaptopurine after oral administration are not feasible for dose individualisation in clinical routine.

Dose adjustment based on WBC is the standard procedure for controlling the dose of mercaptopurine and thioguanine, the latter drug belonging to the same group of anticancer agents [48]. This pharmacodynamic dose individualisation is useful as the white blood cell count has been shown to have a predictive value for the occurrence of relapse. However, as pointed out in Section 7.2.2 of this chapter, the time delay is substantial. Therefore, if patients experience neutropenia due to overdosing the therapy has to be stopped for some weeks. These therapy breaks can results in an overall reduced therapy intensity leading to a higher risk of relapse in those patients [49].

Thioguanine nucleotides in red blood cells (E-TGN) can be used as a surrogate for the individual exposure to mercaptopurine therapy. Lennard et al. found a correlation between E-TGN and the neutrophil count 14 days later in 22 children [50]. The advantage of measuring E-TGN instead of plasma concentrations is that a single sample is sufficient to get a measure of the individual exposure to the drug and a possible

176

overdosing can be detected much earlier than with pharmacodynamic monitoring of WBC's.

In a recent study conducted in the north European countries Schmiegelow et al. attempted to individualise the dose of mercaptopurine and methotrexate during maintenance therapy of ALL in 538 children [51]. Patients were randomised to receive either dosing of mercaptopurine and methotrexate adjusted to E-TGN, methotrexate polyglutamates in red blood cells (E-Mtx) and WBC or WBC only. Surprisingly, girls in the pharmacologically controlled group had a worse outcome than girls in the control arm, i.e. with dosing based only on WBC. One possible explanation for this finding is that patients in the pharmacologically controlled group received a higher dose intensity leading to more episodes of therapy withdrawal. Another possible explanation the authors suggest is that higher concentrations of methylated metabolites occur in the pharmacology arm, leading to senescence of the leukaemic cells.

In conclusion, the failure of improving mercaptopurine therapy by dose individualisation based on drug or metabolite concentration measurements is possibly due to the complex mechanisms of action with several groups of metabolites contributing to the ultimate effect. However, as pointed out in Chapter 13, mercaptopurine is the first example where pharmacogenetic therapy individualisation has entered clinical routine in some centers. It remains to be seen if this can translate into improved therapeutic outcome.

#### 7.2.3.3 Methotrexate

One of the oldest, but still very important cytostatic drugs is methotrexate. It is mainly used in the treatment of childhood ALL, osteosarcoma in children as well as for non-Hodgkin-lymphoma and breast cancer. Methotrexate, together with mercaptopurine and some other minor important drugs, belongs to the group of antimetabolite cytostatics as they were developed to replace endogenous substances necessary for cell metabolism, resulting in subsequent inhibition of proliferation. The drug is an inhibitor of dihydrofolate reductase, an enzyme responsible for the formation of tetrahydrofolate, which is the carrier for the transfer of carbon units. Inhibition of dihydrofolate reductase results in reduced thymine production necessary for DNA synthesis.

The metabolism of methotrexate is shown in Fig. 7.5. In this respect, it is important to note that the drug is mainly excreted unchanged through the kidneys. The main metabolites found in plasma are 7-Hydroxy-methotrexate and 4-amino-4-deoxy-N<sup>10</sup>-methylpteroic acid [52]. When entering the cell, methotrexate is conjugated with two to seven glutamate moieties to methotrexate polyglutamates and can be stored in this form. The polyglutamates also display pharmacological activity. Similarly, 7-Hydroxy-methotrexate can be polyglutamated and stored inside the cell.

With its specific mechanism of action, methotrexate is the only cytotoxic drug where a specific antidote, folinic acid, is available. This fact allows dose escalations beyond the usually lethal dose of the drug by administering folinic acid at least 36 h after starting the methotrexate infusion. Using this approach, doses of up to 33.6 g/m<sup>2</sup> have been administered [53]. In fact, for certain tumour entities like osteosarcoma, a positive correlation between dose intensity and therapeutic outcome has been found in



Fig. 7.5. Metabolism of methotrexate.

retrospective analyses [54]. Graf et al. found a better outcome for patients with peak plasma concentrations above 1000  $\mu$ mol/l in patients with osteosarcoma in comparison to those with lower peak plasma concentrations [55]. A prospective study in 127 patients with localised osteosarcoma receiving either 0.75 g/m<sup>2</sup> over 30 min. or 7.5 g/m<sup>2</sup> as a 6 h infusion as preoperative (neoadjuvant) therapy showed a higher disease-free survival rate in the group receiving the higher methotrexate dose [56]. However, the difference between the two groups was not statistically significant. Therefore, and based on in-vitro and in-vivo data, the therapeutic value of high-dose methotrexate has been questioned [57]. Further, randomised studies showing a clear benefit of high-dose methotrexate (>1 g/m<sup>2</sup>) with folinic acid rescue vs. low or intermittent dosing are lacking. Also, non-haematological toxicity is apparent with highdose methotrexate like neurotoxicity, elevation of liver enzymes as well as nephrotoxicity.

Another concern is that the high doses of folinic acid (leucovorine) administered may protect cancer cells in subsequent methotrexate administrations [58]. The standard dose of 15 mg/m<sup>2</sup> folinic acid given every 6 hours for four days exceeds the usual supply of folic acid for one year. In this context, one has to keep in mind that in contrast to other water-soluble vitamins folic acid derivatives can be stored inside the cell as polyglutamates.

The folinic acid rescue is routinely adjusted based on the plasma concentration of methotrexate [59]. Therefore, methotrexate is the only anticancer drug where plasma concentration measurements are done on a routine basis.

Osteosarcoma patients receive  $12 \text{ g/m}^2$  methotrexate as a 4 h infusion. The plasma concentration is assessed 4 h, 12 h, 24 h, 48 h and every 12 hours until 72 h using an

immunoassay. Patients receive the standard folinic acid rescue of 15 mg/m<sup>2</sup> every 6 hours if the 24 h plasma concentration of methotrexate is less than 8.5  $\mu$ mol/l. Otherwise, the folinic acid-dose is escalated and patients receive the rescue therapy every 6 hours until methotrexate plasma levels fall down to 0.4  $\mu$ mol/l. A similar scheme is used in the treatment of ALL, although the applied doses are lower with 1 to 8 g/m<sup>2</sup> administered as a 24 h-infusion with a loading dose of 10% given in the first 30 minutes [60]. Also, 36 hours after the start of infusion, folinic acid rescue is administered.

Attempts to individualise the dose of methotrexate based on plasma concentrations were done mostly in leukaemia patients. In a group of 108 ALL patients receiving 1 g/m<sup>2</sup> methotrexate patients with steady-state concentrations below the median of 16 µmol/l had a higher probability of relapse than patients with higher methotrexate concentrations [61]. In accordance with these findings, a study of 42 children receiving  $6-8 \text{ g/m}^2$  methotrexate as a 24 h infusion showed the effects of methotrexate pharmacokinetics on the outcome were statistically significant with clearance per cycle being a predictor for event-free survival. However, the authors found a high intraindividual variability in methotrexate clearance. This finding makes the value of dose individualisation based on individual pharmacokinetic parameters questionable [62]. Instead, dose individualisation for methotrexate has therefore to be individualised in every cycle. This approach was utilised in the investigation of Evans et al. [63]. They were the first showing the benefits of an individualised chemotherapy regimen in comparison to conventional dosing in a randomised trial. In a group of 182 children with acute lymphoblastic leukaemia (ALL) patients were randomised to either BSA-dosed post-remission regimen with 1.5 g/m<sup>2</sup> methotrexate, teniposide and cytarabine or a regimen with the same drugs with dosing based on plasma concentration measurements in every cycle, i.e. taking intra-individual pharmacokinetic variability into account.

In the subgroup of 143 patients with B-lineage leukaemia, those receiving individualised therapy had a better outcome than patients given BSA-dosed therapy. Patients in the individualised group received higher doses in comparison to the control group. Analysis of the individual exposure of the three drugs indicated that methotrexate exposure is a predictor for the outcome of therapy whereas teniposide and cytarabin exposure had no or only a weak effect on the clinical outcome.

It is worth mentioning that the authors have not used this approach in the following studies and, to our knowledge, currently no leukaemia or osteosarcoma study group applies individualised methotrexate dosing in an active protocol.

In a study with 24 children with relapsed ALL patients received methotrexate  $500 \text{ mg/m}^2$  over 1 h as a loading dose. Subsequently, during the following 23 hours, dose adaptation to reach a target concentration of 65  $\mu$ mol/l was applied by repeated plasma concentration measurements and a Bayesian algorithm. The resulting doses ranged from 2864 to 6700 mg/m<sup>2</sup>. In comparison to historic controls, the authors found reduced toxicity as these heavily pre-treated patients are especially susceptible to experience toxicity due to reduced clearance. No efficacy data were analysed in this study [64].

In our opinion, the reasons why dose individualisation based on plasma concentration measurements for methotrexate has not entered clinical routine are:

- the high intra-individual variability in methotrexate clearance. Plasma concentrations measurements have to be done in every cycle and dose adjustment has to be done during continuous infusion.
- the lack of a general relationship between plasma concentration and effect. A target exposure has to be defined for every tumour entity and every risk group separately.
- the idea that pharmacokinetic variability does not play a role for the outcome when higher doses (>5  $g/m^2$ ) are applied [65].
- the wide therapeutic range of methotrexate when administered with subsequent folinic acid rescue.

However, the latter point does not mean that methotrexate cannot cause life-threatening toxicity. Special precautions have to be taken when administering high-dose methotrexate. Besides controlling the plasma concentration, urine alkalisation is extremely important to prevent precipitation of methotrexate and its metabolites in the kidneys. In addition, according to a recent investigation, elevated serum creatinine is a better predictor of delayed methotrexate elimination than the plasma concentration at the end of infusion [66].

## 7.2.3.4 Etoposide/Teniposide

Etoposide (Fig. 7.6) is a podophyllotoxin derivative showing activity in both solid tumours and leukaemia. It exerts its cytotoxic action by inhibiting topoisomerse II. Teniposide is another podophyllotoxin derivative with a thiophene ring on the benzyl moiety [66]. Both drugs have to be administered in a formulation containing polyethylene glycol, Tween 80, ethanol and benzylalcohole due to their low solubility. These excipients can increase the toxicity of intravenous infusions. Recently, etoposide



Fig. 7.6. Etoposide.

phosphate was introduced to improve the solubility of etoposide [67]. The drug can be administered without addition of these excipients. Etoposide phosphate is a prodrug which is immediately hydrolysed in plasma to form etoposide.

The elimination of etoposide is highly dependent on renal function and serum creatinine and <sup>51</sup>Cr-EDTA clearance can be used to predict the renal clearance of etoposide [68]. Consequently, previous cisplatin therapy, which affects renal function, may reduce the clearance of etoposide. Etoposide and teniposide are highly bound to proteins in plasma. As protein binding varies between individuals and is dependent on disease status, the measurement of the free fraction of etoposide in plasma is preferable. Studies in adults and children showed that the free fraction better correlated with toxicity than total etoposide [69]. The AUC of etoposide was correlated with the incidence of neutropenia in several studies. Also, the length of exposure above a threshold concentration was correlated with haematological toxicity [70,71].

Adaptive control was applied to adjust the dose of etoposide in a 72 h schedule by using a plasma concentration measurement after 24 h. However, in a randomised crossover study including 31 adults with several different malignancies there was no advantage with regard to therapeutic effect of the individualised scheme [72]. The authors conclude that their model has to be improved by including pre-dose pharmacodynamic measurement. In a subsequent study the same group applied a refined model including white blood cell count and could show they could safely increase the dose intensity of etoposide in 45 patients [73]. However, an advantage in therapeutic outcome of this approach could not be demonstrated. Probably, the patient population was too heterogeneous and optimal plasma concentrations might differ depending on the tumour entity.

In a study in 67 patients with acute myeogenous leukaemia the dose of etoposide and cytarabine was individualised to achieve plasma concentrations of 30  $\mu$ mol/l etoposide given as a 96 h continuous infusion (initial dose 500 mg/m<sup>2</sup> per day) [74]. For cytarabine, a target plasma concentration of 1  $\mu$ mol/l was aimed for during a 120 h continuous infusion. An improvement in therapeutic outcome was not achieved in comparison to historic controls. The most probable explanation for this finding is that the protocol, which also included daunorubicin and amsacrine, was too toxic so that many patients experienced infections, resulting in therapy interruptions. Neutropenia was severe during the cycles and six patients died of the toxic effects of therapy.

A smaller study in 9 children attempted to individualise etoposide to a target AUC between 4.6 and 8.2 g/l\*min [75]. In this study, only feasibility of this procedure could be demonstrated without showing any benefits of this schedule. Ciccolini et al. recently proposed and validated a limited sampling strategy for 5-day continuous infusion of etoposide in 25 patients [76]. However, as pointed out by McLeod a few years ago, for etoposide as for many other anticancer drugs, the role of TDM has to be evaluated in randomised trials comparing conventional vs. individualised dosing [8]. In a randomised study individualising methotrexate, cytarabine and teniposide in children with ALL, teniposide systemic exposure appeared to have no effect on the risk of developing relapse [63]. In conclusion, TDM of etoposide or teniposide appears to be useful to control therapy intensity. Up to now, an advantage with regard to therapeutic outcome could not be demonstrated. Investigations using the unbound fraction of etoposide might

be more feasible. As pointed out by Lowis et al., pharmacokinetically guided dosing of etoposide (as well as teniposide) is likely to be of most benefit in patients with abnormalities of renal or hepatic function, or in children with prior exposure to cisplatin [75].

#### 7.2.3.5 Carboplatin

Platinum complexes like cisplatin and carboplatin (Fig. 7.7) exert their antitumour effects by forming DNA adducts and subsequent inhibition of DNA replication and transcription. They have an important role in the treatment of several solid tumours. Besides myelosuppression, nephrotoxicity and ototoxicity are dose-limiting for cisplatin, whereas thrombocytopenia is dose-limiting for carboplatin. Cisplatin is extensively bound to plasma proteins and clear pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic correlations have been identified for the ultrafiltrable, i.e. unbound fraction of the drug in plasma and toxicity as well as therapeutic effect [77].

As carboplatin is preferentially eliminated through the kidney, clearance can be predicted using parameters of the renal function. Calvert et al. proposed and validated a formula to calculate the dose of carboplatin from the desired AUC and the glomerular filtration rate calculated from <sup>51</sup>Cr-EDTA-clearance [78]. As this method to calculate renal clearance is not applied routinely, other investigators used serum creatinine, weight, age and sex to predict carboplatin clearance [79]. This formula was also prospectively validated [80]. For children, modified formulae have been developed [81,82]. These formulae to calculate the carboplatin dose are today widely applied in clinical routine. They can reduce the variability in the AUC to about 25% in comparison to an up to fourfold variability in AUC when the dose is adjusted to BSA [83].

With this relatively low pharmacokinetic variability achieved TDM is limited to special situations because the variability can only be slightly reduced to a value of about 15%. To individualise dosing based on plasma concentration measurements, several limited sampling procedures were suggested [84]. These approaches can be useful in high-dose therapy where variations in the AUC of 25% could be very critical [85].



Fig. 7.7. Cisplatin and Carboplatin.

Furthermore, as with almost all cytostatic drugs, drug monitoring is desirable in patients with reduced renal function or other special situations which might influence the pharmacokinetics of carboplatin.

#### 7.2.3.6 Busulfan

The alkylating agent Busulfan (Fig. 7.8) is part of many conditioning regimens before autologous or allogenic stem cell transplantation for the treatment of leukaemia and certain nonmalignant haematological disorders. Since the 1950s, the drug was used for the treatment of chronic myeloic leukaemia in low doses. Today, it is mostly used in combination with cyclophosphamide in high-dose therapy regimens [86].

The standard dose in the conditioning regimens is 1 mg/kg every 6 h for 4 days. Fig. 7.9 shows a typical plasma concentration time curve of a child receiving this regimen. From the graph, one can see that substantial intra-individual variability is apparent. Until recently, only an oral formulation of busulfan was available due to the high lipophilicity of busulfan. In 1999, an i.v.-formulation containing dimethylaceta-mide as a solvent was approved in the US and is now also available in other countries.

The drug is metabolised in the liver, mainly by the enzyme glutathion-S-transferase, by forming an sulfonium ion and subsequent oxidation resulting in inactive products



Fig. 7.9. Plasma concentration time curve after administration of busulfan 1 mg/kg every 6 h for 4 days. The line represents the posthoc estimates of a population pharmacokinetic model describe in Ref. [103].

Age (years)	Number of patients	V.F (l/kg)	t <sub>1/2</sub> (h)	CI/F (ml/min/kg)	Reference
4–14	11	$1.0 \pm 0.5$	2.3	$4.4 \pm 2.2$	89
2–14	25	$1.0 \pm 0.4$	2.9	$4.5 \pm 1.5$	90
1.3–14	9		2.4	$4.9 \pm 2.2$	91
1.3-13.5	19	$0.73 \pm 0.15$	2.4	$3.6 \pm 1.1$	92
< 3.6	14	$1.4 \pm 0.8$	1.6	$8.4 \pm 4.3$	93
<2.7	33	$1.6 \pm 1.3$	2.8	$6.8 \pm 3.0$	94
>18	28	$0.6 \pm 0.5$	2.3	$2.5 \pm 1.4$	95
>18	16		2.7	$2.6 \pm 0.6$	91

TABLE 7.1 PHARMACOKINETIC PARAMETERS OF BUSULFAN IN CHILDREN AND ADULTS.

[87]. Only a few percent of the applied dose are excreted unchanged in urine [88]. The pharmacokinetic parameters of busulfan in different patient populations are summarised in Table 7.1.

As the protein binding is very low, the drug displays a volume of distribution comparable to body water [96]. In smaller children with an age <3 years, a higher volume of distribution and a higher clearance was observed in relation to body weight [89,90]. Consequently, dosage according to body surface area (BSA) in children has been shown to produce AUC values similar to those observed in adults [97,98]. In contrast to these findings, dosing based on body weight is still used in many treatment protocols for children. A circadian rhythm in busulfan clearance has been observed with higher trough concentration in the morning [99]. The influence of obesity on the pharmacokinetics of busulfan is questionable.

Besides myelosuppression, the hepatotoxicity is dose-limiting with veno-occlusive disease (VOD) occurring with an incidence of 20%, according to an older investigation [96]. VOD is lethal in a substantial number of patients. Other severe side effects are convulsions, and interstitial pneumonia.

Several investigations have demonstrated a relationship between pharmacokinetic parameters and side effects or activity. In adults, an area under the curve (AUC) of more than 1500  $\mu$ mol/l\*min has been shown to be associated with an increased risk for the development of VOD [100]. Plasma trough concentrations higher than 500  $\mu$ g/l (2.03  $\mu$ mol/l) appear to be necessary to prevent graft rejection [101]. In accordance to this, McCune et al. found an inverse correlation between the trough concentrations of busulfan (in that paper termed C<sub>ss</sub>) and the graft rejection with a risk of less than 12% with busulfan C<sub>ss</sub> of more than 600  $\mu$ g/l (2.43  $\mu$ mol/l) [102].

Busulfan displays substantial inter-individual variability in its pharmacokinetic parameters. According to two recent population pharmacokinetic investigations the variability in the apparent clearance is about 25% and in the apparent volume of distribution 30%. However, most of the inter-individual variability after oral administration was found in the absorption constant  $k_a$  with values of more than 100%

[103,104]. In both investigations, intra-individual variability in all parameters was substantially lower. Thus, an important prerequisite for dose individualisation is fulfilled.

Consequently, in some specialised centers dose individualisation of busulfan is done on a routine basis. A problem to apply drug monitoring of busulfan in clinical routine is the difficult analytical methodology, as described in Section 7.2.3.1. Furthermore, due to the oral route of administration, a reliable estimate of the pharmacokinetic parameters is only achieved with collection of several plasma samples. For example, Krivoy et al. took as many as 10 plasma samples after the first dosing to calculate the AUC and to adjust the dose at the fifth administration [105]. However, the authors used noncompartmental pharmacokinetic analysis. With more adequate compartmental analysis and Bayesian forecasting the number of samples required can be substantially reduced.

Bolinger et al. also applied a test dose of 0.5 mg/kg in 32 children and collected seven plasma samples to calculate the pharmacokinetic parameters [106]. They adjusted the dose to achieve trough concentrations of 600 to 900  $\mu$ g/l (2.43–3.65  $\mu$ mol/l). In comparison to historic controls, they found an increased engraftment (as high as 94%) but no reduction in toxicity.

As mentioned by Jelliffe and co-authors in Chapter 6, Bleyzac et al. have established a dose individualisation procedure for patients receiving busulfan [107]. Patients receive a test dose of 0.5 mg/kg busulfan and three plasma samples are collected. From the measured busulfan plasma concentrations the pharmacokinetic parameters of the patient can be calculated with great accuracy. The target was an AUC between 4 and 6 mg/l\*h (985–1478  $\mu$ mol/l\*min). In a matched-pair analysis 29 patients with individualised dose had a much lower incidence of VOD and a higher VOD-free survival than patients with standard dose while overall survival did not differ between the two groups.

In another investigation, using a limited sampling procedure with four plasma samples after the first dose of 40 mg/m<sup>2</sup> busulfan the following doses were adjusted to a target of 1300  $\mu$ mol/l\*min in a group of 38 paediatric patients [108]. As most children aged between 1 and 5 years required dose increments and older children dose reductions, they recommend age-adapted BSA-dose with the highest dose of 45 mg/m<sup>2</sup> given to the group aged between 1 and 5 years and lower BSA-doses for both younger and older patients. The authors critically discuss the value of dose adjustment for children based on AUC calculation of the first dose due to intra-individual factors like co-adminstration of inducers of metabolism like phenytoin and occasional delayed absorption in some patients.

However, even with expensive GC-MS equipment and specialised personnel the costs of TDM of busulfan were calculated to be less than 1% of the total costs of a haematopoietic stem cell transplantation [109]. Therefore, given the encouraging results of several independent groups, TDM of oral busulfan should be applied in every center for bone marrow transplantation.

Small pharmacokinetic studies have demonstrated that i.v.-administration of busulfan is able to reduce the variability in individual exposure [110]. However, the variability is still substantial [111]. Therefore, i.v.-busulfan in combination with therapeutic drug monitoring should be the best way to improve safety of this drug with very serious toxicity [112].



Fig. 7.10. Fluorouracil.

## 7.3 5-FLUOROURACIL (5-FU)

One of the most important drugs for the treatment of colorectal and head and neck cancer is 5-FU (Fig. 7.10) [113]. The drug requires anabolism to the respective nucleoside 5-fluoro-2-deoxyuridine 5'-monophosphate (FdUMP) to exert its cytotoxic activity. Inactivation is mainly determined by the enzyme dihydropyrimidine dehydrogenase (DPD) reducing the double bond. This enzyme displays genetic polymorphism with an incidence of about 3% of the population with markedly reduced activity [114]. 5-FU is often combined with folinic acid to improve inhibition of thymidylate synthase by FdUMP.

The drug is administered as a short bolus infusion or as a prolonged continuous infusion over several days. From a pharmacokinetic standpoint, the latter approach appears more logical as 5-FU has a very low half-life of 8 to 20 min [113]. With bolus injections, the drug displays nonlinear kinetics.

There are investigations demonstrating a relationship between the AUC of 5-FU and both response and toxicity, indicating that dose individualisation based on plasma concentration measurements should be able to improve therapeutic outcome [115,116]. Therefore, dose individualisation based on pharmacokinetic measurements appears to be justified [117]. An investigation was conducted in 208 patients receiving either 1300 mg/m<sup>2</sup> 5-FU as a 8 h-infusion plus folinic acid vs. dose-adapted 5-FU to reach target concentrations of 2 to 3 mg/l. Patients in the individualised arm received a higher dose intensity (1800 mg/m<sup>2</sup>), had higher response rates but also higher toxicity [118].

In 122 patients with head and neck cancer, treatment of 5-FU was either adjusted to body surface area (4  $g/m^2$ ) or the dose was adjusted to the AUC determined in the first cycle according to a scheme including lower threshold levels for white blood, neutrophils and platelet counts. Patients in the standard arm received a higher dose intensity and, consequently, had significantly more severe toxicity. Response rates were not significantly different in both arms [119].

In conclusion, the role of individualised dosing of 5-FU is currently unclear. An increase in response rates with individualised dosing cannot be expected. More realistically, the aim should be a decrease in the incidence of side-effects.

# 7.4 IN-VITRO-CYTOTOXICITY AS A TOOL FOR THERAPY INDIVIDUALISATION

The idea of in-vitro cytotoxicity determination and subsequent therapy individualisation is more than 20 years old [120]. In principle, the concept is as follows: at diagnosis,

patient tumour cells are collected from biopsy material, blood or bone marrow and are cultured and exposed to cytotoxic drugs. Subsequently, the viability or the percentage of living cells are quantified using methods like clonogenic assays, differential staining cytotoxicity assays (DiSC), the 3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)–2,5-diphenyl tetrazolium bromide (MTT)-assay or fluorimetric microculture cytotoxicity assay (FMCA) [121]. The idea is to select the cytotoxic drug depending on the results of the assays by excluding drugs if the patient's cells have shown resistance to these drugs. Other authors focus on the predictive value of these tests and want to use the results for stratification, i.e. scoring the patient to a certain risk group [122].

Under optimal conditions, this approach is able to avoid unnecessary or ineffective therapy for patients. However, the method is not able to optimise anticancer therapy with regard to improving clinical outcome for high-risk patients. Furthermore, the predictive value of the assays is often questionable as the cells are cultured under conditions which only partially reflect the situation in-vivo. Therefore, this approach cannot replace TDM in the future.

#### 7.5 DOSING BASED SURROGATE MARKERS

Surrogate markers are defined as biomarkers which are able to predict clinical outcome [123]. In cancer chemotherapy, an easy to measure parameter which is predictive for disease-free or overall survival would be desirable. These markers should be prospectively validated in clinical trials. For example, prostate-specific antigen in plasma has been suggested as a surrogate marker for the treatment of prostate carcinoma [124].

In cancer research, they will become increasingly important because of the difficulties and the long time intervals required to assess clinical outcome in cancer therapy [125]. Currently, this approach is mainly used during drug development in clinical studies for new drugs [126]. In the future, they can hopefully be used for therapy individualisation in clinical routine. Several approaches are currently being developed where meaningful biomarkers will become available to control or individualise therapy. Vascular cell adhesion molecule1 (VCAM-1) or vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) are candidates for a surrogate marker of an anti-angiogenetic therapy in cancer [127]. In the future, it might be possible to use this parameter for dose adjustment and drug selection.

## 7.6 CONCLUSIONS

To summarise the role of TDM in cancer chemotherapy, one can conclude that TDM with dose individualisation is clearly indicated for busulfan. For other drugs like 5-FU, 6-MP or methotrexate, the role of TDM is not clearly defined at the moment. Drug monitoring with the aim to identify patients with reduced clearance and to adjust folinic acid rescue is necessary in high-dose methotrexate therapy. Monitoring of cytotoxic drugs should, however, be applied much more frequently than it is done today to prevent

over- or underdosing, especially in patients with liver insufficiency, reduced kidney function or ascites. Another drug where drug monitoring is definitely beneficial to patients is asparaginase, an enzyme used in the treatment of ALL. Patients may develop antibodies inactivating the enzyme. In this case, therapy has to be modified by applying asparaginase from another biological source, which does not cross-react with the antibodies, to ensure sufficient therapy intensity [128].

In the future, more pharmacokinetic studies in special populations like infants are warranted. Also, pharmacokinetic data of older patients with cancer are necessary as this is an important patients group where pharmacokinetic data are lacking. This studies may provide a rationale for dose adaptation or individualisation in this patients.

#### 7.7 REFERENCES

- P.J. Moe and A. Holen, High-dose methotrexate in childhood all. Pediatr. Hematol. Oncol., 17 (2000) 615–622. Review.
- 2 M. Colleoni, A. Rocca, M.T. Sandri, L. Zorzino, G. Masci, F. Nole, G. Peruzzotti, C. Robertson, L. Orlando, S. Cinieri, B.F. de, G. Viale and A. Goldhirsch, Low-dose oral methotrexate and cyclophosphamide in metastatic breast cancer: antitumor activity and correlation with vascular endothelial growth factor levels. Ann. Oncol., 13 (2002), 73–80.
- 3 D. Busse, F.W. Busch, F. Bohnenstengel, M. Eichelbaum, P. Fischer, J. Opalinska, K. Schumacher, E. Schweizer and H.K. Kroemer, Dose escalation of cyclophosphamide in patients with breast cancer: consequences for pharmacokinetics and metabolism. J. Clin. Oncol., 15 (1997) 1885–1896.
- 4 D.A. Gewirtz, A critical evaluation of the mechanisms of action proposed for the antitumor effects of the anthracycline antibiotics adriamycin and daunorubicin Biochem. Pharmacol., 57 (1999) 727–741.
- 5 F.A. Scappaticci, Mechanisms and future directions for angiogenesis-based cancer therapies. J. Clin. Oncol., 20 (2002) 3906–3927.
- 6 D. Hanahan, G. Bergers and E. Bergsland, Less is more, regularly: metronomic dosing of cytotoxic drugs can target tumor angiogenesis in mice. J. Clin. Invest., 105 (2000) 1045–1047.
- 7 J.H. Schellens and M.J. Ratain, Endostatin: are the 2 years up yet? J. Clin. Oncol., 20 (2002) 3758–3760.
- 8 H.L. McLeod, Therapeutic drug monitoring opportunities in cancer therapy. Pharmacol. Ther., 74 (2002) 39–54.
- 9 P. Canal, E. Chatelut and S. Guichard, Practical treatment guide for dose individualisation in cancer chemotherapy. Drugs 56 (1998) 1019–1038.
- 10 A. Rousseau and P. Marquet, Application of pharmacokinetic modelling to the routine therapeutic drug monitoring of anticancer drugs. Fundam. Clin. Pharmacol., 16 (2002) 253–262.
- 11 A. Rousseau, P. Marquet, J. Debord, C. Sabot and G. Lachatre, Adaptive control methods for the dose individualisation of anticancer agents. Clin. Pharmacokinet., 38 (2000) 315–353.
- 12 G.J. Veal, S.A. Coulthard and A.V. Boddy, Chemotherapy individualization. Invest. New Drugs 21 (2003) 149–156.
- 13 B.A. Kamen, E. Rubin, J. Aisner and E. Glatstein, High-time chemotherapy or high time for low dose. J. Clin. Oncol., 18 (2000) 2935–2937.
- 14 D. Du Bois and E.F. Du Bois, Clinical calorimetry. Tenth paper. A formula to estimate the approximate surface area if height and weight be known. Arch. Int. Med., 17 (1916) 863.
- 15 H. Gurney, Dose calculation of anticancer drugs: a review of the current practice and introduction of an alternative. J. Clin. Oncol., 14 (1996) 2590–2611.
- 16 E.J. Freireich, E.A. Gehan, D.P. Rall, L.H. Schmidt and H.E. Skipper, Quantitative comparison of toxicity of anticancer agents in mouse, rat, hamster, dog, monkey, and man. Cancer Chemother. Rep., 50 (1966) 219–244.
- 17 R.L. Dedrick, Animal scale-up. J. Pharmacokinet. Biopharm., 1 (1973) 435–461.

- 18 M. Sawyer and M.J. Ratain, Body surface area as a determinant of pharmacokinetics and drug dosing. Invest. New Drugs 19 (2001) 171–177.
- 19 A. Felici, J. Verweij and A. Sparreboom, Dosing strategies for anticancer drugs: the good, the bad and body-surface area. Eur. J. Cancer 38 (2002) 1677–1684.
- 20 C.H. Smorenburg, A. Sparreboom, M. Bontenbal, G. Stoter, K. Nooter and J. Verweij, Randomized cross-over evaluation of body-surface area-based dosing versus flat-fixed dosing of paclitaxel. J. Clin. Oncol., 21 (2003) 197–202.
- 21 S.D. Baker, J. Verweij, E.K. Rowinsky, R.C. Donehower, J.H. Schellens, L.B. Grochow and A. Sparreboom, Role of body surface area in dosing of investigational anticancer agents in adults, 1991–2001. J. Natl. Cancer Inst., 94 (2002) 1883–1888.
- 22 R.D. Mosteller, Simplifies calculation of body surface area. N. Eng. J. Med., 317 (1987) 1098.
- 23 N.H.G. Holford, A size standard for pharmacokinetics. Clin. Pharmacokin., 30 (1996) 329–332.
- 24 K. Schmiegelow, Maintenance chemotherapy of acute lymphoblastic leukemia in children. Dan. Med. Bull., 45 (1998) 510–532.
- 25 M. Oellerich, P. Engelhardt, M. Schaadt and V. Diehl, Determination of methotrexate in serum by a rapid, fully mechanized enzyme immunoassay (EMIT). J. Clin. Chem. Clin. Biochem., 18 (1980) 169–174.
- 26 M.A. Pesce and S.H. Bodourian, Evaluation of a fluorescence polarization immunoassay procedure for quantification of methotrexate. Ther. Drug Monit., 8 (1986) 115–121.
- 27 A.S. Krause, M.R. Weihrauch, U. Bode, G. Fleischhack, T. Elter, T. Heuer, A. Engert, V. Diehl and A. Josting, Carboxypeptidase-G2 rescue in cancer patients with delayed methotrexate elimination after high-dose methotrexate therapy. Leuk. Lymphoma. 43 (2002) 2139–2143.
- 28 W.D. Henner, E.A. Furlong, M.D. Flaherty, T.C. Shea and W.P. Peters, Measurement of busulfan in plasma by high-performance liquid chromatography. J. Chromatogr., 416 (1987) 426–432.
- 29 J.J. MacKichan and T.P. Bechtel, Quantitation of busulfan in plasma by high-performance liquid chromatography. J. Chromatogr., 532 (1990) 424–428.
- 30 N. Rifai, M. Sakamoto, M. Lafi and E. Guinan, Measurement of plasma busulfan concentration by high-performance liquid chromatography with ultraviolet detection. Ther. Drug Monit., 19 (1997) 169–174.
- 31 D.S. Chow, H.P. Bhagwatwar, S. Phadungpojna and B.S. Andersson, Stability-indicating highperformance liquid chromatographic assay of busulfan in aqueous and plasma samples. J. Chromatogr. B, 704 (1997) 277–288.
- 32 N. Bleyzac, P. Barou and G. Aulagner, Rapid and sensitive high-performance liquid chromatographic method for busulfan assay in plasma. J. Chromatogr. B, 742 (2000) 427–432.
- 33 J.E. Peris, J.A. Latorre, V. Castel, A. Verdeguer, S. Esteve and F. Torres-Molina, Determination of busulfan in human plasma using high-performance liquid chromatography with pre-column derivatization and fluorescence detection. J. Chromatogr. B, 730 (1999) 33–40.
- 34 J. Blanz, C. Rosenfeld, B. Proksch, G. Ehninger and K.P. Zeller, Quantitation of busulfan in plasma by high-performance liquid chromatography using postcolumn photolysis. J. Chromatogr. 532 (1990) 429–437.
- 35 L.B. Grochow, R.J. Jones, R.B. Brundrett, H.G. Braine, T.L. Chen, R. Saral, G.W. Santos and O.M. Colvin, Pharmacokinetics of busulfan: correlation with veno-occlusive disease in patients undergoing bone marrow transplantation. Cancer Chemother. Pharmacol., 25 (1989) 55–61.
- 36 M. Hassan and H. Ehrsson, Gas chromatographic determination of busulfan in plasma with electroncapture detection. J. Chromatogr., 277 (1983) 374–380.
- 37 G. Vassal, M. Re and A. Gouyette, Gas chromatographic-mass spectrometric assay for busulfan in biological fluids using a deuterated internal standard. J. Chromatogr., 428 (1988) 357–361.
- 38 M.H. Quernin, M. Duval, C. Litalien, E. Vilmer and E.J. Aigrain, Quantification of busulfan in plasma by liquid chromatography-ion spray mass spectrometry. Application to pharmacokinetic studies in children. J. Chromatogr. B, 763 (2001) 61–69.
- 39 T.E. Murdter, J. Coller, A. Claviez, F. Schonberger, U. Hofmann, P. Dreger and M. Schwab, Sensitive and rapid quantification of busulfan in small plasma volumes by liquid chromatography-electrospray mass spectrometry. Clin. Chem., 47 (2001) 1437–1442.

- 40 E. de Palo and F. Deyl, Special issue anticancer and antiviral agents. J. Chromatogr. B, 764 (2001) 1–287.
- 41 W. Thormann, I.S. Lurie, B. McCord, U. Marti, B. Cenni and N. Malik, Advances of capillary electrophoresis in clinical and forensic analysis (1999–2000). Electrophoresis. 22 (2001) 4216–4243.
- 42 T.J. Hodes, W.J. Underberg, G. Los and J.H. Beijnen, Platinum antitumour agents: a review of (bio)analysis. Pharm. Weekbl. Sci., 14 (1992) 61–77.
- 43 G.R. Erdmann, 6-Mercaptopurine and 6-Thioguanine in: L.B. Grochow and M.M. Ames (Eds.), A clinician's guide to chemotherapy pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics. Williams & Wilkins, 1998, 411–425.
- 44 T. Dervieux, J.G. Blanco, E.Y. Krynetski, E.F. Vanin, M.F. Roussel and M.V. Relling, Differing contribution of thiopurine methyltransferase to mercaptopurine versus thioguanine effects in human leukemic cells. Cancer Res., 61 (2001) 5810–5816.
- 45 S. Hayder, P. Lafolie, O. Bjork and C. Peterson, 6-mercaptopurine plasma levels in children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia: relation to relapse risk and myelotoxicity. Ther. Drug Monit., 11 (1989) 617–612.
- 46 F.M. Balis, J.S. Holcenberg, D.G. Poplack, J. Ge, H.N. Sather, R.F. Murphy, M.M. Ames, M.J. Waskerwitz, D.G. Tubergen, S. Zimm, G.S. Gilchrist and W.A. Bleyer, Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of oral methotrexate and mercaptopurine in children with lower risk acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a joint children's cancer group and pediatric oncology branch study. Blood, 92 (1998) 3569–3577.
- 47 P. Lafolie, S. Hayder, O. Bjork and C. Peterson, Intraindividual variation in 6-mercaptopurine pharmacokinetics during oral maintenance therapy of children with acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. Eur. J. Clin. Pharmacol., 40 (1991) 599–601.
- 48 K. Schmiegelow, H. Schroder and M. Schmiegelow, Methotrexate and 6-mercaptopurine maintenance therapy for childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia: dose adjustments by white cell counts or by pharmacokinetic parameters? Cancer Chemother. Pharmacol., 34 (1994) 209–215.
- 49 M.V. Relling, M.L. Hancock, J.M. Boyett, C.H. Pui and W.E. Evans, Prognostic importance of 6-mercaptopurine dose intensity in acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood, 93 (1999) 2817–2823.
- 50 L. Lennard, C.A. Rees, J.S. Lilleyman and J.L. Maddocks, Childhood leukaemia: a relationship between intracellular 6-mercaptopurine metabolites and neutropenia. Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol., 16 (1983) 359–363.
- 51 K. Schmiegelow, O. Björk, A. Glomstein, G. Gustafson, N. Keiding, J. Kristiansson, Mäkipernaa, S. Rosthoj, C. Szumlanski, T.M. Sorensen and R. Weinshilbaum, Intensification of mercaptopurine/ methotrexate maintenance chemotherapy may increase the risk of relapse for some children with acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. J. Clin. Oncol., 21 (2003) 1332–1339.
- 52 R.C. Donehower, K.R. Hande, J.C. Drake and B.A. Chabner, Presence of 2,4-diamino-N10methylpteroic acid after high-dose methotrexate. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther., 26 (1979) 63–67.
- 53 J.D. Borsi and P.J. Moe, A comparative study on the pharmacokinetics of methotrexate in a dose range of 0.5 g to 33.6 g/m<sup>2</sup> in children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Cancer, 60 (1987) 5–13.
- 54 N. Delepine, G. Delepine, G. Bacci, G. Rosen and J.C. Desbois, Influence of methotrexate dose intensity on outcome of patients with high grade osteogenic osteosarcoma. Analysis of the literature. Cancer, 78 (1996) 2127–2135.
- 55 N. Graf, K. Winkler, M. Betlemovic, N. Fuchs and U. Bode, Methotrexate pharmacokinetics and prognosis in osteosarcoma. J. Clin. Oncol., 12 (1994) 1443–1451.
- 56 P.D. Cole and B.A. Kamen, High-dose methotrexate is lethal to rats. Why give it to children? Pediatr. Hematol. Oncol., 17 (2000) 609–613.
- 57 J.D. Borsi, F. Wesenberg, T. Stokland and P.J. Moe, How much is too much? Folinic acid rescue dose in children with acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. Eur. J. Cancer, 27 (1991) 1006–1009.
- 58 W. Kickinger, P. Ritschl and R. Kotz, Management of the administration of leucovorin calcium in high-dose methotrexate therapy. Arzneimittelforschung, 39 (1989) 728–731.
- 59 A. Reiter, M. Schrappe, W.D. Ludwig, M. Tiemann, R. Parwaresch, M. Zimmermann, E. Schirg, G. Henze, G. Schellong, H. Gadner and H. Riehm, Intensive ALL-type therapy without local

radiotherapy provides a 90% event-free survival for children with T-cell lymphoblastic lymphoma: a BFM group report. Blood, 95 (2000) 416–421.

- 60 W.E. Evans, W.R. Crom, M. Abromowitch, R. Dodge, A.T. Look, W.P. Bowman, S.L. George and C.H. Pui, Clinical pharmacodynamics of high-dose methotrexate in acute lymphocytic leukemia. Identification of a relation between concentration and effect. N. Engl. J. Med., 314 (1986) 471–477.
- 61 H. Seidel, R. Nygaard, P.J. Moe, G. Jacobsen, B. Lindqvist and L. Slordal, On the prognostic value of systemic methotrexate clearance in childhood acute lymphocytic leukemia. Leuk. Res., 21 (1997) 429–434.
- 62 W.E. Evans, M.V. Relling, J.H. Rodman, W.R. Crom, J.M. Boyet and C. Pui, Conventional vs. individualized chemotherapy for childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia. N. Engl. J. Med., 338 (1998) 499–505.
- 63 A.M. Wall, A. Gajjar, A. Link, H. Mahmoud, C.H. Pui and M.V. Relling, Individualized methotrexate dosing in children with relapsed acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Leukemia, 14 (2000) 221–225.
- 64 W.E. Evans, M.V. Relling, J.M. Boyett and C.H. Pui, Does pharmacokinetic variability influence the efficacy of high-dose methotrexate for the treatment of children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia: what can we learn from small studies? Leuk. Res., 21 (1997) 435–437.
- 65 T. Skarby, P. Jonsson, L. Hjorth, M. Behrentz, O. Bjork, E. Forestier, M. Jarfelt, G. Lonnerholm and P. Hoglund, High-dose methotrexate: on the relationship of methotrexate elimination time vs renal function and serum methotrexate levels in 1164 courses in 264 Swedish children with acute lymphoblastic leukaemia (ALL). Cancer Chemother. Pharmacol., 51 (2003) 311–320.
- 66 H.L. Mcleod and W.E. Evans, Epipodophyllotoxins in: L.B. Grochow and M.M. Ames (Eds.), A clinician's guide to chemotherapy pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics. Williams & Wilkins, 1998, 259–287.
- 67 D.R. Budman, L.N. Igwemezie, S. Kaul, J. Behr, S. Lichtman, P. Schulman, V. Vinciguerra, S.L. Allen, J. Kolitz, K. Hock et al., Phase I evaluation of a water-soluble etoposide prodrug, etoposide phosphate, given as a 5-minute infusion on days 1, 3, and 5 in patients with solid tumors. J. Clin. Oncol., 12 (1994) 1902–1909.
- 68 S.P. Lowis, A.D. Pearson, D.R. Newell and M. Cole, Etoposide pharmacokinetics in children: the development and prospective validation of a dosing equation. Cancer Res., 53 (1993) 4881–4889.
- 69 C.F. Stewart, S.G. Arbuck, R.A. Fleming and W.E. Evans, Relation of systemic exposure to unbound etoposide and hematologic toxicity. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther., 50 (1991) 385–393.
- 70 D.S. Sonnichsen, R.C. Ribeiro, X. Luo, P. Mathew and M.V. Relling, Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of 21-day continuous oral etoposide in pediatric patients with solid tumors. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther., 58 (1995) 99–107.
- 71 B. Tillmann, S. Krumpelmann, G. Wurthwein, A. Wagner, P. Schulze-Westhoff, G. Hempel, H. Jurgens and J. Boos, Pharmacokinetic aspects of oral administration of etoposide. Klin. Padiatr., 210 (1998) 159–164.
- 72 M.J. Ratain, R.L. Schilsky, K.E. Choi, C. Guarnieri, D. Grimmer, N.J. Vogelzang, E. Senekjian and M.A. Liebner, Adaptive control of etoposide administration: impact of interpatient pharmacodynamic variability. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther., 45 (1989) 226–233.
- 73 M.J. Ratain, R. Mick, R.L. Schilsky, N.J. Vogelzang and F. Berezin, Pharmacologically based dosing of etoposide: a means of safely increasing dose intensity. J. Clin. Oncol., 9 (1997) 1480–1486.
- 74 M.K. Arnaout, K.M. Radomski, D.K. Srivastava, X. Tong, J.R. Belt, S.C. Raimondi, F.G. Behm and V.M. Santana, Treatment of childhood acute myelogenous leukemia with an intensive regimen (AML-87) that individualizes etoposide and cytarabine dosages: short- and long-term effects. Leukemia, 14 (2000) 1736–1742.
- 75 S.P. Lowis, L. Price, A.D. Pearson, D.R. Newell and M. Cole, A study of the feasibility and accuracy of pharmacokinetically guided etoposide dosing in children Br. J. Cancer, 77 (1998) 2318–2323.
- 76 J. Ciccolini, S. Monjanel-Mouterde, S.S. Bun, C. Blanc, F. Duffaud, R. Favre and A. Durand, Population pharmacokinetics of etoposide: application to therapeutic drug monitoring. Ther. Drug Monit., 24 (2002) 709–714.
- 77 W.A. De Waal, F.J. Maessen and J.C. Kraak, Analytical methodologies for the quantitation of platinum anti-cancer drugs and related compounds in biological media. J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal., 8 (1990) 1–30.

- 78 A.H. Calvert, D.R. Newell, L.A. Gumbrell, S. O'Reilly, M. Burnell, F.E. Boxall, Z.H. Siddik, I.R. Judson, M.E. Gore and E. Wiltshaw, Carboplatin dosage: prospective evaluation of a simple formula based on renal function. J. Clin. Oncol., 7 (1989) 1748–1756.
- 79 E. Chatelut, P. Canal, V. Brunner, C. Chevreau, A. Pujol, A. Boneu, H. Roche, G. Houin, R. Bugat, Prediction of carboplatin clearance from standard morphological and biological patient characteristics. J. Natl. Cancer Inst., 87 (1995) 573–580.
- 80 L.J. van Warmerdam, S. Rodenhuis, W.W. ten Bokkel Huinink, R.A. Maes and J.H. Beijnen, Evaluation of formulas using the serum creatinine level to calculate the optimal dosage of carboplatin. Cancer Chemother. Pharmacol., 37 (1996) 266–270.
- 81 D.R. Newell, A.D. Pearson, K. Balmanno, L. Price, R.A. Wyllie, M. Keir, A.H. Calvert, I.J. Lewis, C.R. Pinkerton and M.C. Stevens, Carboplatin pharmacokinetics in children: the development of a pediatric dosing formula. The United Kingdom Children's Cancer Study Group. J. Clin. Oncol., 11 (1993) 2314–2323.
- 82 E. Chatelut, A.V. Boddy, B. Peng, H. Rubie, M. Lavit, A. Dezeuze, A.D. Pearson, H. Roche, A. Robert, D.R. Newell and P. Canal, Population pharmacokinetics of carboplatin in children. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther., 59 (1996) 436–443.
- 83 A.H. Calvert and M.J. Egorin, Carboplatin dosing formulae: gender bias and the use of creatininebased methodologies. Eur. J. Cancer, 38 (2002) 11–16.
- 84 S.B. Duffull and B.A. Robinson, Clinical pharmacokinetics and dose optimisation of carboplatin. Clin. Pharmacokinet., 33 (1997) 161–183.
- 85 H. Rubie, F. Doz, G. Vassal, P. Chastagner, J.C. Gentet, S. Urien, G. Bastian, L. Drouard-Troalen, M. Barberi-Heyob, J. Catalin and E. Chatelut, Pharmacology Group of the Societe Francaise de Pediatrie Oncologique. Individual dosing of carboplatin based on drug monitoring in children receiving high-dose chemotherapy. Eur. J. Cancer, 39 (2003) 1433–1438.
- 86 M. Hassan, Busulfan, in: L.B. Grochow and M.M. Ames (Eds.), A clinician's guide to chemotherapy pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics. Williams & Wilkins, 1998, 189–208.
- 87 M. Hassan and H. Ehrsson, Metabolism of 14C-busulfan in isolated perfused rat liver. Eur. J. Drug Metab. Pharmacokinet., 12 (1987) 71–76.
- 88 H. Ehrsson, M. Hassan, M. Ehrnebo et al., Busulfan kinetics. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther., 34 (1983) 86–89.
- 89 G. Vassal, A. Gouyette, O. Hartmann et al., Pharmacokinetics of high-dose busulphan in children. Cancer Chemother. Pharmacol., 12 (1989) 386–390.
- 90 G. Vassal, A. Deroussent, D. Challine et al., Is 600 mg/m<sup>2</sup> the appropriate dosage of busulfan in children undergoing bone marrow transplantation? Blood, 79 (1992) 2475–2479.
- 91 M. Hassan, G. Oberg, A.N. Bekassy et al., Pharmacokinetics of high-dose busulphan in relation to age and chronopharm, acology. Cancer Chemother. Pharmacol., 28 (1991) 130–134.
- 92 P.J. Shaw et al., Pharmacokinetics of busulphan w9ith single daily dosing using BMT conditioning with busulfan/cyclophosphamide (BUCY) for AML in children. Med. Ped. Oncol., 21 (1993) 539–542.
- 93 L.B. Grochow, W. Krivit, C.B. Whitely et al., Busulfan disposition in children. Blood, 75 (1990) 1723–1727.
- 94 G. Vassal, A. Fisher, D. Chaline et al., Busulfan disposition below the age of three: alteration in children with lysosomal storage isease. Blood, 82 (1993) 1030–1034.
- 95 L.B. Grochow, R.J. Jones, R.B. Brundrett, H.G. Braine, T.L. Chen, R. Saral, G.W. Santos, O.M. Colvin, Pharmacokinetics of busulfan: correlation with veno-occlusive disease in patients undergoing bone marrow transplantation. Cancer Chemother. Pharmacol., 25 (1989) 55–61.
- 96 M. Hassan, P. Ljungman, P. Bolme, O. Ringden, Z. Syruckova, A. Bekassy, J. Stary, I. Wallin and N. Kallberg, Busuylfan bioavailability. Blood 84 (1994) 2144–2150.
- 97 G. Vassal, A. Deroussent, D. Chaline et al., Is 600 mg/m<sup>2</sup> the appropriate dosage of busulfan in children undergoing bone marrow transplantation? Blood, 79 (1992) 2475–2479.
- 98 A.M. Yeager, J.E. Wagner, M.L. Graham et al., Optimization of busulfan dosage in children undergoing bone marrow transplantation: a pharmacokinetic study of dose escalation. Blood, 80 (1992) 2425–2428.

- 99 G. Vassal, D. Challine, S. Koscielny, O. Hartmann, A. Deroussent, I. Boland, D. Valteau-Couanet, J. Lemerle, F. Levi and A. Gouyette, Chronopharmacology of high-dose busulfan in children. Cancer Res., 53 (1993) 1534–1537.
- 100 L.B. Grochow, Busulfan disposition: the role of therapeutic monitoring in bone mar-row transplantation induction regimens. Semin. Oncol. 20 (1993) 18–25.
- 101 J.T. Slattery, J.E. Sanders, C.D. Buckner et al., Graft-rejection and toxicity following bone marrow transplantation in relation to busulfan pharmacokinetics. Bone Marrow Transplant., 16 (1995) 31–42.
- 102 J.S. McCune, T. Gooley, J.P. Gibbs, J.E. Sanders, E.W. Petersdorf, F.R. Appelbaum, C. Anasetti, L. Risler, D. Sultan, J.T. Slattery, Busulfan concentration and graft rejection in pediatric patients undergoing hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Bone Marrow Transplant., 30 (2002) 167–173.
- 103 B. Schiltmeyer, T. Klingebiel, M. Schwab, T.E. Murdter, C.A. Ritter, A. Jenke, G. Ehninger, B. Gruhn, G. Wurthwein, J. Boos and G. Hempel, Population pharmacokinetics of oral busulfan in children. Cancer Chemother. Pharmacol., 52 (2003) 209–216.
- 104 M. Sandström, M.O. Karlsson, P. Ljungman et al., Population pharmacokinetic analysis resulting in a tool for dose individualization of busulphan in bone marrow trans-plantation recipients. Bone Marrow Transplant., 28 (2001) 657–664.
- 105 N. Krivoy, E. Hoffer, A. Tabak, R. Elhasid, M.W. Arush, J. Stein, I. Yaniv, J.M. Rowe, Therapeutic monitoring of busulfan in pediatric bone marrow transplantation. Pediatr. Hematol. Oncol., 19 (2002) 31–37.
- 106 A.M. Bolinger, A.B. Zangwill, J.T. Slattery, L.J. Risler, D.H. Sultan, D.V. Glidden, D. Norstad and M.J. Cowan, Target dose adjustment of busulfan in pediatric patients undergoing bone marrow transplantation. Bone Marrow Transplant., 28 (2001) 1013–1018.
- 107 N. Bleyzac, G. Souillet, P. Magron, A. Janoly, P. Martin, Y. Bertrand, C. Galambrun, Q. Dai, P. Maire, R.W. Jelliffe and G. Aulagner, Improved clinical outcome of paediatric bone marrow recipients using a test dose and Bayesian pharmacokinetic individualization of busulfan dosage regimens. Bone Marrow Transplant., 28 (2001) 743–757.
- 108 L.L. Dupuis, M. Najdova and E.F. Saunders, Retrospective appraisal of busulfan dose adjustment in children. Bone Marrow Transplant., 26 (2000) 1143–1147.
- 109 J.T. Slattery and L.J. Risler, Therapeutic monitoring of busulfan in hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Ther. Drug Monit., 20 (1998) 543–549.
- 110 S. Cremers, R. Schoemaker, R. Bredius, J. den Hartigh, L. Ball, I. Twiss, P. Vermeij and J. Vossen, Pharmacokinetics of intravenous busulfan in children prior to stem cell transplantation. Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol., 53 (2002) 386–389.
- 111 B. Bostrom, K. Enockson, A. Johnson, A. Bruns and B. Blazar, Plasma pharmacokinetics of high-dose oral busulfan in children and adults undergoing bone marrow transplantation. Pediatr. Transplant., 7 (2003) 12–18.
- 112 L.B. Grochow, Parenteral busulfan: is therapeutic monitoring still warranted? Biol. Blood Marrow Transplant., 8 (2002) 465–467.
- 113 R.B. Diasio and B.E. Harris, Clinical pharmacology of 5-fluorouracil. Clin. Pharmacokinet., 16 (1989) 215–237.
- 114 G. Milano and M.C. Etienne, Potential importance of dihydropyrimidine dehydrogenase (DPD) in cancer chemotherapy. Pharmacogenetics, 4 (1994) 301–306.
- 115 G. Milano, M.C. Etienne, N. Renee, A. Thyss, M. Schneider, A. Ramaioli and F. Demard, Relationship between fluorouracil systemic exposure and tumor response and patient survival. J. Clin. Oncol., 12 (1994) 1291–1295.
- 116 J. Santini, G. Milano, A. Thyss, N. Renee, P. Viens, P. Ayela, M. Schneider and F. Demard, 5-FU therapeutic monitoring with dose adjustment leads to an improved therapeutic index in head and neck cancer. Br. J. Cancer, 59 (1989) 287–290.
- 117 E. Gamelin and M. Boisdron-Celle, Dose monitoring of 5-fluorouracil in patients with colorectal or head and neck cancer – status of the art. Crit. Rev. Oncol. Hematol., 30 (1999) 71–79.
- 118 E. Gamelin and J. Jacob, Multicentric randomised trial comparing weekly treatment of advanced colorectal cancer intensified 5-Fu and folinic acid with 5-FU pharmacokinetic monitoring to a constant dose calculated to body surface area. Proc. Am. Soc. Clin. Oncol., 17 (1998) 1039 (abstr.).

- 119 R. Fety, F. Rolland, M. Barberi-Heyob, A. Hardouin, L. Campion, T. Conroy, J.L. Merlin, A. Riviere, G. Perrocheau, M.C. Etienne and G. Milano, Clinical impact of pharmacokinetically-guided dose adaptation of 5-fluorouracil: results from a multicentric randomized trial in patients with locally advanced head and neck carcinomas. Clin. Cancer Res., 4 (1998) 2039–2045.
- 120 A.W. Hamburger and S.E. Salmon, Primary bioassay of human tumor stem cells. Science, 197 (1977) 461–463.
- 121 B.M. Frost, P. Nygren, G. Gustafsson, E. Forestier, O.G. Jonsson, J. Kanerva, R. Nygaard, K. Schmiegelow, R. Larsson and G. Lonnerholm, Increased in vitro cellular drug resistance is related to poor outcome in high-risk childhood acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. Br. J. Haematol., 122 (2003) 376–385.
- 122 M.L. Den Boer, D.O. Harms, R. Pieters, K.M. Kazemier, U. Gobel, D. Korholz, U. Graubner, R.J. Haas, N. Jorch, H.J. Spaar, G.J. Kaspers, W.A. Kamps, A. Van Der Does-Van Den Berg, E.R. Van Wering, A.J. Veerman and G.E. Janka-Schaub, Patient stratification based on prednisolone-vincristine-asparaginase resistance profiles in children with acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. J. Clin. Oncol., 21 (2003) 3262–3268.
- 123 A. Schatzkin, Intermediate markers as surrogate endpoints in cancer research. Hematol. Oncol. Clin. North Am., 14 (2000) 887–905.
- 124 D.C. Smith and K.J. Pienta, The use of prostate-specific antigen as a surrogate end point in the treatment of patients with hormone refractory prostate cancer. Urol. Clin. North Am., 24 (1997) 433–437.
- 125 A. Schatzkin and M. Gail, The promise and peril of surrogate end points in cancer research. Nat. Rev. Cancer, 2 (2002) 19–27.
- 126 K. Sikora, Surrogate endpoints in cancer drug development. Drug Discov. Today, 7 (2002) 951–956.
- 127 G.J. Byrne and N.J. Bundred, Surrogate markers of tumoral angiogenesis. Int. J. Biol. Markers, 15 (2000) 334–339.
- 128 J. Boos, Pharmacokinetics and drug monitoring of L-asparaginase treatment. Int. J. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther., 35 (1997) 96–98.

#### CHAPTER 8

# Rationale and utility of therapeutic drug monitoring for the optimization of antibiotic therapy

Christine T. Ong<sup>1</sup> and David P. Nicolau<sup>1,2</sup>

 <sup>1</sup> Center for Anti-Infective Research and Development, Hartford Hospital, Hartford, Connecticut 06102–5037 USA
<sup>2</sup> Division of Infectious Diseases, Hartford Hospital, Hartford, Connecticut 06102–5037 USA

## 8.1 INTRODUCTION

Central to the basic principles of therapeutic drug monitoring (TDM) is optimization of drug therapy to maximize clinical outcomes. When it comes to antibiotic therapy, agents that are often considered for TDM are those thought to possess a narrow therapeutic index where the window for either safety or toxicity is fairly small. TDM with the two primary sets of antibiotics, vancomycin and the aminoglycosides, are the most commonly encountered in clinical practice. However, as our knowledge of antimicrobial agents continues to evolve, our growing understanding of the pharmacodynamics of these drugs is rapidly expanding and shaping new concepts for potential future applications of TDM. Pharmacodynamics may soon justify the need for TDM among agents not typically monitored such as the beta-lactams, macrolides, quinolones, and carbapenems. Although these agents have remarkable safety and efficacy profiles which generally precludes them from conventional rationale for TDM, in select patient populations such as the critically ill and immunocompromised, maximizing bacterial kill through optimal drug exposure can provide a dramatic impact in the therapeutic efficacy and may therefore justify the future utility of TDM for these agents. The escalation of antibiotic resistance further suggests the need to optimize therapy not only from a safety and toxicity standpoint, but also in an attempt to maintain the long-term potential clinical usefulness of currently available agents. Pharmacodynamics can thus redefine the future applications of TDM and go beyond to force a broader perspective in terms of resistance and optimization of drug exposure for both clinical and microbiological success.

#### 8.2 VANCOMYCIN

#### 8.2.1 Background

Since the discovery of vancomycin in 1956 from *Nocardia orientalis* (formerly *Streptomyces orientalis*), vancomycin has received a resurgence of interest due to the emergence of methicillin resistant organisms in the 1970s [1]. Owing to its ability to inhibit polymerization of polypeptides on the surface of Gram-positive bacteria, the glycopeptide exhibits potent activity against *Staphylococcus, Streptococcus, Enter-ococcus, Corynebacterium* and *Clostridium* species including penicillinase producers and methicillin resistant pathogens (i.e. methicillin resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* or MRSA and methicillin resistant *Staphylococcus epidermidis* or MRSE).

Reports of vancomycin-induced nephrotoxicity and ototoxicity at high serum concentrations have prompted the careful monitoring of vancomycin [2]. Earlier formulations of vancomycin, nicknamed "Mississippi mud", contained impurities that may have been responsible for the magnitude of reported toxicities associated with its former use [3]. This then gave rise to the monitoring of vancomycin serum drug concentrations with peak and trough traditionally associated with both drug related toxicity and efficacy, respectively. However, there is still a lack of substantive evidence in the current literature to correlate vancomycin's peak serum concentrations with toxicity and/or clinical outcomes despite years of experience with this agent. Like the beta-lactam antibiotics, vancomycin displays a time-dependent bactericidal activity in which bacterial killing is maximized at time above the minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) of the organism at 40–50% of a given dosing interval [4,5]. As a result, the need to monitor peak concentrations has been questioned by many while others remain skeptical of the interpretation and even the benefit of monitoring vancomycin serum concentrations.

#### 8.2.2 Pharmacology

Vancomycin acts by binding to the D-alanyl-D-alanine precursors thereby inhibiting cell wall synthesis [6,3]. It is cleared primarily via renal route and has a half-life of 5–9 hours. The drug has a volume distribution (Vd) of 0.7 L/kg (0.5–0.9 L/kg) and pharmacokinetically exhibits a two or three compartment model. Vancomycin is poorly absorbed orally and is therefore given by intravenous infusion for systemic infections. It is commonly dosed at 1 g every 12 hours or 15 mg/kg using the patient's actual body weight [7,8].

## 8.2.3 Drug concentrations and clinical efficacy

There is very little information correlating vancomycin serum concentrations with clinical outcomes. Vancomycin's peak serum concentrations (target:  $20-40 \ \mu g/ml$ ) have been typically associated with toxicity while troughs (target:  $5-15 \ \mu g/ml$ ) reflect

clinical efficacy. Although these established target ranges have existed for many years, few studies have examined the scientific relevance of these targets [9–11].

Standard doses of vancomycin produce concentrations well above the MICs of susceptible organisms such as Staphylococcus aureus (MIC range 0.5-2 µg/ml) and Streptococcus pneumoniae (MIC range 0.12–0.5 µg/ml) [12]. In a study by Healy et al., they found that a 1 g dose given every 12 hours produced trough serum concentrations of about 7.9 µg/ml (5.9–15.2 µg/ml) in healthy adults. At 500 mg every 6 hours, serum trough concentrations were approximately 11.2 µg/ml [13]. Based on the pharmacodynamic characteristic of this drug where the duration of drug exposure is most critical for optimal efficacy, standard doses should be sufficient to maintain serum concentrations above the MIC in excess of the generally accepted 50% of the dosing interval for susceptible pathogens. Peak or high drug concentrations of vancomycin are of less importance since further increasing drug concentration will not result in more bacterial killing [14,15]. Moreover, since vancomycin shows a multicompartment distribution profile, clinicians generally experience a great difficulty in adequately timing and subsequently interpreting concentrations obtained during peak sampling times. As a result of this distribution profile, peak drug concentrations can drastically differ when drawn even minutes apart and thus may lead to falsely elevated values. In a clinical scenario, obtaining an accurately timed peak concentration is impractical and almost impossible to get in the general practice setting. For these reasons, peak concentrations are not routinely monitored in many centers. Reproducible trough concentrations, on the other hand, may be more easily obtained; although they appear unnecessary for the majority of patients, some clinicians advocate this serum sampling technique for TDM of vancomycin.

Several studies have investigated the clinical association of vancomycin serum concentrations. Schaad et al. reported that serum bacterial titers (SBT) of 1:8 (approximately > 12  $\mu$ g/ml) were associated with clinical cure among pediatric patients [16]. Failure to achieve this resulted in 3 treatment failures in another study [17]. For meningitis, higher troughs showed faster clinical recovery compared to lower troughs [18]. However, many of these studies were retrospective analysis with a small sample size and numerous confounding factors (i.e. co-morbidities, no baseline measures, etc.). No studies to date have provided convincing evidence on the relationship between serum drug concentration and clinical outcome. Many believe that a typical dose of vancomycin is sufficient to achieve serum concentrations in excess of the MIC to eradicate susceptible pathogens. For the reasons stated above, many clinicians feel that monitoring vancomycin concentrations should be reserved only for patients with rapidly changing renal function, significantly altered kinetics (i.e. burn patients, morbid obesity) and deep-seated infections (i.e. endocarditis, meningitis, and osteomyelitis).

## 8.2.3.1 Concentrations and toxicity

Although vancomycin's potential to cause toxicity (notably nephrotoxicity) is well documented in literature [19–23], studies have failed to correlate vancomycin serum concentrations with drug toxicity. Impurities from the earlier formulations may account for many of the reported adverse reactions since its introduction in the 1950s.
Recent data show that vancomycin-induced nephrotoxicity occurs in about 5% of patients [19]. Nephrotoxic effects are often reversible after discontinuation of the agent. When combined with other renally toxic agents, the incidence of nephrotoxicity increases. Farber and Moellering found a higher incidence of nephrotoxicity (22–35%) with the combined use of aminoglycosides [19,24]. Other studies have found similar results [25,26]. Drug-induced renal dysfunction has been associated with high serum concentrations  $\geq$  30–40 µg/ml as well as low concentrations of vancomycin (<10 µg/ml) [3,27]. What concentrations constitute an increased risk for vancomycin acute toxicity remains unclear, since it appears to occur at any observed concentration. Others speculate that the duration of exposure rather than peak concentrations is the main causative factor for the development of nephrotoxicity [21,24].

Dose-related ototoxicity (i.e. tinnitus, dizziness, hearing loss) occurring at levels >  $80-100 \mu g/ml$  had been reported by Geraci and colleagues. The incidence of auditory toxicity is low (<2%), and cessation of drug often leads to its resolution. It is important to note that most reports relating to vancomycin ototoxicity lack baseline auditory testing on the patients studied. In addition, the definition of ototoxicity varies among the different studies [20,28].

There are other adverse-effects associated with vancomycin use. The infusion-related "red-man's syndrome", is due to the rapid drug infusion causing histamine release [29]. Decreasing the infusion rate usually prevents or minimizes the occurrence of this reaction. There had also been reported neutropenic effects seen with vancomycin use [30,31].

# 8.2.4 Monitoring serum drug concentration

If serum concentration monitoring is desired, vancomycin serum concentrations should be obtained on the second or third dose of the agent following initiation of therapy or dosing adjustments. This is to assure that the concentrations obtained accurately reflect a steady-state concentration of the drug. Trough concentrations are collected approximately 30 minutes before the next dosing interval. The target for troughs can range from 5–15 µg/ml with a goal of maintaining serum concentrations above the MIC of the infecting organism for at least 50% of the dosing interval. Although not commonly done, peak concentrations are drawn 1–2 hours post-infusion and kept in the range of 20 to 40 µg/ml. As discussed previously, obtaining vancomycin peak concentrations are often unnecessary primarily because the drug's efficacy is timedependent while its toxicity is primarily correlated with the duration of exposure and not peak concentrations. If the duration of vancomycin therapy is <72 hours, drug levels are not needed. Empiric dosing of vancomycin can be determined using the following guideline (Table 8.1) [32–37].

Patients with normal renal function can be monitored on a weekly interval unless renal function changes or if initial target concentrations have not been met. A rise in serum creatinine (SCr) of  $\geq 0.5$  mg/dl may indicate a decline in renal function and may call for appropriate dose adjustments to avoid drug accumulation and the possible risk of toxicity. Because drug elimination is reduced during renal impairment, a decrease in

Estimated Creatinine Clearance (ml/min)	Dose (mg/kg)	Dosing Interval (hours)	
>85	14	12	
56-85	11	12	
41–65	14	24	
26–40	11	24	
16–25	14	48	
≤15	14	random	

TABLE 8.1 EMPIRIC DOSING GUIDELINE FOR VANCOMYCIN DOSING.

dose or increase in the dosing interval is an option for adjustment. In these cases, random levels of the vancomycin are obtained to make certain that the drug concentration does not fall below the MIC of the organism being treated. For renal dialysis patients, random levels every 3–4 days (or even longer depending on patient specific kinetics) is reasonable to ensure maintenance of adequate trough concentrations. Monitoring patient's daily serum creatinine, adjusting the dose accordingly and monitoring or avoiding concomitant use of other nephrotoxic agents should help optimize therapy [36,38,39].

Patients who have altered kinetics with normal renal function have different dosing requirements. This includes patients who are morbidly obese, intravenous drug abusers, and burn patients. These patients have increased volume of distribution and faster drug clearance rates [40]. In morbidly obese patients, vancomycin clearance is 2.5 times greater compared to patients with normal weight. Shorter dosage intervals may be needed to maintain trough concentrations when using regular doses of the drug [36,41]. Periodic trough levels and dosing adjustments are recommended to assure adequate doses are being administered to meet the specific needs of these patients for therapeutic success.

There are several other published nomograms for vancomycin including the Bayesian models [42], Sawchuk-Zaske method [43], Matzke et al. [44], and Moellering et al. [24]. These are usually derived from a small subset of patients and are often designed to achieve a certain target level. For example, Matkze's dosing nomogram targets a steady state level of 15  $\mu$ g/ml for patients with renal dysfunction. Several nomograms are available formulated for specific patient population including burn patients, pediatrics, and dialysis patients. It is important to remember that these nomograms are approximations based on estimated and/or predefined patient parameters and should therefore be used only as general guide for dosing adjustments.

# **8.3 AMINOGLYCOSIDES**

# 8.3.1 Background

Since the first discovery of streptomycin in 1944, aminoglycosides remain an important antibiotic for the treatment of Gram-negative infections. Although their nephrotoxic and

ototoxic potential have historically limited their use, studies on the pharmacodynamics and pharmacokinetics of aminoglycosides have prompted a new understanding and approach to maximize the effectiveness and minimize the toxicity of this class of antimicrobials.

Early published literature with commonly utilized agents such as gentamicin and tobramycin provided the basis for the prevailing belief that high doses of aminoglycosides cause toxicity (at trough levels >2  $\mu$ g/ml and peaks >12  $\mu$ g/ml). On the basis of these early observations, conventional dosing strategies (also known as intermittent dosing) were designed to maintain peak concentrations of 4–10  $\mu$ g/ml and produce trough of <1–2  $\mu$ g/ml. However, recent data suggest that these agents are equally, if not less likely, to cause their noted toxicities when the total daily dose is administered in a single daily injection [45–49]. Moreover, the aminoglycosides display dose-dependent activity where the maximum serum concentration to MIC ratio (C<sub>max</sub>:MIC) best correlates with the efficacy of these agents. The implementation of this pharmacodynamic observation has given rise to the dosing strategy commonly referred to as once-daily aminoglycoside (ODA) therapy [50–52].

There are several agents within this class, all of which exhibit similar pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic properties. Gentamicin, tobramycin and amikacin are most commonly used agents for bacterial infections while streptomycin is primarily used as an antimycobacterial agent. Hence, the driving force for aminoglycoside TDM is the prevention of its toxicity and optimization of its bactericidal effects.

# 8.3.2 Pharmacology

Aminoglycosides display concentration-dependent killing in which their bactericidal effect increases with increasing peak concentrations at 10–12 times the MIC of the organism and results in maximal kill of these agents [14,53]. Aminoglycoside pharmacokinetics exhibit wide-interpatient variability and can be significantly altered depending on the patient's disease state (i.e. cystic fibrosis and burn patients clear these agents at a faster rate), volume status, and renal function. The volume of distribution for these agents is 0.25–0.3 L/kg. They are cleared primarily via renal mechanisms. Aminoglycosides possess a half-life of approximately 2.5 hours but with an extremely long terminal elimination phase of 100–150 hours in healthy adults. Since these agents possess little if any systemic bioavailability when given by the oral route, they are administered intravenously and less frequently by intramuscular injection. Neomycin is the only clinically utilized agent given orally and is used routinely for gut decontamination prior to surgery [50,51,54].

# 8.3.3 Intermittent versus once-daily aminoglycosides

Although the usage of intermittent dosing strategies dominated clinical practice in earlier years due to fears of drug-related toxicities, numerous clinical trials and metaanalysis studies have evaluated the efficacy and safety of high dose, once-daily aminoglycosides (ODA). In animal studies, the efficacy of ODA was demonstrated to be equal or greater compared to conventional dosing regimen, alone or in combination, in various types of infection models such as endocarditis, pyelonephritis, and pneumonia [55-58]. In clinical practice, the safety and efficacy with ODA are extensive and encompass a broad range of patient population including patients with Gram-negative bacteremia, bone and soft tissue infections, endocarditis, intra-abdominal infections, and cystic fibrosis patients [59-64]. In a randomized study by Prins and colleagues, the efficacy of ODA versus thrice daily regimen of gentamicin was investigated and found that 91% of patients using ODA responded to therapy within 72 hours compared to 78% of patients in the thrice daily dosing. They concluded that no statistically significant difference in efficacy was seen between the two regimens [65]. In the study by Raz and colleagues involving 124 patients, they found significantly higher cure rate with ODA among patients with Gram-negative bacterial infections, p < 0.05. Similarly, patients with higher C<sub>max</sub>:MIC ratios of 8 had a 91% cure rate compared to only 12.5% among patients with a ratio of  $\leq 4$  [66]. Other reports correlating higher cure rates with higher concentrations have been documented in the literature [67]. Nicolau and colleagues evaluated the safety and efficacy of ODA in one of the largest clinical reports involving 2,184 patients treated with gentamicin or tobramycin. Clinical responses among these patients were successful. Nephrotoxicity and ototoxicity occurred in only 1.2% and 0.1% of patients, respectively. In comparison, the historically reported incidence of nephrotoxicity with conventional dosing ranged from 3-5% at the same institution [68].

In special populations such as children, pregnant women and neutropenic patients, studies on the efficacy and safety of ODA have been evaluated and demonstrated effective cure rates with a trend towards reduced toxicity [69–74]. In the pediatric population, studies using 20 mg/kg ODA of amikacin in children undergoing bone marrow transplantation or with Gram-negative infections concluded no difference in efficacy or toxicity compared to standard multiple dosing regimens [75,76]. The meta-analysis by Hatala et al. demonstrated the equivocal efficacy of ODA in neutropenic patients compared to conventional dosing regimens [74]. However, information on the use of ODA in specific patient population such as pediatrics, pregnant women, and neutropenic patients are still limited.

Pharmacoeconomic analysis comparing ODA versus standard regimens showed that ODA consumes fewer resources and requires less monitoring than intermittent dosing intervals. As a result of the ODA dosing program, Hartford Hospital was able to achieve annual savings estimated at more than \$100,000 in 1995. Savings were largely the consequence of a 40% reduction in requests for gentamicin and tobramycin serum concentration determinations. During the first phase of the ODA program, random sampling of serum concentrations and the use of the nomogram were used to accomplish therapeutic drug monitoring. In the second phase, serum drug concentration in monitoring activity, the incidence of nephrotoxicity was 1.2% in the first phase of the program and 1.3% in the second phase; with conventional dosing patterns, the occurrence is around 3% to 5% [68].

Continuous exposure to aminoglycosides has been known to promote the down regulation of receptors responsible for drug transport of aminoglycosides in Gramnegative organisms. The mechanism of adaptive resistance decreases drug penetration thereby diminishing the bactericidal activity of these agents. This persistent exposure to aminoglycosides has been compared and paralleled to the constant drug exposure seen with conventional dosing regimens. Studies have revealed that actually allowing a drug free interval hinders the development of such resistance. Since aminoglycosides generally exhibit a long post-antibiotic effect (PAE) lasting 1–8 hours that follows a linear relationship with increasing drug concentration, high dose administration of aminoglycosides permits this drug free period [77–81]. This concept of PAE further supports the use of once-daily aminoglycosides. Therefore, it is purported that the less frequent, high dose strategy has a distinct advantage lending to its continued efficacy and wide clinical acceptance [82,83].

#### 8.3.4 Side-effects

Nephrotoxicity and ototoxicity are the two prominent adverse reactions seen with aminoglycosides that have prompted their cautious usage. Previous reports of these toxicities indicated that high drug concentrations are correlated with such. However, recent findings suggest that their toxic potential is associated with drug accumulation and duration of drug exposure [84,85]. This is consistent with the fact that aminoglycoside toxicities have been reported even at normally targeted concentrations. In addition, because aminoglycosides exert cytotoxic effects via a saturable process in both the kidneys and vestibulo-cochlear systems, administration of either high doses as in ODA or the conventional lower dosage regimens can both be equally nephrotoxic or ototoxic [84–87].

The exact mechanism of aminoglycosides' ability to cause nephrotoxicity is unknown. It is hypothesized that drug accumulation within cellular lysosomes causes phospholipidosis to occur. Following reuptake of aminoglycosides in the proximal renal tubules, aminoglycosides accumulate within the lysosomes until they burst causing the release of lysosomal enzymes and phospholipids leading to cell death [87]. Nephrotoxocity (usually defined as an increase in serum creatinine (SCr)  $\geq 0.5$  mg/dl from baseline following treatment) is often reversible following drug discontinuation [68]. The risk of kidney damage increases with concurrent use of other nephrotoxic agents such as vancomycin and amphotericin B.

The incidence of aminoglycoside ototoxicity ranges from 2–25% and increases with prolonged treatment. Unlike nephrotoxicity, ototoxicity is frequently irreversible. Ototoxicity can be manifested as vestibular or cochlear injury and may have unilateral or bilateral involvement. It can also occur during therapy or days after drug discontinuation [88,89]. Cochlear damage, defined as a baseline increase of 15dB at two or more frequencies, is estimated to occur between 5–15% of patients on therapy and is often associated with cotton-ball ear sensation, loss of high frequency distinction, tinnitus, and hearing loss. On the other hand, vestibular toxicity affects the equilibrium and is commonly manifested with nausea, vomiting, vertigo, and difficulty with gait. It is recommended to perform baseline audiometric tests prior to starting aminoglycosides especially in patients who will be receiving them for >10 days [90]. Risk factors for

ototoxicity include the aminoglycoside agent used, length of therapy, total dose, concomitant use of ototoxic agents, advanced age, and previous renal dysfunction [91]. Similar to nephrotoxicity, ototoxicity is postulated to be due to saturable mechanisms and drug accumulation. Their tight binding at the receptor site and long half-lives also attribute to this adverse effect. Aminoglycosides bind to phosphoinositides, inhibit decarboxylase, and cause mitochondrial dysfunction leading to cell death [92].

It has also been observed that the toxic potential of aminoglycosides may be related to circadian rhythm since toxicity is observed more in patients receiving the drugs during sleep hours [93]. There are rare occurrences of neuromuscular blockade associated with the aminoglycosides [94,95].

#### 8.3.5 Dosing strategies

CONVENTIONAL DOSING: Conventional (intermittent) dosing is often the preferred regimen in patients with rapidly changing renal function because it permits rapid dosing adjustments especially in the critically ill. This is because a more individualized, pharmacokinetic-based regimen can be designed based on the patient's own specific parameters. The conventional dosing schemes of aminoglycosides for patients with normal renal function (CrCl  $\geq$  90 ml/min) are listed on Table 8.2 [50,96,97].

Steady state concentrations for aminoglycosides are generally achieved by the third dose. Peak concentrations are usually drawn 30 minutes following intravenous infusions of the third dose while troughs are often collected prior to this drug administration. Monitoring peak concentrations will ensure effective target concentrations. Troughs will serve as indicators of drug accumulation and hence the potential for toxicity (although toxicity may still present in the face of acceptable peak and trough concentrations). In stable patients with normal renal function, periodic monitoring of trough or peak concentrations every 3–5 days is sufficient. However, in patients with rapidly changing

	Loading Dose	Maintenance	Target Levels
Agents	(mg/kg)	Dose (mg/kg)	(µg/ml)
Gentamicin	1–2	1.7–2 Q8h	Peak: 4–10
			Trough: $< 1-2$
Tobramycin	1–2	1.7–2 Q8h	Peak: 4-10
-			Trough: $< 1-2$
Netilmicin	1–2	2 Q8h	Peak: 4-10
			Trough: $< 1-2$
Amikacin	5-7.5	5 Q8h	Peak: 15-30
		7.5 Q12h	Trough: 5-10
Streptomycin	5-7.5	5 Q8h	Peak: 15-30
		7.5 Q12h	Trough: 5–10

TABLE 8.2 CONVENTIONAL DOSING REGIMENS AND TARGET CONCENTRATIONS FOR THE AMINOGLYCOSIDES. renal function or altered kinetics, more frequent monitoring may be needed. It is imperative that the dosing and draw times are properly documented.

There are also nomograms available to aid in dose adjustments. The most widely accepted nomogram for conventional intermittent dosing is that of Sarubbi and Hull. Using this method, a loading dose (based on ideal body weight) of 1-2 mg/kg of gentamicin or tobramycin or 5-7.5 mg/kg of amikacin is administered to patients with renal dysfunction. Different maintenance doses (based on a percentage of the initial loading dose) can then be selected depending on the desired dosing interval of either 8, 12, or 24 hours [98].

ONCE-DAILY DOSING: The pharmacodynamic concept of concentration dependent killing has given birth to the concept of ODA. As mentioned previously, ODA takes advantage of the high bactericidal activity in accordance with its pharmacodynamic profile and possesses a relatively long PAE allowing for drug free interval thus decreasing the risk for toxicity and adaptive resistance. In addition, ODA requires less monitoring since only trough and not peak concentrations are generally evaluated thereby consuming less clinical resources with fewer associated costs [65,68].

The range of once-daily dosing currently in practice is 3-7 mg/kg/day for gentamicin, tobramycin, and netilmicin. Amikacin dosages range from 11-15 mg/kg [50,99]. To start the initial dosing regimen, the following guideline has been proposed by Nicolau et al (Table 8.3). Drug serum concentrations should be monitored on a weekly basis (i.e. trough or random concentrations) unless the patients have altered kinetics from baseline status (i.e. renal dysfunction, change in volume load, etc.). In patients with renal impairment, there is currently no consensus as to how to adjust ODA in this population. Some advocate decreasing total daily dose of aminoglycosides whereas others advocate maintaining the same dose while increasing the dosing interval. This latter approach maintains a high  $C_{max}$ :MIC ratio thereby optimizing the pharmacodynamic profile of the aminoglycosides.

There are several nomograms available to aid the clinician when ODA is the desired dosing regimen. These nomograms are established based on a specified dose and on a specific patient population. It is important that a clinician utilizing such nomograms is aware of their specifications. One of the more widely used nomograms, the Hartford Nomogram, is based on a fixed daily dose of 7 mg/kg of gentamicin or tobramycin and was designed to obtain target peak serum concentrations of 20  $\mu$ g/ml (C<sub>max</sub>:MIC ratio of 10 was based on the average MIC of 2  $\mu$ g/ml for P. aeruginosa at Hartford Hospital).

TABLE 8.3

EMPIRIC DOSING	REGIMEN FOR	GENTAMICIN A	AND TOBRA	MYCIN	ADMINISTERED	USING
THE ONCE-DAILY	AMINOGLYCOS	IDE DOSING TE	CHNIQUE.			

CrCl (ml/min)	Dosing Regimen
≥60	7 mg/kg q 24 hrs
40–59 20–39	7 mg/kg q 36 hrs 7 mg/kg q 48 hrs
<20	7 mg/kg, then follow serial levels to determine time of next dose (i.e. level < 1 $\mu$ g/ml)



Fig. 8.1. Hartford Hospital once-daily aminoglycoside dosing nomogram.

Using this method, a random serum concentration is measured 6–14 hours after the start of the first infusion. The dosing interval is then adjusted from this concentration using a nomogram and plotting it against the time point between the start of infusion and blood draw. The graph area is designated with 24, 36, and 48 hour dosing intervals (Fig. 8.1). For example, if the serum concentration indicates 8  $\mu$ g/ml drawn eight hours after the infusion, the regimen will fall under the every 36 hour dosing interval. Excluded from this nomogram include patients with ascites, burns of >20% of total body surface area, pregnancy, end-stage renal disease (including dialysis) and enterococcal endocarditis.

Other methods of adjusting aminoglycoside are also available. Nomograms created by Gilbert used 5 mg/kg of gentamicin or tobramycin [100]. With decreasing renal function, it advocated changing the dosage and/or dosing interval to maximize therapy and prevent toxicity. Similarly, Prin et al. [16] advocated decreasing total daily dose to maintain a 24 hour regimen. As mentioned earlier, there is no consensus as to the best way (whether to adjust the dose or dosing interval) to optimize therapy since there is not enough data to dispute which method is more effective to produce clinically significant outcomes [101].

#### 8.4 ANTITUBERCULAR AGENTS

## 8.4.1 Background

The management of tuberculosis (TB) remains an increasingly complex and challenging clinical dilemma. While over 16,000 cases were reported in the United States in 2000 alone, TB accounts for 3 million deaths annually worldwide. Despite treatment

involving multiple agents such as rifampin, isoniazid, pyrazinamide, and ethambutol and months of therapy, therapeutic failures and relapses still occur in 2–5% of patients regardless of directly observed therapy (DOT) [102]. These failures are often multifactorial and encompass problems due to drug resistance, stage of the tubercular disease, altered pharmacokinetics, interpatient variability, and patient noncompliance.

Optimizing therapy through the use of TDM on antimycobacterial agents has the potential to maximize clinical response. In patients with modified kinetics (i.e. hepatic and renal dysfunctions) and physiologic alterations (i.e. malabsorption problems, HIV/AIDS, cystic fibrosis), subsequent dosing adjustments to achieve targeted drug concentrations can lead to a more effective therapy [103–106]. In addition, the avoidance of suboptimal drug concentrations may prevent the subsequent emergence of resistance. Drug-related toxicities and interactions can be minimized and better managed thus improving the safety, efficacy, and perhaps patient adherence with these agents. However, the use of TDM has generally been limited to patients that either have not clinically responded or have persistent positive acid-fast smears indicating a lack of pathogen eradication. This section will discuss published data and clinical experience pertaining to the use of TDM on antimycobacterial therapy.

#### 8.4.2 Pharmacology of antimycobacterial agents

The pharmacologic activity of various antimycobacterial agents primarily consists of two main mechanisms of action: inhibition of the cell wall synthesis and RNA polymerase blockade. Cell wall active agents such as cycloserine, ethionamide, isoniazid, thiacetazone and ethambutol exhibit increased activity against rapidly growing *Mycobacterium* and display time-dependent activity. The optimal dosing regimen for these agents should be adjusted to maintain drug levels above the organism's MIC over a given dosing interval at the site of infection. In contrast, agents acting on intracellular targets such as the rifamycins, aminoglycosides and quinolones possess concentration-dependent bactericidal activity. Hence, maximizing the  $C_{max}$ :MIC ratio results to a greater killing and improved efficacy and safety profiles [107]. Table 8.4 lists the commonly utilized antitubercular agents [104,106,108,109].

The activities of these agents are also reported to have distinct phases for combating mycobacterial infections. The early bactericidal activity is defined as the ability of an agent to cause a precipitous decline of rapidly dividing mycobacteria by as much as 95% in the first few days of therapy. On the other hand, the slower eradication or inhibition of the latent, less active mycobacteria is known as the sterilizing activity. Antitubercular agents appear to inherently possess these activities. Because mycobacteria are slow-growing organisms with various stages of development, prolonged combination therapy is required for a successful clinical outcome [109].

#### 8.4.3 Serum concentrations and clinical efficacy

There are numerous published data correlating serum drug concentrations with clinical response [103,105,110,112]. In a study by Gilljam and colleagues, clinical improvement

		Proposed Target Serum Level		
	Usual Dose	2 h post-dose	Dose Ajustme	ents
Drug Name	(mg/d)	μg/ml	Renal	Hepatic
Para-aminosalicylic acid (PAS)	4000	40–70	Unknown	Unknown
Ciprofloxacin	750-1000	4–7	Increase dosing interval	None
Clofazimine	100-200	0.5-2	None	None
Cycloserine	500-750	35-50	250–500 mg 3 × /week	None
Ethambutol	15-25 mg/kg	2-6	$15-25 \text{ mg/kg } 3 \times /\text{week}$	None
Ethionamide	15-20 mg/kg	3–8	None	Unknown
	Max: 1g/d			
Isoniazid (INH)	300-450	3–5	None for most patients; dose every other day	None for most patients
Pyrazinamide (PZA)	1000-2000	20-60	$15-30 \text{ mg/kg } 3 \times /\text{week}$	Unknown
Rifabutin	300-600	0.3–0.9	None for most patients	None for most patients
Rifampin	450-600	4-8	None for most patients	None for most patients
Amikacin, Capreomycin, and Streptomycin	15 mg/kg*	34-45*	12–15 mg/kg $3 \times$ /week	None

TABLE 8.4	
COMMONLY UTILIZED ANTITUBERCULAR AGENTS AND TARGET CONCENTRATIONS.	

\* Conventional given  $5 \times$  /week.

and negative sputum samples were noted following dose adjustments among cystic fibrosis patients [111]. Sahai et al. found that systemic drug exposure of rifampin and pyrazinamide among HIV-infected patients were lower by 32% and 24% compared to healthy controls, respectively. The high relapse rates found in this patient group have been attributed to poor drug absorption and low therapeutic drug levels [105]. Drug malabsorption has also been proposed as the cause of failure and relapse among immunocompetent patients compliant with therapy [112]. Moreover, the selective pressure due to suboptimal drug concentrations has historically given rise to resistant organisms and may have contributed to the development of *M. tuberculosis* resistance and subsequent drug failures [113–115]. Nevertheless, no definitive data exist to support this theory regarding resistance for antimycobacterial agents. In fact, a recent publication by Narita et al. found no correlation with drug serum levels and the recurrence of TB [116]. Whether subtherapeutic plasma concentrations promote drug resistance or increase the risk of relapse is still open to debate.

It is important to realize that serum concentrations do not always reflect intracellular concentrations and drug concentrations. Currently, the absence of an effective method to fully evaluate the drug concentrations of these agents restricts our ability to establish a definitive relationship between drug concentrations and clinical response. Measuring the individual impact of each antitubercular agent in a given therapy in a given stage of infection further complicate this dilemma. Moreover, characterizing the *in vivo* synergistic activity with various agents is very difficult to predict for these agents. While

the pharmacologic activities of antitubercular agents have been described, our understanding of the antimycobacterial pharmacodynamic profile of the frequently utilized multi-drug regimens and its application in clinical practice is still at its infancy.

# 8.4.4 Toxicity

Dose-dependent side effects have been observed with various antimycobacterial agents. Common adverse events reported with these agents as displayed in Table 8.5. Rifampin doses greater than 10 mg/kg have been associated with antibody-mediated immune reactions such as thrombocytopenia, influenza-like syndrome, hemolytic anemia, and acute renal failure (ARF). Flu-like symptoms have been reported to occur at doses >600 mg although others report the absence of these symptoms if serum concentrations are maintained within 8-24 µg/mL. Gastrointestinal intolerance is also common at higher doses of rifampin [108,117]. Rifabutin has been shown to cause uveitis at doses  $\geq$  1200 mg, although it is often reversible and resolves within 1–2 months following discontinuation of the drug. Dosing rifabutin less than 600 mg/d decreases the risk of this problem [118]. Ethambutol is another agent with known dose-dependent sideeffects resulting to retrobulbar neuritis at doses >25 mg/kg/d. Symptoms are manifested with visual acuity impairment, central and peripheral scotoma, and redgreen color blindness. Initial and periodic eye examination is recommended prior to using this drug [108,117,119]. Other agents with dose related side-effects include the aminoglycosides (nephrotoxicity and ototoxicity) and cycloserine (dose-related neurological and psychiatric impairment in 50% of patients) [108,120].

Drug Name	Adverse Drug Reaction
Para-aminosalicylic acid (PAS)	GI upset, hypersensitivity, hepatotoxicity, sodium load
Ciprofloxacin	GI upset, hypersensitivity
Clofazimine	GI upset, skin discoloration, abdominal pain, crystal deposition leading to organ failure
Cycloserine	Seizures, neurologic toxicity (ie. psychosis)
Ethambutol	Retrobulbular neuritis, red/green color blindness, decreased/loss of visual acuity
Ethionamide	Nausea, vomiting, diarhea, abdominal pain, hepatitis
Isoniazid (INH)	Fever, rash, anemia, neuropathy, age-related hepatotoxicity, optic neuritis
Pyrazinamide (PZA)	Hepatotoxicity, hyperurecemia, rash
Rifabutin	Uveitis; orange secretions
Rifampin	Hepatotoxicity, thrombocytopenia
Amikacin, Capreomycin, Kanamycin, Streptomycin	Nephrotoxicity, ototoxicity, neuromuscular blockade
Thiacetazone	Arthralgia, myalgia, dark urine, yellowing of the skin

TABLE 8.5 ADVERSE REACTIONS WITH COMMONLY UTILIZED ANTITUBERCULAR.

A caveat for TDM is that whilst established therapeutic ranges of serum concentrations may provide the best clinical response for most patients, certain patients may need a higher or lower serum targets. Some patients may experience drug toxicities at concentrations within the acceptable serum range and necessitate lower doses to achieve similar outcomes. A prime example of this involves the differences between slow acetylators and fast acetylators with isoniazid. Fast acetylators (i.e. Caucasian) have increased predisposition isoniazid's hepatotoxicity compared to slow acetylators [121,122]. Thus, the monitoring of drug levels should always follow sound judgment based on patient-specific clinical response.

#### 8.4.5 Monitoring of drug concentrations

Antitubercular TDM should be considered if the patient does not clinically improve with therapy or in those patients who remain smear positive after 1–2 months of directly observed therapy (DOT). Serum drug concentrations are usually obtained at a minimum of 2-hour post dose for most antitubercular agents (oral or intravenous) following achievement of steady state. Steady state is typically achieved after one day following administration of loading doses agents with long half-lives or in drugs with short half-lives (1–4 hours). A second sample can also be collected approximately one half-life of the drug to eliminate any absorption issues. This is generally drawn about 6 hours post dose then a 6 hours post dose) since rifampin typically has a half-life of 2–3 hours in most individuals. Trough levels for most agents are not monitored since most are undetectable by 24 hours unless drug accumulation or problems with elimination are suspected [123].

As with any serum drug monitoring, proper documentation of the actual time of dose and time of blood collection is essential since inaccuracies with dosing times and blood draws can significantly alter the results and interpretation of drug concentration-time profile.

## 8.4.6 Dosing adjustments

Renally impaired: Streptomycin, capreomycin, kanamycin, ethambutol; and second-line agents (i.e. quinolones, and cycloserine) that are renally eliminated should have their dosing regimen modified [124]. Renal failure patients should be given standard daily doses per day but should be administered less frequently over the course of the week (Table 8.3). Hence, TDM may be useful for renally impaired patients receiving the above noted agents.

Hepatically impaired: While hepatic impairment has been found to elevate serum concentrations of INH and rifampin, it has no predictable effects for most of these agents. Thus, TDM may also be useful for hepatically impaired patients receiving INH and rifampin [125].

# 8.4.7 Drug interactions

There are many drug interactions associated with the use of these agents [126]. Potent inhibitors or inducers of cytochrome P450 can affect the concentration of these agents and vice versa. Examples of enzyme inhibitors include azole antifungals, protease inhibitors, and clarithromycin. Isoniazid itself is a potent inhibitor and can increase concentrations of phenytoin and carbamazepine [104]. Food interactions are also common with these agents. As a result of the multitude of potential drug interactions, TDM may be useful for the modification of the regimen in an attempt to minimize toxicity while maximizing efficacy.

# 8.5 ANTIRETROVIRAL THERAPEUTIC DRUG MONITORING (ATDM)

# 8.5.1 Introduction

The advent of highly active retroviral therapy (HAART) in the mid-1990s contributed to the significant decrease in morbidity and mortality among patients infected with HIV/ AIDS. Now considered standard of care, HAART is making a dramatic impact on the longevity and quality of life for these patients. However, it is estimated that about 60-70% of patients fail HAART due to toxicity. In addition, virologic failures and the ever-changing patterns of resistance continue to occur despite aggressive therapy. As we move forward into understanding the complexity of this infection and its management, understanding the pharmacodynamics and pharmacokinetics of antiretroviral agents in relation to clinical response can provide crucial information on issues of interpatient variability, drug toxicity, drug interactions, and the development of HIV resistance. Advantages of ATDM include detection of drug-drug interactions, prevention of toxicity (i.e. indinavir and renal stones, ritonavir related to circumoral paresthesia and elevation of triglyceride levels), and optimization of effective therapy especially in patients with disease modifying kinetics (i.e. absorption, metabolism, excretion) due to hepatitis C, gastroenteropathy, and HIV/AIDS disease progression. Because of its potential impact on patient care, there is an enormous interest on the role of antiretroviral therapeutic drug monitoring (ATDM) in recent years.

# 8.5.2 Serum concentrations and efficacy

There are currently 3 classes of antiretroviral agents available that are being investigated regarding their potential for therapeutic drug monitoring. Nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors (NRTIs) require intracellular activation to convert them to their active moiety. However, assays to monitor the intracellular concentrations of these drugs are costly, labor intensive, and are not readily available. Standardization of these assays has also not been established. Because of this, monitoring NRTI concentrations let alone establishing a relationship between clinical effect with intracellular concentrations present major obstacles for TDM [127–129].

The second class of antiretrovirals, the non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors (NNRTIs), has had some success on predicting the occurrence of CNS-associated toxicity with serum drug concentrations. Fifty percent of patients taking efavirenz experience hallucinogenic reactions in the first 2–4 weeks of initiation. In a study by Marzolini et al., >1200 mg increase the risk and severity of effect often leading to patient discontinuation of therapy [130]. In general, however, the use of TDM on NNRTIs is limited by their low interpatient variability, early steady state, and extremely long half-lives. On the other hand, TDM with the protease inhibitors (PIs) seems the most promising. Protease inhibitors possess wide-interpatient variability, numerous drug interactions, and class specific toxicity [131]. Moreover, studies on PIs correlated drug concentrations with clinical response and side-effect profiles of these agents [132,133]. Recently, a fourth class has been added to this therapeutic list. Enfuvirtide is a novel fusion inhibitor recently approved by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA). The possible role of TDM for this new class remains to be seen.

## 8.5.3 Serum concentration and clinical outcomes

Trials investigating on antiretroviral therapy clinical outcomes utilize surrogate markers such as viral load, CD4 count, and appearance of drug-toxicity. Gieshchke et al. found that saquinavir (soft-gel) produces area under the plasma concentration time curve consistent with a decrease in HIV RNA and improvement in CD4 count among patients [134]. Similarly, the ADAM study found a strong relationship of saquinavir and nelfinavir plasma concentrations with the initial rate of viral clearance [135]. In the ATHENA study, 147 treatment naïve patients were randomized to physicians who either received TDM results for drug adjustments or those who did not. Results revealed that TDM in NFV and IDV containing regimens improved clinical outcome although not with RTV, SQV, or NVP. However, this study was not blinded and not all clinicians followed TDM advice [136]. Other studies have found correlations with serum concentrations and clinical outcomes [127,137–140].

#### 8.5.4 Future of ATDM

A potentially useful tool in ATDM is viral genotyping. HIV strain mutations that render isolates resistant to certain antiretroviral agents can be identified using genotyping techniques. Genotyping analysis predicts viral resistance patterns and facilitates in determining which antiretroviral regimens are likely to fail due to such resistance. The usefulness of genotyping to aid in optimizing therapy is gaining popularity and is quickly becoming standard of practice for new infections as well as for patients with repeated drug failures and viral breakthroughs. Several studies have been conducted to evaluate its utility concurrent with a pharmacokinetic-based regimen and its impact on clinical outcomes [139,141]. The results varied and therefore cannot provide conclusive evidence on the use of genotyping with TDM.

Another potential ATDM tool is the use of inhibitory quotients. Inhibitory quotients (IQ) integrate virus sensitivity with serum drug concentrations. Drug inhibitory

concentrations (IC) are determined (i.e.  $IC_{90}$  is the concentration of drug required to inhibit viral replication by 90%) while taking into account the phenotypic characteristic of the virus. There are currently 3 different approaches in the use of these parameters: IC ( $C_{min}/IC_{50}$ ), VIQ ( $C_{min}/Virtual IC_{50}$ ), or NIQ ( $C_{min}/population-based$ ). However, there is currently no consensus as to the optimum target concentration for these agents and further studies are needed to define its clinical utility [142–146]. The major dilemma with ATDM is that it is unclear what pharmacodynamic/kinetic parameter best correlates with the efficacy of these agents. As a result, there is currently no consensus as to which parameter (area under the concentration-time curve,  $C_{max}$ ,  $C_{min}$ ) best optimizes drug efficacy. Moreover, problems of interpatient variability due to viral load, immune function, virus sensitivity, resistance, and the patient's predisposition to adverse effects further add to the complexity of monitoring these agents. Currently, routine TDM with antiretrovirals is not yet recommended. In addition, its role in new agents such as the fusion inhibitors (i.e. enfuvirtide) is yet to be determined [131,145,147].

#### **8.6 CONCLUSION**

Knowledge and application of pharmacodynamic principles to dosing and administration of antibacterials can optimize clinical and bacteriologic efficacy while potentially reducing toxicity and costs associated with therapy. Within the realm of this clinical activity, the utilization of therapeutic drug monitoring may assist in reaching these goals for a broad range of antimicrobials noted in this chapter. For antimicrobials that do not readily undergo TDM, pharmacodynamic concepts can be applied to patient care based on a nomogram or dosing protocol, which attempts to provide optimal exposures. These clinical dosing protocols often incorporate a fixed dose of an antimicrobial for specific uses or bacterial pathogens. While agents such as the  $\beta$ -lactams are not generally regarded as requiring TDM, we are noting increasing requests for serum concentrations monitoring for this class of compounds in patients who have either not responded to conventional doses or those who are infected with multidrug resistant pathogens which now require high concentrations for eradication. At the time of writing, the authors of this chapter offer clinical assays for cefepime, meropenem and piperacillin/tazobactam, which are frequently utilized across the United States in the clinical care of the above noted patient types. While TDM is generally limited by the availability of reliable assay methods and speed at which these results can be conveyed to the treating clinician, our continuing knowledge in the area of antimicrobial pharmacodynamics may redefine the future application of TDM in an attempt to optimize drug exposure, thereby improving clinical and microbiological outcomes while minimizing potential drug related toxicities.

#### **8.7 REFERENCES**

 R.C. Moellering, Jr., Editorial: Monitoring serum vancomycin levels: climbing the mountain because it is there? Clin. Infect. Dis., 18 (1994) 544–546.

- 2 J.E. Geraci, Vancomycin. Mayo. Clin. Proc., 52 (1977) 631–634.
- 3 C.D. Freeman and C.H. Nightingale, Vancomycin therapeutic drug monitoring: is it necessary? Ann. Pharmacother., 27 (1993) 594–598.
- 4 B.H. Ackerman, A.M. Vannier and E.B. Eudy, Analysis of vancomycin time-kill studies with staphylococcus species by using a curve-stripping program to describe the relationship between concentration and pharmacodynamic response. Antimicrobial. Agents Chemother., 36 (1992) 1766–1769.
- 5 E. Lowdin, I. Odenholt and O. Cars, In vitro studies of pharmacodynamic properties of vancomycin against Staphylococcus aureus and Staphylococcus epidermidis. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother., 42 (1998) 2739–2744.
- 6 G.L. Mandell, J.E. Bennett and R. Dolin, Principles and practice of infectious disease (4th ed.), 1 (1995) 346–354.
- 7 M. Ducharme, R. Slaughter and D. Edwards, Vancomycin pharmacokinetics in a patient population: effect of age, gender, and body weight. Ther. Drug Monit., 16 (1994) 513–518.
- 8 G. Wu and M. Furlanut, Prediction of serum vancomycin concentrations using one-, two- and threecompartment models with implemented population pharmacokinetic parameters and with the Bayesian method. J. Pharm.Pharmacol., 50 (1998) 851–856.
- 9 A.E. Zimmerman, B.G. Katona and K.I. Plaisance, Association of vancomycin serum concentrations with outcomes in patients with gram-positive bacteremia. Pharmacotherapy 15 (1995) 85–91.
- 10 M.J. Rybak, D.M. Cappelletty, M.J. Ruffing et al., Influence of vancomycin serum concentrations on the outcome of patients being treated for gram-positive infections. Presented at the 37th interscience conference on antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy, Toronto, Ontario, Canada, Sept. 29, 1997.
- 11 C.M. Karam, P. McKinnon, M. Neuhauser and M. Rybak, Outcome assessment of minimizing vancomycin monitoring and dosing adjustments. Pharmacother., 19 (1999) 257–266.
- 12 NCCLS: Performance Standards for Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing: January 2003 Supplemental Tables. NCCLS, 940 West Valley Road, Suite 1400, Wayne, PA 19087–1898.
- 13 D.P. Healy, R.E. Polk, M.L. Garson, D.T. Rock and T.J. Comstock, Comparison of steady-state pharmacokinetics of two dosage regimens of vancomycin in normal volunteers. Antimicrob. Agent Chemother., 31 (1987) 393–397.
- 14 W.A. Craig and D. Andes, Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of antibiotics in otitis media. Pediatr. Infect. Dis. J., 15 (1996) 255–259.
- 15 N. Frimodt-Moller, How predictive is PK/PD for antibacterial agents? Int. J. Antimicrob. Agents, 19 (2002) 333–339.
- 16 U.B. Schaad, G.H. McCracken and J.D. Nelson, Clinical pharmacology and efficacy of vancomycin in pediatric patients. J. Pediatr., 96 (1980) 119–126.
- 17 D.B. Louria et al., Vancomycin and severe staphylococcal infections. Arch. Intern. Med., 107 (1961) 225–240.
- 18 P.F. Viladrich, F. Gudiol, J. Linares et al., Evaluation of vancomycin for therapy of adult pneumococcal meningitis. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother., 35 (1991) 246–272.
- 19 B.F. Farber and R.C. Moellering, Retrospective study of the toxicity of vancomycin from 1974–1981. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother., 23 (1983) 138–141.
- 20 R.E. Brummett and K.E. Fox, Vancomycin- and erythromycin-induced hearing loss in humans. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother., 33 (1989) 791–796.
- 21 J.A. Mellor, J. Kingdon, M. Cafferkey et al., Vancomycin toxicity: a prospective study. J. Antimicrob. Chemother., 15 (1985) 773–780.
- 22 T.C. Sorrell and P.J. Collignon, A prospective study of adverse reactions associated with vancomycin therapy. J. Antimicrob. Chemother., 16 (1985) 235–241.
- 23 M.J. Ryback, L.M. Albrecht, S.C. Boike and P.H. Chandrasekar, Nephrotoxicity of vancomycin, alone and with an aminoglycoside. J. Antimicrob. Chemother., 25 (1990) 679–687.
- 24 R. Moellering, D. Krogstad and D. Greenblatt, Vancomycin therapy in patients with impaired renal function: a nomogram for dosage. Ann. Intern. Med., 94 (1981) 343–346.
- 25 M.A. Cimino, C. Rotstein, R.L. Slauther et al., Relationship of serum antibiotic concentrations to nephrotoxicity in cancer patients receiving concurrent aminoglycoside and vancomycin therapy. Am. J. Med., 83 (1987) 1091–1097.

- 26 D.J. Pauly, D.M. Musa, M.R. Lestico et al., Risk of nephrotoxicity with combination vancomycinaminoglycoside antibiotic therapy. Pharmacother., 10 (1990) 378–382.
- 27 W.G. Leader, M. Chandler and M. Castiglia, Pharmacokinetic optimization of vancomycin therapy. Clin. Pharmacokinet., 28 (1995) 327–342.
- 28 B.S. Gendeh, A.G. Gibb, N.S. Aziz, N. Kong and Z.M. Zahir, Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg., 118 (1998) 551–558.
- 29 R.E. Polk, D.P. Healy, L.B. Schwartz et al., Vancomycin and the red-man syndrome: pharmacodynamics of histamine release. J. Infect. Dis., 157 (1988) 502–507.
- 30 R.L. Mackett and D.R.P. Guay, Vancomycin-induced neutropenia. Can. Med. Assoc. J., (1985) 132–140.
- 31 K. Henry, I. Steinberg and K.B. Crossley, Vancomycin-induced neutropenia during treatment of osteomyelitis in an outpatient. Drug Intell. Clin. Pharm., 20 (1986) 783–785.
- 32 G.R. Aronoff, J.S. Berns, M.E. Brier, T.A. Golper, G. Morrison, I. Singer, S.K. Swan and W.M. Bennett, Drug prescribing in renal failure: dosing guidelines for adults (4th ed.). Philadelphia, PA: American College of Physicians-American Society of Internal Medicine, 1999, 50.
- 33 R.A. Blouin et al., Vancomycin pharmacokinetics in normal and morbidly obese subjects. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother., 21 (1982) 575–580.
- 34 C.M. Karam et al., Outcome assessment of minimizing vancomycin monitoring and dosing adjustments. Pharmacother., 19 (1999) 257–266.
- 35 M.E. Winter, Basic clinical pharmacokinetics (3rd ed.). Vancouver, WA: Applied Therapeutics, Inc., 1994, 474–499.
- 36 K. Vance-Bryan, D.R.P. Guay, S.S. Gilliland, K.A. Rodvold and J.C. Rotschafer, Effect of obesity on vancomycin pharmacokinetic parameters as determined by using a Bayesian forecasting technique. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother., 37 (1993) 436–440.
- 37 E. Grant and P.V. Amato, Vancomycin dosing and monitoring. Hartford Hospital Formulary Update 10 (1998) 1–4.
- 38 G.R. Aronoff, J.S. Berns, M.E. Brier, T.A. Golper, G. Morrison, I. Singer, S.K. Swan and W.M. Bennett, Drug prescribing in renal failure: dosing guidelines for adults (4th ed.). Philadelphia, PA: American College of Physicians-American Society of Internal Medicine, 1999, 50.
- 39 R.A. Blouin et al., Vancomycin pharmacokinetics in normal and morbidly obese subjects. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother., 21 (1982) 575–580.
- 40 M.J. Ryback, L.M. Albrecht, J.R. Berman, L.H. Warbasse and C.K. Svenson, Vancomycin pharmacokinetics in burn patients and intravenous drug abusers. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother., 34 (1990) 792–795.
- 41 L.A. Bauer, D.J. Black and J.S. Lill, Vancomycin dosing in morbidly obese patients. Eur. J. Clin. Pharmacol., 54 (1998) 621–625.
- 42 A.K. Hurst, M.A. Yoshinaga, G.H. Mitani et al., Application of a Bayesian method to monitor and adjust vancomycin dosage regimens. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother., 34 (1990) 1165–1171.
- 43 R.J. Sawchuk and D.E. Zaske, Pharmacokinetics of dosing regimens which utilize multiple intravenous infusions: gentamicin in burn patients. J. Pharmacokinet. Biopharm., 4 (1976) 183–195.
- 44 G.R. Matzke, R.W. McGory, C.E. Halstenson et al., Pharmaockinetics of vancomycin in patients with various degrees of renal function. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother., 25 (1984) 433–437.
- 45 W.M. Bennett, C.E. Plamp, D.N. Gilbert, R.A. Parker and G.A. Porter, The influence of dosage regimen on experimental gentamicin nephrotoxicity: dissociation of peak serum levels from renal failure. J. Infect. Dis., 140 (1979) 576–580.
- 46 G. Beaucaire, O. Leroy, C. Beuscart et al., Clinical and bacteriological efficacy and practical aspects of amikacin given once daily for severe infections. J. Antimicrob. Chemother., 27 (1991) 91–103.
- 47 D.N. Gilbert, Once-daily aminoglycoside therapy. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother., 35 (1991) 399–405.
- 48 A.W. Strum, Netilmicin in the treatment of gram-negative bacteremia: single daily versus multiple daily dosage. J. Infect. Dis., 159 (1989) 931–997.
- 49 L. Nordstrom, H. Ringber, S. Cronberg, O. Tjernstrom and M. Walder, Does administration of an aminoglycoside in a single daily dose affect its efficacy and toxicity? J. Antimicrob. Chemother., 25 (1990) 159–173.

- 50 C.D. Freeman, D.P. Nicolau, P.P. Beliveau and C.H. Nightingale, Once-daily dosing of aminoglycosides: review and recommendations for clinical practice. J. Antimicrob. Chemother., 39 (1997) 677–686.
- 51 R.D. Moore, P.S. Lietman and C.R. Smith, Clinical response to aminoglycoside therapy: importance of the ratio of peak concentration to minimal inhibitory concentration. J. Infect. Dis., 155 (1987) 93–99.
- 52 J. Blaser, B.B. Stone, M.C. Groner and S.H. Zinner, Comparative study with enoxacin and netilmicin in a pharmacodynamic model to determine importance of ratio of antibiotic peak concentration to MIC for bacterial activity and emergence of resistance. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother., 31 1054–1060.
- 53 B.D. Davis, Mechanism of the bactericidal action of the aminoglycosides. Microbiol. Rev., 51 (1987) 341–350.
- 54 E.J. Begg, M.L. Barclay and S.B. Duffull, A suggested approach to once-daily aminoglycoside dosing. Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol., 39 (1995) 605.
- 55 L. Herscovici, G. Grise and C. Thauvin, Effiacy and safety of once daily versus intermittent dosing of tobramycin in rabbits with acute pyelonephritis. Scan. J. Infect. Dis., 20 (1988) 205–212.
- 56 A. Wood, D.R. Norton, P.W. Kohlepp, G.A. Porter, D.C. Houghton et al., The influence of tobramycin dosage regimen on nephrotoxoicty and antibacterial efficacy in a rat model of subcutaneous abscess. J. Infect. Dis., 158 (1988) 13–22.
- 57 S.H. Powell, W.L. Thompson, M.A. Luthe, R.C. Stern, D.A. Grossniklaus, D.D. Bloxham, D.L. Groden, M.R. Jacobs, A.O. DiScenna, H.A. Cash and J.D. Klinger, Once-daily vs. continuous aminoglycoside dosing: efficacy and toxicity in animal and clinical studies of gentamicin, netilmicin, and tobramycin. J. Infect. Dis., 147 (1983) 918–932.
- 58 J. Gevalda, A. Pahissa, B. Almirante, M. Laguarda, E. Crespo, L. Pou et al., Effect of gentamicin dosing interval on therapy of viridans streptococcal experimental endocarditis with gentamicin plus penicillin. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother., 39 (1995) 2098–2103.
- 59 R. Maller, B. Isaksson, L. Nilsson et al. A study of amikacin given once versus twice daily in serious infections. J. Antimcrob. Chemother., 22 (1988) 75–79.
- 60 L.F. Hollender, J. Bahnini, N. DeManzini et al., A multicentric study of netilmicin once daily in patients with appendicitis with other intra-abdominal infections. J. Antimicrob. Chemother., 23 (1989) 773–783.
- 61 G.G. Zhanel and R.E. Ariano, Once daily aminoglycoside dosing: maintained efficacy with reduced nephrotoxicity? Renal Failure 14 (1992) 1–9.
- 62 T.C. Bailey, J.R. Little, B. Littenberg et al., A meta-analysis of extended interval dosing versus multiple daily dosing of aminoglycosides. Clin. Infect. Dis., 24 (1997) 786.
- 63 J.M. Prins, H.R. Buller, E.J. Kuijper, R.A. Tange and P. Speelman, Once versus thrice daily gentamicin in patients with serious infections. Lancet, 341 (1993) 335–339.
- 64 D. Moore and C.R. Smith, Association of aminoglycoside plasma levels with mortality in patients with gram negative bacteremia. J. Infect. Dis., 149 (1984) 443–448.
- 65 J.M. Prins, R.P. Koopmans, H.R. Buller, E.J. Kuijper and P. Speelman, Easier monitoring of aminoglycosides therapy with once-daily dosing schedules. Eur. J. Clin. Microbiol. Infect. Dis., 14 (1995) 531–535.
- 66 R. Raz and A.M. Romanos, Intravenous administration of gentamicin only daily versus thrice daily in adults. Eur. J. Clin. Microb. Infect. Dis., 14 (1995) 88–91.
- 67 L. Deziel-Evans, J. Murphy and M. Job, Correlation of pharmacokinetic indices with therapeutic outcomes in patients receiving aminoglycoside. Clin. Pharm., 5 (1986) 319–324.
- 68 D.P. Nicolau, C.D. Freeman, P.P. Belliveau, C.H. Nightingale, J.W. Ross and R. Quintiliani, Experience with a once daily aminoglycoside program administered to 2,184 adult patients. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother., 39 (1995) 650–655.
- 69 A. Vigano, N. Principi, L. Brivio, P. Tommasi, P. Stasi and A.D. Villa, Comparison of 5 milligrams of netilmicin per kilogram of body weight once daily versus 2 milligrams per kilogram thrice daily for treatment of Gram-negative pyelonephritis in children. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother., 36 (1992) 1499–1503.

- 70 P.E. Marik, J. Lipman, A. Kobilski and J. Scribante, A prospective randomised study comparing once vs. twice-daily amikacin dosing in critically ill adult and pediatric patients. J. Antimicrob. Chemother., 28 (1991) 753–764.
- 71 C. Viscoli, M. Dudley, G. Ferea et al., Serum concentrations and safety of single daily dosing of amikacin in children undergoing bone marrow transplantation. J. Antimicrob. Chemother., 27 (1991) 113–120.
- 72 A.G. Mitra, M.K. Whitten, S.L. Laurent and W.E. Anderson, A randomized, prospective study comparing once-daily gentamicin versus thrice-daily gentamicin in the treatment of puerperal infection. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol., 177 (1997) 786–792.
- 73 P. Bourget, H. Fernandez, C. Delouis and A.M. Taburet, Pharmacokinetics of tobramycin in pregnant women: safety and efficacy of a once-daily dose regimen. J. Clin. Pharm. Ther., 16 (1991) 167–176.
- 74 R. Hatala, T.T. Dinh and D.H. Cook, Single daily dosing of aminoglycosides in immunocompromised adults: a systematic review. Clin. Infect. Dis., 24 (1997) 810–815.
- 75 P.E. Marik, J. Lipman, A. Kobilski and J. Scribante, A prospective randomised study comparing once vs. twice-daily amikacin dosing in critically ill adult and pediatric patients. J. Antimicrob. Chemother., 28 (1991) 753–764.
- 76 C. Viscoli, M. Dudley, G. Ferea et al., Serum concentrations and safety of single daily dosing of amikacin in children undergoing bone marrow transplantation. J. Antimicrob. Chemother., 27 (1991) 113–120.
- 77 B.J. McGrath, K.C. Lamp and M.J. ORybak, Pharmacodynamic effects of extended dosing intervals of imipenem alone and in combination with amikacin against*Pseudomonas aeruginosa* in an in vitro model. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother., 37 (1993) 1931–1937.
- 78 I. Odenholt-Tornqvist, Pharmacodynamics of beta-lactam antibiotics: studies on the paradoxical effect and postantibiotic effects in vitro and in an animal model. Scan J. Infect. Dis., 58 (1989) 1–55.
- 79 D.N. Gilbert, Once-daily aminoglycoside therapy. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother., 35 (1991) 399–405.
- 80 G.G. Zhanel, D.J. Hoban and D.K.M. Harding, The postantibiotic effect: a review of in vitro and in vivo data. Ann. Pharmacother., 25 (1991) 153–163.
- 81 W.A. Craig and B. Vogelman, The postantibiotic effect. Ann. Intern. Med., 106 (1987) 900–902.
- 82 D. Maglio, C.H. Nightingale and D.P. Nicolau, Extended interva aminoglycoside dosing: from concept to clinic. Intern. J. Antimicrob. Agents, 19 (2002) 341–348.
- 83 G.L. Daikos, G.G. Jackson, V.T. Lolans and G.G. Jackson, First-exposure adaptive resistance to aminoglycoside antibiotics in vivo with meaning for optimal clinical use. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother., 35 (1991) 117–123.
- 84 R.A. Giuliano, G.A. Vrpooten, L. Verbist, R.R. Wedeen and M.E. De Broe, In vivo uptake kinetics of aminoglycosides in the kidney cortex of rats. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther., 236 (1986) 470–476.
- 85 R.A. Giuliano, G.A. Vrpooten and M.E. De Broe, The effect of dosing strategy on kidney cortical accumulation of aminoglycosides in rats. Am. J. Kidney Dis., 8 (1986) 297–303.
- 86 J. Blaser, H.P. Simmen, U. Thrunheer, C. Konig and R. Luthy, Nephrotoxoicty, high frequency ototoxicity, efficacy and serum kinetics of once versus thrice daily dosing of netilmicin in patients with serious infections. J. Antimicrob. Chemother., 36 (1995) 803–814.
- 87 G. Laurent, M.B. Carlier, B. Rollman et al., Mechanism of aminoglycoside-induced lysosomal phopholipidosis: In vitro and in vivo studies with gentamicin and amikacin. Biochem. Pharmacol., 1 (1982) 3861–3870.
- 88 R.D. Moore, C.R. Smith and P.S. Lietman, Risk factors for the development of auditory toxicity in patients receiving aminoglycosides. J. Infect. Dis., 149 (1984) 23–30.
- 89 G.G. Jackson and G. Arcieri, Ototoxicity of gentamicin in man: a survey and controlled analysis of clinical experience in the United States. J. Infect. Dis., 124 (1971) S130–S137.
- 90 R.E. Brummett and R.E. Fox, Aminoglycoside-induced hearing loss in humans. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother., 33 (1989) 797–800.
- 91 R.D. Moore, C.R. Smith and P.S. Lietman, Risk factors for the development of auditory toxicity in patients receiving aminoglycosides. J. Infect. Dis., 149 (1984) 23–30.
- 92 T. Hutchin and G. Cortopassi, Proposed molecular and cellular mechanism for aminoglycoside ototoxicity. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother., 38 (1994) 2517–2520.

- 93 D. Beauchamp and G. Labrecque, Aminoglycoside nephrotoxicity: do time and frequency of administration matter? Curr. Opin. Crit. Care, 7 (2001) 401–408.
- 94 J.F. Fiekers, Sites and mechanisms of antibiotic-induced neuromuscular block: a pharmacological analysis using quantal content, voltage clamped end-plate currents and single channel analysis. Acta. Physiol. Pharmacol. Ther. Latinoam., 49 (1999) 242–250.
- 95 T.B. Gilbert, S.C. Jacobs and A.A. Quaddoura. Deafness and prolonged neuromuscular blockade following single-dose peritoneal neomycin irrigation. Can. J. Anaesth., 45 (1998) 568–570.
- 96 R. Quintilliani and C.H. Nightingale, Aminoglycosides. Chapter 7 in: D. Armstrong and J. Cohen (Eds.), Infectious diseases, MOSBY, New York, 1999, 7.1–7.11.
- 97 E.J. Begg, M.L. Barclay and S.B. Duffull, A suggested approach to once-daily aminoglycoside dosing. Fr. J. Clin. Pharmacol., 39 (1995) 605.
- 98 F.A. Sarubbi, Jr. and J.H. Hull, Amikacin serum concentrations: Prediction of levels and dosage guidelines. Ann. Intern. Med., 89 (1978) 612–618.
- 99 M.K. Lacy, D.P. Nicolau, C.H. Nightingale and R. Quintiliani, The pharmacodynamics of aminoglycosides. Clin. Infect. Dis., 27 (1998) 23–27.
- 100 Gilbert et al., Sanford guide to antimicrobial therapy 1998, 117.
- 101 C.H. Nightingale, T. Murakawa and P.G. Ambrose (Eds.), Antimicrobial pharmacodynamics in theory and clinical practice, Marcel Dekker, Inc., New York, 2002, 125–153.
- 102 CDC, Reported Tuberculosis in the United States, 2000. Atlanta, GA: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, CDC, August, 2001.
- 103 S.E. Berning, G.A. Huitt, M.D. Iseman et al., Malaborption of antituberculosis medications by a patient with AIDS. N. Engl. J. Med., 327 (1992) 1817–1818.
- 104 W.W. Yew, Therapeutic drug monitoring in antituberculosis chemotherapy. Ther. Drug Monit., 20 (1998) 469–472.
- 105 J. Sahai, K. Gallicano, L. Swick et al., Reduced plasma concentrations of antituberculosis drugs in patients with HIV infection. Ann. Intern. Med., 127 (1997) 289–293.
- 106 C.A. Peloquin, Mycobacterium avium complex infection: pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic considerations that may improve clinical outcomes. Clin. Pharmacokinetics, 32 (1997) 132–144.
- 107 C.A. Peloquin, Pharmacology of the antimycobacterial drugs. Med. Clin. North Am., 77 (1993) 1253–1262.
- 108 American Thoracic Society. Treatment of tuberculosis and tuberculosis infection in Adults and children. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med., 149 (1994) 1359–1374.
- 109 C.A. Peloquin, Serum concentrations of the antimycobacterial drugs. CHEST, 113 (1998) 1154–1155.
- 110 S.M. Gordon, C.R. Horsburgh, Jr., C.A. Peloquin et al., Low serum levels of oral antimycobacterial agents in patients with disseminated Mycobacterium avium complex disease. J. Infect. Dis., 168 (1993) 1559–1562.
- 111 M. Gilljam, S.E. Berning, C.A. Peloquin, B. Strandvik, L.O. Larsson, Therapeutic drug monitoring in patients with cystic fibrosis and mycobacterial disease. Eur. Respir. J., 14 (1999) 347.
- 112 M. Turner, C. McGowan, E. Nardell and R. Haskal, Serum drug levels in tuberculosis patients. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med., 149 (1994) A527.
- 113 K.B. Patel, R. Belmonte and H.M. Crowe, Drug malabsorption and resistant tuberculosis in HIVinfected patients (letter). N. Engl. J. Med., 332 (1995) 336–337.
- 114 M. Weiner, A. Khan, D. Benator, C.A. Peloquin, W. Burman and the TB Trials Consortium, Low isoniazid levels are associated with tuberculosis treatment failure or relapse with once-weekly rifampentine and isoniazid (abstract). In: Proceedings and abstracts of the 97th International Conference of the American Lung Association/American Thoracic Society (San Francisco), 18–23 May, 2001: 498.
- 115 A.M. Elliot, S.E. Berning, M.D. Iseman and C.A. Peloquin, Failure of drug penetration and acquisition of drug resistance in chronic tuberculous empyema. Tuber. Lung Dis., 76 (1995) 463–467.
- 116 M. Narita, M. Hisada, B. Thimmappa et al., Tuberculosis recurrence: multivariate analysis of serum levels of tuberculosis drugs, human immunodeficiency virus status, and other risk factors. Clin. Infect. Dis., 32 (2001) 515–517.

- 117 D.J. Girling, Adverse effects of antituberculosis drugs. Drugs 23 (1982) 56-74.
- 118 A.L. Tseng and S.L. Walmsley, Rifabutin-associated uveitis. Ann. Pharmacother., 29 (1995) 1149–1155.
- 119 R.E. Van Scoy and C.J. Wilkowske, Antimycobacterial therapy. Mayo. Clin. Proc., 74 (1999) 1038–1048.
- 120 M.R. Holdiness, Neurological manifestations and toxicities of the antituberculosis drugs. A review. Med. Toxicol., 2 (1987) 33–51.
- 121 J.R. Mitchell, U.P. Thorgeirsson, M. Black et al., Increased incidence of isoniazid hepatitis in rapid acetylators: possible relation to hydrazine metabolites. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther., 18 (1975) 70–79.
- 122 P.J. Jenner and G.A. Ellard, Isoniazid-related hepatotoxicity: a study of the effect of refampcin administration on the metabolism of acetyl-isoniazid in man. Tubercle, 70 (1989) 93–101.
- 123 C.A. Peloquin, Using therapeutic drug monitoring to dose the antimycobacterial drugs. Clin. Chest Med., 18 (1997) 79–87.
- 124 G.A. Ellard, Chemotherapy of tuberculosis for patients with renal impairment. Nephron., 64 (1993) 169–181.
- 125 C.A. Peloquin, Pharmacological issues in the treatment of tuberculosis. Ann. NY Acad. Sci., 953 (2001) 157–164.
- 126 J.M. Grange, P.A. Winstanley and P.D.O. Davies, Clinically significant drug interactions with antituberculosis with antituberculosis agents. Drug Saf., 11 (1994) 242–251.
- 127 C.V. Fletcher, S.P. Kawle, T.N. Kaduda et al., Zidovudine triphosphate and lamivudine triphosphate concentration-response relationships in HIV-infected persons. AIDS, 14 (2000) 2137–2144.
- 128 M.G. Barry, S.H. Khoo, G.J. Veal et al., The effect of zidovudine dose on the formation of tracellular phosphorylated metabolites. AIDS, 10 (1996) 1361–1367.
- 129 D.J. Back, S.H. Khoo, S.E. Gibbons and Merry Concepta, The role of therapeutic drug monitoring in treatment of HIV infection. Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol., 51 (2000) 301–308.
- 130 C. Marzolini, A. Telenti, L.A. Decosterd, G. Greub, J. Biollaz and T. Buclin. Efavirenze plasma levels can predict treatment failure and central nervous system side effect in HIV-1 infected patients. AIDS, 15 (2001) 71–75.
- 131 R.P. Van Heeswijk, Critical issues in therapeutic drug monitoring of antiretroviral drugs. Ther. Drug Monit., 24 (2002) 323–331.
- 132 G. Gatti, A. Di Biagio, R. Casazza et al., The relationship between ritonavir plasma levels and side effects : implications for therapeutic drug monitoring. AIDS, 13 (1999) 2083–2089.
- 133 J.P. Dielman, I.C. Gyssens, M.E. van der Ende et al., Urological complaints in relation to indinavir plasma concentrations in HIV-infected patients. AIDS 13 (1999) 473–478.
- 134 R. Geishke, B. Fotteler, N. Buss and J.-L. Steiner, Relationship between exposure to saquinavir monotherapy and antiviral response in HIV-positive patients. Clin. Pharmacokinet., 37 (1999) 75–86.
- 135 M.H. Reijers, G.J. Weverling, S. Jurriaans, M.T. Roos, F.W. Wit, H.M. Weigel, R.W. Ten Kate, J.W. Mulder, C.Richter, H.J. Ter Hofstede, H. Sprenger, R.M. Hoetelmans, H. Schuitemaker and J.M. Lange, The ADAM study continued. Maintenance therapy after 50 weeks of induction therapy. AIDS, 15 (2001) 129–131.
- 136 D. Burger, P. Hugen, P. Reiss, I. Gyssens, M. Schneider, F. Kroon, G. Schreij, K. Brinkman, C. Richter, J. Prins, R. Aarnoutse, J. Lange and ATHENA Cohort Study Group, Therapeutic drug monitoring of nelfinavir and indinavir in treatment-naive HIV-1-infected individuals. AIDS, 17 (2003) 1157–1165.
- 137 E.P. Acosta, K. Henry, D. Weller et al., Indinavir pharmacokinetics and relationships between exposure and antiviral effect. 37th Interscience Conference on Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy, Toronto, 1997.
- 138 D.M. Burger, R.M.W. Hoetlemans, P.W.H. Hugens et al., Low plasma concentrations of indinavir are related to virological treatment failure in HIV-1 infected patients on indinavir-containing triple therapy. Antiviral. Ther., 3 (1998) 215–220.
- 139 J. Durant, P. Clevenberg, R. Garaffo et al., Importance of protease inhibitor plasma levels in HIV infected patients treated with genotypic-guided therapy: pharmacological data from the VIRADAPT study. AIDS, 14 (2000) 1333–1339.

- 140 M.G. Barry, C. Merr, J. Lloyd et al., Variability in trough plasma saquinavir concentrations in HIV patients-a case for therapeutic drug monitoring. Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol., 45 (1998) 501–502.
- 141 C. Chaix-Couturier, C. Holtzer, K.A. Phillips, I. Durand-Zaleski and J. Stansell, HIV-1 drug resistance genotyping. A review of clinical and economic issues. Pharmacoeconomics 18 (2000) 425–433.
- 142 C.V. Fletcher, P.L. Anderson, T.N. Kakuda et al., A novel approach to integrate pharmacologic and virologic characteristics: an (IVP) in vivo potency index for antiretroviral agents [Abstract 732]. 8th conference on Retroviruses and Opportunistic Infections, Chicago, IL, 2001.
- 143 S. Brun, D. Kempf, K. Garren et al., The inhibitory quotient as a predictor of viral evolution following viral rebound during lopinavir/r therapy [Abstract 89]. 5th International Workshop on HIV Drug Resistance & Treatment Strategies, Scottsdale, AZ, 2001.
- 144 J. Montaner, A. Hill and E. Acosta, Practical implications for the interpretation of minimum plasma concentration/inhibitory concentration ratios. Lancet, 357 (2001) 1438–1440.
- 145 S. Becker, A. Fisher, C. Flexner et al., Pharmacokinetic parameters of protease inhibitors and the Cmin/IC50 ratio: call for consensus. AIDS, 27 (2001) 210–211.
- 146 D.M. Burger, R.E. Aarnoutse and P.W. Hugen, Pros and cons of therapeutic drug monitoring of antiretroviral agents. Curr. Opin. Infect. Dis., 15 (2002) 17–22.

This page intentionally left blank

CHAPTER 9

# Therapeutic drug monitoring of antiepileptic drugs

# Svein I. Johannessen

The National Center for Epilepsy, Sandvika, Norway

## ABSTRACT

The aim of the present chapter is to discuss therapeutic drug monitoring (TDM) of the established and newer antiepileptic drugs (AEDs), based on their pharmacokinetic properties and mode of action. Analytical methods for the determination of the serum concentrations of these drugs are also briefly described.

Due to the nature of epilepsy, it remains problematic to monitor AED treatment by direct observations of clinical response in the individual patient. A reasonably good correlation between serum drug concentration and clinical effect together with large inter-individual differences in the rate of drug clearance, are factors that together with the need to identify toxicity, test compliance and elucidate possible clinical interactions would make TDM desirable.

Few studies have been designed primarily to study the serum concentration-effect relationships. As TDM is not widely practiced for the newer AEDs there are no generally accepted target ranges for any of these drugs, and for most a wide range in serum concentration is associated with clinical efficacy. Also, a considerable overlap in drug concentrations related to toxicity and non-response is reported. Further systematic studies designed specifically to evaluate concentration-effect relationships of the new AEDs are urgently needed. Measurements of some of the drugs are undoubtedly of help with individualisation of treatment in selected cases in a particular clinical setting.

There are large differences between individuals in response to particular drugs and drug concentrations, thus the primary role of TDM for both the established and newer AEDs is to identify the individual optimum concentration and thus establish a reference value in that patient.

#### 9.1 INTRODUCTION

The pharmacological treatment of epilepsy has made considerable progress in recent years due to increased knowledge of the clinical pharmacology of the individual antiepileptic drugs (AEDs). Furthermore, new information on factors affecting clinical response and the development of new AEDs has improved the drug treatment of epilepsy. A number of reports have been published on the kinetics of AEDs, rational prescribing, and therapeutic drug monitoring (TDM) [1–7] and recently, the Commission on AEDs of the International League Against Epilepsy has published guidelines for therapeutic monitoring of AEDs [8].

TDM has made it possible to reveal non-compliance in patients and to study the individual variations in drug utilization occurring normally and as a consequence of disease or otherwise altered physiological states. The initial pharmacokinetic studies on AEDs were started in the 1950s and early 1960s, relating serum levels of phenytoin and phenobarbital to seizure control [9]. Since then, a vast number of studies on AEDs has been published.

Serum level monitoring of the AEDs given is of major importance for optimal therapy since the relationship between serum levels and therapeutic and toxic effects has been clearly established for most drugs, and since the correlation between a dosage related to body weight and the serum level often is poor. However, the therapeutic ranges for serum levels are only guidelines and, although valid for most patients, the optimal serum level for a given patient may lie outside the therapeutic range.

Monitoring AED levels is therefore important for several reasons. For many AEDs, the therapeutic range is narrow, and the safety limit between therapeutic and toxic serum levels is small. Furthermore, treatment with more than one drug at the same time may easily result in drug interactions, changing the elimination of the drugs and the therapeutic outcome in the single patient [10–12]. There is a better possibility of evaluating the real need for combination therapy in some patients and possibly withdrawal of drug therapy in others. Illnesses other than epilepsy can also affect absorption and elimination of the drug and thereby affect the serum level. Furthermore, it will ensure that patients take their medication as prescribed.

There are many reasons related to the disorder for using TDM as a guide to an individually-tailored treatment of patients with epilepsy. This rationale for TDM in epilepsy will be valid whether new or old AEDs are used. However, the value and applicability of TDM will also depend on the pharmacological properties of the drug to be monitored. Pharmacological properties that would make TDM of a specific drug potentially valuable are:

- Pronounced inter-individual variability in pharmacokinetics
- Intra-individual variation in kinetics (due to pharmacokinetic drug interactions)
- Established correlation between the concentration of the drug and its therapeutic or toxic effects
- Narrow therapeutic range

#### 9.1.1 What to measure?

#### 9.1.1.1 Total versus free drug serum levels

Because it is generally assumed that free (i.e. unbound) drug in serum is the therapeutically-active fraction, the most meaningful way of evaluating clinically

significant drug concentrations would be to measure the free drug concentration. However, current analytical methods for quantification of these drugs measure the total concentration. The drug assays do not distinguish between protein-bound and free drug. Consequently, both fractions are measured and expressed as a total drug concentration, which routinely is much easier to measure.

At present the value of routine monitoring of free drug levels is doubtful. More studies of the relationship between free drug levels and clinical effect are required to evaluate this approach. Therefore, free drug level measurements should be restricted to problem cases. It is of importance in patients who clinically fail to respond to AED therapy due to altered protein binding as a consequence of drug interactions or in special physiologic or pathologic states such as pregnancy, hypoalbuminemia, or hepatic or renal failure. This is only valid for highly protein bound AEDs like for example phenytoin and valproate [4,8].

#### 9.1.1.2 Serum levels of drug metabolites

The evaluation of TDM will be more nuanced when the active metabolites of AEDs also can be taken into account. So far, the role of metabolites is not clarified to that extent. One exception is the role of phenobarbital derived from primidone. Primidone is rapidly converted to phenylethylmalonamide (PEMA) and is more slowly converted to phenobarbital. Most physicians routinely prefer to measure and use the concentration of derived phenobarbital during primidone therapy and both primidone and phenobarbital in certain cases only. Routine determination of PEMA is then unnecessary.

Carbamazepine is also a drug with antiepileptic effect of metabolites, the main metabolite being carbamazepine-10,11-epoxide. The epoxide levels may range from 10% to 50% of the serum levels of the parent compound. However, there is no constant relationship between the concentration of the epoxide and carbamazepine, and the ratio varies during the day in the individual patient and with comedication (60, 80). It is recommended to measure both carbamazepine and the epoxide in clinical trials, but at present measuring the metabolite is not indicated for routine monitoring.

Oxcarbazepine is the keto-derivative of carbamazepine and is rapidly and almost completely metabolized to 10,11-dihydro-10-hydroxycarbazepine, and therefore, the serum level of this metabolite is measured.

More studies are needed to evaluate the relationship between clinical efficacy and serum levels of benzodiazepines and their metabolite [4,8].

#### 9.1.2 Analytical aspects

There has been a long-standing interest in therapeutic monitoring of AEDs, and a variety of techniques have been used for measuring these drugs at biological concentrations. Some methods are developed for research purposes, and some are especially designed for routine analysis. Today most laboratories use chromatographic or immunoassay techniques. Chromatographic methods allow simultaneous quantification of several drugs and often also drug metabolites, in a single run, whereas immunoassays were developed for specific determination of one drug at a time.

Special precautions are necessary when metabolites or several drugs are present. For determination of a single AED, it is therefore, essential that the drug can be analysed in the presence of other AEDs and other medication, and that interference from metabolites can be excluded.

Most measurements of AED concentrations are made on plasma, serum, or whole blood samples. For special investigations, urine, cerebrospinal fluid, saliva, or tears may also be useful.

## 9.1.2.1 Comparison of methods

Several studies are available for comparison of the various techniques used for AED assays. In most cases, there is good agreement. The method of choice for determining AEDs depends on the needs of the individual laboratory.

High performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) is an alternative method that offers several advantages, including fast separation, absence of need for derivatization, good sample stability, and small sample size.

An immunoassay is the choice method in many laboratories engaged in TDM. These assays have several advantages over other currently used methods and are precise, reproducible, and rapid methods for determination of AEDs in micro samples. However, these methods do not have the same screening potential as chromatographic methods, which also can be used for determination of less common AEDs, new drugs, and their metabolites. Furthermore, the reagents used in immunoassays are more costly than those used in chromatographic procedures, but the immunoassays can be performed very rapidly. Thus, it is possible for the physician to know the drug level during examination or when rapid identification, in case of intoxication, is necessary. Small sample volumes are also of considerable importance, in both children and adults, during intensive monitoring. Capillary samples may be used, and a few microliters are sufficient for determination of a single drug, and therefore, simultaneous drug analysis, including metabolites, which is an advantage of certain chromatographic systems, is not possible [15].

#### 9.1.2.2 Quality control

Optimal analytical quality is important for an effective therapy. Otherwise, the patient can easily be mistreated and the analytical technique, as well as the laboratory, can become discredited. Therefore, participation in both internal and external quality control schemes to ensure reliable results is necessary for any laboratory engaged in routine determination of AEDs. International co-operation on voluntary quality control schemes of AEDs has improved the analytical performance of many laboratories engaged in TDM [16–18].

#### 9.1.3 Blood sampling time

An optimal timing of samples is important. Routinely, the sampling time for individual patients should be standardized to ensure comparable conditions. Ideally, the samples

should be taken while drug fasting in the morning; in outpatients, the morning dose can be postponed a couple of hours to ensure this. When toxic symptoms of a drug are suspected during the day, it is best to draw the sample at the time of maximal serum drug level. However, one has to keep in mind that the therapeutic ranges are based on trough levels [19].

# 9.1.4 The therapeutic range

For several AEDs there is a more or less well defined therapeutic serum level range (Table 9.1). This range, however, must not be strictly interpreted, because many of the underlying studies are based on patients with severe epilepsy treated with several AEDs. Controlled studies in patients using one drug only for newly diagnosed or moderate epilepsy are scarce. However, most patients are optimally treated with a drug when its steady-state serum levels are maintained within that range [20–22].

AEDs	Protein binding (%)	Time to peak level (h)	Time to steady-state (days)	Half-life (h)	Therapeutic range (µmol/L)	Conversion factors (F) $(\mu mol/L = F \times \mu g/mL)$
Established AEDs						
Phenytoin	90	2-8	4-8	$6-60^{a}$	40-80	3.96
Phenobarbital	50	2-8	10-35	50-160	50-130	4.31
Primidone	0	1–3	2-5	4-12	30-60	4.58
Carbamazepine	75	4-8 <sup>b</sup>	4–7	8-20	15-45	4.23
Valproate	$78 - 94^{a}$	3-6°	2–4	11-20	300-600	
Ethosuximide	0	3–7	5-10	40-60	300-600	7.08
Clonazepam	82	1–3	5-10	20-60	$60-220^{d}$	3.17
Clobazam	85	1-4	4–7	10-30	0.1 - 1.0	3.33
Desmethylclobazam				35-133	1-10	
Newer AEDs						
Oxcarbazepine <sup>e</sup>	40	6–8	2-3	8-10	50-140	3.96
Vigabatrin	0	1-2	1–2	6–8	6-278	7.74
Lamotrigine	55	1–3	3-15	15-35	10-60	3.90
Felbamate	70	1-4	3–5	14-22	125-250	4.20
Gabapentin	0	2-3	2	5–7	70-120	5.83
Topiramate	15	2–4	4–6	19–23	15-60	2.95
Tiagabine	96	0.5 - 2	2	4-13	50-250	2.66
Levetiracetam	0	1		7–8	35120	5.88
Zonisamide	60	4–7	5-12	50-70	45-180	4.71

TABLE 9.1 PHARMACOKINETIC PARAMETERS OF ANTIEPILEPTIC DRUGS (AEDs).

<sup>a</sup> Concentration dependent.

<sup>b</sup> Plain tablets.

<sup>c</sup> Enteric-coated tablets.

<sup>e</sup> Monohydroxy derivative.

Abbreviations: NE = not established.

References pp. 248–253

d nmol/L.

In mild epilepsy, seizure control may be attained at "subtherapeutic" levels [23–25]. Then the dose should not be increased just to reach the defined therapeutic serum levels. On the other hand, some patients with more severe epilepsy need "supratherapeutic" levels to achieve optimal effects, but then it is often difficult to balance between clinical effect and side effects. The individual patient may also develop side effects with serum levels within the therapeutic range. It is also possible that the optimal serum levels differ according to seizure type. Thus, the dose should be titrated to the "optimal" or "target" serum level for the individual patient.

# 9.2 ESTABLISHED ANTIEPILEPTIC DRUGS

In the following, the most common established and newer AEDs are reviewed with emphasize on their pharmacological characteristics, clinical use, and most frequent side effects pertinent to serum level monitoring. Individual characteristics are shown in Tables 9.1–9.3.

# 9.2.1 Phenobarbital

# 9.2.1.1 Mechanism of action

Phenobarbital prolongs inhibitory postsynaptic potentials by increasing the mean chloride-channel opening time and hence the duration of GABA-induced bursts of neuronal activity [26].

AEDs	Sodium channel blocker	GABA- potentiation	Glutamate- modulation	Calcium channel blocker	Carbonic anhydrase blocker
		F			
Phenytoin	Х				
Carbamazepine	Х				
Oxcarbazepine	Х				
Valproate	Х	Х			
Ethosuximide				Х	
Barbiturates	Х	Х		Х	
phenobarbital, primidone)					
Benzodiazepines		Х			
clonazepam, clobazam)					
Vigabatrin		Х			
Lamotrigine	Х		Х		
Felbamate	Х	Х	Х		
Gabapentin		Х		Х	
Topiramate	Х	Х	Х		Х
Fiagabine		Х			
Levetiracetam		X(?)		X(?)	
Zonisamide	Х	× /		x	Х

TABLE 9.2 PUTATIVE MECHANISMS OF ACTION OF ANTIEPILEPTIC DRUGS (AEDs).

Enzyme-inducing AEDs	Non-enzyme-inducing AEDs	
Carbamazepine	Valproate	
Phenytoin	Vigabatrin	
Phenobarbital	Gabapentin	
Primidone	Lamotrigine	
Oxcarbazepine <sup>1</sup>	Levetiracetam	
Topiramate <sup>1</sup>	Clonazepam	
Felbamate <sup>1</sup>	Clobazam	
	Ethosuximide	
	Tiagabine	
	Zonisamide	

#### TABLE 9.3

ENZYME-INDUCING AND NON-ENZYME-INDUCING	ANTIEPILEPTIC DRUGS (AED).
---	----------------------------

1 Weak enzyme inducer.

# 9.2.1.2 Pharmacokinetics and drug interactions

The bioavailability is almost complete, peak serum levels are usually attained 2–8 h after dose intake. Phenobarbital is about 50% bound to serum proteins. The metabolism of phenobarbital is particularly slow, and variations in the steady-state concentration are therefore small within individual patients on a constant dosage. Approximately 20–40% of a given dose of phenobarbital is excreted unchanged in the urine, the rest is slowly metabolized in the liver. The excretion of phenobarbital is considerably higher when the pH of the urine is alkaline.

The half-life of phenobarbital in serum is 50–160 h in adults; in children it is shorter (30–70 h). The elimination follows first-order kinetics. Pharmacokinetic interactions with phenobarbital are seen frequently. Phenobarbital has enzyme-inducing properties and may thus alter the effect of other medication, and other drugs may also modify the effect of phenobarbital [27–29].

## 9.2.1.3 Clinical use and side effects

Phenobarbital has been used for treating partial and generalized tonic-clonic seizures, and has an efficacy comparable to that of phenytoin and carbamazepine [30]. The drug can also be used in the treatment of neonatal seizures.

Phenobarbital causes few systemic side effects, but its use is limited mainly due to the high rate of sedation and cognitive impairment. Being a barbiturate, phenobarbital can



Fig. 9.1. Phenobarbital.

References pp. 248-253

be associated with physical dependence, and withdrawal can produce a variety of abstinence symptoms and provoke seizures. Treatment with phenobarbital increases the risk of connecting tissue disorders [30].

# 9.2.1.4 Serum levels and therapeutic effect

The therapeutic ranges for the established AEDs are well recognised. For phenobarbital most patients are optimally treated with serum levels within a range of  $50-130 \mu mol/L$  [1,3,4,9].

# 9.2.1.5 Analytical methods

A number of gas chromatographic, liquid chromatographic and immunoassays are available for determination of phenobarbital in biological samples, often simultaneous with other AEDs [15,31–37].

# 9.2.2 Phenytoin

# 9.2.2.1 Mechanism of action

Phenytoin appears to act by inducing voltage- and user-dependent blockade of sodium channels [38].

# 9.2.2.2 Pharmacokinetics and drug interactions

After oral administration, the absorption is rather slow and varies with the chemical form and pharmaceutical formulation employed. Peak serum levels are usually attained within 4–8 h. The serum protein binding is approximately 90%. The metabolism of phenytoin is slow, and the serum concentration is therefore relatively stable during long-term treatment, but between-patient variations do occur, depending mainly on genetic differences, but also on age, sex, and body weight.

The half-life of phenytoin in serum is usually in the order of 15–20 h, but may vary from 6–60 h. The metabolism of phenytoin, however, is limited by the fact that, in many patients, the enzyme system involved becomes saturated in the therapeutic range of concentrations. The half-life, and thus the time needed to attain steady state, increases



Fig. 9.2. Phenytoin.

with concentration. Therefore, stepping up the dose only slightly may lead to a large increase in the serum concentration. The metabolism of phenytoin follows zero-order (Michaelis-Menten) rather than first-order kinetics, and for this reason it would seem inappropriate to estimate any particular half-life of phenytoin. There are considerable individual differences in the phenytoin concentrations that lead to saturation of the drug-metabolizing enzyme system.

Interactions between phenytoin and other drugs occur rather frequently. A particularly important feature of phenytoin in this respect is that it has enzyme-inducing properties which can stimulate the metabolism of other drugs, resulting in lower serum concentrations and reduced therapeutic efficacy. The main interactions are probably those which lead to an inhibition of phenytoin metabolism. Since phenytoin follows non-linear kinetics by virtue of its saturable metabolism, even a slight inhibition on metabolism may lead to a considerable increase in the serum concentration and pharmacological effect [27,29,39].

# 9.2.2.3 Clinical use and side effects

Phenytoin is effective in the treatment of partial and generalized tonic-clonic seizures, but has no documented effect against absence or myoclonic seizures, nor in the Lennox-Gastaut syndrome [30].

Since its introduction, a long list of side effects has emerged including chronic toxicity affecting the nervous system, connective tissues, the endocrine system, hematologic effects and teratogenicity [40]. The acute concentration-dependent neurotoxicity with cerebellar signs and alteration of higher cortical functions, sometimes with exacerbation of epileptic seizures, can probably be avoided with proper drug monitoring. Idiosyncratic reactions are rare, but gingival hyperplasia can be seen in 50% of the patients. Intravenous phenytoin, and recently, also fosphenytoin, has an important role in the treatment of status epilepticus.

# 9.2.2.4 Serum levels and therapeutic effect

Due to the special pharmacokinetic features of phenytoin, accurate titration and use of this drug is very difficult without serum level monitoring. For most patients the optimal serum level is within a range of 40–80  $\mu$ mol/L [1,3,4,9,21,22,41].

# 9.2.2.5 Analytical methods

Phenytoin can be measured by a variety of chromatographic methods and immunoassays [15,31–37].

# 9.2.3 Primidone

#### 9.2.3.1 Mechanism of action

Primidone is rapidly metabolized to phenobarbital, but probably has an antiepileptic effect of its own [42].



Fig. 9.3. Primidone.

### 9.2.3.2 Pharmacokinetics and drug interactions

Following intake of single doses, maximal serum concentrations are attained after 2–5 h, somewhat later during long-term treatment. The bioavailability relative to intravenous administration is unknown since a parenteral formulation is not available. Primidone is bound to serum proteins to a small extent only.

The metabolism of primidone follows first-order kinetics with a half-life of 4-12 h. Primidone is rapidly metabolized to phenylethylmalonamide (PEMA) and more slowly to phenobarbital. PEMA is found in serum 1-2 h after intake of primidone, and it attains maximal serum concentrations after 7-8 h. Since PEMA is not bound to proteins, the concentrations in serum and cerebrospinal fluid are equal. The half-life in serum is 29-39 h.

Phenobarbital is not found in serum until 24–28 h after intake of primidone, and the same concentrations in serum are attained as with standard doses of phenobarbital. There are no quantitative data for urinary excretion of primidone or PEMA.

Since one metabolite of primidone is phenobarbital, the same type of drug interactions as for phenobarbital can be expected. In addition, the comedication of other AEDs like phenytoin, carbamazepine, and phenobarbital may stimulate the metabolism of primidone. Instead of a reduced effect, this may give an increased effect since the long half-life of phenobarbital leads to accumulation of phenobarbital [29].

## 9.2.3.3 Clinical use and side effects

Primidone possesses efficacy for partial and secondarily generalized seizures [30], and is also claimed to show efficacy for juvenile myoclonic epilepsy [43], but convincing evidence is lacking for the primary generalized epilepsies. Primidone has two active metabolites, phenobarbital and PEMA, but primidone probably has an antiepileptic effect of its own, and also side effects such as dizziness and nausea [42]. In the large comparative Veterans Administration Study [30], retention was significantly worse for primidone even compared to phenobarbital, not because of lacking efficacy but the troublesome side effect profile.

#### 9.2.3.4 Serum levels and therapeutic effect

Since primidone is metabolized to phenobarbital, most often the phenobarbital concentration is used as a guide to therapy. Primidone serum levels are usually in the range of  $30-60 \mu$ mol/L [44].



Fig. 9.4. Carbamazepine.

#### 9.2.3.5 Analytical methods

There are several chromatographic methods and immunoassays available for determination of primidone [15,31–37].

#### 9.2.4 Carbamazepine

#### 9.2.4.1 Mechanism of action

Carbamazepine acts by preventing repetitive firing of action potentials in depolarized neurones through voltage- and user-dependent blockade of sodium channels [45].

#### 9.2.4.2 Pharmacokinetics and drug interactions

Controlled-release formulations are absorbed more slowly than conventional tablets and produce more stable serum levels during the day and at night, even when given twice daily as compared with conventional tablets given three times daily. Peak serum concentrations are usually attained within 4–8 h with plain tablets. Carbamazepine is approximately 70–80% bound to serum proteins.

The metabolism of carbamazepine follows first-order kinetics and may vary considerably, resulting in a poor correlation between the dose and the serum concentration. The half-life during long-term treatment is considerably shorter (8–20 h) than following a single dose, due to autoinduction. This may result in "time-dependent" kinetics as the elimination increases gradually the first 3–6 weeks of treatment, necessitating a dose increase at a later stage to maintain the serum concentration. Autoinduction probably depends on the size of the dose, and on whether the patient is also being treated with other enzyme inducers. Carbamazepine is almost completely metabolized, the main metabolite being carbamazepine-10,11-epoxide. In animal studies this epoxide also has an antiepileptic effect of the same order as carbamazepine, and it is assumed also to contribute to the pharmacological effect in man.

Like phenytoin and phenobarbital, carbamazepine is a potent enzyme inducer influencing the metabolism of other drugs. In addition, a number of drugs may change the pharmacokinetic properties of carbamazepine [4,29,39].

# 9.2.4.3 Clinical use and side effects

Carbamazepine is used in the treatment of partial seizures, with or without secondary generalization, and generalized tonic-clonic seizures. The drug is not effective, and may even be deleteroius, in patients with absence and or myoclonic seizures [46].

Concentration-dependent side effects are dominated by drowsiness and cerebellar signs. Cognitive impairment is rarely a problem in non-toxic doses. Skin rash is seen in 5-15% of patients treated with carbamazepine. Haematological, dermatological, endocrinological (hyponatremia is not uncommon), hepatic and cardiac side effects, in rare instances severe, have also been reported [47].

# 9.2.4.4 Serum levels and therapeutic effect

Carbamazepine also has metabolites that have antiepileptic activity, however, only the parent compound is measured routinely. Common therapeutic serum concentrations of carbamazepine are in the range of  $15-45 \mu$ mol/L. [1,3,4,24,48–53].

## 9.2.4.5 Analytical methods

Carbamazepine can be measures by a number of immunoassays and chromatographic techniques [15,31–37]. The latter also allow for determination of carbamazepine metabolites that can be of interest in certain cases.

# 9.2.5 Valproate

# 9.2.5.1 Mechanism of action

VPA probably exerts its effects through several distinct mechanisms. VPA increases the inhibitory neurotransmittor GABA by inhibition of the metabolism of GABA [54,55]. VPA does not affect GABA receptors, but glutamatergic NMDA receptors seem to be inhibited, and in addition the levels of monoamines as serotonin are affected by VPA [55]. Inhibition of voltage-dependent sodium channels which is a common mechanism for many AEDs, has also been suggested for VPA. This statement has, however, lately been questioned, and Löscher [55] concluded that at clinically relevant concentrations, inhibition of sodium currents does not seem to contribute considerably to the antiepileptic action of VPA.

#### 9.2.5.2 Pharmacokinetics and drug interactions

The bioavailability is almost complete for all formulations in common use. Usually, conventional tablets and solutions give peak serum concentrations 1-2h after

Fig. 9.5. Valproate.

administration, enteric coated tablets after 3-6 h, and sustained-release tablets after 10-12 h. Rectal application offers an alternative mode of administration when the drug cannot be given orally.

Valproate is 78–94% bound to serum proteins. The binding is concentrationdependent at serum levels above the therapeutic range. The protein-bound fraction is less in patients with renal disease, chronic liver disease, and other conditions with low albumin concentration.

Due to interindividual differences in metabolism there is a poor correlation between the dose of valproate and the serum concentration, especially in patients who are also receiving other AEDs. The half-life of valproate in serum is 11–20 h, and the substance is almost completely metabolized.

Pharmacokinetic interactions with valproate are seen frequently, and several are of major clinical significance, for instance the inhibition of phenobarbital and lamotrigine metabolism. While valproate inhibits the metabolism of a number of drugs, its own metabolism may also be stimulated be the enzyme-inducing activity of other AEDs, causing the valproate concentration to decrease. It is noteworthy that valproate does not diminish the effect or oral contraceptives, as is the case with enzyme-inducing AEDs [4,28,29].

# 9.2.5.3 Clinical use and side effects

Valproate is effective in patients with all types of epileptic seizures, especially in those with idiopathic generalized epilepsy [56]. Gastrointestinal side effects are seen in up to 25% of the patients, probably less if the enteric-coated formulation is used. Concentration-dependent tremor occurs in about 10% of the patients treated with valproate. Weight gain is not uncommon and hair loss [57], sometimes with regrowth of curly or differently coloured hair may occur. Valproate therapy has been associated with fatal hepatotoxicity, predominantly when used as part of polytherapy in young children, but with a rapidly decreasing incidence with age and when used as monotherapy [58]. Valproate can probably cause amenorrhea and polcystic ovary syndrome [59].

# 9.2.5.4 Serum levels and therapeutic effect

Most patients are optimally treated with serum concentrations of valproate within a range of  $300-600 \mu$ mol/L. For valproate it is of special importance to draw drug fasting blood samples in the morning due to the wide fluctuations in the serum levels [60–62].

#### 9.2.5.5 Analytical methods

Various chromatographic methods and immunoassays are available for measurement of valproate in biological samples [15,34,36,37,63–66].

# 9.2.6 Ethosuximide

#### 9.2.6.1 Mechanism of action

Ethosuximide acts by reducing low-threshold, transient, voltage-dependent calcium conductance in thalamic neurones [67].


Fig. 9.6. Ethosuximide.

#### 9.2.6.2 Pharmacokinetics and drug interactions

The gastrointestinal absorption is relatively rapid. Maximal serum concentrations are attained 3–7 h after intake during long-term treatment, somewhat earlier after a single dose. The bioavailability is similar for capsules and suspension, but the suspension is more rapidly absorbed. The protein binding of ethosuximide is insignificant. In animals the concentration in brain tissue and in serum is comparable, but this has not been investigated in man. Ethosuximide is evenly distributed to various organs and body fluids.

The metabolism of ethosuximide is slow, and the serum concentration therefore, is relatively stable even if the drug is given only once a day. The correlation between the dosage in mg/kg body weight and the serum concentration is rather good in comparable groups. The interindividual differences, however, are so great that it is not possible to predict the serum concentration following a certain dosage in a patient. The elimination of ethosuximide follows first-order kinetics, and the half-life in adults is 40–60 h, in children about 30 h. Ethosuximide is metabolized to a great extent, and only 12–20% of a given dose is found in the urine as native substance. The molecule contains an asymmetric C atom, and the commercial preparation is a mixture of the two isomers being metabolized with the same rate. The main metabolites are 2-(1-hydroxyethyl)–2-methylsuximide, 2-(2-hydroxyethyl)2-methylsuximide and a ketone derivate, 2-acetyl-2-methylsuximide. None of the metabolites have antiepileptic activity.

The excretion of ethosuximide is rather slow, and since the protein binding is minimal, this suggests that there is a considerable tubular reabsorption. During long-term treatment, about 60–80% of the dose can be traced in urine as ethosuximide and free conjugated metabolites.

Interactions with ethosuximide are rarely seen. The main interaction is with valproate which may increase the serum concentration of ethosuximide, probably by an inhibition of the metabolism which in single cases may lead to intoxication. In contrast to many other AEDs, there is no basis for ethosuximide having enzyme-inducing properties [28].

#### 9.2.6.3 Clinical use and side effects

Ethosuximide has a clearly defined role in the treatment of primarily generalized absence seizures, typically seen in childhood absence epilepsy [68]. It has no proven effect against partial, tonic-clonic or other seizure types. Its anti-absence effect is reported to equal that of valproate [69].

The most commonly reported dose-dependent side effects, in up to 40% of the patients, are gastrointestinal discomfort, drowsiness, dizziness, and headache, but controlled trials are sparse [70].

#### 9.2.6.4 Serum levels and therapeutic effect

In most patients, the therapeutic range of serum levels for ethosuximide is  $300-600 \mu$ mol/L [1,3,4,71].

#### 9.2.6.5 Analytical methods

A number of methods can be applied for analysis of ethosuximide [15,31–37,72].

#### 9.2.7 Clonazepam

#### 9.2.7.1 Mechanism of action

The mechanism of action of clonazepam involves GABA potentiation [73].

#### 9.2.7.2 Pharmacokinetics and drug interactions

Following oral intake, clonazepam is rapidly absorbed and maximal serum concentrations are usually attained within 1–3 h, sometimes after 9 h. The bioavailability is on average 80–90%. The protein binding in serum is about 82%. Clonazepam is rapidly distributed to various organs and tissue.

As with other drugs which are metabolized to a great extent, the relationship between the doses and the serum concentrations is poor for clonazepam. The half-life of clonazepam is 20–60 h. Clonazepam is mainly metabolized by a reduction to 7-aminoclonazepam and by acetylation to 7-acetamido-clonazepam. The metabolism follows first-order kinetics as for diazepam. Hydroxy-metabolites have also been identified. None of the metabolites appears to have antiepileptic effect. The excretion of unaltered clonazepam in urine is usually less than 1% of the given dose, but the above mentioned metabolites account for about 25% as free or conjugated compounds.



Fig. 9.7. Clonazepam.

References pp. 248-253

As for diazepam several AEDs like phenytoin, phenobarbital, primidone, and carbamazepine may stimulate the metabolism of clonazepam, resulting in lower serum concentrations and a decreased clinical effect. The effect of benzodiazepines on the metabolism of other AEDs is not fully established. Clonazepam does not seem to alter the serum concentration of phenytoin, phenobarbital or carbamazepine [73,74].

# 9.2.7.3 Clinical use and side effects

Clonazepam has a broad spectrum of antiepileptic activity. Its efficacy has been demonstrated in double-blind studies for absences [75], atypical absences, myoclonus, and partial and tonic-clonic seizures [76]. Problems with clonazepam are a high incidence of side effects, mainly drowsiness and dizziness, development of tolerance, and frequent unwanted effects related to discontinuation of the drug [73]. These include exacerbation of seizures, insomnia, restlessness and dysphoria.

# 9.2.7.4 Serum levels and therapeutic effect

The documentation for clonazepam is rather poor. Development of pharmacodynamic tolerance to the sedative effects of barbiturates and also to clinical efficacy of benzodiazepines makes the interpretation of serum levels even more complicated. A therapeutic range of  $60-220 \mu mol/L$  has been suggested [74,77].

# 9.2.7.5 Analytical methods

Various methods are available for quantification of clonazepam [4,78-80].

# 9.2.8 Clobazam

# 9.2.8.1 Mechanism of action

Clobazam is a 1,5-substituted benzodiazepine. The mechanism of action is difficult to define since the drug has various effects. Probably, the major antiepileptic effects are



Fig. 9.8. Clobazam.

related to binding to one or more specific GABA-receptors, increasing GABA-mediated inhibition [81].

# 9.2.8.2 Pharmacokinetics and drug interactions

The bioavailability of clobazam is good, and after single doses peak serum levels are attained within 1-4 h. The protein binding is 85%. The mean half-life is 18 h, ranging from 10-30 h. The principle metabolite, N-desmethylclobazam, has a much longer half-life (35-133 h), and after steady-state has been reached, the serum levels of the metabolite are at least 8 times higher than those of the parent compound [82]. The elimination follows first order kinetics. It appears to be a linear relationship between the dose and the serum level of clobazam as well as of the metabolite, but with major interindividual differences.

In general, pharmacokinetic changes of major AEDs are uncommon [83].

# 9.2.8.3 Clinical use and side effects

Clobazam is effective in the treatment of patients with partial and generalized seizures [84]. The main metabolite, N-desmethylclobazam, also possesses antiepileptic properties with about one-quarter the potency of the parent compound.

Sedation and dizziness are the most prominent side effects, other side effects are mood changes, with occational irritability, depression, aggression, and disinhibition, especially in patients with mental retardation. Development of tolerance to the antiepileptic effect is often a problem, but can sometimes be overcome by increasing the dose, and may be prevented by giving the drug intermittently.

# 9.2.8.4 Serum levels and therapeutic effect

In patients treated with clobazam therapeutic serum concentrations are in the order of  $0.1-1.0 \mu$ mol/L for the parent drug and  $1-10 \mu$ mol/L for the metabolite, desmethylclobazam [85,86].

# 9.2.8.5 Analytical methods

Various chromatographic methods have been employed for analysis of clobazam [15,79,87].

# 9.3 NEWER ANTIEPILEPTIC DRUGS

# 9.3.1 Oxcarbazepine

# 9.3.1.1 Mechanism of action

Oxcarbazepine is the keto-derivative of carbamazepine and was developed by introducing minimal changes in the structure of carbamazepine to change the metabolism to avoid the epoxide metabolite. At least part of the antiepileptic effect of oxcarbazepine seems to be based on interactions with sodium and potassium channels [88].



Fig. 9.9. Oxcarbazepine.

# 9.3.1.2 Pharmacokinetics and drug interactions

In man, oxcarbazepine is rapidly and almost completely metabolized to 10,11-dihydro-10-hydroxycarbamazepine (MHD), which has independent antiepileptic properties. Peak serum levels of the metabolite are attained at about 8 h. The half-life is in the order of 8–10 h. The protein binding of oxcarbazepine is about 67%, whereas that of the metabolite is only about 38% [4,89].

Unlike the established AEDs, oxcarbazepine and its major active metabolite are cleared from the human body mainly by non-oxidative processes undependent of the cytochrome P-450 system. Compared with carbamazepine there is less risk that oxcarbazepine will influence the kinetics of other drugs. Oxcarbazepine does not modify the anticoagulant effect of warfarin, whereas a clinically significant reduction of contraceptive drug levels and efficacy have been observed. Furthermore, in contrast to carbamazepine, oxcarbazepine does not influence its own metabolism after repeated administration [90].

# 9.3.1.3 Clinical use and side effects

Oxcarbazepine exerts antiepileptic effects similar to carbamazepine [91]. Severe side effects are less pronounced with oxcarbazepine compared to carbamazepine, particularly rash [92]. When prescribing oxcarbazepine in patients who have developed rash on carbamazepine, the risk of cross-allergy is about 25%. Oxcarbazepine may cause hyponatremia more frequently than carbamazepine, but this effect is usually mild and asymptomatic.

# 9.3.1.4 Serum levels and therapeutic effect

The target range of serum levels for the active metabolite of oxcarbazepine, MHD, has not yet been well defined. Similar concentrations have been noted in groups of patients with optimal treatment and in non-responders [93,94]. Side effects were more frequent at serum concentrations of 140 to 160  $\mu$ mol/L). A retrospective analysis of sera from 947 patients treated with oxcarbazepine resulted in mean MHD serum concentration of 20  $\mu$ mol/L with a wide range of 12–160  $\mu$ mol/L [92], but the relation to effects and toxicity was not analyzed in detail.

A tentative target range for MHD of 50–140 µmol/L has been suggested [95].

#### 9.3.1.5 Analytical methods

There are numerous chromatographic methods for the measurement of MHD in sera [96–99]. More recently, with the enantiomeric characterisation of MHD, enanatiose-lective liquid chromatographic techniques have also become available [100–102].

#### 9.3.2 Vigabatrin

#### 9.3.2.1 Mechanism of action

Vigabatrin, a synthetic GABA derivative, is an enzyme-activated, irreversible inhibitor of GABA-transaminase and results from a systematic search into possible ways of increasing GABA-ergic inhibition through interference with GABA metabolism. The drug is a racemic mixture, only the S(+)-enantiomer being pharmacologically active [103].

#### 9.3.2.2 Pharmacokinetics and drug interactions

After oral administration of vigabatrin peak serum levels are attained within about 2 h. Vigabatrin enters CSF and produces dose-dependent increases in GABA concentrations in CSF. Vigabatrin is not bound to serum proteins, and no metabolites have been identified in man. The terminal half-life is between 6–8 h. Vigabatrin is excreted unchanged primarily in the urine, and thus, patients with renal impairment are likely to require lower doses. At clinical doses there is pharmacokinetic dose-linearity.

Due to the irreversible mode of action of the drug, the serum half-life bears practically no relationship to the duration of pharmacological effect. Because of the long-lasting GABA-transaminase inhibition, the antiepileptic effect of vigabatrin long outlasts its presence in serum.

No drug interactions have been observed with vigabatrin and other AEDs or other drug classes except for a decrease in phenytoin serum levels in some patients that was of no clinical significance. [104].

#### 9.3.2.3 Clinical use and side effects

Vigabatrin has shown efficacy as add-on in the treatment of partial seizures and secondary generalized seizures [103]. The drug is also effective in children with infantile spasms.

Vigabatrin may worsen myoclonic seizures. Immunologic/allergic side effects seem to be rare, but sedation, dizziness, headache, depression and weight gain are reported. Psycosis has been reported in 3–6% of patients. Recently, it has been discovered that

COOH NH-

Fig. 9.10. Vigabatrin.

References pp. 248–253

irreversible visual field defects occur in about one-third of treated patients [105], and this has resulted in much less prescribing of the drug.

# 9.3.2.4 Serum levels and therapeutic effect

In contrast to most other AEDs, monitoring of serum levels of vigabatrin is not suitable as a guide to therapy due to its mechanism of action. For checking compliance a tentative range of  $6-278 \mu mol/L$  has been suggested [95,106,107].

# 9.3.2.5 Analytical methods

Several liquid chromatographic methods are reported for measuring vigabatrin in serum [108–114].

# 9.3.3 Lamotrigine

# 9.3.3.1 Mechanism of action

Lamotrigine, a phenyltriazine derivative, is unrelated to currently available AEDs and was developed in an effort to find antifolate drugs. Such a search was based on the hypothesis that compounds which interfere with folate metabolism may be antiepileptic. However, lamotrigine has only weak antifolate activity, and most likely acts via a use-dependent blockade of voltage-sensitive sodium channels and consequently, inhibits the release of excitatory amino acids, especially glutamate. In animal models lamotrigine shows a spectrum of activity similar to that of phenytoin [115].

#### 9.3.3.2 Pharmacokinetics and drug interactions

Lamotrigine is readily absorbed from the gastrointestinal tract, and peak serum levels are usually attained within 1-3 h. The bioavailability is virtually complete. The serum protein binding is about 55%. In monotherapy the half-life is 15-35 h. Enzyme-inducing AEDs shorten the half-life to an average of 15 h. Conversely, lamotrigine metabolism is inhibited by valproate, prolonging the half-life to an average of 60 h.

When VPA is given in addition to lamotrigine monotherapy, the serum level of lamotrigine may be doubled or more since the half-life of lamotrigine is considerably increased as mentioned above. Regarding drug interactions, lamotrine does not appear to affect significantly the pharmacokinetics of concurrently administered AEDs, although there is conflicting evidence regarding a possible influence on the serum levels



Fig. 9.11. Lamotrigine.

of carbamazepine-epoxide. If side effects occur when a patient is treated with lamotrigine as add-on to carbamazepine, these side effects will usually disappear if the dosage of carbamazepine is reduced. Lamotrigine does not interfere with the efficacy of oral contraceptive agents or warfarin [116]. On the other hand, oral contraceptives can lower the serum concentration of lamotrigine by 50% [117].

# 9.3.3.3 Clinical use and side effects

Lamotrigine is effective in the treatment of partial seizures with or without secondary generalization, and in generalized tonic-clonic seizures [118]. There is also growing evidence of efficacy for absence, atypical absence, myoclonic and atonic seizures and for the Lennox-Gastaut syndrome.

The side effects of lamotrigine are dominated by rash, headache, nausea and vomiting, diplopia, dizziness, ataxia and tremor [119]. The risk of development of severe dermatological hypersensitivity reactions is a problem, especially in patients who are treated with a too high starting dose, rapid dose escalation, and comedication with the enzyme inhibitor valproate.

# 9.3.3.4 Serum levels and therapeutic effect

Based on comparative efficacy data of lamotrigine with that of phenytoin in animal models and the lamotrigine concentrations observed during its clinical evaluation, the target range for lamotrigine was initially set at  $4-16 \,\mu$ mol/L. However, clinical experience now suggests that this range is too low since doses and serum concentrations in excess of those achieved in the clinical trials of lamotrigine are tolerated with good clinical effect. There is growing evidence of the importance of measuring lamotrigine serum concentrations, and a target range of 10–60  $\mu$ mol/L is now suggested [95,120].

# 9.3.3.5 Analytical methods

Many liquid chromatographic methods have been described for the assay of lamotrigine [121–125].

# 9.3.4 Gabapentin

# 9.3.4.1 Mechanism of action

Gabapentin is a new chemical compound designed as a structural analog of GABA that is effective in the treatment of partial seizures. In contrast to GABA, gabapentin readily



Fig. 9.12. Gabapentin.

References pp. 248–253

penetrates the blood-brain barrier. In man, gabapentin has been demonstrated to increase GABA concentrations [126]. Most probably the mechanism of action is related to events modulated through its interaction with a receptor thought to be associated with the L-system amino acid carrier protein. However, the primary mechanism of action remains to be defined [127].

# 9.3.4.2 Pharmacokinetics and drug interactions

Gabapentin is rapidly absorbed from the gastrointestinal tract, and peak serum levels are attained 2-3 h after a single dose. The bioavailability is, however, reduced up to 24% if certain antacids are taken concomitantly. The absolute bioavailability is at least 60%. Absorption kinetics are dose-dependent, possible due to a saturable transport system. The drug is not bound to serum proteins. Gabapentin is not metabolized and is eliminated unchanged by the kidney. The elimination half-life is about 5-7 h after a single oral dose. Renal impairment reduces drug clearance and increases the serum levels of gabapentin in a linear fashion.

Gabapentin is devoid of enzyme-inducing properties. Since the drug is not protein bound and almost completely eliminated by renal excretion, gabapentin does not appear to be involved in significant pharmacokinetic interactions with other drugs. It is unlikely that gabapentin reduces the efficacy of oral contraceptives [127,128].

# 9.3.4.3 Clinical use and side effects

Gabapentin is effective in the treatment of patients with refractory partial epilepy, and its antiepileptic effect is probably dose-related. The doses in these studies ranged between 600 and 1800 mg/day, but in open studies doses up to 3600 mg/day have been used.

The most common side effects are somnolence and dizziness, to a lesser extent ataxia, fatigue, headache, tremor and diplopia. Psychometric testing has not revealed cognitive impairment [127,129].

# 9.3.4.4 Serum levels and therapeutic effect

Wide ranges of gabapentin serum concentrations have been reported to be associated with optimal seizure control. A tentative target range of  $70-120 \mu mol/L$  has been suggested [95,130].

# 9.3.4.5 Analytical methods

Various gas chromatographic and liquid chromatographic procedures are reported for the determination of gabapentin in serum [112,113,131–133], and more recently mass spectroscopic detection has been employed with both gas and liquid chromatography [134,135].

# 9.3.5 Topiramate

#### 9.3.5.1 Mechanism of action

Topiramate, a sulfamate-substituted monosaccharide, has multiple modes of action including modulation of voltage-dependent sodium channels, potentiation of GABAergic inhibition at a novel site on the GABAA receptor and a possible action at non-N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptors [136]. The drug is also a weak inhibitor of carbonic anhydrase although this effect is unlikely to contribute to its anticonvulsant properties.

#### 9.3.5.2 Pharmacokinetics and drug interactions

After oral administration of topiramate peak serum levels are attained within 2–4 h and are linearly related to dose, but with large interindividual variation. The binding to serum proteins is about 15%, and the half-life of is 19–23 h. Topiramate is mainly excreted unchanged in urine. No significant interactions have been reported with regard to the effect of topiramate on carbamazepine, phenytoin, or valproate, although some patients attain higher phenytoin serum levels when topiramate is added to their drug regime. On the contrary, phenytoin and carbamazepine significantly lower the serum levels of topiramate. Topiramate may reduce serum oestrogen levels in patients receiving oral contraceptives [137,138].

# 9.3.5.3 Clinical use and side effects

Topiramate is used in the treatment of partial seizures [139]. The efficacy in primary generalized epilepsy in adults and children, and also in Lennox-Gastaut syndrome, is promissing.

Side effects have been frequent in the first studies, but are claimed to become less if topiramate is started with a low dose and slow titration phase. Side effects are mainly fatigue, headache, weight loss, dizziness, emotional lability, thinking abnormal, depression, confusion and anxiety. The risk of renal calculi is 1-2%.

#### 9.3.5.4 Serum levels and therapeutic effect

A wide range of doses and serum concentrations of topiramate has been associated with optimal clinical response [107,140]. Recently, Christensen et al. [141] reported the results of a concentration-response trial of topiramate treatment investigated in a tripleblind, concentration-controlled, parallel-group design, randomising 65 patients to one of



Fig. 9.13. Topiramate.

References pp. 248-253

three pre-specified serum levels ( $low = 6 \mu mol/L$ , medium = 31  $\mu mol/L$  and high = 56  $\mu mol/L$ ). Patients assigned to the medium serum concentration had the best outcome with regard to seizure reduction and those in the medium and high groups experienced more adverse events than patients in the low group.

A tentative target range of 15–60  $\mu$ mol/L is suggested even though most patients will probably have serum concentrations in the low to mid range with the dose regimen used today.

#### 9.3.5.5 Analytical methods

Capillary and gas chromatographic methods have described the determination of topiramate [142–144] and also chromatographic methods with MS detection [145–148]. An immunoassay is also commercially available [149].

# 9.3.6 Felbamate

#### 9.3.6.1 Mechanism of action

Felbamate is a dicarbamate derivative. Its activity is mediated by several mechanisms, including inhibition of voltage-sensitive sodium and calcium channels, reduction of glutamergic transmission through modulation of NMDA receptors, and potentiation of GABA transmission [150].

#### 9.3.6.2 Pharmacokinetics and drug interactions

After oral administration, felbamate is readily absorbed from the gastrointestinal tract, and peak serum levels are attained with 1–4 h. The binding to serum proteins is 24–35. The elimination half-life is about 20 h when the drug is given alone, decreasing to about 14 h in patients who are also taking enzyme-inducing AEDs.

Several clinically important drug interactions are observed when felbamate is used concomitantly with other AEDs. Phenytoin and valproate serum levels can increase by



Fig. 9.14. Felbamate.

20–40% or more when felbamate is added. In contrast, carbamazepine serum levels decrease by about 20% when felbamate is added. Felbamate serum levels may be lowered by the concomitant use of other enzyme-inducing AEDs [128,151].

# 9.3.6.3 Clinical use and side effects

Felbamate possesses efficacy in the treatment of complex partial seizures [152] and is also effective in the Lennox-Gastaut syndrome [153].

The most common side effects are anorexia, vomiting, insomnia, nausia, and headache. Recent observations of fatal aplastic anemia and hepatotoxicity have halted a wider use of felbamate.

# 9.3.6.4 Serum levels and therapeutic effect

Although overall there is a lack of data from prospective studies, seizure control seems to be related to serum concentrations. Indeed monitoring felbamate concentrations may be particularly useful since serum concentrations are not easily predicted from administered dosages, and also felbamate appears to have a narrow therapeutic window. A tentative target range for optimum treatment ranging from 125 to 250 µmol/L has been suggested [95,152,154,155].

# 9.3.6.5 Analytical methods

A number of liquid chromatographic methods [156–159] and gas chromatographic [160] methods are available to measure felbamate in biological samples.

# 9.3.7 Tiagabine

# 9.3.7.1 Mechanism of action

Tiagabine consists of nipecotic acid linked by an aliphatic chain to a lipophilic anchor and is structurally different from other AEDs. Its mode of action is considered to be mediated by inhibition of GABA reuptake from the synaptic cleft. The lipophilic portion of the tiagabine molecule permits penetration across the blood-brain barrier. Tiagabine is a potent AED in several rodent models [161].

# 9.3.7.2 Pharmacokinetics and drug interactions

After oral administration the absorption of tiagabine is very rapid with peak serum levels attained within 1 h. The protein binding is very high (96%). The elimination half-



Fig. 9.15. Tiagabine.

References pp. 248–253

life is quite variable, ranging from 4–13 h with an average of about 7 h and is even shorter in patients also treated with enzyme-inducing drugs. Tiagabine is extensively metabolized. There is no evidence of dose dependent kinetics.

Tiagabine has a low potential for causing drug interactions as there are no clinically relevant interactions with other drugs, including oral contraceptives. However, carbamazepine and phenytoin induce the metabolism of tiagabine [162].

# 9.3.7.3 Clinical use and side effects

Tiagabine is used in the treatment of partial epilepsy with or without secondary generalization [163]. The most prominent side effects are dizziness, asthenia, nervousness, tremor, diarrhea, depression and emotional lability [164].

# 9.3.7.4 Serum levels and therapeutic effect

Although the relationship between dose and serum concentration is linear, there are large intra-individual and inter-individual variations in serum concentration. Also, there are large inter-dose fluctuations in serum concentration (attributable to the short elimination half-life of tiagabine). However, information on the concentration-effect relations with tiagabine is scarce. A tentative target trough range of 50–250  $\mu$ mol/L has been suggested [95,165,166].

# 9.3.7.5 Analytical methods

Some chromatographic methods have been described for determination of tiagabine [167–169]. The determination of tiagabine is quite demanding with concentrations in the nanomolar range.

# 9.3.8 Levetiracetam

# 9.3.8.1 Mechanism of action

Levetiracetam is the active, water-soluble (S) enantiomer of a racemic pyrrolodine acetamide. The mechanism of action of levetiracetam has not been determined, but it does bind exclusively to animal brain tissue. Binding studies to known receptors, however, have been negative [170].

# 9.3.8.2 Pharmacokinetics and drug interactions

After oral administration, levetiracetam is completely absorbed. In healthy volunteers, the time of maximum serum concentration of the drug is approximately 1 h, and the



Fig. 9.16. Levetiracetam.

half-life is 7–8 h. The major metabolite accounts for one quarter of the administered dose and has been found to be inactive. Two thirds are excreted unchanged in the urine. No significant pharmacokinetic interactions with other AEDs have been identified. Its elimination is reduced in patients with renal dysfuntion [171,172].

# 9.3.8.3 Clinical use and side effects

Levetiracetam is effective in the treatment of partial seizures with or without generalisation to tonic clonic seizures [173]. The most frequently reported side effects are drowsiness, tiredness, asthenia, and dizziness of mild to moderate severity with a dose dependent increase in incidence [174,175].

# 9.3.8.4 Serum levels and therapeutic effect

The relationship between levetiracetam serum concentrations and clinical effect has not been ascertained and consequently, the value of serum concentration measurements has not been established. However, there may well be potential useful applications of drug monitoring of levetiracetam in addition to ascertaining compliance.

A tentative target range for levetiracetam of  $35-120 \mu$ mol/L has been suggested [95,176].

# 9.3.8.5 Analytical methods

Levetiracetam can be measured in body fluids using chromatographic methods [177,178].

# 9.3.9 Zonisamide

# 9.3.9.1 Mechanism of action

Zonisamide is a benzisoxazole sulfonamide that is a relatively weak inhibitor of carbonic anhydrase which in animal models displays antiepileptic effects similar to those of phenytoin and carbamazepine [179].

# 9.3.9.2 Pharmacokinetics and drug interactions

Zonisamide is well absorbed from the gastrointestinal tract, and after oral intake peak serum levels are obtained within 4–7 h. The drug is extensively accumulated in erythrocytes. The serum protein binding is about 60% which decreases with increasing serum levels when the drug is given in therapeutic doses. The half-life is 50–70 h in

CH<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>2</sub>NH<sub>2</sub>

Fig. 9.17. Zonisamide.

References pp. 248–253

monotherapy patients. Enzyme inducing AEDs reduce the half-life to 25–35 h. Zonisamide exhibits non-linear kinetics.

Regarding drug interactions, the metabolism of zonisamide is induced by other AEDs. In contrast, zonisamide serum levels decrease only slightly when valproate is given in addition to zonisamide [179,180].

#### 9.3.9.3 Clinical use and side effects

Zonisamide is effective for partial seizures with or without secondary generalization and may also be effective in generalized epilepsy.

The most frequent side effects are drowsiness, ataxia, anorexia, and gastrointestinal complaints. Renal calculi is seen in approximately 2% of patients in the USA and Europe as compared to a much lower incidence in Japanese patients [180].

# 9.3.9.4 Serum levels and therapeutic effect

No clear relationship between zonisamide serum concentrations and clinical response has yet been found, and there is considerable overlap of serum concentrations between seizure free patients and nonresponders as well as those associated with seizure control and side effects. Thus optimal outcomes can occur both below and above the range [180,181]. Nevertheless, a tentative target range of 45–180  $\mu$ mol/L has been suggested [181,182].

# 9.3.9.5 Analytical methods

Several liquid chromatographic methods have been described for the measurement of zonisamide in serum [183–187]. There is also a micellar electrokinetic capillary chromatographic method with diode array detection [188] and a commercially available immunoassay [189].

# 9.4 REFERENCES

- 1 I.A. Choonara and A. Rane, Clin. Pharmacokinet., 18 (1990) 318–328.
- 2 M.J. Eadie, Ther. Drug Monit., 16 (1994) 458–468.
- 3 R.H. Mattson, Epilepsia, 36 (1995) 22–29.
- 4 S.I. Johannessen, in: R.H. Levy, R.H. Mattson and B.S. Meldrum (Eds.), Antiepileptic drugs (4th ed.), Raven Press, New York, 1995, 179–187.
- 5 P.J.W. McKee and M.J. Brodie, in: J. Engel Jr. and T.A. Pedley (Eds.), Epilepsy: A comprehensive textbook. Lippincott-Raven, New York, 1998, 1181–1194.
- 6 E. Perucca, Clin. Pharmacokinet., 38 (2000) 191–204.
- 7 T. Tomson and S.I. Johannessen. Eur. J. Clin. Pharmacol., 55 (2000) 697–705.
- 8 Commission on Antiepileptic Drugs. Epilepsia, 34 (1993) 585–587.
- 9 F. Buchthal and O. Svensmark. Epilepsia, 1 (1960) 373–384.
- 10 W.H. Pitlick, Antiepileptic drug interactions. Demos Publications, New York, 1989.
- 11 H. Kutt, in: E. Wyllie (Ed.), The treatment of epilepsy. Principles and practice. Lea & Febiger, Philadelphia/London, 1993, 775–784.

- 12 P. Patsalos and J.S. Duncan. Drug Safety, 9 (1993) 156–184.
- 13 C.E. Pippenger, J.K. Penry and H. Kutt, Antiepileptic drugs: Quantitative analysis and interpretation. Raven Press, New York, 1978.
- 14 J.W.A. Meijer, Acta Neurol. Scand., 83 (1991).
- 15 S.I. Johannessen, in: R.H. Levy, R.H. Mattson and B.S. Meldrum (Eds.), Antiepileptic drugs (4th ed.), Raven Press, New York, 1995, 243–270.
- 16 C.E. Pippenger, J.K. Penry, B.G. White, D.D. Daly and R. Buddington, Arch. Neurol., 35 (1976) 351–355.
- 17 J.F. Wilson, L.M. Tsanaclis, J. Williams, J.E. Tedstone and A. Richens, Ther. Drug Monit., 11 (1989) 185–195.
- 18 J.F. Wilson, L.M. Tsanaclis, J.E. Perrett, J. Williams, J.F. Wicks and A. Richens, Ther. Drug Monit., 14 (1992) 98–106.
- 19 S.I. Johannessen. Ther. Drug Monit., 3 (1981) 17–37.
- 20 F.J.E. Vaida and J. Aicardi. Dev. Med. Child Neurol., 25 (1983) 660-671.
- 21 D.M. Turnbull, M.D. Rawlins, D. Weightman and D.W. Chadwick, J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry, 47 (1984) 231–234.
- 22 D. Schmidt, I. Einicke and F. Haenel. Arch. Neurol., 43 (1986) 263–265.
- 23 S.D. Shorvon, A.W. Galbraith, M. Laundy, L. Vydelingum and E.H. Reynolds, in: S.I. Johannessen. P.L. Morselli, C.E. Pippenger, A. Richens, D. Schmidt and H. Meinardi (Eds.), Antiepileptic therapy: advances in drug monitoring, Raven Press, New York, 1980, 213–220.
- 24 R.E. Strandjord and S.I. Johannessen, in: S.I. Johannessen. P.L. Morselli, C.E. Pippenger, A. Richens, D. Schmidt and H. Meinardi (Eds.), Antiepileptic therapy: advances in drug monitoring. Raven Press, New York, 1980, 229–235.
- 25 H. Kutt and J.K. Penry. Arch. Neurol., 31 (1974) 283–288.
- 26 R.E. Twyman, C.J. Rogers and R.L. Macdonald, Ann. Neurol., 25 (1989) 213–220.
- 27 S.I. Johannessen, Behav. Neurol., 3 (1990) 1–11.
- 28 D. Battino, M. Estienne and G. Avanzini, Clin. Pharmocokinet., 29 (1995a) 257–286.
- 29 M.J. Brodie and M.A. Dichter, N. Eng.J. Med., 334 (1996) 168–175.
- 30 R.H. Mattson, J.A. Cramer, J.F. Collins, D.B. Smith, A. Delgado-Escueta, T.R. Browne, P.D. Williamson, D.M. Treiman, J.O. McNamara and C.B. McCutchen, N. Eng.J. Med., 313 (1985) 145–151.
- 31 B. Rambeck and J.W.A. Meijer, Arzneim. Forsch., 29 (1979) 99–103.
- 32 B. Rambeck and J.W.A. Meijer, Ther. Drug Monit., 2 (1980) 385–396.
- 33 B. Rambeck, M. Riedmann and J.W.A. Meijer, Ther. Drug Monit., 3 (1981) 377–395.
- J.W.A. Meijer, B. Rambeck and M. Riedman, Ther. Drug Monit., 5 (1983) 39–53.
- 35 N. Wad, J. Chromatogr., 305 (1984) 127–133.
- 36 S.T. Wang and F. Peter, Clin. Chem., 31 (1985) 493–494.
- 37 K.C. Thomas, D.A. Hullin and S.J. Davis, Ther. Drug Monit., 13 (1991) 172–176.
- 38 M.E. Seltzer, Ann. Neurol., 3 (1978) 202–206.
- 39 D. Battino, M. Estienne and G. Avanzini. Clin. Pharmocokinet., 29 (1995b) 241–369.
- 40 J. Bruni and B.J. Wilder, in: P.J. Vinken and G. Bruyn (Eds.), Handbook of clinical neurology, Vol. 37: Intoxications of the nervous system, Part 20, North-Holland, New York, 1979, 199–222.
- 41 L. Lund, Arch. Neurol., 31 (1974) 289–294.
- 42 B.B. Gallagher, I.P. Baumel, R.H. Mattson and S.G. Woodbury, Neurology, 23 (1973) 145–149.
- 43 D. Janz, Acta Neurol. Scand., 72 (1985) 449–459.
- 44 D.D. Schottelius and R.W. Fincham, in: C.E. Pippenger, J.K. Penry and H. Kutt (Eds.), Antiepileptic drugs: quantitative analysis and interpretation, Raven Press, New York, 1978, 273–282.
- 45 M.J. McLean and R.L. MacDonald, J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther., 238 (1986) 727–738.
- 46 O.C. Snead and L.C. Hosey, N. Engl. J. Med., 313 (1985) 916–921.
- 47 G.L. Holmes, in: R.H. Levy, R.H. Mattson and B.S. Meldrum (Eds.), Antiepileptic drugs (4th ed.), Raven Press, New York, 1995, 567–579.
- 48 J.J. Cereghino, in: J.K. Penry and D.D. Daly (Eds.), Advances in neurology, Vol 11, Raven Press, New York, 1975, 309–329.
- 49 M. Dam, A. Jensen and J. Christiansen, Acta Neurol. Scand., 60 (1975) 33–38.

- 50 M. Eichelbaum, L. Bertilsson, L. Lund, J. Palmer and F. Sjöqvist, Eur. J. Clin. Pharmacol., 9 (1976) 417–421.
- 51 F. Monaco, A. Riccio, P. Benna, A. Covacich, L. Durelli, M. Fantini, P.M. Furlan, M. Gilli, R. Mutani, W. Troni, M. Gerna and P.L. Morselli, Neurology, 26 (1976) 936–943.
- 52 N. Callaghan, M. O'Callaghan, B. Duggan and M. Feely, J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry, 41 (1978) 907–912.
- 53 J.F. Schoeman, A.A. Elyas, E.M. Brett and P.T. Lascelles, Dev. Med. Child Neurol., 26 (1984) 756–764.
- 54 C.U. Johannessen, D. Petersen, F. Fonnum and B. Hassel, Epilepsy Res., 47 (2002) 247–256.
- 55 W. Löscher, CNS Drugs, 16 (2002) 669–694.
- 56 R.H. Mattson, J.A. Cramer and J.F. Collins, N. Eng. J. Med., 327 (1992) 765–771.
- 57 P.M. Jeavons. Epilepsia, 25 (1984) S50-S55.
- 58 F.E. Dreifuss and D.H. Langer, Am. J. Med., 84 (1988) 39–41.
- 59 A.G. Herzog and S.C. Schachter, Epilepsia, 42 (2001) 311–315.
- 60 L. Gram, H. Flachs, A. Würtz-Jørgensen, J. Parnas and B. Andersen, Epilepsia, 20 (1979) 303–311.
- 61 O. Henriksen and S.I. Johannessen, in: S.I. Johannessen. P.L. Morselli, C.E. Pippenger, A. Richens, D. Schmidt and H. Meinardi (Eds.), Antiepileptic therapy: advances in drug monitoring, Raven Press, New York, 1980, 253–261.
- 62 O. Henriksen and S.I. Johannessen, Acta Neurol. Scand., 65 (1982) 504–523.
- 63 A. Kumps and Y. Mardens, Clin. Chem., 26 (1980) 1759.
- 64 K.A. Odusote and A.L. Sherwin, Ther. Drug Monit., 3 (1981) 103–106.
- 65 R. Nishioka, S. Kawai and S. Toyoda, J. Chromatogr., 277 (1983) 356–360.
- 66 K. Kushida and T. Ishizaki, J. Chromatogr., 338 (1985) 131–139.
- 67 D.A. Coulter, J.R. Hyuguenard and D.A. Price, Ann. Neurol., 25 (1989) 582–593.
- 68 S.F. Berkovic, F. Andermann, E. Andermann and P. Gloor, Neurology, 37 (1987) 993–1000.
- 69 S. Sato, B.G. White and J.K. Penry, Neurology, 32 (1982) 157–163.
- 70 F.E. Dreifuss, in: R.H. Levy, R.H. Mattson and B.S. Meldrum (Eds.), Antiepileptic drugs, Raven Press, New York, 1995, 675–679.
- 71 J.K. Penry, R.J. Porter and F.E. Dreifuss, in: D.M. Woodbury, J.K. Penry and R.P. Schmidt (Eds.), Antiepileptic drugs, Raven Press, New York, 1972, 431–41.
- 72 N. Wad, J. Chromatogr., 338 (1985) 460–462.
- 73 S. Sato and B.A. Malow, in: R.H. Levy, R.H. Mattson and B.S. Meldrum (Eds.), Antiepileptic drugs (4th ed.), Raven Press, New York, 1995, 725–734.
- 74 O. Sjö, E.F. Hvidberg, J. Naestoft and M. Lund, Eur. J. Clin. Pharmacol., 8 (1975) 249–254.
- 75 S. Sato, J.K. Penry, F.E. Dreifuss and P.R. Dyken, Neurology (Minneapolis), 27 (1977) 371.
- 76 B. Mikkelsen, E. Birket-Smith, P. Holm, M. Lund, S. Vestmark and P.Z. Olsen, Acta Neurol. Scand., 60 (1975) 55–61.
- 77 A. Baruzzi, B. Bordo, L. Bossi, D. Castelli, M. Gerna, G. Tognoni and P. Zagnoni, Int. J. Clin. Pharmacol., 15 (1977) 403–408.
- 78 M. Gerna and P.L. Morselli, J. Chromatogr., 115 (1976) 445–450.
- 79 M.A. Zilli and G. Nisi, J. Chromatogr., 378 (1986) 492–497.
- 80 D. Carvalho and V.L. Lanchote, Ther. Drug Monit., 13 (1991) 55-63.
- 81 M.R. Trimble, in: S.R.J. Resor and H. Kutt (Eds.), The medical treatment of epilepsy, Marcel Dekker, New York, 1992, 319–328.
- 82 D.A. Koeppen, in: I. Hindmarch, P.D. Stonier and M.R. Trimble (Eds.), Clobazam Royal Society of Medicine International Congress Symposium Series No. 74. Royal Society of Medicine, London, 1985, 149–153.
- 83 P. Wolf, in: I. Hindmarch, P.D. Stonier and M.R. Trimble (Eds.), International Congress and Symposium Series No. 74. Royal Society of Medicine, London, 1985, 167–171.
- 84 M.M. Robertson, Epilepsia, 27 (1986) S27-S41.
- J.M. Streete, D.J. Berry and J.E. Newbery, Ther. Drug Monit., 13 (1991) 339–344.
- 86 J. Wang, D. Hug, K. Gautschi and H.G. Wieser, J. Epilepsy, 6 (1993) 180–184.
- 87 N.R. Badcock and G.D. Zoanetti, J. Chromatogr., 421 (1987) 147–154.
- 88 M. Schmutz, F. Brugger, C. Gentsch, M.J. McLean and H.R. Olpe, Epilepsia, 35 (1994) S47-S50.

- 89 P. Lloyd, G. Flesch and W. Dieterle, Epilepsia, 35 (1994) S10-S13.
- 90 A. Baruzzi, F. Albani and R. Riva, Epilepsia, 35 (1994) 14–19.
- 91 M. Dam, R. Ekberg, Y. Løyning, O. Waltimo and K. Jakobsen, Epilepsy Res., 3 (1989) 70-76.
- 92 M.L. Friis, O. Kristensen, J. Boas, M. Dalby, S.H. Deth, L. Gram, M. Mikkelsen, B. Pedersen, A. Sabers and J. Worm-Petersen, Acta Neurol. Scand., 87 (1993) 224–227.
- 93 J.A.P. Van Parys and H. Meinardi, Epilepsy Res., 84 (1994) 224–227.
- 94 P. Borusiak, E. Korn-Merker and N. Holert, J. Epilepsy, 11 (1998) 355–360.
- 95 S.I. Johannessen, D. Battino, D.J Berry, M. Bialer, G. Kramer, T. Tomson and P.N. Patsalos, Ther. Drug Monit., 25 (2003) 347–363.
- 96 G.E. Von Unruh and W.D. Paar, J. Chromatogr., 345 (1985) 67-76.
- 97 A.A. Elyas, V.D. Goldberg and P. Patsalos, J. Chromatogr., 528 (1990) 473-479.
- 98 M.C. Rouan, C. Souppart, L. Alif, D. Mocs, J.B. Lecaillon and J. Bodbillon, J. Chromatogr., 667 (1995) 307–313.
- 99 H. Levert, P. Odou and H. Robert, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal., 15 (2002) 517–525.
- 100 G. Flesch, E. Francotte, F. Hell and P.H. Degan, J. Chromatogr., 581 (1992) 147–151.
- 101 A. Volosov, M. Bialer, S. Xiaodong, E. Perucca, A. Sintov and B. Yagen, J. Chromatogr., 738 (2000) 419–425.
- 102 S. Pichini, I. Altieri, A.R. Passa, M. Rosa, P. Zuccaro and R. Pacifici, J. Liq. Chromatogr., 18 (1995) 1533–1541.
- 103 J.P. Mumford and D.J. Cannon, Epilepsia, 35 (1994) S25-S28.
- 104 P.J. Schechter, Brit. J. Clin. Pharmacol., 27 (1989) S19-S22.
- 105 K. Malmgren, E. Ben-Menachem and L. Frisén, Epilepsia, 42 (2001) 609-616.
- 106 L. Gram, B.B. Lyon and M. Dam, Acta. Neurol. Scand., 68 (1983) 34–39.
- 107 P.N. Patsalos, Ann. Clin. Biochem., 36 (1999) 10–19.
- 108 J. Grove, R.G. Alken and P.J. Schechter, J. Chromatogr., 306 (1984) 383–387.
- 109 J.A. Smithers, J.F. Lang and R.A. Okerholm, J. Chromatogr., 341 (1985) 232–238.
- 110 L.M. Tsanaclis, J. Wicks, J. Williams and A. Richens, Ther. Drug Monit., 13 (1991) 251–253.
- 111 W. Löscher, C.P. Fassbender, L. Gram, M. Gramer, D. Horstermann, B. Zahner and H. Stefan, Epilepsy Res., 14 (1993) 245–255.
- 112 N. Ratnaraj and P.N. Patsalos, Ther. Drug Monit., 20 (1998) 430-434.
- 113 D.F. Chollet, L. Goumaz, C. Juliano and G. Anderegg, J. Chromatogr. B. Biomed. Sci. Appl., 746 (2000) 311–314.
- 114 S. George, L. Gill and R.A. Braithwaite, Ann. Clin. Biochem., 37 (2000) 338–342.
- 115 A.W.C. Yuen, Epilepsia, 35 (1994) S33-S36.
- 116 K.L. Goa, S.R. Ross and P. Chrisp, Drugs, 46 (1993) 152–176.
- 117 A. Sabers, J.M. Buchholt, P. Ulldall and E.L. Hansen, Epilepsy Res., 47 (2001) 151–154.
- 118 P.J.W. McKee and M.J. Brodie, in: S. Shorvon, F. Dreifuss, D. Fish and D. Thomas (Eds.), The treatment of epilepsy, Blackwell Science, Oxford, 1996, 438–445.
- 119 M.J. Brodie, Lancet, 339 (1992) 1397–1400.
- 120 R.G. Morris, A.B. Black, A.L. Harris, A.B. Batty and B.C. Sallustio, Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol., 46 (1998) 547–551.
- 121 A.D. Fraser, W. MacNeil, A.F. Isner and P.R. Camfield, Ther. Drug Monit., 17 (1995) 174–178.
- 122 S. George, A.J. Wood and R.A. Braithwaite, Ann. Clin. Biochem., 32 (1995) 584–588.
- 123 E. Forssblad, A.S. Eriksson and O. Beck, J. Pharmaceut. Biomed. Anal., 14 (1996) 755–758.
- 124 G.L. Lensmeyer, B.E. Gidal and D.A. Wiebe, Ther. Drug Monit., 19 (1997) 292–300.
- 125 D. Croci, A. Salmaggi, U. de Grazia and G. Barnardi, Ther. Drug Monit., 23 (2001) 665–668.
- 126 O.A.C. Petroff, D.L. Rothman, K.L. Behar, D. Lamoureux and R.H. Mattson, Ann. Neurol., 39 (1996) 95–99.
- 127 K.L. Goa and E.M. Sorkin, Drugs, 46 (1993) 409-427.
- 128 M.A. Dichter and M.J. Brodie, N. Eng.J. Med., 334 (1996) 1583–1589.
- 129 R.E. Ramsay, Neurology, 44 (1994) S23-S30.
- 130 E.A. Wilson, G.J. Sills, G. Forrest and M.J. Brodie, Epilepsy Res., 29 (1998) 161–166.
- 131 H. Hengy and E.U. Kolle, J. Chromatogr., 341 (1985) 473–478.
- 132 W.E. Hooper, M.C. Kavanagh and R.G. Dickinson, J. Chromatogr., 529 (1990) 167–174.

- 133 N. Wad and G. Krämer, J. Chromatogr. B. Biomed. Sci. Appl., 701 (1998) 154–158.
- 134 D.R. Ifa, M. Falci, M.E. Moraes, F.A. Bezerra, M.O. Moraes and G. de Nucci, J. Mass. Spectrom., 36 (2001) 188–194.
- 135 M.M. Kushnir, J. Crossett, P.I. Brown and F.M. Urry, J. Anal. Toxicol., 23 (1999) 1-6.
- 136 H.D. Langtry, J.C. Gillis and R. Davis, Drugs, 54 (1997) 752–773.
- 137 R.E. Ramsay and J.D. Slater, in: J.A. French, M.A. Dichter and I.E. Leppik (Eds.), New antiepileptic drug development, preclinical and clinical aspects. Epilepsy Res., Elsevier, Amsterdam 1993, 45–67.
- 138 S.I. Johannessen, Epilepsia, 3 (2000) S18-S23.
- 139 E. Faught, B.J. Wilder, R.E. Ramsay, R.A. Reife, L.D. Kramer, G. Pledger, R.M. Karim, Neurology, 46 (1996) 1684–1690.
- 140 L.J. Stephen, G.J. Sills and M.J. Brodie, Epilepsia, 41 (2000) 977–980.
- 141 J. Christensen, J.H. Poulsen, F. Andreasen and M. Dam, Epilepsia, 42 (2001) 178.
- 142 M.L. Holland, J.A. Uetz and T.N.G. Kung, J. Chromatogr., 433 (1988) 276–281.
- 143 J.M. Riffitts, L.G. Gisclon, R.J. Stubbs and M.E. Palmer, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal., 19 (1999) 363–371.
- 144 P.H. Tang, M.V. Miles, T.A. Glauser, L. Coletta, N. Doughman, D. Doose, M. Frey and A. DeGrauw, Ther. Drug. Monit., 22 (2000) 195–201.
- 145 A. Mozayani, J. Carter and R. Nix, J. Anal. Toxicol., 23 (1999) 556–558.
- 146 S. Chen and P. Carvey, Rapid Commun. Mass. Spectrom., 15 (2001) 159–163.
- 147 M. Contin, R. Riva, F. Albani and A. Baruzzi, J. Chromatogr. B. Biomed. Sci. Appl., 761 (2001) 133–137.
- 148 J. Christensen, C.S. Højskov and J.H. Poulsen, Ther. Drug Monit., 24 (2002) 658–664.
- 149 D.J. Berry and P.N. Patsalos, Ther. Drug Monit., 22 (2000) 460-464.
- 150 N.W. Kleckner, J.C. Glazewski, C.C. Chen and T.D. Moscrip, J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther., 289 (1999) 886–894.
- 151 R.D. Sofia, L. Kramer, J.L. Perhach and A. Rosenberg, in: F. Pisani, E. Perucca, G. Avanzini and A. Richens (Eds.), New antiepileptic drugs. Epilepsy Res., Elsevier, Amsterdam, 1991, 103–108.
- 152 I.E. Leppik, F.E. Dreifuss, G.W. Pledger, N.M. Graves, N. Santilli, I. Drury, J.Y. Tsay, M.P. Jacobs, E. Bertram and J.J. Cereghino, Neurology, 41 (1991) 1785–1789.
- 153 The Felbamate Study Group in Lennox-Gastaut syndrome, N. Engl. J. Med., 328 (1993) 29–33.
- 154 C.L. Harden, R. Trifiletti and H. Kutt, Epilepsia, 37 (1996) 280–283.
- A.S. Troupin, G. Montouris and G. Hussein, J. Epilepsy, 10 (1997) 26–31.
- 156 R.P. Remmel, S.A. Miller and N.M. Graves, Ther. Drug Monit., 12 (1990) 90–96.
- 157 T. Annesley and L. Clayton, Ther. Drug. Monit., 16 (1994) 419–424.
- 158 L.A. Romanyshyn, J.K. Wichmann, N. Kucharczyk, R.C. Shumaker, D. Ward and R.D. Sofia, Ther. Drug Monit., 16 (1994a) 83–89.
- 159 L.A. Romanyshyn, J.K. Wichmann, N. Kucharczyk and R.D. Shumaker, Ther. Drug Monit., 16 (1994b) 90–99.
- 160 N. Rifai, D. Fuller, T. Law and M. Mikati, Clin. Chem., 40 (1994) 745-748.
- 161 H. Mengel, Epilepsia, 35 (1994) S81-S84.
- 162 M. Brodie, Epilepsia, 36 (1995) S7-S9.
- 163 E. Ben-Menachem, Epilepsia, 36 (1995) S14-S21.
- 164 I.E. Leppik, Epilepsia, 36 (1995) S10-S13.
- 165 D. Schmidt, L. Gram, M. Brodie, G. Kramer, E. Perucca, R. Kalviainen and C.E. Elger, Epilepsy Res., 41 (2000) 245–251.
- 166 A.J. Rowan, I. Gustavson, V. Shu and K.W. Sommerville, Epilepsia, 38 (1997) 40.
- 167 L.E. Gustavson and S. Chu, J. Chromatogr., 574 (1992) 313–318.
- 168 D.F. Chollet, E. Castella, L. Goumaz and G. Anderegg, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal., 21 (1999) 641–646.
- 169 A. Cleton, H.J. de Greef, P.M. Edelbroek, R.A. Voskuyl and M. Danhof, Br. J. Pharmacol., 128 (1999) 1651–1658.
- 170 M. Noyer, M. Gillard, A. Matagne, J.P. Henichart and E. Wulfert, Eur. J. Pharmacol., 286 (1995) 137–146.
- 171 P.N. Patsalos, Pharmacol. Therapeut., 85 (2000) 77–85.

- 172 R.A. Radtke, Epilepsia, 42 (2001) S24–S27.
- 173 M. Privitera, Epilepsia, 42 (2001) S31–S35.
- 174 J.P. Stables, M. Bialer, S.I. Johannessen, H.J. Kupferberg, R.H. Levy, P. Loiseau and E. Perucca, Epilepsy Res., 22 (1995) 235–246.
- 175 C. Harden, Epilepsia, 42 (2001) 36–39.
- 176 UCB, Data on file, 2001.
- 177 N. Ratnaraj, H.C. Doheny and P.N. Patsalos, Ther. Drug Monit., 18 (1996) 154–157.
- 178 T.A.C. Vermeij and P.M. Edelbroek, J. Chromatogr. B. Biomed. Appl., 662 (1994) 134–139.
- 179 D.H. Peters and E.M. Sorkin, Drugs, 45 (1993) 760–787.
- 180 M. Seino, S. Naruto, T. Ito and H. Miyazaki, in: R.H. Levy, R.H. Mattson and B.S. Meldrum (Eds.), Antiepileptic drugs, Raven Press, New York, 1995, 1011–1023.
- 181 T. Mimaki, Ther. Drug Monit., 20 (1998) 593–597.
- 182 T.A. Glauser and C.E. Pippenger, Epilepsia, 41 (2000) S6–S15.
- 183 U. Jürgens, J. Chromatogr., 36 (1987) 133–240.
- 184 H. Noguchi, N. Tomita and K. Yoshida, Jpn. Pharmaco. Ther., 16 (1988) 4805–4811.
- 185 D.J. Berry, J. Chromatogr., 534 (1990) 173–181.
- 186 K. Furuno, R. Oishi, Y. Gomita and K. Eto, J. Chromatogr.B. Biomed. Appl., 656 (1994) 456–459.
- 187 R. Shimoyama, T. Ohkubo and K. Sugawara, Biomed. Chromatogr., 13 (1999) 370–372.
- 188 K. Makino, Y. Goto, M. Sueyasu, K. Futagami, Y. Kataoka and R. Oishi, J. Chromatogr. B. Biomed. Sci. Appl., 695 (1997) 417–425.
- 189 K. Kalbe, S. Nishimura, H. Ishii, N. Sunahara, S. Naruto and S. Kurooka, Clin. Chem., 37 (1990) 24–27.

This page intentionally left blank

CHAPTER 10

# Therapeutic drug monitoring of antidepressant and antipsychotic drugs

# Philip B. Mitchell

School of Psychiatry, University of New South Wales, Sydney, Australia

# **10.1 INTRODUCTION**

Over recent decades major advances have occurred in the pharmacological management of depression and schizophrenia. Despite this, high rates of poor compliance and considerable genetic variability in metabolism have meant that the practical application of such treatments has often proven difficult. One means of minimising such problems has been the use of therapeutic drug monitoring (TDM).

# **10.2 RATIONALES FOR USE OF THERAPEUTIC DRUG MONITORING OF ANTIDEPRESSANT AND ANTIPSYCHOTIC DRUGS**

There are four major clinical rationales for the use of TDM in the management of depression and schizophrenia: (i) achievement of therapeutic ranges (where these have been confirmed scientifically); (ii) identification of potentially toxic blood concentrations; (iii) identification of sub-therapeutic concentrations in treatment non-responsive patients; and (iv) monitoring after overdose.

# **10.2.1** Therapeutic ranges

For some psychotropics, therapeutic ranges have been established. The major relevant classes are some of the tricyclic antidepressants (TCAs) and the 'atypical' antipsychotic clozapine.

# 10.2.2 Toxicity

As many of the agents used in depression and schizophrenia have narrow therapeutic indices, the capacity to avoid serum ranges where there is a high likelihood of severe

adverse effects or toxicity is critical in clinical practice. Serum concentrations indicative of an increased risk of toxicity have been documented for the TCAs and clozapine. Avoidance of toxicity is relevant to both mono- and combination therapies, although different issues pertain to each form of prescribing.

# 10.2.2.1 Monotherapy and genetic polymorphisms

There has been a rapid increase in knowledge concerning those enzymes involved in the metabolism of the psychotropic agents, and in understanding the genetic variability in the activity of these enzymes within different populations. The major focus has been on the cytochrome P450 system. CYP2D6 is responsible for the metabolism of many of the psychotropic agents, though some are also metabolized via CYP1A2, CYP3A3/4 OR CYP2C19 (see Table 10.1).

It is now clear that while the majority of the population demonstrates extensive (or normal) metabolism (EM) by these enzymes, a proportion show poor metabolism (PM), which leads to drug accumulation. Poor metabolism is usually due to an autosomal recessive trait caused by mutation or deletion of both alleles. For some enzymes, e.g. CYP2D6, a small proportion of the population also demonstrate ultra-extensive (ultrarapid) metabolism (UM), which leads to reduced drug concentrations at standard doses.

While genotyping of CYP450 enzymes has been slow to enter the clinical arena (and still has significant limitations in its sensitivity, even for CYP2D6 [1]), in the future the combination of information from both TDM and genotyping (or phenotyping where this is not feasible or affordable) should greatly facilitate identification and appropriate management of individuals prone to either excessively high or low serum concentrations of psychotropic agents [2].

#### **TABLE 10.1**

ANTIDEPRESSANT AND ANTIPSYCHOTIC DRUG SUBSTRATES OF CYTOCHROME P450 ISO-ENZYMES.

CYP1A2	CYP2C19	CYP2D6	CYP3A3/4
Amitriptyline	Amitriptyline	Amitriptyline	Carbamazepine
Clomipramine	Citalopram	Clozapine	Clozapine
Clozapine	Clomipramine	Desipramine	Haloperidol
Fluvoxamine	Imipramine	Fluoxetine	Imipramine
Haloperidol	Moclobemide	Fluvoxamine	Nefazodone
Imipramine	Sertraline	Haloperidol	Quetiapine
Olanzapine		Mianserin	Risperidone
		Nortriptyline	Sertraline
		Olanzapine	
		Paroxetine	
		Quetiapine	
		Risperidone	
		Sertraline	
		Thioridazine	
		Venlafaxine	

#### 10.2.2.2 Combined therapies – Interactions and genetic polymorphisms

Toxicity may also be caused by impaired CYP450 function as a result of inhibition due to concurrent medications, i.e. there may be drug-induced PM phenotypes (phenocopying). In all cases it is the EMs that are converted to phenotypic PMs. The genotypic PMs lack sufficient enzyme to have its actions reduced further. In contemporary practice, one of the more common nongenetic causes of impaired metabolism of psychotropic agents such as the antipsychotics or TCAs is concurrent prescription of SSRI (selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor) antidepressants [3]. Those SSRIs which are most potent in inhibiting CYP2D6 are paroxetine and fluoxetine; with citalopram, fluvoxamine or sertraline having only a minimal effect on this enzyme [4]. CYP1A2 is inhibited potently by fluvoxamine, while CYP2C19 is moderately inhibited by fluoxetine and fluvoxamine. CYP3A3/4 is strongly inhibited by the 5-HT2-receptor antagonist nefazodone, and moderately affected by fluoxetine and fluvoxamine.

#### 10.2.3 Subtherapeutic concentrations

The obverse problem is that of unacceptably low concentrations, which may be a relevant factor in either failure to respond or relapse. Low concentrations may reflect poor compliance, or less commonly, ultra-extensive metabolism (as described above). TDM should clarify whether the problem is due to subtherapeutic drug concentrations or to inefficacy of the drug in a particular patient. Another cause of subtherapeutic levels may be that of induction of relevant metabolizing enzymes. Examples of agents causing such induction include carbamazepine, St. John's wort, smoking, grapefruit juice and antiretroviral agents.

Compliance rates are frequently poor in psychiatric practice. Factors in common with other medical disorders include intolerance of adverse effects and difficulty in accepting the need for long-term treatment. Issues specific to psychiatric disorders include impaired insight (particularly relevant to the psychoses) and preference for psychological as opposed to pharmacological management (a not uncommon issue, for example, in the treatment of depression).

Numerous studies of psychotropic medications have indicated high noncompliance rates. One review [5] found that patients receiving antipsychotics took an average of 58% of the recommended medications (ranging from 24 to 90%). Patients receiving antidepressants had similarly low rates, taking on average 65% of the recommended amount (range 40–90%). A review of studies of compliance rates for patients with physical disorders demonstrated a mean rate of 76% (range 60–92%).

# 10.2.4 Overdose

The final rationale for TDM is monitoring of actual or suspected overdose with psychotropic medications [6].

#### **10.3 ANTIDEPRESSANTS**

While TDM has been shown to be of clinical utility for a number of tricyclic antidepressants (TCAs) – as will be discussed below – it has not been proven to be of clear value for the selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor (SSRI) antidepressants. No therapeutic concentration ranges have been demonstrated for any of the SSRIs [7] and toxicity is, in general, not relevant as these drugs have a wide therapeutic index.

As prescribing of TCAs is becoming less frequent with the growing predominance of the SSRIs and other new antidepressants [8], TDM for the antidepressants may become less relevant in clinical practice.

# 10.3.1 Tricyclic antidepressants (TCAs)

#### 10.3.1.1 Clinical issues

There are a number of clinical issues which militate against the demonstration of any relationship between antidepressant concentrations and therapeutic response [9]. Depression is considered by many to be a heterogeneous disorder, with some subtypes – such as melancholia – probably responding more predictably to antidepressants. Furthermore, rates of spontaneous remission and placebo response are high in depression, confounding the demonstration of therapeutic concentrations. Despite this, such ranges have been demonstrated for a number of the TCAs. The strongest evidence for therapeutic ranges is for imipramine, desmethylimipramine (desipramine) and nortriptyline (Figs 10.1 and 10.2).

#### 10.3.1.2 Assay methods

While TCAs can be monitored using serum or plasma, serum is preferred as it allows greater ease of extraction and involves no fibrin clots [10]. Serum TCA concentration is stable for up to one week at room temperature. A number of different collection techniques have been shown to reduce measured TCA concentrations and should therefore be avoided: heparin-containing tubes; gel separator tubes; and tris-2-butoxyethylphosphate in tube stoppers [10].



Fig. 10.1. Imipramine (left) and desipramine (right).



Fig. 10.2. Amitriptyline (left) and nortriptyline (right).

The methods available for quantitatively analyzing TCAs include immunoassay, HPLC and gas-liquid chromatography [10–13]. HPLC with absorbance detection is the most commonly used method. Most reversed-phase methods allow simultaneous measurement of both tertiary and secondary amines. Two main immunoassay forms are available: individual methods using the enzyme-multiplied immunoassay technique (EMIT); and fluorescence polarization immunoassay (FPIA) technology, which measures total tricyclic levels and is commonly used for uring drug screening rather than blood concentration monitoring.

The EMIT assay involves a solid-phase sample extraction followed by analysis with monoclonal or polyclonal antibodies. While this technique has a dynamic range consistent with therapeutic concentrations of the TCAs, a limitation is the considerable cross-reactivity of tertiary and secondary amine TCAs, as well as with structurally similar drugs such as the antipsychotic chlorpromazine.

Though the FPIA technique was originally developed for urine toxicology screening, its advantage is that no extraction of serum samples is involved. Compared with HPLC, there are considerable negative or positive biases for various TCAs, and there is also considerable cross-reactivity with various antidepressants and antipsychotics.

#### 10.3.1.3 Sampling times and intervals

The half-lives of the TCAs are approximately 24 hours. The specific half-lives (and days to steady state) of the TCAs for which therapeutic ranges are accepted are: imipramine 6–28 hours (2–5 days), desipramine 12–28 hours (3–6 days) and nortriptyline 18–56 hours (4–11 days) [10]. Because of the long half-lives, most patients take a single evening dose of TCA. Blood samples are taken about 12–14 hours after dosing if the patient is on divided dose regimen. Specimens should be taken only after steady state concentrations are likely to have been achieved.

#### 10.3.1.4 Therapeutic ranges

The American Psychiatric Association Task Force on the Use of Laboratory Tests in Psychiatry [14] concluded that there was strong evidence for plasma concentration measurements of imipramine, desmethylimipramine (desipramine) and nortriptyline,

but not other TCAs. Subsequent authorities [9,15] have come to similar conclusions. For example, Leucht et al. [16] found no evidence for therapeutic plasma concentrations of doxepin.

Studies of both nortriptyline [17,18] and desipramine [19] have, in general, demonstrated curvilinear concentration-response relationships, with optimum ranges of 50–150 ng/ml (200–600  $\mu$ mol/L) and 100–160 ng/ml (400–650  $\mu$ mol/L) respectively, and response rates of 70% and 59% respectively, within these ranges [9]. However, a double-blind 3-year maintenance study [20] of two fixed plasma nortriptyline concentration groups, i.e. 80–120 ng/ml (300–450  $\mu$ mol/L) and 40–60 ng/ml (150–230  $\mu$ mol/L), in elderly patients with recurrent depression, found no difference in recurrence rates.

While imipramine has been found to demonstrate a linear concentration-response relationship, there have been fewer studies of this TCA than with nortriptyline or desipramine. The effective threshold concentration for imipramine is 265 ng/ml (1060  $\mu$ mol/L), with a remission rate of 42% at concentrations above this. There is significant risk of first degree atrio-ventricular block above 350 ng/ml (1400  $\mu$ mol/L) and delirium above 300 ng/ml (1200  $\mu$ mol/L).

There has been some, albeit less frequent, evidence suggesting therapeutic levels for amitriptyline (Fig. 10.2). A recent literature survey and meta-analysis [21] has reported that, when only methodologically adequately designed studies are considered, there is a therapeutic window of the sum of the serum concentrations of amitriptyline and nortriptyline of about 80 to 200  $\mu$ g/L. The authors calculated a moderate and significant effect size of 0.5 for treatment with serum concentrations within this range, compared to levels outside it.

# 10.3.1.5 Relationship between genotype and serum concentrations

One of the most significant factors underlying the marked inter-individual variation in TCA serum concentrations is genetic variation in the activity of CYP450 enzymes, of which CYP2D6, CYP1A2 and CYP3A3/4 are particularly relevant for the TCAs (Table 10.1) [22,23].

In a recent study, Shimoda et al. [24] found significantly higher ratios of plasma concentrations of desipramine/2-hydroxy-desipramine in subjects with two mutated CYP2D6 alleles compared to those with either no or one mutated allele. The authors noted, however, that the CYP2D6 genotype only grossly predicted steady state desipramine concentrations, as within each genotype there was marked inter-individual variability.

Two studies of the effect of CYP2D6 genotype on nortriptyline levels have been reported. First, Murphy et al. [25], using oligonucleotide microarrays to detect 16 different CYP2D6 alleles, found significant correlations in a geriatric depressed population between the number of such alleles coding for decreased metabolism and nortriptyline plasma concentrations. This finding was indicative of a gene dosage effect and suggested the use of such an array to predict plasma antidepressant concentrations. Second, in a similar study, Kvist et al. [26], investigated multiple nortriptyline plasma concentrations from 20 normal volunteers receiving single oral doses, and 20 depressed patients on steady-state treatment, all of whom had been genotyped for CYP2D6. Using

non-linear mixed-effects modeling, they found that the number of functional CYP2D6 genes were able to explain 21% of the total interindividual variance in oral clearance of nortriptyline, and 34% of that of steady-state levels. This again indicated a gene-dose effect.

Dahl and Sjoqvist [27] have suggested that the main clinical value of genotyping CYP2D6 in the clinical situation in conjunction with TDM of TCAs would be to identify both: (i) poor metabolisers (with this group now being able to be determined with an accuracy of at least 95% to 99%), who would be more prone to concentration-dependent adverse reactions; and (ii) ultrarapid metabolism due to duplicated or multiduplicated CYP2D6 (accounting for between 1% to 10% in different populations), leading to potentially extremely low plasma concentrations.

Reviewing the literature on the impact of genotype on antidepressant levels, Kirchheiner et al. [28] have proposed average dose recommendations for a range of TCAs and other antidepressants based on CYP2D6 and (to a lesser extent in view of fewer studies) CYP2C19 genotypes or phenotypes. There was nil or insufficient data to provide guidance on the impact of CYP2C9, CYP1A2 or CYP3A4 genotypes. They found that while most studies distinguished between PMs (defined here by the presence of two inactive alleles) and EMs (2 active alleles), few investigations provided data on intermediate metabolisers (IMs; one active and one inactive allele) and UMs ( $\geq$  3 active alleles). This necessitated an estimation of levels in the not uncommon IMs, thereby limiting the clinical utility of such recommendations. Nonetheless, there would appear to be clinical value in the data-based recommendations of lower doses in the PMs for both CYP2D6 and CYP2C19. While widespread clinical application may not be currently justified, there is little doubt that as more supportive data appears, genotyping is likely to have an increasing role in clinical practice, in conjunction with TDM.

Furthermore, there are an increasing number of studies of variations in metabolic disposition in different ethnic groups. For example, Shimoda et al. [29] reported a lesser clearance of clomipramine in Japanese patients compared with that in Swedish patients, which was not accounted for by any difference in body weight or concurrent medications. Such an effect may account for clinically-observed differences in tolerability of agents in various ethnic groups.

# 10.3.1.6 Interactions and other determinants of plasma concentrations

Tertiary amine TCAs are mainly demethylated via CYP1A2 and CYP3A3/4, while hydroxylation is via CYP2D6. Hepatic enzyme inducers such as carbamazepine, phenytoin, phenobarbital and St. John's wort (*hypericum perforatum*) (the latter via induction of CYP3A4 or drug transporters such as P-glycoprotein [30]) reduce TCA concentrations, while inhibitors such as SSRI antidepressants [3], antipsychotics or cimetidine increase concentrations, leading to complications such as impaired cardiac conduction or delirium. Furthermore, the activity of CYP1A2 is induced by cigarette smoking [31], which is more common in psychiatric populations.

In the elderly, TCA levels may be increased by reduced hepatic metabolism and blood flow, and changes in the volume of distribution. In children, increased metabolism may necessitate more frequent dosing [32], though TCAs are of limited efficacy and there are significant safety concerns in that age group [33]. Hepatic cirrhosis leads to increased TCA concentrations [34]. Renal failure has a minimal effect on the parent TCA compound or demethylated metabolites but can increase levels of the active hydroxy metabolites which require renal clearance (though these are at low concentrations and are not routinely measured).

#### 10.3.2 Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs)

# 10.3.2.1 Clinical issues and therapeutic ranges

TDM of SSRIs is not routine in clinical practice as: (i) no clear serum concentration: efficacy relationship has been demonstrated for any agent in this class; and (ii) the SSRIs manifest a wide therapeutic index, thereby significant toxicity is unlikely, even at high doses. In an audit of a routine clinical TDM service assaying racemic fluoxetine and norfluoxetine using HPLC (including ultraviolet light detection), no relation to outcome or adverse effects was demonstrated [35]. One of the likely explanations for the lack of a demonstrable therapeutic serum concentration is that the usual minimum effective dose leads to 70–85% inhibition of serotonin uptake, with little further effect at higher dosage. The only relevant theoretical clinical application for TDM of SSRIs would be to ensure sufficient blood levels in treatment-refractory patients. In practice though, such measurements would not be commonly employed.

Recent studies of concentrations of enantiomers of the SSRIs, such as fluoxetine and its active metabolite norfluoxetine have similarly failed to demonstrate any relationship between serum or plasma concentrations of these and therapeutic response [36].



Fig. 10.3. Structural formula of SSRIs.

# 10.3.2.2 Assay methods

Most reported assay methodologies for determining SSRI concentrations have used gas chromatography (GC) and high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC). The specific methods used have been well reviewed by Baumann [7] and DeVane [37]. A sensitive rapid measure for the simultaneous determination of fluoxetine and norfluoxetine in plasma has been reported, using liquid chromatography/tandem mass spectrometry [38]. Stereoselective assays have also been described for separating the enantiomers of fluoxetine and norfluoxetine [39] and citalopram [40].

# 10.3.2.3 Sampling times and intervals

The half lives and average steady-state levels of the SSRIs are: fluoxetine 24–144 hours (90–300 ng/ml), sertraline 22–36 hours (20–200 ng/ml), paroxetine 7–65 hours (10–600 ng/ml), fluvoxamine 9–28 hours (20–500 ng/ml) and citalopram 23–45 hours (40–300 ng/ml). A recent nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy study [41] has demonstrated brain SSRI concentrations 10–12 times those found in plasma for fluvoxamine and fluoxetine-norfluoxetine.

# 10.3.2.4 Determinants of plasma concentrations

The major determinant of plasma SSRI levels appears to be dosage [36]. Other important factors are age (increasing levels) and smoking (reducing levels) [35].

# 10.3.3 Reboxetine

# 10.3.3.1 Clinical issues

Reboxetine is a selective inhibitor of noradrenaline re-uptake. It is marketed as a racemate, with the (S,S)-(+)-enantiomer being the more potent inhibitor [42]. It has a mean half-life of about 12 hours, and is predominantly hepatically metabolized, mainly via CYP3A4.

# 10.3.3.2 Assay methods

The major reported means of analysis have been solid phase extraction combined with reversed-phase HPLC and ultraviolet detection [43], and HPLC with column-switching and ultraviolet detection [44]. Furthermore, a technique for simultaneous determination of reboxetine and O-desethylreboxetine enantiomers using enantioselective reversed-phase high-performance liquid chromatography has been described [45].

# 10.3.3.3 Therapeutic levels

In the only report of the analysis of reboxetine in a clinical therapeutic drug monitoring setting, Ohman et al. [43] reported on serum levels in 38 patients prescribed long-term reboxetine at a dose of 2 to 16 mg daily. They found that the mean reboxetine concentration was "fairly" linear and dose proportional, although the variance in

concentration was large between patients, even those taking the same dosage. While they claimed that the assay was sufficiently robust to produce reliable and reproducible results, it should be noted that there have been no reports demonstrating therapeutic concentrations.

# 10.3.3.4 Determinants of plasma concentrations

Ketaconazole, a potent inhibitor of CYP3A4, has been found to decrease the clearance of both enantiomers of reboxetine [46].

# 10.3.4 Mirtazapine

Mirtazapine is an analogue of mianserin that acts upon noradrenergic and serotonergic receptors [47]. There are no published reports of either assay methodologies or concentration-response relationships for this new antidepressant.

# 10.3.5 Nefazodone/trazodone

Nefazodone and trazodone share the pharmacological action of antagonism of postsynaptic 5-HT2A receptors. There have been no reports of any relationship between plasma or serum concentrations of nefazodone and antidepressant response. There have, however, been two reports suggesting a relationship between trazodone levels and therapeutic efficacy. In 1989, Monteleone [48] reported a threshold plasma concentration of trazodone (650 ng/ml) for antidepressant effect in a small study of an elderly depressed population. This was replicated by Mihara et al. [49] in a trial of trazodone in 26 patients. There was a significant linear relationship between steady-state plasma concentrations and clinical response; and the proportion of responders was significantly higher in those with concentrations greater than 714 ng/ml. There was, however, no relationship between clinical response and plasma levels of the active metabolite m-CPP. These two studies in conjunction suggest that a plasma trazodone level of at least 700 ng/ml may be necessary for clinical benefit.

# 10.3.6 Venlafaxine

Venlafaxine is an inhibitor of the uptake of both serotonin and noradrenaline [47]. It demonstrates linear pharmacokinetics over the therapeutic dosage range and has one active metabolite (O-desmethyl venlafaxine; ODV). There has only been one report of therapeutic monitoring of venlafaxine and its metabolites in a clinical setting [50]. Using HPLC, steady-state trough samples from 635 patients were assayed. There was a wide inter-individual variability of serum concentrations on each dose level. The mean coefficient of variation of the dose-corrected concentrations was 166% for venlafaxine and 60% for ODV. No therapeutic serum concentrations have been reported.

# **10.4 ANTIPSYCHOTICS**

In recent years there has been a dramatic shift in the prescribing pattern of antipsychotics, with a rapid increase in usage of the so-called 'atypical' antipsychotics such as risperidone, olanzapine, quetiapine, amisulpride, ziprasodone and aripriprazole. Another 'atypical' agent, clozapine (which was in fact first marketed in the 1960s), has been demonstrated to be clearly more effective than 'typical' antipsychotics (such as chlorpromazine and haloperidol) in patients with schizophrenia refractory to such agents [51].

# **10.4.1** Typical antipsychotics

# 10.4.1.1 Assay methods

The most commonly used methods for analyzing concentrations of typical antipsychotics are high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) and gas-liquid chromatography (GC). Methods for simultaneous assay of a number of such agents, such as fully automated sequential solid phase extraction followed by HPLC [52], have also been described. Capillary zone electrophoresis has been developed for the simultaneous determination of haloperidol and its chiral metabolites [53].

Radio-immunoassays have been developed for haloperidol and fluphenazine. A biological assay is the radioreceptor assay (RRA) in which a neuroleptic drug and its dopamine blocking metabolites compete with titrated spiroperidol (or haloperidol) for dopamine ( $D_2$ ) binding sites on preparation of membranes from rat striatum [54]. The therapeutic value of RRA has yet to be proven.

# 10.4.1.2 Therapeutic ranges

On the basis of current data, it is reasonable to agree that 'the routine plasma-level monitoring for most of the antipsychotics remains experimental at this point' [55]. This is some evidence of a biphasic or curvi-linear relationship between antipsychotic concentrations and clinical effects [56]. Antipsychotics demonstrating such a response include haloperidol, butaperazine, fluphenazine, perphenazine and thiothixene; though for most agents the evidence is inconsistent [57]. The most frequently studied agent has been haloperidol, with some studies indicating a therapeutic window from 5 to 12 ng/ml (13.3–31.8  $\mu$ mol/L) [54] or 5.5–14.4 ng/ml (14.6–38.2  $\mu$ mol/L) [58]. The major uncertainty about such a 'window', however, is whether the upper cut-off point represents a true worsening of psychosis or a greater likelihood of adverse effects such as extrapyramidal symptoms of dysphoria (either of which would in turn diminish any subjective therapeutic response).

# 10.4.1.3 Relationships between genotype and serum concentrations

Most antipsychotics are metabolized to some extent by CYP2D6. The CYP2D6 genotype has been shown to be one of the major determinants of plasma haloperidol and reduced haloperidol concentrations [59,60]. Consistent with this, the CYP2D6 genotype

has been demonstrated to predict significantly the oral clearance of the 'typical' antipsychotics perphenazine and zuclopenthixol [61]. Conversely, the degree of impairment of CYP2D6 activity has been shown to be related to the severity of sedation [62] or extrapyramidal side-effects during neuroleptic treatment [63,64]. Since these drugs are used long-term there may be a case for phenotyping or genotyping patients at the start of such therapy. This would avoid the interpretive problem that EMs are converted to PMs by phenocopying during long-term therapy. At present, there is no data indicating that phenotyping or genotyping for CYP450 enzymes can be used to predict an optimal dose range of antipsychotic agents [62]. However, genotyping may play a role in complementing plasma concentrations when either poor or ultrarapid metabolism is suspected.

# 10.4.1.4 Interactions and other determinants of serum concentrations

In two Japanese studies of factors affecting haloperidol clearance or plasma concentrations, body weight (reduced levels with higher weight), concomitant use of anticonvulsants (reduced levels) and age (higher levels in older patients) were found to be significant determinants [65,66]. Haloperidol levels have also been found to be significantly lower in smokers [59], perhaps due to induction of glucuronyl transferase.

# 10.4.2 Atypical antipsychotics

# 10.4.2.1 Assay methods

HPLC methods for analyzing risperidone [67], olanzapine [68–71] and clozapine [72] have been reported. An assay for simultaneous determination of plasma concentrations of risperidone and 9-hydroxyrisperidone using liquid chromatographic/electrospray tandem mass spectrometry has been described [73].

With regard to clozapine, other assay methods reported include solid-phase microextraction [74], liquid chromatography/electrospray tandem mass spectrometry [73] and reversed phase liquid chromatography [75]. Plasma levels of clozapine are assayed as serum levels have been found to underestimate concentrations, as benchmarked against myeloperoxidase activity [76].

#### 10.4.2.2 Therapeutic ranges

The one antipsychotic for which data concerning a therapeutic range is sufficiently substantive to justify clinical utilization is the atypical agent clozapine [77]. Clozapine is 97% bound to plasma proteins and has a mean half-life of about 12 hours (range 6–33 hours). A number of independent studies have now demonstrated a therapeutic threshold concentration of between 350 and 420  $\mu$ g/L (1070–1290  $\mu$ mol/L) [77–81]. Furthermore, in a follow up study of one sample [77], Miller et al. [82] found the concentration-response relationship to be consistent over a 2.5-year period. In addition, five of seven previous nonresponders became responders when plasma clozapine concentrations were increased to above 350  $\mu$ g/L (1070  $\mu$ mol/L).

Gaertner et al. [83] clinically determined optimal plasma clozapine concentrations in the first four months of treatment for 23 outpatients with schizophrenia, and then followed them up for five years. Using a threshold decrease of plasma clozapine levels of 40% as an indicator of significant reduction, it was found that after 2 years, patients whose levels reduced by more than this amount had 6 times the chance of relapse.

There is also a relationship between serum clozapine concentrations and CNS adverse effects. For example, Olesen et al. [84] found a significant correlation between clozapine concentrations and EEG changes. Concentrations above 1000  $\mu$ g/L (3060  $\mu$ mol/L) significantly increase the risk of confusion, delirium and generalized seizures [85]. There is, however, no evidence to suggest that clozapine-induced agranulocytosis is related to serum concentrations. It should be noted that a study has suggested that some patients may be more prone to this complication, with cells from patients with agranulocytosis being less viable than those of patients with agranulocytosis and normal controls after incubation with clozapine and horseradish peroxidase-peroxide [86].

There has been some preliminary evidence that there may be a therapeutic range for olanzapine. Perry et al. [87] examined the relationship between plasma concentrations and clinical response in one of the North American double-blind trials of patients with acute schizophrenia. They found that patients with 12-hour levels greater than 23.2 ng/mL were significantly more likely to respond than those with lower concentrations.

# 10.4.2.3 Relationship between genotype and serum concentrations

Clozapine is metabolized by CYP1A2 and CYP3A4 to the relatively inactive compounds norclozapine and clozapine-*N*-oxide. Response to clozapine is therefore not predicted by the CYP2D6 genotype [88]. A recent case report has highlighted the role of CYP1A2 in clozapine disposition [89]. In that case study, clozapine levels were affected by: (i) ultrarapid metabolism due to a single nucleotide polymorphism in intron 1 of the CYP1A2 gene; (ii) the CYP1A2 actions of grapefruit juice (enzyme induction); and (iii) the antidepressant fluvoxamine (CYP1A2 inhibition). Consistent with this, clozapine population pharmacokinetics are distributed similarly to the indices of CYP1A2 activity found in community populations [90].

#### 10.4.2.4 Interactions and other determinants of serum concentrations

As would be predicted from a knowledge of the CYP450 metabolizing enzymes, the CYP1A2 inhibitor fluvoxamine increases clozapine concentrations, whereas the CYP3A3/4 inducer carbamazepine decreases levels [91]. However, smoking – which induces CYP1A2 activity – does not appear to affect clozapine levels [78]. Risperidone levels have been reported similarly to be affected by body weight and age [92]. TDM studies have found olanzapine serum concentrations to be affected by fluvoxamine (increased levels, presumably by inhibition of CYP1A2; [93,94]), CYP2D6 inhibitors (increased levels), carbamazepine (reduced levels; [95,96]) and the antiretroviral agent ritonavir (reduced levels, by induction of either CYP1A2 or glucuronsyl transferase;

[97]). Another factor determining olanzapine concentrations is smoking (reduced levels; [98]).

#### 10.4.2.5 Overdose

Renwick et al. [99] have reported a biphasic plasma concentration-time curve after overdose with clozapine in a patient with schizophrenia with secondary peaks at approximately 36 hours post-admission.

# **10.5 LITHIUM**

While lithium is neither an antidepressant nor an antipsychotic, it is nonetheless relevant to make some general comments about this mood stabilizer as therapeutic drug monitoring is integral to its clinical usage. More detailed recent reviews are available elsewhere [e.g. 100].

Recommended therapeutic serum concentrations for lithium distinguish between usage in bipolar disorder and unipolar depression; and for the former, the phase of the illness. For bipolar disorder patients who are acutely manic, the usual recommended range is 0.5 to 1.2 mmol/L. Interestingly, this range has been largely determined by expert clinical consensus, as there has only been one study randomly assigning patients to varying lithium concentrations. There have been more studies of serum concentrations for the maintenance phase of bipolar disorder, with the common recommendations being for a lower level of either 0.5 or 0.6, and a usual upper limit of 0.8 mmol/L. In the case of unipolar depression, lithium is most commonly used as an augmenting agent after failure to respond to an antidepressant alone. In that circumstance, studies indicate that a minimal threshold concentration of at least 0.4 mmol/L is required.

Lithium toxicity normally occurs at serum concentrations of greater than 1.5 to 2.0 mmol/L, though in the elderly toxicity can occur at lower levels. Concentrations greater than 3.5 mmol/L are potentially lethal, and haemodialysis is recommended. Toxicity may present with clinical features such as impaired consciousness, apathy, hyper-reflexia, hypertonia, muscle fasciculations, dysarthria, ataxia, coarse tremor or renal failure. Toxicity may be due to concurrent prescription of agents such as thiazide diuretics, ACE inhibitors or NSAIDs. Other causes are overdose (accidental or deliberate), vomiting, diarrhoea or fever.

# **10.6 CONCLUSION**

In spite of the apparent advantages of TDM in the management of depression and schizophrenia, utilization in practice is poor. For example, a study in Sweden [101] found use of TDM for antidepressants to be low, with only 20% of psychiatrists (and 2% of GPs) using TDM for TCAs regularly. Although therapeutic concentrations have only been demonstrated for a relatively small number of antidepressants and antipsychotics, TDM is of significant potential clinical advantage where either toxicity or sub-therapeutic levels are suspected. Growing evidence for significant effects of differing

polymorphisms of the various CYP450 enzymes suggests that genotyping will have an increasing future clinical role – in tandem with TDM.

#### **10.7 REFERENCES**

- K. Brøsen, P.N. Nielson, K. Brusgaard, L.F. Gram and K. Skjødt, Eur. J. Clin. Pharmacol., 47 (1994) 221–225.
- 2 K. Brøsen, Ther. Drug Monit., 18 (1996) 393–396.
- 3 P.B. Mitchell, Drug Safety 4 (1979) 129–136.
- 4 D.J. Greenblatt, L.L. von Moltke, J.S. Harmatz and R.I. Schader, J. Clin. Psychiat., 59 (1998) 19.
- 5 J.A. Cramer, and R. Rosenheck, Psych. Serv., 49 (1998) 196–201.
- 6 A.H. Dawson and I.M. White, Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol., 48 (1999) 278.
- 7 P. Baumann, Clin. Pharmacokinet., 31 (1996) 444–469.
- 8 P. McManus, A. Mant, P.B. Mitchell, W.S. Montgomery, J. Marley and M.E. Auland, MJA 173 (2000) 458–461.
- 9 S.H. Preskorn and G.A. Fas, J. Clin. Psychiatry, 52 (1991) 23–33.
- 10 M.W. Linder and P.E. Keck, Clin. Chem. 44 (1998) 1073–1084.
- 11 S.H.Y. Wong, Clin. Lab. Med., 7 (1987) 415–433.
- 12 P.J. Orsulak, Ther. Drug Monit., 11 (1989) 497–507.
- 13 R.N. Gupta, J. Chromatogr., 576 (1992) 183–211.
- 14 APA Task Force, Am. J. Psychiatry, 142 (1985) 155–162.
- 15 P.J. Perry, B.M. Pfohl and S.G. Holstad, Clin. Pharmacokinet., 13 (1987) 381–392.
- 16 S. Leucht, W. Steimer, S. Kreuz, D. Abraham, P.J. Orsulak and W. Kissling, J. Clin. Psychopharmacol., 21 (2001) 432–439.
- 17 V.E. Ziegler, P.J. Clayton, J.R. Taylor, B.T. Co and J.T. Biggs, Clin. Pharmacol. Therap., 20 (1976) 458–463.
- 18 S. Vandel, B. Vande, M. Sandoz, G. Allers, P. Bechtel and R. Volmat, Eur. J. Clin. Pharmacol., 14 (1978) 185–190.
- 19 J.C. Nelson, P. Jatlow, D.M. Quinlan and M.B. Bowers, Arch. Gen. Psychiatry, 39 (1982) 1419–1422.
- 20 C.F. Reynolds, J.M. Perel and E. Frank, Am. J. Psychiatry 156 (1999) 1177.
- 21 S. Ulrich and J. Lauter, Clin. Pharmacokinet., 41 (2001) 853–876.
- 22 M.W. Linder, R.A. Prough and R. Valdes, Clin. Chem. 43 (1997) 254–266.
- 23 M.W. Linder and R. Valdes, Ann. Clin. Lab. Sci., 29 (1999) 140-149.
- 24 K. Shimoda, S. Morita, G. Hirokane, Y. Yokono, T. Someya and S. Takahashi, Pharmacol. Toxicol., 86 (2000) 245–249.
- 25 G.M. Murphy, B.G. Pollock, M.A. Kirshner, N. Pascoe, W. Cheuk, B.G. Mulsant and C.F. Reynolds, Neuropsychopharm., 25 (2001) 737–743.
- 26 E.E. Kvist, A. Al-Shurbaji, M-L. Dahl, C. Nordin, G. Alvan and L. Stahle, Clin. Pharmacokinet., 40 (2001) 869–877.
- 27 M.-L. Dahl and F. Sjoqvist, Ther. Drug Monit., 22 (2000) 114–117.
- 28 J. Kirchheiner, K. Brosen, M. Dahl, L. Gram, S. Kasper, I. Roots, F. Sjoqvist, E. Spina and J. Brockmoller, Acta Psychiatr. Scand., 104 (2001) 173–192.
- 29 K. Shimoda, M. Jerling, Y. Vottiger, S. Yasuda, S. Morita and L. Bertilsson, J. Clin. Psychopharmacol., 19 (1999) 393–400.
- 30 A. Johne, J. Schmider, J. Brockmoller, A.M. Stadelmann, E. Stomer, S. Bauer, G. Scholler, M. Langheinrich and I. Roots, J. Clin. Psychopharmacol., 22 (2002) 46–54.
- 31 H. Madsen, K. Neilsen and K. Brøsen, Br. J. Clin. Pharmac. 39 (1995) 433-439.
- 32 B. Geller, T.B. Cooper, M.D. Schluchter, J.E. Warham and L.G. Carr, J. Clin. Psychopharmacol., 7 (1987) 321–323.
- 33 P. Hazel, D. O'Connell, D. Heathcote, J. Robertson and D. Henry, BMJ, 310 (1995) 897–901.
- 34 S.H. Preskorn, R.C. Dorey and G.S. Jerkovich, Clin. Chem., 34 (1988) 822.
- 35 J. Lundmark, M. Reis and F. Bengtsson, Ther. Drug Monit. 22 (2000) 446–454.
- 36 G. Jannuzzi, G. Gatti, P. Magni, E. Spina, R. Pacifici, P. Zuccaro, R. Torta, L. Guarneri and E. Perucca, Ther. Drug Monit., 24 (2002) 616–627.
- 37 C.L. De Vane, Cell. Molecul. Neurobiol., 19 (1999) 443–466.
- 38 C. Li, Z. Ji, F. Nan, Q. Shao, P. Liu, J. Dai, J. Zhen, H. Yuan, F. Xu, J. Cui, B. Huang, M. Zhang and C. Yu, Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom., 16 (2002) 1844–1850.
- 39 G.A. Torok-Both, G.B. Baker, R.T. Coutts, K.F. McKenna and L.J. Aspeslet, J, Chromatogr. B Biomed., 579 (1992) 99–106.
- 40 B. Rochat, M. Amey, H. Van Gelderen, B. Testa and P. Baumann, Chirality, 7 (1995) 389–395.
- 41 N. Bolo, Y. Hode, J-F. Nedelec, E. Laine, G. Wagner and J-P. Macher, Neuropsychopharmacol., 23 (2000) 428–438.
- 42 J.C. Fleishaker, Clin. Pharmacokinet., 39 (2000) 413–427.
- 43 D. Ohman, B. Norlander, C. Peterson and F. Gengtsson, Ther. Drug Monit., 23 (2001) 27–34.
- 44 S. Hertter, H. Weigmann and C. Hiemke, J. Clin. Chromatograph. B, 740 (2000) 135–140.
- 45 D. Ohman, B. Norlander, C. Peterson and F. Bengtsson, J. Chromatography, 947 (2002) 247–254.
- 46 B.D. Herman, J.C. Fleishaker and M.T. Brown, Clin. Pharmacol. Ther., 66 (1999) 374–379.
- 47 G.S. Malhi and P.B. Mitchell, Primary Psychiatry, 10 (2003) 62-66.
- 48 P. Monteleone, G. Gnocchi and G. Delrio, J. Clin Psychopharmacol., 9 (1989) 284–287.
- 49 K. Mihara, N. Yasui-Furukori, T. Kondo, M. Ishida, S. Ono, T. Ohkubo, T. Osanai, K. Sugawara, K. Otani and S. Kaneko, Ther. Drug Monit., 24 (2002) 563–566.
- 50 M. Reis, J. Lundmark, H. Bjork and F. Bengtsson, Ther. Drug Monit., 24 (2002) 545–553.
- 51 J. Kane, G. Honigfeld and J. Singer, Arch. Gen. Psychiatry, 45 (1988) 789–796.
- 52 H.R. Angelo and A. Petersen, Ther. Drug Monit., 32 (2001) 157–162.
- 53 S-M. Wu, W-K. Ko, H-L. Wu and S.H. Chen, J. Chromatogr. A, 846 (1999) 239–243.
- 54 T. Van Putten, S.R. Marder, W.C. Wirshing, M. Aravagir and N. Chabert, Schizoph. Bull., 17 (1991) 197–216.
- 55 J.I. Javaid, J. Clin. Pharmacol., 34 (1994) 286–295.
- 56 R.J. Baldessarini, B.M. Cohen and M.H. Teicher, Arch. Gen. Psychiatry, 45 (1988) 79–91.
- 57 S.R. Marder, M. Aravagiri, W.C. Wirshing, D.A. Wirshing, M. Lebell and J. Mintz, Schizophrenia Res., 52 (2002) 25–30.
- 58 D.J. Palao, A. Arauxo, M. Brunet, M. Bernardo, J.M. Haro, J. Ferrer and E. Gonzalez-Monclus. Haloperidol, J. Clin. Psychopharmacol., 14 (1994) 303–310.
- 59 L. Pan, R.V. Stichele, M.T. Rosseel, J.A. Berlo, N. De Schepper and F.M. Belpaire, Ther. Drug Monit., 21 (1999) 489.
- 60 T. Someya, Y. Suzuki, K. Shimod, G. Hirokane, S. Morita, A. Yokono, Y. Inoue and S. Takahashi, Psych. Clin. Neurosci., 53 (1999) 593–597.
- 61 M. Jerling, M-L. Dahl, A. Åberg-Wistedt, B. Liljenberg, N-E. Landell, L. Bertilsson and F. Sjöqvist, Clin. Pharmacol. Ther., 59 (1996) 423–428.
- 62 M-L. Dahl, Clin Pharmacokinet., 41 (2002) 453–470.
- 63 H. Arthur, M. Dahl, B. Siwers and F. Sjöqvist, J. Clin. Pharamacol., 15 (1995) 211–216.
- 64 K. Iwahashi, K. Anemo, K. Nakamura, I. Fukunishi and K. Igarashi, Neuropsychobiol., 44 (2001) 126–128.
- 65 G. Hirokane, T. Someya, S. Takahashi, S. Morita, K. Shimoda, Ther. Drug Monit., 21 (1999) 82–86.
- 66 E. Yukawa, T. Hokazono, A. Funakoshi, M. Yukawa, S. Ohdo, S. Higuchi, R. Ichimura, T. Maki, K. Matsunaga, M. Anai and Y. Goto, J. Clin. Psychopharmacol., 20 (2000) 685–690.
- 67 M.C. Price and D.W.Hoffman, Ther. Drug Monit., 19 (1997) 333–337.
- 68 M. Aravagiri, D. Ames, W.C. Wirshing and S.R. Marder, Ther. Drug Monit., 19 (1997) 307–313.
- 69 M.J. Bogusz, K.D. Kruger, R.D. Maier, R. Erkwoh and F. Tuchtenhagen, J. Chromatrogr. B, 732 (1999) 257–269.
- 70 O.V. Olesen, B. Poulsen and K. Linnet, Ther. Drug Monit., 23 (2001) 51–55.
- 71 P.M. Llorca, F. Coudore, C. Corpelet, A. Buyens, M. Hoareau and A. Eschlaier, Clin. Chem., 47 (2001) 1719–1721.
- 72 D.J. Freeman, M.C. Li and L.K. Oyewumi, Ther. Drug Monit., 18 (1996) 688–692.
- 73 M. Aravagiri and S.R. Marder, J. Pharmaceut. Biomed. Anal., 26 (2001) 301–311.

- 74 S. Ulrich, S. Kruggel, H. Weigmann and C. Hiemke, J. Chromatogr. B, 73 (1999) 231–240.
- 75 L. Palego, L. Dell'Osso, D. Marazziti, L. Biondi, N. Sarno, A. Ciapparelli, A. Giromella, G. Giannaccini, A. Lucacchini and G.B. Cassano, Prog. Neuro-Psychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiat., 25 (2001) 519–533.
- 76 A. Kaladjian, B. Bery, E. Deturmeny and B. Bruguerolle, Ther. Drug Monit., 21 (1999) 327.
- 77 P.J. Perry, D.D. Miller and S.V. Arndt, Am. J. Psychiatry, 148 (1991) 231–235.
- 78 M. Hasegawa, R. Gutierrez-Esteinou, L. Way, H.Y. Meltzer, A. Breier and J.A. Talbott, J. Clin. Psychopharmacol., 13 (1993) 383–390.
- 79 S.G. Potkin, R. Bera, B. Gulasekaram, J. Costa, S. Hayes, Y. Jin, G. Richmond, D. Carreon, K. Sitanggan, B. Gerber, J. Telford, L. Plon, H. Plon, L. Park, Y-J.Chang, J. Oldroyd and T.B. Cooper, J. Clin. Psychiatry, 55 (1994) 133–136.
- 80 M.H. Kronig, R.A. Munne, S. Szymanski, A.Z. Safferman, S. Pollack, T. Cooper, J.M. Kane and J.A. Lieberman, Am. J. Psychiatry, 152 (1995) 179–182.
- 81 C. VanderZwaag, M. McGee, J.P. McEvoy, O. Freudenreich, W.H. Wilson and T.B. Cooper, Am. J. Psychiatry 153 (1996) 1579–1584.
- 82 D.D. Miller, F. Fleming, T.L. Holman and P.J. Perry, J. Clin. Psychiatry, 55 (1994) 117–121.
- 83 I. Gaertner, H.J. Gaertner, R. Vonthein and K. Dietz, J. Clin. Psychopharmacol., 21 (2001) 305–310.
- 84 O.V. Oleson, K. Thomsen, P.N. Jensen, C.H. Wulff, N-A. Rasmussen, C. Refshammer, J. Sorensen, M. Bysted, J. Christensen and R. Rosenberg, Psychopharmacol., 117 (1995) 371–378.
- 85 D.J. Freeman and L.K Oyewumi, Clin. Pharmacokinet., 32 (1997) 93–100.
- 86 A.C. Tschen, M.J. Rider, K. Oyewumi and D.J. Freeman, Clin. Pharmacol. Ther., 65 (1999) 526.
- 87 M.J. Arranz, E. Dawson, S. Shaikh, P. Sham, T. Sharma, M.A. Aitchison, M. Gill, R. Kerwin and D.A. Collier, Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol., 39 (1995) 417–420.
- 88 P.J. Perry, B.C. Lund, T. Sanger and C. Beasley, J. Clin. Psychopharmacol., 21 (2001) 14–20.
- 89 V. Ozdemire, W. Kalow, A.B. Okey, M.S.M. Lam, L.J. Albers, C. Reist, J. Fourier, P. Posner, E.J. Collins and R. Roy, J. Clin. Psychopharmacol., 21 (2001) 603–607.
- 90 M. Jerling, Y. Merlé, F. Mentré and A. Mallet, Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol., 44 (1997) 447–453.
- 91 M. Jerling, L. Lindström, U. Bondesson and L. Bertilsson, Ther. Drug Monit., 16 (1994) 368–374.
- 92 A.E. Balant-Gorgia, M. Gex-Fabry, C. Genet and L.P. Balant, Ther. Drug Monit., 21 (1999) 105–115.
- 93 H. Weigmann, S. Gerek, A. Zeisig, M. Muller, S. Hartter and C. Hiemke, Ther. Drug Monit., 23 (2001) 410–413.
- 94 C. Hiemke, A. Peled, M. Jabarin, J. Hadjez, H. Weigmann, S. Hartter, I. Modai, M. Ritsner and H. Silver, J. Clin. Psychopharmacol., 22 (2002) 502–506.
- 95 O. Olesen and K. Linnet, Ther. Drug Monit., 21 (1999) 87–90.
- 96 Linnet K. and O.V. Olesen, Ther. Drug Monit., 24 (2002) 512–517.
- 97 S.R. Penzak, Y.Y. Hon, W.D. Lawhorn, K.L. Shirley, C. Spratlin and M.W. Jann, J. Clin. Psychopharmacol., 22 (2002) 366–370.
- 98 E. Skogh, M. Reis, M-L. Dahl, J. Lundmark and F. Bengtsson, Ther. Drug Monit., 24 (2002) 518–526.
- 99 A.C. Renwick, A.G. Renwick, R.J. Flanagan and R.E. Ferner, Clin. Toxicol., 38 (2000) 325–328.
- 100 P.B. Mitchell, Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol., 52 (2001) 45S-54S.
- 101 G. Isacsson, U. Bergman, D. Wasserman, I. Redfors and F. Sjöqvist, Ann. Clin. Psychiatry, 8 (1996) 153–160.

This page intentionally left blank

CHAPTER 11

# Monitoring immunosuppressive drugs

David W. Holt<sup>1</sup> and Atholl Johnston<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> St George's Hospital Medical School, London SW17 ORE, U.K. <sup>2</sup> Barts and The London, Queen Mary's School of Medicine and Dentistry, London, U.K.

#### **11.1 INTRODUCTION**

The measurement of immunosuppressive drugs as a guide to their optimal prescription is an integral part of clinical practice in most transplant centres. Each of the drugs we will highlight is considered to be a critical-dose drug and, for some, it is a regulatory requirement to monitor their concentration. The practice of monitoring immunosuppressive drugs has shown substantial evolution since the introduction of serum or plasma measurements of cyclosporin in the early 1980s. The changes that have occurred are summarised in a series of consensus documents that have brought together both laboratory scientists and clinicians. It is arguable that, because of the ensuing dialogue, issues such as assay methodology and drug pharmacokinetics are better understood by transplant clinicians than by any other prescribing group. However, many of the consensus documents no longer reflect current assay techniques or prescribing practice. For this reason, a Working Group sponsored by the International Federation of Clinical Chemistry (IFCC) and the International Association of Therapeutic Drug Monitoring and Clinical Toxicology has been established. Its brief is to provide guidelines on monitoring issues to those monitoring the drugs in the laboratory and those monitoring their effects in the clinic [1].

Many of the methodological problems related to the measurement of these drugs, such as the choice of sample matrix, have been resolved. Other issues, such as sample timing and the performance of new methods, are still the subject of on-going discussion and research. In this chapter we aim to summarise the methodological issues relating to the measurement of cyclosporin, tacrolimus, mycophenolic acid and sirolimus (with a brief mention of everolimus). The methodological issues will be set in the context of factors that affect the clinical interpretation of the measurements, since they form an integral part of their proper interpretation. It is not our intention to provide "method sheets" for each drug, since manufacturers' data sheets, or the original papers on assay development, are easily available. Rather, we seek to provide a balanced view on the

available methods, from which the reader can make an informed judgement on assay performance.

It is unfortunate that there are no established reference methods for the measurement of the immunosuppressive drugs, in line with IFCC guidelines [2], especially as there are substantial between-method differences in performance [3]. Immunosuppressive drug measurements are often used in support of regulatory studies for the introduction of new drugs or new galenical formulations. As a result, there has been a growing interest by individual laboratories in the validation of these assays to the standards acceptable to regulatory authorities, such as the Food and Drug Administration [4]. However, the absence of internationally agreed control samples makes the use of such assays on several sites difficult to police, leading to the need for blinded external testing of performance of laboratories participating in multicentre clinical studies [5].

Data on comparative performance are only available from research papers that set out to compare individual methods, or from the findings of proficiency testing schemes. The latter are often the most relevant, since they may document long term trends for such parameters as inaccuracy or specificity [6,7]. The schemes with the most peer-reviewed publications are those organised by ourselves, and we will use data from these schemes to illustrate individual aspects of assay performance [8].

The choice of assay method by a particular laboratory depends on a number of factors. These include – apparatus available, in-house technical expertise, clinical indications for which the assay will be used, sample load and required turn-around time. Thus, there is no single response on which method to choose and, even when a method has been chosen, changes in clinical practice or the availability of new assay methods may prompt a change in methodology. With these issues in mind, we will examine the methods available for the measurement of the major immunosuppressants in use today, for which monitoring is advised. We start with the longest established drugs cyclosporin and tacrolimus. They share a common mode of action, being inhibitors of the enzyme calcineurin [9].

#### **11.2 CYCLOSPORIN**

Although the early literature on cyclosporin documented measurements made in serum or plasma it soon became clear that the matrix was not optimal. Temperature-dependent partitioning of the drug into erythrocytes results in relatively low concentrations of the drug in plasma or serum, with the final concentration being influenced by the temperature at which the sample is separated [10]. As a consequence, from the earliest consensus panel report on cyclosporin measurement, the recommendation has been for the use of whole blood as the sample matrix [11]. It took some years to effect the transition from the use of plasma or serum to the use of a whole blood matrix, a change driven largely by the consistent message from consensus guidelines [12–17].

Despite reservations concerning antibody specificity for the parent compound the overwhelming majority of centres use immunoassay kits to measure cyclosporin [18]. The current immunoassays for cyclosporin almost all use monoclonal anti-cyclosporin antibodies with a high specificity for the parent compound. The exception is a

polyclonal assay produced by Abbott Laboratories (Abbott Park, IL, USA), that crossreacts substantially with metabolites of the drug [19]. However, even the monoclonal antibody immunoassays cross-react, to a variable extent, with the metabolites of the drug [3,20]. Thus, for clinical samples from kidney transplant patients, the measured concentration using an immunoassay can have a bias in the approximate range 10% to 40%, compared with a chromatographic assay. This bias can be substantially higher for samples from patients with hepatic dysfunction, as cross-reacting metabolites accumulate in the blood [21].

The alternative to an immunoassay is high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC), which is often cited as the "gold-standard" technique. For fully validated assays this may be so, but cyclosporin is not the easiest of drugs to measure by this technique if ultraviolet (UV) detection is used. The molecule does not have a strong chromophore, detectable at a selective wavelength, and interference from components of the blood matrix and metabolites is common. There is a growing use of HPLC with mass-spectrometric (MS) detection [22–26] but, overall, fewer than 6% of laboratories measure the drug using HPLC, and most of these use UV detection [7]. In general, HPLC does not perform well, with a wide scatter of results evident, even in spiked samples, as can be seen from Fig. 11.1. The median value for HPLC was in line with the weighed-in value, but the variability was high, probably due in part to the need for centres using this technique to prepare their own calibrators in-house. The data in Fig. 11.1 also highlight differences in calibration between the seven high specificity techniques in common use. Calibration differences between these assays have been noted before [6].

However, when samples from patients receiving cyclosporin are analysed the differences between a chromatographic technique and the immunoassays are very clear,



Fig. 11.1. Blood cyclosporin concentrations in a cyclosporin-free sample spiked to a nominal concentration of 250 μg/L. The data are presented as box and whisker plots, by analytical technique. HPLC – high-performance liquid chromatography; RIA – radio-immunoassay (CYCLO-Trac SP, DiaSorin); AxSYM – fluorescence polarisation immunoassay performed on the AxSYM platform (Abbott Laboratories); TDx – fluorescence polarisation immunoassay performed on the TDx platform (Abbott Laboratories); EMIT – homogeneous enzyme multiplied immunoassay (Dade Behring); CEDIA – cloned enzyme donor immunoassay (CEDIA Plus, Microgenics); ACMIA – Affinity Column Mediated Immunoassay (Dade Behring). Data – International Cyclosporin Proficiency Testing Scheme, unpublished.



Fig. 11.2. Blood cyclosporin concentrations in a pool of blood samples from patients receiving the drug following kidney transplantation. The data are presented as box and whisker plots, by analytical technique. HPLC – high-performance liquid chromatography; RIA – radio-immunoassay (CYCLO-Trac SP, DiaSorin); AxSYM – fluorescence polarisation immunoassay performed on the AxSYM platform (Abbott Laboratories); TDx – fluorescence polarisation immunoassay performed on the TDx platform (Abbott Laboratories); EMIT – homogeneous enzyme multiplied immunoassay (Dade Behring); CEDIA – cloned enzyme donor immunoassay (CEDIA Plus, Microgenics); ACMIA – Affinity Column Mediated Immunoassay (Dade Behring). Data – International Cyclosporin Proficiency Testing Scheme, unpublished.

as shown in Fig. 11.2. For this pooled sample from kidney transplant patients HPLC gives the lowest median result whilst the Abbott Monoclonal Antibody assay gives a result more than 40% higher. The remaining immunoassays show biases of about 10–20% compared with HPLC. These differences are typical, but are not fixed. The relative differences are influenced by the proportion of metabolites in a sample and, as Fig. 11.1 shows, are altered by calibrator accuracy. Since most users of immunoassay kits use the calibrators provided by the manufacturer, changes in the standardisation of these calibrators can have a substantial influence on the results produced by a method [27]. The caveat here is that, if cyclosporin measurements are to be made as part of pharmacokinetic studies, or if measurements are to be compared over time or between clinical centres, attention must be paid to assay specificity and to longitudinal performance characteristics.

Despite experience of cyclosporin monitoring spanning 20 years, the impact of these assay differences on patient outcomes is still not clear and has been the subject of recent controversy [28]. Empirically, those applying the cyclosporin measurements to patient care have recognised the assay differences and coped with them by using assay-specific target concentration ranges [16]. The mainstay of monitoring has been the pre-dose, or trough ( $C_0$ ), blood sample, in which cyclosporin concentrations are of the order 100–400 µg/L. For some time it has been known that cyclosporin efficacy is related to exposure during a dosing interval, as judged by the area under the time-concentration curve (AUC), but that the trough sample is not a good reflection of exposure [29]. Measurement of the full AUC requires the collection of several samples and is logistically difficult, even if limited sampling strategies are used [30]. As a result, AUC measurement has been adopted by few centres.

Recently, interest has focused on the use of a sample collected two hours post-dose (C2) [31,32]. The rationale for using this time point is that it is a surrogate for AUC<sub>0-4</sub>, the time period during which most of the variability in the 12 hour AUC can be explained [33]. Measurement of cyclosporin in these samples has methodological implications [34]. For most immunoassays the concentrations measured in many C<sub>2</sub> samples are outside the calibration range of the assay. To date, only one manufacturer has introduced an immunoassay with calibrators covering a concentration range up to 2000 µg/L (CEDIA Cyclosporin Plus, Microgenics, Fremont, CA, USA). Thus, sample dilution is required, and blinded testing of laboratories has yielded some disturbing results on the accuracy of dilution techniques [35]. In addition, until recently, it was not clear what the relative differences between the immunoassays would be in C<sub>2</sub> samples. In fact, it has emerged that the relative differences between several of the immunoassays are smaller in  $C_2$  samples, compared with measurements made at  $C_0$ , probably due to a smaller proportion of metabolites in the two hour sample [36]. Thus, it may not be necessary to implement assay-specific concentration ranges using a C<sub>2</sub> monitoring strategy. Guidelines on the implementation of C<sub>2</sub> monitoring have been published [37,38], and it is evident that there is substantial interest in its introduction [28]. Laboratories asked to perform such measurements should be aware that precise sample timing is important (to within  $\pm$  10 minutes of two hours) [39] and that the underlying rationale for using this sample has been validated only for the Neoral® formulation of the drug [40,41]. The introduction of this formulation has also been a spur to the investigation of pharmacokinetic modelling of cyclosporin data to predict blood concentrations using Bayesian forecasting [42,43].

Cyclosporin measurement encompasses all of the problems that are seen for the other drugs covered in this review. It is particularly complex due to the plethora of assays that have been produced and the changes that have occurred in monitoring strategies. Current assay performance characteristics of the immunoassays are well documented in a recent review [22]. However, anyone entering this minefield for the first time should ensure that the assay they use is appropriate to the transplant indications they are serving, and the sample time point they are being asked to measure.

#### **11.3 TACROLIMUS**

Tacrolimus also distributes extensively into red blood cells. Although the earliest measurements were made in plasma or serum, laboratories soon moved towards the use of a whole blood matrix. Typical concentrations in whole blood associated with efficacy are in the range  $5-20 \mu g/L$  [17].

Of the drugs reviewed here, tacrolimus measurement has seen few developments in assay methodology of late. A consensus document appeared in 1995 [44] and was updated in 1998 [17], together with a review on tacrolimus monitoring [45]. Since the publication of these documents, almost all centres continue to use an immunoassay produced by Abbott Laboratories, based on the microparticle enzyme immunoassay (MEIA) technology, performed on the IMx clinical analyser. The sensitivity of this assay was improved and it was re-launched as the Tacrolimus II assay. The change was

made because, in its original format, the assay could not measure the concentrations typically achieved when tacrolimus doses were progressively lowered after the original clinical studies were published [46,47]. Because the vast majority of centres use the same analytical technique, there has been no tendency to produce assay-related target ranges.

An enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA, DiaSorin, Stillwater, MN, USA), using the same antibody [48], was also launched, but is now used by very few laboratories [49]. Recently, an immunoassay based on the enzyme multiplied immunoassay technique (EMIT) has been launched (Dade Behring, Marburg, Germany). The assay platforms for the EMIT assay offer some operational advantages compared with the IMx analyser and, although on the market for little more than a year, there is already documented information on its use [50].

As for cyclosporin, there is a growing interest in the use of HPLC, but the actual number of centres using this technique is still very small. The only feasible detection system is MS and a number of assays can be found in the literature [51–56]. Application of HPLC/MS to the routine measurement of tacrolimus was described relatively early [52].

Immunoassay bias compared with chromatographic assays is similar to that seen with the majority of immunoassays used to measure cyclosporin. Typically, concentrations measured by the IMx (Tacrolimus II) assay are about 15% higher than those measured by HPLC, with no transplant-related difference in bias [57]. Others have noted a higher mean bias, approximately 25%, ranging to as high as 70% [58]. The cause of this bias is cross-reactivity with the 31-O-demethyl-, 15-O-demethyl- and 15,31-O-didemethyl-metabolites of tacrolimus; the 31-O-demethyl- metabolite has pharmacological activity comparable with the parent compound, but is normally found in low concentration [58,59]. Few centres have had the opportunity to investigate the extent of the bias for samples giving unexpected clinical correlates with the measured result, but one group showed a 10 fold higher result by immunoassays compared with HPLC/MS for samples from a liver transplant patient with hepatic dysfunction [60].

Since the ELISA assay uses the same antibody as that used in the IMx assay it is not surprising that it also has a bias compared with HPLC. Estimates of the bias vary, influenced by factors such as transplant indication and assay calibration, but are generally lower than those seen with the IMx assay, for reasons that are not established. Staatz et al. noted a mean bias of only 2% in samples from kidney transplant patients, but this increased to 12% in samples from liver transplant patients [61]. When MacFarlane et al. validated the ELISA against LC/MS, using samples from liver transplant patients, the mean bias was 9.5% [49]. For the same samples, the mean bias was 42% using the IMx assay. The sensitivity of the ELISA is better than that of the IMx. MacFarlane et al. suggested that the functional sensitivity was 1.0  $\mu$ g/L, whereas a value of 2  $\mu$ g/L seems more appropriate for the IMx assay [47]. Recent College of American Pathologists (CAP) external proficiency testing data suggest that the IMx assay has an unacceptable bias against HPLC at concentrations below 9  $\mu$ g/L [62].

The only substantive publication on the EMIT assay, to date, suggested that the results produced by this assay, for patient samples from three transplant indications, were very similar to those produced by the IMx [50]. There was a small positive bias



Fig. 11.3. Mean tacrolimus concentrations in a pool of blood samples from patients receiving the drug following liver transplantation. The analytical techniques were: HPLC – high-performance liquid chromatography with mass-spectrometric detection, EMIT – enzyme multiplied immunoassay technique (Dade Behring), IMx – microparticulate enzyme immunoassay technique (Abbott Laboratories). Data – International Tacrolimus Proficiency Testing Scheme, unpublished.

against the IMx assay when external proficiency testing samples were analysed. The assay uses a different antibody to that used in the ELISA and IMx assays. Independent data on the cross-reactivity of the antibody and a comparison with HPLC/MS are awaited.

Typical results for a recent challenge in our tacrolimus proficiency testing scheme show a bias using both immunoassays compared with HPLC/MS. Fig. 11.3 shows the mean data for the measurement of tacrolimus in a pooled sample from liver transplant patients receiving the drug. There was a 7.5% bias using the IMx assay, compared with 23.9% using the EMIT assay. However, data from the scheme, collected throughout 2002, suggests that, whilst spiking accuracy was good, both immunoassays overestimated tacrolimus by about 15% compared with HPLC/MS when samples with known amounts of added tacrolimus were circulated (data unpublished). Thus, part of the immunoassay bias appears to be due to inaccuracy of the immunoassay calibrators. Data from the CAP proficiency testing scheme, collected over a period of three years, shows not only a larger bias for the IMx assay, against HPLC/MS values generated by a single centre, but also that the calibration of the immunoassay has changed over time [63].

Sample timing for tacrolimus has been, almost exclusively, pre-dose. Of late, largely kindled by the interest in cyclosporin  $C_2$  monitoring, there has been an interest in the use of alternative sampling times. However, the absorption profile of tacrolimus is erratic and no single time point has been found to be of more clinical value than  $C_0$ . The relationship between tacrolimus exposure, as judged by the AUC, and the  $C_0$  sample concentration is often cited as good, with r<sup>2</sup> values of 0.86 [64] and 0.82 [65] being quoted. However, other groups have found this relationship to be less sound [66]. Despite these concerns, trough sample monitoring for tacrolimus seems set to stay for the foreseeable future.

The question as to whether a selective measurement gives a better guide to dose adjustment than an immunoassay has not been addressed, partly because few centres have had access to HPLC/MS. Paradoxically, the most recent multicentre study that examined parameters of efficacy and toxicity against tacrolimus concentrations, in liver transplant patients, used the ELISA assay [67]. More outcome studies, designed to assess the clinical value of tacrolimus measurements are needed, for both the IMx and EMIT assays.

#### **11.4 MYCOPHENOLIC ACID**

Mycophenolic acid (MPA) is a non-competitive inhibitor of the enzyme inosine monophosphate dehydrogenase (IMPDH) [68]. Most data on the use of MPA in transplantation are based on the prescription of the mycophenolate mofetil (MMF) formulation. This is a pro-drug formulation which uses the morpholinoethyl ester of MPA, devised to overcome the poor oral bioavailability of MPA. MMF is marketed as Cellcept® (Roche, Basle, Switzerland) and is also available as an intravenous formulation [69]. Following oral administration MMF is rapidly hydrolysed to MPA and is virtually undetectable in plasma. Even after intravenous infusion, MMF is not detected in plasma about 10 minutes after infusion [70]. Another oral formulation, the enteric coated sodium salt of MPA (Myfortic®, Novartis Pharma, Basle, Switzerland), is also in development [71]. Doses of MMF are of the order 2 grams per day, whilst those of the enteric coated formulation are about 1.5 grams per day, the difference being due to the weight of the ester in the MMF formulation. The most recent consensus guidelines on monitoring MPA were published in 2001 [72]. Almost all the drug remains within the plasma fraction in whole blood, the underlying reason for measuring MPA in plasma or serum. The drug is extensively bound to plasma proteins, principally albumin, but the free fraction can vary substantially, from as little as 1% in patients with normal renal function to as much as 7% in patients with poor renal function or low albumin concentrations [73,74].

The principal metabolite of MPA is the phenolic glucuronide, which can be present in plasma at a much higher concentration than the parent compound, especially in patients with renal dysfunction [75]. Average AUC<sub>0-12</sub> values for the phenolic glucuronide can exceed those of the parent compound by a factor of more than 40 in kidney transplant patients receiving MMF 2g per day [76]. This metabolite does not possess pharmacological activity, with respect to the in vitro inhibition of IMPDH [77]. However, it can be of interest to measure this compound as it displaces MPA from its binding sites on albumin, increasing the free fraction of MPA [78]. In contrast to the phenolic glucuronide, another metabolite, the acyl glucuronide does inhibit IMPDH, in a concentration-dependent manner of similar magnitude to the parent compound [77]. In addition, a 7–0-glucoside metabolite has also been identified [79]. In terms of monitoring, this metabolite is of less interest than the glucuronides, since it has not been shown to have any pharmacological activity [77].

Of the drugs dealt with in this review, the measurement of mycophenolic acid should be the least problematic. It is measured in plasma or serum, rather than whole blood, and is present in the highest concentrations during normal therapy. Typical concentrations in pre-dose samples are of the order 1–3 mg/L [72]. Several chromatographic assays have been developed for the measurement of MPA in plasma or serum, based on HPLC with UV detection, all with adequate sensitivity to monitor the drug as a guide to therapy, and most able to measure the phenolic glucuronide [80–84]. One of these includes validation for the two compounds in urine [84]. A method based on capillary electrophoresis, in which simultaneous quantification of MPA and MPAG can be performed, has also been published [85]. In addition, in some parts of the world, there is an EMIT immunoassay that can be performed on a variety of clinical analysers [86,87].

Results produced by the immunoassay for the measurement of MPA in samples from patients treated with the drug are generally higher than those produced by a chromatographic assay [87]. Typically, the assay bias is about 20% [88], although it varies widely, depending on factors such as the time of sampling relative to the last dose [89] and concomitant drug therapy [90]. Data from pooled samples from patients receiving the drug, circulated in a proficiency testing scheme, show broad agreement on the extent of the immunoassay bias [91]. The principal reason for the bias has been shown to be cross-reactivity with the acyl glucuronide metabolite of MPA [92]. The bias is not due to the principal metabolite, since the phenolic glucuronide does not cross-react with the antibody used in the EMIT assay [90]. The immunoassay is a convenient format to use for routine monitoring, giving acceptable precision at the concentrations associated with normal therapy [90]. However, for this assay, it has been suggested that, due to its analytical bias, the target concentrations should be higher than those used with chromatographic measurements [87].

There is another source of assay bias when using the immunoassay. The pro-drug, MMF, cross-reacts with the antibody, so use of this assay within 10 minutes of MMF infusion is not recommended [93]. In addition, MMF is not stable in plasma samples. In samples collected shortly after MMF infusion it can breakdown in vitro to form MPA, compromising the integrity of MPA measurements made in pharmacokinetic studies after intravenous infusion of MMF. This is a problem that can affect measurements by both immunoassay and chromatographic techniques. Samples can be stabilised to prevent the breakdown of MMF by the addition of phosphoric acid to yield a pH of approximately 2.5 [94].

Only one centre has published data on the measurement of the acyl glucuronide, using HPLC with UV detection [95]. The acyl glucuronide was generated by human liver microsomes and subsequently isolated. Only small amounts of the product were available, insufficient to prepare accurate calibrators, so quantitation was based on the molar extinction of the phenolic glucuronide, which has similar UV absorption maxima. Concentrations of the acyl glucuronide in pre-dose samples varied widely within the range 0.08-1.43 mg/L, median 0.48 mg/L [96]. Thus, the concentration of this metabolite can be high, relative to MPA. This factor should be considered when comparing results generated by chromatographic techniques and the immunoassay. The rationale for measuring this compound is that it may be implicated in the aetiology of the gastrointestinal adverse effects of MPA. Acyl glucuronides have been linked with a number of adverse effects [97] and the acyl glucuronide of MPA has been shown to induce the in vitro release of cytokines such as IL-6 and TNF- $\alpha$  [98]. In a recent case report, inflammatory symptoms in two patients receiving MMF for an autoimmune indication were associated with raised concentrations of the acyl glucuronide and IL-6 [99]. Two analytical factors inhibit research work on this compound. Firstly, there is no

commercial source of the compound and, secondly, it is unstable in plasma at alkaline or neutral pH. Unless samples are stabilised by the addition of an acid, the compound breaks down, with significant losses within a few hours at ambient temperature [95].

Direct measurement of free concentrations of MPA in plasma, following ultracentrifugation, is methodologically more challenging than measuring total concentrations using HPLC with UV detection, because of sensitivity issues. In a study involving paediatric kidney transplant patients, pre-dose concentrations of free-MPA averaged only 0.01 mg/L [100]. One group has published information on the HPLC measurement of free MPA with MS detection, easily achieving the sensitivity necessary to measure free-MPA [101], whilst another group has published a modification of the EMIT assay for the same purpose [102]. Two other approaches to the measurement of free-MPA have appeared. Nowak and Shaw used radiolabelled MPA to calculate the free fraction of MPA, using ultrafiltration and equilibrium dialysis [78]. Ensom et al used an indirect measurement of free-MPA by spiking MPA into plasma samples prior to ultracentrifugation, producing a relatively high concentration of MPA in the ultrafiltrate, against which both the total and free concentrations could be measured by HPLC with UV detection [103].

Like cyclosporin and tacrolimus, there has been interest in the measurement of MPA exposure, as reflected by AUC over a dose interval (usually 12 hours). Several studies have linked total exposure to MPA with clinical efficacy [104-106]. No single time point appears to be adequate to assess AUC, but a number of limited sampling strategies have been devised using a series of samples collected up to six hours after dosing [76,107-109]. These strategies were developed for the concomitant use of MPA with cyclosporin but, there is a pharmacokinetic interaction between cyclosporin and MPA, resulting in lower pre-dose concentrations of MPA in association with cyclosporin, compared with tacrolimus or sirolimus [110,111]. Thus, it cannot be assumed that the algorithms developed for time-points involving cyclosporin and MPA dose regimens can be transferred to other clinical settings. A limited sampling strategy to calculate MPA AUC when the drug is used in combination with tacrolimus has been published [112]. Concentrations of MPA measured in samples collected during the first two hours after dosing may exceed the calibration range of the immunoassay (15 mg/L) or of calibrators prepared in-house for chromatographic assays. Thus, it is important to follow the advice of the kit manufacturer, or to use validated dilution techniques when measuring MPA concentrations outside the calibration range.

Finally, there has been interest in measuring inhibition of IMPDH in blood samples from patients receiving MPA, as a pharmacodynamic measure of its efficacy. Whilst this is an attractive approach to monitoring the efficacy of the drug, in our experience, the original methodology was difficult to reproduce. The method involved determining the rate of catalysis of a tritiated substrate, <sup>3</sup>H-hypoxanthine [113]. One centre did report results using the same approach, again, in kidney transplant patients [114]. Others have determined IMPDH activity using the direct HPLC measurement of the product xanthosine monophosphate from IMP, in lysed mononuclear cells [115], or lysed whole blood [116]. However, it should be noted that it is now known that inhibition of IMPDH is not the only pharmacological activity of MPA that gives rise to its immunosuppressive effects. Flow cytometric techniques have established that MPA also suppresses the

expression of important lymphocyte cell surface antigens [117]. Thus, measurement of IMPDH inhibition may not give the complete picture of the pharmacodynamics of this drug.

#### **11.5 SIROLIMUS**

Sirolimus, formerly rapamycin, was licensed only recently, for use following kidney transplantation, and there are convincing data to suggest that its measurement is clinically useful. Although structurally related to tacrolimus its mode of action is different. Most data relate to the use of sirolimus in combination with cyclosporin [118,119] but it has also been used as the primary immunosuppressant [120,121] and studies are in progress using a combination of sirolimus and tacrolimus therapy [122,123]. In Europe the licence for the use of sirolimus is based on a multicentre study in which cyclosporin therapy was withdrawn from a regimen of cyclosporin, sirolimus and steroids three months after transplantation [124]. In Europe routine monitoring of sirolimus is a regulatory requirement and in other countries in which it is registered monitoring is recommended in defined clinical settings. The clinical pharmacology of sirolimus, the historical setting for its measurement and a summary of the clinical trials have been summarised recently [125,126].

Sirolimus is bound extensively within red cells; the average blood to plasma ratio is in excess of 30 [127]. Thus, whole blood is the only feasible matrix for monitoring. It is not necessary to monitor the drug as frequently as cyclosporin or tacrolimus as the drug has a relatively long elimination half-life of about 60 hours,. Currently, target sirolimus concentrations after kidney transplantation are in the range 4–12  $\mu$ g/L whilst the drug is administered with cyclosporin and 12–20  $\mu$ g/L in cyclosporin-free regimens.

When the early clinical and pivotal clinical studies were planned they built on the experience gained during the development of both cyclosporin and tacrolimus [126]. Sirolimus was measured using validated HPLC assays with either UV [128,129] or MS detection [130,131]. For a brief period an investigational immunoassay for the measurement of sirolimus was available [132]. The assay was based on the MEIA technology and was performed on the IMx clinical analyser (Abbott Laboratories). When immunoassay results for pooled or individual pre-dose blood samples from kidney transplant patients receiving sirolimus were compared with results produced by LC/MS the immunoassay results were higher. The mean bias was in the approximate range 20% to 40% [129,132,133] and could be attributed to the known cross-reactivity of the anti-sirolimus antibody with metabolites of the drug.

The immunoassay was withdrawn before it became a marketed product, though not because of any concerns about its technical performance. As a result, HPLC was the only technique available for the measurement of the drug, a situation that still exists. Not that there is any lack of interest in developing an immunoassay for the drug; at least two diagnostic companies are in the process of developing such assays.

Because the concentrations of sirolimus associated with therapy are relatively low and, since the molecule has a poor UV absorption, quantitation is not easy using UV detection. The UV-based assays available at the time the drug was licensed tended to have long chromatographic run times, required relatively large sample volumes and had a lower limit of quantification close to the lower range of the target concentration range. Sensitivity was achieved by extensive sample clean-up procedures [128,134,135]. To fulfil the regulatory requirement for monitoring it was necessary to develop an HPLC/ UV assay that was robust enough to cope with the demand for sirolimus measurements, in laboratories without the resources to turn to the use of HPLC/MS. The manufacturer of the drug, Wyeth Pharmaceuticals, developed and promoted a method based on a 0.5 mL sample volume, liquid/liquid extraction and a chromatographic run time of less than 15 minutes [136]. The method gave good agreement with an HPLC/MS assay that was developed for routine clinical use and a small sample volume (100 µL) [137]. Subsequently, a number of methods have been published, based on either LC/UV [138,139] or HPLC/MS [26,53,56,140]. There is a clinical demand to provide results with a short turn-around time, and an increasing use of combined therapy with several immunosuppressive drugs. With this in mind, some of these methods have been designed to explore the use of HPLC/MS to measure cyclosporin, tacrolimus and sirolimus in one sample extract, with some success [26,56]. The stability of these systems has also been exploited to allow minimal calibration of routine assays, thus increasing throughput. In this laboratory our routine method for the measurement of sirolimus [137], regularly used to measure the drug in up to 120 samples per day, was validated to require full calibration only every 6 working days. Day-to-day assay calibration is confirmed by the use of internal quality control samples. Similarly, Taylor et al. have validated a single point calibration of their assay [141].

Most assays have used 32-desmethoxyrapamycin as the internal standard. Both this compound and sirolimus exist as an equilibrium mixture of inter- converting isomers. For sirolimus they are designated as A, B, and C, the major component being isomer B. On some chromatographic systems isomers B and C are resolved. However, since equilibrium is achieved between each isomer in calibrators, controls and patient samples, it is only necessary to use the peak for isomer B for quantitation.

Mass-spectrometric detection of sirolimus is aided by the useful fragmentation pattern and abundance of a product ion, allowing the selective measurement of low drug concentrations. The superiority of this technique, compared with the use of UV detection, is illustrated in Fig. 11.4, showing chromatograms for extracts from blood samples from patients receiving the drug following kidney transplantation. With mass-spectrometric detection, using a sample size of 100  $\mu$ L, it is easy to measure concentrations as low as 1  $\mu$ g/L. This is more than adequate for the use of the drug following solid organ transplantation, but we have needed to develop a more sensitive assay to measure the drug following its elution from sirolimus-coated stents used to prevent restenosis following angioplasty [142].

Sirolimus is extensively metabolised by the CYP3A enzyme system. Several metabolites, including hydroxylated and demethylated compounds have been identified [127,143]. It should be noted that few centres have definitive data to show that their chromatographic assays are free from interference from metabolites of sirolimus. This is likely to be of more concern for centres using UV detection, especially in clinical settings leading to the accumulation of metabolites, such as hepatic dysfunction.

However, it must be remembered that MS detection may not be entirely free from interference from metabolites [137], and that the influence of matrix effects should also be excluded during assay validation [144].

There have been some concerns regarding the stability of sirolimus working solutions and of blood samples containing sirolimus. It is good practice to protect methanolic solutions of sirolimus from light and to freeze them at  $-20^{\circ}$ C, or lower. Once sirolimus is spiked into whole blood it has proved stable at most working temperatures up to about  $30^{\circ}$ C for about a week, and to be stable when subjected to freeze/thawing [132,145]. It is at temperatures above about  $35^{\circ}$ C that instability of the drug has been noted, with a loss of more than 10% in blood samples stored at  $37^{\circ}$ C, increasing to more than 20% within a week [132]. As a result, systems have had to be established to enable sample



Fig. 11.4. Chromatograms for extracted blood samples from patients receiving sirolimus following kidney transplantation. a - with UV detection, using the method of French et al. [136]. S = sirolimus, IS = internal standard. Sample size 0.5mL, sirolimus concentration 6.6  $\mu$ g/L. b - with mass-spectrometric detection, using the method of Holt et al. [137]; upper panel sirolimus channel, lower panel internal standard channel. Sample size 0.1mL, sirolimus concentration 5.2  $\mu$ g/L. Data – Analytical Unit, unpublished.

References pp. 288-296

transport at sub-ambient temperatures when shipping samples to central laboratories for analysis [5]. This has added substantially to the cost of sirolimus monitoring.

The large body of data on blood sirolimus concentrations that resulted from the early and pivotal clinical studies has had a significant impact on dosing decisions [146]. Concentration ranges for use of the drug in kidney transplantation are well established, but are less well defined in liver or heart transplantation, or when the drug is used in combination with tacrolimus. The lack of an immunoassay for use on automated clinical analysers is seen as a disadvantage to the use of the drug by some clinicians, although it has proved possible to validate central laboratories to measure the drug by chromatographic assays on a global basis [147].

#### **11.6 EVEROLIMUS**

Although not a registered product at the time of writing, this drug has reached the stage of regulatory submission. The drug is the 40-O-hydroxyethyl analogue of sirolimus. Multicentre clinical trials of this compound in kidney transplant patients, in association with cyclosporin, suggest that the concentrations consistent with efficacy are similar to those used for sirolimus; target trough concentrations are in the range  $3-15 \mu g/L$  [148]. In some preliminary studies the drug was measured using an in-house immunoassay developed by the manufacturer of the drug, but the assay was never commercialised. The main regulatory studies have all used HPLC/MS, performed by a limited number of central laboratories. Whilst at least one immunoassay is in commercial development, as for sirolimus, the only technique available at present is HPLC; almost all laboratories are using MS detection. A number of HPLC/MS methods have been published [23,26,149,150].

Assuming this drug becomes a licensed product, it looks likely that routine monitoring will be required, since its route of metabolism and, hence, scope for pharmacokinetic drug interactions, is similar to the calcineurin inhibitors and sirolimus [151,152].

#### **11.7 EXTERNAL PROFICIENCY TESTING**

Participation in an external proficiency testing scheme has been a recommendation of all consensus documents on immunosuppressive drug monitoring. Proficiency testing data have highlighted several problems relating to assay inaccuracy and specificity [3,6,153]. The latter parameter is best addressed by circulating actual patient samples, although samples supplemented with authentic metabolites of the target drug can also be used [7]. Data from these schemes also provide a snapshot of current practice, useful when assessing the relative performance of new assays and changes with time that may affect assay calibration.

The two largest schemes are those co-ordinated from our laboratory at St George's Hospital Medical School and the CAP Scheme. Both have more than 400 participants for cyclosporin and over 300 participants for tacrolimus. There are other, local, schemes in Germany and Canada.

Both the pharmaceutical and diagnostics industry pay close attention to the results of these schemes. The data from our own schemes have been and are being used to monitor the consistency of assay performance at centres participating in long-term multicentre clinical trials. Our library of samples, all characterised with mean values for the available methodology, has been used in the validation of new methods.

Recent data for both cyclosporin and tacrolimus assays show that a large proportion of the variability recorded for the repeat measurement of these drugs was due to withinlaboratory factors [63]. These results underline the need for laboratories to obtain frequent feedback on the performance of their assays if they are to maintain consistent performance for the measurement of critical dose drugs that are subjected to prolonged monitoring.

#### **11.8 CONCLUSIONS**

Methods for the measurement of immunosuppressive drugs, as a guide to dose optimisation, are well documented. In general, the assay most selective for the parent compound should be used. In general, there is no evidence that measurement of metabolites adds to the interpretative value of the result for these drugs. Where the measurement of metabolites is useful, it should be performed using a selective method, rather than by biasing the result due to assay cross-reactivity or poor chromatographic selectivity. That said, the choice of assay technique adopted by any individual laboratory will depend on economic and service constraints.

Service providers must realise that it is not sufficient to provide only the drug concentration in isolation. Those establishing a routine assay service should be aware of the performance characteristics of their assay technique and its limitations. They should also have some knowledge of how to place the drug concentration into its clinical context [154]. This is becoming increasingly difficult, as the number of immunosuppressive drugs prescribed to each patient expands. The complexity of dose regimens may, themselves, endanger patient compliance, of concern to many clinicians [155,156]. It is now not uncommon to combine the use of drugs such as cyclosporin, sirolimus and mycophenolate in a single immunosuppressive regimen. Whether the use of complex flow cytometric tests to assess the pharmacodynamic properties of several drugs in combination will assist in the task of choosing the optimal doses of each drug remains to be seen [157]. Similarly, assays based on the ability of immunosuppressive drugs to bind to specific binding proteins show some promise in reflecting active drug concentrations, although they remain a research tool, rather than a routine procedure, at the moment [158].

At present, there is a tendency for immunosuppressive drug assay performance to be judged against a consensus value, usually an analytical method mean. This state of affairs may, in part, be encouraged by the style of data output from proficiency testing schemes [159]. However, there is a need to move towards judging these assays by more established rules of metrology, based on certified reference materials analysed by reference methods [160]. If this were the case, there would be an incentive for kit manufacturers to play closer attention to calibration and specificity issues.

#### **11.9 REFERENCES**

- D.W. Holt, V.W. Armstrong, A. Griesmacher, R.G. Morris, K.L. Napoli and L.M. Shaw, International Federation of clinical chemistry/international association of therapeutic drug monitoring and clinical toxicology working group on immunosuppressive drug monitoring. Ther. Drug Monit., 24 (2002) 59–67.
- 2 J. Buttner, Reference methods as a basis for accurate measuring systems. Eur. J. Clin. Chem. Clin. Biochem., 29 (1991) 223–235.
- 3 D.W. Holt and A. Johnston, Monitoring new immunosuppressive agents. Are the methods adequate? Drug Metabol. Drug Interact., 14 (1997) 5–15.
- 4 U.S. Department of Health and Services. Food and Drug Administration. Guidance for Industry. Bioanalytical method validation. www.fda.gov/cder/GUIDANCE/4252fnl.pdf. 2001.
- 5 K. Jones, A. Johnston and D.W. Holt, Proficiency testing issues relating to sirolimus. Clin. Ther., 22 (2000) 122–131.
- 6 D.W. Holt, K. Denny, T. Lee and A. Johnston, Cyclosporin Measurement Who cares about inaccuracy? Accred. Qual. Assur., 6 (2001) 405–408.
- 7 S.J. Soldin, B.W. Steele, D.L. Witte, E. Wang and R.J. Elin, Lack of specificity of cyclosporine immunoassays. Arch. Pathol. Lab. Med., 127 (2003) 19–22.
- 8 D.W. Holt and A. Johnston, Delivering quality for the measurement of immunosuppressive drugs: current performance and future needs. Accred. Qual. Assur., 4 (1999) 427–430.
- 9 P.F. Halloran, Mechanism of action of the calcineurin inhibitors. Transpl. Proc., 33 (2001) 3067–3069.
- 10 D.W. Holt, J.T. Marsden and A. Johnston, Measurement of cyclosporine: methodological problems. Transpl. Proc., 18 (1986) 101–110.
- 11 L.M. Shaw, L.D. Bowers, L. Demer, D.J. Freeman, T. Moyer and A. Sanghvi, Critical issues in cyclosporine monitoring: report of the task force on cyclosporine monitoring. Clin. Chem., 33 (1987) 1269–1288.
- 12 B.D. Kahan, L.M. Shaw, D. Holt, J. Grevel and A. Johnston, Consensus document: Hawk's Cay meeting on therapeutic drug monitoring of cyclosporine. Clin. Chem., 36 (1990) 1510–1516.
- 13 L.M. Shaw, R.W. Yatscoff, L.D. Bowers, D.J. Freeman, J.R. Jeffery, P.A. Keown et al., Canadian consensus meeting on cyclosporine monitoring: report of the consensus panel. Clin. Chem., 36 (1990) 1841–1846.
- 14 D.W. Holt, A. Johnston, N.B. Roberts, J.M. Tredger and A.K. Trull, Methodological and clinical aspects of cyclosporin monitoring: report of the association of clinical biochemists task force. Ann. Clin. Biochem., 31 (1994) 420–446.
- 15 R.G. Morris, S.E. Tett and J.E. Ray, Cyclosporin A monitoring in Australia: consensus recommendations. Ther. Drug Monit., 16 (1994) 570–576.
- 16 M. Oellerich, V.W. Armstrong, B. Kahan, L. Shaw, D.W. Holt, R. Yatscoff et al., Lake Louise Consensus Conference on cyclosporin monitoring in organ transplantation: report of the consensus panel. Ther. Drug Monit., 17 (1995) 642–654.
- 17 M. Oellerich, V.W. Armstrong, E. Schutz and L.M. Shaw, Therapeutic drug monitoring of cyclosporine and tacrolimus. Update on Lake Louise Consensus Conference on cyclosporin and tacrolimus. Clin. Biochem., 31 (1998) 309–316.
- 18 W. Steimer, Performance and specificity of monoclonal immunoassays for cyclosporine monitoring: how specific is specific? Clin. Chem., 45 (1999) 371–381.
- 19 J.M. Tredger, N. Roberts, R. Sherwood, G. Higgins and J. Keating, Comparison of five cyclosporin immunoassays with HPLC. Clin. Chem. Lab. Med., 38 (2000) 1205–1207.

- 20 E. Schutz, D. Svinarov, M. Shipkova, P.D. Niedmann, V.W. Armstrong, E. Wieland and M. Oellerich, Cyclosporin whole blood immunoassays (AxSYM, CEDIA, and Emit): a critical overview of performance characteristics and comparison with HPLC. Clin. Chem., 44 (1998) 2158–2164.
- 21 D.W. Holt, A. Johnston, J.T. Marsden, L. Vernillet, P.A. Keown, T.G. Rosano et al., Monoclonal antibodies for radioimmunoassay of cyclosporine: a multicenter comparison of their performance with the Sandoz polyclonal radioimmunoassay kit. Clin. Chem., 34 (1988) 1091–1096.
- 22 D.J. Andrews and R. Cramb, Cyclosporin: revisions in monitoring guidelines and review of current analytical methods. Ann. Clin. Biochem., 39 (2002) 424–435.
- 23 M. Deters, G. Kirchner, K. Resch and V. Kaever, Simultaneous quantification of sirolimus, everolimus, tacrolimus and cyclosporine by liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry (LC-MS). Clin. Chem. Lab. Med., 40 (2002) 285–292.
- 24 B.G. Keevil, D.P. Tierney, D.P. Cooper, M.R. Morris, A. Machaal and N. Yonan, Simultaneous and Rapid analysis of cyclosporin a and creatinine in finger prick blood samples using liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry and its application in C<sub>2</sub> monitoring. Ther. Drug Monit., 24 (2002) 757–767.
- 25 B.G. Keevil, D.P. Tierney, D.P. Cooper and M.R. Morris, Rapid liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry method for routine analysis of cyclosporin A over an extended concentration range. Clin. Chem., 48 (2002) 69–76.
- 26 F. Streit, V.W. Armstrong and M. Oellerich, Rapid liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry routine method for simultaneous determination of sirolimus, everolimus, tacrolimus, and cyclosporin A in whole blood. Clin. Chem., 48 (2002) 955–958.
- 27 R.G. Morris, Cyclosporin assays, metabolite cross-reactivity, and pharmacokinetic monitoring. Ther. Drug Monit., 22 (2000) 160–162.
- 28 R.G. Morris, K.F. Ilett, S.E. Tett, J.E. Ray, R.O. Fullinfaw, R. Cooke and S. Cook, Cyclosporin monitoring in Australasia: 2002 Update of consensus guidelines. Ther. Drug Monit., 24 (2002) 677–688.
- 29 K. Mahalati and B.D. Kahan, Pharmacological surrogates of allograft outcome. Ann. Transpl., 5 (2000) 14–23.
- 30 O.J. David and A. Johnston, Limited sampling strategies for estimating cyclosporin area under the concentration-time curve: review of current algorithms. Ther. Drug Monit., 23 (2001) 100–114.
- 31 P. Belitsky, S. Dunn, A. Johnston and G. Levy, Impact of absorption profiling on efficacy and safety of cyclosporin therapy in transplant recipients. Clin. Pharmacokinet., 39 (2000) 117–125.
- 32 P. Belitsky, G.A. Levy and A. Johnston, Neoral absorption profiling: an evolution in effectiveness. Transpl. Proc., 32 (2000) 45S–52S.
- 33 M. Cantarovich, J.G. Besner, J.S. Barkun, E. Elstein and R. Loertscher, Two-hour cyclosporine level determination is the appropriate tool to monitor Neoral therapy. Clin. Transpl., 12 (1998) 243–249.
- 34 D.W. Holt, Cyclosporin monitoring based on C2 sampling. Transpl., 73 (2002) 840–841.
- 35 D.W. Holt, A. Johnston, B.D. Kahan, R.G. Morris, M. Oellerich and L.M. Shaw, New approaches to cyclosporine monitoring raise further concerns about analytical techniques. Clin. Chem., 46 (2000), 872–874.
- 36 A. Johnston, G. Chusney, E. Schutz, M. Oellerich, T.D. Lee and D.W. Holt, Monitoring cyclosporin in blood: between-assay differences at trough and 2 hours post-dose (C2). Ther. Drug Monit., 25 (2003) 167–173.
- 37 E. Cole, K. Midtvedt, A. Johnston, J. Pattison and C. O'Grady, Recommendations for the implementation of Neoral C(2) monitoring in clinical practice. Transpl., 73 (2002) S19–S22.
- 38 G. Levy, E. Thervet, J. Lake and K. Uchida, Patient management by Neoral C(2) monitoring: an international consensus statement. Transpl., 73 (2002) S12–S18.
- 39 B. D. Kahan, P. Keown, G.A. Levy and A. Johnston, Therapeutic drug monitoring of immunosuppressant drugs in clinical practice. Clin. Ther., 24 (2002) 330–350.
- 40 D.W. Holt and A. Johnston, Cyclosporin microemulsion. A guide to usage and monitoring. BioDrugs, 7 (1997) 175–197.
- 41 D.W. Holt, Therapeutic drug monitoring of immunosuppressive drugs in kidney transplantation. Curr. Opin. Nephrol. Hypertens., 11 (2002) 657–663.

- 42 F. Leger, J. Debord, Y. Le Meur, A. Rousseau, M. Buchler, G. Lachatre et al., Maximum a posteriori Bayesian estimation of oral cyclosporin pharmacokinetics in patients with stable renal transplants. Clin. Pharmacokinet., 41 (2002) 71–80.
- 43 A. Rousseau, C. Monchaud, J. Debord, I. Vervier, M. Estenne, P. Thiry and P. Marquet, Bayesian forecasting of oral cyclosporin pharmacokinetics in stable lung transplant recipients with and without cystic fibrosis. Ther. Drug Monit., 25 (2003) 28–35.
- 44 W.J. Jusko, A.W. Thomson, J. Fung, P. Mcmaster, S.H. Wong, E. Zylberkatz et al., Consensus document: Therapeutic monitoring of tacrolimus (FK-506). Ther. Drug Monit., 17 (1995) 606–614.
- 45 A.K. Trull, Therapeutic monitoring of tacrolimus. Ann. Clin. Biochem., 35 (1998) 167–180.
- 46 J.M. Tredge, C.D. Gilkes and C.E. Gonde, Therapeutic monitoring of tacrolimus (FK506) with the first- and second-generation microparticle enzyme immunoassays: performance and results in four patient populations. Ther. Drug Monit., 20 (1998) 266–275.
- 47 J.M. Tredger, C.D. Gilkes and C.E. Gonde, Performance of the IMx tacrolimus II assay and practical limits of detection. Clin. Chem., 45 (1999) 1881–1882.
- 48 A.M. Alak, Measurement of tacrolimus (FK506) and its metabolites: a review of assay development and application in therapeutic drug monitoring and pharmacokinetic studies. Ther. Drug Monit., 19 (1997) 338–351.
- 49 G.D. Macfarlane, D.G. Scheller, D.L. Ersfeld, L.M. Shaw, R. Venkatarmanan, L. Sarkozi et al., Analytical validation of the PRO-Trac II ELISA for the determination of tacrolimus (FK506) in whole blood. Clin. Chem., 45 (1999) 1449–1458.
- 50 C.J. Hesse, C.C. Baan, A.H. Balk, H.J. Metselaar, W. Weimar and T. Van Gelder, Evaluation of the new EMIT enzyme immunoassay for the determination of whole-blood tacrolimus concentrations in kidney, heart, and liver transplant recipients. Transpl. Proc., 34 (2002) 2988–2990.
- 51 P. Salm, P.J. Taylor, A. Clark, G.A. Balderson, A. Grygotis, R.L. Norris et al., High-performance liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry as a reference for analysis of tacrolimus to assess two immunoassays in patients with liver and renal transplants. Ther. Drug Monit., 19 (1997) 694–700.
- 52 P.J. Taylor, S.V. Lynch, G.A. Balderson and A.G. Johnson, Therapeutic drug monitoring of tacrolimus (FK506) using tandem mass spectrometry. Ther. Drug Monit., 20 (1998) 240–241.
- 53 P.J. Taylor, P. Salm, S.V. Lynch and P.I. Pillans, Simultaneous quantification of tacrolimus and sirolimus, in human blood, by high-performance liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. Ther. Drug Monit., 22 (2000) 608–612.
- 54 U. Christians, W. Jacobsen, N. Serkova, L.Z. Benet, C. Vidal, K.F. Sewing et al., Automated, fast and sensitive quantification of drugs in blood by liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry with on-line extraction: immunosuppressants [In Process Citation]. J. Chromatogr. B, 748 (2000) 41–53.
- 55 B.G. Keevil, S.J. McCann, D.P. Cooper and M.R. Morris, Evaluation of a rapid micro-scale assay for tacrolimus by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. Ann. Clin. Biochem., 39 (2002) 487–492.
- 56 A. Volosov, K.L. Napoli and S.J. Soldin, Simultaneous simple and fast quantification of three major immunosuppressants by liquid chromatography – tandem mass-spectrometry. Clin. Biochem., 34 (2001) 285–290.
- 57 J.L. Cogill, P.J. Taylor, I.S. Westley, R.G. Morris, S.V. Lynch and A.G. Johnson, Evaluation of the tacrolimus II microparticle enzyme immunoassay (MEIA II) in liver and renal transplant recipients. Clin. Chem., 44 (1998) 1942–1946.
- 58 C.W. Armstrong, E. Schuetz, Q. Zhang, S. Groothuisen, C. Scholz, M. Shipkova et al., Modified pentamer formation assay for measurement of tacrolimus and its active metabolites: comparison with liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry and microparticle enzyme-linked immunoassay (MEIA-II). Clin. Chem., 44 (1998) 2516–2523.
- 59 K. Tamura, T. Fujimura, K. Iwasaki, S. Sakuma, T. Fujitsu, K. Nakamura et al., Interaction of tacrolimus(FK506) and its metabolites with FKBP and calcineurin. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., 202 (1994) 437–443.
- 60 F. Braun, E. Schutz, U. Christians, T. Lorf, J.H. Schiffmann, V.W. Armstrong et al., Pitfalls in monitoring tacrolimus (FK 506). Ther. Drug Monit., 19 (1997) 628–631.

- 61 C.E. Staatz, P.J. Taylor and S.E. Tett, Comparison of an ELISA and an LC/MS/MS Method for measuring tacrolimus concentrations and making dosage decisions in transplant recipients. Ther. Drug Monit., 24 (2002) 607–615.
- 62 A. Ghoshal and S. Soldin, IMx tacrolimus II assay: is it reliable at low blood concentrations? A comparison with tandem MS/MS. Clin. Biochem., 35 (2002) 389.
- 63 B.W. Steele, E. Wang, S.J. Soldin, G. Klee, R.J. Ielin and D.L. Witte, A longitudinal replicate study of immunosuppressive drugs: a college of American pathologists study. Arch. Pathol. Lab. Med., 127 (2003) 283–288.
- 64 N.A. Undre, J. Van Hooff, M. Christiaans, Y. Vanrenterghem, J. Donck, U. Heeman et al., Low systemic exposure to tacrolimus correlates with acute rejection. Transpl. Proc., 31 (1999) 296–298.
- 65 V.C. McAlister, K. Mahalati, K.M. Peltekian, A. Fraser and A.S. Macdonald, A clinical pharmacokinetic study of tacrolimus and sirolimus combination immunosuppression comparing simultaneous to separated administration. Ther. Drug Monit., 24 (2002) 346–350.
- 66 L.M. Stolk, E.M. Van Duijnhoven, M.H. Christiaans and J.P. Van Hooff, Trough levels of tacrolimus. Ther. Drug Monit., 24 (2002) 573–574.
- 67 R. Venkataramanan, L.M. Shaw, L. Sarkozi, R. Mullins, J. Pirsch, G. Macfarlane et al., Clinical utility of monitoring tacrolimus blood concentrations in liver transplant patients. J. Clin. Pharmacol., 41 (2001) 542–551.
- 68 J.T. Ransom, Mechanism of action of mycophenolate mofetil. Ther. Drug Monit., 17 (1995) 681–684.
- 69 M.D. Pescovitz, D. Conti, J. Dunn, T. Gonwa, P. Halloran, H. Sollinger et al., Intravenous mycophenolate mofetil: safety, tolerability, and pharmacokinetics. Clin. Transpl., 14 (2000) 179–188.
- 70 R.E. Bullingham, A.J. Nicholls and B.R. Kamm, Clinical pharmacokinetics of mycophenolate mofetil. Clin. Pharmacokinet., 34 (1998) 429–455.
- 71 H.J. Schuurman, C. Pally, M. Fringeli-Tanner and C. Papageorgiou, Comparative efficacy of mycophenolate sodium (MPS) and mycophenolate mofetil (MMF) with and without cyclosporine in rat transplantation models. Transpl., 72 (2001) 1776–1783.
- 72 L.M. Shaw, D.W. Holt, M. Oellerich, B. Meiser and T. Van Gelder, Current issues in therapeutic drug monitoring of mycophenolic acid: report of a roundtable discussion. Ther. Drug Monit., 23 (2001) 305–315.
- 73 L.M. Shaw, M. Korecka, S. Ardhye, R. Grossman, L. Bayer, C. Innes et al., Mycophenolic acid area under the curve values in African American and Caucasian renal transplant patients are comparable. J. Clin. Pharmacol., 40 (2000) 624–633.
- 74 B. Kaplan, H.U. Meier-Kriesche, G. Friedman, S. Mulgaonkar, S. Gruber, M. Korecka et al., The effect of renal insufficiency on mycophenolic acid protein binding. J. Clin. Pharmacol., 39 (1999) 715–720.
- 75 I.A. Macphee, S. Spreafico, M. Bewick, C. Davis, J.B. Eastwood, A. Johnston et al., Pharmacokinetics of mycophenolate mofetil in patients with end-stage renal failure [In Process Citation]. Kidney Int., 57 (2000) 1164–1168.
- 76 A.G. Johnson, R.J. Rigby, P.J. Taylor, C.E. Jones, J. Allen, K. Franzen et al., The kinetics of mycophenolic acid and its glucuronide metabolite in adult kidney transplant recipients. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther., 66 (1999) 492–500.
- 77 E. Schutz, M. Shipkova, V.W. Armstrong, E. Wieland and M. Oellerich, Identification of a pharmacologically active metabolite of mycophenolic acid in plasma of transplant recipients treated with mycophenolate mofetil. Clin. Chem., 45 (1999) 419–422.
- 78 I. Nowak and L.M. Shaw, Mycophenolic acid binding to human serum albumin: characterization and relation to pharmacodynamics. Clin. Chem., 41 (1995) 1011–1017.
- 79 M. Shipkova, V.W. Armstrong, E. Wieland, P.D. Niedmann, E. Schutz, G. Brenner-Weiss et al., Identification of glucoside and carboxyl-linked glucuronide conjugates of mycophenolic acid in plasma of transplant recipients treated with mycophenolate mofetil. Br. J. Pharmacol., 126 (1999) 1075–1082.

- 80 I. Tsina, M. Kaloostian, R. Lee, T. Tarnowski and B. Wong, High-performance liquid chromatographic method for the determination of mycophenolate mofetil in human plasma. J. Chromatogr. B, 681 (1996) 347–353.
- 81 C.E. Jones, P.J. Taylor and A.G. Johnson, High-performance liquid chromatography determination of mycophenolic acid and its glucuronide metabolite in human plasma. J. Chromatogr. B, 708 (1998) 229–234.
- 82 M. Shipkova, P.D. Niedmann, V.W. Armstrong, E. Schutz, E. Wieland, L.M. Shaw and M. Oellerich, Simultaneous determination of mycophenolic acid and its glucuronide in human plasma using a simple high-performance liquid chromatography procedure. Clin. Chem., 44 (1998) 1481–1488.
- 83 G. Seebacher, G. Weigel, E. Wolner, R. Mallinger, M. Grimm, G. Laufer et al., A simple HPLC method for monitoring mycophenolic acid and its glucuronidated metabolite in transplant recipients. Clin. Chem. Lab. Med., 37 (1999) 409–415.
- 84 D. Teshima, K. Otsubo, N. Kitagawa, S. Yoshimura, Y. Itoh and R. Oishi, High-performance liquid chromatographic method for mycophenolic acid and its glucuronide in serum and urine. J. Clin. Pharm. Ther., 28 (2003) 17–22.
- 85 S. Ünsalan, G. Hempel, J. Boos and G. Blaschke, Determination of mycophenolic acid and its glucuronide conjugate in human plasma by capillary electrophoresis. Chromatographia, 54 (2001) 635–637.
- 86 M. Vogl, G. Weigel, G. Seebacher, A. Griesmacher, G. Laufer and M.M. Muller, Evaluation of the EMIT Mycophenolic Acid Assay from Dade Behring [In Process Citation]. Ther. Drug Monit., 21 (1999) 638–643.
- 87 L.T. Weber, M. Shipkova, V.W. Armstrong, N. Wagner, E. Schutz, O. Mehls et al., Comparison of the Emit immunoassay with HPLC for therapeutic drug monitoring of mycophenolic acid in pediatric renal-transplant recipients on mycophenolate mofetil therapy. Clin. Chem., 48 (2002) 517–525.
- 88 E. Schutz, M. Shipkova, V.W. Armstrong, P.D. Niedmann, L. Weber, B. Tonshoff et al., Therapeutic drug monitoring of mycophenolic acid: comparison of HPLC and immunoassay reveals new MPA metabolites. Transpl. Proc., 30 (1998) 1185–1187.
- 89 J.L. Beal, C.E. Jones, P.J. Taylor and S.E. Tett, Evaluation of an immunoassay (EMIT) for mycophenolic acid in plasma from renal transplant recipients compared with a high-performance liquid chromatography assay. Ther. Drug Monit., 20 (1998) 685–690.
- 90 H. Hosotsubo, S. Takahara, R. Imamura, M. Kyakuno, T. Tanaka, K. Yazawa et al., Analytic validation of the enzyme multiplied immunoassay technique for the determination of mycophenolic acid in plasma from renal transplant recipients compared with a high-performance liquid chromatographic assay. Ther. Drug Monit., 23 (2001) 669–674.
- 91 S. Saadat-Lajevardi, K. Jones, T. Lee, A. Johnston and D.W. Holt, The international mycophenolic acid proficiency testing scheme. Ther. Drug Monit., 21 (1999) 440.
- 92 M. Shipkova, E. Schutz, V.W. Armstrong, P.D. Niedmann, E. Wieland and M. Oellerich, Overestimation of mycophenolic acid by EMIT correlates with MPA metabolite. Transpl. Proc., 31 (1999) 1135–1137.
- 93 Dade Behring, EMIT 2000 Mycophenolic Acid Assay. Package insert.6R902UL.5SI, 1–4. 2001. Syva Co., Dade Behring Inc., Cupertino, CA, USA.
- 94 M. Shipkova, V.W. Armstrong, M.G. Kiehl, P.D. Niedmann, E. Schutz, M. Oellerich and E. Wieland, Quantification of mycophenolic acid in plasma samples collected during and immediately after intravenous administration of mycophenolate mofetil. Clin. Chem., 47 (2001) 1485–1488.
- 95 M. Shipkova, E. Schutz, V.W. Armstrong, P.D. Niedmann, M. Oellerich and E. Wieland, Determination of the acyl glucuronide metabolite of mycophenolic acid in human plasma by HPLC and Emit. Clin. Chem., 46 (2000) 365–372.
- 96 M. Shipkova, V.W. Armstrong, L. Weber, P.D. Niedmann, E. Wieland, J. Haley et al., Pharmacokinetics and protein adduct formation of the pharmacologically active acyl glucuronide metabolite of mycophenolic acid in pediatric renal transplant recipients. Ther. Drug Monit., 24 (2002) 390–399.
- 97 M. Shipkova, V.W. Armstrong, M. Oellerich and E. Wieland, Acyl glucuronide drug metabolites: toxicological and analytical implications. Ther. Drug Monit., 25 (2003) 1–16.

- 98 E. Wieland, M. Shipkova, U. Schellhaas, E. Schutz, P.D. Niedmann, V.W. Aarmstrong and M. Oellerich, Induction of cytokine release by the acyl glucuronide of mycophenolic acid: a link to side effects? Clin. Biochem., 33 (2000) 107–113.
- 99 B. Maes, M. Oellerich, J.L. Ceuppens, V.W. Armstrong, P. Evenepoel, D. Kuypers et al., A new acute inflammatory syndrome related to the introduction of mycophenolate mofetil in patients with Wegener's granulomatosis. Nephrol. Dial. Transplant., 17 (2002) 923–926.
- 100 L.T. Weber, T. Lamersdorf, M. Shipkova, P.D. Niedmann, M. Wiesel, L.B. Zimmerhackl et al., Area under the plasma concentration-time curve for total, but not for free, mycophenolic acid increases in the stable phase after renal transplantation: a longitudinal study in pediatric patients. German Study Group on Mycophenolate Mofetil Therapy in Pediatric Renal Transplant Recipients. Ther. Drug Monit., 21 (1999) 498–506.
- 101 L.M. Shaw and M. Korecka, Ultrasensitive measurement of free mycophenolic acid using HPLC with mass spectrometry detection. Ther. Drug Monit., 23 (2001) 471.
- 102 P.E. Wallemacq, J. Konig, E. Henry de Frahan, N. Maton, J.P. Squifflet, R.K. Verbeeck and M. Mourad, Validation of free MPA determination by ultrafiltration followed by a modified EMIT method in renal transplantation. Ther. Drug Monit., 23 (2001) 474.
- 103 M.H. Ensom, N. Partovi, D. Decarie, R.J. Dumont, G. Fradet and R.D. Levy, Pharmacokinetics and protein binding of mycophenolic acid in stable lung transplant recipients. Ther. Drug Monit., 24 (2002) 310–314.
- 104 T. Van Gelder, L.B. Hilbrands, Y. Vanrenterghem, W. Weimar, J.W. De Fijter, J.P. Squifflet et al., A randomized double-blind, multicenter plasma concentration controlled study of the safety and efficacy of oral mycophenolate mofetil for the prevention of acute rejection after kidney transplantation. Transpl., 68 (1999) 261–266.
- 105 L.T. Weber, M. Shipkova, V.W. Armstrong, N. Wagner, E. Schutz, O. Mehls et al., The pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic relationship for total and free mycophenolic Acid in pediatric renal transplant recipients: a report of the german study group on mycophenolate mofetil therapy. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol., 13 (2002) 759–768.
- 106 L.M. Shaw, T. Pawinski, M. Korecka and A. Nawrocki, Monitoring of mycophenolic Acid in clinical transplantation. Ther. Drug Monit., 24 (2002) 68–73.
- 107 M.D. Hale, A.J. Nicholls, R.E. Bullingham, R. Hene, A. Hoitsma, J.P. Squifflet et al., The pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic relationship for mycophenolate mofetil in renal transplantation. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther., 64 (1998) 672–683.
- 108 P.J. Taylor, C. Willis, P. Salm, S.E. Tett and P.I. Pillans, Accurate estimation of mycophenolic acid AUC. Ther. Drug Monit., 23 (2001) 301–302.
- 109 G. Filler and I. Mai, Limited sampling strategy for mycophenolic acid area under the curve. Ther. Drug Monit., 22 (2000) 169–173.
- 110 T. Van Gelder, J. Klupp, M.J. Barten, U. Christians and R.E. Morris, Co-administration of tacrolimus and mycophenolate mofetil does not increase mycophenolic acid (MPA) exposure, but coadministration of cyclosporine inhibits the enterohepatic recirculation of MPA, thereby decreasing its exposure. J. Heart Lung Transpl., 20 (2001) 160–161.
- 111 D.W. Holt, O. Ostraat, J.M. Grinyo, J.M. Cisterne, W. Land, J.P. Squifflet, J.T. Burke, R. Taylor and J. Zimmerman, MMF may be given at lower doses when used in association with sirolimus in renal transplant recipients. A. J. Transp. 1 (2001) 247.
- 112 T. Pawinski, M. Hale, M. Korecka, W.E. Fitzsimmons and L.M. Shaw, Limited sampling strategy for the estimation of mycophenolic acid area under the curve in adult renal transplant patients treated with concomitant tacrolimus. Clin. Chem., 48 (2002) 1497–1504.
- 113 L.J. Langman, D.F. Legatt, P.F. Halloran and R.W. Yatscoff, Pharmacodynamic assessment of mycophenolic acid-induced immunosuppression in renal transplant recipients. Transpl., 62 (1996) 666–672.
- 114 S. Sanquer, M. Breil, C. Baron, D. Dhamane, A. Astier and P. Lang, Induction of inosine monophosphate dehydrogenase activity after long-term treatment with mycophenolate mofetil. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther., 65 (1999) 640–648.

- 115 P. Glander, K.P. Braun, P. Hambach, S. Bauer, I. Mai, I. Roots et al., Non-radioactive determination of inosine 5'-monophosphate dehydro-genase (IMPDH) in peripheral mononuclear cells. Clin. Biochem., 34 (2001) 543–549.
- 116 W. Albrecht, M. Storck, E. Pfetsch, W. Martin and D. Abendroth, Development and application of a high-performance liquid chromatography-based assay for determination of the activity of inosine 5'-monophosphate dehydrogenase in whole blood and isolated mononuclear cells [In Process Citation]. Ther. Drug Monit., 22 (2000) 283–294.
- 117 M.J. Barten, T. Van Gelder, J.F. Gummert, R. Shorthouse and R.E. Morris, Novel assays of multiple lymphocyte functions in whole blood measure: new mechanisms of action of mycophenolate mofetil in vivo. Transpl. Immunol., 10 (2002) 1–14.
- B.D. Kahan, Efficacy of sirolimus compared with azathioprine for reduction of acute renal allograft rejection: a randomised multicentre study. The Rapamune U.S. Study Group. Lancet, 356 (2000) 194–202.
- 119 A.S. MacDonald, A worldwide, phase III, randomized, controlled, safety and efficacy study of a sirolimus/cyclosporine regimen for prevention of acute rejection in recipients of primary mismatched renal allografts. Transpl., 71 (2001) 271–280.
- 120 C.G. Groth, L. Backman, J.M. Morales, R. Calne, H. Kreis, P. Lang et al., Sirolimus (rapamycin)based therapy in human renal transplantation: similar efficacy and different toxicity compared with cyclosporine. Sirolimus European Renal Transplant Study Group [see comments]. Transpl., 67 (1999) 1036–1042.
- 121 H. Kreis, J.C. Cisterne, W. Land, L. Wramner, J.P. Squifflet, D. Abramowicz et al., Sirolimus in association with mycophenolate mofetil induction for the prevention of acute graft rejection in renal allograft recipients. Transpl., 69 (2000) 1252–1260.
- 122 T. Hartwig, O. Pridohl, H. Witzigmann, P. Lamesch, J. Fangmann, J. Hauss and K. Kohlhaw, Lowdose sirolimus and tacrolimus in kidney transplantation: first results of a single-center experience. Transpl. Proc., 3 (2001) 3226–3228.
- 123 R. Sindhi, S. Webber, R. Goyal, J. Reyes, R. Venkataramanan and L.M. Shaw, Pharmacodynamics of sirolimus in transplanted children receiving tacrolimus. Transpl. Proc., 34 (2002) 1960.
- 124 R.W. Johnson, H. Kreis, R. Oberbauer, C. Brattstrom, K. Claesson and J. Eris, Sirolimus allows early cyclosporine withdrawal in renal transplantation resulting in improved renal function and lower blood pressure. Transpl., 72 (2001) 777–786.
- 125 K.L. Napoli and P.J. Taylor, From beach to bedside: a history of the development of sirolimus. Ther. Drug Monit. (2001).
- 126 D.W. Holt, Sirolimus: has it gained from experience with older drugs? Therapie, 57 (2002) 128–132.
- 127 A. MacDonald, J. Scarola, J.T. Burke and J.J. Zimmerman, Clinical pharmacokinetics and therapeutic drug monitoring of sirolimus. Clin. Ther., 22 (2000) 101–121.
- 128 K.L. Napoli and B.D. Kahan, Sample clean-up and high-performance liquid chromatographic techniques for measurement of whole blood rapamycin concentrations. J. Chromatogr. B, 654 (1994) 111–120.
- 129 D.W. Holt, T.D. Lee and A. Johnston, Measurement of sirolimus in whole blood using highperformance liquid chromatography with ultraviolet detection. Clin. Ther., 22 (2000) 38–48.
- 130 P.J. Taylor and A.G. Johnson, Quantitative analysis of sirolimus (Rapamycin) in blood by highperformance liquid chromatography-electrospray tandem mass spectrometry. J. Chromatogr. B, 718 (1998) 251–257.
- 131 D.W. Holt, T. Lee, K. Jones and A. Johnston, Validation of an assay for routine monitoring of sirolimus using HPLC with mass spectrometric detection. Clin. Chem., 46 (2000) 1179–1183.
- 132 K. Jones, S. Saadat-Lajevardi, T.D. Lee, R. Horwatt, D. Hicks, A. Johnston and D.W. Holt, An immunoassay for the measurement of sirolimus. Clin. Ther., 22 (2000) 49–61.
- 133 P. Salm, D.M. Rutherford, P.J. Taylor, M.J. Black and P.I. Pillans, Evaluation of microparticle enzyme immunoassay against HPLC-mass spectrometry for the determination of whole-blood tacrolimus in heart- and lung-transplant recipients. Clin. Biochem., 33 (2000) 557–562.
- 134 K.L. Napoli and B.D. Kahan, Routine clinical monitoring of sirolimus (rapamycin) whole-blood concentrations by HPLC with ultraviolet detection. Clin. Chem., 42 (1996) 1943–1948.

- 135 J.O. Svensson, C. Brattstrom and J. Sawe, Determination of rapamycin in whole blood by HPLC. Ther. Drug Monit., 19 (1997) 112–116.
- 136 D.C. French, M. Saltzgueber, D.R. Hicks, A.L. Cowper and D.W. Holt, HPLC assay with ultraviolet detection for therapeutic drug monitoring of sirolimus. Clin. Chem., 47 (2001) 1316–1319.
- 137 D.W. Holt, T. Lee, K. Jones and A. Johnston, Validation of an assay for routine monitoring of sirolimus using HPLC with mass spectrometric detection. Clin. Chem., 46 (2000) 1179–1183.
- 138 D. Cattaneo, N. Perico and F. Gaspari, Assessment of sirolimus concentrations in whole blood by high-performance liquid chromatography with ultraviolet detection. J. Chromatogr. B, 774 (2000) 187–194.
- 139 E. Connor, M. Sakamoto, K. Fujikawa, T. Law and N. Rifai, Measurement of Whole Blood Sirolimus by an HPLC Assay Using Solid-Phase Extraction and UV Detection. Ther. Drug Monit., 24 (2002) 751–756.
- 140 M. Vogeser, C. Fleischer, B. Meiser, J. Groetzner, U. Spohrer and D. Seidel, Quantification of sirolimus by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry using on-line solid-phase extraction. Clin. Chem. Lab. Med., 40 (2000) 40–45.
- 141 P.J. Taylor, K.K. Forrest, P. Salm and P.I. Pillans, Single-point calibration for sirolimus quantification. Ther. Drug Monit., 23 (2001) 726–727.
- 142 M. Poon, J.J. Badimon and V. Fuster, Overcoming restenosis with sirolimus: from alphabet soup to clinical reality. Lancet, 359 (2002) 619–622.
- 143 F. Streit, U. Christians, H.M. Schiebel, K.L. Napoli, L. Ernst, A. Linck et al., Sensitive and specific quantification of sirolimus (rapamycin) and its metabolites in blood of kidney graft recipients by HPLC/electrospray-mass spectrometry. Clin. Chem., 42 (1996) 1417–1425.
- 144 B.K. Matuszewski, M.L. Constanzer and C.M. Mhavez-Eng, Matrix effect in quantitative LC/MS/MS analyses of biological fluids: a method for determination of finasteride in human plasma at picogram per milliliter concentrations. Anal. Chem., 70 (1998) 882–889.
- 145 P. Salm, M.J. Tresillian, P.J. Taylor and P.I. Pillans, Stability of sirolimus (rapamycin) in whole blood. Ther. Drug Monit., 22 (2000) 423–426.
- 146 D.W. Holt, K. Denny, T.D. Lee and A. Johnston, Therapeutic monitoring of sirolimus: Its contribution to optimal prescription. Transpl. Proc. (2003).
- 147 D.W. Holt, K. Denny, T.D. Lee, D. Hicks and A. Johnston, Proficiency testing of sirolimus measurements. Clin. Chem. Lab. Med., 40 (2002) S142.
- 148 J.M. Kovarik, B. Kaplan, S.H. Tedesco, B.D. Kahan, J. Dantal, S. Vitko et al., Exposure-response relationships for everolimus in de novo kidney transplantation: defining a therapeutic range. Transpl., 73 (2002) 920–925.
- 149 I. Segarra, T.R. Brazelton, N. Guterman, B. Hausen, W. Jacobsen, R.E. Morris et al., Development of a high-performance liquid chromatographic-electrospray mass spectrometric assay for the specific and sensitive quantification of the novel immunosuppressive macrolide 40-O-(2-hydroxyethyl)rapamycin. J. Chromatogr. B, 720 (1998) 179–187.
- 150 L.M. McMahon, S. Luo, M. Hayes and F.L. Tse, High-throughput analysis of everolimus (RAD001) and cyclosporin A (CsA) in whole blood by liquid chromatography/mass spectrometry using a semiautomated 96-well solid-phase extraction system. Rapid Commun. Mass. Spectrom., 14 (2000) 1965–1971.
- 151 J.M. Kovarik, H.D. Sabia, J. Fredo, H. Zimmermann, C. Reynolds, S.C. Dilzer et al., Influence of hepatic impairment on everolimus pharmacokinetics: implications for dose adjustment. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther., 70 (2001) 425–430.
- 152 J.M. Kovarik, C.H. Hsu, I. McMahon, S. Berthier and C. Rordorf, Population pharmacokinetics of everolimus in de novo renal transplant patients: impact of ethnicity and comedications. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther., 70 (2001) 247–254.
- 153 D.W. Holt and A. Johnston, Monitoring immunosuppressive drugs: the rationale for proficiency testing. Ligand. Assay, 3 (1998) 2–6.
- A. Johnston and D.W. Holt, Immunosuppressant drugs the role of therapeutic drug monitoring. Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol., 52 (2001) 61–73.
- 155 European best practice guidelines for renal transplantation. Section IV: Long-term management of the transplant recipient. Nephrol. Dial. Transpl., 17 (2002) 1–67.

- 156 R. Hardstaff, K. Green and D. Talbot, Measurement of compliance posttransplantation-the results of a 12-month study using electronic monitoring. Transpl. Proc., 35 (2003) 796–797.
- 157 M. Stalder, T. Birsan, B. Holm, M. Haririfar, J. Scandling and R.E. Morris, Quantification of immunosuppression by flow cytometry in stable renal transplant recipients. Ther. Drug Monit., 25 (2003) 22–27.
- 158 S.J. Soldin, Immunophilins: their properties and their potential role in therapeutic drug monitoring. Ther. Drug Monit., 22 (2000) 44–46.
- 159 A.D. Hurst, Ann. Clin. Biochem., 35 (1998) 12–18.
- 160 M.M. Muller, Implementation of reference systems in laboratory medicine. Clin. Chem., 46 (2000) 1907–1909.

#### CHAPTER 12

# Pharmacogenomics: Methodologies for genotyping and phenotyping

Paul J. Jannetto<sup>1,2</sup>, Elvan Laleli-Sahin<sup>1,2</sup> and Steven H. Wong<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Pathology, Medical College of Wisconsin, Milwaukee, WI, USA <sup>2</sup> Milwaukee County Medical Examiner's Office, Milwaukee, WI, USA

# **12.1 INTRODUCTION**

With the development of new technologies and the near completion of the human genome project, pharmacogenomics is becoming a clinically useful tool [1,2]. Genetic questions can now be addressed, as various polymorphisms, biomarkers, and genes are being identified and linked to specific diseases or drug responses. The driving force of pharmacogenomics and its ability to be used effectively partially depends on the available technologies [3]. Over the past several years, the methods for genotyping and phenotyping in pharmacogenomics have become more cost-effective resulting in the growth of genetic testing in clinical, forensic, and research laboratories [3–6]. However, the complexity, accuracy, and throughput of the methods/technologies will have to be addressed as pharmacogenomics continues to be used more clinically [7]. Selection of the appropriate technology will be based on prior knowledge of the mutation/ polymorphism, sensitivity/specificity, sample requirements, and cost. Furthermore, the future volume of pharmacogenomic testing is anticipated to be large. As a result, the automation of pharmacogenomics will become increasingly important. This chapter will attempt to provide an overview of the various technologies available for genotyping and phenotyping individuals for known or unknown polymorphisms ranging from a small to large-scale basis.

# **12.2 METHODS FOR PHENOTYPING**

Individuals respond to medications differently [8]. After taking a medication, an individual may experience the desired therapeutic effect, no effect at all, or may suffer an adverse drug reaction (ADR). These pronounced interindividual differences in drug disposition may be due to genetic variation encoding the activity of drug-metabolizing enzymes like the cytochrome P450 (*CYP*) family, or due to drug-drug interactions.

These can cause induction or inhibition of drug-metabolizing enzymes. As a result, techniques have been developed to assess an individual's enzyme activity, since CYP activity can vary more than a 100-fold between individuals [2]. Before genotyping, phenotyping was one of the first methods to determine how an individual would metabolize a particular medication. Phenotyping is accomplished by the administration of a test drug, whose metabolism is known to be primarily dependent on one particular drug-metabolizing enzyme. The metabolic ratio - the ratio of unchanged drug to metabolite, is then measured in serum or urine. For example, caffeine has been used as a metabolic probe for one CYP isoform (CYP1A2). Caffeine has a number of properties that make it a good probe, such as its pharmacokinetic characteristics - complete absorption, high clearance and short half-life and its safety margin. In addition, the metabolic pathway has been well characterized in humans. CYP1A2 is responsible for the N1-, N3-, and N7-demethylations that account for approximately 90% of caffeine elimination in humans [9]. CYP1A2 is polymorphic and involved in the metabolizing of several clinically-important drugs such as clozapine [10] and theophylline [11]. N-acetyltransferase 2(NAT2) is another major liver enzyme that is polymorphic and involved in the biotransformation of several carcinogenic arylamines and drugs [12]. Mutant alleles of NAT2 genes are associated with a slow or rapid acetylator phenotype. Isoniazide, procainamide and dapsone have all been used as probes for NAT2 [13]. Table 12.1 lists some of the major polymorphic enzymes and a few selected drugs metabolized by these enzymes. Another important family of enzymes, methyltransferases is responsible for the biotransformation of anticancer drugs such as 6-mercaptopurine, 6-thioguanine, and azathioprine [14]. In particular, thiopurine methyltransferase (TPMT) catalyzes the S-methylation of 6-mercaptopurine [15]. TPMT is polymorphic and a very common genetic polymorphism results in low activity of the enzyme. Consequently, this can have life-threatening effects – myelosuppression for individuals treated with standard doses of thiopurines [15]. As a result, phenotyping to determine the TPMT status should be done prior to the administration of anticancer regimens using 6-mercaptopruine or azathioprine [16,17]. CYP2D6 is another clinically important CYP involved in metabolizing 25% of all prescribed drugs [18]. Phenotyping for CYP2D6 has been done using debrisoquine, metoprolol and more recently dextromethorphan as probe drugs [17,19]. Subjects defined as poor metabolizers have a metabolic ratio of the probe drug debrisoquine of >12.6. However, phenotyping is not always the best technique to use for assessing CYP activity. In fact, phenotyping can be potentially dangerous. Since a particular test compound/drug has to be administered, the patient may develop an adverse drug reaction. As a result, newer technologies, based on the genetic information (genotype), have been developed that predict an individual's response to therapeutic drugs. However, the predictive value of a genotyping test has to be evaluated prospectively in the clinic. These newer genotyping technologies will be described in this chapter.

#### **12.3 DISCOVERY OF UNKNOWN POLYMORPHISMS**

The human genome contains millions of single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) with new ones being constantly discovered [20]. As a result, a number of techniques are

Polymorphic Enzyme	Probe drug	Selected drugs metabolized by enzyme [67]
CYP1A2	Caffeine [68] Melatonine	Clozapine [10] Olanzapine Theophylline [11]
СҮР2С9	Tolbutamid Diclofenac Indomethacin	Warfarin Phenytoin Losartan
<i>CYP2C19</i>	Mephenytoin Omeprazole	Diazepam Celecoxib Citalopram Phenytoin
CYP2D6	Dextrometorphane Debrisoquine	Tricyclic antidepressants (Amitriptyline), Metoprolol Opioids (Codeine, Oxycodone) β-blockers
СҮРЗА4	Erythromycin Midazolam	Ifosfamide Nifedipine
NAT2	Caffeine Dapsone	Isoniazid Procainamide Amonafide [13]
ТРМТ	N/A	6-Mercaptopurine Azathioprine [16]

TABLE 12.1
COMMON POLYMORPHIC ENZYMES AND PROBES USED FOR PHENOTYPING

N/A: Not applicable-TPMT activity has been measured in erythrocytes using a radiochemical microassay [69].

available to identify new mutations. One common strategy for SNP screening requires the amplification of the gene of interest by polymerase chain reaction (PCR). Next, a conformation-based mutation scanning method is used and all positive PCR products are sequenced. Since the vast majority of individuals assayed may be negative, samples can be pooled together. This detects low frequency SNPs if a sensitive technology is used [21,22].

#### 12.3.1 Single-strand conformation polymorphism (SSCP) analysis

One of the most commonly used methods for mutation detection is SSCP [23]. In SSCP, DNA regions with potential polymorphisms are first amplified by PCR. The PCR products are denatured and separated on a non-denaturing polyacrylamide gel. If the DNA contains a variant (single base modification, insertion, or deletion), it generally forms a different conformer that migrates differently when compared to wild-type DNA

[24]. The sensitivity of this method can be increased to 100% by coupling it with restriction enzyme fingerprinting [25] or dideoxy-sequencing fingerprinting [26].

#### 12.3.2 Denaturing high performance liquid chromatography (dHPLC)

dHPLC detects polymorphisms by analyzing the DNA mobility of different heteroduplexes using chromatography under slightly denaturing conditions. This technique has been commercialized by two companies Transgenomic Inc. (San Jose, CA (WAVE<sup>®</sup>)), and Varian Inc. (Palo Alto, CA (Varian Helix-System<sup>®</sup>)). Both systems work on the same principle – temperature-modulated heteroduplex analysis [27]. Samples are hybridized with wild-type DNA to form a mixture of homo- and heteroduplexes. The heteroduplexes can be separated from the homoduplexes by HPLC at a temperature that partially denatures the mismatched DNA. A major advantage of this technology is that multiple samples can be pooled together for variant detection with increased throughput. These systems can also be used for several applications besides the detection of genetic variants such as, size-based double-strand DNA separation analysis, single-strand DNA separation, and analysis of DNA purification. Schwab et al. suggest dHPLC is a highly sensitive, rapid, and cost effective method for genotyping that also detects genetic variability [28].

# **12.4 IDENTIFICATION OF KNOWN POLYMORPHISMS**

#### 12.4.1 Gel-based methods

#### 12.4.1.1 Restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP) analysis

The discovery of bacterial enzymes that cleave specific sequences in DNA has been used as a means to identify SNPs, small deletions or insertions. In general, restriction endonucleases recognize a specific four to six base long sequence of DNA and cleave it producing DNA fragments with blunt or sticky ends. Prior to enzymatic digestion, a specific region of DNA, containing the polymorphism (SNP, insertion or deletion) is amplified using PCR. The amplified PCR product is then digested with an appropriate restriction endonuclease. After digestion, the resulting products are separated by gel electrophoresis and stained for visualization. The main limitation of this methodology is that the polymorphism must alter or contain a restriction site. As a result, the polymorphism could result in the loss or gain of a restriction site that would change the DNA fragmentation (restriction digestion) pattern on the gel (Fig. 12.1). RFLP analysis has been successfully used to genotype CYP2D6 \*3 and \*4 using restriction endonuclease Msp1 and Mva1, respectively [29]. RFLP analysis can also be used as a genetic marker for disease, since RFLPs are more abundant when compared to polymorphisms at the level of protein [30]. In general, the gel-based RFLP analysis is relatively straightforward and can provide useful information. However, this laborintensive methodology increases the time and cost, and is not suitable for large-scale clinical applications.



Fig. 12.1. A representation of RFLP analysis in which an amplified PCR product has been separated on an agarose gel and stained. Lane#1 contains the molecular weight markers; Lane#2 represents a wild-type PCR product that is digested once by a restriction enzyme; Lane#3 represents a PCR product that contains a SNP resulting in the gain of a restriction site; while Lane#4 represents a PCR product that contains a SNP resulting in the loss of a restriction site.

#### 12.4.2 Fluorescent-based technologies

There are several techniques that utilize sequence-specific hybridization of fluorescent oligonucleotide probes, all of which have their unique advantages and disadvantages. In this section, selected techniques are reviewed in detail. Due to the increasing number of assays developed, others are summarized in Table 12.2.

New developments in polymerase chain reaction (PCR) equipment have made an impact on pharmacogenomic testing. The more recent technologies now have the capability to amplify and detect product formation during the PCR reaction, which is commonly referred to as real-time PCR. This ability represents a major advantage and time saving feature, since it does not require post-PCR analysis (i.e. gel electrophoresis).

#### 12.4.2.1 Allele-specific amplification using real time PCR

One technology, the LightCycler<sup>®</sup>, Roche Molecular Systems (Pleasanton, CA), offers the real-time detection of sequence-specific SNPs. This method uses two fluorescently labeled probes that during amplification can detect specific single copy sequences in genomic DNA, or identify single-base mutations. The two probes – an anchor probe and mutation probe, each labeled with a different marker dye – hybridize in a head-to-tail arrangement to adjacent sequences on the target DNA as shown by Fig. 12.2. The two dyes can only interact when they are both bound to the target DNA in close proximity. The mutation probe, which contains the donor molecule, binds over the predicted site of the mutation. The anchor probe, which contains the acceptor molecule, produces the fluorescent signal. Once both probes bind, fluorescent resonance energy transfer (FRET) can occur between the two probes. In order for FRET to occur, the donor and acceptor

Method	Technique	Reference
MASDA (multiplex allele- specific diagnostic assay)	Utilizes oligonucleotide hybridization to interrogate DNA sequences on a solid support.	70
MADGE (microtiter array diagonal gel electrophoresis)	Modified gel electrophoresis based detection of large number of PCR reactions.	71
<b>OLA</b> (oligonucleotide ligation assay)	Inhibition of ligation due to mismatch at 3' end.	72
DOL (dye-labeled oligonucleotide ligation)	OLA modified with use of fluorescence resonance energy transfer (FRET) detection monitored in real time.	73
LNA (locked nucleic acids)	Binding affinity dependent fluorescence release.	74
<b>CFET</b> (combinatorial fluorescence energy transfer)	Generation of unique fluorescence tag emission signatures.	75
<b>DASH</b> (dynamic allele specific hybridization)	Melting temperature dependent fluorescence release.	76
<b>MD-PASA</b> (multiple double PCR amplification of specific alleles)	PCR based haplotyping.	77
<b>CASPA</b> (consumed allele- specific primer analysis)	Determination of unincorporated primers upon completion of PCR reaction.	78

#### TABLE 12.2 OTHER SNP DETECTION ASSAYS



Fig. 12.2. A schematic of a single color one point mutation experiment on the LightCycler®.

molecules must be in close proximity (less than 5 bases apart) and the emission spectrum of the donor must overlap with the excitation spectrum of the acceptor. The design of the probes is relatively simple and software tools are available to help choose the probe sequences. In general, the melting temperature (Tm) of the probes is higher than the primers. The Tm of the anchor probe is also higher than the mutant probe. In addition, the binding site for the probes should be near the 3' end of the target. This enables sequence fluorescent measurements before the primers are extended and the probes displaced by *Taq* polymerase.

The LightCylcer<sup>®</sup> can also provide sequence confirmation of the amplified product using melting curve analysis. After the PCR amplification is complete, the temperature is lowered so that the probes are hybridized to the DNA. The temperature in the reaction chamber can then be slowly increased while measuring the fluorescence at frequent intervals. Fluorescence will decrease with increasing temperature as the mutation probe is released and FRET ceases. If a SNP is present, the mutation probe has one base-pair mismatched and will melt off at a lower temperature than if the SNP is absent. This technique has been successfully applied to the identification of many SNPs in both clinical and research settings [5,31-34]. Mangasser-Stephan K et al. described simultaneous identification of both point mutations in the hemochromatosis gene (HFE), responsible for an autosomal recessive iron overload disease. In one PCR reaction, special fluorescently labeled oligonucleotide hybridization probes [31] are used. The usefulness of real time PCR has also been demonstrated by several groups through the detection of several CYP2D6 polymorphisms (\*3 and \*4) [5] and (\*3, \*4, \*6, \*7 and \*8) [35] using melting curve analysis. The principle of discrimination between genotypes by melting curve analysis is also applied in the LightCylcer<sup>®</sup> detection kits (Roche Molecular Systems, Inc., Pleasanton, CA) for Factor V Leiden, Prothrombin, Apolipoprotein B and Apolipoprotein E. This technology has several benefits including rapid real-time analysis and a closed system to prevent DNA contamination.

#### 12.4.2.2 Invader®

The Invader<sup>®</sup> system developed by Third Wave Technologies (Madison, WI) represents a nuclease-based approach for known polymorphism detection [36,37]. In the Invader<sup>®</sup> process, two DNA probes bind to the target to form a structure that is recognized by a proprietary enzyme (Cleavase<sup>®</sup>). The oligonucleotides (a wild-type or variant probe and an upstream Invader<sup>®</sup> probe) are designed so that they hybridize to and partially overlap a known SNP site. The binding of the upstream probe forces a small section (5' end) of the overlapping probe (wild-type or variant probe) to remain non-hybridized (Fig. 12.3). The Cleavase<sup>®</sup> enzyme recognizes and cleaves the overlapping flap that then releases a small fragment of DNA (flap) [38,39]. The released flap undergoes a secondary reaction and forms another cleavage structure. The flap, bound to a 5' fluorescently end-labeled probe (FRET<sup>™</sup> cassette), has a donor fluorophore that is quenched by an internal acceptor dye. Cleavase<sup>®</sup> recognizes and cuts the FRET<sup>™</sup> cassette/DNA flap structure resulting in a fluorescent signal. The Invader<sup>®</sup> system relies on this linear amplification of the signal rather than target amplification. Each flap (cleavage product) can generate thousands of signals per hour, yielding millions of detectable signals per target. The



Fig. 12.3. A schematic demonstrating the principles used in the Invader® assay.

major advantage of this technology is genotyping directly from genomic DNA without PCR amplification. However, this technology has limited multiplexing capabilities and cannot detect small insertions or deletions [40].

An application analysis for high-throughput analysis was demonstrated by Mein et al. where 384 individuals were genotyped for 36 SNPs and one insertion/deletion polymorphism [41]. This study showed an average failure rate of 2.3% and an accuracy of 99.2% compared to results generated with established methods. Most of the failure was attributed to a PCR step. The major disadvantage is the need to assay each allele for a given SNP separately. A variation of the Invader<sup>®</sup> assay by Kwok et al. for high-throughput genotyping adopted a more cost effective detection method. Their modifications include identification of variation of both alleles of a SNP in a single reaction and switching the detection method from the FRET based detection to fluorescence polarization [42].

# 12.4.2.3 $TaqMan^{TM}$ DNA probes (real-time PCR)

TaqMan<sup> $^{\text{M}}$ </sup> Allelic Determination is based upon the 5' nuclease activity of *Taq* polymerase [23,43]. One pair of PCR primers is used to amplify the desired DNA region containing the SNP. In addition, two TaqMan<sup> $^{\text{M}}$ </sup> probes that differ only at the polymorphic site are designed. One probe is made complementary to the wild-type allele and the other probe to the variant allele. Each probe has a different covalently attached reporter dye and a common quencher dye on the 5' and 3' end respectively. The probes bind to the polymorphic site of interest during the annealing phase of the PCR reaction. In the extension phase of PCR, the 5' nuclease activity of *Taq* polymerase will

cleave the 5' reporter dye from the perfectly hybridized probe, resulting in increased fluorescence. Only the perfectly hybridized probe (wild-type or variant) will be cleaved by *Taq* polymerase, resulting in the real-time detection of PCR products [44]. The ratio of the fluorescence from the two reporter dyes after the PCR reaction determines the genotype of the sample. The advantage of this methodology is that Applied Biosystems (Foster City, CA) has ready to use, validated assays for genotyping common polymorphisms, providing both the reagents and instrumentation. The main disadvantages are that dual-labeled probes and PCR amplification are needed for genotyping, increasing the cost of genotyping. However, this technology can easily be automated to increase throughput. Ranade K et al. reported genotyping of more than 1600 individuals for two separate SNPs, with an error rate of less than one in two thousand [45].

#### 12.4.2.4 Depolymerization assay (ReadIt<sup>TM</sup>)

The ReadIt<sup>™</sup> SNP Genotyping System by Promega Corporation, (Madison, WI) uses the ability of READase<sup>™</sup> Polymerase to catalyze the depolymeration (pyrophosphorylation) of DNA. In the presence of target DNA and inorganic pyrophosphate, the depolymerization reaction occurs and is driven by mass action. Under these circumstances, the READase<sup>™</sup> polymerase catalyzes the addition of a pyrophosphate across the terminal phosphodiester bond, resulting in the release of the high-energy deoxynucleotide triphosphate (dNTP) from the 3' end of the DNA template. The READase<sup>™</sup> Kinase enzyme then transfers the terminal phosphate from the dNTP onto ADP forming ATP. In the presence of Luciferase, ATP formation results in light signal production. This is proportional to the amount of ATP formed in the coupled reaction (Fig. 12.4). The specificity in the ReadIt<sup>™</sup> reaction is provided by the sequence specific hybridization of one or both oligonucleotide probes to the target DNA. The 3' end of one DNA probe corresponds to the wild-type sequence while the other matches the variant sequence of

# **Basic READIT® Assay**



Fig. 12.4. A schematic showing the basic ReadIt<sup>™</sup> assay for genotyping SNPs.
interest. The DNA probes must form a perfect homology at the 3' end of the DNA sequence of interest for depolymerization to occur. The ReadIt<sup>TM</sup> Polymerase does not begin the coupled reaction unless the correct structure is formed. The ReadIt<sup>TM</sup> system can be used to analyze a wide variety of sequence variations including insertions, deletions, and SNPs. The ReadIt<sup>TM</sup> technology does require PCR amplification in which one primer contains three phosphorothioate linkages at the 5' end to protect one strand from nuclease degradation. After PCR amplification, T7 Gene 6 Exonuclease digests the unprotected strand in the PCR product to produce single-stranded templates. The PCR product is then diluted and analyzed using the ReadIt<sup>TM</sup> reagents. Basically, the amplified target sequence is denatured, neutralized, and can then anneal to the correct sequence of the interrogation probes. In the presence of correctly paired target DNA and probes, ATP is generated and detected by using Luciferase. This technology has several advantages since it can be partially automated and be done in 96- or 284-well plates for high throughput analysis.

One recent application demonstrated that PCR-RFLP methods are readily adapted to the ReadIT<sup>TM</sup> SNP-genotyping format [46]. In this study, *CYP2C9* \*2 and \*3 were genotyped successfully for 23 unique samples. In fact, the ReadIt<sup>TM</sup> method correctly identified the *CYP2C9* \*3 allele in two instances were PCR-RFLP required repeat testing. This methodology has also successfully been applied to identification of Factor V Leiden polymorphism by Hodges KA et al. [47].

# 12.4.2.5 Molecular beacons<sup>TM</sup>

Molecular Beacons<sup>™</sup> (MBs) detect single-nucleotide differences in DNA. Basically, MBs<sup>™</sup> are hairpin shaped fluorescently labeled hybridization probes that can detect the presence of specific nucleic acids in a homogenous solution [48]. The MBs<sup>™</sup> contain a fluorophore on one end of the oligonucleotide and a quenching moiety (non-fluorescent chromophore) on the other (Fig. 12.5). The DNA sequences on the ends of the probe are designed to be complementary to each other so that it forms a hairpin loop. The intervening loop portion of the probe is designed so that it is complementary to the target DNA sequence of interest. In the presence of target DNA, the loop of the MBs<sup>™</sup> will undergo a conformational change as it hybridizes to the complementary target DNA. As the hairpin loop opens up, the fluorophore and quencher move apart and an increase in fluorescence is detected. However, an unhybridized probe in solution would form the hairpin structure that brings the fluorophore and quencher close together to allow quenching of the fluorophore. MBs<sup>™</sup> have several advantages: the ability to use multiple fluorophores to detect several allelic variants in real-time, a sealed homogenous system that minimizes cross-contamination, and inherently more sensitive and specific linear probes. This is due to the stem loop formation that thermodynamically competes with the amplicon for hybridization [40,49]. These benefits have allowed this technology to be used for accurate heteroplasmy quantitation and mtDNA copy number estimation from small biopsy samples. Performing such tasks were previously not possible due to technical restrictions [50]. On the other hand sensitivity of this technique is further improved by wavelength-shifting molecular beacons, a modification that result in much brighter signal, described by Tyagi S et al. [51].



Fig. 12.5. A schematic showing the operation of molecular beacons.

# 12.4.2.6 Genotyping using the LCx<sup>®</sup> platform (Abbott Laboratories, Abbott Park, IL) [52]

As with all other techniques, this method requires amplification of target DNA. It is versatile in the sense that it can either utilize a standard PCR or LCR<sup>™</sup> reaction that takes place in the LCx<sup>®</sup> platform. In the LCR<sup>™</sup> reaction, the two primers are positioned closer to each other compared to conventional PCR. The gap between them is closed using a ligase instead of a polymerase. After purification of the genomic DNA, the sample is mixed with the assay mixture that contains the amplification reaction reagents and two probes. The amplification of the target DNA takes place in the LCx<sup>®</sup> analyzer. The probes in the assay mix are complimentary to either the wild type or variant allele of the gene of interest. Annealing of the probes is facilitated at the end of the PCR reaction in a melt-cool down cycle. Each probe contains a specific hapten that is recognized by a unique antibody, the latter is conjugated either to alkaline phosphatase or  $\beta$ -galactocidase. Incubation of the target/probe complex, in the presence of substrates methylumbelliferyl phosphate (MUP) and N-(2-hydroxyethyl)-2-(7-b-D-galactopyranosyloxy-2-oxo-2H-chromen-4-yl) acetamide (AUG) to alkaline phosphatase or β-galactocidase, respectively. This results in detection of positive signal in either MUP and/or AUG channels. Detection of positive signal in one or both channels signifies homozygosity or heterozygousity for the template. A schematic explaining the steps of this system is presented in Fig. 12.6.

# 12.4.2.7 Bioluminometric assay coupled with modified primer extension reactions (BAMPER) [53]

In determining the allelic frequency for a specific SNP, pooled DNA from several individuals is first subjected to PCR using biotinylated primers to amplify the target



Fig. 12.6. A schematic representation of Abbott LCx<sup>®</sup> method.

region. Following the PCR reaction, single stranded DNA is obtained using bead technology and alkali treatment. The obtained single stranded DNA is treated with either one of the extension primers (wild type or mutant), and is allowed to go through primer extension. The primers contain artificial mismatches at the 3'-terminal region that improves the switching characteristics of the extension reaction. The release of subsequent PP<sub>i</sub> from the extension reaction is coupled to the formation of ATP. Generated ATP is then detected by light production in a luciferin/luciferase reaction. A mismatch at the 3' end will result in low or no light generation compared to wild type, correlating to the heterozygosity or allelic frequency of the target.

# 12.4.3 DNA sequencing

# 12.4.3.1 Pyrosequencing<sup>™</sup> (Pyrosequencing Inc., Uppsalla, Sweden)

As the name implies, this technique is based on a sequencing concept. A signal is generated as dNTPs are incorporated. This method promotes the extension of the complementary sequence compared to standard sequencing reactions where terminations of DNA synthesis is monitored. Therefore, this system is considered a sequencing-by-synthesis reaction. Briefly, this system requires PCR amplification with biotinylated primers to generate the target region. Biotin incorporated during the PCR reaction is used for immobilization of the strands. Following the generation of single stranded DNA, sequencing primers and a mixture of enzymes (DNA polymerase, ATP sulfurylase, luciferase and apyrase) are added. The next step is the addition of one of the four dNTP's. If incorporation of the added dNTP is achieved, a PPi is released and coupled to the formation of ATP in the presence of adenosine-5'-phosphosulfate (APS). A visible light proportional to the amount of ATP is generated by the conversion of luciferin to oxyluciferin by luciferase activity. The light production is detected by a

charge coupled device (CCD) camera and seen as a peak in the PyrogramTM. Presence of apyrase ensures unincorporated dNTP's and ATP is degraded to switch off the signal. This process is followed one nucleotide at a time until the required sequence is obtained. Sequence information up to 30–40 bases can be obtained by this technique. Pyrosequencing has recently been shown to be an attractive alternative to SSCP analysis for the detection of N-*ras* mutations in malignant melanoma tumor samples [54]. This method has also been proven to be useful for forensic medicine by allowing a rapid turnaround time with less workload. In addition to this feasibility, application of this method has allowed sequencing of the coding region as well as the variable regions of the D-loop from mtDNA to increase discriminating power [55].

#### 12.4.3.2 SNaPshot (Applied Biosystems)-MINISEQUENCING

One of the other basic sequencing techniques with numerous variations is called minisequencing. Common to all sequencing techniques is PCR amplification of the target DNA region containing the SNP of interest and generation of single-stranded DNA. All techniques require a solid support systems in which the PCR amplified single stranded DNA or the sequencing primers are immobilized on. The sequencing primers involved are only one base short of the polymorphism site and extension over the interrogation site is achieved. The PCR reaction contains one biotin labeled and one unlabeled primer. The amplified template can be immobilized on the solid matrix, through streptavidin-biotin interaction via the 5' biotinylate incorporated into the PCR product. A wash step under alkali conditions forms the single stranded DNA that consequently hybridizes to the sequencing primer. In the presence of labeled dNTP's, ddNTP's and a polymerase, the genotyping reaction is achieved. Each dNTP harbors a different label; therefore for each reaction type, depending on the genotype, a different signal is obtained [56]. One such commercial system is SNaPshot<sup>™</sup> from Applied Biosystems<sup>®</sup>. In an alternative approach reported by the Scripps Research Institute, the sequencing primers can be bound to a Teflon coated glass surface and act as individual wells. These primers then anneal to the single stranded DNA product of the PCR reaction adjacent to the polymorphic site. Single base incorporation of labeled ddNTP's is achieved via klenow fragment (3'-5') exonuclease) and the signal identifying the incorporated base is detected. A reported improvement to the SnaPshot<sup>TM</sup> protocol is the multiplex automated primer extension analysis (MAPA) that can simultaneously genotype up to four SNPs accurately [57]. In this study, Makridakis et al. have introduced multiplexing at the initial PCR step, and/or of the primer extension reaction.

# 12.4.4 Mass spectrometry

Mass spectrometry based detection systems have become increasingly popular in many areas of science due to its high sensitivity to distinguish small mass differences with great accuracy. Matrix-Assisted Laser Desorption/Ionization Time-Of-Flight Mass Spectrometry (MALDI-TOF-MS) techniques have been utilized in various DNA analysis; detection of PCR products, sequencing, genomic DNA characterization, single nucleotide extensions, and others. A clinical application is the detection of cystathionine β-synthase (CBS) gene deficiency that result in homocystinuria [58]. MALDI-TOF-MS has also been used in detection of Toll-like receptor (TLR4) polymorphisms in patients to predict susceptibility to bacterial infection [59]. Most of these analyses require a purification step prior to MS analysis. The sensitivity of MALDI is increased by having a single positive or negative charge associated with the target. Sauer, S et al. has reported a modified procedure named "GOOD ASSAY" that uses this concept [60]. This assay has many advantages since it does not require a purification step and the reagents can be added in a single reaction tube followed by mass spectroscopy of the product. Briefly, this assay involves an initial PCR reaction where the target DNA is amplified. Prior to the primer extension reaction, degradation of dNTP's is achieved by incubation with shrimp alkaline phosphatase. However, if Tma 31 FS DNA polymerase is used for primer extension, this step can be omitted because this enzyme has a preference for ddNTP's. The extension primers containing a charged tag anneal immediately upstream of the SNP to be genotyped. Thermocycling in the presence of a specific set of  $\alpha$ -SdNTP and  $\alpha$ -S-ddNTP results in allele-specific extension products containing phosphorothioate bridges. Following the extension reaction, the primer is digested by phosphodiesterase. However, the 3' end of the primer is not susceptible to the digestion since it contains phosphorothioate bridges. Finally after an alkylation reaction, optimized only to add methyl groups to the bridge thiolates, the sample is mixed with a non-acidic matrix (cyano-4-hydroxy-cinnamic acid methyl ester) to be applied on to the target. Using this technique, SNP detection by the difference in generated mass is well over the detection sensitivity of the instrument. In the range of 1000-2000 Da the MALDI-TOF-MS has a resolution power of 4 m/z, and the smallest difference due to a SNP is 9 m/z, corresponding to an A-T change. Positively and negatively tagged products will only be detected in their corresponding mode allowing for multiplexing. Also the middle base of the extension primer harboring the amino-modification for the positive mode can be used as a mass tag location introducing an alternative for multiplexing.

The MassARRAY<sup>TM</sup> system from SEQUENOM<sup>®</sup> (San Diego, CA) is based on MALDI-TOF MS detection of a primer extension reaction that is loaded on to a chip for detection of allele specific masses. The PCR amplification uses biotinylated primers and is followed by strand separation and an extension reaction over the SNP of interest. The MASSEXTEND<sup>TM</sup> primer specific for the SNP of interest is extended by only one and two nucleotides to generate two extension product. This is controlled by the ddNTP concentrations. The denatured extension products are then added on to Spectro CHIPs<sup>TM</sup> for analysis by mass spectrometry using SpectroTYPER<sup>TM</sup> software.

A different application of SNP detection by mass spectrometry is the Survivor Assay [61] where single nucleotide primer extension (SNuPE) is detected with electrospray ionization mass spectrometry (ESI-MS). This technique utilizes single or double stranded DNA and measures the amount of unreacted ddNTP's rather than the extended primer. The conventional PCR reaction is followed by primer extension at the SNP site. The extension primers are complementary adjacent to the 3' end of the polymorphic site. A single nucleotide incorporation is allowed and the amount of remaining ddNTP's is measured using electrospray ionization mass spectrometry (ESI-MS).

#### 12.4.5 Capillary electrophoresis

The MegaBACE<sup>™</sup> genotyping system of Amersham Pharmacia Biotech<sup>®</sup> is a platform that provides analysis of microsatellites [62], DNA sequencing up to 1000 nucleotides, and SNP validation, by changing detection parameters and analysis software. This system can serve a dual function, capable of performing sequencing and genotyping. One disadvantage system of this system compared to a gel based system, is the requirement of highly purified template and accurate concentration determination. On the other hand, the loading of samples are performed electrokinetically so all the samples are injected simultaneously. MegaBACE<sup>™</sup> 1000 has up to 96 capillaries. Unlike conventional sequencing reactions, termination is achieved by DYEnamic ET Terminators, modified ddNTP's harboring fluorescent labels. The excess terminators are cleaned up with ethanol precipitation. Genotyping by this method requires the amplification of target through a PCR reaction. Detection of the SNP relies on single base extension by PCR where the complementary-labeled ddNTP is incorporated at the polymorphic site, depending on the identity of the mutation. Fig. 12.7A is a schematic representing the identification of a SNP site. A homozygous will have a single peak with the corresponding dye compared to a heterozygous that will have two signal peaks corresponding to each dye. The detection system relies on excitation of the fluorecentlylabeled extension reaction products, loaded on to the capillaries, through confocal scanning. The primers or the terminators utilized in the extension reactions have



Fig. 12.7. (A) A schematic illustrating the expected signals for capillary electrophoresis. (B) A representation of energy transfer dye technology.

fluorophores and the system uses a patented energy transfer dye technology (ET). For excitation of the dyes, a blue (488 nm) and a green (532 nm) light is used. These donor dyes are incorporated into the target sequence during PCR amplification. The donor dye (FAM) is excited by a laser light, the absorbed energy is then transferred to the acceptor dye (ROX) at its characteristic wavelength (Fig. 12.7B).

An application of capillary electrophoresis in combination with ASPCR (allelespecific PCR) and ET (energy transfer) primers has been demonstrated in the identification of hemochromatosis-related mutations by Mathies RA et al. In this study, 96 reference samples were tested for three common variants, (C282Y, H63D, and S65C), by ASPCR, and products were simultaneously separated in less than 10 min. by the difference in their size and the incorporated fluorescent label [62]. Another application that can utilize any commercial available instrument, without the need for special probes, is the separation/identification of multiplexed PCR products for simultaneous detection of biallelic polymorphisms. Ulvik A et al. has demonstrated such an application by the simultaneous identification of methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase (MTHFR) C677T, and factor V G1691A along with their corresponding normal alleles [63].

# **12.4.6 DNA microchips**

Several high-density oligonucleotide arrays or DNA chips are being manufactured and used to determine genetic expression profiles from genes or the detection of SNPs. These DNA chips contain short oligonucleotide sequences that are anchored on glass supports. One major advantage of these chips is the amount of information that can be obtained. A single chip can provide information on thousands of genetic regions. Affymetrix (Santa Clara, CA) has a DNA analysis product (GeneChip®) that combines high-density microarrays, scalable assays and automated genotype calling. The GeneChip® Mapping 10K array system can genotype 10,000 SNPs with only 250 ng of genomic DNA. Affymetrix has another product under development that will expand the genotyping capability to 100,000 SNPs in a single experiment. Currently, cancer research studies are using DNA chips to determine gene expression profiles of RNA fragments from tumor tissues and comparing them to normal tissues to determine which genes are differentially regulated. This technology allows for the large-scale screening to simultaneously detect thousands of SNPs that have clinical relevance. Furthermore, this technology can be fully automated for large-scale analysis. However, the expense of these chips is one limiting factor for the widespread clinical application of this technology. In addition, the volume of data that is generated requires huge databases and its clinical significance is still not fully understood. Although as the cost decreases and our understanding of the information provided by the chips increases, the potential use of this technology will rise.

# 12.4.6.1 $eSensor^{TM}$ DNA detection system

Currently, Motorola Life Sciences (Pasadena, CA) manufactures a less expensive and smaller scale DNA chip for detecting key SNPs in several *CYP* isoforms (2D6, 2C9, and



Fig. 12.8. A schematic showing the eSensor<sup>™</sup> DNA detection system for polymorphisms.

2C19). The desired region of genomic DNA containing the polymorphism (DNA base substitution/deletion) is first amplified by PCR in a multiplex reaction. The resulting PCR product is digested with Lambda Exonuclease to form single-stranded DNA which is loaded with the signaling probes and assay buffer onto an eSensor<sup>™</sup> Biochip cartridge. If present, the target DNA hybridizes to the complementary capture and signaling probes, bringing the specific electrochemical labels on the signaling probe near the electrode surface (Fig. 12.8). The eSensor<sup>™</sup> utilizes alternating current voltammetry to detect the resulting positive or negative electrochemical signals from each electrode on the eSensor<sup>™</sup> cartridge. This data is then used to determine which of the CYP polymorphisms are present or absent in the target DNA. Both the wild-type and variant signaling probes are labeled differently. This allows the eSensor<sup>™</sup> system software to examine the positive electrochemical signals detected to determine whether the wildtype and/or variant sequences of a specific CYP gene are present in the target sequence. The eSensor<sup>™</sup> DNA Biochip cartridges have been shown to be a simple and accurate methodology to genotype selected mutations of CYP2D6 genes encoding the drug metabolizing enzymes [64]. This technology has several advantages: the simplicity, the ability to detect multiple polymorphisms simultaneously, and a homogenous sealed system. The main limiting factor is that a maximum of 48 individuals can be genotyped on the eSensor<sup>™</sup> 4800. However, the hybridization and analysis time is only two hours, so multiple batches of 48 can easily be performed during a workday.

# 12.4.7 Flow cytometry [65]

Comparison of all the methods to detect SNPs that were out lined in this chapter reveal that most are based on primer extension, but differ in their capabilities and limitations depending on the method of detection. Yet another detection technique is the use of flow cytometry. The modification required for detection by this system is the generation of fluorescently-labeled PCR amplification products and attachment of the target-probe complex to microsphere beads that are fluorescently labeled.

# 12.4.7.1 GammARRAYS

GAMMArrays [65] is a combination of primer extension and mini-sequencing using micro-spheres as a solid support and flow cytometry for detection. Briefly, a mini-sequencing reaction is performed with fluorescent ddNTP's to extend a biotinylated primer that is adjacent to the mutation site. Four parallel reactions are performed; in each reaction one of the ddNTP's carries a different fluorescent label and three unlabeled dideoxy-bases. Using strepavidin- or avidin-coated microspheres, the extension reaction products are separated and sorted out by the flow cytometer to quantify the amount of incorporated label.

# 12.4.7.2 $ZipCodes^{TM}$

A combination of oligo liation assay (OLA) coupled to flow cytometry [66] detection is provided by Glaxo-Wellcome<sup>®</sup>. This system utilizes allele-specific capture probes. Each capture probe contains a unique 25 base sequence at the 5' end, called ZipCode<sup>TM</sup>. The ZipCodes vary at their 3' ends defining each allele. The 3' end of these capture probes are complementary to the target sequence and include one of the four bases at the interrogation site. The reaction also contains a reporter probe that harbors a fluorescent label and a phosphate at the 3' and 5' ends respectively. If the base at the 3' end of the capture probe is complementary to the polymorphic site, the presence of a ligase the reporter and capture probes will be ligated. The 25 unique nucleotides identifying



Fig. 12.9. A schematic description to illustrate the special correlation between ZipCode, cZipCode, capture, and reporter probes.

the sequence at the 5' end are specific for each allele. Analysis of the SNP site is achieved by coupling the ligated capture-reporter probe product to fluorescent microspheres via complementary zipcode sequences (cZipCode). cZipCode sequence contain complementary sequence to the 25 base allele specific ZipCode and is chemically coupled to the fluorescent microspheres (Fig. 12.9). The genotype is determined by the unique combination of fluorescence provided by the microspheres and the reporter probe.

# **12.5 CONCLUSION**

A large number of genotyping technologies are available to detect known and unknown polymorphisms. The success and clinical application of pharmacogenomics depends on user-friendly, rapid, accurate techniques with good throughput. Table 12.3 lists some of the key components of an ideal genotyping system, according to Dennis O'Kane [7].

# TABLE 12.3 PROPERTIES OF AN IDEAL GENOTYPING SYSTEM<sup>7</sup>

- High sensitivity (no false-negatives)
- High specificity (few false-positives)
- Rapid turn-around time (hours)
- Inexpensive
- · High throughput
- No sequence bias in mutation detection
- · No sequence information required for mutation detection

Technique	Manufacturer(s)	Advantages	Limitations
RFLP	N/A	Simplicity	Polymorphism must alter/create a restriction site
LightCycler®	Roche Diagnostics Corp.	Rapid, real-time detection, closed system	Limited multiplexing capabilities
ReadIt <sup>™</sup>	Promega Corp	Can be automated for high-throughput	Requires PCR amplification
Pyrosequencing <sup>™</sup>	Pyrosequecing Inc.	Simplicity	Requires PCR amplification
DNA biochips- eSensor™	Motorola Life Sciences	Detection of multiple polymorphisms	Requires PCR amplification

#### TABLE 12.4 COMPARISON OF SELECTED GENOTYPING TECHNOLOGIES\*

N/A: Not applicable.

\* Based on author's experience.

Each of the discussed methods above has specific advantages and can be used in a variety of settings. However, each method also has its limitations. Based on the authors' experience, Table 12.4 lists the pros and cons of some genotyping methods. Since the number of genotyping technologies is so large, it is impossible to review each one in detail. As a result, a list of other miscellaneous genotyping methods with unknown future potential has been compiled (Table 12.2). Ultimately, each laboratory will have to choose the technology that best fits their needs.

#### **12.6 REFERENCES**

- 1 M.W. Linder, R.A. Prough and R. Valdes, Jr., Pharmacogenetics: a laboratory tool for optimizing therapeutic efficiency. Clin. Chem., 43 (1997) 254–266.
- 2 M.W. Linder and R. Valdes, Jr., Pharmacogenetics: fundementals and applications. Ther. Drug Monit. Toxicol., 20 (1999) 9–17.
- 3 M. Wygant, SNP market view: Opportunities, technologies, and products. BioTechniques 32 (2002) S78–S86.
- 4 J.M. Rusnak, R.M. Kisabeth, D.P. Herbert and D.M. McNeil, Pharmacogenomics: a clinician's primer on emerging technologies for improved patient care. Mayo Clin. Proc., 76 (2001) 299–309.
- 5 P.J. Jannetto, S.H. Wong, S.B. Gock, E. Laleli-Sahin, B.C. Schur and J.M. Jentzen, Pharmacogenomics as molecular autopsy for postmortem forensic toxicology: genotyping cytochrome P450 2D6 for oxycodone cases. J. Anal. Toxicol., 26 (2002) 438–447.
- 6 S. Chen, W.H. Chou, R.A. Blouin et al., The cytochrome P450 2D6 (CYP2D6) enzyme polymorphism: screening costs and influence on clinical outcomes in psychiatry. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther., 60 (1996) 522–534.
- 7 D.J. O'Kane, Molecular techniques for pharmacogenomics, Society of Forensic Toxicologists 2002 Annual Meeting, Dearborn, MI, October 13, 2002.
- 8 C.R. Wolf, G. Smith and R.L. Smith, Science, medicine, and the future: Pharmacogenetics. Br. Med. J., 320 (2000) 987–990.
- 9 A. Lelo, J.O. Miners, R.A. Robson and D.J. Birkett, Quantitative assessment of caffeine partial clearances in man. Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol., 22 (1986) 183–186.
- 10 L. Bertilsson, J.A. Carrillo, M.L. Dahl et al., Clozapine disposition covaries with CYP1A2 activity determined by a caffeine test. Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol., 38 (1994) 471–473.
- 11 H.R. Ha, J. Chen, A.U. Freiburghaus and F. Follath, Metabolism of theophylline by cDNA-expressed human cytochromes P-450. Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol., 39 (1995) 321–326.
- 12 M. Blum, D.M. Grant, W. McBride, M. Heim and U.A. Meyer, Human arylamine N-acetyltransferase genes: isolation, chromosomal localization, and functional expression. DNA Cell Biol., 9 (1990) 193–203.
- 13 F. Innocenti, L. Iyer and M.J. Ratain, Pharmacogenetics of anticancer agents: lessons from amonafide and irinotecan. Drug Metab. Dispos., 29 (2001) 596–600.
- 14 G.B. Elion, The purine path to chemotherapy. Science 244 (1989) 41–47.
- 15 R. Weinshilboum, Thiopurine pharmacogenetics: clinical and molecular studies of thiopurine methyltransferase. Drug Metab. Dispos., 29 (2001) 601–605.
- 16 M. Pirmohamed and B.K. Park, Genetic susceptibility to adverse drug reactions. Trends Pharmacol. Sci., 22 (2001) 298–305.
- 17 J.B. Schwartz, Pharmacogenetics: has it reached the clinic? J. Gend. Specif. Med., 5 (2002) 13-18.
- 18 C.R. Wolf and G. Smith, Pharmacogenetics. Br. Med. Bull., 55 (1999) 366–386.
- 19 C. Masimirembwa, J. Hasler, L. Bertilssons, I. Johansson, O. Ekberg and M. Ingelman-Sundberg, Phenotype and genotype analysis of debrisoquine hydroxylase (CYP2D6) in a black Zimbabwean population. Reduced enzyme activity and evaluation of metabolic correlation of CYP2D6 probe drugs. Eur. J. Clin. Pharmacol., 51 (1996) 117–122.
- 20 R. Sachidanandam, D. Weissman, S.C. Schmidt et al., A map of human genome sequence variation containing 1.42 million single nucleotide polymorphisms. Nature 409 (2001) 928–933.

- 21 M.K. Halushka, J.B. Fan, K. Bentley et al., Patterns of single-nucleotide polymorphisms in candidate genes for blood-pressure homeostasis. Nature Genet., 22 (1999) 239–247.
- 22 W.H. Li and L.A. Sadler, Low nucleotide diversity in man. Genetics, 129 (1991) 513–523.
- 23 M.M. Shi, Enabling large-scale pharmacogenetic studies by high-throughput mutation detection and genotyping technologies. Clin. Chem., 47 (2001) 164–172.
- 24 R. Makino, H. Yazyu, Y. Kishimoto, T. Sekiya and K. Hayashi, F-SSCP: fluorescence-based polymerase chain reaction-single-strand conformation polymorphism (PCR-SSCP) analysis. PCR Methods Appl., 2 (1992) 10–13.
- 25 Q. Liu and S.S. Sommer, Restriction endonuclease fingerprinting (REF): a sensitive method for screening mutations in long, contiguous segments of DNA. Biotechniques, 18 (1995) 470–477.
- 26 G. Sarkar, H.S. Yoon and S.S. Sommer, Dideoxy fingerprinting (ddE): a rapid and efficient screen for the presence of mutations. Genomics, 13 (1992) 441–443.
- 27 A. Kuklin, K. Munson, D. Gjerde, R. Haefele and P. Taylor, Detection of single-nucleotide polymorphisms with the WAVE DNA fragment analysis system. Genet. Test, 1 (1997) 201–206.
- 28 E. Schaeffeler, T. Lang, U.M. Zanger, M. Eichelbaum and M. Schwab, High-throughput genotyping of thiopurine S-methyltransferase by denaturing HPLC. Clin. Chem., 47 (2001) 548–555.
- 29 B.C. Schur, J. Bjerke, N. Nuwayhid and S.H. Wong, Genotyping of cytochrome P450 2D6\*3 and \*4 mutations using conventional PCR. Clin. Chim. Acta., 308 (2001) 25–31.
- 30 S. Narayanan, Applications of restriction fragment length polymorphism. Ann. Clin. Lab. Sci., 21 (1991) 291–296.
- 31 K. Mangasser-Stephan, C. Tag, A. Reiser and A.M. Gressner, Rapid genotyping of hemochromatosis gene mutations on the LightCycler with fluorescent hybridization probes. Clin. Chem., 45 (1999) 1875–1878.
- 32 M. Nauck, H. Wieland and W. Marz, Rapid, homogeneous genotyping of the 4G/5G polymorphism in the promoter region of the PAII gene by fluorescence resonance energy transfer and probe melting curves. Clin. Chem., 45 (1999) 1141–1147.
- 33 P.S. Bernard and C.T. Wittwer, Real-time PCR technology for cancer diagnostics. Clin. Chem., 48 (2002) 1178–1185.
- 34 H. Millward, W. Samowitz, C.T. Wittwer and P.S. Bernard, Homogeneous amplification and mutation scanning of the p53 gene using fluorescent melting curves. Clin. Chem., 48 (2002) 1321–1328.
- 35 U.M. Stamer, B. Bayerer, S. Wolf, A. Hoeft and F. Stuber, Rapid and reliable method for cytochrome P450 2D6 genotyping. Clin. Chem., 48 (2002) 1412–1417.
- 36 V.I. Lyamichev, M.W. Kaiser, N.E. Lyamicheva et al., Experimental and theoretical analysis of the invasive signal amplification reaction. Biochemistry, 39 (2000) 9523–9532.
- 37 R.W. Kwiatkowski, V. Lyamichev, M. de Arruda and B. Neri, Clinical, genetic, and pharmacogenetic applications of the Invader assay. Mol. Diagn., 4 (1999) 353–364.
- 38 V. Lyamichev, A.L. Mast, J.G. Hall et al., Polymorphism identification and quantitative detection of genomic DNA by invasive cleavage of oligonucleotide probes. Nature Biotechnol., 17 (1999) 292–296.
- 39 M.W. Kaiser, N. Lyamicheva, W. Ma et al., A comparison of eubacterial and archaeal structurespecific 5'-exonucleases. J. Biol. Chem., 274 (1999) 21387–21394.
- 40 B.W. Kirk, M. Feinsod, R. Favis, R.M. Kliman and F. Barany, Single nucleotide polymorphism seeking long term association with complex disease. Nucleic Acids Res., 30 (2002) 3295–3311.
- 41 C.A. Mein, B.J. Barratt, M.G. Dunn et al., Evaluation of single nucleotide polymorphism typing with invader on PCR amplicons and its automation. Genome. Res., 10 (2000) 330–343.
- 42 T.M. Hsu, S.M. Law, S. Duan, B.P. Neri and P.Y. Kwok, Genotyping single-nucleotide polymorphisms by the invader assay with dual-color fluorescence polarization detection. Clin. Chem., 47 (2001) 1373–1377.
- 43 K.J. Livak, S.J. Flood, J. Marmaro, W. Giusti and K. Deetz, Oligonucleotides with fluorescent dyes at opposite ends provide a quenched probe system useful for detecting PCR product and nucleic acid hybridization. PCR Methods Appl., 4 (1995) 357–362.
- 44 C.A. Heid, J. Stevens, K.J. Livak and P.M. Williams, Real time quantitative PCR. Genome. Res., 6 (1996) 986–994.

- 45 K. Ranade, M.S. Chang, C.T. Ting et al., High-throughput genotyping with single nucleotide polymorphisms. Genome. Res., 11 (2001) 1262–1268.
- 46 M.W. Linder, N. Johnson and R. Valdes, Jr., Design of genotyping methods based on pyrophosphorolysis for pharmacogenetics, American Association of Clinical Chemistry Annual Meeting, Orlando, FL., 2002.
- 47 G.J. Tsongalis, B.J. Rainey and K.A. Hodges, READIT: a novel technology used in the interrogation of nucleic acid sequences for single-nucleotide polymorphisms. Exp. Mol. Pathol., 71 (2001) 222–225.
- 48 S. Tyagi and F.R. Kramer, Molecular beacons: probes that fluoresce upon hybridization. Nature Biotechnol., 14 (1996) 303–308.
- 49 G. Bonnet, S. Tyagi, A. Libchaber and F.R. Kramer, Thermodynamic basis of the enhanced specificity of structured DNA probes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 96 (1999) 6171–6176.
- 50 K. Szuhai, J. Ouweland, R. Dirks et al., Simultaneous A8344G heteroplasmy and mitochondrial DNA copy number quantification in myoclonus epilepsy and ragged-red fibers (MERRF) syndrome by a multiplex molecular beacon based real-time fluorescence PCR. Nucleic Acids Res., 29 (2001) E13.
- 51 S. Tyagi, S.A. Marras and F.R. Kramer, Wavelength-shifting molecular beacons. Nature Biotechnol., 18 (2000) 1191–1196.
- 52 H. Yu, B. Merchant, C. Scheffel, C. Yandava, J.M. Drazen and J. Huff, Automated detection of single nucleotide polymorphism in beta-2 adrenergic receptor gene using LCx(R). Clin. Chim. Acta., 308 (2001) 17–24.
- 53 G. Zhou, M. Kamahori, K. Okano, G. Chuan, K. Harada and H. Kambara, Quantitative detection of single nucleotide polymorphisms for a pooled sample by a bioluminometric assay coupled with modified primer extension reactions (BAMPER). Nucleic Acids Res., 29 (2001) 29: E93.
- 54 A. Sivertsson, A. Platz, J. Hansson and J. Lundeberg, Pyrosequencing as an alternative to single-strand conformation polymorphism analysis for detection of N-ras mutations in human melanoma metastases. Clin. Chem., 48 (2002) 2164–2170.
- 55 H. Andreasson, A. Asp, A. Alderborn, U. Gyllensten and M. Allen, Mitochondrial sequence analysis for forensic identification using pyrosequencing technology. Biotechniques, 32 (2002) 124–126, 128, 130–133.
- 56 A.C. Syvanen, K. Aalto-Setala, L. Harju, K. Kontula and H. Soderlund, A primer-guided nucleotide incorporation assay in the genotyping of apolipoprotein E. Genomics, 8 (1990) 684–692.
- 57 N.M. Makridakis and J.K. Reichardt, Multiplex automated primer extension analysis: simultaneous genotyping of several polymorphisms. Biotechniques, 31 (2001) 1374–1380.
- 58 A. Harksen, P.M. Ueland, H. Refsum and K. Meyer, Four common mutations of the cystathionine beta-synthase gene detected by multiplex PCR and matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization timeof-flight mass spectrometry. Clin. Chem., 45 (1999) 1157–1161.
- 59 C. Schmitt, A. Humeny, C.M. Becker, K. Brune and A. Pahl, Polymorphisms of TLR4: rapid genotyping and reduced response to lipopolysaccharide of TLR4 mutant alleles. Clin. Chem., 48 (2002) 1661–1667.
- 60 S. Sauer, D. Lechner, K. Berlin et al., A novel procedure for efficient genotyping of single nucleotide polymorphisms. Nucleic Acids Res., 28 (2000) E13.
- 61 S. Zhang, C.K. Van Pelt and G.A. Schultz, Electrospray ionization mass spectrometry-based genotyping: an approach for identification of single nucleotide polymorphisms. Anal. Chem., 73 (2001) 2117–2125.
- 62 I.L. Medintz, L. Berti, C.A. Emrich, J. Tom, J.R. Scherer and R.A. Mathies, Genotyping energytransfer-cassette-labeled short-tandem-repeat amplicons with capillary array electrophoresis microchannel plates. Clin. Chem., 47 (2001) 1614–1621.
- 63 A. Ulvik, J. Ren, H. Refsum and P.M. Ueland, Simultaneous determination of methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase C677T and factor V G1691A genotypes by mutagenically separated PCR and multiple-injection capillary electrophoresis. Clin. Chem., 44 (1998) 264–269.
- 64 S.H. Wong, P.J. Jannetto, E. Sahin et al., DNA electronic microarray detection for pharmacogenomics-Genotyping CYP450 mutations as molecular autopsy for certifying drug related toxicity. Society of Forensic Toxicologists Annual Meeting, Dearborn, MI, 2002.

- 65 H. Cai, P.S. White, D. Torney et al., Flow cytometry-based minisequencing: a new platform for highthroughput single-nucleotide polymorphism scoring. Genomics, 66 (2000) 135–143.
- 66 M.A. Iannone, J.D. Taylor, J. Chen et al., Multiplexed single nucleotide polymorphism genotyping by oligonucleotide ligation and flow cytometry. Cytometry, 39 (2000) 131–140.
- 67 D.A. Flockhart, Cytochrome P450 Drug Interaction Table: Indiana University Department of Medicine, 2002:http://medicine.iupui.edu/flockhart.
- 68 B.B. Rasmussen and K. Brosen, Determination of urinary metabolites of caffeine for the assessment of cytochrome P4501A2, xanthine oxidase, and N-acetyltransferase activity in humans. Ther. Drug Monit., 18 (1996) 254–262.
- 69 R.M. Weinshilboum, F.A. Raymond and P.A. Pazmino, Human erythrocyte thiopurine methyltransferase: radiochemical microassay and biochemical properties. Clin. Chim. Acta., 85 (1978) 323–333.
- 70 A.P. Shuber, L.A. Michalowsky, G.S. Nass et al., High throughput parallel analysis of hundreds of patient samples for more than 100 mutations in multiple disease genes. Hum. Mol. Genet., 6 (1997) 337–347.
- 71 I.N. Day and S.E. Humphries, Electrophoresis for genotyping: microtiter array diagonal gel electrophoresis on horizontal polyacrylamide gels, hydrolink, or agarose. Anal. Biochem., 222 (1994) 389–395.
- 72 U. Landegren, R. Kaiser, J. Sanders and L. Hood, A ligase-mediated gene detection technique. Science, 241 (1988) 1077–1080.
- 73 X. Chen, K.J. Livak and P.Y. Kwok, A homogeneous, ligase-mediated DNA diagnostic test. Genome. Res., 8 (1998) 549–556.
- 74 A. Simeonov and T.T. Nikiforov, Single nucleotide polymorphism genotyping using short, fluorescently labeled locked nucleic acid (LNA) probes and fluorescence polarization detection. Nucleic Acids Res., 30 (2002) E91.
- 75 A.K. Tong, Z. Li, G.S. Jones, J.J. Russo and J. Ju, Combinatorial fluorescence energy transfer tags for multiplex biological assays. Nature Biotechnol., 19 (2001) 756–759.
- 76 W.M. Howell, M. Jobs, U. Gyllensten and A.J. Brookes, Dynamic allele-specific hybridization. A new method for scoring single nucleotide polymorphisms. Nature Biotechnol., 17 (1999) 87–88.
- 77 Y. Eitan and Y. Kashi, Direct micro-haplotyping by multiple double PCR amplifications of specific alleles (MD-PASA). Nucleic Acids Res., 30 (2002) e62.
- 78 G. Watanabe, K. Umetsu, I. Yuasa et al., A novel technique for detecting single nucleotide polymorphisms by analyzing consumed allele-specific primers. Electrophoresis, 22 (2001) 418–420.

This page intentionally left blank

#### CHAPTER 13

# Applications of genotyping and phenotyping for clinically-relevant polymorphisms of drug metabolizing enzymes and drug transporters

Andreas Lazar, Dorota Tomalik-Scharte and Uwe Fuhr

Institute of Pharmacology, Clinical Pharmacology, University of Köln, Germany

# **13.1 INTRODUCTION**

More than 5% of in-patients suffer from serious adverse drug reactions, and a large fraction of these reactions could have been avoided by appropriate selection of drug and/ or drug dose [1]. A main reason for such adverse reactions is the heterogeneous response of patients to standard treatment which is caused by heterogeneity in the disease(s) treated, in drug targets, in comedication, in other environmental factors, and/or in drug concentrations. Heterogeneity attributable to drug concentrations may be handled by a personalized dose adjustment in order to reach a therapeutic concentration range, with considerable improvement of the risk/benefit ratio of individual drug therapy. This may be done based on clinical response, on drug concentration (=therapeutic drug monitoring), or on factors known to predict clinical response and/or drug concentrations.

Drug metabolizing enzymes and drug transporters mediate rate-limiting steps for pharmacokinetic processes of many important drugs. The activity of such enzymes and transporters in man depends on genetic and environmental influences and usually shows a more than 10-fold variation within and between subjects [2]. Individual activity of the respective protein may have a major impact on the pharmacokinetic properties of its substrates and therefore may be of outstanding importance for therapeutic efficacy and safety of drugs [3]. Thus, for a fraction of drugs it would be desirable to take individual activity of such enzymes and transporters into account as the basis for optimizing therapy by individual dose adjustment.

Actual activity of many important enzymes in a subject may be determined by administration of a selective substrate for this enzyme and subsequent determination of



Fig. 13.1. Schematic presentation of the influence of CYP2D6 genotype on apparent CYP2D6 phenotype and on the action of a therapeutic drug metabolized by the enzyme. Thick arrows reflect a presumed major influence, shaded symbols represent processes that are accessible by direct measurement.

pharmacokinetic parameters reflecting activity of the enzyme. This procedure is called *phenotyping*. The respective metric used may be systemic clearance of a drug eliminated exclusively by this enzyme, or partial clearance for the respective metabolic pathway. Other parameters such as ratio of metabolite over parent compound in plasma, saliva and/or urine are also often used [4,5].

If a genetic polymorphism is the main reason for interindividual variation in enyzme or drug transporter activity, individual enzyme activity may be predicted by identification of the respective individual allele variants [6]. This procedure is called *genotyping*. It is potentially useful only if the functional impact of the individual alleles is known. By genotyping, other factors influencing enzyme activity such as liver disease or drug–drug interactions cannot be taken into account; on the other hand, these factors do not confound the result.

However, the existing phenotyping and genotyping methods to date have one major limitation: It is often not clear to which extent these data indeed reflect enzyme or transporter activity in vivo or whether other individual factors (e.g. renal function, activity of other enzymes) have a more pronounced impact [7]. Furthermore, even if the activity of individual enzymes can be measured or predicted accurately, it remains to be shown that this information indeed improves the risk/benefit relation of therapy with a given drug. The relationship between genotyping, enzyme activity, phenotyping, pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics is explained for a CYP2D6 substrate in Fig. 13.1, showing that these aspects are closely related but need not be predictive for each other. Unfortunately, prospective studies with clinical endpoints in the field are sparse. Finally, some of the test drugs used for phenotyping have adverse effects that are not really harmful but relevant for the clinical use, e.g. sedation by midazolam used for CYP3A4 phenotyping. For the reasons described above, applications of genotyping and phenotyping for drug metabolizing enzymes and drug transporters today are limited to experimental settings with few exceptions, but there is the potential for a very broad use. The objective of this article is to describe the rationale for phenotyping and/or genotyping with respect to those drug metabolizing enzymes and drug transporters for which the actual evidence suggests that these procedures indeed may be useful to optimize individual drug therapy with its substrates. In addition to the role of diversity in these proteins for drug therapy, such enzymes and transporters are also related to carcinogenesis and other diseases; this however is beyond the scope of this chapter.

#### 13.2 THIOPURINE-S-METHYLTRANSFERASE (TPMT)

Thiopurines like azathioprine [AZA], 6-mercaptopurine [6-MP] and thioguanine are efficient immunosuppressive and cytotoxic agents for the management of inflammatory bowel disease, rheumatoid arthritis, acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) and graftversus-host disease. However, the application of thiopurine derivates is complicated by a high incidence of severe adverse reactions, the most important of which is myelotoxicity resulting in discontinuation of therapy or even fatal outcomes in patients who were treated with standard doses. Thiopurine-S-methyltransferase (TPMT) is the main enzyme in the complex metabolism of thiopurine-based drugs converting the active compounds into inactive metabolites. While about 89-94% of Caucasian populations show a high enzyme activity approximately 6-11% exhibit an intermediate and 0.3% a low catalytic activity. In the latter cases, toxic thioguanine nucleotides are largely generated and it is well established that people who lack a high TPMT activity are prone to an increased incidence of thiopurine-induced adverse events [8,9]. On the other hand, a high TPMT activity corroborates with a higher subsequent relapse rate in children with ALL [10]. The interindividual differences in enzymatic activity are caused by genetic polymorphisms and to date, 11 mutant alleles have been identified associated with a reduction or a complete loss of TPMT activity. Epidemiologic studies have revealed the alleles \*2, \*3A and \*3C to be most frequent in Caucasians while additional alleles have only been reported in isolated cases and there are considerable inter-ethnic differences [11]. The catalytic activity of cytosolic TPMT in erythrocytes correlates well with the hepatic activity and phenotyping methods that are based on the determination of cytosolic TPMT activity by radiochemical assays and HPLC techniques are well established [12,13]. Phenotyping is routinely applied by a number of centers like the Mayo Clinic, Rochester, MN. Genetic TPMT deficiency is highly predictive for myelosuppression due to AZA/ 6-MP-treatment with standard doses although there are various other causes. Out of 41 patients with Crohn's disease and AZA/ 6-MP-related hematotoxicity, all four homozygous mutant patients developed bone marrow toxicity within 6 weeks after start of treatment and all 7 patients heterozygous for variant alleles showed toxic adverse events by 18 months after beginning of chemotherapy. However, variant alleles were not detected in the remaining 73% of patients with myelosuppression [14]. TPMT-genotypes especially accounted for myelotoxicity during the initial period of treatment while later cases tended to be probably caused by immunological factors. In a recent study, 2 of 5 patients with inflammatory bowel disease suffering from AZA/ 6-MP-induced toxicity were carriers of mutant TPMT alleles indicating that genetic impacts can only explain the minority of cases but are highly predictive with a specificity near 100%. In contrast, gastrointestinal adverse events like hepatotoxicity and pancreatitis seem not to be induced by TPMT deficiency [15]. Reduction of dose to one tenth of standard dosage has been shown to prevent TPMT-deficient patients from hematotoxic side effects while it upheld therapeutic efficacy [16,17].

For the vast majority of cases phenotyping and genotyping strategies are equally suitable. However, phenotyping can be affected by several factors and some cases of misinterpretation have been reported. For instance, patients with a TPMT-deficiency might misleadingly demonstrate normal enzyme activity after transfusion of erythrocyte concentrates from a homozygous wild-type individual [18,19]. Additionally, phenotyping results might be compromised by concomitant therapy with furosemide, sulphasalazine, salicylic acid and derivates, certain food and uremia [20,21].

TPMT is one of the classic examples for a promising link between pretherapeutic screening and clinical practise. Consequently, determination of the TPMT-metabolizing status should become routine usage before commencing AZA/6-MP-therapy in order to identify patients at high risk of myelotoxicity and to adjust the individual drug dosis in these cases. The method to choose – phenotyping or genotyping – is dependent of disposibility and the individual case. However, unambiguous identification of a competent TPMT metabolizing status does not preclude the occurrence of toxic side effects. Therefore, regular examination of leucocyte blood count and a permanently mindful observation of the clincal symptomatic is necessary during therapy with AZA/ 6-MP even if data on individual enzyme activity is available.

#### 13.3 DIHYDROPYRIMIDINE DEHYDROGENASE (DPD)

Since decades the chemotherapeutic drug and pyrimidine analogue 5-fluorouracil (5-FU) has been widely used in the treatment of, e.g. colorectal, breast, head, and neck cancers [22]. 5-FU pharmacokinetics demonstrate a considerable inter- and intraindividual variability, depending on dose, route and schedule of administration, and other, partially unknown factors of influence. In humans, more than 80% of administered 5-FU is eliminated in the liver by biotransformation through DPD, the rate limiting enzyme that catabolizes 5–FU into 5-fluoro-5,6-dihydrouracil (5-FUH<sub>2</sub>), thereby regulating its pharmacokinetics, efficacy and toxicity [23–25]. DPD is a saturable enzyme whose Km for 5-FU is approximately  $5\mu$ M [26]. This characteristic explains the nonlinearity of 5-FU pharmacokinetics observed during intravenous bolus injections, because 5-FU blood concentrations around the end of the bolus injection may equal or exceed the Km value of DPD [27,23]. Three to five percent of the Caucasian populations are estimated to demonstrate a reduced catalytic activity [28]. Application of 5-FU is restricted by a narrow therapeutic index because of severe toxicity of WHO grade III-IV including mucositis, granulocytopenia, neuropathy and death [29]. Severe side effects have also been reported for the prodrug capecitabine [30]. The enzymatic activity can be measured in peripheral mononuclear blood cells (PMBC) [31]. However, the correlation with hepatic DPD activity and 5-FU-pharmacokinetics is poor and the predictive value for severe toxicity is low so that this kind of phenotyping approach is not reliable [32].

Polymorphisms within the DPYD gene have been reported with deficiency in enzyme activity [25]. To date, 31 mutations within coding sequence and 5'-UTR have been detected in affected patients [33]. The most frequent one associated with severe 5-FU-related toxicity in cancer patients is a G>A nucleotide substitution at the 5'-splice donor site of exon 14 (1905 + 1G>A) (Fig. 13.2). According to a large investigation in 851 German Caucasians the prevalence of heterozygotes was determined at 0.94% while 24% (6/25) of selected patients who had experienced severe 5-FU-related toxicity were carriers of the so-called exon 14-skipping mutation. The mortality was 50% among the affected patients [34].

The clinical value of genotyping for the exon 14-skipping mutation or comprehensive searching for deleterious mutations of the DPD gene is a matter of an ongoing debate. In a retrospective study of 37 patients exhibiting severe toxic side effects owing to 5-FU-based therapy, 59% had a reduced DPD activity in PMBC. Direct sequencing of all exons in 14 patients allowed detection of the underlying genetic defect only in 57%. However, three quarters of the latter individuals were heterozygous for the splice



Fig. 13.2. Schematic overview of the 23 exons of the DPYD gene and a number of corresponding functional domains of the DPD protein. The uracil binding domain is encoded by the exons 14 and 15. Below, the elctropherograms of a homozygous wild-type individual for the 5'-splice donor site of exon 14 and of a heterozygous carrier of the exon 14 skipping mutation are displayed. NADPH/NADP<sup>+</sup>: putative consensus binding site for nicotinamoide-adenine dinucleotide phosphate; FAD/FMN: putative consensus binding site for flavin-adenine dinucleotide/flavin mononucleotide; 4Fe-4S: iron sulfur cluster.

mutation. In the present study, screening for the exon 14-skipping mutation allowed for identification of high-risk patients with almost complete predictivity but a poor sensitivity of 25% [32]. Contrarily, selective screening for known mutations in another sample of cancer patients undergoing 5-FU chemotherapy detected patients with severe toxicity at a sensitivity of 17%. The sole carrier of the exon 14-skipping mutation demonstrated a normal catalytic activity [28].

The quantitative genotype-phenotype-correlation with regard to severe 5-FU-induced toxicity is currently subject of two major, prospective studies. Preliminary data suggest that the predictive value of the exon 14-skipping mutation is low [35]. However, there is increasing evidence that complete DPD deficiency because of occurrence of two "null-alleles" is highly prone to severe toxicity and that the exon 14-skipping mutation might often exert its influence together with undetected deleterious mutations located elsewhere within the DPD gene. Recently, two cases of combined heterozygosity for the exon 14-skipping mutation and additional mutations related to fatal outcome due to 5-FU therapy have been reported [36,37]. The risk for severe adverse events in case of presence of the exon 14-skipping mutation has been calculated to be 51.5% [38]. Following this assumption, prospective screening for the respective polymorphism and withholding of carriers of mutant alleles from 5-FU therapy might prevent 22.5% of cases of severe toxic events. Originally, on the basis of the data mentioned the German working group for internal oncology (AIO) and the society of haematology and oncology (DGHO) had given the recommendation to screen for the exon 14-skipping mutation before commencement of 5-FU chemotherapy [39]. Although since then, the clinical data available has not fundamentally changed the general advice is not upheld anymore and genotyping for DPD polymorphisms is recommended only for clinical trial settings instead [40,41]. The recent official statements are contradictory and waive the tremendous risk for fatal outcomes at least for exon 14-skipping mutation homozygous individuals.

There is ongoing controversy about the value and the demand to investigate a patient's metabolic status or genotype with respect to DPD. This is mainly because of two reasons. One reason is an undoubted but relatively weak correlation between DPD deficiency and toxicity or between genotype and DPD deficiency, respectively. The other reason is that an adjusted dose regimen according to the individual phenotype or genotype still remains to be found. Despite the conflicting and partly disappointing results of the previous genotyping and phenotyping strategies, a novel promising approach to monitor pharmacokinetics of cancer patients treated with 5-FU and to predict drug response might be the determination of the ratio of the parent compound and its metabolite (5-FUH<sub>2</sub>) in plasma. So far, clinical studies of small sample sizes suggest satisfactory correlation of 5-FU/5-FUH<sub>2</sub>-ratio with therapeutic response and toxicity [42–44].

#### **13.4 THYMIDYLATE SYNTHASE (TS)**

The metabolism and efficacy of fluoro-pyrimidine-based chemotherapy provides an impressive example for a multigenic trait of drug response and the complex cooperation

of at least two genetically polymorphic enzymes involved in the metabolism of 5-FU and other antineoplastic agents. The physiological function of thymidylate synthase (TS) is the conversion of deoxy-uridine monophosphate (dUMP) to deoxy-thymidine monophosphate (dTMP) which represents the only metabolic pathway for a cell to generate thymidylate for DNA synthesis [45]. TS is inhibited by the 5-FU metabolite 5-FU-dUMP as well as by raltitrexed and the antileukaemic agent methotrexate (MTX), thereby exerting cytotoxic effects. It is well known for long that the level of TS expression is regulated by a variable tandem repeat polymorphism (VNTR) within its 5' untranslated enhancer region [46]. Either two (2R) or three (3R) 28-base-pair repeats have been identified and the 3R allele has been shown to be correlated with higher TS expression and activity [47].

Several studies consistently indicated that TS expression is a key determinant of response to infusional treatment with 5-FU in patients with advanced colorectal cancer. For example, in a study of 50 affected patients 50% of the homozygous carriers of the 2R allele clinically responded to a 5-FU therapy while only 15% and 9% of the patients with a 2R/3R genotype and with a 3R/3R genotype were sufficiently chemosensitive, respectively [48]. Similar results have been reported by others. Furthermore, there is ample evidence that the VNTR TS polymorphism has a prognostic impact on 5-FUbased adjuvant chemotherapy and predicts survival. In a study of 221 patients with colorectal carcinoma at Dukes' stage C the short repeat allele was associated with a significantly better long-term survival. Contrarily, individuals with a 3R/3R genotype did not benefit from 5-FU treatment [49]. Overexpression of thymidylate synthase in metastatic tumor tissues was found to be an independent factor of poor prognosis in overall survival [50]. Additionally, homozygosity for the 3R allele was associated with increased expression of thymidylate synthase and poorer outcome of acute lymphoblastic leukaemia among 205 children treated with methotrexate compared with patients carrying the double repeat version [51].

Taken together, high levels of TS expression have abundantly been shown to be related to poorer clinical response to fluoropyrimidine-based therapy and less survival benefit in advanced disease patients with colorectal cancer (CRC). TS expression is normally evaluated by immunohistochemistry or RT-PCR. However, TS expression in primary colorectal cancer cells did not correspond to the level of expression in metastases and clinical outcome was only associated with TS expression in metastatic cells in some studies [52,53]. Thus, the predictive value of genotyping of thymidylate synthase for the individualization of treatment for patients with CRC or acute lymphoblastic leukaemia needs further elucidation.

#### 13.5 N-ACETYLTRANSFERASE TYPE 2 (NAT2)

It is known since more than four decades that the rate of acetylation of clincally important drugs including isoniazide, sulfamethazine, sulfasalazine, procainamid, hydralazin and dapsone shows pronounced interindividual variation and is under control of a genetic polymorphism [54–56]. Initially, subjects have been classified as "rapid acetylators" or "slow acetylators" based on phenotype with respect to acetylation of a

substrate to NAT2. Starting in the mid-1980s, the genetic background of this polymorphism has been elucidated [57]. The enzyme involved has been termed Arylamine N-Acetyltransferase Type 2 (NAT2). It is located on chromosome 8p22 and has a single, intron-free open reading frame with 870 base pairs without for the coding sequence; NAT2 mRNA consists of the protein encoding exon and a second, non-coding exon. The protein has 290 amino acids and a molecular weight of 34 kD. Currently, 17 SNPs have been found in the coding sequence (2 of which silent), 8 SNPs in the 5'-flanking region and 19 SNPs in the 3'- flanking region. A wide range of 35 resulting variant alleles have been described for NAT2, including NAT2\*4 (=wild type), NAT2\*5[A-I], NAT2\*6[A-E], NAT2\*7[A-B], NAT2\*10, NAT2\*11[A-B], NAT2\*12[A-D], NAT2\*13, NAT2\*14[A-G], NAT2\*17, NAT2\*18 and NAT2\*19 [57,58]. Presence of at least one wild-type allele (termed NAT2\*4) or a high-activity variant allele (NAT2\*12) is related to overall high NAT2 activity (rapid acetylator), whereas slow acetylators have two low-activity variants. Obviously, both phenotype groups are heterogeneous, and some researchers also discriminate intermediate acetylators, i.e. subjects with one high-activity NAT2 allele), but these have considerable overlap with rapid acetylators with two high-activity NAT2 alleles, although current evidence indeed suggests a gene-dose effect with co-dominant regulation of NAT2 activity.

The fraction of individuals with at least one highly active NAT2 allele (=rapid acetylators) varies markedly between populations. The highest frequency occurs in Eastern Asia (58 to 90%). Studies in other parts of Asia and in Caucasians have reported lower frequencies between 32 and 43%. The lowest frequencies have been found in two small African studies [59,60].

The appropriate procedure for genotyping depends on the population to be investigated. For instance, testing for only 6 SNPs (G191A, C282T, T341C, C481T, G590A, A803G, G857A) can identify >99.9% of all slow acetylators in Central Europeans. Phenotyping most frequently is carried out using a secondary metabolic step of caffeine. Urinary metabolite ratios reliably identify slow and rapid acetylators and match phenotyping results if advanced analytical techniques are used [61].

Isoniazid is the NAT2 substrate for which most information with regard to the effect of enzyme activity is available. Numerous studies have demonstrated that the metabolism of isoniazid varies widely among different individuals, with a mean apparent elimination half-live of 80 minutes for rapid acetylators and 180 minutes for slow acetylator [62]. Despite these marked differences in isoniazid elimination, it seems that in general rapid and slow acetylators respond equally well to standard daily isoniazid treatment for tuberculosis. However, early studies showed that not only isoniazid concentrations but also therapeutic efficacy and tolerability in the treatment of tuberculosis may be different between slow and rapid acetylators. This difference had been assessed e.g. for the combination of streptomycin and isoniazid. It was most pronounced for weekly treatment (efficacy observed 76% vs. 56% of patients, respectively), but was still present in the case of initial daily treatment for 13 weeks (100% vs. 85%) [63]. These studies based on NAT2 phenotype have been completed by more recents genotyping studies. In a trial in 60 patients with tuberculosis, the apparent elimination rate constant and the area under the isoniazid concentration-time curve over the interval 2 to 6 h after oral isoniazid were determined, and NAT2 genotype was

determined in 47 patients. Three eliminator phenotypes could be distinguished, and concordance between the phenotype and the genotype of the individual could be demonstrated. Slow acetylators had 4-6 fold higher isoniazide concentrations than rapid acetylators, and concentrations in intermediate acetylators were in between, prompting the authors to propose an individualized isonaizide dosing regimen [64]. Adverse effects of isoniazid therapy also appears to depend on NAT2 activity. Most but not all studies suggest that hepatic toxicity is observed more often and is more severe in slow acetylators, neurotoxic effects that may be overcome by vitamin B6 supplementation are more pronounced in slow acetylators, and there is circumstantial evidence that systemic lupus erythematodes occurs more frequently in this group of patients [65]. In a recent study conducted in Japanese in-patients with pulmonary tuberculosis, the relative risk for isoniazid+rifampicin-induced hepatotoxicity was 4.0 (95% CI 1.94-6.06) for intermediate and 28.0 (95%CI 26.0-30.0) for slow acetylators compared with rapid acetylators as predicted according to genotype [66]. Accordingly, the authors propose NAT2 genotyping prior to onset of therapy. Despite this body of evidence, isoniazid is administered at standard doses of 5 mg/kg body weight for daily administration and of 15 mg/kg body weight when given two to three times weekly, and NAT2 genotyping or phenotyping is neither used in clinical routine, nor has it been evaluted in prospective studies. However, taking the emerging problem of multi-drug resistance in *mycobacte*rium tuberculosis, an individualized treatment with the chance to increase the isoniazid dose in rapid acetylators may become increasingly important.

NAT2 activity also appears to be clinically relevant in the treatment with sulfonamide drugs. Das et al. [67] reported a significant association between total serum sulfapyridine concentration and toxic symptoms, including cyanosis and hemolysis, and 86% of the patients with side effects from sulfasalazine were slow acetylators. Serum sulfapyridine concentrations greater than 50  $\mu$ g/mL have been associated with toxicity. Thus, slow acetylators may be at risk for toxicity from accumulation of sulfapyridine. The authors recommended that the total dose of sulfasalazine not exceed 2.5 to 3 grams/ day in slow acetylators and 4 to 5 grams/day in rapid acetylators [68]. A more recent retrospective study was conducted in 144 patients with rheumatoid arthritis (RA) who had been treated with sulfasalazine, another NAT2 substrate. Sixteen patients (11.1%) had experienced adverse effects from SSZ, the most common being allergic reactions including rash and fever. Patients without NAT2\*4 haplotype had experienced adverse effects significantly more frequently (62.5%) than the fast acetylators with at least one NAT2\*4 allele (8.1%). In 25% of the slow acetylators, the adverse effects were so severe that the patients were hospitalized. The authors concluded that NAT2 genotyping before administration of SSZ is likely to reduce the frequency of adverse effects in Japanese patients with RA [69]. A study conducted on infants receiving cotrimoxazole (100 mg/ kg b.w. daily), adverse effects such as rash, granulocytopenia with anaemia or liver impairment were more frequent in children with mutations of the NAT2 encoding gene [70].

Hydralazine undergoes first-pass metabolism after oral ingestion depending on acetylator phenotype. Indeed, rapid acetylators required an 60% greater dose of hydralazine monotherapy than slow acetylators for adequate blood pressure control [71]; this difference was not seen, however, when hydralazine was combined with other

antihypertensive drugs [72]. More importantly, slow acetylators have been shown to have a higher risk for developing systemic lupus erythematosus and related laboratory findings with hydralazine [73,74]. Therefore, it has been recommended that if patients require chronic hydralazine therapy, acetylator phenotype should be assessed in order to predict the risk of developing drug-induced systemic lupus erythematosus, and slow acetylators should be treated with alternative agents.

The antiarrhythmic agent procainamide is acetylated to form the active metabolite Nacetylprocainamide. Rapid acetylators have a significantly higher metabolite/ procainamide ratio than slow acetylators, and high concentrations have been related to junctional tachycardia and intraventricular conduction defects. Furthermore, acetylator phenotype may also be related to the development of systemic lupus erythematosus during procainamide therapy [65].

In summary, the current evidence suggests that NAT2 genotype and/or phenotype should be taken into account for the treatment with isoniazid and several others of its substrates. However, the appropriate procedure for dose adjustment and the benefit for patients must be addressed in additional prospective clinical studies.

#### 13.6 CYTOCHROME P450 2D6 (CYP2D6)

The cytochrome P450 enzyme CYP2D6 is responsible for the metabolism of about one quarter of clinically important and frequently prescribed drugs, such as several antiarrhythmics, classical neuroleptics, tricyclic antidepressants, selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors, and  $\beta$ -blockers [75]. CYP2D6 exhibits tremendous interindividual differences in enzyme activity and the metabolism of a large variety of drugs. The catalytic activity as measured by the respective metabolic ratio can vary 10,000 fold between individuals [76], thus determining the dose that is needed for efficacious therapy and that is tolerated with acceptable adverse effects. For example, the therapeutic dose of nortriptyline may vary between 10 mg and 500 mg between two patients (Fig. 13.3) [77]. The genetic basis for this enormous phenotypic variability has been extensively investigated so that CYP2D6 pharmacogenetics is plainly the classical example for the large interindividual differences in metabolic status and drug response. To date, at least 43 different CYP2D6 alleles are known [78].

The majority of Caucasian populations carries two functional CYP2D6 alleles, metabolizes model drugs, such as dextromethorphan, debrisoquine or sparteine, extensively and is therefore classified as extensive metabolizers (EM). About 5–10% of Caucasians are poor metabolizers (PMs) lacking substantial CYP2D6 activity because of deleterious polymorphisms in both alleles. Poor metabolizers are supposed to have an increased risk for toxic effects with standard doses of drugs inactivated by CYP2D6 [76]. In contrast, about 1–7% of the Caucasian population and up to 20% of Northern African populations demonstrate increased CYP2D6 activity (ultrarapid metabolizers, UM) and may suffer from failure of drug therapy with administration of routine dose [79–82].

Comparative studies indicate that the CYP2D6 genotype predicts the PM phenotype with high accuracy. The most prevalent PM alleles in the white Caucasian population are CYP2D6\*3, \*4, \*5, and \*6 which predict approximately 95% of all PM phenotypes

Genotyping and phenotyping applications





Fig. 13.3. Prevalence of CYP2D6 genotypes consisting of 0, 1, 2, and  $\geq$ 3 functional alleles in Caucasians as determined by Sachse et al. [76] and correlation with the optimal daily dose of nortriptyline (according to Dalen et al. [77]).

[76,83,84]. The PM alleles CYP2D6\*3, \*4 and \*6 are caused by single nucleotide mutations that lead to frame shifts or a splice defect, respectively, with disruption of the transcript [85–87]. In the case of CYP2D6\*5, the entire gene is deleted as a consequence of homologous unequal cross-over events [88,89]. Additionally, chimeric genes due to hybridization with a nearby pseudogene have also been reported [90,91].

About 10–15% of Caucasians constitute a subgroup of so-called 'intermediate metabolizers' which demontrate a moderately impaired metabolic status between PM and EM. This subgroup is still not predicted satisfactorily although recent findings have identified the underlying genetic causes for 60% of all IMs [92,93].

Furthermore, inheritance of three or more functional alleles by gene duplication or gene amplification identifies the clinically important ultrarapid metabolizer (UM) phenotype with almost 100% specificity but can only explain 15–25% of all respective subjects [92,94]. The relevance of two SNPs recently detected within the 5'-UTR of the CYP2D6 gene for the establishment of the UM phenotype necessitates further investigation [94,95].

The clinical effects of the CYP2D6 metabolic phenotype and genotype might have far-reaching implications for rational drug treatment in clinical practice, especially in the treatment of neuro-psychiatric disorders. Treatment failure because of CYP2D6 ultrarapid metabolism can be effectively antagonized by concomitant administration of known inhibitors of CYP2D6 enzyme, such as paroxetine, to normalize the metabolic status [96]. However, remission of depressive disorder takes time and extension of treatment because of genetically determined inefficacy of antidepressants might prolong critical phases of suicidal risk [97]. Therefore, it might be of large therapeutic benefit to predict clinical non-response in suicidal depressive patients.

Additionally, the PM genotype has redundantly been associated with an increased risk of antipsychotic-induced extrapyramidal syndromes (EPS) when CYP2D6-metabolised neuroleptics are taken [98,99]. Occurrence or absence of adverse drug

events, especially severe extrapyramidal syndromes, has been reported to be the major determinant of medication compliance in schizophrenic patients [100].

A prospective study of 172 unselected psychotic in-patients who were treated with haloperidol also revealed a higher incidence of pseudoparkinsonic extrapyramidal syndromes in PM and a number-needed-to-treat of 20 for a significant benefit of pre-therapeutic CYP2D6 genotyping [101]. Another prospective clinical trial of 270 cancer patients who underwent chemotherapy showed that 50 patients would have to be genotyped for ultrarapid metabolism in order to predict insufficient antiemetic efficacy of 5-hydroxytryptamine type 3 receptor antagonists, tropisetron or ondansetron, and to prevent patients from severe emesis [102].

Another item of increasing importance is the economic aspect. A prospective oneyear clinical study of 100 psychiatric in-patients revealed that CYP2D6 genetic variation tended to alter the duration of hospital stay and costs. Patients having a PM or an UM genotype demonstrated a tendency toward greater numbers of ADEs from medications and longer hospitalization, respectively [103].

The CYP2D6 genotype has been associated to the pharmacokinetics of additional drugs with a narrow therapeutic index and a considerable spectrum of potential adverse events, such as metoprolol, propafenone, mexiletine, or dihydrocodeine [104,105]. A good correlation has been reported between CYP2D6 genotype and pharmacokinetics for propafenone but the clinical relevance remains unclear since the metabolites are also active [106]. In case of propafenone the antiarrhythmic efficacy was shown to depend on the genotype [107]. However, no association with proarrhythmic or therapy-limiting gastrointestinal side effects have been detected. A high correlation between CYP2D6 metabolism status and mexiletine pharmacokinetics has been reported and strong association with drug response is assumed but clinical data are lacking [108]. The metabolism of metoprolol is significantly affected by the CYP2D6 genotype but the relevance for clinical routine is also vague [104]. Serious proarrhythmic events in connection with antiarrhytmic drugs due to causative genetic variants have rather been related to rare mutations in cardiac ion channels [109].

As an interesting approach, preliminary quantitative dose recommendations adjusted to CYP2D6 genotypes based on the retrospective evaluation of pharmacokinetic and clinical data of various small-scale studies have recently been published [110,111]. However, the validity and benefit of these proposed "guidelines" for genotype-based dose adjustment will have to be thoroughly verified in prospective clinical studies which are strongly needed.

Screening before commencement of application of CYP2D6 substances is currently impeded by the unresolved questions concerning the association of allelic variants with pharmacodynamics and the therapeutic benefit in comparison to the costs of genotyping. Well-designed prospective clinical studies of much larger patient numbers should be conducted to clarify these important points. To date, despite the well-recognized importance of CYP2D6 genotype for the metabolism of respective drugs, CYP2D6 genotyping is mainly restricted to clinical studies in the drug development process of the pharmaceutical industry. One can speculate that the fast development of new cost- and time-sparing genotyping techniques will redeem the present objections and might allow for rapid pre-therapeutic genotyping in the near future.

#### 13.7 CYTOCHROME P450 2C9 (CYP2C9)

Cytochrome P450 2C9 is an important drug metabolizing enzyme and accounts for ca.18% of cytochrome P450 protein content in the human microsomes [112]. It takes part in the metabolism of numerous drugs such as nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs, losartan, tolbutamide, warfarin, phenytoin or carbamazepine [113]. In the gene encoding for CYP2C9 protein, genetic polymorphism was found which gives rise to significant differences in interindividual variation in drug disposition. In addition to the most common allele CYP2C9\*1 (wild type), a 430 C>T single-nucleotide polymorphism in exon 3 and 1075 A > C single-nucleotide polymorphism in exon 7 are the most common polymorphisms resulting in the amino acids exchange i.e. Arg144Cys (CYP2C9\*2 allele) and Ile359Leu (CYP2C9\*3 allele), respectively [114]. Individuals expressing the defect alleles (poor metabolizers) are more sensitive to adverse events upon administration of drugs metabolized by CYP2C9. In the Caucasian population, wild type is found in about two-thirds of individuals, whereas one-third individuals express heterozygous genotype CYP2C9\*1/\*2 or CYP2C9\*1/\*3. Prevalence of subjects with two low-activity alleles i.e. CYP2C9\*2/\*2, CYP2C9\*2/\*3 and CYP2C9\*3/\*3 accounted for less than 2.5% in these populations. In contrast, genetic CYP2C9 polymorphism is unusual in African-American and Asian populations [115]. Individuals possessing at least one defect allele CYP2C9\*2 or CYP2C9\*3 exhibit decreased biotransformation of drugs metabolized by CYP2C9, although CYP2C9\*3 allele seems to be of primary importance for decreased enzymatic activity [116]. Because many substrates of CYP2C9 are drugs with narrow therapeutic range (e.g. warfarin or phenytoin), questions about the potential clinical utility of genotyping or phenotyping screening for CYP2C9 polymorphism prior to pharmacotherapy appear to be justified. There is no standard CYP2C9 phenotyping assay. The most important substrates which may be used for phenotyping include tolbutamide, phenytoin, flurbiprofen, losartan and warfarin. The largest database is available for tolbutamide (oral antidiabetic agent) supporting its use as a selective in vivo CYP2C9 probe [117]. Numerous plasma and urine tolbutamide metrics have been proposed for phenotyping. Tolbutamide AUC or tolbutamide plasma concentration 24h after dosing appear as the most promising parameters derived from plasma concentrations [118]. The urinary metabolic ratio (hydroxytolbutamide + carboxytolbutamide/tolbutamide) determined in the 6 to 12 hour urine collection period was up to now considered as a gold standard for CYP2C9 phenotyping regarding its reliability and non-invasiveness. Recent results indicate, however, that other urine metrics are preferable such as 0- to 12-hour urinary amount of 4'-hydroxytolbutamide and carboxytolbutamide which better correlated with 4'-OHtolbutamide formation clearance [115]. A possible hypoglycemia in poor metabolizers of CYP2C9 upon administration of standard phenotyping tolbutamide dose (500 mg) was reported to limit tolbutamide use as phenotypic probe [117]. This problem could be, however, minimized by coadministration of oral glucose during phenotyping studies [115] or by intake of low 125 mg tolbutamide doses in connection with a highly sensitive LC-MS/MS assay [118].

Warfarin, a racemic mixture of the enantiomers, S- and R-warfarin, is the most widely prescribed anticoagulant agent. S-warfarin, which is 3 to 5 times more potent than

R-warfarin, is mainly eliminated through 6- or 7-hydroxylation via CYP2C9. Thus, the activity of CYP2C9 regulates the steady-state plasma concentration of S-warfarin, being consequently of significant importance for anticoagulant response [119]. On the other hand, genetic CYP2C19 polymorphism seems not to be relevant for safe therapy with warfarin, although CYP2C19 takes part in biotransformation of R-warfarin [120]. The appropriate therapy is based on evaluating of international normalized ratio (INR) and requires constant assessment of the possible risks of over- and underanticoagulation resulting in increased risk of hemorrhage or lack of efficacy, respectively. Increased risk of bleedings upon a therapy with warfarin was observed in poor metabolizers of CYP2C9 and a subsequent dosage adjustment was required [121]. Patients with variant alleles of CYP2C9 requires lower maintenance doses of warfarin, have a longer induction period and are at higher risk for bleeding upon therapy. Thus, it is suggested that CYP2C9 genotyping may identify a population of patients at an increased risk of bleeding complications due to anticoagulant therapy [122,123].

Phenytoin, a hydantoin anticonvulasant, is another drug with a narrow therapeutic index and individual dose requirements. 4'-hydroxylation of phenytoin accounts for about 80% of its elimination and is predominantly mediated via CYP2C9 [119]. Insufficient biotransformation of the phenytoin can result in symptoms of drug intoxication. It was reported that polymorphism of CYP2C9 as well as of CYP2C19 contributes to variability in phenytoin pharmacokinetics. However, in patients with variant alleles of CYP2C19 the maximal elimination rate was decreased up to 14%, whereas the Ile359Leu mutation of CYP2C9 (CYP2C9\*3) was associated with a 40% decrease in the parameter as compared with the wild type [124]. Individualized therapy with antiepileptic drugs based on pharmacogenetic tests could contribute to optimal safety and efficacy therapeutic profiles in the future.

Losartan is a potent angiotensin II type 1 (AT<sub>1</sub>) receptor antagonist used in the treatment of hypertension and congestive heart failure. It is metabolized by CYP2C9 and CYP3A4 to its active metabolite, E-3174 [125]. CYP2C9 polymorphism was shown to result in interindividual differences in oxidation and activation of the drug [126]. For irbesartan, another angiotensin II type 1 receptor antagonist, an influence of CYP2C9 polymorphism on the effects of antihypertensive treatment was also observed [127]. Patients heterozygous for CYP2C9\*2 demonstrated stronger reduction of diastolic and systolic blood pressure compared to patients homozygous for CYP2C9\*1 (wild type). Therefore the authors suggested that CYP2C9 genotype might play a role in prediction of the study, it is suggested that the different therapeutic response between CYP2C9 genetic variants could be explained with a slower elimination of irbesartan and thus greater blood concentrations of the drug in CYP2C9\*2 carriers.

The importance of CYP2C9 for oxidative biotransformation of numerous nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs (e.g. 4'-hydroxylation of R- and S-flurbiprofen or 2and 3-hydroxylations of R- and S-ibuprofen) was supported by many clinical trials and in vitro studies [119]. The potential clinical importance of CYP2C9 polymorphism during therapy with NSAID was subject to evaluation in some clinical trails. For instance, hydroxylation of S-ibuprofen was significantly decreased in heterozygous and homozygous carriers of CYP2C9\*3 allele, whereas CYP2C9\*2 variant exerted no significant effect [128]. In contrary, for orally administered diclofenac, which is 4'-hydroxylated by CYP2C9, no evidence of impaired metabolism in carriers of CYP2C9 genetic variants was determined [129]. Celecoxib, a highly selective inhibitor of cyclooxygenase (COX)-2 also metabolized predominantly by CYP2C9, was shown to undergo markedly slower biotransformation in carriers of CYP2C9\*3 variant allele than in wild type individuals [130]. Medical impact of CYP2C9 polymorphism in patients receiving analgesic drugs need to be evaluated in further clinical trials.

For tolbutamide (see above) the following dose adjustments for CYP2C9 poor metabolizers were suggested: half of the standard dose for CYP2C9\*1/\*3 and CYP2C9\*2/\*3 carriers and 20% of the standard dose for CYP2C9\*3/\*3 carriers [128]. These gentoype-based dose recommendations should be, however, verified in clinical trials with clinical endpoints.

Especially, for drugs with narrow therapeutic index (e.g. warfarin and phenytoin), it appears to be preferable to proceed with the prospective evaluation of genotype to facilitate optimal efficacy of therapy and limit adverse drug reactions in patients.

#### 13.8 CYTOCHROME P450 2C19 (CYP2C19)

CYP2C19 is responsible for the metabolism of the range of commonly prescribed drugs such as diazepam, omeparazole and other proton pump inhibitors, propranolol or imipramine, to name a few. In the past two decades, CYP2C19 genetic polymorphism has become the subject of detailed analysis which significantly contributed to understanding of interindividual and interethnic differences in pharmacokinetic of drugs metabolized by this enzyme. Initially, the polymorphism was described as genetically determined deficiency in hydroxylation of the antiepileptic drug mephenytoin in a family study [131]. In the following studies, (S)-mephenytoin hydroxylase could be identified as CYP2C19. Using urinary recovery of 4-hydroxymephenytoin or the urinary S:R enantiomeric ratio of mephenytoin excreted in urine during 8 h after its administration, the majority of the population could be precisely divided into extensive and poor metabolizers for CYP2C19. Mephenytoin seems to be the preferred probe substrate for CYP2C19, but omeparazol or proguanil are also used for CYP2C19 phenotyping. However, some discordance between CYP2C19 genotyping and phenotyping results was determined in studies comparing results of both procedures in patients. Old age, liver or renal diseases and advanced metastatic cancer seem to be confounding factors which may result in poor metabolizer phenotype in genetic extensive metabolizers [132,133].

So far, seven genetic variant alleles of the CYP2C19 that are responsible for the majority of the poor metabolizer phenotypes have been identified. The most common non-functional alleles are CYP2C19\*2 and CYP2C19\*3. They are caused by single base exchanges in exon 5 (CYP2C19\*2 or m1) and 4 (CYP2C19\*3 or m2) resulting in splicing defect in exon 5 with premature termination of protein synthesis or a premature stop codon with a truncated protein, respectively [134]. For the two most frequent variant alleles, simple genetic tests are available allowing for a relatively quick and reliable identification of defect alleles. The poor metabolizer phenotype is inherited as

an autosomal recessive trait and it results from owing of two nonfunctional alleles. The interethnic variation in the frequency of the poor metabolizer phenotype for mephenytoin oxidation is significant: poor metabolizers represent about 2.8% of Caucasian populations, 14.3% of Chinese, 14.0% of Koreans and 21.3% of Japanese [135]. The activity of CYP2C19 in different populations is in accordance with the amount of CYP2C19 protein in liver microsomes e.g. in Caucasians 1.4% compared with 0.8% of total CYP450 amount in Japanese [136]. Natural consequence of the varying interethnic distribution of CYP2C19 polymorphism is varying drug disposition among different populations. The prime example could be interindividual variation in biotransformation of proton pump inhibitors, especially of omeprazole 5-hydroxylation, which is predominantly mediated by CYP2C19. In a systematic review on pharmacogenetic studies of proton pump inhibitors Chong and Ensom evaluated the effects of CYP2C19 polymorphism on the clinical outcomes of therapy with the drugs i.e. eradication rates of Helicobacter pylori [137]. The results of the most studies supported the hypothesis that clinical outcomes in Helicobacter pylori eradication are dependent on CYP2C19 polymorphism with better efficacy in poor metabolizer. Only in few studies, notably performed with rabeprazole, a similar cure rate irrespective of CYP2C19 genotype was demonstrated. It is not surprising as rabeprazole undergoes mainly non-enzymatic metabolism and both CYP3A4 and CYP2C19 contribute to the fraction of metabolism mediated enzymatically [138]. In a prospective study evaluating efficacy of Helicobacter pylori dual therapy (amoxicillin as the only antibiotic in addition to omeprazole), CYP2C19 genotype was associated with efficacy of bacteria eradication showing cure rates 28.6%, 60%, and 100% in the rapid-, intermediate-, and poor-metabolizer groups, respectively [139]. Thus, in poor metabolizers for CYP2C19 the dual therapy seems to be sufficient. As most of the pharmcogenetic studies were performed in Japanese men, the clinical relevance of CYP2C19 genetic polymorphism in other ethnic groups and women remains to be evaluated.

Metabolism of diazepam, a commonly prescribed benzodiazepine with anxiolytic, sedative and muscle relaxant activities is also affected by CYP2C19 polymorphism. In a study evaluating the effects of the CYP2C19 gene on diazepam metabolism in Chinese subjects, a significant difference in the mean clearance of diazepam with regard to the CYP2C19 genotype could be determined [140]. Homozygous extensive metabolizers showed the highest clearance followed by heterozygous extensive metabolizers and poor metabolizers for CYP2C19 suggesting that CYP2C19 polymorphism results in impaired metabolism of diazepam in a gene-dosage effect manner. For this reason, poor metabolizers for CYP2C19 could be at higher risk for adverse drug reactions upon therapy with diazepam. CYP2C19 was demonstrated to play a key role in metabolizing of antimalaric drug proguanil to its active metabolite i.e. cycloguanil. The urinary metabolic ratio of proguanil over cycloguanil shows a pronounced interindividual variability correlating with CYP2C19 activity and for this reason is also used as phenotypic metric for this enzyme. However, if the genetic CYP2C19 polymorphism could be relevant for failure in malaria treatment or prophylaxis due to decreased concentrations of active metabolite is questionable. A study by Kaneko et al. in 95 subjects infected with Plasmodium falciparum or vivax revealed a similarly high antimalarial efficacy of the proguanil therapy in extensive and poor metabolizers. It was suggested that the parent compound proguanil has as well significant intrinsic efficacy against Plasmodium so the therapy could be effective independent of proguanil biotransformation to cycloguanil [141].

Taken together, assessment of genetic CYP2C19 polymorphism could be of particular importance for Asians, as the frequency of poor metabolizers is several fold greater in this population than among Caucasians. Genotyping or phenotyping for CYP2C19 activity could be an important clinical tool contributing to better treatment efficacy. Although there are established phenotyping and genotyping methods for assessment of CYP2C19 activity, they remain a research tool being neither available to most practicing physicians nor routinely used for individualization of pharmacotherapy in patients.

#### 13.9 CYTOCHROME P450 3A4 (CYP3A4)

The CYP3A subfamily, which consists of four CYP3A genes (CYP3A4, CYP3A5, CYP3A7 and CYP3A43), is one of the most important fraction of drug metabolizing enzymes [142,143]. It is responsible for the oxidative metabolism of about 50% of all prescribed drugs undergoing relevant metabolism such as HIV protease inhibitors, calcium channel blockers (e.g. nifedipine), hydroxymethylglutaryl coenzyme Areductase inhibitors, antineoplastic drugs (e.g. cyclophosphamide, ifosfamide, docetaxel, paclitaxel, doxorubicin, etoposide, teniposide or vinca alkaloids) or immunosuppressants. In addition, CYP3A is responsible for the metabolism of endogenous steroids (e.g. testosterone) or activation of dietary mycotoxins (e.g. aflatoxin) which are potential carcinogenic factors. The main sites of CYP3A expression in humans are the liver, small intestine and kidney [144]. In the liver, CYP3A represents about 30% of total CYP450 proteins [145]. In the intestinal mucosa, CYP3A enzyme content accounts for about 70% of CYP proteins [146]. CYP3A4 is the best explored enzyme in the CYP3A subfamily. The CYP3A4 gene which contains 13 exons was assigned to chromosome 7 at q22.1 [147]. Whereas a significant percentage of the white population is not able to express functional CYP3A5 protein, CYP3A4 seems to be universally expressed in humans. Because most substrates for CYP3A5 are also biotransformed by CYP3A4, the lack of active CYP3A5 may not become manifest [109]. Pronounced interindividual differences in the CYP3A4 protein content in the liver are accompanied by variability in the metabolic activity exceeding 30-fold in some populations [148]. It was suggested that interindividual and interethnical variations in activity of CYP3A4 could affect the safety and efficacy profile of drugs which are substrates for this enzyme. One of the best-researched reasons for this variability are drug interactions. Intake of eythromycin (or other macrolide antibiotics), ketoconazole or grapefruit products could result in pronounced inhibition of CYP3A4 activity whereas upon chronic treatment with rifamipcin, carbamazepin or dexamethasone, an induction of CYP3A4 expression is observed. The recent identification of orphan nuclear receptor PXR (pregnane X receptor, known also as SXR) may elucidate the mechanism underlying the interactions. PXR/SXR was shown to bind to a response element in the CYP3A4 promoter and is regulated by various xenobiotics. Numerous drugs such as synthetic steroids (e.g. dexamethasone, spironolactone or RU486), rifampicin and clotrimazol were demonstrated to activate the receptor [149]. PXR/SXR seems to play a significant role in regulating CYP3A4 and MDR1 transcription thus contributing to drug clearance in the liver and small intestine. In addition to environmental factors, a large genetic contribution to variability in CYP3A4 activity is postulated, i.e. at least 60% for orally administered substrates [150]. Several publications in the last years threw some light on the genetic basis of polymorphic expression of CYP3A subfamily. In a study by Eiselt et al., 18 variants within the protein-coding regions of CYP3A4 were identified in DNA samples of Middle- and Western Europe Caucasians, however, a very low frequency (below 1%) for the most of the minor alleles was assessed [143]. The authors suggested that the expected quantitative effect of CYP3A4 variant proteins could result in maximal two-fold decrease in drug clearance. In addition, in carriers of CYP3A4 polymorphic variants, altered individual sensitivity to several carcinogens was assumed. On the other hand, Lamba et al. found no correlation between any of the 28 determined CYP3A4 single nucleotide polymorphisms and low hepatic CYP3A4 protein expression or low CYP3A4 activity in vivo [151].

Because current data on genetic reasons for variation in CYP3A4 activity are inconclusive, phenotyping is the method of choice for this enzyme. There are several established probe substrates for CYP3A4 phenotyping such as: nifedipine, dapsone, cortisol, erythromycin and midazolam. The best validated and most widely accepted procedures are [<sup>14</sup>C-N-methyl]erythromycin breath test and midazolam phenotyping [152]. Phenotyping for CYP3A4 activity with cortisol (urinary ratio 6- $\beta$ -hydroxy-cortisol/cortisol) is worth mentioning as it is certainly the only method without adverse reactions since cortisol is an endogenous substrate [153]. Because of independent regulation of intestinal and hepatic CYP3A4, two different metrics have to be used for the two activities. It has been shown repeatedly that intravenous midazolam clearance closely reflects hepatic CYP3A4 activity while intestinal availability of orally administered midazolam shows a very close correlation to intestinal CYP3A4 activity (Fig. 13.4) [154].

As mentioned above, CYP3A4 is known to participate in the metabolism of numerous antineoplastic drugs. Possible effects of impaired CYP3A4 function for cytostatics disposition are complex since as a result of CYP3A4 drug biotransformation active as well as inactive metabolites are formed. For instance, lower enzymatic CYP3A4 activity is associated with an increased plasma concentration of the active cyclophosphamide metabolite i.e. 4-OH-cyclophosphamide, which is formed predominantly by CYP2B6. However, for ifosfamide, another oxazaphosphorine alkylating agent, inhibition of CYP3A4 contributes to the increased formation of its metabolite dechloroethylifosfamide deprived of antineoplastic activity [155]. During formation of this metabolite, chloroacetaldehyde is formed, which is thought to be neurotoxic. Thus, for most of these drugs, the impact of individual CYP3A4 activity on therapeutic outcome remains to be examined. However, data on docetaxel, a chemotherapeutic agent used in the treatment of various solid tumors and metabolized by CYP3A4, suggest that CYP3A4 phenotyping may be worthwhile. For this drug, a close relationship between the drug

clearance and the phenotypic measurement of CYP3A4 activity using the [<sup>14</sup>C-Nmethyl]erythromycin breath test or midazolam clearance was demonstrated [156,157]. The authors suggested that phenotyping for CYP3A4 activity before therapy onset could be helpful in individualizing the dose of docetaxel and thus it could improve the efficacy of the treatment and reduce the drug toxicity.

Another drug group affected by variable CYP3A4 activity are HIV protease inhibitors such as ritonavir, saquinavir and lopinavir. All these agents undergo extensive first-pass metabolism by hepatic cytochrome 3A4 and are known for pronounced interactions with other CYP3A4 substrates [158]. The HIV protease inhibitor ritonavir has recently been demonstrated to bind to PXR/SXR activating its target genes and thus regulating expression of CYP3A4 [159]. Knowledge of molecular basis of CYP3A4 activity regulation offers the possibility of developing in vitro assays predicting drug interactions in humans.

In the light of current knowledge, genetic polymorphism affecting CYP3A4 activity may not primarily be found in the CYP3A4 gene but rather in regulating elements. Thus, a role for genotyping may emerge also for this enzyme. Currently, CYP3A4



Fig. 13.4. Phenotyping for intestinal and hepatic CYP3A4 activity using midazolam. Midazolam administered intraenously (i.v.) is metabolized exclusively by hepatic CYP3A4, with midazolam clearance as the appropriate metric. Midazolam administered orally undergoes a two-step first pass metabolism by hepatic and intestinal CYP3A4; the intestinal extraction is a metric for intestinal CYP3A4 and can be calculated from midazolam pharmacokinetics following oral administration if the hepatic clearance is known.

phenotyping, first of all in patients treated with antineoplastic agents metabolized via CYP3A4, seems to allow tailored drug dosing and optimal drug exposure.

#### 13.10 P-GLYCOPROTEIN (PGP)

P-glycoprotein (PGP) is an integral membrane transport protein that is encoded by the multidrug-resistance (MDR)-1 gene and functions as an energy-dependent efflux pump of metabolites and xenobiotic toxins from the intracellular space to the outside [160]. The protein belongs to the ATP-binding cassette superfamily of transporters [161] and despite of extensive research its physiological role still remains some kind of enigmatic. Its main function may be the protection of cells from toxic substances and to regulate intracellular homeostasis of various compounds of metabolic cycles. The far-reaching relevance of PGP may not become apparent unless the organism is exposed to unphysiological external conditions or unless there is a significant skew in metabolism. Mice completely lacking the MDR1 gene were viable, fertile and healthy from a clinical point of view. However, they demonstrated a reduced clearance of vinblastine and a transport defect for other drugs (ivermectin, cyclosporin A, dexamethasone, ondansetron, loperamide and digoxin) with increased concentrations in various tissues including the brain [162–167].

PGP is expressed in a variety of normal tissues, such as the intestine, kidney [168], the blood-brain barrier [169], liver [170], lymphocytes [171], and bone marrow [172]. It shows a broad substrate spectrum of various substance classes with different therapeutic indications as displayed in Table 13.1. Some substrates are also potent inhibitors of PGP-mediated transport (Table 13.2) and interesting enough, PGP may be functionally linked with the cytochrome P450 3A4 because of co-localization in the gut and a largely overlapping spectrum of substrates, inhibitors and inducers [173].

The outstanding relevance of PGP for the pharmacokinetics and therapeutic effectiveness of numerous drugs has extensively been studied, particularly in cancer therapy where the impact of a high PGP expression level on cytotoxicity of anticancer agents and resistance of tumor cells is a problem known for long [174,175]. PGP overexpression of tumor cells is partially conferred by MDR1 gene amplification [176] but the PGP expression is also modulated by other factors [177]. For instance, intestinal expression of PGP is significantly induced by rifampicin and several other drugs. Prazosin and progesterone also stimulate PGP-mediated drug transport [178].

Various functional polymorphisms have been identified within the coding sequence of the MDR1 gene. However, surprisingly the synonymous C3435T single nucleotide substitution (SNP) has been shown to be associated with the intestinal level of PGP expression and activity in human and to exert influence on the bioavailability of certain drugs. Individuals who were homozygous for the 3435C allele showed approximately 2-fold higher duodenal PGP expression levels than subjects with a TT genotype while heterozygotes demonstrated intermediate expression levels. What is more, the PGP C3435T polymorphism significantly affected digoxin pharmacokinetics after oral administration. There was an inverse correlation between genotype-based level of expression and both mean maximum plasma concentrations  $C_{max}$  and area under the

Indication	Substrate
Chemothepeutic agent	Doxorubicin
	Daunorubicin
	Vinblastine
	Vincristine
	Paclitaxel
	Etoposide
Immunosuppressant	Cyclosporin A
	FK506
Steroids	Aldosterone
	Hydrocortisone
	Cortisol
	Corticosterone
	Dexamethasone
HIV protease inhibitors	Amprenavir
	Indinavir
	Nelfinavir
	Ritonavir
	Saquinavir
Digitalis glycoside	Digoxin
Antiarrhythmic agent	Quinidine
Antibiotic	Erythromycin
Anti-tuberculous agent	Rifampin
Dye	Rhodamine 123

#### TABLE 13.1 CLINICALLY RELEVANT PGP SUBSTRATES (HTTP://WWW.AIDSINFONYC.ORG/TAG/SCIENCE/PGP.HTML)

#### TABLE 13.2 CLINICALLY RELEVANT PGP INHIBITORS (HTTP://WWW.AIDSINFONYC.ORG/TAG/SCIENCE/PGP.HTML)

Indication	Substrate
Immunosuppressant	Cyclosporin A
HIV protease inhibitors	Ritonavir
	Saquinavir
	Nelfinavir
Calcium channel blocker	Verapamil
Progesterone antagonist	Mefipristone
Antiestrogen	Tamoxifen
Antiarrhythmic agent	Quinidine
Antifungal agent	Ketoconazole
Sedative agent	Midazolam
plasma concentration-time-curve AUC [177]. The authors hypothesized that an unidentified regulatory polymorphism in strong physical linkage with the C3435T polymorphism could be causative for the observed differences in PGP expression level. The relevance of the C3435T polymorphism for alteration of PGP function has also been reported by other groups. For example, CD56 + natural killer cells from healthy individuals with a CC genotype exhibited lower accumulation of rhodamine 123 as monitored by lower fluorescence signals in comparison with homozygous 3435T subjects [179].

PGP has been proposed to regulate the degree of drug uptake into the brain at the blood-brain barrier and high PGP levels may limit the efficacious accumulation of anticonvulsants [166,180]. This mechanism corroborates well with recent findings of a study where the C3435T polymorphism was shown to be strongly associated with drug resistance in epilepsy. Patients with the 3435CC genotype had a 75% probability to experience antiepileptic drug resistance, irrespective of the type of epilepsy or antiepileptic drug used [181]. Furthermore, there is evidence of influence of MDR1 genotypes on the availibility of the immunosuppressant drug cyclosporin in transplant recipients.

Recently, the C3435T polymorphism has been shown to be in strong linkage disequilibrium with a G2677T polymorphism leading to an amino acid substitution and altered PGP function. However, there are conflicting results of a clinical study on the influence of the MDR1 genotype on the fexofenadine pharmacokinetics since, in contrast to the findings by Hoffmeyer et al., the 2677T variant was associated with enhanced in vitro PGP activity and lower bioavailability in humans [182].

Recent studies suggest that the PGP genotype might have significant implication in HIV therapy. The MDR1 C3435T polymorphism was related to bioavailability and efficacy of the antiretroviral agents efavirenz and nelfinavir. Patients with the CC genotype showed higher median plasma concentrations than heterozygotes and 3435T homozygotes, respectively. Contrarily, patients with the TT genotype experienced a greater rise in CD4-cell count and a better recovery of naive CD4-cells than carriers of the 3435C allele. The authors interpreted the results as evidence of an influence of the C3435T polymorphism on availability of antiretroviral agents in restricted targetcompartments and of a predictive value for immune recovery in HIV therapy [183]. However, prospective data on long-term outcome are lacking. The therapeutic relevance of the C3435T polymorphism in antiretroviral therapy challenges further investigation since intensified HIV therapy utilizes combinations of protease inhibitors. For example, the bioavailability of saquinavir is dramatically increased by coadministration of ritonavir [184]. Thus, the influence of the MDR1 genotype on pharmacokinetics might not be decisive for the clinical response. However, the C3435T polymorphism might exert influence on admittance of antiretroviral drugs to separated compartments and pharmacological sanctuary sites. Furthermore, considerable interethnic differences in allelic distribution must be taken into account. While the 3435CC genotype occurred only in about 25% of white Caucasian subjects the prevalences were found to value 83% and 61% in West African and African American populations, respectively [185,186]. These findings may have significant and so far underestimated implications on the therapy with a large variety of clinically important and frequently administered drugs.

## **13.11 PERSPECTIVE**

Several decades ago, it has been recognized that individual activity of drug metabolizing enzymes may be related to differences in drug effects. Genotyping for drug metabolizing enzymes and for drug transporters has become increasingly reliable, simple and cheap, e.g. by light cycler and gene chip technologies (see chapter 12). Likewise, phenotyping made major progress, mainly by increased analytical sensitivity brought about by LC-MS/MS with the possibility to administer very low doses of marker drugs. Thus, the tools for assessment of individual activity of many highly variable human enzymes and/or transporters with outstanding relevance for pharmaco-kinetics are available. For instance, today genotyping identifies >99% of CYP2D6 poor metabolizers [92], individual elimination rates of tolbutamide may be derived from the contribution of individual CYP2C9 alleles [128], or 2/3 of the variation in docetaxel pharmacokinetics may be explained by individual CYP3A4 activity [156], as outlined in the sections for the individual enzymes. Furthermore, many pharmaceutical companies incorporated genotyping and phenotyping for drug metabolizing enzymes and drug transporters in the drug development process.

Few studies however have been conducted to relate enzyme and transporter activities to drug effects in patients. Most of such studies are retrospective and have been done in small populations only. The few examples for prospective investigations include the assessment of the relationship between CYP2D6 genotype to efficacy and tolerability of haloperidol [101], or to the antiemetic effects of 5-hydroxytryptamine type 3 receptor antagonists [102]. A quantitative proposal for dose adjustment as it has been made for antidepressants based on CYP2D6 and CYP2C19 genotype is a rare exception [111]. With the exception of TPMT (chapter 13.2), no appropriate clinical studies clearly assessing the therapeutic benefit of dose personalization based on enzyme or transporter activity are available to our knowledge. As a consequence, information on individual protein activity currently is not being applied to personalize drug therapy. Because of the lack of data, despite its potential such procedures to date cannot yet be recommended outside clinical studies.

What is needed are large prospective randomized studies comparing traditional dose adjustment based on clinical effects only with additional dose personalization based on enzyme and/ transporter activity. In these trials, both average efficacy/tolerability and the degree of interindividual variation in these aspects should be compared. From such studies, algorithms and software tools (expert systems) need to be derived to take enzyme and'/or transporter activity into account for dose calculation. Finally, the costeffectiveness of the approach must be addressed. Only then, it will be possible to judge whether the promising approach of genotyping and/or phenotyping to predict pharmacokinetics and effects of its substrates is worthwhile to be considered in clinical medicine.

## **13.12 REFERENCES**

 J. Lazarou, B.H. Pomeranz and P.N. Corey, Incidence of adverse drug reactions in hospitalized patients: a meta-analysis of prospective studies. J. Am. Med. Assoc., 279 (1998) 1200–1205.

- 2 A.Y. Lu, Drug-metabolism research challenges in the new millennium: individual variability in drug therapy and drug safety. Drug Metab. Dispos., 26 (1998) 1217–1222.
- 3 C. Meisel, T. Gerloff, J. Kirchheiner, P.M. Mrozikiewicz, P. Niewinski, J. Brockmöller and I. Roots, Implications of pharmacogenetics for individualizing drug treatment and for study design. J. Mol. Med., 81 (2003) 154–167.
- 4 D.S. Streetman, J.S. Bertino, Jr. and A.N. Nafziger, Phenotyping of drug-metabolizing enzymes in adults: a review of in-vivo cytochrome P450 phenotyping probes. Pharmacogenetics, 10 (2000) 187–216.
- 5 G.T. Tucker, J.B. Houston and S.M. Huang, Optimizing drug development: strategies to assess drug metabolism/transporter interaction potential-toward a consensus. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther., 70 (2001) 103–114.
- 6 M.H. Ensom, T.K. Chang and P. Patel, Pharmacogenetics: the therapeutic drug monitoring of the future? Clin. Pharmacokinet., 40 (2001) 783–802.
- 7 M. Zaigler, I. Tantcheva-Poor and U. Fuhr, Problems and perspectives of phenotyping for drugmetabolizing enzymes in man. Int. J. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther., 38 (2000) 1–9.
- 8 L. Lennard, J.A. Van Loon, J.S. Lilleyman and R.M. Weinshilboum, Thiopurine pharmacogenetics in leukemia: correlation of erythrocyte thiopurine methyltransferase activity and 6-thioguanine nucleotide concentrations. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther., 41 (1987) 18–25.
- 9 H.L. McLeod, S. Coulthard, A.E. Thomas, S.C. Pritchard, D.J. King, S.M. Richards, O.B. Eden, A.G. Hall and B.E. Gibson, Analysis of thiopurine methyltransferase variant alleles in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. Br. J. Haematol., 105 (1999) 696–700.
- 10 L. Lennard, J.S. Lilleyman, J. Van Loon and R.M. Weinshilboum, Genetic variation in response to 6-mercaptopurine for childhood acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. Lancet, 28 (1990) 225–229.
- 11 E.S. Collie-Duguid, S.C. Pritchard, R.H. Powrie, J. Sludden, D.A. Collier, T. Li and H.L. McLeod, The frequency and distribution of thiopurine methyltransferase alleles in Caucasian and Asian populations. Pharmacogenetics, 9 (1999) 37–42.
- 12 T. Kroplin, N. Weyer, S. Gutsche and H. Iven, Thiopurine S-methyltransferase activity in human erythrocytes: a new HPLC method using 6-thioguanine as substrate. Eur. J. Clin. Pharmacol., 54 (1998) 265–271.
- 13 R.M. Weinshilboum and S.L. Sladek, Mercaptopurine pharmacogenetics: monogenic inheritance of erythrocyte thiopurine methyltransferase activity. Am. J. Hum. Genet., 32 (1980) 651–662.
- 14 J.F. Colombel, N. Ferrari, H. Debuysere, P. Marteau, J.P. Gendre, B. Bonaz, J.C. Soule, R. Modigliani, Y. Touze, P. Catala, C. Libersa and F. Broly, Genotypic analysis of thiopurine S-methyltransferase in patients with Crohn's disease and severe myelosuppression during azathioprine therapy. Gastroenterology, 118 (2000) 1025–1030.
- 15 M. Schwab, E. Schaffeler, C. Marx, C. Fischer, T. Lang, C. Behrens, M. Gregor, M. Eichelbaum, U.M. Zanger and B.A. Kaskas, Azathioprine therapy and adverse drug reactions in patients with inflammatory bowel disease: impact of thiopurine S-methyltransferase polymorphism. Pharmacogenetics, 12 (2002) 429–436.
- 16 J.B. Andersen, C. Szumlanski, R.M. Weinshilboum and K. Schmiegelow, Pharmacokinetics, dose adjustments, and 6-mercaptopurine/methotrexate drug interactions in two patients with thiopurine methyltransferase deficiency. Acta. Paediatr., 87 (1998) 108–111.
- 17 B.A. Kaskas, E. Louis, U. Hindorf, E. Schaeffeler, J. Deflandre, F. Graepler, K. Schmiegelow, M. Gregor, U.M. Zanger, M. Eichelbaum and M. Schwab, Safe treatment of thiopurine S-methyltransferase deficient Crohn's disease patients with azathioprine. Gut., 52 (2003) 140–142.
- 18 C.R. Yates, E.Y. Krynetski, T. Loennechen, M.Y. Fessing, H.L. Tai, C.H. Pui, M.V. Relling and W.E. Evans, Molecular diagnosis of thiopurine S-methyltransferase deficiency: genetic basis for azathioprine and mercaptopurine intolerance. Ann. Intern. Med., 126 (1997) 608–614.
- 19 M. Schwab, E. Schaeffeler, C. Marx, U. Zanger, W. Aulitzky and M. Eichelbaum, Shortcoming in the diagnosis of TPMT deficiency in a patient with Crohn's disease using phenotyping only. Gastroenterology, 121 (2001) 498–499.
- 20 L. Lennard, Therapeutic drug monitoring of antimetabolic cytotoxic drugs. Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol., 47 (1999) 131–143.

- 21 P.A. Pazmino, S.L. Sladek and R.M. Weinshilboum, Thiol S-methylation in uremia: erythrocyte enzyme activities and plasma inhibitors. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther., 28 (1980) 356–367.
- 22 R.B. Diasio and M.R. Johnson, The role of pharmacogenetics and pharmacogenomics in cancer chemotherapy with 5-fluorouracil. Pharmacology, 61 (2000) 199–203.
- 23 G. Milano and M.C. Etienne, 5-Fluorouracil. In: L.B. Grochow and M.M. Ames (Hrsg.), A clinical guide to chemotherapy pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics. Baltimore: Williams & Wilkins, 1999, 289–300.
- 24 F.J. Gonzalez and P. Fernandez-Salguero, Diagnostic analysis, clinical importance and molecular basis of dihydropyrimidine dehydrogenase deficiency. Trends Pharmacol. Sci., 16 (1995) 325–327.
- 25 X. Wei, H.L. McLeod, J. McMurrough, F.J. Gonzalez and P. Fernandez-Salguero, Molecular basis of the human dihydropyrimidine dehydrogenase deficiency and 5-fluorouracil toxicity. J. Clin. Invest., 98 (1996) 610–615.
- 26 G. Milano and M.C. Etienne, Potential importance of dihydropyrimidine dehydrogenase (DPD) in cancer chemotherapy. Pharmacogenetics, 4 (1994) 301–306.
- 27 C. Terret, E. Erdociain, R. Guimbaud, M. Boisdron-Celle, H.L. McLeod, R. Fety-Deporte, T. Lafont, E. Gamelin, R. Bugat, P. Canal and E. Chatelut, Dose and time dependencies of 5-fluorouracil pharmacokinetics. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther., 68 (2000) 270–279.
- 28 E.S. Collie-Duguid, M.C. Etienne, G. Milano and H.L. McLeod, Known variant DPYD alleles do not explain DPD deficiency in cancer patients. Pharmacogenetics, 10 (2000) 217–223.
- 29 A.B. Miller, B. Hoogstraten, M. Staquet and A. Winkler, Reporting results of cancer treatment. Cancer 47 (1981) 207–214.
- 30 N. Frickhofen, F.J. Beck, B. Jung, H.G. Fuhr, H. Andrasch and M. Sigmund, Capecitabine can induce acute coronary syndrome similar to 5-fluorouracil. Ann. Oncol., 13 (2002) 797–801.
- 31 R.A. Fleming, G. Milano, A. Thyss, M.C. Etienne, N. Renee, M. Schneider and F. Demard, Correlation between dihydropyrimidine dehydrogenase activity in peripheral mononuclear cells and systemic clearance of fluorouracil in cancer patients. Cancer Res., 15 (1992) 2899–2902.
- 32 A.B. Van Kuilenburg, H. Van Lenthe, A. Tromp, P.C. Veltman and A.H. Van Gennip, Pitfalls in the diagnosis of patients with a partial dihydropyrimidine dehydrogenase deficiency. Clin. Chem., 46 (2000) 9–17.
- 33 A.B. Van Kuilenburg, R. Meinsma, L. Zoetekouw and A.H. Van Gennip, High prevalence of the IVS14+1G>A mutation in the dihydropyrimidine dehydrogenase gene of patients with severe 5-fluorouracil-associated toxicity. Pharmacogenetics, 12 (2002) 555–558.
- 34 M. Raida, W. Schwabe, P. Hausler, A.B. Van Kuilenburg, A.H. Van Gennip, D. Behnke et al., Prevalence of a common point mutation in the dihydropyrimidine dehydrogenase (DPD) gene within the 5'-splice donor site of intron 14 in patients with severe 5-fluorouracil (5-FU)-related toxicity compared with controls. Clin. Cancer Res., 7 (2001) 2832–2839.
- 35 C. Kollmannsberger, C. Bokemeyer, C. Marx, J. Fischer, F. Honecker, M. Schwab and M. Eichelbaum, The association between mutations in the dihydropyrimidine dehydrogenase gene and severe toxicity of the treatment with s-fluorouracil: a prospective multicenter study. Onkologie, 25 (2001) 101.
- 36 M.R. Johnson, K. Wang and R.B. Diasio, Profound dihydropyrimidine dehydrogenase deficiency resulting from a novel compound heterozygote genotype. Clin. Cancer Res., 8 (2002) 768–774.
- 37 A.B. Van Kuilenburg, J.W. Baars, R. Meinsma and A.H. Van Gennip, Lethal 5-fluorouracil toxicity associated with a novel mutation in the dihydropyrimidine dehydrogenase gene. Ann. Oncol., 14 (2003) 341–342.
- 38 F. Innocenti and M.J. Ratain, Correspondence re: M. Raida et al., prevalence of a common point mutation in the dihydropyrimidine dehydrogenase (DPD) gene within the 5'-splice donor site of intron 14 in patients with severe 5-fluorouracil (5-FU)-related toxicity compared with controls. Clin. Cancer Res., 8 (2002) 1314.
- 39 AIO: http://www.imba.st/Stellungnahme%20AIO.htm
- 40 K.O. Kliche, [Detection of DPD-exon-14 skipping before 5-fluorouracil treatment?] Dtsch. Med. Wochenschr., 127 (2002) 463–464.
- 41 C.F. Köhne, [Schlusswort] Deutsches Ärzteblatt 99 (2002) A1770–A1771.
- 42 E. Gamelin, M. Boisdron-Celle, V. Guerin-Meyer, R. Delva, A. Lortholary, F. Genevieve, F. Larra, N. Ifrah and J. Robert, Correlation between uracil and dihydrouracil plasma ratio, fluorouracil (5-FU)

pharmacokinetic parameters, and tolerance in patients with advanced colorectal cancer: A potential interest for predicting 5-FU toxicity and determining optimal 5-FU dosage. J. Clin. Oncol., 17 (1999) 1105.

- 43 A. Di Paolo, R. Danesi, A. Falcone, L. Cionini, F. Vannozzi, G. Masi, G. Allegrini, E. Mini, G. Bocci, P.F. Conte and M. Del Tacca, Relationship between 5-fluorouracil disposition, toxicity and dihydropyrimidine dehydrogenase activity in cancer patients. Ann. Oncol., 12 (2001) 1301–1306.
- 44 A. Di Paolo, T. Ibrahim, R. Danesi, M. Maltoni, F. Vannozzi, E. Flamini, W. Zoli, D. Amadori and M. Del Tacca, Relationship between plasma concentrations of 5-fluorouracil and 5-fluoro-5,6-dihydrouracil and toxicity of 5-fluorouracil infusions in cancer patients. Ther. Drug Monit., 24 (2002) 588–593.
- 45 Y.M. Rutsum, A. Harstrick, S. Cao et al., Thymidylate synthase inhibitors in cancer therapy: direct and indirect inhibitors. J. Clin. Oncol., 15 (1997) 389–400.
- 46 N. Horie, H. Aiba, K. Oguro, H. Hojo and K. Takeishi, Functional analysis and DNA polymorphism of the tandemly repeated sequences in the 5'-terminal regulatory region of the human gene for thymidylate synthase. Cell Struct. Funct., 20 (1995) 191–197.
- 47 K. Kawakami, K. Omura, E. Kanehira and Y. Watanabe, Polymorphic tandem repeats in the thymidylate synthase gene is associated with its protein expression in human gastrointestinal cancers. Anticancer Res., 19 (1999) 3249–3252.
- 48 S.T. Pullarkat, J. Stoehlmacher, V. Ghaderi, Y.P. Xiong, S.A. Ingles, A. Sherrod, R. Warren, D. Tsao-Wei, S. Groshen and H.J. Lenz, Thymidylate synthase gene polymorphism determines response and toxicity of 5-FU chemotherapy. Pharmacogenomics J., 1 (2001) 65–70.
- 49 B. Iacopetta, F. Grieu, D. Joseph and H. Elsaleh, A polymorphism in the enhancer region of the thymidylate synthase promoter influences the survival of colorectal cancer patients treated with 5-fluorouracil. Br. J. Cancer, 85 (2001) 827–830.
- 50 M. Gonen, A. Hummer, A. Zervoudakis, D. Sullivan, Y. Fong, D. Banerjee, D. Klimstra, C. Cordon-Cardo, J. Bertino and N. Kemeny, Thymidylate synthase expression in hepatic tumors is a predictor of survival and progression in patients with resectable metastatic colorectal cancer. J. Clin. Oncol., 21 (2003) 406–412.
- 51 M. Krajinovic, I. Costea and S. Chiasson, Polymorphism of the thymidylate synthase gene and outcome of acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. Lancet, 359 (2002) 1033–1034.
- 52 C. Aschele, D. Debernardis, G. Tunesi, F. Maley and A. Sobrero, Thymidylate synthase protein expression in primary colorectal cancer compared with the corresponding distant metastases and relationship with the clinical response to 5-fluorouracil. Clin. Cancer Res., 6 (2000) 4797–4802.
- 53 D.C. Corsi, M. Ciaparrone, G. Zannoni, M. Mancini, A. Cassano, M. Specchia, C. Pozzo, M. Martini and C. Barone, Predictive value of thymidylate synthase expression in resected metastases of colorectal cancer. Eur. J. Cancer, 38 (2002) 527–534.
- 54 D.A. Price Evans, K.A. Manley and V.A. McKusick, Genetic control of isoniazid metabolism in man. Br. Med. J., 2 (1960) 485–491.
- 55 R. Gelber, J.H. Peters, G.R. Gordon, A.J. Glazko and L. Levy, The polymorphic acetylation of dapsone in man. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther., 12 (1971) 225–238.
- 56 W.W. Weber, The acetylator genes and drug response, Oxford University Press, New York, 1987.
- 57 M. Blum, A. Demierre, D.M. Grant, M. Heim and U.A. Meyer, Molecular mechanism of slow acetylation of drugs and carcinogens in humans. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 88 (1991) 5237–5241.
- 58 http://www.louisville.edu/medschool/pharmacology/NAT2.html
- 59 N. Brockton, J. Little, L. Sharp and S.C. Cotton, N-acetyltransferase polymorphisms and colorectal cancer: a HuGE review. Am. J. Epidemiol., 151 (2000) 846–861.
- 60 S. Garte, L. Gaspari, A.K. Alexandrie, C. Ambrosone, H. Autrup, J.L. Autrup, H. Baranova, L. Bathum, S. Benhamou, P. Boffetta, C. Bouchardy, K. Breskvar, J. Brockmöller, I. Cascorbi, M.L. Clapper, C. Coutelle, A. Daly, M. Dell'Omo, V. Dolzan, C.M. Dresler, A. Fryer, A. Haugen, D.W. Hein, A. Hildesheim, A. Hirvonen, L.L. Hsieh, M. Ingelman-Sundberg, I. Kalina, D. Kang, M. Kihara, C. Kiyohara, P. Kremers, P. Lazarus, L. Le Marchand, M.C. Lechner, E.M. van Lieshout, S. London, J.J. Manni, C.M. Maugard, S. Morita, V. Nazar-Stewart, K. Noda, Y. Oda, F.F. Parl, R. Pastorelli, I. Persson, W.H. Peters, A. Rannug, T. Rebbeck, A. Risch, L. Roelandt, M. Romkes, D. Ryberg, J. Salagovic, B. Schoket, J. Seidegard, P.G. Shields, E. Sim, D. Sinnet, R.C. Strange, I. Stucker, H.

Sugimura, J. To-Figueras, P. Vineis, M.C. Yu and E. Taioli, Metabolic gene polymorphism frequencies in control populations. Cancer Epidemiol. Biomarkers. Prev., 10 (2001) 1239–1248.

- 61 M. Kinzig-Schippers, M. Illauer, A. Jetter, R. Hermann, K. Erb, J. Borlak, F. Sörgel and U. Fuhr, Determination of NAT2 phenotype from dietary caffeine metabolites using LC-MS/MS. Pharmacol. Toxicol., 89 (2001) 66.
- 62 H. Tiitinen et al., Comparison of the isoniazid in activation in Finns and Lapps. Ann. Med. Int. Finn., 57 (1968) 161.
- 63 G.A. Ellard, Variations between individuals and populations in the acetylation of isoniazid and its significance for the treatment of pulmonary tuberculosis. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther., 19 (1976) 610–625.
- 64 D.P. Parkin, S. Vandenplas, F.J. Botha, M.L. Vandenplas, H.I. Seifart, P.D. van Helden, B.J. van der Walt, P.R. Donald and P.P. van Jaarsveld, Trimodality of isoniazid elimination: phenotype and genotype in patients with tuberculosis. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med., 155 (1997) 1717–1722.
- 65 D.W.J. Clark, Genetically determine variability in acetylation and oxidation: therapeutic implications. Drugs 29 (1985) 342–375.
- 66 M. Ohno, I. Yamaguchi, I. Yamamoto, T. Fukuda, S. Yokota, R. Maekura, M. Ito, Y. Yamamoto, T. Ogura, K. Maeda, K. Komuta, T. Igarashi and J. Azuma, Slow N-acetyltransferase 2 genotype affects the incidence of isoniazid and rifampicin-induced hepatotoxicity. Int. J. Tuberc. Lung Dis., 4 (2000) 256–261.
- 67 K.M. Das, M.A. Eastwood, J.P. McManus and W. Sircus, Adverse reactions during salicylazosulfapyridine therapy and the relation with drug metabolism and acetylator phenotype. N. Engl. J. Med., 289 (1973) 491–495.
- 68 Y. Horai and T. Ishizaki, Pharmacogenetics and its clinical implications: N-acetylation polymorphism. Ration. Drug Ther., 21 (1987) 1–7.
- 69 E. Tanaka, A. Taniguchi, W. Urano, H. Nakajima, Y. Matsuda, Y. Kitamura, M. Saito, H. Yamanaka, T. Saito and N. Kamatani, Adverse effects of sulfasalazine in patients with rheumatoid arthritis are associated with diplotype configuration at the N-acetyltransferase 2 gene. J. Rheumatol., 29 (2002) 2492–2499.
- 70 E. Zielinska, W. Niewiarowski, J. Bodalski, G. Rebowski, J. Skretkowicz, K. Mianowska and M. Sekulska, Genotyping of the arylamine N-acetyltransferase polymorphism in the prediction of idiosyncratic reactions to trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole in infants. Pharm. World Sci., 20 (1998) 123–130.
- 71 R. Zacest and J. Koch-Weser, Relation of hydralazine plasma concentration to dosage and hypotensive action. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther., 13 (1972) 420.
- 72 M.J. Vandenberg, P. Wright, J. Homes et al., The hypotensive response to hydralazine in triple therapy is not related to acetylator phenotype. Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol., 13 (1982) 747–750.
- 73 W.W. Weber and D.W. Hein, N-acetylation pharmacogenetics. Pharmacol. Rev., 37 (1985) 25–75.
- 74 J. Strandberg et al., Acetylator phenotype in patients with hydralazine-induced lupus syndrome. Acta. Med. Scand., 200 (1976) 367.
- 75 G.R. Wilkinson, Pharmacokinetics: The dynamics of drug absorption, distribution, and elimination, in: Goodman and Gilman (Eds.): The pharmacological basis of therapeutics (10th ed.), McGraw-Hill, New York, 2001, 3–29.
- 76 C. Sachse, J. Brockmöller, S. Bauer and I. Roots, Cytochrome P450 2D6 variants in a Caucasian population: allele frequencies and phenotypic consequences. Am. J. Hum. Genet., 60 (1997) 284–295.
- P. Dalen, M.L. Dahl, M.L. Ruiz, J. Nordin and L. Bertilsson, 10-Hydroxylation of nortriptyline in white persons with 0, 1, 2, 3, and 13 functional CYP2D6 genes. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther., 63 (1998) 444–452.
- 78 Human cytochrome P450 (CYP) Allele Nomenclature Committee as of February 2003 http://www.imm.ki.se/CYPalleles/cyp2d6.htm
- 79 I. Johansson, E. Lundqvist, L. Bertilsson, M.L. Dahl, F. Sjöqvist and M. Ingelman-Sundberg, Inherited amplification of an active gene in the cytochrome P450 CYP2D locus as a cause of ultrarapid metabolism of debrisoquine. PNAS, 90 (1993) 11825–11829.

- 80 J.A. Agundez, C. Martinez, M.C. Ledesma, M.G. Ladona, J.M. Ladero and J. Benitez, Genetic basis for differences in debrisoquin polymorphism between a Spanish and other white populations. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther., 55 (1994) 412–417.
- 81 M.L. Dahl, Q.Y. Yue, H.K. Roh, I. Johansson, J. Sawe, F. Sjöqvist and L. Bertilsson, Genetic analysis of the CYP2D locus in relation to debrisoquine hydroxylation capacity in Korean, Japanese and Chinese subjects. Pharmacogenetics, 5 (1995) 159–164.
- 82 E. Aklillu, I. Persson, L. Bertilsson, I. Johansson, F. Rodrigues and M. Ingelman-Sundberg, Frequent distribution of ultrarapid metabolizers of debrisoquine in an Ethiopian population carrying duplicated and multiduplicated functional CYP2D6 alleles. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther., 278 (1996) 441–446.
- 83 C. Sachse, J. Brockmöller, M. Hildebrand, K. Muller and I. Roots, Correctness of prediction of the CYP2D6 phenotype confirmed by genotyping 47 intermediate and poor metabolizers of debrisoquine. Pharmacogenetics, 8 (1998) 181–185.
- 84 S. McElroy, C. Sachse, J. Brockmöller, J. Richmond, M. Lira, D. Friedman, I. Roots, B.M. Silber, P.M. Milos, CYP2D6 genotyping as an alternative to phenotyping for determination of metabolic status in a clinical trial setting. AAPS PharmSci., 2 (2000) E33.
- 85 M. Kagimoto, M. Heim, K. Kagimoto, T. Zeugin and U.A. Meyer, Multiple mutations of the human cytochrome P450IID6 gene (CYP2D6) in poor metabolizers of debrisoquine. Study of the functional significance of individual mutations by expression of chimeric genes. J. Biol. Chem., 265 (1990) 17209–17214.
- 86 A.C. Gough, J.S. Miles, N.K. Spurr, J.E. Moss, A. Gaedigk, M. Eichelbaum and C.R. Wolf, Identification of the primary gene defect at the cytochrome P450 CYP2D locus. Nature, 347 (1990) 773–776.
- 87 R. Saxena, G.L. Shaw, M.V. Relling, J.N. Frame, D.T. Moir, W.E. Evans, N. Caporaso and B. Weiffenbach, Identification of a new variant CYP2D6 allele with a single base deletion in exon 3 and its association with the poor metabolizer phenotype. Hum. Mol. Genet., 3 (1994) 923–926.
- 88 A. Gaedigk, M. Blum, R. Gaedigk, M. Eichelbaum and U.A. Meyer, Deletion of the entire cytochrome P450 CYP2D6 gene as a cause of impaired drug metabolism in poor metabolizers of the debrisoquine/sparteine polymorphism. Am. J. Hum. Genet., 48 (1991) 943–950.
- 89 V.M. Steen, A. Molven, N.K. Aarskog and A.K. Gulbrandsen, Homologous unequal cross-over involving a 2.8 kb direct repeat as a mechanism for the generation of allelic variants of human cytochrome P450 CYP2D6 gene. Hum. Mol. Genet., 4 (1995) 2251–2257.
- 90 S. Panserat, C. Mura, N. Gerard, M. Vincent-Viry, M.M. Galteau, E. Jacoz-Aigrain and R. Krishnamoorthy, An unequal cross-over event within the CYP2D gene cluster generates a chimeric CYP2D7/CYP2D6 gene which is associated with the poor metabolizer phenotype. Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol., 40 (1995) 361–367.
- 91 A.K. Daly, K.S. Fairbrother, O.A. Andreassen, S.J. London, J.R. Idle and V.M. Steen, Characterization and PCR-based detection of two different hybrid CYP2D7P/CYP2D6 alleles associated with the poor metabolizer phenotype. Pharmacogenetics, 6 (1996) 319–328.
- 92 E.U. Griese, U.M. Zanger, U. Brudermanns, A. Gaedigk, G. Mikus, K. Morike, T. Stuven and M. Eichelbaum, Assessment of the predictive power of genotypes for the in-vivo catalytic function of CYP2D6 in a German population. Pharmacogenetics, 8 (1998) 15–26.
- 93 S. Raimundo, J. Fischer, M. Eichelbaum, E.U. Griese, M. Schwab and U.M. Zanger, Elucidation of the genetic basis of the common 'intermediate metabolizer' phenotype for drug oxidation by CYP2D6. Pharmacogenetics, 10 (2000) 577–581.
- 94 U.M. Zanger, J. Fischer, S. Raimundo, T. Stuven, B.O. Evert, M. Schwab and M. Eichelbaum, Comprehensive analysis of the genetic factors determining expression and function of hepatic CYP2D6. Pharmacogenetics, 11 (2001) 573–585.
- 95 R. Løvlie, A.K. Daly, G.E. Matre, A. Molven and V.M. Steen, Polymorphisms in CYP2D6 duplication-negative individuals with the ultrarapid metabolizer phenotype: a role for the CYP2D6\*35 allele in ultrarapid metabolism? Pharmacogenetics, 11 (2001) 45–55.
- 96 K. Laine, G. Tybring, S. Hartter, K. Andersson, J.O. Svensson, J. Widen and L. Bertilsson, Inhibition of cytochrome P4502D6 activity with paroxetine normalizes the ultrarapid metabolizer phenotype as measured by nortriptyline pharmacokinetics and the debrisoquin test. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther., 70 (2001) 327–335.

- 97 A.A. Nierenberg, S.M. Gray and L.D. Grandin, Mood disorders and suicide. J. Clin. Psychiatry, 62 (2001) 27–30.
- 98 I. Schillevoort, A. de Boer, J. van der Weide, L.S. Steijns, R.A. Roos, P.A. Jansen and H.G. Leufkens, Antipsychotic-induced extrapyramidal syndromes and cytochrome P450 2D6 genotype: a case-control study. Pharmacogenetics, 12 (2002) 235–240.
- 99 W.J. Tamminga, J. Wemer, B. Oosterhuis, A. De Boer, S. Vranckx, B.F. Drenth, R.A. De Zeeuw, L.F. De Leij and J.H. Jonkman, Polymorphic drug metabolism (CYP2D6) and utilisation of psychotropic drugs in hospitalised psychiatric patients: a retrospective study. Eur. J. Clin. Pharmacol., 59 (2003) 57–64.
- 100 W.S. Fenton, C.R. Blyler and R.K. Heinssen, Determinants of medication compliance in schizophrenia: empirical and clinical findings. Schizophr. Bull., 23 (1997) 637–51.
- 101 J. Brockmöller, J. Kirchheiner, J. Schmider, S. Walter, C. Sachse, B. Muller-Oerlinghausen and I. Roots, The impact of the CYP2D6 polymorphism on haloperidol pharmacokinetics and on the outcome of haloperidol treatment. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther., 72 (2002) 438–452.
- 102 R. Kaiser, O. Sezer, A. Papies, S. Bauer, C. Schelenz, P.B. Tremblay, K. Possinger K, I. Roots and J. Brockmöller, Patient-tailored antiemetic treatment with 5-hydroxytryptamine type 3 receptor antagonists according to cytochrome P-450 2D6 genotypes. J. Clin. Oncol., 20 (2002) 2805–2811.
- 103 W.H. Chou, F.X. Yan, J. de Leon, J. Barnhill, T. Rogers, M. Cronin, M. Pho, V. Xiao, T.B. Ryder, W.W. Liu, C. Teiling and P.J. Wedlund, Extension of a pilot study: impact from the cytochrome P450 2D6 polymorphism on outcome and costs associated with severe mental illness. J. Clin. Psychopharmacol., 20 (2000) 246–251.
- 104 T. Rau, R. Heide, K. Bergmann, H. Wuttke, U. Werner, N. Feifel and T. Eschenhagen, Effect of the CYP2D6 genotype on metoprolol metabolism persists during long-term treatment. Pharmacogenetics, 12 (2002) 465–472.
- 105 H. Schmidt, S.V. Vormfelde, M. Walchner-Bonjean, K. Klinder, S. Freudenthaler, C.H. Gleiter, U. Gundert-Remy, G. Skopp, R. Aderjan and U. Fuhr, The role of active metabolites in dihydrocodeine effects. Int. J. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther., 41 (2003) 95–106.
- 106 L.A. Siddoway, K.A. Thompson, C.B. McAllister, T. Wang, G.R. Wilkinson, D.M. Roden and R.L. Woosley, Polymorphism of propafenone metabolism and disposition in man: clinical and pharmacokinetic consequences. Circulation, 75 (1987) 785–791.
- 107 E. Jazwinska-Tarnawska, K. Orzechowska-Juzwenko, P. Niewinski, Z. Rzemisławska, K. Loboz-Grudzien, M. Dmochowska-Perz and J. Slawin, The influence of CYP2D6 polymorphism on the antiarrhythmic efficacy of propafenone in patients with paroxysmal atrial fibrillation during 3 months propafenone prophylactic treatment. Int. J. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther., 39 (2001) 288–292.
- 108 F. Broly, N. Vandamme, C. Libersa and M. Lhermitte, The metabolism of mexiletine in relation to the debrisoquine/sparteine-type polymorphism of drug oxidation. Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol., 32 (1991) 459–466.
- 109 W.E. Evans and H.L. McLeod, Pharmacogenomics drug disposition, drug targets, and side effects. N. Engl. J. Med., 348 (2003) 538–549.
- 110 C. Meisel, I. Roots, I. Cascorbi, U. Brinkmann and J. Brockmöller, How to manage individualized drug therapy: application of pharmacogenetic knowledge of drug metabolism and transport. Clin. Chem. Lab. Med., 38 (2000) 869–876.
- 111 J. Kirchheiner, K. Brøsen, M.L. Dahl, L.F. Gram, S. Kasper, I. Roots, F. Sjöqvist, E. Spina and J. Brockmöller, CYP2D6 and CYP2C19 genotype-based dose recommendations for antidepressants: a first step towards subpopulation-specific dosages. Acta. Psychiatr. Scand., 104 (2001) 173–192.
- 112 C.R. Lee, J.A. Pieper, R.F. Frye, A.L. Hinderliter, J.A. Blaisdell and J.A. Goldstein, Tolbutamide, flurbiprofen, and losartan as probes of CYP2C9 activity in humans. J. Clin. Pharmacol., 43 (2003) 84–91.
- 113 R. Yuan, S. Madani, X.X. Wei, K. Reynolds and S.M. Huang, Evaluation of cytochrome P450 probe substrates commonly used by the pharmaceutical industry to study in vitro drug interactions. Drug Metab. Dispos., 30 (2002) 1311–1319.
- 114 C.R. Bhasker, J.O. Miners, S. Coulter and D.J. Birkett, Allelic and functional variability of cytochrome P4502C9.Pharmacogenetics, 7 (1997) 51–58.

- 115 C.R. Lee, J.A. Goldstein and J.A. Pieper, Cytochrome P450 2C9 polymorphisms: a comprehensive review of the in-vitro and human data. Pharmacogenetics, 12 (2002) 251–263.
- 116 J. Kirchheiner, I. Meineke, G. Freytag, C. Meisel, I. Roots and J. Brockmöller, Enantiospecific effects of cytochrome P450 2C9 amino acid variants on ibuprofen pharmacokinetics and on the inhibition of cyclooxygenases 1 and 2. J. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther., 72 (2002) 62–75.
- 117 D.S. Streetman, J.S. Bertino, Jr. and A.N. Nafziger, Phenotyping of drug-metabolizing enzymes in adults: a review of in-vivo cytochrome P450 phenotyping probes. Pharmacogenetics, 10 (2000) 187–216.
- 118 A. Jetter, M. Kinzig-Schippers, A. Skott, A. Lazar, D. Tomalik-Scharte, M. Walchner-Bonjean, U. Hering, H. Lück, W. Jabrane, D. Kasel, U. Fuhr and F. Sörgel, CYP2C9 phenotyping using low-dose tolbutamide In: Proceedings of the 13th International Conference on Cytochromes P450, Chemické Listy, 2003, 97, in press.
- 119 J.O. Miners and D.J. Birkett, Cytochrome P4502C9: an enzyme of major importance in human drug metabolism. Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol., 45 (1998) 525–538.
- 120 H. Takahashi, T. Kashima, Y. Nomizo, N. Muramoto, T. Shimizu, K. Nasu, T. Kubota, S. Kimura and H. Echizen, Metabolism of warfarin enantiomers in Japanese patients with heart disease having different CYP2C9 and CYP2C19 genotypes. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther., 63 (1998) 519–528.
- 121 M.G. Scordo, V. Pengo, E. Spina, M.L. Dahl, M. Gusella and R. Padrini, Influence of CYP2C9 and CYP2C19 genetic polymorphisms on warfarin maintenance dose and metabolic clearance. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther., 72 (2002) 702–710.
- 122 G.P. Aithal, C.P. Day, P.J. Kesteven and A.K. Daly, Association of polymorphisms in the cytochrome P450 CYP2C9 with warfarin dose requirement and risk of bleeding complications. Lancet, 353 (1999) 717–719.
- 123 M.K. Higashi, D.L. Veenstra, L.M. Kondo, A.K. Wittkowsky, S.L. Srinouanprachanh, F.M. Farin and A.E. Rettie, Association between CYP2C9 genetic variants and anticoagulation-related outcomes during warfarin therapy. J. Am. Med. Assoc., 287 (2002) 1690–1698.
- 124 Y. Hashimoto, Y. Otsuki, A. Odani, M. Takano, H. Hattori, K. Furusho and K. Iui, Effect of CYP2C polymorphisms on the pharmacokinetics of phenytoin in Japanese patients with epilepsy. Biol. Pharm. Bull., 19 (1996) 1103–1105.
- 125 J.B. McCrea, A. Cribb, T. Rushmore, B. Osborne, L. Gillen, M.W. Lo, S. Waldman, T. Bjornsson, S. Spielberg and M.R. Goldberg, Phenotypic and genotypic investigations of a healthy volunteer deficient in the conversion of losartan to its active metabolite E-3174. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther., 65 (1999) 348–352.
- 126 U. Yasar, G. Tybring, M. Hidestrand, M. Oscarson, M. Ingelman-Sundberg, M.L. Dahl and E. Eliasson, Role of CYP2C9 polymorphism in losartan oxidation. Drug Metab. Dispos., 29 (2001) 1051–1056.
- 127 P. Hallberg, J. Karlsson, L. Kurland, L. Lind, T. Kahan, K. Malmqvist, K.P. Ohman, F. Nystrom, H.J. Melhus, The CYP2C9 genotype predicts the blood pressure response to irbesartan: results from the Swedish Irbesartan Left Ventricular Hypertrophy Investigation vs Atenolol (SILVHIA) trial. Hypertens 20 (2002) 2089–2093.
- 128 J. Kirchheiner, S. Bauer, I. Meineke, W. Rohde, V. Prang, C. Meisel, I. Roots and J. Brockmöller, Impact of CYP2C9 and CYP2C19 polymorphisms on tolbutamide kinetics and the insulin and glucose response in healthy volunteers. Pharmacogenetics, 12 (2002) 101–109.
- 129 J. Kirchheiner, I. Meineke, N. Steinbach, C. Meisel, I. Roots and J. Brockmöller, Pharmacokinetics of diclofenac and inhibition of cyclooxygenases 1 and 2: no relationship to the CYP2C9 genetic polymorphism in humans. Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol., 55 (2003) 51–61.
- 130 M. Sandberg, U. Yasar, P. Stromberg, J.O. Hoog and E. Eliasson, Oxidation of celecoxib by polymorphic cytochrome P450 2C9 and alcohol dehydrogenase. Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol., 54 (2002) 423–429.
- 131 A. Küpfer, P. Desmond, S. Schenker and R.A. Branch, Family study of a genetically determined deficiency of mephenytoin hydroxylation in man. Pharmacologist, 21 (1979) 173.
- 132 M. Kimura, I. Ieiri, Y. Wada, K. Mamiya, A. Urae, E. Iimori, T. Sakai, K. Otsubo and S. Higuchi, Reliability of the omeprazole hydroxylation index for CYP2C19 phenotyping: possible effect of age, liver disease and length of therapy. J. Clin. Pharmacol., 47 (1999) 115.

- 133 M.L. Williams, P. Bhargava, I. Cherrouk, J.L. Marshall, D.A. Flockhart and I.W. Wainer, A discordance of the cytochrome P450 2C19 genotype and phenotype in patients with advanced cancer. Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol., 49 (2000) 485–488.
- 134 Z. Desta, X. Zhao, J.G. Shin and D.A. Flockhart, Clinical significance of the cytochrome P450 2C19 genetic polymorphism. Clin. Pharmacokinet., 41 (2002) 913–958.
- 135 P.J. Wedlund, The CYP2C19 enzyme polymorphism. Pharmacology, 61 (2000) 174–183.
- 136 H.H. Zhou, CYP2C19 genotype determines enzyme activity and inducibility of S-mephenytoin hydroxylase. Clin. Chim. Acta., 313 (2001) 203–.
- 137 E. Chong and M.H. Ensom, Pharmacogenetics of the proton pump inhibitors: a systematic review. Pharmacotherapy, 23 (2003) 460–471.
- 138 U. Fuhr and A. Jetter, Rabeprazole: pharmacokinetics and pharmacokinetic drug interactions. Pharmazie, 57 (2002) 595–601.
- 139 T. Furuta, K. Ohashi, T. Kamata, M. Takashima, K. Kosuge, T. Kawasaki, H. Hanai, T. Kubota, T. Ishizaki and E. Kaneko, Effect of genetic differences in omeprazole metabolism on cure rates for Helicobacter pylori infection and peptic ulcer. Ann. Intern. Med., 129 (1998) 1027–1030.
- 140 X.P. Qin, H.G. Xie, W. Wang, N. He, S.L. Huang, Z.H. Xu, D.S. Ou-Yang, Y.J. Wang and H.H. Zhou, Effect of the gene dosage of CYP2C19 on diazepam metabolism in Chinese subjects. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther., 66 (1999) 642–646.
- 141 A. Kaneko, Y. Bergqvist, M. Takechi, M. Kalkoa, O. Kaneko, T. Kobayakawa, T. Ishizaki and A.J. Bjorkman, Intrinsic efficacy of proguanil against falciparum and vivax malaria independent of the metabolite cycloguanil. Infect. Dis., 179 (1999) 974–979.
- 142 M.V. Relling and T. Dervieux, Pharmacogenetics and cancer therapy. Nat. Rev. Cancer, 1 (2001) 99–108.
- 143 R. Eiselt, T.L. Domanski, A. Zibat, R. Mueller, E. Presecan-Siedel, E. Hustert, U.M. Zanger, J. Brockmöller, H.P. Klenk, U.A. Meyer, K.K. Khan, Y.A. He, J.R. Halpert and L. Wojnowski, Identification and functional characterization of eight CYP3A4 protein variants. Pharmacogenetics, 11 (2001) 447–458.
- 144 K.E. Thummel and G.R. Wilkinson, In vitro and in vivo drug interactions involving human CYP3A. Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol., 38 (1998) 389–430.
- 145 T. Shimada, H. Yamazaki, M. Mimura, Y. Inui and F.P. Guengerich, Interindividual variations in human liver cytochrome P-450 enzymes involved in the oxidation of drugs, carcinogens and toxic chemicals: studies with liver microsomes of 30 Japanese and 30 Caucasians. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther., 270 (1994) 414–423.
- 146 P.B. Watkins, S.A. Wrighton, E.G. Schuetz, D.T. Molowa and P.S. Guzelian, Identification of glucocorticoid-inducible cytochromes P-450 in the intestinal mucosa of rats and man. J. Clin. Invest., 80 (1987) 1029–1036.
- 147 K. Inoue, J. Inazawa, H. Nakagawa, T. Shimada, H. Yamazaki, F.P. Guengerich and T. Abe, Assignment of the human cytochrome P-450 nifedipine oxidase gene (CYP3A4) to chromosome 7 at band q22.1 by fluorescence in situ hybridization. Jpn. J. Hum. Genet., 37 (1992) 133–138.
- 148 P.B. Watkins, Cyclosporine and liver transplantation: will the midazolam test make blood level monitoring obsolete? Hepatology, 22 (1995) 994–996.
- 149 J.M. Lehmann, D.D. McKee, M.A. Watson, T.M. Willson, J.T. Moore and S.A. Kliewer, The human orphan nuclear receptor PXR is activated by compounds that regulate CYP3A4 gene expression and cause drug interactions. J. Clin. Invest., 102 (1998) 1016–1023.
- 150 V. Özdemir, W. Kalow, B.K. Tang, A.D. Paterson, S.E. Walker, L. Endrenyi and A.D. Kashuba, Evaluation of the genetic component of variability in CYP3A4 activity: a repeated drug administration method. Pharmacogenetics, 10 (2000) 373–388.
- 151 J.K. Lamba, Y.S. Lin, K. Thummel, A. Daly, P.B. Watkins, S. Strom, J. Zhang and E.G. Schuetz, Common allelic variants of cytochrome P4503A4 and their prevalence in different populations. Pharmacogenetics, 12 (2002) 121–132.
- 152 D.S. Streetman, J.S. Bertino, Jr. and A.N. Nafziger, Phenotyping of drug-metabolizing enzymes in adults: a review of in-vivo cytochrome P450 phenotyping probes. Pharmacogenetics, 10 (2000) 187–216.

- 153 M. Zaigler, I. Tantcheva-Poor and U. Fuhr, Problems and perspectives of phenotyping for drugmetabolizing enzymes in man. Int. J. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther., 38 (2000) 1–9.
- 154 J.C. Gorski, D.R. Jones, B.D. Haehner-Daniels, M.A. Hamman, E.M. O'Mara, Jr. and S.D. Hall, The contribution of intestinal and hepatic CYP3A to the interaction between midazolam and clarithromycin. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther., 64 (1998) 133–143.
- 155 M. Baumhäkel, D. Kasel, R.A. Rao-Schymanski, R. Bocker, K.T. Beckurts, M. Zaigler, D. Barthold and U. Fuhr, Screening for inhibitory effects of antineoplastic agents on CYP3A4 in human liver microsomes. Int. J. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther., 39 (2001) 517–528.
- 156 J. Hirth, P.B. Watkins, M. Strawderman, A. Schott, R. Bruno and L.H. Baker, The effect of an individual's cytochrome CYP3A4 activity on docetaxel clearance. Clin. Cancer Res., 6 (2000) 1255–1258.
- 157 B.C. Goh, S.C. Lee, L.Z. Wang, L. Fan, J.Y. Guo, J. Lamba, E. Schuetz, R. Lim, H.L. Lim, A.B. Ong and H.S. Lee, Explaining interindividual variability of docetaxel pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics in Asians through phenotyping and genotyping strategies. J. Clin. Oncol., 20 (2002) 3683–3690.
- 158 R.S. Cvetkovic and K.L. Goa, Lopinavir/ritonavir: a review of its use in the management of HIV infection. Drugs 63 (2003) 769–802.
- 159 I. Dussault, M. Lin, K. Hollister, E.H. Wang, T.W. Synold and B.M. Forman, Peptide mimetic HIV protease inhibitors are ligands for the orphan receptor SXR. J. Biol. Chem., 276 (2001) 33309–33312.
- 160 C.J. Chen, D. Clark, K. Ueda, I. Pastan, M.M. Gottesman and I.B. Roninson, Genomic organization of the human multidrug resistance (MDR1) gene and origin of P-glycoproteins. J. Biol. Chem., 265 (1990) 506–514.
- 161 R.L. Juliano and V. Ling, A surface glycoprotein modulating drug permeability in Chinese hamster ovary cell mutants. Biochim. Biophys. Acta., 455 (1976) 152–162.
- 162 A.H. Schinkel, J.J. Smit, O. van Tellingen, J.H. Beijnen, E. Wagenaar, L. van Deemter, C.A. Mol, M.A. van der Valk, E.C. Robanus-Maandag, H.P. te Riele et al., Disruption of the mouse mdr1a Pglycoprotein gene leads to a deficiency in the blood-brain barrier and to increased sensitivity to drugs. Cell, 77 (1994) 491–502.
- 163 A.H. Schinkel, E. Wagenaar, C.A. Mol and L. van Deemter, P-glycoprotein in the blood-brain barrier of mice influences the brain penetration and pharmacological activity of many drugs. J. Clin. Invest., 97 (1996) 2517–2524.
- 164 A.H. Schinkel, P-Glycoprotein, a gatekeeper in the blood-brain barrier. Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev., 36 (1999) 179–194.
- 165 A.H. Schinkel, Pharmacological insights from P-glycoprotein knockout mice. Int. J. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther., 36 (1998) 9–13.
- 166 J. Wijnholds, E.C. deLange, G.L. Scheffer, D.J. van den Berg, C.A. Mol, M. van der Valk, A.H. Schinkel, R.J. Scheper, D.D. Breimer and P. Borst, Multidrug resistance protein 1 protects the choroid plexus epithelium and contributes to the blood-cerebrospinal fluid barrier. J. Clin. Invest., 105 (2000) 279–285.
- 167 D.R. Johnson, R.A. Finch, Z.P. Lin, C.J. Zeiss and A.C. Sartorelli, The pharmacological phenotype of combined multidrug-resistance mdr1a/1b- and mrp1-deficient mice. Cancer Res., 61 (2001) 1469–1476.
- 168 C. Cordon-Cardo, J.P. O'Brien, J. Boccia, D. Casals, J.R. Bertino and M.R. Melamed, Expression of the multidrug resistance gene product (P-glycoprotein) in human normal and tumor tissues. J. Histochem. Cytochem., 38 (1990) 1277–1287.
- 169 U. Schumacher and K. Mollgard, The multidrug-resistance P-glycoprotein (Pgp, MDR1) is an early marker of blood-brain barrier development in the microvessels of the developing human brain. Histochem. Cell Biol., 108 (1997) 179–182.
- 170 F. Thiebaut, T. Tsuruo, H. Hamada, M.M. Gottesman, I. Pastan and M.C. Willingham, Cellular localization of the multidrug-resistance gene product P-glycoprotein in normal human tissues. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 84 (1987) 7735–7738.
- 171 J.S. Coon, Y.Z. Wang, S.D. Bines, P.N. Markham, A.S. Chong and H.M. Gebel, Multidrug resistance activity in human lymphocytes. Hum. Immunol., 32 (1991) 134–140.

- 172 P.M. Chaudhary and I.B. Roninson, Expression and activity of P-glycoprotein, a multidrug efflux pump, in human hematopoietic stem cells. Cell, 66 (1991) 85–94.
- 173 P.B. Watkins, The barrier function of CYP3A4 and P-glycoprotein in the small bowel. Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev., 27 (1997) 161–170.
- I.B. Roninson, Molecular mechanism of multidrug resistance in tumor cells. Clin. Physiol. Biochem., 5 (1987) 140–151.
- 175 M.D. Norris, S.B. Bordow, G.M. Marshall, P.S. Haber, S.L. Cohn and M. Haber, Expression of the gene for multidrug-resistance-associated protein and outcome in patients with neuroblastoma. N. Engl. J. Med., 334 (1996) 231–238.
- 176 D.W. Shen, A. Fojo, J.E. Chin, I.B. Roninson, N. Richert, I. Pastan and M.M. Gottesman, Human multidrug-resistant cell lines: increased mdr1 expression can precede gene amplification. Science, 232 (1986) 643–645.
- 177 S. Hoffmeyer, O. Burk, O. von Richter, H.P. Arnold, J. Brockmöller, A. Johne, I. Cascorbi, T. Gerloff, I. Roots, M. Eichelbaum and U. Brinkmann, Functional polymorphisms of the human multidrugresistance gene: multiple sequence variations and correlation of one allele with P-glycoprotein expression and activity in vivo. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 97 (2000) 3473–3478.
- 178 A.B. Shapiro, K. Fox, P. Lam and V. Ling, Stimulation of P-glycoprotein-mediated drug transport by prazosin and progesterone. Evidence for a third drug-binding site. Eur. J. Biochem., 259 (1999) 841–850.
- 179 M. Hitzl, S. Drescher, H. van der Kuip, E. Schaffeler, J. Fischer, M. Schwab, M. Eichelbaum and M.F. Fromm, The C3435T mutation in the human MDR1 gene is associated with altered efflux of the P-glycoprotein substrate rhodamine 123 from CD56+ natural killer cells. Pharmacogenetics, 11 (2001) 293–298.
- 180 V.V. Rao, J.L. Dahlheimer, M.E. Bardgett, A.Z. Snyder, R.A. Finch, A.C. Sartorelli and D. Piwnica-Worms, Choroid plexus epithelial expression of MDR1 P glycoprotein and multidrug resistance-associated protein contribute to the blood-cerebrospinal-fluid drug-permeability barrier. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 96 (1999) 3900–3905.
- 181 A. Siddiqui, R. Kerb, M.E. Weale, U. Brinkmann, A. Smith, D.B. Goldstein, N.W. Wood and S.M. Sisodiya, Association of multidrug resistance in epilepsy with a polymorphism in the drug-transporter gene ABCB1. N. Engl. J. Med., 348 (2003) 1442–1448.
- 182 R.B. Kim, B.F. Leake, E.F. Choo, G.K. Dresser, S.V. Kubba, U.I. Schwarz, A. Taylor, H.G. Xie, J. McKinsey, S. Zhou, L.B. Lan, J.D. Schuetz, E.G. Schuetz and G.R. Wilkinson, Identification of functionally variant MDR1 alleles among European Americans and African Americans. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther., 70 (2001) 189–199.
- 183 J. Fellay, C. Marzolini, E.R. Meaden, D.J. Back, T. Buclin, J.P. Chave, L.A. Decosterd, H. Furrer, M. Opravil, G. Pantaleo, D. Retelska, L. Ruiz, A.H. Schinkel, P. Vernazza, C.B. Eap and A. Telenti, Response to antiretroviral treatment in HIV-1-infected individuals with allelic variants of the multidrug resistance transporter 1: a pharmacogenetics study. Lancet, 359 (2002) 30–36.
- 184 M.T. Huisman, J.W. Smit, H.R. Wiltshire, R.M. Hoetelmans, J.H. Beijnen and A.H. Schinkel, Pglycoprotein limits oral availability, brain, and fetal penetration of saquinavir even with high doses of ritonavir. Mol. Pharmacol., 59 (2001) 806–813.
- 185 I. Cascorbi, T. Gerloff, A. Johne, C. Meisel, S. Hoffmeyer, M. Schwab, E. Schaeffeler, M. Eichelbaum, U. Brinkmann and I. Roots, Frequency of single nucleotide polymorphisms in the P-glycoprotein drug transporter MDR1 gene in white subjects. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther., 69 (2001) 169–174.
- 186 E. Schaeffeler, M. Eichelbaum, U. Brinkmann, A. Penger, S. Asante-Poku, U.M. Zanger and M. Schwab, Frequency of C3435T polymorphism of MDR1 gene in African people. Lancet, 258 (2001) 383–384.

This page intentionally left blank

## Subject index

acebutolol, 64 aceclofenac, 32, 34 acetylator, 298, 328-330, 346, 347 acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL), 170, 172, 175–177, 179, 181, 188–191, 323 acyclovir, 91 albendazole, 63, 66 albendazole sulfoxide, 63 albuterol, 67 amikacin, 102, 142, 143, 154, 156, 200, 201, 204.214-217 amino acids, 56, 240, 328, 333 5-aminosalicylic acid, 35, 36 amiodarone, 41 amitriptyline, 91, 260 amlodipine, 103, 111 amoxicillin, 32, 35, 38, 89, 336 amphetamines, 89, 105 amphotericin B, 33, 202 ampicillin, 32 antibiotics, 53, 66, 80, 89, 140, 188, 195, 196, 213, 216, 337 antidepressants, 42, 45, 46, 63, 91, 92, 255, 257-261, 264, 267, 268, 330, 331, 343, 349 antiepileptic drugs, 85, 112, 221, 222, 248-250, 252, 253, 334 antigens, 96-98, 101, 107, 283 antineoplastic, 45, 327, 337, 338, 340, 352 antipsychotics, 257, 259, 261, 265, 266, 268 arotinolol, 66 asparaginase, 188 assay error polynomial, 136-138, 147 atenolol, 32, 34, 38, 67, 350 atrial fibrillation, 130, 143-145, 349 Bayesian posterior, 134, 135, 160-162, 164 Bayesian prior, 133, 134, 158, 162 benzodiazepines, 3, 7, 9, 30, 105, 106, 223, 236

bisoprolol, 57 body surface area (BSA), 171, 172, 182, 184, 186, 189, 193, 205 bosentan, 41 buffers, 80, 81, 83-85 buprenorphine, 45 busulfan, 40, 41, 45, 146, 167, 174, 175, 183-185, 187, 189, 192, 193 butorphanol, 41, 42 cancer, 67, 91, 94, 149, 150, 155, 156, 165, 169, 170, 172, 173, 177, 178, 186-194, 213, 312, 317, 325-327, 332, 335, 340, 345-347, 351, 352 capecitabine, 325, 345 capillary electrochromatography (CEC), 16, 86 capillary electrophoresis (CE), v, 2, 10, 16, 32, 77-83, 86-89, 91, 92, 94, 172, 175, 190, 281, 292, 311, 312, 318 capillary zone electrophoresis (CZE), 80, 81, 84, 85, 88, 92, 265 captopril, 35, 36 capture antibody, 100, 103, 110 carbamazepine, 30, 32, 33, 91, 100, 107, 165, 210, 223, 227, 230-232, 236-238, 241, 243, 245-247, 257, 261, 267, 333 carbapenem, 32 carbidopa, 48 carboplatin, 30, 32, 182, 183, 192 carboxypeptidase, 174 ceftazidime, 32, 167 celecoxib, 30, 33, 335, 350 certified reference materials, 288 chemiluminescence, 15, 48, 92, 106, 107 chiral separation, 15, 49, 53, 64, 65, 67, 72, 80, 86 chlorthalidone, 32, 65 chromatography, v, 2, 8, 15, 32, 43, 67, 68,

72, 73, 78, 80, 83, 87, 97, 98, 125, 127,

189, 224, 242, 259, 263, 265, 266, 270, 275, 289, 290, 292, 294, 295, 300 ciprofloxacin, 34, 36, 39, 89 cisapride, 61 cisplatin, 30, 181, 182 clemastine, 42 clenbuterol, 67 clobazam, 32, 236, 237, 250 clonazepam, 235, 236 cloned enzyme donor immunoassay (CEDIA), 105, 106, 111, 112, 277, 289 clonidine, 41 clozapine, 41, 255, 256, 265-268, 298, 316 cocaine, 46, 88, 89, 102, 105, 106, 111 coefficient of variation, 127, 138, 264 colorectal carcinoma, 327 column switching, 2, 32, 35, 39, 40, 67 competitive binding immunoassay, 99-101, 105compliance, 128, 221, 240, 247, 255, 257, 287, 296, 332, 349 cortisol, 338 cost, 78, 79, 142, 286, 297, 300, 304, 305, 312 cotrimoxazole, 329 creatinine clearance, 139, 140, 148, 150, 156, 165, 167 cyclooxygenase II inhibitor, 35, 38 cyclophosphamide, 67, 169, 183, 188, 192, 337, 338 cyclosporin, 112, 273-279, 282-284, 286-290, 295, 340, 342 cyclosporine A, 48, 102 CYP1A2, 256, 257, 260, 261, 267, 316 CYP2C19, 64, 256, 257, 261, 334-337, 343, 349-351 CYP2D6, 60, 256, 257, 260, 261, 265-267, 316, 323, 330-332, 343, 347-349 CYP3A4, 261, 263, 264, 267, 323, 334, 336-340, 343, 351-353 cytarabine, 179, 181, 191 N-desmethylclozapine, 41 dapsone, 298, 327, 338, 346 daunorubicin, 91, 169, 181, 188 debrisoquine, 56, 61, 63, 298, 316, 330, 347-349 decision analysis, 131 depression, 63, 237, 239, 243, 246, 255, 257, 258, 260, 268 deproteinization, 2, 30, 36, 41, 42, 48, 81

- designer drugs, 34, 38
- desmethylamiodarone, 41

detection, 15, 16, 30, 34-36, 39, 40, 42, 45, 46, 48, 50, 63, 68, 77, 78, 80, 82, 89, 91, 92, 95, 98-103, 106, 107, 109-112, 137, 163, 175, 189, 210, 242, 244, 248, 259, 262, 263, 275, 278, 281-286, 290, 293-295, 299-301, 303-305, 307, 309-314, 317-319, 325, 345, 348 dextromethorphan, 298, 330 dialysis, 87, 140, 141, 146, 199, 205, 282 diazepam, 4, 61, 235, 236, 335, 336, 351 diclofenac, 32, 34, 335, 350 diffusion, 153 digitoxin-like immunoreactive substances (DTLIS), 109 digoxin, 99, 102, 109, 111, 112, 130, 133, 143-146, 148, 166, 167, 340 digoxin-like immunoreactive substances (DLIS), 109 dihydrofolate reductase, 177 direct serum injection, 82 dose recommendation, 261, 332, 335, 349 doxorubicin, 91, 169, 337 drug interactions, 87, 210, 211, 218, 222, 223, 227, 228, 230-232, 234, 235, 237-240, 242-248, 286, 337, 339, 344, 349, 351 drug metabolites, 102, 175, 223, 292 drug screening, 5, 88, 259 Du Bois, 171, 172, 188 efavirenz, 35, 37, 39, 211, 342 Emax, 153 emulsion formation, 1, 2 endocardial vegetation, 153 environmental noise, 139 enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA), 103, 278-280, 290, 291 enzyme-multiplied immunoassay technique (EMIT), 104, 105, 111, 136, 174, 189, 259, 278–282, 290, 292, 293 epibatidine, 65 erythromycin, 338, 339 ethosuximide, 233-235 etoposide, 180-182, 191, 337 everolimus, 273, 289, 295 extensive metabolizer, 63, 330, 335, 336 extrapyramidal syndrome, 331, 332, 349 famotidine, 41 felbamate, 244, 245, 252 fenoterol, 35 fexofenadine, 39, 342 Fisher information, 134–138 flameless atomic adsorption spectroscopy, 175

flecainide, 38, 39, 41

fluconazole, 32, 47 fluorescence, 15, 16, 34, 48, 61, 68, 80, 89, 101, 102, 111, 174, 175, 189, 259, 303-306, 315, 317-319, 342, 351 fluorescence detection, 61, 89, 102, 175, 189 fluorescence labelling reagents, 37 fluorescence polarization immunoassay (FPIA), 48, 102, 109, 111, 174, 189, 259 fluoroquinolones, 34 fluorouracil, 193, 345 fluoxetine, 34, 38, 39, 42, 60, 64, 66, 91, 257, 262, 263 fluvoxamine, 257, 263, 267 folinic acid, 177, 178, 179, 180, 186, 187, 190, 193 free drug levels, 85, 223 frontal analysis, 87, 88 furosemide, 324 gabapentin, 34, 36, 39, 241, 242 ganciclovir, 34, 36 gas chromatography (GC), 2, 6–10, 15, 16, 39, 42–46, 53, 67–69, 78, 82, 83, 175, 263, 265 gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC/ MS), 15, 39, 42-46, 68, 185 gemfibrozil, 34, 36 gene duplication, 331 genotype, 260, 261, 265, 267, 298, 300, 305, 309, 312, 313, 315, 316, 326–336, 340, 342, 343, 345, 347, 349-351 genotyping, 211, 219, 256, 261, 266, 269, 297, 298, 300, 304, 305, 307, 309, 311, 312, 315-319, 321-329, 332-335, 337, 339, 343, 347, 348, 352 gentamicin, 30, 102, 136, 139, 141, 142, 151, 156, 164, 166, 168, 200, 201, 204, 205, 214-216 glutethimide, 56, 60 P-glycoprotein, 261, 340, 352, 353 grapefruit, 257, 267, 337 halofantrine, 64 heterogeneous immunoassay, 98, 99 heterophile antibodies, 107 high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC), 15, 16, 30, 32, 34, 39, 48, 64-69, 77-79, 83, 85-87, 89, 111-113, 127, 174, 175, 189, 224, 259, 262-266, 275, 276, 278-284, 286, 288-290, 292-295, 300, 317, 323, 344 Hill model, 152, 153, 219 hollow fiber, 10

homogeneous immunoassay, 101, 102, 104, 106, 111, 112 hook effect, 107 human serum albumin column, 65, 66, 69 hydralazine, 329, 330, 347 hydrophobicity, 4, 87 hydroxyitoraconazole, 34 2-hydroxyglutaric acid, 67 7-hydroxymethotrexate, 35, 39 5-hydroxypropafenone, 32, 165 ibuprofen, 32, 34, 56, 57, 64, 66, 68, 89, 350 IgG, 95-97, 103 immunoassays, 48, 77, 78, 82, 89, 95, 98-104, 106, 107, 109-112, 114, 174, 179, 189, 223, 224, 228, 229, 231–233, 244, 248, 259, 274-279, 281-283, 286, 288-290, 292, 294 immunometric assay, 100, 112 indinavir, 30, 33, 210, 218 individual dose adjustment, 321 indobufen, 68 indolocarbazole, 41 inflammatory bowel disease, 323, 324, 344 interacting multiple model, 163 isoflurane, 67 isoniazid, 206, 209, 210, 217, 218, 328-330, 346, 347 isotachophoresis, 81 isradipine, 61 itraconazole, 34, 38 ketamine, 57, 64 ketoconazole, 41, 42, 337 ketoprofen, 64-66, 68 ketorolac, 30, 32, 62, 66 ketotifen, 43, 44 kidney, 89, 182, 188, 202, 216, 242, 275, 276, 278, 280, 282–284, 286, 289–291, 293-295, 337, 340 labetalol, 65 lamivudine, 32, 33, 218 lamotrigine, 233, 240, 241 lansoprazole, 60, 66 leucovorine, 178 levetiracetam, 246, 247 levodopa, 48 levofloxacin, 38 lidocaine, 42, 105, 111, 145, 146, 158, 167 linezolid, 30 liquid chromatography (LC), 2, 4, 8, 10, 16, 39-41, 43, 82, 83, 113, 127, 278, 283, 284, 291, 295

liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry (LC/MS), 8, 15, 39-41, 43, 68, 113, 114, 175, 278, 283, 289, 290, 291, 295, 333, 343, 347 liquid-liquid extraction (LLE), 1, 2, 3, 10, 82, 88 liquid-phase microextraction (LPME), 10 lithium, 268 lithium toxicity, 268 liver, 68, 92, 171, 178, 183, 188, 192, 227, 233, 278-281, 286, 290, 291, 298, 322, 324, 329, 335–338, 340, 350–352 loperamide, 340 loratadine, 30 lorazapam, 46 losartan, 333, 334, 349, 350 mainserin, 64 manidipine, 48, 61 mass spectrometry (MS), 15, 16, 39-46, 67-69, 80, 89, 92, 113, 125, 127, 175, 189, 244, 263, 266, 275, 278, 279, 282-286, 289, 290, 291, 293-295, 310, 318,333, 343, 347 maximal tolerated dose (MTD), 170 maximum aposteriori probability, 157 mechanism of action, 49, 177, 226, 228, 229, 231-233, 235-237, 239-247, 288, 291 memantine, 45 membrane filter, 2 mephenytoin, 64, 335, 336, 350 mercaptopurine, 172, 175-177, 190, 344 meropenem, 32, 212 methotrexate, 32, 35, 38, 39, 91, 149, 169, 172, 174, 177-181, 187-191, 327, 344 methyldopa, 41 3,4-methylenedioxy-methamphetamine, 89, 111 metoprolol, 57, 63, 298, 332, 349 metyrapone, 61 micellar electrokinetic capillary chromatography (MECC), 47, 48, 80-82, 85-88, 91, 92 Michaelis-Menten model, 152, 156, 168 microparticle enzyme immunoassay (MEIA), 103, 109, 277, 283, 290, 294 midazolam, 43, 323, 338, 339, 351, 352 minimum inhibitory concentration, 153, 196 mirtazapine, 34, 37, 63, 264 mobile phase additives, 64 modafinil, 64 morphine, 36, 39, 46, 88 morphine glucuronides, 46

multidrug resistance, 352, 353

multiple model, 158-160, 165-167 mycophenolate mofetil, 111, 280, 291-294 mycophenolic acid, 105, 111, 273, 280, 291-293 myelotoxicity, 190, 323, 324 nalmefen, 45 naltrexone, 44 naproxen, 48, 82 nefazodone, 257, 264 nephrotoxicity, 141, 156, 167, 168, 178, 182, 196-198, 201-203, 208, 213-215, 217 neuroleptic, 265, 266 nicardipine, 56 nifedipine, 337, 338, 351 nimodipine, 66 norfluoxetine, 34, 38, 39, 42, 60, 64, 91, 262, 263 norketamine, 57 nortriptyline, 91, 258-261, 330, 347, 348 norverapamil, 34, 39, 61 olanzapine, 41, 265-268 omeprazole, 30, 32, 64, 336, 350, 351 ondansetron, 61, 332, 340 osteosarcoma, 177-179, 190 ototoxicity, 141, 156, 168, 182, 196, 198, 201-203, 208, 216 overdose, 109, 255, 257, 268 ovomucoid column, 66 oxcarbazepine, 40, 223, 237, 238 oxymetholone, 45 paclitaxel, 30, 32, 171, 189, 337

paroxetine, 45, 257, 263, 331, 348 pentazocine, 65 pharmacodynamic monitoring, 177 pharmacogenetics, vi, 193, 316, 318, 330, 344, 345, 347-351, 353 pharmacokinetics, 15, 45, 49, 56, 65, 67, 68, 113, 114, 129, 166, 167, 179, 183, 184, 188-194, 200, 206, 210, 213, 214, 216-218, 222, 227, 228, 230-232, 234, 235, 237-240, 242-247, 264, 267, 273, 290-295, 323, 324, 326, 332, 334, 340, 342-345, 347-352 phenobarbital, 106, 107, 112, 222, 223, 226-231, 233, 236, 261 phenotyping, 256, 266, 297, 298, 321-325, 328, 329, 333, 335, 337-340, 343, 344, 348, 350-352 phenytoin, 100, 102, 105-107, 109, 111, 165,

185, 210, 222, 223, 227–231, 236,

239-241, 243, 244, 246, 247, 261, 333-335, 350 pinazapam, 43 pirlindole, 61 pKa, 77, 81, 86 point-of-care testing (POCT), 109, 110 polymeric resin disk, 2 poor metabolizer, 298, 330, 333-337, 343, 348 population model, 133-136, 138, 139, 142, 143, 145, 149, 152, 156-160, 165, 166 porous hollow fiber, 2 pravastatin, 41 praziquantel, 30, 32, 57, 63 precipitation method, 1 preconcentration, 1, 2, 10, 48 pregnane X receptor (PXR), 337–339, 351 primidone, 223, 229-231, 236 procainamide, 92, 298, 330 proficiency testing, 274, 278, 279, 281, 286-288, 292, 295 proguanil, 335-337, 351 propafenone, 32, 57, 64, 65, 332, 349 propanolol, 64 propentfylline, 32, 48 propranolol, 32, 56, 57, 60, 65, 66, 335 protease inhibitor, 210, 211, 218, 219, 337, 339, 342, 352 protein coagulation, 4 protein removal, 1, 2 proton pump inhibitor, 335, 336, 351 pyridoglutethimide, 60 quinapril, 30, 32 ranitidine, 30, 32, 36, 37 reboxetine, 263, 264 rheumatoid arthritis, 92, 323, 329, 347 rifampicin, 30, 32, 338, 340 rifampicin and its metabolite, 32 risperidone, 30, 32, 265–267 ristocetin A column, 67 rogletimide, 62 ropivacacine and its metabolite, 41 sample preparation, 1-3, 6-10, 32, 41, 68, 81-83 sample stability, 224 sampling strategies, 147, 148, 276, 282, 289 sandwich immunoassay, 100, 101, 103, 107 schizophrenia, 255, 265, 267, 268, 270, 349 selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors

(SSRIs), 38, 257, 258, 262, 263, 330 selfotel, 61

sertraline, 46, 257, 263 simendan, 64 simvastatin, 41 sinus rhythm, 130, 144, 145 sirolimus, 273, 282-291, 293-295 small intestine, 337, 338 solid-phase extraction (SPE), 1-7, 10, 30, 32, 38, 39, 41, 44–46, 48, 88 solid-phase microextraction (SPME), 2, 7-10, 42, 43, 82 solvent extraction, 45 spherical model, 153 St John's wort, 257, 261 stacking, 77, 78, 81-85, 91 subtherapeutic concentrations, 257 sulfasalazine, 327, 329, 347 sumatriptan, 41 tacrolimus, 104, 273, 274, 277-280, 282-284, 286-291, 293, 294 tandem mass spectrometry (MS/MS), 16, 39-41, 46, 69, 127, 291 tebufelone, 46, 47 teicoplanin column, 66 teniposide, 179-182, 337 thalidomide, 63 therapeutic drug monitoring, v, 15, 49, 77, 78, 85, 95, 110-112, 130, 135, 141, 146, 148, 169, 170, 173, 185, 188, 191, 195, 201, 210, 212, 213, 217-219, 221, 222, 255, 263, 268, 288-292, 294-296, 321, 344 therapeutic range, 130-133, 146, 158, 169, 180, 209, 222, 225, 226, 228, 233, 235, 236, 255, 258, 259, 262, 265-267, 295, 333 therapeutic target goal, 129, 133, 160 thiacetazone, 32, 34, 206 thiamylal, 65, 66 thioguanine, 176, 190, 323 thioguanine nucleotides, 176, 323 tiagabine, 245, 246 tiaprofenic acid, 65 tizanidine, 45 tobramycin, 151, 155, 165, 200, 201, 204, 205, 215, 216 tomoxafin, 91 topiramate, 243, 244 toxic range, 130 toxicity, vi, 49, 92, 129-132, 141, 145, 149, 156, 166, 169, 170, 178-182, 185, 186, 188, 191, 193, 195-198, 200-205, 208,

210-216, 221, 229, 238, 255-258, 262,

separation principle, 160

268, 280, 294, 318, 324-326, 329, 339, 345, 346 TPMT, 175, 323, 324, 343, 344 tracer antibody, 103 tramadol, 34, 38, 61, 64 tricyclic antidepressants (TCAs), 7, 91, 255-261, 268, 330 trimipramine, 65 tuberculosis, 205, 217, 218, 328, 329, 347 ultrafiltration, 32, 38, 41, 46, 282, 293 ultrarapid metabolizer, 330, 331, 348 ultraviolet detection, 80, 189, 263, 294, 295 USC\*PACK, 136, 138, 139, 143, 144, 151, 166 UV-vis labeling reagents, 30 valnoctamide, 67 valproate, 223, 232-234, 240, 241, 243, 244, 248

vamicamide, 66 vancomycin, 30, 33, 41, 66, 109, 112, 143, 155, 167, 195–199, 202, 212–214 vd collapse, 152 VEGF, 187 venlafaxine, 264 veno-occlusive disease (VOD), 184, 185 verapamil, 34, 36, 39, 61, 65 vigabatrin, 239, 240 voriconazole, 32

warfarin, 56, 64, 238, 241, 333–335, 350 white blood cell count (WBC), 172, 176, 177, 181

zidovudine, 32, 33, 101, 111, 218 zonisamide, 247, 248